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HDITOR'S PREFACE. 
or—___.-- 

N presenting this History of Schenectady County and City to the public, a few words of ex- 

J planation and acknowledgment are die. 

“ The preparation of so large an amount of historical, biographical and statistical matter as 

as contained in these pages was undertaken by the publishers in a spirit of enterprise and liber- 

ality that required no little financial risk. The Editor was tuduced to assume the compilation 

and editing of this work, because he belicved there wasimuch important historical and statistical 

matter that was not in print that ought to be preserved in some compact and conventent form, 

and because much published and unpublished materials for the work were generously and kindly 

put at his drsposal by the authors and publishers. 

Nearly everything of special interest and value connected with anetent Schenectady ts al- 

ready in print, most of which came from the pen of Prof. Jonathan Pearson, the highest au- 

thority in this section of the country, to whose nearly half a century of unrequited labor tn an- 

tiquarian research, the State of New York owes a large debt of gratitude. We destre to make 

generous acknowledgment to him for the use of his published works and unpublished manuscripts, 

from which much material has been gleaned for this work. 

It has not been convenicnt to make spectal mention, in connection with the various articles 

themselves, of those who have kindly prepared them, in part or whole, therefore, we wish to make 

the following acknowledgements: To the Rev. Wm. Elliott Griffis, D.D., who wrote the cxcel- 

lent article on Prof. Taylor Lewis; the History of the Dutch Church, Schenectady, ts substan- 

tially the same as already published from material prepared by Prof. Pearson and Rev. Dr. 

Griffis; the History of the First Presbyterian Church, ts principally a discourse by Rev. T. G. 

Darling, D. D.; that of St. George's Episcopal Church, by Rev. Wm. Payne, D. D.; that of the 

Methodist Episcopal Church, by Rev. Samucl McKean and Prof. L. Hoyt; that of the First 

Baptist Church, by Rev. H. G. Day, that of the Second Reformed Duteh Church, by F. F. 

Marlett; and the article on Temperance, by Peter Chrisler. 

L. B. Proctor, E:sq., the accomplished editor of the “New Vork State Bar,” preparcd most 

of the article on The Bench and Bar. For the history of Union College we are indebted te articles 

in print, by Prof. Pearson, Dr. F. B. Hough and Prof. Wm. Wells. Prof. S. G. Howe furnished 

valuable information contained tn the article relating to the Schools of the City. Mr. Omie F. 

Vedder has rendered valuable assistance in gathering matter especially relating to the Official 

History of the County and City, and preparing tt for the press. The Editor hereby acknowledges 

the kindness and courtesy of the above-named individuals, aud also expresses thanks to the press, 

to the county and city officials for assistance in examining their records, to the pastors of nearly 

all the churches in the county for assistance iu preparing thetr religious history; to the secretaries 

of the numerous lodges, societies and military organisations for data furnished; and to the many 

other persons who have rendered more or less assistance during the progress of this work. 

It ts hardly possible that ina work like this no errors will be found, but it ts confidently 

hoped that if inaccuracies are discovered, the great difficulty of preventing thetr occurrence will 

be considered, ached thet they weld be chartiably regar ited. 

Some aifjcrences of opinion regarding some old historical facts have been discovered in pub- 

lished works, and have come to us by tradition tna few cases. AU information has been duly 

weighed and preference given to what seemed to be correct. 

The following works have been consulted: “The Schenectady Patent,” by Prof. Pearson, 

edited by Major F. W. McMurray to whom we are also indebted for the use of plates from which 

some of the illustrations have been taken; “ Sander's Early History of Schenectady,” “ History 
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of the Dutch Church” by Prof. Pearson and Rev. Dr. Griffis, “Ttrst Settlers of Schenectady,” 
by Prof. Pearson, “ Historical Collections of the State of New York,” “Annals of Albany,” 

published by Foel Munsell; Gazetteers of the State of New York, Spafford’s Gazetteer; “ATemotrs 

of Dr. Nott,” by Van Santvoord and Taylor Lewis; Public Service of New York State,” 

and other minor publications. 

The history of some of the towns of the county was prepared by the Rev. EF. E. Taylor, who 
ts accredited at the head of each. Many of the wllustrations will be familiar to some, but new 

to most of the subscribers. The portraits with which these pages are embellished, coming as they 

do from the bureau of the most eminent engravers of the day, will commend themselves to all 

who see them, not only as admirable likenesses, but as choice works of art. 

And now, after two years of labor, conscious that this, in a measure, falls short of what 

we had proposed at the outset, the Editor may well say, as did valiant Captain Fohn Mason, in 

his introduction to the Pequot War, “TI wrsh (this task) had fallen into some better hands, that 
might have performed at to the life. T[ shallonly draw the curtain and openmy little casement, 

that so others, of larger hearts and abilities, may let in a brighter light.” 
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Close, 208, 216; Cluever, 109, 110: Clute, 14, 17, 50, 1o-4s 

114, 115, 117, 125, 142, 146, 148, 153, 159, Ie, 

] 
ran, 128; Cochrane, 107; Cockran, 123; Coe, ror, 125, 

fin, 185; Cole, 163; Coles, 105; College Spectator, 152 

de ns ch eh ll NR 



ys Hip ‘coed 

ay 

(ite 0 la 

bs ee) 
: i i Woe} Ey 

ee he ib i, 2% ol pat a! t maak sen i ; 
f io tb ss reply, saver y 

eu , cpbnyiadl 2, ie ; 
te ‘x ‘ 

ta 

yy . ’ 

VJ a ‘ 

asi F i 

us } 

? cy 5 BS 4 ( i ® STRSTR Soy Pe a ‘ F De | ek oo 

+7 (2t Wibt ot Ui RG wie ne ae as ‘ Uy Shae ist That ‘ 
¢ : ake SIVENSENA 

qj i Va Lr 

pi ‘ee $ : 

j nY Wel), pay dered | 
j P a nix] : { 

i ue 1} 

Vid orb 3 3 sp ob bs Ao 
: it 

ey tert re ney cat eet 
7 Fase hee 

? y fy Peay f ‘ ‘ 

$ * bor t 4 i | 
¢ 5 | 

Yow wc i } 

Ser ths fw ae 

Ot- (oe x Lyiger ys, 2 re ‘| i ‘ « H 

tds 

aia pei) yee. 
at} oft hs ee Ge Ne eh 



INDEX. ill 

Collins, 180; Combs, 164; Commissioners, County School, 

66; Concordiensis, 139; Conde, 34, 153; Condtit, 128; 

Coney, 203; Conklin, 140; Connestigieonc, 27; Conning, 

204, 205; Connor, 34; Conover, 167, 186; Constable, 113, 

143, 144; Convent, St. John’s, 112; Cony, 200; Cook, ior, 

126, 144, 169; Coon, 141, 168; Coons, 164; Cooper, 106; 

Cordell, 111; Corlear, 26; Corlett, 100; Cornell, 106; Corne, 

91; Corwin, 180; Couchman, 180; Coulbourne, 135, 139; 

Coulter, 205; Countermine, 217, 218; Coval, 213; Cox, 51; 

Craig, 109, 144, 146, 161, 180; Cramer, 148, 151; Crane, 13, 

103, 111, 113, 156, 157, 159, 209; Cranesville, 209; Craw- 

ford, 140, 141, 202, 217; Crego, 181; Crocker, 108; Cro- 

mer, 115; Crosby, 161; Crowell, 104; Cullinys, 168, 178, 

186, 206; Cummings, 102, 110, 122, 178; Cummins, 116; 

Cumpston, 126, 144, 176, 177; Cunningham, 126, 144; 

Curry, 204; Curtiss, 109, 145; Cutting, 176; Cuyler, 14, 122; 

Cuyler’s Vlachte, 14. 

Daggett, 86, 142, 144; Dakin, 159; Dale, 117; Daley, 

116, 126; Damen, 12, 20; Danneberg, 110; Darling, 34, 99, 

103, 204; Darrow, 159, 204, 216; Davenburg, 186; Daven- 

port, 101; Davis, 102, 139, 141, 145, 151, 158, 160, 164, 

169, 180, 182, 186, 201, 211; Day, 107, 111, 113; Dayo, 164; 

Dayton, 169; Dealtry, 116; Dean, 188; De Baum, 198; De 

Bois, 101; Deckelmyer, 110; De Courielles, 22; Deed of 

Dutch Church Lot, 16; De Vorest, 86, 149, 154, 171, 172, 

207, 210, 216; De Graaf, 9, 13, 17, 34; De Graff, 15, 21, 34, 

93, 95, 114, 144, 195; Delamater, 140, 141, 142, 167, 185, 

186; Delamont, 21; De La Warde, 15, 17; De Lavall, 38; 

Deleram, 117, 132; Delluis, 88; De Long, 164; Demarest, 

197; De Moer, 14; Denel, 165; Denningen, 110; Denning- 

ton, 160, 164, 170, 186; Dennison, 164, 170, 186; Dentistry, 

143; Depew, 133; De Ray, 37; De Kemer, 86, 115, 

145; De Steenbokker, 17; Deutscher Anzciger, 139; Deven- 

burg, 167, 180, 185; De Voe, 180; Devoe, 141; De Vos, 

12; De Wigne,-113; Dickeman, 170; Dillenbeck, 158; 

Dillon, 209; Disbrow, 165; Ditmars, 198; Divisions of 

City, 68; Dod, 101; Dodge, 141, 168, 186; Donald, 

179; Donaldson, 153; Joncassen, 18; Dongan, 5, 6, 8; 

Donnan, 204, 205, 206; Dorn, 161, 164, 168, 179, 205, 

216; Dorpian, The, 139; Doty, 99, 100, 115, 116, 164; 

Dougall, 205, 205; Dow, 197, 213; Dry Goods, 155, 

156; Duane, 113, 125, 141, 142, 143, 144, 161, 162, 

163, 164, 172, 176, 177, 178; Du Bois, 89, 108; Du Mond, 

193; Dun, ror; Duncan, 99, 193, 200; Dunlap, 122, 140, 

141, 1§8; Duquid, 178; }uryea, 108, 125, 133, 142; Dusnis, 

86; Dutcher, 201; Du ‘Trieux, 13, 18; Duurloo, 126; Dyck, 
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146, 149; Ellison, 176; Ellsworth, 1443 Ellwood, 142, 143, 

147, 153; Elton, 180; Elwin, 109; Enders, 182; tt Engine ' 
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208; Evening Star, 139; Excise, Board of, 67. 

Factory, Shawl, 155; Faiber, 111, 133; Failey, 114; 

Falvey, 111; Farms, 12-15; Varnsworth, 116; Farquharson, 

144; Faust, 117, 143; Featherstonhaugh, 133, 142, 163, 164, 

178, 186; Feeling, 120; Teldman, 114; Felthousen, 126; 

Fenn, 126; Fenwick, 117; Ferguson, 126, 164, 186, 203, 204, 

206; Ferries, 52, 57; Finch, 180, Findley, Rev., 101; Finn- 

egan, 104; Finnley, 203; I'ire Department, 72, 75; lish, 86; 

Fisher, 126, 213, 218; Five Nations, 28; Flansburg, 204; 

Flats, 2, 13, 14, 196; Vletcher, 30; Flinn, 140; 

The, 139; Fogerty, 208, 216, 217, 218; Fonda, 8, 9, 1, 

15, 19, 50, 113, 116, 110, 140, 141, 193; Foote, 116; Ford, 

208; Fortifications and Garrisons, 34, 38; Forts, 36, 37; 

Fort Simon, 34; Foster, 125, 132, 136, 137; Fox, 107, 114; 

Floriad, 

Fraking, 16; Franchot, 113; Franse, 7; l’raser, 203; Frazer, 

105; Fredericks, 185; Freedom’s Sentinel, 138; breehold- 

ers, Adult, 17; Freeman, 1S, 88, 113, 159, 160, 161, 182, 

209; 
Freleigh, 198; Frelinghise, 98; lrelinghuysen, 96; l'rench, 

126; Frey, 128; Vreydendall, 164; Irost, 170, 179; Fuller, 

86, 99, 101, 127, 142, 158, 164; Furbeck, 133, 201; Furman, 

86, 115; Furniture and Undertaking, 155, 159. 

Freeman’s Banner, 138; Tree School System, 125 

Gaige, 164, 168, 169, 178, 185, 186; Gale, 182; Ganley, 

121; Gansyoort, 160; Ganzevoort, 19; Gardenier, 168, 186; 

Gardner, 186; Garling, tog, 110; Garrison at Schenectady, 

37, 38; Gas-works, 146, 147; Gates, 36, 106, 126; Ger. 

ritse, 15; Gey, 164; Gibson, 150, 151; Gifford, 164, 179, 

200, 203, 204; Gitford’s Llamlet, 200; Gilbert, 126; Gilles- 

pic, 136, 145: Gillette, 106, 107, 117; Gilmour, 151; Glen, 

4, 7, 1%, 12, 13, 15, 18, 20, 23, 24, 25. 30, 32, 33, 34, 35, 

193, 195; Glem, 6, 8, 128; Goedrich, 86, 105, 144; Good. 

sell, 105; Gordon, 12S, 164, 203; Goss, 105; Graham, 114; 

Grant, 27; Graty, 110; Grau, 110; Graves, 107; Gray, 143; 

Great Flat, 3, 12; Green, 164, 170, 179, 185, 186, 198; 

Greene, 142; Greene Corners, 182: Greyg, 20, 204, 216, 

217, 218; Greyvory, 139; Gridley, 104; Griffes, 98, 133; 

Griffith, 164; Grimm, 110; Groat, 153; Grocers, 156; Groes- 

beck, 14; Groot, 7, 14, 15, 18, 19, 20, 34, 37, 90, 93, I13, 

115, 122, 126, 144, 145, 149, 158; Groote, 11; Grose, 139; 

Gross, 143; Gunn, 160, Gurnsey, 1260; Guy, 109. 

Haight, 166; Halliday, 201; Hall, tor, 105, 123, 124, 

126, 169, 186, 201; Hallenbeck, 21; IKillowell, 126; Mal- 

sey, 126, 133; Ham, 18s, 198, 271; Hamilton, 177, 203; 
ee 
-) Hamlin, 135, 139, 198; Hammer, 142; Hand, I 

Hanse, 7, 17; MWansen, 13; Hansett, 164, 168, 179, 185; 

Hansmer, 116; Tlanson, 158; Harden, 164, 182; Tlarden- 

burg, 201; Harding, 158; ]Hlarkness, 

Harreker, 109; Harrigan, 160; Harris, 108; Harrower, 213; 

Hart, 157; Hartman, 178; Hastings, 86, 126; Ifathaway, 

160; Haver, 179; Hawood, 105; Hleasle, 107; Health, Board 

of, 67; Heath, 106; Hearsey, 100; Heemstraat, 21; Hege- 

man. 143, 151; Heilbronner. trv: Helmer, 116, 127: Hem 

128 

203; Harman, 141; 

Inv, 2O45 Hengham, 11s; Henry, rit, 103, + [derrick, 

164, 166, 179, 186, 208; Herron, 1:4: Hesscling, 27; 

ock, 97, 107, 110, 126; ITill, 126, 142, 

119; Hilton, 115; Hinne, to$: History ot Fire Companies, 

179, 203; Hillyer, 

74,75; History of Masonic Organizations, 115, 116; History 

of Municipal Organizations, 66, 69; Tfloag, 

165, 166, 178, 182, 183, 185, 186: Hoffman, 112, 139; Hogh, 

185; Holbrook, 111; Holiday, 203; Holley, 119; Holmes, 
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164, 180; Holton, 205, 206; Horn, 9; Home of Friendless, 

113; Homrighaus, 112; Horsack, 202; Horsfall, 155; ILorst- 

man, 149; Hoslow, 147; Houghtaling, 105; Houghton, 

204; House Lots, 10; Hover, 70; How, 167; Howe, 104, 

126, 133, 186; Hows, 164; Hoyt, 114; Hubbard, 182; Hub- 

beil, 133; Ifughes, 106, 164; Hulbert, 145; full, 114, 142, 

143; Humphrey, 164: Hungerford, 204; Hunt, 37, 182, 218; 

Hunter, 116, 117, 153, 178, 204; Hutchinson, 217; Huyck, 

141. 

Indian Wars on the Border, 22, 24, 28; Ingals, 201; In- 

gersoll, 164, 178; Ingoldsby, 200; Institutions, Charitable, 

113; Irish, 165; Irvine, 136; Irwin, 133; Isack, 29; Islands, 

14, 15; Ives, 106. 

Jackson, 85, 86, 113, 116, 136, 151; Jacob, 104; Jakes, 

212; James, 103, 115; Jan, 15; Jans, 194; Janse, 19, 27, 303 

Jansen, 19; Jarvie, 153; Jarvis, 166,177; Jay, 174; Jenkins, 

164; Johnson, 33, 99, IOI, 115, 135, 142, 145, 148, 161, 180, 

204; Johnston, 178; Joncker, 13; Jones, 157, 104, 165, 166, 

186, 210; Jones Car Manufacturing Company, 151, 210; 

Joslin, 140, 141; Jost, 110; Joy, 131; Joyce, 102, 104; Judd, 

IOI, 102; Judges, County, 65; Judson, 140: Juffrow’s Landt, 

11; Jukes, 179; Jutkins, 105. 

Kane, 93, 122, 144; Kanquaragoone, 14; Nasten, 110; 

Kastendieck, 110, 142; Kelly, 9, g9, 101, 102, 105, 139, 165, 

178, 200, 204, 206, 208; Kelly’s Station, 200; Kennedy, 105, 

166, 178, 184; Kerns, 215; Ketcham, 164, 165; Ketchum, 

113; Keyes, 185; Keyser, 138; Killian, 160; Kilmer, 151; 

Kilmer Wire Band Manufacturing Company, 151; Kincade, 

106, 138; Kindler, 110; Ning, 116, 126, 164, 168; Kingsley, 

107; Kinney, 159; Kipp, 108; Kirby, 203; Klein, 17; Kleyn, 

13; Kline, 104; Niokenyer, 93; Knapp, 107; Knauer, 139; 

Koon, 140, 141, 164; Koons, 164, 166; Kregear, 195; Kriegs- 

man, 117; Krygier, 192. 

La Britton, 154; Ladd, 164, 165, 169, 182, 216, 218; 

Laibey, 148; Lake Featherstonhaugh, 161; Lamb, 106; La 

Montague, 3; Lampinan, 160; Lancaster, 117, 122; Lander, 

164, 185, 204; Landertse, 7; Landon, 85, 86, 133, 1393 

Lands, Division of, 10; Lands, List of Karly, 7; Lang, 182; 

Lange Gang, 10; Lans, 201; Lansing, 194, 198, 200, 216; 

La Rue, 126; Lasher, 164, 179, 184, 185, 186; Lason, 164, 

169; Lawrence, 105, 213; Lawton, 107, 165; Lawyer, 14: 

Lee, 126, 139; Leislerians, 23, 25; Lendrums, 170; Leonard, 

106; Leopold, 109; Leroy, 107; Lester, 180; Levey, 167, 

170; Levi, 111, 156: Levings,105; Lewis, 119, 134, 135, 1675 

Liddle, 164, 165, 178, 186; Lidell, 186; Lighthall, 94; Lilly, 

177; Lindsay, 202; Linn, 117, 138; Literary Journal, 138; 

Livingston, 14, £5, 119, 162; Lloyd, 167; Lockwood, 164, 

201, 217; Locomotive Vireman’s Monthly Journal, 139; Lo- 

comotive Works, 149; Lomasney, 86; Long, 164; Long- 

worthey, 180; Losee, 216; Lots, House, 10; Love, 186, 179; 

Loveridge, 139; Low, 140, 141, 212, 217, 218; Lowell, 1009, 

177, 178; Luckey, 105; Ludlow, 132; Luffman, 145; Lum- 

ber Yards, 156; Lush, 1600; Luycasse, 7, 23; Lydius, 88, 59; 

Lyon, 114, 179, 203. 

Mabee, 9, 143, 206, 215, 216; Macauley, 201; Mackay, 

142; Mackley, 182; Mac Master, 178; Macomber, 164, 166, 

184, 186; Magistrates, Board of, 67; Magoffin, 117, 140, 

141, 142; Mair, 135; Mairs, 157, Malcom, Man- 

ning, 170; Mansfield, 177; Manuiactories and Industries, 

147; Map of Schenectady, 20; Marcellis, 13, 15, 18, 10, 27; 

March, 193; Marcken, 4; Mariaville, 182, 185; Marinus, 13, 

34; Markle, 164; Marlette, 114, 116, 125, £39, 140, 145, 

202° 202, 122: 

204, 205, 206, 211, 213, 217, 218; Marsclis, 19, 94,140; 

Marsh, 124, 164, 170, 179, 185; Marshall, 169, 182; Martin, 

g, 100, 144, 154, 204; Mascralft, 13, 37; Mason, 103, 117, 164; 

Masonic Organizations, 115-117; Massacre, 33, 34; Mast- 

kraft, 7; Mathews, 113, 115; Matthias, 104: Maurits, 14; 

Maxey, 96; Maxon, 115, 138, 144, 146, 151, 198; Maxwell, 

178, 202; Maybee, 148; McAtyre, ror; McAuley, 102; Mc- 

Bean, 178; McCallum, 178; McCally, 164; McCannis, 10, 

113, 115, 145; McCann, 199, 200; McClelland,132; McClew, 

178; McCloskey, 112; McClyman, 153, 154; McComber, 

182; McCue, 13, 217; McDermid, 141; McDermott, 160, 

185; McDonald, ror, 116, 142, 182, 184, 186, 202; McDou- 

gall, 140, 141, 164, 178, 186; McEncroe,146, 160; McVarland, 

99, 164; McGaugh, 179; McGee, 215; McGeogh, 112; Mc- 

Graw, 166, 182; McIntosh, 166; McKean, 104, 105; McKee, 

202; McKelvey, 197; McKenney, 203; McKenry, 126; Mc- 

Kerlee, 205; McKinney, 178; McLachlin, 153; McLeod,178; 

McManus & Co., 156; McMaster, 168, 205; McMichael, 116; 

McMillan, 164, 178, 184, 203, 204; McMillen, 168, 186, 203; 

McMillin, 204; McMullen, 113, 145,159; McNee, 126, 203; 

McNeirny, 110; McQueen, 117, 149, 150, 151; McQueen 

Locomotive Works, 209; Mc(jueen & Stage, 151; McShea, 

86, 198: Mead, 143, 166, 178, 182, 186, 212; Mebee, 19; 

Mebie, 13, 14, 18; Megapolensis, 86; Meier, 96; Meneely, 110; 

Mercelis, 124; Merchant, 128; Meredith, 106; Merser, 99; 

Merwin, 104; Mesick, 198; Metcalf, 177; Meyers, 109; 

Michel, 99, 112; Mickel, 110; Mickle, 180; Milbanks, 108; 

Military Organizations, 39, 45; Millard & Crane, 156. 
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178, 217; Moorhouse, 153; Morey, 164; Morning Gazette. 

139; Morning Star, 139; Morrie, 126; Morris, 126; Morri- 

son,117; Morse,115; Mott,164; Mudge, 180, 200; Muir, $1; 

Mull, 125; Muller, 111; Mulroy, 205; Mumford, 144; Mun- 

sell, 141, 210; Murdock,17; Murry,113, 133, 169, 179, 185; 
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141, 142; Myndertse, 7, 8, 19. 

Navigation, Railway, 49, 50; Navigation, River, 45, 48; 

Navigation, Stage, 48, 49; Nellis, 179, 185; Nethaway, 16S: 

Nettleton, 102; Newcomb, 203; Newenhuysen, 87; New- 

kirk, 205; New Lights, 103; Newman, 114; Nicholson, 31; 

Niskayuna, Niskayuna District School, 107; 
Niskayuna, Early Settlers, 192, 193; Niskayuna Patent, 105; 

Niskayuna, Wars and Fortifications, 195; Noethen, 109; 

North, 162, 163, 176, 177, 178; Northrop, 108, 111; North- 
rup, 204: Norton, 165; Nott, 102, T¥4, (17, 122 
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141; Neucella, 88. 
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Paige, 85, 86, 108, 115, 116, 126,133, 144, 164; Paine, 

126, 136; Palmer, 86, 114, 116, 126, 128, 138, 144, 166, 213; 

Parker, 213, 218; Parks, 109; Parsons, 126; Parthenon and 

Academian, 139; Passage, 182, 201, 204; Patent, 

161; Patent, Cambefort, 14; Patent, Dongan, 8; 

1684, 5; Patterson, 164, 170, 205, 218; Patterson’s Corners, 

182; Pattersonville, 208; Paul, 106; Paxton, 111; Payne, 

100, 109; Pazuater, 107; Peake, 180; Pearse, 198; Pearson, 

137, 142; Peck, 105; Peckham,-117; Peek, 7, 13, 144, 180, 

205, 211, 212; Peissner, 133, 135; Pendleton, 100; Publica- 

tions of Union College, 139; Perkins, 114, 131, 133, 142; 

Perry, 16, 195, 211; Vhelps, 34; Philips, 20, 201, 217, 215; 
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OF THE 

Case iesfit ye are (alton Gora Fo TD Ad).Y), 
1662-1885, 

BY REV. J. H. MUNSELL. 

INTRODUCTION. During the long contest for dominion on this 

} . continent between the French and _ English, 
ARLY in the seventeenth century, North 

America, east of the Mississippi, was claimed by 

right of discovery by four European nations: 

France, England, Spain and Holland. Although 

for fifty years there were but few colonists sent 

over, the whole continent was too small to hold 

them in peace. Jealousies and bickerings were 

rife; the French crowded the English, and the 

English crowded the Dutch, until finally the latter 

disappeared altogether, and the rivalry between the 

former continued one hundred years longer. It 

was as plain then as it is now that rival nations 

could not exist in the Mississippi Valley. 

The French commenced the settlement of Canada 

in 1603. Their object was two-fold: the conver- 

sion of the natives to the Christian faith, and trade. 

The missionary and the trader, therefore, went 

forth together visiting every tribe in the valleys of | 

the St. Lawrence and the Mississippi, and render- 

ing to each other mutual aid and assistance. 

No nation was ever more successful in winning 

the esteem and respect of the natives. The flexi- 

bility of the French character and the indomitable 

patience of their missionaries were the secrets of 

their success. The Iroquois, or Five Nations, alone 

resisted their influence. Their friendship was the 
salvation of the Province of New York. They 

claimed all the territory lying between the Hudson 

and the Maumee rivers, so that the French of 

Canada could never aim a blow at Albany or 

Schenectady without striking over the heads of the 

Five Nations. This celebrated confederacy, the 

terror of all surrounding tribes, was made up of the 

Mohawks, Oneidas, Onondagas, Cayugas and 

Senecas, five allied tribes, who acted as one 

nation; herein lay their influence. 

they held the balance of power, and were assidu- 

ously courted by both parties. 

But after 1760, when the French 

ceased, their importance declined; rum and gun- 

powder had diminished their numbers, and the 

influence 

once powerful Mohawks had almost ceased to 

exist as a separate tribe. 

During the Revolutionary war, large portions of 

the Oneidas and Tuscaroras favored the colonies, 

and for safety were transferred to Schenectady; 

while most of the Onondagas, Cayugas and the 

Senecas, the more numerous and westerly tribes, 

adhered to Great Britain and became an awful 

scourge to the frontier settlements in the Schoharie 

and Mohawk valleys. 

SCHENECTADY, 

The ancient township of Schenectady embraced 

a territory of 128 square miles, a portion of the 

Mohawk valley sixteen miles long and eight miles 

wide. The western half is an irregular plateau, 

elevated 400 or 500 feet above the Mohawk, a 

spur of the Helderberg, passing north into Sara- 

toga County; the eastern half is a sandy plain, 

whose general level is 300 or 400 feet lower. The 

river, running through the middle of this tract in a 

southeasterly direction, forms the most beautiful 

and striking natural object in its landscape. At 

the western boundary, where it enters the town, it 

flows through a narrow valley, whose sides, though 

covered with foliage, are too steep for cultivation. 

From the hill Towereune, the valley widens grad- 

ually to Poversen and Aaakeyck, where the hills 

sink down into a great sand plain. Until the river 

reaches the City of Schenectady, it a 

constant succession of rapids, and its general 

is 
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2 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

course is southeast; here it makes a great bend, and 

flows with a deep, sluggish current northeastward 

to the Aal Plaats, the eastern boundary of the 

town. The tributaries of the Mohawk within the 

town are small and unimportant streams; those at 

the west end, flowing from the slates, are nearly or 

quite dry in summer, while those at the opposite 

end, fed from the sand, are constant spring brooks. 

But of these streams, few are of sufficient size and 

constancy now to serve as motive power. 
With the exception of a little limestone in the 

extreme western limits of the town, all the rocks 

found in place belong to Hudson shales, and con- 

sist of alternate layers of blue slate and sandstone, 

some of which are used for building purposes. 

In the west half this geological formation is most 

abundant, and the soil there is a clayey loam, 

underlaid with clay or hard pan. The immediate 

valley of the river, where it breaks through the range 

of hills, is narrow and composed chiefly of drift of 

at least two elevations. The highest, called the 

‘stone flats,” raised twenty to thirty feet above 

the water, consists of coarse gravel and bowlders, 

and is chiefly found on the north side of the river. 

The opposite bank is a lower plain of sand and 

gravel. 

The eastern half of the town has no hills worthy 
of the name; its general level is perhaps 100 feet 

above the Mohawk, and the prevailing soil is a 

fine sand, underlaid with clay, except in the ex- 

treme eastern limits, where the clay loam again pre- 

vails. 
Besides this there is found in the bends and 

eddies of the river, and upon the low islands, an 

alluvial deposit which is enriched by the annual 

floods. This constitutes the widely known ‘‘ Mo- 

hawk Flats,” which, though cultivated by the 

white man for more than 200 years, have lost little 

of their unsurpassed fertility. 

In the early period of the settlement no other 

land was tilled, hence they were called “he land, 

arable land, or douwlandt, all else being denomi- 

nated woodland, and little valued. In addition to 

their fertility, these flats presented another advan- 

tage to the first settler; they were mainly free from 

wood and ready for the plough and seed. For 

ages they had been the native’s corn Jand, whilst 

the adjacent forests and river furnished him with 

flesh and fish. 

The great sand belt which passes across the 

town from south to north was once covered with a 

heavy growth of pine, while the high lands lying 

north and west of it produced the usual varieties of 

hard woods. 

charming to the eye of the first white man traveling 

up the Mohawk to Ticonderoga (Fort Hunter) 

than the flats skirting the river banks, clothed in 

bright green of the Indian corn and other summer 

crops of the red man. In 1642 the kind hearted 

Arent Van Curler visited the Indian castles on an 

errand of mercy, to rescue some captive French- 

men from the hands of the cruel Mohawks. On 

his return he wrote to the Patroon (Kilian Van 

Rensselaer) in Amsterdam, that a ‘‘ half day’s jour- 

ney from the Colonie, on the Mohawk river, 

there lies the most beautiful land that the eye 

of man ever beheld.” 

Niskayunaberg or Schuvlenberg and looked west 

and north over the douzland/ and the adjacent 

islands can wonder at the rapture of the enthusi- 

astic Dutchman, or can fail to discern in his ad- 

miration the budding of that idea which twenty 

years after blossomed into the settlement of which 

Who that has stood upon 

he was the leader. 

The site of the village of Schenectady was ad- 

mirably chosen. No other spot in the neighbor- 

hood of the bouwland offered such facilities for a 

village. From the eastern end of the ‘‘Great Flat” 

there makes out from the sandy bluff which sur- 

rounds it a low, narrow spit, having upon the east, 

north and west sides the Mohawk River and Sand 

Kil. The extreme point, only about 1,200 feet 

wide, was chosen for the site of the future city, a 

warm, dry spot, easily fortified against an enemy, 

and sufficiently elevated to be safe from the annual 

overflow of the Mohawk River. This little flat 

contains but 175 acres, and it was the site of an 

earlier Indian village, which tradition says was a 

former seat or capital of the Mohawks. 

FIRST SETTLEMENT OF SCHENECTADY. 

If we may believe tradition, Schenectady had 

already been occupied by the white man many 

years when Van Curler first visited it in 1642; in 

fact, it has been claimed to be little, if any, junior 

to Albany. 
That a few fur traders and Jos/oopfers early roved 

among the Mohawks, married and raised families 

of half-breeds, cannot be denied; indeed, there are 

respectable families in the valley to this day, whose 

pedigree may be traced back to these marriages. 

But that the white man made any permanent settle- 

ment on the Mohawk west of Albany, before 1662, 

there is no good reason for believing, and in view 

of the opposition of Albany and the Colonie, im- 

probable, 

June 18, 1661, Arent Van Curler, the leader of 

Nothing could have been more | the first settlement, made formal application to 
5 | ) 
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INTRODUCTION. 3 

Goy. Stuyvesant for permission to settle upon the 

‘«Great Flat” lying west of Schenectady. 

The reply was as follows: 

JuNE 23, 1661. 

“«The letter of Arent Van Curler being presented 
and read on the 18th June, containing in sub- 
stance a request by him and a few other persons 
for the large plain situated to the back of Fort 
Orange, toward the interior, for the purpose of cul- 
tivation, and consent to purchase the same from 
the original proprietors and make a settlement 
there, etc., which, being maturely considered, the 
Director-General and Council resolved to consent 
to it; provided that the said lands, on being pur- 
chased from the native proprietors, be, as usual, 
transferred to the Director-General and Council 
aforesaid, as representatives of the Lords Directory 
of the Privileged West India Company; and that 
whatever the petitioners shall pay for the aforesaid 
lands to the original proprietors shall in due time 
be returned to them, or be discounted to them 
against the tenths.” 

Before the Governor’s authority was received at 

Beverwyck a freshet laid the country for miles 

around under water. This was followed, a few 

days after (June 26), by an inundation much 

greater than the first, which forced the inhabitants 

to quit their dwellings and fly with their cattle for 

safety to the woods on the adjoining hills. Incal- 

culable damage was caused by these irruptions. 

The wheat and other grain were all prostrated, and 

had to be cut mostly for fodder, affording scarcely 

seed sufficient for the next spring. 

This visitation caused the postponement of the 

purchase of the ‘‘Great Flat” until the ensuing 

month, when the following deed was obtained from 

the Indian owners : 

Compareerde voor mij Johannes La Montagne 
ten dienste van de Groet Westendische Compagnie 
door de G'en Racden Van Nieu Ned*'™ geadmit- 
teert, Viers Direct"en Commies op de fort Orangie 
en Dorp Beverwy, eenige Oversten van t’Maquaes 
Lant genaempt Cantuquo, Sanareetse, Aiadane 
Sodackdrasse eigenaers van een seeckere stuck 
Landts genaempt Op duyts de Groote Vlackten 
Liggende achter de fort Orangie tusschen de selve 
en het Maquaes Landt de weicke Verklaeren gece- 
deert en getransporteert te hebben gelyck sij see- 
deeren en transporteeren by deesen in reele en 
“Actuelle possessie en sijgondom ten behoeve Van 
S' Arent Van Corlaer Ret gemelde stuck Landts of 
groote Vlackten op Wildts genaemdt Schonowe (is) 
in syn begrip en circonferentie met syn geboomte 
en killen voor een seecker getal of Cargosoenen 
voor welck de transportanton bekennen sattisfactie 
van gehadt te hebben renonceerende voor nu en 
altyt op alle eygendom en pretensie die sij op het 
gemelde stuck ‘Landts tot nutoe gehadt hebben, 
beloovende het te bevryden voor all pretensie die 
andere Wilden soude hebben konnen. Actum in 

de fort* Orangie den 27° July A, 1661, in presentie 
Van Marten Mouris en Willem Montagne daertee 
versocht. 

dit ist merck van CAaNTUQUO. 

Tue Bear. 

dit ist merck van 

AIADANE. 

dit ist merck van 

SONAREETSIE. 

In Kennisse van mij_ 
La Montagne 
V. D' en Commies 

| 
| 

| 
opt fort* Orangie J M. Mov(xis) 

WILLIAM DE La MonTAGNE. 

(Translation. ) 

Appeared before me Johannes La Montagne, in 
the service of the Privileged West India Company, 
by the Director-General and Council of New Netn- 
erland admitted vice-director and clerk (commres) 
at Fort Orange and village of Beverwyck, certain 
sachems of the Mohawk’s land named C antuquo, 
Sonareetse, Aiadane, Sodachdrasse, owners of a 
certain piece of land named in Dutch the Groo/e 
Viachie, and lying behind Fort Orange, between 
the same and the Mohawk’s lands, who declare 
that they have granted, transferred, as by these 
presents they do grant and transfer, in real and 
actual possession and ownership to the behoof of 
Mr. Arent Van Corlaer, the said piece of land or 
Great Flat, by the Indians named Schonowe, in its 

compass of circumference, with its woods and kils, 
for a certain number of cargoes, for which the 

grantors acknowledge they have had satisfaction; 
renouncing henceforth and forever all ownership 
and pretensions, which they to said pieces of land 
heretofore have had, and promising to free it from 
all pretensions which other Indians may have. 
Done in Fort Orange the 27" July, anno 1661, in 
presence of Martin Mouris and Willem Montagne, 
hereto invited. 

This is the mark X 

This is the mark x 
This isthe mark x 

of CaNTUQuO. 

of SONAREETSIE. 
of AIADANE. 

M. Movu(ris) 

WitiiaM DE La MontTaGne. 

Acknowledged before me, 
La Montagne V. D., and 

Clerk at Fort Orange. 

Much difficulty was encountered in gaining 

possession, and in the allotment of the land 

among the Van Curler’s Company. After a 

delay of two years, Governor Stuyvesant came to 

an understanding with the settlers, and the several 
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4 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

lots and farms were surveyed and conveyed to them 

by patents. 
The description given in this deed was quite in- 

definite, and restricted the inhabitants to a com- 

paratively small area. 
At this time, and even for many years later, 

nothing was called dad except the islands and allu- 

vial flats bordering upon the river. Within ten 

years after the settlement commenced, all the tilla- 

ble land was taken up, and it became necessary to 

look for more farther west. Hence originated an- 

other negotiation with the Mohawks, and _ the fol- 

lowing deeds extinguishing the Indian title to the 
lands along the river to the present westerly limits 

of the county: 

On this 28th May, 1670, Kennighke and Auro- 
ensie, both sakemakers of the Maquase, acknowl- 
edge to have thankfully received the remainder of 
the sewant, tubs [of beer] and gunpowder, accord- 
ing to the tenor of the accompanying contract, and 
free the aforenamed buyers henceforth from all 
claims, and promise never more from this date to 
make any new action. 

In witness of the truth of which we have sub- 
scribed this with our own hands by our accustomed 
marks, at Schanechted, on the date as above, in 
presence of Robbert Sanders and Jacques Cor- 
nelise [Van Slyck], both called as interpreters 
hereto. 

wee This mark 

This mark ~~~ _—s was set by 
DorowINGOESE. 

was set by 
KENNIGHKE. 

This mark was set by 
AUROENSIE. 

Robert Sanders. 

These letters were 4 Gk ES set by 
Jacques Cornelise. 

In my presence, 
J. GV. Marcxen, 

Schout. 

On this 3d day of July, A° 1672, appeared be- 
fore mee John Garretsen Van Marken, admitted 
publ: nota: by the worshipful court of Albany and 
the Inhabitants of Schanhectade, together with a 
sartain-Indian called Dohorywachqua and Crage, 
being the representative of y* foure Mohockx Cas- 
tells, who declared and promised to hold firm and 
stable, and will cause to be held in full force and 
virtue all and whatsoever hee shall act or doe in 
y°® sale of y’ Lands Lying Neare The Towne of 
Schanhechtade, Within Three Dutch Myles in 
compasse on boath sides of y* River Westwards, 
which endes at Hinguariones ( Towareoune } Where 
the Last Battell Wass between The Mohoakx and 
the North Indians; Provided That Jaackes Corne- 

| lisse {Van Slyck] Shall have the first flatts or playne, 
—FExcept y* Inhabitants of Schanhechtade will Re- 
store unto said Jaaques Cornelisse Two Rundlets 

| of Brandy and one hundred hand of Wampum, 
which being paid unto s‘ Jaaques The said first 
Playne to Remaine to the Towne. 

Whereupon Sander Leenders Gelen, being a 
former magistrate, and John Van Eps, and Sweer 
Teunisse [V an Velsen}, being y* present magis- 

| trates of y*s* Towne, did acknowledge and de- 
clare That They Weare Agreed with ys’ Indians 
uppon y* purchase of y* Land for y* Summe or 
quantity of six hundred hands of good Wheyte 
Wampum, Six koates of Duffels, thirty barres of 
Lead and nine bagges of Powder, Which They doe 
promis unto y* s? Indians in two Terms, viz.: The 
first as soon as The Sachems, or any person by 
Them authorized, shall Comme out of y® Country 
and Produce full Power from Thevre Inhabitants 
according to Theyre usuall manner, and have 
thereupon delivered unto ye s! Indian as a pres- 
ent for The old man in the Mohawk Country a 
Rundlet of brandy,—To the end all Misunder- 
standing and Complaints May be Washt of and 

| Removed. 
To The trew performance of The premises The 

s' parties have hereunto Set theire handes, and 
Wass Interpreted by Cornelis Viele in The Absence 
of Jaques Cornelisse, —In Schanhechtade, the date 
above written. (Signed) 

With the Markes of followeth 

The Marke Lo of DoHoRIWACHQUA. 

The Marke Fy of CRAGE. 

SANDER LEENDERS GELEN, 
Joun Van Eps, 
SWEER TEUNISSE. 

Attested by me, 
J. G. V. Marxen, Notar: publ: 

(Coppy) “Whis day the 13" of July is pay? unto 
the Indians above mentioned in parte of ye pur- 
chaze foure hundred hands of Wampum, 30 barres 
of Lead 3 bagges of pouder. More for a pres- 
ent, 3 ankers good beere, one koatt of duffells, 

together with the above mentioned Rundlet of 
Brandy. 

(Coppy Transl:) A® 1672 the 13" day of July, 
Did the underwritten Indians appeare before us 

| and do declare that They did confirm all and 
whatsoever the Above written Indians by Name 
Tohoriowaghque and Crage in the Annexed In- 
strument have acted, and doo by these presents 
prommise, with the Last payment to give all fur- 
ther assurances of the s! Land, and That They and 

| Theyre heires Shall desist from all further Claymes 
| and pretences whatsoever. 
| In Witness whereof They have hereunto set 
Theyre handes, In Schanhechtade at the house of 

| Gerritt Bancker and in the presence of Severall 
particular Indians The Day and Yeare Above 
written, 
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INTRODUCTION. a) 

Signed with ye following markes, 

ia 

The Marke of CANACHQUO. 

' 
The Marke BR of Ocguarry. 

The Marke of ToHORIOWACHQUE. 

Attested by mee, 
(Signed) J. G. V. Marcxe, Nota. pub. 

Compared and found to agree with the prinsip: 
by mee. 

Lupovicus CoBEs, secret. 

By virtue of the foregoing conveyance from the 

Indian proprietors, application was then made to 

the Governor and Council for a patent, which 

reasonable petition was denied, the reasons for the 

refusal being that ‘‘leave from ye Governor to buy 

ye same” had not been first obtained, and that 

‘*full information of the premises” was not given. 

To add to the difficulties of the case, the Mo- 

hawks were inclined to repudiate the sale of their 

lands, or at least demand a double compensation, 

as shown in the following minute of a council 

held by the Mohawks, before the Governor: 

The Sachem spake for himself, That one Arent 
Van Corlaer bought all Schannectade and paid for 
it, but now there be some who have bought only 
Grasse, and pretend to the land allso; they say allso 
that they have bought the first flatt, but that is not 
so, for it belongs to Acques Cornelisse [Van Slyck], 
who is to rave: it, and none else, for he is of their 
[Mohawk] people, and it is his inheritance;—that 
there are writings made of a sale of land, but it 
was never sold, but only the grasse, tho’ it may be 
some drunken fellows may have made some writing 
without their knowledge,—That they have only 
bought the Grasse and now are going to live upon 
it, but they ought to pay for the land as well as 
the Grasse, and that they had given some to that 
woman Hillah and another Leah, who have the 
property of it;—the others have only the Grasse ;-— 
That now he has declared this matter and desires 
notice may be taken of it; and says that shame 
shall never come upon him, or to be found in a 
lye. 

Answer. 

“That it is the custom of the Government and 
amongst Christians when they sell the Grass to sell 
the land allso; and if they be not paid for the land 
they shall be, and that the people of Schannectade 
say that they sent Acques to purchase the land in 
the name of their Town, and that Acques bought 
in his own name; and they sent allso one Kemel to 
purchase it for the Towne, the Indyans told him 
that Acques had bought and paid some part of the 
payment, and they desired them to pay Acques the 
money back and the Towne should have it, which 

| the Towne did and Acques was satisfied; it is the 
custom of this place to do justice among ourselves 
and if Acques have a better title than they for it 
he shall have it 

Whatever may have been the arguments used on 

this occasion, whether in the shape of ‘‘ankers of 

good beere,” or a ‘‘rundlet of brandy’—potent 

reasons ever with the Indian—opposition ceased 

from this time, and the Governor and Council were 

brought to grant the inhabitants the following 

much-needed patent for the ancient township. 

afterward City of Schenectady. 

PATENT OF 1684, 

| Thomas Dongan, Leiutenant and Governour and 
| Vice-Admirall under his Royall Highnesse, James, 
| Duke of Yorke, &c., of New Yorke and its Depen- 
dencyes in America, «&c. 

To all to whom these presents shall come, 
Sendeth Greeting, Whereas Tohorywachqua and 
Crage, Representatives of the four Mohake Castles, 
have for themselves, and Canachquo, Ocquary, and 
Tohoriowachque, true and Lawfull Owners of the 
Land within menconed, have by their certaine 

Writeing, or Deed of Sale, dated the third day of 
July Anno Dni 1672, Given and Granted unto 

| Sander Lend™ Glenn, John Van Epps, Sweere 
| Teunesse, as being impowered by the Inhabitants 

of the Towne or Village of Schenectady and 
Places adjacent, a Certaine Tract or Parcell of 
Lands, beginning at the Maques River, by the 

| Towne of Schenectade, and from thence Runnes 
Westerly on both sides up the River to a Certaine 
Place called by the Indians Canaquarioeny, being 
Reputed three Dutch Miles or twelve English Miles; 
and from the said Towne of Schenectade downe 
the River one Dutch or four English miles toa kill 

| or creeke called the Ael Place, and from the said 

Maques River into the woods South Towards 
| Albany to the Sandkill one Dutch Mile and as 
much on the other side of the River North, being 
one Dutch mile more, there being Excepted in the 
said Bounds all Corie and Saw mills s, that now are 

or hereafter shall be erected Within the Bounds of 
the said Towne, that they be lyable to pay a perti- 
cular Quitt Rent for their Priviledges, besides what 
is herein sett forth, as shall hereafter be agreed for 

| by the Inhahitants of the said Places, or owners of 
| such Mills, with such Governour, or Governours as 

shall be Appointed by his Royall Highness; and 
likewise that noe Timber or Wood be Cutt but 
within the Bounds aforesaid, the said Excepcon 
being agreed upon by Myselfe as by a Certaine 
Writeing bearing date the 7th day of August last 
Past, doth more ‘perticularly Appeare: 

| Now know Yee that by virtu of the Comicon and 
| Authority to me Given; by his Royall Highnesse 
| James Duke of Yorke and Albany, Lord Proprietor 
| of this Province, I have hereby Given, Granted, Rati- 

fyed and Confirmed and by these Presents doe 
Give, Grant, Ratify and confirme, unto William 
Teller, Ryert Schermerhorn, Sweer Teunessen, 

| Jan Van Epps and Myndert Wemp on the Behalfe 
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6 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF. SCHENECTADY. 

of the Inhabitants of the Towne of Schenectade 
and Places Adjacent aforesaid, Dependencyes 
thereon, there Associates, Heires, Successors and 
Assigns, all and Singular the before recited Tract 
and Tracts, Parcell and Parcells of Land, Meadow, 
Ground and Premises with their and every of their 
Appurtenancyes, together with all and Singular the 
Houses, Buildings, Messuages, Tenements, Heri- 
ditaments, Dams, nein ers, Raarnvess Streames, Ponds, 
Woods, Quarryes, Fishing, Hawking and Fowling, 
with all Priviledges, Libertyes, and Improvements 
whatsoever, to the said Lands and Premises be- 
longing, or in any wise appertaining, or accepted, 
reputed, taken or known as Part, Parcell, or Mem- 
ber thereof, with their and every of their Appurte- 
nances; Provided Alwayes that this shall not any- 
wayes make null, or void a former Grant or Pattent, 
bearing date the 30th of October last past made 
to Jacques Cornelisse of a Piece of Land lyeing 
within the Bounds heretofore mentioned of the 
Towne of Schenectade, (that is to say) the Land 
Lyeing and being betweene two Creekes, the one 
called the Stone Creeke to the Eastward, and the 
other the Platté Creeke to the westward thereof, 
the Low Land lyeing along the River side on the 
South of the Maques River, and then to the north 
of the Land belonging to the 
Schenectade, the same Containing Forty Morgen 
or Eighty acres of Land, as alsoe Forty Morgen, 
or Eighty Acres of Woodland or upland more, on 
the West side of the Platté Creeke, adjoining to 
the arrable Land along the River side, which was 
wholly exempt by the Indian Proprietors, in the 
sale of this Land, as belonging to Jacques Corne- 
lise- To have and to hold the aforesaid Tract and 
Tracts, Parcell and Parcells, of Land and Premises, 
with their and every of their Appurtenances, unto 
the said William Teller, Ryert Schermerhorne, 
Sweer Teunessen, Jan Van Epps and Myndart 
Wemp on the behalfe of the Inhabitants of the 
Towne of Schenectade and their Associates, their 
Heires, Successors and Assignes, unto the propper 
use and behoofe of the said William Tel ler, Ryert 
Schermerhorne, Sweer Teunessen, Jan Van Eps and 
Myndart Wemp, their Heires, Successors, and 
Assignes forever, to be holden of his Royall High- 
nesse, his Heires and Assignes in ffree and Comon 
Soccage, According to the tenure of East Green- 
wich, in the County ‘of Kent, in his Ma‘ King- 
dome of England, Yielding and Paying therefor, 
Yearly and every Yeare, as a Quit? rent, for his 
Royall Highnesse use, unto such officer or Officers 
as shall beappointed to receive the same att Albany 
forty Bushels of Good Winter Wheat, on or before 
the tw,enty-fifth day of March. 

Given under my Hand and Sealed with the 
Seale of the Province, at ffort James in New York, 
the first day of November Anno Dni 1684, and in 
the thirty-six Yeare of his ma‘** Raigne. 

Tuo. Doncan, 

The importance of this grant will appear from the 

fact that it is the source of all legal titles to lands 

embraced within 128 square miles of territory given 

subsequently to the first day of November, 1684. 

Inhabitants of | 

The five trustees therein named, or their sur- 

vivors and successors lawfully appointed, there- 

after became the grantees of all the public or com- 

mon lands of the town. Previous to this date all 

lawful conveyances were in the first instance made 

by the Governor and Council. 

Of the five original trustees, Myndert Wemp, 

Jan Van Eps, and Sweer Teunise Van Velsen were 

killed February 9, 169%, leaving only Reyer Scher- 

merhorn and Willem Teller, survivors. The latter, 

then an aged man residing in Albany, took but 

little active interest in the management of the pat- 

ent. In 16g2 he removed to New York, where he 

died in 1700, from which time until the confirma- 

tory patent of 1714. Reyer Schermerhorn was sole 

trustee. 
By the destruction of the village in 1690 and 

subsequent wars with the French and their Indian 

allies, the inhabitants of Schenectady had lost all 

but their lands; in consequence of which Scher- 

merhorn petitioned the Governor in 1698 for an 

abatement of the quit rent due—forty bushels of 

wheat yearly—according to the patent of 1684, but 

his request was not granted. 

Making due allowance 

about 80,000 acres of land in the patent of Sche- 

nectady 

of one trustee, save the few farms which had been 

heretofore granted. This one-man power was dis- 

tasteful to the people, and it was urged against 

Schermerhorn that he disposed of the lands be- 

longing to the village, without rendering any ac- 

for water, there were 

anagement 

count of the same; they therefore petitioned for an 

enlargement of their privileges by a new charter 

which should give them power of choosing five 

trustees to hold office three years, who should ac- 

count to their successors for the management of 

their trust. 

As it had been charged that the first patent 

granted the lands to the patentees therein named, 

the sec- 

in response 

to their petition (after reciting the Dongan patent), 

conveyed the lands therein mentioned to Colonel 

Pieter Schuyler, John Sanderse Glenn, Adam Vroo- 

man and John Wemp, jointly or severally to be 

trustees for managing the trust and estate afore- 

said, together with the said Ryer Schermerhorn or 

by themselves. 

and to their heirs, successors and assigns, 

ond patent, given February 17, 1703, 

Schermerhorn paid no regard to 
but still 

continued to act as sole ‘‘trustee for the town in 

the new charter, nor to his fellow trustees, 

receiving the rents, issues and profits thereof, and 

in prosecuting suits of law in his own name only, 

without giving any account thereof.” 
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INTRODUCTION. is 

All this too in spite of suspension from his office 

by the Governor. The secret of this stubborn per- 

sistence in the duties of his trusteeship was doubt- 

less the fact that the first patent of 1684 was still 

binding, notwithstanding the granting of a second, 

and also to the further fact that in Schermerhorn, 

as the sole survivor of the trustees therein men- 

tioned, was vested all the authority and power origi- 

nally granted to said five trustees. 

The fee of the land was in him, his ‘‘heirs, suc- 

cessors and assigns,” and could only be alienated 

by death or release in due form. In consequence 

thereof, Colonel Peter Schuyler and Johannes Glen, 

two of the new trustees, petitioned the Governor 

for an amended charter, and were followed by the 

citizens asking for a yearly election of trustees and 

a more strict accountability to the people; where- 

upon the Governor granted their request in the 

charter of April 16, 1705, from which, after recit- 

ing both the former charters of 1684 and 1703, 

Schermerhorn’s name as trustee is omitted. 

Accompanying the petition was a list of lands 

sold and leases taken by Ryer Schermerhorn, for 

which he is said to have given no account to the 

inhabitants. 

‘*A list of y° Lands and Income of the towne- 
ship of Schonhectady, viz: 

Jacobus Peek, agreedt for his land. 
Esias Swart, his land. 
Jan Brouwer, his Jands. 
Phillip Groot, his land of y* Sixt plains [sixth 

flat], Phillip Groot has also y* fyft plains [fifth flat] 
in hiere. 

Cornelis Slingerland, hows lott boght. 
Johannes Myndertse, hows loot boght. 
Claese Franse {van de Bogart], oplandt boght. 
Symon Groot, oplandt bought. 
Jonathan Stevens, oplandt bought and some 

cattle. 
hendrik brower, opland bought. 
Jellis Vonda, oplandt bought. 
Jacobus peek, landt upon Earequiet of Erfpaght 

[quit rent]. 
Jan Landertse, Earequiet [quit rent]. 
Lewies Vielé, his Landt for y* fourth shalf of 4th 

Garf [the fourth sheaf]. 
Lewis Viele the Groet of his former Landt and 

some cattell and hoggs. 
_ Arent Vedder, Earequiet [quit rent]. 
"Claes franse [van de Bogart], Earequiet. 
Carel Hanse [Toll], Earequiet. 
Ryer Schermerhorn, Earequiet. 
Tam Smith, Earequiet. 
Martje Mastkraft, Earequiet. 
These lands are given out. 

cannott tell, nor what day Give, 
These folling man [men | had last Jeare ae 

ports [deeds] for Great Rewards [of great value? 
pretending for the town Juse. 

If any more wee 

Barent Wemp, Gysbert Gerritse [Van Brakel], 
Isack Swits, Jan Luycasse, Jan Vrooman, Jan 

batist [Van Eps], and others. 
What y* above mentioned persons pays Jearely 

wee cannot tell by reason wee nifer had none of 
y° peapers, nor conditions. 

On the 25th of May, 1714, Schermerhorn 

peared before the Governor and Council, 

after a full hearing of all matters”” against him, 

was suspended from ‘‘acting further as Trustee of 

the said Towne.” 

ap- 

‘and 

But as he continued obstinate, 

disregarding the demand of the new Trustees for 

an accounting to them of his official acts, they 

commenced in the Court of 

Chancery; Schermerhorn and his friends instituting 

a suit against him 

counter-suits in the same court. 

Of the several suits at law heretofore or subse- 

quently commenced by the contending parties 

down to the death, in 1795, of the second Ryer 

grandson of the first, a period of 

nearly one hunderd years, no one was ever de- 

termined. 

Tired and despairing of relief from litigation, the 

contestants resorted to negotiation and compro- 

mise, and failing of this as they always did, they 

reverted to the Colonial Legislature for redress, but 

all in vain. 

Schermerhorn, 

The first serious etfort at compromise 

was probably made in 1708, when a futile attempt 

was made to induce Schermerhorn to transfer his 

title to the township to the then trustees elected 

under the charter of 1705. 

Failing in this attempt at compromise, thesame 

trustees on June 3, 1709, ‘‘in behalf of themselves 

and other the trustees and inhabitants of Schenec- 

tady,”” presented a petition to the Colonial Assem- 

bly to ‘‘bring ina bill confirming unto said in- 

habitants the Powers, ete., mentioned in Letters 

Patent granted to said town.” On June 4th said 

bill was presented, on the 7th it was read a second 

time, referred to a committee with power to send 

for persons and papers and never more heard of. 

The next step in this controversy was a power of 

attorney executed by the opponents of Schermer- 

horn and his party, to the then trustees elected 

under the charter of 1705, to demand of Ryer 

Schermerhorn, Barent Wemp, Johannes Teller. 

Johannes Wemp and Arent Bratt the books, deeds, 

bonds, etc., belonging to the town. 

The strife and contention in respect to the man- 

agement of the ‘‘common lands” of the township 

were put to rest for a time by Schermerhorn, 

1714. + By lease 

Oct. 22d and 23d, he conveyed all 

title to these lands to Willem Appel, 

in 

and release, dated respectively 

his right and 

innkeeper, of 
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8 HISTORVAOF THE COUNTE JOR SCHENECTADY. 

the city of New York. In this conveyance, after And, as a recognition of rights, they claimed that 

reciting the Dongan Patent of 1684, the fact that | these lands should be leased to them on durable 

all the trustees therein named were deceased save 

Ryer Schermerhorn, ‘‘only survivor whereby ali 

the estate, right and title of, in or to all said lands 

* * not otherwise legally disposed are became 

solely vested in the said Ryert Schermerhorn in 

fee simple by right of survivorship, and _ that said 

Schermerhorn growing antient is desirous that said 

* * ands and premises should be conveyed to 

others together with himself and their heirs that 

the intent of the said Letters Patent may be duly 

observed,” said Schermerhorn released and con- 

firmed to Willem Appel and his heirs, all the 

aforesaid lands in ‘‘ Special trust and confidence 

that he the said Willem Appel or his heirs will 

upon request to him made by thesaid Ryert Scher- 

merhorn his heirs orassigns shall * * execute 

such conveyance and assurance in the law forthe 

vesting of all the hereinbefore mentioned * * 

lands * * and all the right, title and interest 

thereunto hereby conveyed or mentioned or in- 

tended to be conveyed to the said Willem Appel, 

unto the said Ryert Schermerhorn, Jan Wemp, 

Johannes Teller, Arent Bratt and Barent Wemp 

* * their heirs and assigns forever, to the in- 

tent the same may be held and enjoyed according 

to the true intent and meaning of the said Letters 

Patent by the said Thomas Dongan.” 

On the 25th and 26th of October, said Appel by 
lease and release reconveyed said land to Ryer 

Schermerhorn and his said four associates for the 

purposes above mentioned. 

And to confirm the above conveyance, the fourth 

and last patent was granted by Governor Hunter 

on the 14th November, 1714. 

When New York at th: close of the Revolution 

ceased to be a province of the British empire, many 

laws and legal customs of the mother country be- 

came obsolete, among which was the law of primo- 

geniture. Up to this time Ryer Schermerhorn 

and his friends, acting under said law, had 

claimed that the common lands belonged of right 

to the eldest sons and heirs of the first settlers, or 

to their assigns, only from twenty-five to thirty of 

whom were then living in the township. But with 

the change of the laws, the number of the claim- 

ants to the common lands was greatly increased. 

In 1797 there were nearly 500 families in the town- 

ship, descendants from the first settlers, who 

claimed in right of law that these lands belonged 

to them or their assigns and not to those inter- 

lopers, who had become citizens long subsequent 

to their forefathers, 

leases, and ata nominal rent of from 50 cents to 

$7.50 per 100 acres. 

These claims and demands of the ‘‘ descendants” 

exasperated the other and later settlers, and led to 

protests and petitions, to the appointment of com- 

mittees of conference, to consultations with legal 

authorities and to various reports and plans of 

compromise. 

One of the 
plans for the management of the common lands 

was that of 1793, offered by a committee ap- 

pointed at a town meeting, held October 1, 1792, 

a ‘‘respectable number of the inhabitants being 

present.” 

This committee consisted of John Van Petten, 
John Glen, Andrew Van Patten, John Sanders, 

Albert A. Vedder and Abraham Oothout, and 

made their report January 28, 1793. 

Their recommendations were never carried into 

effect. In 1795 the old Board of Trustees, ap- 

pointed under Arent Bratt’s will, had been in 

power thirty years, many had passed away, the 

others had become aged, and it seemed proper and 

desirable that new blood should be infused into 

this body; therefore, on the 13th January, 1795, 

the following persons then seized in fee of the com- 

mon lands, ‘‘as surviving trustees of the town in 

virtue of the Patent, 1714, and certain mesne 

conveyances and devises,” to wit: Abraham Fonda, 

Harmanus Bratt, Isaac Vrooman, Nicholas Van 

Petten, Nicholaas Van der Volgen, Jacobus Myn- 

dertse, Samuel Bradt and Abraham Wemple, asso- 

ciated with themselves, as trustees, Nicholaas Vee- 

der, Gerret S. Veeder, Jr., Abraham Oothout, 

John Sanders and John Glen, by conveying said 

Patent to Michael Tyms, who reconveyed the same 

to the above named persons as trustees. And, on 

the 15th day of March, 1796, certain of the above 

said trustees by reason of age resigned their trust, 

and a new board was appointed in their room; to 

most elaborate and _ well-digested 

accomplish which the trustees then in power con- 

veyed the Patent to Joseph Mynderse, and he re- 

conveyed the same to Abraham Wemple, Nicholaas 

Veeder, Gerrit S. Veeder, Jr., John Glen, John 

Sanders, Abraham Oothout, Abraham Swits, An- 

dries Van Petton, Jellis J. Fonda, Rykert Scher- 

merhorn and Adam S. Vrooman as new trustees, 

who executed a bond in the penal sum of £5,000 

to the retiring trustees for the faithful performance 

of the duties of their office. These last mentioned 

trustees held and managed the common lands until 

1798, when their powers ceased, being merged by 
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INTRODUCTION. 9 

the first charter of the city of Schenectady in the 

mayor, aldermen and commonalty. 

_ In furtherance of a compromise or settlement of 

the disputes in relation to the public lands, the in- 

habitants appointed a committee in 1795 to take 

legal counsel on the subject. This committee 

consisted of Andries Van Petten, Jelles Fonda and 

Maus Schermerhorn. 

In accordance with the opinion obtained by the 

committee, the Board of Trustees recommended to 

the committee of the inhabitants to obtain a 

‘‘proper power from said Inhabitants to transact 

the business of the town in a more perfect man- 

ner,” which being done, the trustees appointed out 

of their number Abraham Swits, Jellis J. Fonda, 

Andries Van Petten, Adam S. Vrooman, Rykert 

Schermerhorn and Maus Schermerhorn, to act in 

connection with the committee of the inhabitants 

in ‘‘bringing the business of the common lands to 

a speedy settlement.” And on the roth of August 

(1795) this committee reported to the trustees that 

‘‘there was a great prospect of a reconciliation of | 

all disputes subsisting between the Inhabitants and 

Trustees,” and asking for further time. 

The acts and minutes of the Board of Trustees, 

from time to time, show quite clearly that they 

considered the common lands to belong to the 

descendants of those who were inhabitants of the 

township in 1684, the date of the Dongan Patent, 

or at least in 1714, the date of the confirmation of 

the same. 

The other inhabitants were incensed that they 

had no voice in the disposal of these lands, and, on 

the roth April, 1797, sent a petition to the Trustees 

that a committee from their number might be 

heard on this subject. This was signed by ‘ Jno. 

Bpt. Wendell, Jacob Beekman, Joseph Shurtliff, 

ie Bpt. Van Eps, David Tomlinson, Jno. B. 

rooman, Alexander Kelly, Thomas V. Horn, 

Charles Martin.” 

On the other hand, on the 24th of the same 

month, a committee of the ‘‘ Descendants ” made 

and published the following reports: 

The committee of the Descendents or legal 
Representatives of the Persons who were inhabi- 
tants of the Township of Schenectady in the year 
1684, being the time when the Patent of said 
township was granted, or the vear 1714, when the 
above Patent was confirmed: 

Report that they have examined the state of the 
Business belonging to the Trustees of Schenectady 
Patent, and find that they have sold 8,097 Acres of 
land, being part of said Patent, engaged 9414 acres 
of land to different persons, and 600 acres of land 
applied for; that it appears, from the accounts ren- 
dered, that there is the sum of £10,593 for Union 

College, Market House and other requisites ex- 
pended, and a balance, consisting of obligations to 
the amount of £4,680-6—5, remaining in their 
hands. The Committee report that in their opin- 
ion five trustees, who shall have arrived at the age 
of twenty-five years, from among the descendants, 
should be elected annually by the male descend- 
ants, who are arrived at the age of twenty-one 
years, on the second Tuesday of June of every 
year, whose duty it shall be to render an account 
yearly and every year of their proceedings to their 
successors in Office, or to any of the descendants 
who shall wish to have access and examine the 
same; and to have the deposit, care, trust and 
management of the Patent, lands, Books, Papers, 
Monies, Accounts, and other things belonging to 
the Trustees; and that the Trustees, when elected, 
or before they enter on the execution of their office, 
shall severally take and subscribe an oath before 
some justice of the peace, in the town of Sche- 
nectady, that they will well and faithfully perform 
the trust reposed in them. * * * The com- 
mittee state that there are nearly five hundred of 
the descendants’ families residing on said patent, 
and, from a calculation, about forty thousand acres 
of land unappropriated. 

Therefore, Resolved, as the sense of the Com- 
mittee * * * that it be recommended to the 
Trustees to lease the lands * * * fora dur- 
able term to the descendants, or their legal Repre- 
sentatives, for a sum not exceeding three pounds, 
nor less than fifty cents, annually per hundred 
acres, regarding to every descendant’s family, or 
legal Representative, a proportion agreeable to 
equity, quality and local circumstances. 

Given under our hands the twenty-fourth day of 
April, 1797. 

Joun YarEs, 
Perer Maseg, 
LAWRENCE SCHERMERHORN, 
ABRAHAM DE GrarFrF, 
Henry A. TELLER, 
Jetres A. Fonpa. 

On the gth September, 1797, the Board of 

Trustees appointed a committee to consult Abra- 

ham Van Vechten, Peter Yates and Joseph C. 

Yates in relation to a plan of ‘‘settlement with the 

inhabitants concerning the Common lands.” 

Finally, on March 26, 1798, an act was passed 

by the Legislature, with the assent and desire, not 

only of the other inhabitants of the township of 

Schenectady, but also of the surviving trustees, by 

which all their powers and duties in relation to the 

common lands were conferred upon the Mayor, 

Aldermen and Commonalty of Schenectady. And 

to adjust all claims against said trustees, the Legis- 

lature passed an act the same day appointing a 

commission, consisting of Zephaniah Platt, Peter 

Cantine and Derick Lane, who finally determined 

said claims, and closed their accounts on the roth 

August, 1798. 
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10 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

Even after this final transfer of the common 

lands to the corporation, there was a party who 

doubted its legality, contending for the resump- 

tion and management of them by the old trustees, 

then surviving. 

Others, while reluctantly acquiescing in the 

transfer of these lands to the city authorities, ob- 

jected to their being sold off as fast as the inhab- 
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DIVISION OF LANDS. 

HOW THE LANDS PURCHASED BY VAN CURLER FROM THE 

MOHAWKS IN 1661 WERE DIVIDED AMONG THE 

FIRST PROPRIETORS, 

Four different allotments were made to each of 

the first settlers: First, a house lot in the village; 

second, a farm on the Great Flat, or islands; third, 

a pasture ground east of the village; and fourth, a 

garden lot in the low land (laeghte), west of Mill 

Creek and near the Binne kil. 

First. House Lots.—The village plat, originally 

embracing mainly the land lying west of Ferry 

Street, was divided into four blocks, or squares, 

which were again subdivided into ample house lots. 

For protection, this plat was early surrounded by 

stockades. As the population outgrew these nar- 

! 
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| 
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itants demanded, and contended they should be 

held for the purpose of supplying the citizens with 

fuel and timber. Finally, in 181o (?), the elec- 

tion of aldermen turned on this question; the 

whole city, then bounded by the ancient limits of 

the patent, was canvassed by active partisans of both 

parties, and after a close and heated contest it was 

decided that the common lands should be sold. 

Uf, YU y Hy 
A WY WY, ) 

Wy 

SSS = = a2 

/ 
Nv \ 

ih 
ui My 
WO Gil dhe t= 

row limits, house lots were assigned on the ‘ Al- 

bany path” (now State street), so that, before 1690, 

it was sparsely built up as far east as Lange gang 

(Center street), and until about 1700 only the 

north side was occupied by houses. Front, Green 

and Union streets, east of Ferry street, used for 

cow paths to the pastures and woodlands, were not 

then built upon. The little church and graveyard 

stood at the junction of State, Church and Water 

streets, and the Dominie’s house upon the site of 

the present church. Many of the original village 

lots were about 200 feet square—four to a block or 

square, but were early subdivided to meet the de- 

mands for residences within the stockades. 
Seconp. Zhe Bouwland.—The great tract of flat 

or bottom land, bounded northerly by the river and 

State street, southerly by the sand bluff, easterly 
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DIVISION OF LANDS. 1 

by Center street extended south, and westerly by 

the hills west of the first lock on the canal, em- 

bracing several hundred acres of arable land, was 

anciently called the Groote Viachie. 

It was mainly cleared land when the white man 

first occupied it in 1662, and had been the Mo- 

hawks’ maize land perhaps for centuries. This 

and other parcels of like soil along the Mohawk 

formed the main inducement for the Hollanders to 

settle here; in them they recognized the Pod/ers of 

fatherland. The bouwland was originally divided 

into twenty-three separate parcels and assigned to 

fifteen individuals, no one, with one exception, 

holding more than fifty acres. 

The farm nearest the village, embracing twenty- 

four acres, was Van Velsen’s, bounded by State 

street, Coehorn and Mill Creeks, as far west as or 

near to Church street. This, together with the 

water privilege, was granted in consideration of his 

building a grist-mill on Mill lane. 

The second parcel, consisting of about forty acres 

of bottom land, anciently called  ‘‘ Gerrit 

Symonse’s meadow,” commenced at or near the 

Coehorn kil, at the south bounds of Van Velsen’s 

land, and extended southerly to and including 

“«Veeder’s Mills.” This parcel has been preserved 

nearly entire, and is mostly in the ownership and 

occupation of the Veeder family at the present 

time. 

The third, the Jargest and most valuable farm, 

embracing I14 acres, was Arent Van Curler’s, 

called the first frece of land, and after his death, 

Juffrow's landt, his was bounded northerly by 

the Binne kil, easterly by Van Velsen’s farm (ex- 

cepting a few gardens on the south side of Water 

street), southerly by ‘‘Gerrit Symonse’s meadow” 

and by the sand bluff or hills as far as the 

Schermerhorn Mills, and westerly by farms 

Nos. 1 and 4, owned by Arent Bradt and 

Pieter Van Woggelum. The New York Central 

Railroad runs through the southern end of this 

valuable tract, and the canal nearly through the 

middle of it. 

The fourth large parcel of the bouwland, called 

the second or foremost piece of land, to distinguish 

it from Van Curler’s, which was called the firs/ piece, 

lay next west. he east line of this tract ran along 

the west fence of the Schenectady car works yard, 

and so northerly to and around the east side of lot 

No. 1, belonging to Arent Bratt, following the 

small brook emptying into the Binne kil, a little 

east of the farm buildings of the late John Myers. 
The western line of this parcel was the Poenties kil 

and lot No. 19, belonging to Tunis Cornelise 

| Swart. This second piece was divided into ten 
| farms, including De Winter’s or Zvas’s Plantasie, 

by northeast and southwest lines from the river 

to the sand bluff, and by easterly and westerly 

lines nearly coinciding with the river road and 

canal. 

The fifth parcel of bouwlands, called the A:nder- 

most piece of land, commenced at the Poentes Kil 

and extended west to the hills near the first lock, 

and was divided into ten farms by northeasterly 

and southwesterly lines from the river to the hills, 

and by easterly and westerly lines nearly coinciding 

with the canal and river road. 

| The second and hindmost great lots of the bouw- 

lands, including Zvas’s Planfasie, were subdivided 

each into ten parcels of about twenty-five acres, 

| numbered from 1 to 10, beginning at the eastern 

and western extremities of these two parcels, and 

proceeding toward the Poenties Kil, on the west 

side of which lay the two farms numbered ten, 

united into one. So that persons to whom were 

alloted numbers 1, 2, 3, &c., of the second near the 

village, drew also numbers 1, 2, 3, &c., of the 

Aindmost parcel at the western extremity of the 

| bouwland, and only one person had all of his land 

| in one place, to wit, Teunis Cornelise Swart, the 

' fortunate holder of the double farm numbered ten. 

This ingenious plan of allotment was contrived to 

tage over his associates by selecting all his land 

near the village. 

Two other parcels of arable land, separated from 

| the Great Flat by the river, were also. assigned at an 

| early day, viz., Marten’s or Van Slyck’s island, com- 

prising 82 acres, patented to Jaques Cornelise Van 

Slyck and Jan Barentse Wemp; and the flat 

lying west and south of the lake in Scotia, 

granted to Sander Leendertse Glen, estimated at 

50 acres. 

| 

| prevent any one person obtaining an undue advan- 
| 
| 

| 

| Finally, on the eastern side of the village, be- 

| tween Front street and the river, was a strip of land 

| called the Calver Wey, which was allotted to the 

| first settlers in parcels of 24 morgens, the 

easternmost lot being that of Jellis Fonda. Ad- 

| joining Fonda’s lot easterly was Hans Janse 

Eenkluy’s bouwery of 18 morgens, which, on 

his death, became the property of the Dutch 

Church—a legacy for the benefit of the poor of 

Schenectady. 

All lands lying outside of the palisades easterly 

of Ferry street, save the house lots on the north side 

of State street as far as Center street, were originally 

allotted to individuals in parcels of a few acres as 

' woodland or pasture ground. 



sank seat exw thatere tot Rr ehwniet SAG; 

dG ont WS wisgeaq df Simkodd cfeeb at 
t 

“Sigg nent py ABO tsdi oe ste oini banrru 

Saco ia fey 2 sole me to-2 nosed, pSiv veh titag 3 “ad: ape ig Leech bes 

igh eit 

38 hsjeuried onal 9 adiatiniest tobese oy hesankig 1, ee . ree ylisieoy’ 

2h} 

so yee. ay BERS, 
eS tere — : “me 

93 Opti batitith en pong rane 
Sten z'ai. 10 = 20h we ibybat: 2nd 
weyit ont mon aoivil Seay ieee ae semastston: bt fos ; 
horew bas, yao Yd bas Rul tinge odt ot 
bas. heat qayit ult, chiw: ‘gutibisniag ufwon, sont 

dane 
susid ony baling, abuslwuod Ie laoragy dna alt 

AWA. aaiMeeS. ofl ds Boomsenatoo baal Ia, S29id kao 
4301 jevit od) sgom ellid orld of teow bebtiatks ban 

sliaienedtndh ‘a eens sot offi bebivib gay bax 
lid oni of tavin ait mrott sanif elotesweltgos due ip 
Enibionioa heen: eamil yisiow bas ylaprace yd bis 

.beor revit, bas [enna dels dig. 
od 963 to atol teory Yeo bas Wao, ye 
hears Stow sll, 474 maa gnibotoal shel | vdaauap wane 

PH. 87 th eid iwods We alboreey a9) ojar’ dogs } hae ad ‘Bob sod: sonleV muges Slt ds gnidnived oF of 4 mrovt hevad amet | olen leswi at en werd HT by - ata kine on) ses Io aolloites maiesw. bas | si hkw rect i 
19 of fe MSA esitwinS “orf brawog 1 eothesuorg 
93 Beisdatun eons? owl ong TAl foodw ip“ abe 

wt Lee 6 lo ..o% |f 8... ersdinee havol ir 
ans ta ok w 8 re eta(esenyt vrai fs Sait We | ait re9it ao: vi Raper 

Fignanz9 sdieteow od a [so7 Rg” Nemoats « anal net Ye Jbbuyd slit 
reist’ Terpiee eA relrorigepese § 

: 2h feo axel iui misc 

_ ; 
Binal tid he [he best MOUS gam vito bis baaheruord 

a tary oD alrets aT how aay) SIR 9 ite) bad 

“434 bsrsdimiin 4 wel aldiweols. aril to tafloyi ointusi 

oF Devine anv inamotie lo nald eye waaay eit 
HON 18 Biitibide nosed oto yie Inevoig | 
lat gmiinsise vd ssieiooeen zit we oust 

" 2eehiv off son 
= - * 7 * 7 Sera aisha " dd an + L - tot! Detetaqes Baxi olday, les atari IHHID owt. USpais eid 3 sith, bag. 

su lg benvieen ols spay agvit oft vd mid igasc) of) yd abadmon Aig weed 

i aanpat od frase asitee BITS NA Citar: ‘este 
7a Satneitt asl. bes toni. | 

to. disoe bos tes8 mantel | ie. is a "e aie 

P01OB OF 
ineleas eat eG riled 

ps oft bas ieeueiaorl doovea |b aid; 40 bre 4 
dsidy aR ust oi Hellas «|: a Aguorsdi 

Ww. elsoweg “di Verslitee anh | 
alist to jatlt ged 's0r yec eosin. 

Pio 

ay 

doliw sna 2 jo. Syiswiuod eee LT 

Wesesey. Baty w started — aay yay sitet) i; 



12 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY: (OF “SCHENECTADY. 

ORIGINAL OWNERS OF THE TWENTY FARMS INTO WHICH 

THAT PORTION OF THE GREAT FLAT LYING WEST- 

ERLY OF ARENT VAN CURLER’S BOUWERY WAS 

DIVIDED. 

FARMS NO. I. 

Both farms numbered one were patented to 
Catelyn De Vos, widow of Arent Bratt, e Norman, 
June 2, 1682. 

15 Aug., 1705. Former deeds being lost in 
1690, Ryer Schermerhorn, only surviving trustee, 
gave a new deed to Arent Bratt, grandson and 
heir of Arent Andriese Bratt, for the frs¢ lot thirty- 
six acres and a/fermost ot thirty acres. 

27 Aug., 1713, Ryer Schermerhorn and Dirk 
Bratt conveyed to Samuel Bratt the Azdermos¢ farm 
No. 1, containing fifteen morgens and 467 rods. 

FARMS NO, 2. 

Were first owned by Philip Hendrickse Brouwer. 
April 29, 1664, his administrators sold them to 

Cornelis Van Ness for Jan Dirkse Van Eps, son of 
Maritie Damen, his wife, for the sum of 1,287 
guilders, 

Feb. 4, 1713, Johannes Baptist Van Eps, eldest 
son and heir of Jan Dirkse Van Eps, deceased, 
conveyed to Arent Bratt the Azzdmost farm, No. 2, 
comprising twelve morgens. 

FARMS NO, 3. 
Were first granted to Sander Leendertse Glen, by 

Patent of date June 16, 1664. 
Johannes Glen, by will, devised the remainder 

of hindmost farm, 26th September, 1706, to his 
younger brother Sander, comprising about twenty 
acres. 

On. the 4th June, 1711, Claas Van Patten con- 
veyed to his son, Andries, the foremost lot. 

Feb. 24, and Aug. 11, 1714. To rectify a dis- 
puted line, R. Schermerhorn and Andries Van Pet- 
ten make a final settlement. 

FARMS NO, 4. 

Were granted to Pieter Adiianse Soegemakelyk, 
alas Van Woggelum, June 5, 1667, the first con- 
taining fourteen morgens, and the second twelve 
morgens. 

Ap. 6, 1681, Van Woggelum reconveyed the 
same to Reyer Schermerhorn, who had married 
Otten’s widow. 

June 29, 1667, Governor Nicolls confirmed to 
Willem Teller the two farms, No. 5, which were 
first patented to him by Governor Stuyvesant, June 
16, 1664. 

Ap. 9, 1752, Willem Teller, son of Johannes, 
devised the foremost farm on the Poentiecs Kil to 
his son Willem, and thesecond or /Azwdmos/ farm to 
his eldest son Johannes. 

Gerrit Bancker, of Albany, received the patent 
for these farms No. 6, June 16, 1664, which patent 
was confirmed Ap. 27, 1667, by Governor Nicolls. 

Although granted to Gerrit Bancker, Harman 
Albertse Vedder had a half interest in these farms 
‘from the beginning. 

Evert, son and heir of Gerrit Bancker, sold the 
Soremost lot to Isaac Swits, July 7, 1702, for £183 
12s. ,;—it contained 22 acres. 

Isaac Swits made his will Ap. 1, 1701,—proved 
Oct. 4, 1707,—and devised a portion of the jirs/ 
farm to his eldest son Cornelis. 

The Ainmdmost farm belonging to Harmen Vedder; 
he conveyed the southeasterly half to his son Albert, 
Mar..12) a7o%,:for:the:sum of £91. 16s.. This 
moiety then contained ten acres. 

Pieter Jacobse Bosboom de Steenbakker received 
a patent of farms No. 7, June 16, 1664,—confirmed 
May 9, 1668. 

In 1702 the foremost lot belonged to Gysbert 
Gerritse Van Brakel. 

Marten Cornelise Van Isselsteyn received a 
patent for farms No. 8, June 16, 1664,—confirmed 
by Governor Nicolls, April 13, 1668. 

FARMS NO. 9. 

Were first conveyed to Simon Volckertse Veeder, 
de bakker, by patent of date June 16th, 1664,— 
confirmed Jan. 15, 1667, by patent from Governor 
Nicolls. 

Veeder made his will Jan. 8, 1698, bequeathing 
the Azzdmost farm to his son Volckert. 

Volckert Veeder made his will Aug. 4, 1733, 
and left the Azzdmosf lot to his four sons. 

The double bouwery No. 10, was first patented 
to Teunis Cornelise Swart, June 16, 1664, and con- 
firmed Jan. 16, 1667. 

26th April, 1692. Wouter Uythoff (third 
husband of Elizabeth), Swart, widow of Teunis, 
and said Elizabeth his wife, for 540 beavers con- 
veyed the whole bouwery No. ro, to Claas Lau- 
rense Van Purmerend (a/as Van der Volgen). 

The landin the immediate vicinity of the village, 

—the Great Flat and island,—were all taken up in 
1662 by the fifteen first proprietors. Other per- 
sons followed the next and succeeding vears, and 
finding no lands unoccupied, either bought up the 
rights of the earlier owners or pushed further into 
the wilderness, on both sides of the Mohawk river. 

The south side was considered the safest from 
Indian attacks, and for that reason the Governor 
and Council at first discouraged settlements on the 
north side; this was but a temporary check, how- 
ever. Before the year 1700 all the arable land on 
both sides of the river to and even beyond the 
western bounds of the town was taken up and 
sparsely settled. 

These lands had a rich alluvial soil, formed by 
the annual overflow of the river, and were mainlv 
found in the bends and eddys; excepting the Great 
Flat they were generally small, comprising but a 
few acres. 

FLATS OR PLAINS ON THE SOUTH SIDE OF THE RIVER— 
POVERSEN. 

Going west this is the first arable land lying on 
the south side of the river above the Great Flat. 
It commenced at the road running west from the 
first lock and extended up the river to the ‘‘ stone 
kil,” a dry creek next above the second lock. It 
was first purchased from the natives by Benjamin 
Roberts, who sold the same to Hendrick Lam- 

bertse Bont. The latter sold the easterly portion 
to Barent Janse Van Ditmars and the westerly por- 
tion to Douwe Aukes, who conveyed the same to 

. 
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DIVISION OF, LANDS. 13 

his ‘adopted! son Cornelis Viel. In 1713 Viele 
was then residing on this land between the two 
locks. 

FIRST FLAT. 
This flat or plain, consisting of about 80 acres of 

lowlands, is described in Jacques Cornelise Van 
Slyck’s patent, granted in 1684, as ‘‘situated be- 
tween two creeks, one called Stone creek, to the 
eastward, the other ‘Platte creek,’ to the westward, 
come to him in right of his mother, who was a 
Mohawk woman.” 

It has remained in the family to this day, passing 
from father to son by inheritance. 

The eastern part of this flat, called ‘‘ Hazlenut 
flat,” was owned by Manasseh Sixbury, in 1709 ; 
he then made his will, leaving his property to his 
four children. 

SECOND FLAT. 
This farm, beginning at a little above ‘“‘ Reghe/ 

brugse kil,” was first taken up by Jacobus Peek and 
Isaac Du Trieux, about 1670, and patented to 
them in 1677. 

Johannes and Jacobus, sons of Jacobus Peek, 
became the owners of the whole tract. It is now 
owned by John McCue on the west end, Abraham 
A. Bratt on the east end. 

THIRD FLAT. 

This flat lies about eight miles above Schenecta- 
dy, and consisted anciently of about 127 acres of 
lowland ; in 1864 it was computed at thirty mor- 
gens, or say sixty-three acres, and was then occu- 
pied—the upper or westerly part by Simon and 
Nicholas Mebie and Abraham N. Bratt, the lower 
or eastern portion by the Bratts. 

It was taken up by Daniel Janse Van Antwerpen 
in 1670, and patented to him in 168o. 

In 1706 he sold to Jan Pieterse Mebie the west 
half of the same, consisting of sixty-three acres and 
seventy-nine rods. The old Van Antwerp house 
was standing to the west of the Mebie house until 
a few years ago. 

FOURTH FLAT. 

The Fourth Flat, lying next west of the third, 
was granted in 1715, by the trustees of Schenec- 
tady, to Pieter Vrooman, who, in 1742, conveyed 
the same, or at least the western portion of it, to 
Jan Wemple and Arent Bratt. Johannes Veeder 
married a daughter of Pieter Vrooman, and _ inher- 
ited the eastern portion, now in possession of Myn- 
dert, grandson of said Johannes Veeder. 

Jan Wemple’s land extended to the Zandig kil. 

DE WILLEGEN, OR WILLOW FLAT. 

Tais flat commenced at Stone creek, below Port 
Jackson, and ran down the river thirty-four rods 
[4,188 feet], and contained thirty-three morgens, 
or Sixty-six acres, 390 rods—also 200 acres of wood- 
land. 

It was first granted to Pieter Van Olinda and 
Claas Willemse Van Coppernol ; Van Olinda hold- 
ing the eastern half and Van Coppernol the west- 
ern half, which he conveved to Philip Phillipse in 
1689 in exchange for the Sixth [‘lat, on the north 
side of the river. 

FLATS OR PLAINS ON THE NORTH SIDE OF THE RIVEK— 
CLAAS GRAVEN'S HOEK. 

The first land settled upon west of Scotia was the 
Floek, ‘This farm was taken up by Claas Andriese 
De Graaf, the first settler. After his death, which 
took place before 1697, his widow, Elizabeth Brou- 
wer, leased it to Jonathan Stevens and Daniel Mas- 
craft. 

In 1714 Gysbert Marcelis received a patent for 
six acres of land on the Hoek for a Aofstede, he 
being then the owner of the neighboring island, 
called Gyse’s 7s/and. 

MAALWYCK. 

Benjamin, or Bent, Roberts first purchased this 
farm of the natives, with the approbation of the 
magistrates of Albany—thirty-six acres of land, 
together with forty acres of woodland, which was 
confirmed to him July 1, 16609. 

This bouwery lay opposite to Arent [Bratt] the 
Norman's /imdmost\otof land. The farm is in the 
possession and occupation of a descendant of Carel 
Hansen. 

SECOND FLAT. 

The flat extends from Rector’s easterly, and in 
1864 was owned by Gerrit Barhydt, 17 acres; 
Frank Potter, 40 acres: D. D. Campbell, 30 acres. 

Total, with upland, 87 acres. 
This Second Flat proper was originally taken 

up about 1678—the eastern half by Pieter Corne- 
lise Viele, and the western half by Jan Janse 

Joncker, a#as Rotterdam, 
Reyer Schermerhorn, by will made 1717, devised 

this land to his son Arent; and Reyer Schermer- 
horn, grandson of Reyer Schermerhorn the first, 
in 1773, released said land to Abraham Schermer- 
horn. 

After Joncker’s death his share of this flat, being 
the western half, was divided among his five 
daughters. 

FOURTH FLAT. 

This flat extends westerly from Rectors to 
‘Arent Mebie’s kil,” and was owned in 1864 by 
William Rector, 40 acres; Smith B. Walton, 3 
acres; Adam Swart, 7 acres; Nicholas Swart, 7 
acres; John Walton, 54 acres. Total, with up- 
land, 624 acres. 

In 1678 Sander Glen petitioned the Governor to 
grant the fourth flat to Lewis Cobes and his son-in- 
Jaw, Johannes Kleyn. 

In 1683 the Mohawk Sakemakers conveyed this 
flat to Arnout Cornelise Viele, —16 or 17 morgens 
—for services rendered as interpreter, —lving over 
against the [second] flat occupied by Jacobus 
Peek,-—and by the Mohawks called Wach&ecr- 
hoha. 

In 1684 the patentees of Schenectady conveyed 
it to Ludovicus Cobes and Johannes Kleyn, witha 
/apie (remnant—a gore), by it, on the other {north | 
side of the river, containing 17 morgens, 164 rods 

of land. 
In 1714 Willem Marinus, who had married 

Baetie, youngest daughter of said Kleyn, united 
with his wife and conveyed her third share of three 
morgens to Pieter Clement and Anna his wife 
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14 AISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

(sister of said Baefie), and in 1716 said Pieter 
Clement conveved to the trustees of Schenectady 
six morgens of land at the west end of said flat. 

In 1725 Col. Stephanus Groesbeck owned the 
western portion of this flat, which ‘‘ Aidmost half” 
was the portion owned by Kleyn, and contained 
nine morgens. 

FIFTH OR WOLF FLAT. 

This flat, extending from ‘‘Arent Mebie’s kil” 
west, is now in the possession and occupation of 
John Barhydt, and consists of about 85 acres of 
land. 

In 1678 ‘‘ the comissairies of Schanechtade made 
application to y° Go: that the fifth Plaine or Flat- 
land on the other [north] side of the Maquaes 
river may be disposed of fora minister, reader, &c., 
—and also that the rest of the Plains or Flatts may 
be at the disposall of the Cort.” 

Jasaias Swart succeeded them as lessee, probably 
for- another term of seven years, and in 1713 his 
lease was renewed for twenty years at a rent of £6- 
19-6. 
an 1768 Pieter Mebie by will devised his land, be- 

ing the whole of the fifth flat, to Jan Mebie, his son, 
who, in 1789, devised the same to his widow and 
two sons, Pieter and Simon, and they, in 1799, 
conveyed the same to David Lawyer, Jr. 

The latter sold the same to John S. Barhydt, 
from whom it passed by inheritance to his son 
John. 

SIXTH FLAT. 

This flat begins just east of the seventh flat, from 
which it is separated by the Drorbergh, Verf or 
color kil, aéas Tequalsera, It was owned in 1864 
by Aaron Swart. 

It was first occupied by Philip Philipse De Moer, 
asatenant of the trustees of Schenectady. In 
1689 he exchanged his ownership in the same with 
Claas Willemse Van Coppernol fora portion of the 
Willegen Viachte, and in 1708 Sander, his son, 
leased it for twelve years at a rent of £2 8s. It 
then consisted of five morgens, with an additional 
three morgens of woodland. 

On the 2d September, :714, Reyer Schemerhorn 
conveyed this flat, containing about seven morgens 
or fourteen acres, also ten morgens or twenty 
acres of woodland lying behind it, to the Dutch 
church. In 1770 Fsaias Swart was in possession 
of this plain, which then was computed to contain 
seven morgens. 

SEVENTH FLAT, 

This flat lies near Hoffman’s ferry, between the 
Droybergh Kil on the east and Van Eps’ kil on 
the west. 

In 1684 the trustees of Schenectady conveyed the 
western half to Carel Hansen Toll, reserving a rent 
of one skipple of wheat. 

Reyer Schemerhorn owned the eastern half. 
In 1705 Reyer Schemerhorn conveyed the east- 

ern half of this flat to his son Jan; and, by his will, 
made 1717, devised the same to the children of his 
daughter Catalyntje, wife of John Wemp. 

In 1733 the Wemps transferred their interest 
to Johannes Van Eps, owner of the other half. 

CAMBEFORTS PATENT. 

In 1694 Gerardus Cambefort contracted to sell 
his patent to Carel Hansen Toll, land he had pre- 
viously received of the Indians. In 1703 Lord 
Cornbury granted Cambefort a patent for twenty 
acres of land, ‘‘beginning from a place called 
Kanquaragoone {now Towereune], the western 
bounds of the patent granted to Schenectady, run- 
ning up westward to limits of land formerly con- 
veyed to Henry Cuyler, deceased.” Immediately 
thereafter Cambefort conveyed the same to Toll. 
This land extends along the river westward from 
Towereune to Lewis Creek. 

CLAES GRAVEN'S HOEK—CUYLER'S VLACHTE 
UCHA. 

In 1686, ‘‘To Philip Wells, surveyor-general, 
about thirty acres of lowland and fifty of upland 
was granted, provided the said land be not already 
appropriated or disposed of.” 

Philip Groot, of Schenectady, early settled on 
this land and, after his death in 1716, was suc- 
ceeded by his son Ludovicus (Lewis), who gave 
name to the creek forming the eastern bounds of 
this patent. 

Adriucha is still in possession of the G 
at what is now called Crane’s Village. 

ISLANDS. 

GREAT ISLAND IN NISKAYUNA., 

OR ADRI- 

sroot family 

This is one of the largest islands in the river, 
containing about 80 acres. It was conveyed to 
Hilletie Cornelise, sister of Jacques Cornelise Van 
Slyck, by the Mohawks, June 1, 1667, and con- 

firmed by Governor Nicolls, May 8, 1668. On 
the 4th March, 1669, and again on Feb. 6, 1703, 
Hilletie and her husband, Pieter Van Olinda, con- 
veved it to Johannes Clute, which sale was con- 
firmed by the Governor and Council, Aug. 2, 1671. 

Again, on June 25, 1707, it was transferred to 
Robert Livingston for £420, and lastly to said 
Livingston, August 9, 1707, for £706, together 
with 20 acres on the main land between the two 
creeks. 

FIVE SMALL ISLANDS AT NISKAYUNA. 

At a conference with the Five Nations at Albany, 
19th July, 1701, they say: 

‘* BROTHER CORLAER:— 
‘Wee have a small right in the Maquase river 

att Canastagiowne, to wit, five small Islands con- 
taining about five or six acres between Rosendael 
and Cornelis Tymes's, which wee give to Jan Bap- 
tist Van Eps and Lawrence Claese [Vander Vol- 
gen], the two Interpreters to be equally divided 
between them—John Baptist to have the upper- 
most halfe and Lawrence the lowermost—and that 
in consideration, because they take much pains in 

interpreting. ” 

MARTENS S, VAN SLYCK’S OR WEMPS ISLAND. 

This large island lying west of the city, and sep- 
arated therefrom by the Binne Kil. was early grant- 
ed by the Mohaw ks to Marten Cornelise Van Slyck 
alias Marten Maurits, a half breed, who dying in 
1662, Governor Stuyvesant gave a patent for the 
same, November 12, 1662, to his brother and heir, 
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Jacques Cornelise Van Slyck, and Jan Barentse 
Wemp. Stuyvesant’s patent was confirmed by 
Governor Nicolls, April 13, 1667; it then con- 
tained, including another small island separated 
by a creek, 82 acres. 

A portion of the west end of the island was an- 
ciently called Jan Pappen Leghten. 

KRUYSBESSEN (GOOSEBERRY) ISLAND. 

This island lies northerly of Van Slyck’s island, 
from which it is separated by a rapid called 
“‘Knock ’em stiff.” January 2, 169}, the justice 
of the peace (Johannes Sanderse Glen), and gemeen 
mannen of Schenectady, conveyed to Gysbert Ger- 
ritse [Van Brakel] an island on the north side of 
the river, called A7wsbessen (Gooseberry) island, 
lying west of Spuyv/en duyvel [island]; consideration, 
32 beavers at six guilders per beaver, to be paid 
within three years. 

SPUYTEN DUYVEL. 
Johannes Sanderse Glen bought this island of 

the trustees of Schenectady, together with a parcel 
of ‘‘ doslandt,” in 1703, for £16-10. 

It lies just opposite the old Glen [now Sanders} 
House in Scotia, and formerly contained several 
acres, but is now reduced to the fraction of an acre 
and quite valueless for tillage. 

VARKENS, OR HOG ISLAND. 

This island lies at the north end of Van Slyck’s 
island, and is separated from it by an arm of the 
Mohawk River, which at the ordinary low water is 
a mere sluggish bayou. 

It originally contained about three morgens or 
six acres. The eastern end next the Binne kil is 
called the fla//, a low muddy islet of triangular 
shape, and at ordinary times scarcely separated 
from it. In early times this island was claimed by 
the owners of Van Slyck’s island. | 

On the gth November, 1670, Pieter Jacobse 
Bosboom received a patent ‘‘to confirm to him 
‘a small island belonging to him, which hath 
‘‘heretofore been given to him by the Indians, 
“‘lying in the river there next to the island of 
‘* Sweer Teunise and Akes Cornelise [Van Sly ck] 

‘ containing about six acres or three morgens. 

VAN EPS ISLAND. 

This small island lies north of Varken’s island, 
from which it is separated by a bayou nearly filled 
up. 

A portion of this island was devised in 1800 by 
John Baptist Van Eps to his son John, aiter his 

wife’s decease; another portion—an undivided sixth 
part—was conveyed in 1808 by Tobias H. Ten 
Eyck to Cornelis Vrooman. 

DE LA WARDE'S, JORIS AERTSE’S, OR GUISE’S ISLAND. 

This island lies on the northwesterly side of Van 
Slyck’s island, and contained originally fifteen or 
sixteen morgens of land. 

It was first owned by Jan De La Warde, who 
sold it to Joris Aertse Van der Baast. 

The hofstede of this farm was on the mainland 

opposite, adjoining the land of Claas De Graff, and 
consisted of six acres. Nicholas De Graff, who 
owned the neighboring mainland, purchased this 
island of Gysbert Marselis, who bought it June 
235° 1704. 

FONDA'S ISLAND. 

The situation of this island is best described in 
the patent to Simon Simonse Groot, of date Aug. 
g, 1694, ‘‘to confirm to him a small island in the 
‘Mohawk River within the town of Schenectady 
‘* possessed by him for twenty-seven years, to wit, 
‘‘a certain small island in the Mohawk River 
‘* lying to the north of the Hoek, or point of Reyer 
‘*Jacobsen’s [Schermerhorn], and the southward 
‘‘of the island belonging to Joris Aertsen [now 
‘* Guise’s],and to the westward of the island lately 
““belonging to Sweer Teunise, deceased—contain- 
‘ing five morgens or ten acres.” 
Philip Livingston, of Albany, afterwards became 

its owner and sold it to Jellis Fonda, by whose will, 

made September 8, 1737, it was divided among 
his three sons, Pieter, Abraham and Jacob. 

SASSIAN S OR CLAAS VIELE’S 

The next island above Guise’s island is Sassian’s 
or Claas Viele’s island, containing between seven 
and nine morgens. 

It lay opposite the ‘‘ Aimdmost lot No. 1,” of 
Arent Bratt, and belonged originally to Hendrick 
Lambertse Bont a/as Sassian, by whom it was sold 
to Douw Aukes and then to his adopted son Cor- 
nelis Viele. The Vieles long possessed and gave 
their name to it. 

BENTEN, OR BENT’S ISLAND. 

This is the large island next above Sassian’s 
island, lying on the north side of the river, and 
originally contained about ten morgens. It was 
first possessed by Bent Roberts, from whom it 
passed by his will to his two stepsons, Joseph and 
Pieter Clement. They sold the upper half to Carel 
Hansen Toll, and the lower half to Cornel's Viele. 

ISLAND. 
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ADULT FREEHOLDERS. 1% 

ADULT FREEHOLDERS. 

SOME OF THE ADULT FREEHOLDERS WHO SETTLED IN 

SCHENECTADY BEFORE 1700. 

Several of the first settlers who co-operated in 
founding the village in 1662 were of mature age— 

scarcely any were aged. 

Van Curler, Glen, Bratt, Swits, Schermerhorn, 

Vedder, Veeder, Van Eps, Vrooman, Wemp, etc., 

may be mentioned as of this class, whose children 

before 1700 had reached mature years and become 

heads of families, 

They were nearly all farmers, whatever else they 

might do; their farms were small, seldom exceed- 

ing fifty acres of arad/e land,.and their families 

were large, often numbering from ten to fifteen 

children. 

ApRIAEN AppeL was innkeeper in Beverwyck in 

1654. His two sons, Jan and Willem, lived here 

in 1670. In 1704 Willem owned the lot extend- 

ing from the store of Robert Ellis to that of Sam- 

uel Myers, including the canal, and the building 

called the ‘‘Wedge.” In 1710 Appel owned lots 

103 to I11, inclusive. 

Douwe Avxkes (De Freeze) came here in 1663, 
and became an innkeeper. His inn was on south- 

east corner of State street and Mill Lane, February 

10, 1718. He conveyed his property to Cornelius 
Viele. 

Gerrit BaNcker was one of the first proprietors, 

but never became a resident. His house in 1662 

was bounded by Union, Washingtan, State and 

Church streets. It was sold by his son in 1702 to 

Cornelius Swits. The corner lot was sold to 

James Murdoch in 1802. 

Baruypt Anprigs Hause and Jeronimus Hause 

were among the early settlers. They owned in 

1760 a lot with forty-eight feet frontage, on Front 

street, at Jefferson. 

Cares Beek settled here in 1700. He was an 

innkeeper, and his house lot was on the south 

corner of Union and Church streets. This lot 

remained in the family for about one hundred 

years. 

Henprick Lampertse Bont (Bint, Bent) in 1692 

owned land lying mainly above the first lock, west 

of the city. Healso owned Sussiun’s Island. The 

land long remained after passing from Bont’s pos- 

session in the Viele family. 

PreTER JacossE Barspoom De SreENBAKKER was 

one of the first fifteen settlers. His village lot was 

on the south corner of Washington and Front 

streets, and passed to his four daughters, and re- 

mained in the family for many years. 

ARENT AnprRIESE Bratt was one of the first pro- 

prietors in 1662. He owned a farm of about sixty 

acres, which afterward was in possession of Judge 

Tomlinson, deceased. The ‘‘hindmost” farm fell 

to Mrs, Bratt’s second son, Samuel. 

ANDRIES ARENTSE and Capt. ARENT ANDRIESE 

Bratr in about 1700 owned various parcels of 

land, part of which Reyer Schermerhorn disposed 

of as trustee. 

SamvEL ARENTSE Bratt was born in 1659, and 

died in 1713 or 1714. His farm passed to his son 

Arent, who built the brick house, a short distance 

west of the first lock on the canal, and continued 

in the family until 1839. 
Dirk Arentse Bratt was born in 1661. He 

owned a farm in Niskayuna, which passed to his 

eldest son, Johannes, by will. Dirk was buried 

June-9551.73'5- 
Puitre HenpricksE Brouwer was one of the 

original proprietors in 1662, and owned lot No. 2, 

which in 1667 was owned by Jan Van Eps. 

Henprick WiLLtEMsSE Brouwer owned a lot on 

east side of Church street in about 1700. This 

was owned by his widow in 1724. 

GrraLpus CamBeFrort (or Comfort) was here in 

1690, and owned 20 acres on north side of Mo- 

hawk. This was afterward owned by Johannes 

Van Eps. 

CurisTIAAN CHRISTIAANSE, in 1671, had a village 

lot on the northeast side of Union street, adjoin- 

ing the Dutch Church lot. It was owned in 1701 

by Jellis Van Vorst. 
Pieter and JosepH CLremenT owned land here 

from about 1725 to 1755. The property afterward 

passed into the hands of Cornelius Viele and Hau- 

sen Toll. 

Lupovicus Coses lived here in 1677, being schout 

and secretary of Schenectady. He owned the 

fourth flat on the north side of the river, which was 

afterward owned by his daughter, Maria Klein. 

Capt. Jay, JoHannes and Freperick CLUTE 

were early residents. Capt. Jan owned the Great 

Island in 1671, and lands in Canastagione. He 

died in 1683, leaving his property to his nephew, 

Johannes Clute, who, in 1704, sold part of it to 

Frederick Clute. Johannes died in1725. All the 

Clutes in this region are believed to be descended 

from either Johannes or Frederick. 

Craas Anpriges De GRraa¥r was one of the first 

settlers, taking up land at the Hoek, at Scotia, 

where, for several generations, the family resided. 

Jan Dr La Warpe bought land in about 1675 

at Niskayuna, and an island in the Mohawk, which 

La Warde’s Island, and was called afterward 
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Jaris Aertse’s Island. It lies just north of Van 

Slyck’s Island. It was conveyed in 1699 to 

Gysbert. Marcelis, of Albany. Since then it has 

been called ‘‘Gyse’s Island.” The Niskayuna 

property was also sold to Jaris Aertse in 1699. 

Hans Janse Ernktuys came to Schenectady soon 

after it was settled; died in 1683, leaving his prop- 

erty to the church. His farm consisted of 18 mor- 

After 

holding this land for 180 vears, it was sold by the 

church, in 1863, for St1,000., 

FREERMAN, 

gens of river flats, lying in Third Ward. 

the second 

minister of the church, came here in 1700. He 

He mar- 

Dominie BarNHARDUS 

staid here five years, and died in 1741. 

ried Margarita Van Schaaick, of New York, in 

1705. 

Mebie House. 

Jan Prererse Mesie married Anna, daughter 

of Pieter J. Borsboom. His home lot was on the 
east side of Church street, to the north of the 

Dutch Church. He was in the possession of this 

lot before 1690. His farm was on the third flat, on 

the south side of the river, about eight miles above 

the village. His descendants still occupy the 

farm. It is the writer’s belief that the house on this 

farm, at least its stone walls, date from 1670-80, 

when Daniel Janse Van Antwerp occupied the land 

in the center of which it stands. The Mebie House, 

as it is now known, is doubtless the oldest house 

in the Mohawa Valley, if not in the State of New 

York. * 

SANDER LEENDERTSE (Lixpsay) GLEN came from 

Scotland about 1633. His wife was Catalyn Don- 

cassen. They both died within about a year of each 

other—she, August 12, 1684; he, November 13, 

1685—leaving three sons, Jacob, who settled in 

Albany, Sander and Johannes. He was one of 

the first proprietors of Schenectady. 

Sander Glen, second son of Sander Leendertse. 

was born in 1647. His village lot was on the 

north side of Washington street, 

estate of the late Judge Paige. 

adjoining the 

Captain Sander 

*The house in Southampton, L. [., now occupied by Mrs. Larry, 
daughter of Capt. Stephen Sayre, deceased, was built by Thomas 
Sayre in 1648 or 1049. 

Glen died about 1695, without issue, leaving his 

estate to the children of his two brothers, Jacob 

and Johannes. The farm of Sander Leendertse, 

lying on the north side of the river, was called 

Scoha. 

The Glen property comprised several hundred 

acres. By marriage this estate passed to the 

Sanders family, by whom a large portion of it is 

still held. 

Johannes, youngest son of Sander Leendertse, 

was born in 1648. 

The residence of Charles P. Sanders was built 

by him in 1713, and occupied until his death 

in 1731. 

Symon SymonsE Groot came here in 1663. He 

married Rebecca, daughter of Philip Du Trieux, of 

New Amsterdam, and had six sons and four daugh- 

ters, of whom Symon, Abraham, Philip, Dirk and 

Claas were captured by the French and Indians in 

16go and carried to Canada. They were redeemed 

the following year. His home lot was on the 

northern side of Union street, 100 feet west 

from Church street. It remained in the family 

several generations. Symon Symonse Groot, Jr., was 

his eldest son, and he married, in 16g2, Geertruy, 

daughter of Jan Rinckhout, of Albany. His vil- 

lage lot was on the north side of State street. 



WES SS : a ; 

whA jt ibid wf ‘aoriyl <slanide ss 
ot wf hles enw at, .zey O8s tot bapl eid. 2Q0t- 

9000.48 Oh C08, at alors | gail WP tied 
baoose a oe ae eoddanmny ‘oinimod | ansqodet 

@il “cor at swe. sosns dorado. oitide roseinien 4 Rig 
“tect OE. . rep i- ai. boils bas way, ovih otail bles. 8 

ni wl wah lo toisaile et siiigorcki bein } 

* onyok “oko Md 

niadiw ,rGer ods helb ash) | wtdeosk 
el TO moablido add of ohsiae | oii ia ent int smo 

io anni sti zomasctol tas | 
: f 

Jo sbie dftou vd) sho gait i 

. “ayy | 

horbaad isisves hsdhaiies wnoquiq. mold eit | 3 

“ot of Lovesg sists gidt @pphiea 4fi POLE | 

vlc exshnipe le 
Aad se 

aaniebaved base ta mod AoEUyoy eorinadoy Sie Tie 

’ 20: af mod aw | oebold oisehh 

| saw aishae 4 whot) io socebmoi att | Senor Jaable 

thas eid Himw’ bsiqwoau Diss pith at atin. vd | 

a AES) A? | 
SHB TOOKL) REMOMNS HOMIE ; ne 

I io prea exten betvisnr | OD palais 

} 
| 

{ #1 12 io Roirieq sete! s modw yd , 

aie Rie bart: brn mupbasiennk, WK 

eden some atioelyr- i erst 

anectbnend bine dgiai4, oiks a baunqes sew anh): 
borabas sigan yan P hygaeD ol barnes bing ogi 

radi no eaw tel sak aN wt aeby ‘yoiveol p vet 
oor ard to abie 



ADULT FREEHOLDERS. 19 

Philip Groot settled on the north side of the river, near 

Crane's village. He married Sarah, daughter of 

Jacobus Peek. 
Wemp, widow of Sander Glen, in 1696, and sec- 

ondly, Hesterje, daughter of Harmen Visscher, 

Abraham Groot married Antje 

of Albany, in 1699, by whom he had several chil- 

dren. His home lot was on the north side of Union 

street, about half way up College Hill. 

GERRIT Marsevis was the son of Marselis Janse, 

of Albany, and early settled here. He was slain 

in 1690. His lots, Nos. 139 to 143, 

longed to Wm, McCamus. 

AHASUERUS MarsELis came here 

He was a shoemaker, and had his shop on the 

south corner of Mill lane and State street. This 

property was afterward owned by Pieter Fonda, and 

the lot in the rear by Marselis, Fonda and Robert 

Yates. 

JoHannes MynprerTse came here in 1700; by 

trade a smith, he was armorer of the Fort. He 

owned two lots on State street, one where Barney’s 

store now stands; the other on the west corner of 

Mill lane and State street, where his dwelling was. 

Myndertse left by will, proved September 7, 1757, 

his property to his three sons, Myndert, Reinier 

and Jacobus. 
Puitie Pxiripse married Elizabeth, daughter of 

Harmen Ganzevoort, of Albany, about 1685. 

The descendants of Philipse still reside on or near 

Willow flat Jan Philipse, a brother, is first men- 

tioned asa member of the church in 1701. 

Jan Roerorroe was the eldest son of the famous 

Anneke Janse, by her first husband, Roeloffe 

Jansen. In 1680 he owned a home lot on the 
north side of Union street; the lot subsequently 

owned by Joseph Y. and Giles Van De Bogart. 

JacoB Jans— SCHERMERHORN died at Schenectady 

in 1689, where he had lived for some years. He 

left part of his property to his son Reyer, who 

married Ariaantje Bratt. Symon Schermerhorn, 

another son of Jacob Janse, was 1693 a 

skipper on the Hudson river. 

CORNELIUS SLINGERLAND married Eva Mebee in 

1699. His house lot (1706-22) was on the south 

side of State street, forty feet east of Water street 

alley. 
Isaac CorneLisE Swits settled here in 1663. 

He married Susanna Groot, by whom he had nine 

children, eight of whom were living in 1701, 

when he made his will. Coxnenius Swits was his 

eldest son. He married Hester Visscher, of 

Albany, and took up his residence there about 1702. 

Teunis CoRNELISE SWART was one of the early 

He occupied the lot on the east corner 

afterward be- 

about 1698. 

in 

settlers. 

He 

Esaras Swart was son of Teunis. 

had other 

property. Ile 

married Eva, daughter of Teunis Van Woert, and 

owned a village lot on the east side of Church 

street. 

Wirttem TELLER was one of the first proprietors, 

though never a resident here. He died in 1701, 

His house lot was on Washington 

of Church and_ State streets. 

in his 81st year. 

street. 

CareL Hansen Torr first settled at Hoffman's 

Ferry. In 1712 he owned a village lot here, on 

Union street, which is the present Courthouse 

lot. He married Lysbet, daughter of Daniel 

Rinckhout, of Albany, and had eight children. 

He owned Cuyler’s flat, Cambefort’s flat, the 

seventh flat and Maalwyck. 

Dante Janse VaN ANTWERPEN was born in 1635, 

coming here about 1665. He built, substantially, 

what is now known as the Mebie House, above 

referred to. Jan DanretsE Van ANTWERPEN, 

Daniel’s oldest son, was born about 1670 ; married 

Angnieta Vedder in 1700, and died January 20, 

1756. Arent, another son, married Sara, daughter 

of Johannes Van Epps, and had nine children. 

His village lot is now occupied by Given’s Hotel. 

Marten Van Bentuuysen, through his wile, 

Feitje, daughter of Pieter Jacobse Borsboom, had a 

fourth interest in Borsboom’s land. 

GysBERT GERRITSE VAN BRAKELEN came here in 

about 1700. He owned several lots of land. He 

left two sons, Gerrit and Gysbert. 

ARENT Van Curcer was the leader of the colony 

at Schenectady in 1662. He came over in 1630, 

and in 1643 married Antonia Slaaghboom, widow 

of Jonas Bronck. Noman of his time had so fully 

won the confidenceand esteem of the Indians, and 

to honor his memory they ever addressed the Gov- 

ernor of the Province by his name. He was 

drowned on Lake Champlain in July, 1669. Van 

Curler’s home lot in the village was a portion of 

the block bounded by Union, Church, Front and 

Washington streets. The Rev. Wa. Excror Grir- 

Fin, D. D., says that ‘‘Arent Van Curler was a 

scholar and a gentleman, fluent with his pen, pos- 

sessing a gift by no means to be despised—the 

mastery of language. He was a man of systematic 

mind, so faithful to his trust and vow as to recall 

a Roman of classic days; and so kind of heart, so 

full of deep conviction of conscience, along with the 

power of rising above the narrowness of s2ct or 

nationality, as to suggest a Christian. Brave as a 

lion, fearless neither of conspirators, scheming law- 

yers, who made use of their profession mainly to 

molest honest men, or of crafty savages, or perfidi- 
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20 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

ous French; further, he had the eye of an engi- 

neer and strategist, with the foresight of a states- 

man,” 

Frans Van De Bocart came here among the 

early settlers, and was killed in the massacre of 

1690. His farm lay on the south side of the river 

at and below the Saratoga Railroad bridge, and a 

portion of it still belongs to his descendants. 

Laurens Crars—E Van Der Voucen, at the de- 

struction of the village in 1690, was made captive 

by the Indians, with whom he remained several 

years. He became interpreter for the Province, 

which position he held until his death, in 1742. 

His village lot was the eastern half of the Jot now 

occupied by the Myers block, and he also owned 

part of the fifth flat. 

Jacosus Van Dyck was a doctor ; he settled here 

and practiced his profession until his death. He 

married Jacomyntje, daughter of Johannes Sanders 

Glen, October 25, 1694, and had two children, 

Elizabeth, and a son, Cornelius, who followed his 

father’s profession and inherited his possessions. 

Dirk Van Eps married Maritic Damens, and had 

two children, Johannes and Lysbert, who became 

the wife of Gerrit Bancker, of Albany. His home 
lot was on the north corner of State and Church 

streets. Jan Baprisr Van Eps, eldest son of Jan 

Dirkse Van Eps, was born in 1673, and married 

Helena, daughter of Johannes Sanderse Glen, in 

1699, and had eleven children, all of whom, save 

one, reached mature age and had families. He 

was captured by the Indians in 1690, with whom 

he remained three years. He owned, with other 

parcels, the ‘‘foremost” farm, No. 8, on the 

bouwland. This farm has remained in the fam- 

“ily until this day. Everr Van Eps was a son of 

Jan Dirkse Van Eps. His first wife was Eva, 

daughter of Carle Hansen Toll; his second, Eliza- 

beth, daughter of Isaac Truax. He had thirteen 
children. 

Washington street. 

Craas FRreperickse Van Prtren was born in 

1641. His wife was Aefhe, daughter of Arent 

Bratt. They had eight children. They both died 
in 1728, she aged seventy-eight years, he eighty- 
seven years. He owned a farm between the river 
and the lake in Scotia, and a village lot, being part 
of the Glen lot. 

HarMeN ALRERTSE VEDDER owned much land 
here at an early day, removing here in about 1672. 
He died, June 18, 1714, leaving five sons and one 
daughter. Arpert Vepper, eldest son of Harmen, 
was born in 1671. He was captured by the In- 
didns in 16go, and was kept in captivity for several 

His village lot was on the west side of | 

years. His village lot was on the north side of 

Union street. It was afterward owned by Regnier 

Schaets. Harmanus Vepper, son of Harmen, was 

an Indian trader, and owned a village lot on the 

north corner of State and Church streets. In 

Harmen Vedder, Jr., conveyed this lot to 

Alexander Vedder. Ferry street (extended south) 

passes through this lot. Arent VEpDER, son of 

Harmen, married Sara, daughter of Symon Groot, 

and had eleven children, all of whom, save one, 

were living, and had families, August 10, 1846, 

when he made his will. His village lot, on the 

west side of Washington street, is now owned by 

D. Cady Smith. Jouannes Vepper, fourth son of 

Harmen, was carried to Canada in 1690 with his 

brother Albert He inherited a portion of the 

‘“‘hindmost” farm, No. 8, from his father. Cor- 

sET VeEppER, fifth son of Harmen, lived 

“Schaghkook” until 1720, when he removed to 

Niskayuna. He owned four morgens of his father’s 

farm. 

Symon VoLCKERTSE VEEDER was born in 1624. 

His home lot in the village was on the north cor- 

ner of State and Ferry streets. GrrRrir SyMONSE 

VEEDER, son of Symon, married Tryntje, daughter 

of Helmer Otten, in 1690. He was the owner of 

much landed property. Pieter Symonsr VEEDER, 

son of Symon, married Neeltje, daughter of Claase 

Van der Volgen, in 1704. He settled on the Nor- 

mans Kil. He died about 1709. JoHANNEs Sy- 

MONSE VEEDER, son of Symon, resided on the 

Normans Kil, where he had a portion of his father’s 

land. Vorkert Symonse VEEDER, son of Symon, 

lived on the north corner of Ferry and State streets, 

on a lot received from his father. 

PretER CoRNELISE VIELE was among the early 

settlers. He owned part of De Winter’s bouwery 

in 1670, and died some time before 1690. Cor- 

NELIS VIELE, brother of Pieter, owned the two 

He was one of the two licensed 

ed 

1757 

in 

bouweries No. 8. 

tapsters of the village, his inn being on the south 

corner of Mill lane and State, near Church street. 

ARNOUT CORNELISE VIELE, son of Cornelis, was for 

many years provincial interpreter. On account of 

the Indians’ high esteem for him, the Mohawks, in 

1633, gave him a parcel of land, above Schenec- 

tady, on the north side of the river, called Wach- 

keerhoha. 

Henprick Mrrs— Vrooman came here in 1677 

and bought the Van Curler bouwery. His village 

lot was on the north side of State street. 

slain in 1690. Apam Vroomay, son of Hendrick, 

in 1690, saved his life ‘‘by his bravery in de- 

fending his house, which stood near the north gate, 

He was 
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on the west corner of Church and Front streets.” 

Besides this lot he owned other parcels of land. 

Jax Vrooman, son of Hendrick, married Geesie, 

daughter of Symon Veeder, July 4, 1680, and had 

fifteen children, the most of attained 

maturity and had families. His village lot, inherit- 

ed from his father, was on the north side of State 

street, near Givens Hotel. Capt. Henprick 

Vrooman was the fourth son of Adam Vrooman. 

Among other parcels of land, he owned in 17064 

lot on the south side of State street, ‘‘ on the side 

of the Coehorn creek.” Barenr Vrooman, son of 

Adam, married Tryntje, daughter of Takel Heem- 

straat, of Albany, June 18, 1699. He died in 

1746; his village lot was on the north corner of 

State and Center streets. Wouter VroomMan, son of 

Adam, married Marytje, daughter of Isaac Hallen- 

beck, of Albany ; they had sixteen children; he 

died October 26, 1856; he owned five different 

parcels of land. Jan Vroomay, son of Adam, was 

by trade a brewer. He received some land from 

his father, among which was a parcel lying west of 

the city, now mainly covered by the canal and 

railroad. PirterR Vrooman, son of Adam, married 

Grietje, daughter of Isaac Van Alstyne, of Albany, 

February 2, 1706 ; they had twelve children. He 

settled early upon ‘‘ Vrooman’s land,” in Scho- 
harie. Stmon Vrooman, son of Jan Vrooman, 

_ married Eytje, daughter of Jacob Delamont. He 

bought, in 1710, a ‘‘lot lying on the west side of 

the canal, extending from State to Liberty street.” 

By his will, made in 1752, his son Jacob inherited 

this, and his son Johannes the ‘‘ tan-pits,”” near the 

Church mill on Mill lane. 

Jan Barentse Wenp settled here in 1662, buy- 

ing ‘‘ Van Slyck’s” or ‘‘Wemp’s Island.” His 

village lot was on the west side of Washington 

street. This lot was inherited by hisson Myndert, 

who was killed in the massacre of 1690. Mynpirt 

Wene, son of Jan, was born in 1649. He married 

Diewer, daughter of Evert Wendel, of Albany. 

Cart. Barent Wemp, son of Jan, was born in 

1656, and married Folkje, daughter of Symon V. 
Veeder. 

State and Center streets. The front of this lot is 

“now occupied by the Carley House. 
Ropert Yates, son of Joseph Yates, settled in 

Schenectady at the age of twenty-three, and mar- 

ried Grietje Claase De Graff, of the Hoes in Scotia. 
His village lot was on the Albany road, near the 

present Ferry street. By his «ill, made in 1747, 

he left his interest in his tan-yards to his sons, 

Joseph and Abraham. Robert, son of Joseph 
settled in Schenectady before 1712, 

whom 

? 

and his 

His village lot was on the east corner of | 

} 
| 
| 
{ 

| 

| | 
| 
| 
| 
| 

\ 

nephew, Joseph Christoffelse, settled here in 1734. 

Abraham, a son of the latter, owned a house and 

lot on Union street, opposite the Court House. 

Yates House. 

YANCES. 

About the year 1798 there migrated to the bar- 

ren pine plains adjoining the Albany and Schenec- 

tady turnpike, about one mile from this city, a 

tribe of people cailed Yances. In the reign of 

(Queen Anne we date the first migration of the 

gypsies to this country. <A tribe of them came 

over at that time with some German families, and 

settled in or near Kinderhook in this State. From 

thence proceeded the clan which settled in this 

vicinity. 

This name, as it obtained among the early in- 

habitants of this vicinity, was Yances, so called 

after their patriarch, John Yonse. They were a 

race of persons with long, straight, black hair and 

dark complexions. They were generally well dis- 

posed, and the males made a precarious living by 

making baskets, berries—which grew 

abundantly at this time—and doing light work for 

the citizens of Schenectady, but never cultivated 

their land, nor worked strictly at anything; while the 

female portion of the tribe occupied themselves in 

spinning, picking berries and telling fortunes, 

Some dwelt in caves which they dug at the foot 

of rising grounds, others in rude huts of their own 

construction. They were at first about forty strong, 
including men, women and children, but in the 
course of a few years they greatly increased in num- 

selling 

bers, and about forty years ago there were about 

two hundred of them. 

At present but a few of their descendants are 
living in this vicinity. Some families may be 

found living among the mountains around the vil- 

lages in Schoharie County. 

the ‘‘Sloughters. ” 
There they are called 
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INDIAN WARS ON THE BORDER, in spite of every precaution suggested by experi- 

1662-1743. ence, scarcely a year passed in which some house- 

Down to the close of the French war in 1763, | holds were not bereft of one or more of their 

the Iroquois carried on an intermittent warfare | members. 

with the French of Canada. All settlements in Less than four years after Schenectady was set- 
the valley of the upper Hudson were made on this | tled occurred the first alarm to the inhabitants. 

river and the Mohawk. The danger line was along M. De Courcelles, Governor of Canada, on the 

the banks of the Mohawk and the shores of the | 2gth December, 1665, began a march from Mon- 

Hudson above Waterford. treal with six hundred volunteers, ‘‘ to seeke out 

During a period of more than seventy years— | their inveterate ennemyes called the Mohawke In- 

1688 to 1760--the English provinces were, more | dians, to take revenge upon them for the severall 

than half the time, in a state of war, or painful ap- | murthers and spoyles which the barbarians had 

prehension. : for many yeares exercised in Canada.” The snow 

No formidable body of Frenchmen, it is true, | was four feet deep; the soldiers marched on snow- 

ever crossed the Mohawk~--16g0——but parties of | shoes, while their provisions were drawn on ‘‘slight 

their Indian allies, in squads of five to twenty, | sledges” by mastiff dogs. On the gth of Febru- 

were constantly sent out to skulk along the border | ary they encamped within two miles of Schenec- 

and pick off unwary husbandmen. Every dwelling | tady, having been misled by their guide. That 

along this danger line was constructed for defense, | evening ‘‘60 of their best Fusileers being led into 

as well as for habitation. Movable block-houses | an ambuscade by the Mohaks, lost 11 men besides 

were placed in the field for temporary shelter, and | divers others,” who were wounded. Governor 

the farmer Jabored with his musket by his side, yet, | Courcelles applied to the inhabitants for provisions 
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INDIAN WARS ON THE BORDER. 23 

which were supplied according to the ‘best ac- 

commodation ye poore village afforded,” but re- 

fused shelter for his men, fearing if ‘‘hee had 

brought his weary and halfe starved people within 

the smell of a chimney corner,” he could not keep 

them from straggling or running away. 

Seven of his wounded were sent to Albany. 

‘©The Dutch boers carryed to the camp such _ pro- 

visions as they had, especially peaz and bread, of 

which a good quantity was bought.” On the r2th 

of February the French began their return to 

Canada. 

Three years later, to wit, in 1669, another In- 

dian battle was fought on the western borders of 

the town. 

In August, Caughnawaga [Fonda], a stockaded 

village of the Mohawks, was attacked by the river 

Indians or Mahikanders. After an obstinate re- 

sistance the latter were repulsed and retired. The 

Mohawks descended the river in their canoes and 

attacked the retreating foe at a place called Avua- 

quartnes and put them to flight. 

From this time up to 1689, while the people 

lived in constant apprehension, there was really no 

outbreak. In this period of twenty years’ peace 

Schenectady slowly gained in population and agri- 

cultural wealth and comforts. Some trade, too, 

was had surreptitiously with the Indians. During 

these years the French occasionally sent out ma- 

rauding expeditions, which made necessary a gath- 

ering of the savages about Schenectady. They 

were given to drink, and were always a source of 

annoyance to the inhabitants. 

In August, 1689, the Five Nations made a de- 

structive raid upon Montreal, killing several hun- 

dred persons and holding the place until October. 

Retaliation was naturally to be expected. The 

border settlements, as winter approached, when re- 

lief from New York would be cut off, cast about 

for help. 

The general apprehension of an attack by the 

French led to a kind of committee of safety, 

called ‘‘the Convention,” which convened in 

Albany from time to time to watch the progress of 

events and prepare for defense. This convention 

was composed of the Mayor and Aldermen of the 

city and the magistrates and chief military officers 

of the country. They were unanimously opposed 

to Leisler, and would obey none of his orders. 

Many persons during the summer of 1689 medi- 

tated and prepared to flee to a place of greater 

safety, which led to a proclamation, given at the 

City Hall, in Albany, August 7, published by the 

Justices of the Peace, forbidding all persons to de- 

part from the country. During September the 

convention was again held, the proceedings of 

which plainly show that the attack of the French 

on Schenectady, which took place the following 

February, was not unexpected. 

Schenectady, equally with Albany, was rent by 

party spirit, the inhabitants being divided into 

Leislerians and anti-Leislerians, 

Leisler promised the people the same privileges 

as Albany, to wit: those of trading with the Indians, 

hitherto forbidden them, and the right of bolting 

flour. This was a strong bid for public favor; but 

Adam Vrooman, who was addressed as Leisler’s 

agent, very modestly and prudently declined the 

honor. 

Early in November, 1689, news reached Albany 

‘‘that Leysler is about to send up an armed force 

to take possession of the place and overthrow 

the government.” Capt. Sander Glen, Jan Van 

Eps and Sweer Teunise Van Velsen, of Schenec- 

tady, were opponents of Leisler, and sustained the 

convention to the last, Capt. Glen being one of the 

eight men appointed by the Convention to sign 

articles with Melbourne, Leisler’s agent. 

On the 25th November Capt. Jonathan Bull 

arrived with eighty-seven men from Connecticut, ° 

and on the 

Capt. Bull’s company, ‘‘ marched with twenty-four 

men to Schinnectady to keep y' Post as it was 

agreed upon by y® five gentlemen appoint’ by y° 

Convention and y* Capt. Bull and Jochim Staats.” 

December gth was ordered as a day of fasting and 

prayer. All was confusion at Albany. = Mr. 

Staats, who commanded Leisler’s soldiers, would 

not submit to the convention and send ten of his 

men to Schenectady, as they wished; but went 

thither himself with some of his faction to stir up 

the people, so that the convention thought it neces- 

2gth Lieutenant Enos Talmage, of 

sary to send some one after him. 

January 12, 1689-90, ‘‘ while the convention was 

debating whether to submit to Joachim Staats as 

deputy of Leysler, a letter comes from Capt. 

Sander Glen, there Maj’ Justice of the Peace at 

Schinnectady, informing them how that there are 

five commissions come to Schinnectady fiom Capt. 

Leysler for five Justices of y° Peace, brought thither 

by Jeronimus Wendel and Gerrit Luycasse [Wyn- 

gaard]; Y* persons Aukus, Ryer 

Jacobse [Schermerhorn], David Christoffelse, Myn- 

are Dowe 

dert Wemp and Johannes Pootman; and a com- 

mission to call the people together, to choose new 

Capt., Lieut. and Ensigne and Town Court, and 
y 

Mr. Joachim Staats and to enter upon there oflice. ” 

‘ y* s' five justices come here to-morrow to assist 
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STORY OF THE).COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

“The said Capt. Sanders [Glen], together with 
y’ Lieut. and Ensigne and Sweer ‘Teunisse, 

members of y* Convention doe write to the gent" 

that there vote is not to obey Capt. Leysler’s or- 

ders, but to protest against his illegal proceed- 

ings.” (Col. Mss., 36.) 

‘Albany y* 20th of January, 16$%.—The 

Mayor and Aldermen haveing consulted to-day 

how to procure some Christians and Indians to 

goe towards y* Great Lake to Lye as skouts for y* 

space of three weeks to give notice if y* ffrench 

should come with an army to Invade there maj 

Territory, but could fynde none y* would goe under 

2 shil. 6d. to 3 shil. per day, for Capt. Bull would 

suffer none of his men to goe, alledging it contrare 

to his instructions, and while they were bussy to 

discouse s! affare y® following Indians came and s' 
*K * x as follows, viz: * 

| 
| 

| 
‘‘Brethren: We have (been) sent by ye 40 Ma- 

guase Souldiers, now at Schenechtady, to acquaint 
you that they are come to goe out as Skouts toward 
ye Lake and Otter creek to watch ye Designe of ye 
Deceiver, ye gov’ of Canida, to see if he will 
come and invade our country again, & if we 
‘Discern any Progresse of his, we have 4 Indians 

y' wee send forth Post to give you & our people 
advertisem', s - = 

‘“The s" Indians were very thankful, and s* 
they would withal speed goe to Shinnechtady & 
forward ye Comp* & hasten them upon there 
march.” (Doc. Hist., i, 86.) 

These preparations to ‘‘watch the Designe of ye 

Gov' of Canida” miscarried, and before the In- 

dian scouts reached ‘‘ye Lake and Otter creek,” 

the invading force had passed those points and the 

fatal blow was struck, destroying fhe village and 

scattering such of its inhabitants as were spared. 

i ——— VN 

Sues 
¥ \s 

DESTRUCTION OF SCHENECTADY IN 1690. 

From painting by Giles F. Yates, now in possession of his niece, Mrs. A. A. Yates, of Schenectady. In the 
painting the artist unquestionably drew upon his fancy. 

BURNING OF SCHENECTADY. 

The story of the massacre of 16g0 has often been 

told. The essential facts are few and well estab- 

lished, both by the English and French accounts. 

The causes of this attack were, first, the war be- 

tween England and France, occasioned by the 

English revolution of 1688, and, secondly, the de- 

sire of the French in Canada to intimidate and 

detach the Lroquois from the English, by delivering 

a stunning blow, and capturing both Albany and 

Schenectady. The destruction of this place would 

perhaps have decided the fate of the Province, for 

they then would have held the key to the naviga- 

tion of the Hudson. 

A march from Montreal to Schenectady—a dis- 

tance of 200 miles—was one of extreme labor, 

requiring great pluck and endurance. Between 

the St. Lawrence and the Mohawk rivers there 
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BURNING OF SCHENECTADY. 2 or 

was then an unbroken wilderness, without a single 

habitation. In mid-winter the snow lay in the 

forest from three to six feet deep, and could be 

traveled only on snow-shoes. 

In addition to their heavy muskets and ammu- 

nition, the French were forced to carry provisions 

for the march of twenty-two days. Such were the 

conditions of an attack upon Schenectady, only 

possible in winter without a flotilla of canoes to 

pass the lakes. 

The attacking party consisted of 114 Frenchmen, 

8o savages from the Sault, and 16 Algonquins—in 

all 210 men. 

The commander was Lemoine de Sainte Heléne, 

assisted by Lieutenant D’Aillebout de Mantet. 

They started from Montreal on the 17th of Janu- 

ary, and after suffering incredible hardships on the 

way, arrived in sight of the town about 11 o'clock 

at night on the 8th of February. It was their in- 

tention to make their attack later, but the intense 

cold forced them to enter the town at once. 

The village at this time lay mainly west of Ferry 

street, and was stockaded with palisades of pine 

logs, ten feet high. It had at least two gates, one 

at north end of Church street, opening out to the 

highway (Front street), which led to the eastward 

to Niskayuna ; another at south end of Church at 

State, opening out to Mill lane and the Flats and 

the Albany road (State street). 

_The only dwellings outside the stockade were 

‘built on the northern side of State street, extending 

as far southeast as Lange gang (Center street]. It 

is said there were eighty good houses in the village, 

and a population of 400 souls; both numbers, 

doubtless, greatly exaggerated. 

In the northern angle of the village, on the 

Binnie kil [mear corner Washington and Front 

streets], was a double stockade fort, garrisoned by 

a detachment of 24 men of Captain Jonathan Bull's 

Connecticut company, under the command of 

Lieut. Talmadge. 

Thus fortified and garrisoned, the inhabitants 

should have repelled any ordinary attack, or at 

least held the enemy at bay until succor could 
reach them from Albany. 

The destruction of the place was occasioned by 

divided counsels and a fatal apathy. The whole 

Province was then divided into two factions—the 

Leislerians and the Anti-Leislerians—the short hairs 

and swallow-tails. Divided feelings and counsels 

ran so highin Albany and Schenectady as to coun- 

teract the sense of self-preservation. Both parties 

were determined to rule; neither was strong enough 

to take the lead. 

On the fatal night of February 5, the Noche ¢riste 

of the ill-fated village, the inhabitants went to rest 

with their gates open and no guard set. They 

trusted that the Indians who had been sent out as 

scouts to Lake George would forewarn them of 

the enemy’s approach. The French marched upon 

the village from the north, crossed the river on the 

ice and divided their men into two companies, 

with the intention of entering the town, one by the 

north, or Church street, gate, the other by the 

south, or State street, gate. The latter entrance, 

being in a measure covered by the dwellings on 

that street, could not be found ; both companies 

therefore entered by the north gate, and separating, 

spread themselves throughout the village, five or 

At a signal agreed upon a 

made upon each 

six before each house. 

simultaneous onslaught was 

dwelling, and before the terror-stricken inhabitants 

could seize their arms the savages were upon them. 

Resistance was vain. Within two hours sixty of 

the people were slaughtered, without distinction of 

age or sex. After selecting such booty as they 

could carry away, the French fired the houses and 

burned all but five or six. 

Captain Sander Glen's family and relatives, with 

their habitations and other property, on account of 

former kindness shown to captive Frenchmen, 

were spared by express order of the Governor of 

Canada. The utter helplessness of the inhabitants 

to offer resistance is shown by the fact that only two 

of the enemy were killed and one severely wounded. 

The plucky fight made by Adam Vrooman and 

his family comes down to us by tradition. His 

house stood on the west corner of Front and 

Church streets, opposite the north gate. 

By keeping up a brisk fire from his dwelling, he 

kept the enemy at bay and extorted a promise from 

. the French commander to spare his life. 

After taking a few hours of much needed rest, 

the French began their retreat at 11 o’clock of the 

gth, with 27 prisoners, men and boys, and fifty 

horses laden with plunder. 

Nineteen of their men perished in the retreat and 

the remainder were only saved from starvation by 

killing the horses. 

Of the many accounts of this transaction written 

| at the time, the following are most trustworthy. 

The first is the French report, and may be found 

among the ‘‘ Paris Documents,” Vol. LV, in the 

Secretary of State’s office. 

‘«An account of the burning of Schenectady by 

Mons. De Monsignat, Comptroller-General of the 

Marine in Canada, to Madame de Maintenon, the 

morganatic wife of Louis XIV. 
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26 HISTORY "OF THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

‘eythane otecAt eleven’ o'clock at, night they 
came within sight of the town (but) resolved to 

defer the assault until two o'clock in the morning. 

But the excessive cold admitted of no further 

delay. 

““The town of Corlaer forms a sort of oblong 

with only two gates-—one opposite the road we had 

taken—the other leading to Orange, which is only 

six leagues distant. Messieurs de Sainte Heléne 

and de Mantet were to enter at the first, which the 

Squaws pointed out, and which in fact was found 

wide open. Messieurs d’Iberville and de Montes- 

son took the left with another detachment, in order 

to make themselves masters of that leading to 

Orange. But they could not discover it, and 
returned to join the remainder of the party. A 

profound silence was everywhere observed, until 

the two commanders, who separated, at their en- 

trance into the town, for the purpose of encircling 

it, had met at the other extremity. 

“The signal of attack was given Indian fashion, 

and the whole force rushed out simultaneously. 

M. de Mantet placed himself at the head of a 

detachment, and reached a small fort where the 

garrison were under arms. The gate was burst in 

after a good deal of difficulty, the whole set on 

fire, and all who defended the place slaughtered. 

‘«The sack of the town began a moment before 

the attack on the fort. Few houses made any 

resistance. M. de Montigny discovered some, 

‘which he attempted to carry sword in hand, hav- 

ing tried the musket in vain. He received two 

thrusts of a spear—one in the body and the other 

in the arm. But M. de Sainte Heléne, having 

come to his aid, effected an entrance, and put every 

one who defended the place to the sword. The 

massacre lasted two hours. The remainder of the 

night was spent in placing sentinels and in taking 

some repose. 

‘The house belonging to the minister was 

ordered to be saved, so as to take him alive to 

obtain information from him; but as it was not 

known, it was not spared any more than the others. 

He was slain and his papers burnt before he could 

be recognized. 

"6 At daybreak some men who were sent to the 

dwelling of Mr. Coudre (Coudre (?) Sander], 

who was major of the place, and who lived at the 

other side of the river. He was not willing to 

surrender, and began to put himself on the defen- 

sive, with his servants and some Indians; but as it 

was resolved not to do him any harm, in conse- 

quence of the good treatment that the French had 

formerly experienced at his hands, Mr. d’Iberville 

and the Great Mohawk proceeded thither alone, 

promised him quarter for himself, his people, and 

his property, whereupon he laid down his arms, on 

parole, entertaining them in his fort, and returned 

with them to see the commandants of the town. 

“‘In order to occupy the savages, who would 

otherwise have taken to drink and thus render them- 

selves unable for defence, the houses had already 

been set on fire. None were spared in the town 

but one house belonging to Coudre [Sander Glen], 

and that of a widow [Bratt] who had six children, 

whither M. de Montigny had been carried when 

wounded. All the rest were consumed. | The 

lives of between fifty and sixty persons—old men, 

women and children—were spared, they having 

escaped the first fury of the attack. Some twenty 

Mohawks were also spared, in order to show 

them that it was the English and not they against 

whom the grudge was entertained. 

«<The loss on this occasion in houses, cattle 

and grain amounts to more than four hundred 

thousand livres. There were upwards of eighty 

well built and well furnished houses in the town. 

‘“The return march commenced with thirty 

prisoners. The wounded, who were to be carried, 

and the plunder, with which all the Indians and 

some Frenchmen were loaded, caused consider- 

able inconvenience. Fifty good horses were 

brought away; sixteen of these only reached Mon- 

treal. The remainder were killed for food on the 

road, *.e = 

“‘Such, Madame, is the account of what passed 

at the taking of Corlaer. The French lost but 

twenty-one men, namely, four Indians and seven- 

teen Frenchmen. Only one Indian and one 

Frenchman were killed at the capture of the town; 

the others were lost on the road.”—Doc. Hist. 

Ne Y¥s5. 15-180: 

A few days subsequent to the massacre at 

Schenectady, Pieter Schuyler, mayor, and Dirk 

Wessels Ten Broeck, recorder of Albany, and 

Kilian Van Rensselaer, Pa/roon of Rensselaerwyck, 

addressed the following appeal to the Governor 

(Bradstreet) and Council of Massachusetts. This 

letter, as well as one from Capt. Bull, was 

answered by the Governor and Council on the 

27th of February. 

“« ALBANY y® 15th day of feb’, 1623. 
‘« Hon" Gent": 

‘“To our great greeffe and sorrow we must ac- 
quaint you with our deplorable condition, there 
haveing never y* Like Dreadfull massacre and 
murthur been committed in these Parts of America, 
as hath been acted by y° french and there Indians 
at Shinnectady 20 miles from Albanie Betwixt Sat- 
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BURNING OF SCHENECTADY. 

urday and Sunday last, at rr aclok at night. A 
companie of Two hundred french and Indians fell 
upon said village and murther’d sixty men women 
and children most Barbarously, Burning y* Place 
and carried 27 along with them Prisoners, among 
which the Leif! of Cap' Bull Enos Talmadge and 
4 more of sd company were killed & 5 taken Priso- 
ners y* Rest being Inhabitants and about 25 Per- 
sones there Limbs frozen in y° flight. 

‘«The cruelties committed at s* Place no Penn 
can write nor Tongue expresse, y® women bigg 
with childe Rip’d up and y° children alive throwne 
into y* flames, and there heads Dash’d in Pieces 
against the Doors and windows. 

‘* But what shall we say we must Lay our hands 
upon our mouth and be silent. It is Gods will 
and Pleasure and we must submitt, it is but what 
our Sinns and Transgressions have Deservd. And 
since Generaily humane things are Directed by 
outward means, so we must ascribe this sad mis- 
fortune to y® factions and Divisions which were 
amongst y® Peopleand there great Dissobedience 
to there officers for they would Obey no Com- 
mands or keep any watch, so y* y* Enemie have- 
ing Discovered there negligence and Security by 
there Praying maquase Indians (who were ins! 
Place 2 or 3 Days before y’ attaque was made) 
came in and Broak open there verry doors before 
any Soule knew of it, y° Enemy Divideing them- 
selfs in 3 severall companies came in at 3 severall 
Places no gate being shutt, and Seperated them- 
selfs 6 or 7 to a house and in this manner begunn 
to murther sparing no man till they see all y° 
houses open and masterd, and so took what plun- 
der they would, Loading 30 or 40 of y* Best 
horses and so went away about 11 or 12 a clock 
at noonjon Sabbath day.” * * * .*-* * pF 

Your most humble and obed' serv® y* Conven- 
tion of Albanie 

P, ScuuyLer, Mayor. 

GP Be Spesfit 
The Mayor, &c., of Albany their bre giveing 

accot of y® ffrench & Indians cutting of a Town of | 
English &c., many things & Dutch Feb., 1689.” 

[ Mass. Archives, 239-246. } 

The survivors of the massacre had become so 

discouraged by their late terrible experience, that 

‘it was seriously debated whether the settlement 

should not be abandoned. The frontiers were now 

so harassed by straggling parties of the enemy 

that the husbandmen could not safely plant and 

harvest their crops. 

In the midst of these discouragements the Mo- 

hawks strove to dissuade them from abandoning 
their plantations, promising them aid, counseling 

them to fortify their village more substantially. 

| 
| 

May 12, 16go, the ‘‘Commissioners for Albany” 

ordered that the ‘‘ posts of Schanechtede, Connes- 

tigieone and the Half Moone be forthwith supplied 

with proper numbers of men to defend the same.” 

[Doc. Hist., IT. ] 

In regard to the number of persons killed and 

carried away to Canada at the destruction of Sche- 

nectady, the best accounts agree substantially. 

The names of sixty persons massacred, and of 

twenty-seven captives, have been preserved among 

the historical documents in the office of the § 

tary of State. The largest number of the slain re- 

sided, when living, on State street; 

vivors called this street ALar/elaer’s 

 oecre- 

hence the sur- 

straaf, in pious 

remembrance of their slaughtered relatives and 

neighbors, a name whose significance and senti- 

ment are in striking contrast with the utter poverty 

of invention and good taste shown by their de- 

scendants in borrowing a name from Albany for 

their chief business street. 

The following is the list of those killed, above 

referred to: 

Myndert Wemp, Jan Van Eps, ‘‘his son and 

two of his children;” Sergt. Church, of Capt. 

Bull’s company; Barent Janse (Van Ditmars) and 

son; Andries Arentse Bratt and child; Maria Viele, 

two children and negro woman servant; Maria 

Alolff, Sweer Teunise (Van Velsen) and wife; four 

negroes of Teunise, Antje Janz, Enos Talmidge, 

lieutenant of Capt. Bull’s company; Henderson 

Meese Vrooman and Bartholomens Vrooman, ‘‘ and 

two negroes of Henderson;” Gerrit Marcellis, wife 

and child; Robert Alexandier, soldier; Robert Hes- 

seling, Sander, ‘‘son of Gysbert Gerritse (Van 

Brakel);” Jan Roeloffse (son of Anneke Janse); 

Ralph (sth a soldier; David Christoftelse, wife 

and fcur children; Jaris Aertse (Van der Baast), 

Johannes Potman and wife; Wm. Pieterse, Dom- 

inie Petrus Tassemaker; Frans Harmense (Van de 

Bogart); Engel Vrooman and _ child; 

Schaats and son; Daniel Andries ‘‘ and George, 

two soldiers;” ‘‘a French girl prisoner among the 

Mohogs;” ‘‘a Maquase Indian,” ‘Johannes, son 

of Symon Skermerhorn, and three negroes of Sy- 

mon Skermerhorn,” 

Among those taken prisoners and carried to 

Canada, some died on the way there some 

were afterward released and returned to Schenec- 

tady. 

The following ballad, though without much lit- 

has some value for the facts set forth 

Reynier 

and 

erary merit, 

therein, 
It was evidently written by a person belonging to 

the English garrison, stationed at Albany. 
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28 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

But soone We found the French were gone 
With all their great Bootye ; 

And then their Trail We did pursue 
As was our true Dutye. 

“In which is set forth the horrid cruellties practised by the 
French and Indians on the night of the 8th of last February. 
The which I did compose last night, in the space of one 
hour, and am now writing the morning of Fryday, June 12, 

A BALLAD, | 

| 

| The Mohaques joynd our brave Partye, 
1690. Ww. Ww.” 

God prosper long our King and Queen, 
Our lives & safeties all. 

A sad misfortune once there did 
Schenectady befall. 

From forth the woods of Canada 
The Frenchmen tooke their way 

The people of Schenectady 
To captivate and slay. 

They march’d for two & twenty dais 
All thro’ the deepest snow ; 

And on a dismal Winter Night 
They strucke the Cruel Blow. 

The lightsome sun that rules the Day 
Had gone down in the West ; 

And eke the drowsy Villagers 
Had sought and found their reste. 

They thought They were in Safetie all, 
And dreampt not of the Foe ; 

But att Midnight They all awoke, 
In Wonderment & Woe. 

For They were in their pleasant Beddes, 
And soundelie sleeping, when 

Each door was sudden open broke 
By six or seven Men. 

The Men and Women, Younge & Olde, 
And eke the Girls and Boys, 

All started up in great Affright, 
Att the alarming Noise. 

They then were murther’d in their Beddes, 
Without shame or remorse ; 

And soon the Floores and Streets were strew’d 
With many a bleeding corse. 

The Village soon began to Blaze, 
Which shew’d the horrid sight :— 

But, O, I scarce can Beare to Tell 
The Mis’ries of that Night. 

They threw the Infants in the Fire, 
The Men they did not spare ; 

But killed All which they could find 
Tho’ Aged or tho’ Fair. 

O Christe! In the still Midnight air, 
It sounded dismally, 

The Women’s Prayers, and the loud screams 
Of their great Agony. 

Methinks as if I hear them now 
All ringing in my ear ; 

The Shrieks and Groanes and Woefull Sighs, 
They utter’d in their Fear. 

But some ran off to Albany, 
And told the dolefull Tale : 

Yett, tho’ We gave our cheerful aid, 
It did not much avail, 

And we were horribly afraid, 
And shook with Terror, when 

They told us that the Frenchmen were 
More than a Thousand Men. 

The news came on the Sabbath morn 
Just att the Break of Day, 

And with a companie of Horse 
I galloped away. 

And followed in the chase 
Till we came upp with the Frenchmen 

Att a most likelye Place. 

Our soldiers fell upon their Reare, 
And killed twenty-five, 

Our Young Men were so much enrag’d 
They took scarce One alive, 

D’Aillebout Then did commande, 
Which were but Theevish Rogues, 

Else-why did they consent and goe 
With Bloodye Indian Dogges ? 

And Here I end the long Ballad 
The Which you just have redde ; 

I wish that it may stay on earth, 
Long after I am dead. 

WALTER WILIE. 
ALBANY, 12th of June, 1690. 

INDIAN WARS ON THE BORDER, 1662- 
1713. 

The destruction of Schenectady and the uncer- 

tainty of future safety of the border settlers in the 

vicinity of that village awakened in their minds 

serious doubts as to the expediency of rebuilding 

their dwellings and putting seed into the ground, 

To reassure the courage of the people, the Conven- 

tion at Albany passed the following resolution, on 

the 22d February, 1690: 

Resolved, That for y® p’servation of there maj* 
Intrest in these parts & y* Secureing of there Subjects 
in this time of war w" y° french, y' all means be 
used to Perswade all y* maquase to come & live & 
Plant at Schinnectady, lately Destroyed by y° french 
and there Indians w" will be a means y‘ y* winter 
corn sowed there may be reaped & y* Indians in 
Readinesse to join with our forces upon any occa- 
sion if y° enemy should come.—[Doc. Hist., II, 

P. 9°] 
The Five Nations, too, in a council held at Al- 

bany, May 3, spoke encouraging words : 

‘Brother Corlaer, be no wise discouraged, but 

make your fort strong (as we have our castles) at 

Schenectady, and maintain a garrison there, that 

your Corne may be preserved, & reap your harvest; 

also send for your wifes and children from New 

York and encourage them that we shall be safe, 

and fear not, * * * The words of Diadorus 

are ended.” 

So impoverished had Albany and Schenectady 

become that aid was called for from Connecticut 

for ‘‘fournishing the souldiers with provisions, 

Shenectady being destroyed and most of the out 

plantations deserted, that your hon™ would be 

pleased to send a supply of an hundred barrels of 
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porke or beefe equivalent for maintaining their 

Maj* Forces.” 
On the gth June, 1690, four persons of those who | 

had been captured by the French and escaped 

from Canada arrived in Albany, to wit: Klyn 

Isack [Swits], of Schenectady, and his eldest son 

fries Oxtiage Lbuy 
| MAG Ce ae 

Phete Sh (Sh 4 

29 

], of Niskay- 

una, and one of Captain Bull’s soldiers taken at 

the destruction of Schenectady, 

tives taken at 

Symon ; Ryck Claessen [Van Vranken] 

Four more cap- 

the same place were brought in, 

by a ‘‘party of Christians and March, 

maquase.’ 

1691, 
? 

MAP OF THE TOWN OF SCHENECTADY. 

In the beginning of June, 1691, Gov. Sloughter, 

who succeeded Andros, visited Albany and Sche- 

‘with the Five Nations, and, on the 11th of July, 

Gov. Sloughter wrote to the Governors of the 

other Provinces that he had just returned from Al- 

bany, where he ‘‘found our Plantations and Sche- 

nectady almost ruined. 

tady and Halfe Moon with some of the roo fusileers 

raised by our Assembly.” 

Again, August 6, he says: ‘‘I found Albany 

I have garrisoned Schenec- | 

| 

| about 

| French,” 

nectady to inspect the defenses and hold a council | 

150 farms deserted & destroyed by the 

October 5, 1691, ‘‘At a council held at Fort 

William Henry [N. Y. ] 

‘This Board having the Garrison of Schenec- 

tady under consideration, it is thought convenient 

to remove the 4 guns from there to Albany, and 

that Petardoes be placed in their steade.” 

Late in the vear 1r6g1 another of the prisoners 

taken at Schenectady the year before was brought 

back by an Oneida Indian, who was rewarded in 

full of disorder, the people ready to disert it; | ‘‘ Duffels and Rom” to the amount of £2 2s. 
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In January, 1692, Cornelis Van Slyck, Harmen 

Van Slyck and Hendrick Janse went out from 

Schenectady with the Maquase upon the Brand- 

wach, toward Canada, Captain Sander Glen fur- 

nishing ‘‘sno shoes ” for them. 

In February came an alarm from Albany to 

Governor Fletcher that ‘‘ 350 French and 200 In- 

dians had come within 36 miles of Schenectady.” 

The Governor proposed to ‘‘ detach three hun- 

dred men out of the city regiment and adjacent 

counties to be transported to Esopus by water,” 

from whence they were to be sent on to Albany 

and Schenectady by horses. 
In May there was a new alarm, and Major 

Ingoldsby visited Albany, where the officers “rep- 

resented that they need a force of 400 men on this 

frontier, 200 at Albany, 50 each at Schenectady, 

Canastigione & Half Moon, & 50 to go out 

with 1oo Indians as constant scouts in the 

woods.” 
In October, Governor Fletcher visited Schenec- 

tady and put it in some posture of defense for the 

coming winter. 

In August, 1692, a new expedition was fitted 

out at Schenectady, consisting of 350 Indians of 

the Five Nations under Canachkorie to attack 

Canada. The expense of the outfit was £54 3s. 

5d. Among other things furnished was four ells 
of ‘‘red and blew” ribbons ‘‘to tye in his eares.” 

P. Davitse was allowed nine shillings for making 

two gun-stocks; Jellis Funda, nineteen shillings 
and six pence for making four gun-stocks, 

and Barent Mynderse and Christian Smith, £7 6s. 

8d. for repairing arms for the Indians. 

While at Schenectady the ‘‘Mayor & the 

Rest” stayed with Johannes Glen. Hille Van 

Olinda, their interpreter, made two great belts of 

wampum, for which she received £2 8s. 

There was furnished for the expedition 600 Ibs. 

of ‘‘beefe & pork, besides the four quarters of a 

small beasts,” amounting to £1 16s., 25 skipples 

of pease @ 2s. 6d., and 24 loaves of bread @ 7d. 

A large quantity of wampum belts was sent 

along to draw over the Praying Indians of Canada. 
The zewant for two great belts cost £3 12s. 

So impoverished had the people of Schenectady 

become, that a tax of only £29 7s. ($73.33) was 

considered too great a burden for the whole town- 

ship, and they petitioned for a release of the same, 

which petition was, October 11, 1692, granted, 

“* nemine contradicente.” 

“In the expedition the English lost four soldiers 

and four Indians, twelve wounded. Killed of the 

enemy, 33, including their captain-commandant 

and twenty other officers, and two of their com- 

manding Indians, and rescued forty or fifty pris- 

oners.” 

During the winter of 1693 and the summer of 

1694 there were no important movements on 

either side; the French using their best endeavor 

to make peace with the Five Nations; the English 

striving to counteract their projects. During the 

summer of 1695 there were constant conflicts be- 

tween the Five Nations and the French, but the 

anticipated raid during the winter of 1696-1697 

did not take place, though in the spring of 1697 

small parties appeared on the Mohawk, doing such 

mischief as opportunity favored. 

On the zoth September, 1697, articles of peace 

were signed between France and Great Britain, 

called the peace of Ryswick. For nearly ten years 

the Mohawk valley had been the scouting ground 

of the two hostile parties. The husbandmen had 

labored with his musket by his side, and made his 

dwelling literally his castle. 

The news of peace did not reach Canada until 

May, 1698, and then by the way of New York ina 
communication from Governor Bellomont. 

Although peace had been declared between the 

two nations, the French of Canada still threatened 

war against the Five Nations, and Governor Bello- 

mont prepared to espouse the cause of his Indian 

allies by calling upon the trained bands of Albany 

and Schenectady to hold themselves in readiness to 

march with the regulars. The dangers and alarms 

of these times are clearly stated by Governor 

Bellomont in a letter to the Lords of Trade, dated 

24th October, 1698. 

After the proclamation of peace, early in 1698, 

the fortifications and garrisons on the border were 

greatly neglected. May 25, 1700, Governor 

Bellomont wrote to the Lords of Trade ‘‘that at 

the very time they [the French] are fortifving against 

us and keeping up the same number of soldiers 

still, which they did all the war, we on our part 

let our wooden forts fall to the ground, and re- 

duce our pittance of soldiers, and neither mind 

paying nor recruiting them.” 

On the 2gth August, 1700, Governor Bellomont 

held a conference with the sachems of the Five 

Nations at Albany, to whom he made the follow- 

ing complaint: 

‘“‘T have some complaints at this time made to 

mee of mischief lately done by some of your people 

in killing their cattle above Schanegtade. I desire 

you will inquire into the matter, and take such or- 

der that reperation may be done the people that 

have been so wronged.” * x * 
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From 1697 to 1701 there was peace between 

England and France, consequently between Canada 

and the English Provinces. Nevertheless the con- 

stant intrigues and threats of the French toward 

the Five Nations made it necessary for the Pro- 

vincial authorities of New York to use persistent 

and vigilant circumspection to counteract these 

intrigues. 

Governor Bellomont died 5th March, 1701. Al- 

ready rumors were rife in New York of a prospect- 

ive war between France and England, on which 

account Colonel William Smith, President of the 

Council and ex officio Governor of the province, in 

writing to the Lords of Trade, ‘‘ begs leave hum- 

bly to repeate the state and condition of the forts 

at Albany and Schenectady, which are almost to- 

tally decayed & unserviceable.” 
In 1709 orders were sent from England to 

Governor Lovelace to prepare for an attack upon 

Canada and Nova Scotia. It was proposed to send 

out a naval squadron and five regiments of regu- 

lar troops to Boston, there to be joined by 1,200 

of New England. 

These troops were to attack Quebec, while 

1,500 men marching by way of Albany were to 

attack Montreal. 

The Five Nations and River Indians were to as- 

sist. This expedition was to be commanded by 

Colonel Francis Nicholson and Colonel Samuel 

Vetch, but like the attempt in 1691 proved a mis- 

erable failure. The English ministry, instead of 

sending the promised armament to their American 

provinces, sent it to Portugal. 

The Five Nations, during the war (1701-13) be- 

tween France and England, being neutral, became 

corrupted, and less firmly attached to the latter. 

In 1711 another attempt was made to conquer 

Canada, as abortive as the others, the naval expe- 

dition proving a failure. Asa consequence, the 

French Indians commenced their skulking attacks 

upon the frontiers, killing two families in Schagh- 

takook. 

January 1, 1712, Governor Hunter wrote to the 

Lords of Trade: ‘‘ All is quiet at present upon the 
frontier.” 

From this time until the ‘‘old French War” in 

1744 there was peace between France and Eng- 

land, and consequently between Canada and the 

colonies. 

In 1715 the township of Schenectady had two 

military companies of foot, consisting of about 

sixty men each, including officers. 

Although the peace of Utrecht brought compara- 

tive quiet to the border settlements of this province, 

the Five Nations still distrusted the French and 

their Indians, and stood prepared to defend them- 

selves against their attacks. 

The English sympathized with them and fur- 

nished them every aid and help short of an armed 

force. They built their forts, supplied them with 

arms and ammunition, repaired their muskets and 

tomahawks, clothed them with duffels and strouds, 

and in times of scarcity sent them corn. In many 

cases the smiths and carpenters sent there were 

citizens of Schenectady. 

In 1711 Governor Hunter, the better to pro- 

tect his faithful allies, the Iroquois, contracted 

with Gerrit Symonse [Veeder], Barent Vrooman, 

Hendrick Vrooman, John Wemp and Arent Van 

Petten, carpenters, of Schenectady, for £1,000, to 

build two forts in the Indian country, one for the 

Mohawks, 150 feet square and 12 feet high, of 

logs one foot square, with a block house at each 

angle two stories high and 24 feet square; also a 

chapel within the fort, 24 feet square; the other, for 

the Onondagas, of like dimensions. 

In 1724 Harmen Vedder was appointed cap- 

tain of a party of smiths stationed among the Sen- 

ecas, at a salary of £50, and Andries Brat at £15, 

Hendrick Wemp at £25, and Harmen Van Slyck 

at £25, as smiths among the Onondagas. 

In 1726 Joseph Van Lice, of Schenectady, pre- 

sented a bill to the Governor for seven months’ 

service as smith in the Senecas’ country, for which 

he claimed £20. 

Ata conference between Governor Burnet and 

the six sachems at Albany, gth Sept., 1726, a 

Seneca sachem said: 

x * * ‘Tt is three years ago that you offer'd 

us a smith, and told us we might look for one to 

our minds; we found one there who pleased us 

very well. It was Myndert Wemp; when his time 

was expired he told the sachims that he was going 

home, whereupon they desired him to come again, 

because he was good and charitable to the poor; 

therefore we desire he may be our smith and go 

with us when we go home. We desire also an 

Armourer who can mend our Locks and Arms; 

such a man lives at Schenectady.” 

“*5 October, 1728. 
‘* Brother Corlaer : 

‘‘Tt has been customary when we came here to- 

wards the fall that a Smith and an Armourer to be 
sent to work for you, but then to work in our 

Country; we beg you to grant us now that Joseph 

Van Lise and Hendrick Wemp may be Ordered to 

go up with us, who are fit persons for our Occa- 

sion.” 
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His Excellency answered: 

“‘T will order a Smith and an Armourer to be 

sent to work for you, but then I Expect that you 

will not suffer the ffrench Smith who is now there, 

nor any other from Canada, to reside among you 

for the Future.” 

A Sinneke sachem said: 

‘¢ Brother Corlaer: 

““We desired a Smith and an Armourer, but we 

do not hear further of it. You spoke about a 

ffrench Smith, who is now with us; he can Make 

no work, for he is an old man, and can scarce see. 

So we beg again that Joseph Van Lize and Hen- 

drick Wemp may go up with us. We would fain 

have the Smith and Armourer go with us now, that 

we may be sure of them, otherwise it may be neg- 

lected.” 

His Excellency answered: 

‘« Brethren: 

“‘T will give Effectual orders to the Commission- 

ers to send a Smith and an Armourer with you to 
work in your country.” 

THE OLD FRENCH WAR, 1744-1748. 

The Old French War, so called to distinguish it 

from that of 1753, was declared by Louis XV, on 

March 15, 1744, and accepted by England March 

29. It was two months after before the news 

reached New England, although known a month 

earlier by the French of Canada. To secure the 

friendship and active aid of the Six Nations, the 

Governor of New York called a council of the 

chiefs of the confederacy, who met at Albany, June 

18, 1744, and ‘‘renewed, strengthened and bright- 

ened the covenant chain that had so long tied 

them and the subjects of his Majesty, the great 

king, their father, in mutual ties of friendship.” 
Although inclining to peace, they promised in 

the strongest terms to stand by their friends if at- 

tacked. During this war, as in the other preced- 

ing it, the French and their allies were the most 

actively aggressive, sending out, almost daily, small 

parties of their Indians to annoy and distress the 

frontier settlements, and bring back such plunder 

and captives as they could find. The points of 

attack-in this province were settlements along the 

Mohawk and Hudson, particularly Saratoga, Sche- 

nectady and Albany and the outlying places. 

No family was safe unless protected by block- 
house or palisade; no man was exempt from mili- 

tary duty save by age or infirmity. In Schenectady 

and Albany each able-bodied man kept watch and 

ward every third or fourth night. French and 

English reports also give sad accounts of shocking 

barbarities practiced on both sides by skulking 

parties of savages and white men. French reports 

clearly show the cruelties practiced by these two 

Christian nations, who rewarded their savage allies 

in proportion to the number of scalps returned. 

The French and their savages made war upon 

the almost undefended frontier settlers, who were 

taken by surprise and practically unprepared. 

The distress occasioned by this war is clearly set 

forth by the following petition of the inhabitants of 

Albany for relief, made to the Provincial Assembly, 

July 27, 1747. 
The sufferings of Schenectady were even greater, 

because more exposed, more impoverished and less 

secure : 
«ex %* * That the inhabitants of the corporation 

of the city of Albany are in great misery and distress 

by reason of the present war with France, and with 

the Indians in their alliance. 

‘‘That the inhabitants of the said city, ever since 

the commencement of the war, by their frequent 

watching, have been very much taken off from 

themselves and families: That every man of our 

corporation has been obliged to attend in person, or 

pay a hired man in their stead, upon watch and 

ward every third or fourth night during the whole 

time, excepting a small interval of time in the 

spring the duty was demanded only every fourth 

night ; but now, and for some time past, for the 

safety of this frontier and the poor inhabitants, we 

are obliged again to come upon a fourth night: 

That our corporation, by reason of the present war, 

are indebted * * * * for the supplying of fire, 

wood and candles for the night watches, and for 

powder and ball for the poorest of the inhabitants, 

* * * * besides what the inhabitants have done 

by a voluntary taxing themselves for providing and 

setting up new stockades, where the old ones were 

gone to decay.” 

While the people of Schenectady were striving 

to protect their borders from the attack of the 

enemy they were called upon to send men to 

Oswego. 

The following answer of Col. Jacob Glen disclosed 

asad state of morals at that important fortress : 

Cot, ScHuyLerR: It is impossible to procure 
men for going to Oswego, especially when John 
Vischer remains there. John Baptist [Van Eps, 
the interpreter] says, if a hundred pounds was 
offered him over and above his wages, [he] would 
not remain a year under his command. 

Jacos GLEN. 
SCHENECTADY, Sept. y® 8, 1747. 
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Glen, in a previous letter, says the officers at 

Oswego are drunkards. 

During the year 1747 Capt. Tiebout's company 

of foot was stationed at Schenectady. 

THE BEUKENDAAL MASSACRE. 

As the war drew to a close, in 1748, Schenectady 

met with the severest loss it had suffered at any 

one time since the year 1690. This is generally 

called the Poopendal massacre. It was, however, in 

no sense a massacre like that of 16g0, except per- 

haps in the killing of the first victims, but a stand 

up and hand to hand fight in Indian fashion, in 

which the whites were the attacking party and, on 

that account, suffered more severely than the 

savages. About twenty of the former were killed 

and some thirteen or more made prisoners ; of the 

losses of the latter we have no sufficient accounts. 

Beyond tradition the accounts of this skirmish 

are meager and uncircumstantial. 

A brief letter toCol. William Johnson, written by 
Albert Van Slyck, July 21, 1748, three days after 

the affair, is the only semi-official narrative we have 

by one who was in the fight. 

‘‘From the details preserved in this letter, it 

appears that a party of men from Schenectady, the 

leader of whom was Daniel Toll, had been dis- 

patched to some place in the vicinity to bring in 

a number of horses, which was surprised by a party 

of the enemy, whose presence in the neighborhood 

was neither known nor suspected. 

‘«The firing being heard by Adrian Van Slyck, 

a brother of the writer of the account, who seems 

to have resided at a distance from the town, he 

sent a negro man to the latter place to give the 

alarm and obtain reinforcements. Four parties 

of armed men successively repaired to the scene 

of action, the first of which was composed of the 

New England lieutenant, with some of his men, 

and five or six young lads, accompanied by Daniel 

Van Slyck, another brother. The second party 
was led by Ackes Van Slyck, and some men, how 

many of either party is not stated. 

‘¢ Adrian Van Slyck followed next, at the head 

of a party of New York levies; but on reaching the 

scene of action, where Ackes, with inferior numbers, 

was holding the enemy at bay, the levies all fled in 

the most cowardly manner. 

“«The fourth party was composed of Albert Van 

Slyck (the writer of the letter), Jacob Glen ‘and sev- 

eral others,’ on the approach of whom the enemy | 

drew off, leaving Adrian among the dead.” 
The letter adds: ‘‘It grieves me, I not being com- 

mander, that when we went Garret Van Antwerp 

would suffer no more to accompany the party.” 

The second account, written by Giles F. Yates, 

Esq., and published in the Schenectady Democrat 

and Reflector, April 22, 1836, was gathered from 

tradition then floating about among the aged peo- 

ple of that day : 

‘In the beginning of July, 1748, Daniel Toll 

and his servant Ryckert went in search of some 

stray horses at Beukendal. * * * They soon 

heard, as they supposed, the trampling of horses ; 

but this sound proved to be that of quoits with 

which some Indians were playing. Mr. Toll dis- 

covered his danger too late, and fell, pierced by 

bullets. Ryckert escaped, reached Schenectady 

and told the news of the death of his master and 

the presence of the enemy. 

“Tn less than an hour about sixty volunteers 

were on their march to Beukendal. ‘The greater 

part of these were young men, and such was their 

zeal that they would not wait until the proper au- 

thorities had called out the militias * * * 

‘Without discipline or experience, and even 

without a leader, they hastened to the Indian 

camp. 
‘©Those in advance of the main body, before 

they reached the enemy, were attracted by a singu- 

lar sight. They saw a man resembling Mr. Toll 

sitting near a fence in an adjoining field and a 

crow flying up and down before him, 

“©On coming nearer, they discovered it to be the 

corpse of Mr. Toll, with a crow attached to it by a 

string. 

‘«This proved to be a stratagem of the Indians 

to decoy their adversaries. The Schenectadians 

fell, alas! too easily into the snare laid for them, 

and were in a few moments surrounded by the In- 

dians who had been lying in ambush. Thus 

taken by surprise, they lost many of their number, 

and some were taken prisoners before they could 

make good their retreat. 

‘“They, however, succeeded in reaching the 

house of Mr. De Graaf, in the neighborhood, which 

had been for some time deserted. (This house is 

still standing.) But, while retreating, they con- 

tinued to fire upon their enemy. On reaching 

Mr. De Graafs house, they entered, bolted the 

doors and ascended to the second floor. Here 

they tore off all the boards near the eaves, and 

through the opening thus made fired with success 

at the savages, and succeeded in keeping them at 

bay. In the meantime Dirck Van Vorst, who had 

been left in the charge of two young Indians, ef- 

fected his escape. 
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““The two youngsters were anxious to see the 

_ fight and secured their prisoner by tying him to a 

tree, and left him alone. He succeeded in getting 

his knife from his pocket and cutting the cord with 

which he was bound. On the approach of the 

Schenectady militia under Col. Jacob Glen, the 

partyin Mr. De Graafs house were relieved from 

their perilous situation, and the enemy took up 

their line of march for Canada. 

‘*On this occasion there were thirty-two citizens 
killed (?); of these we are able to give the names 

of Jacob Glen (cousin of Col. Glen), Peter Vroo- 

man, John Darling, Adam Conde, ———— Van 

Antwerpen, Cornelius Viele, Nicholas De Graaf 

and Adrian Van Slyck ; wounded, Ryer Wemp, 

Robinson and Wilson ; prisoners, 

Abraham De Graaf and his son William, John 

Phelps, Harmen Veeder and Lewis Groot. 

‘©The bodies of De Graaf and Glen were found 

lying in close contact with their savage antagonists, 

with whom they had wrestled in deadly strife. 

“The corpses were brought to Schenectady the 

evening of the massacre and deposited in the large 

barn of Abraham Mabee, being the identical one 

now standing on the premises of Mrs. Benjamin, 

in Church street. The relatives of the deceased 

repaired thither to claim their departed kindred 

and remove them for interment.” 
The news of this battle reached Albany in the 

evening of the same day, and by midnight Lieut. 

Chew, with one hundred English and two hundred 

_ friendly Indians, were on the march for the scene 

of action, but to no other purpose than as showing 

their willingness to meet an emergency of this 

kind. yo 
From the accounts it is certain that the presence 

of the Indians was not suspected until the first 

shot; that Capt. Daniel Toll was the first victim; 

that the alarm was given by his negro Ryckert; 

that a company of Connecticut levies, under Lieut. 

John Darling, accompanied and followed by squads 

of the inhabitants, marched to the scene, and that, 

after a hot engagement, the Indians retreated, 

leaving twenty of the whites dead and_ taking 

away thirteen or fourteen prisoners, besides the 
wounded. 

Considering the number of whites engaged, their 

loss was very severe, amounting probably to one- 

third of their force. 

The following is the fullest list of killed and 

missing that can now be given: 

Kittep—John A. Bradt, Johannes Marinus, Pe- 

ter Vrooman, Daniel Van Antwerpen, Cornelis 

Viele, Jr., Nicolaas De Graaf, Adrian Van Slyck, 

Jacob Glen, Jr., Adam Conde, J. P. Van Ant- 

werpen, Frans Vander Bogart, Capt. Daniel Toll, 

Lieut. John Darling and 7 of his soldiers; in all, 

20 men. 

Wounpep—Ryer Wemp, —— Robinson, Dirk 

Van Vorst and Wilson. 

Mussinc—Prisoners, John Phelps, Lewis Groot, 

Johannes Seyer Vrooman, Frank Connor, Harman 

Veeder, Isaac Truax, Albert John Vedder and 6 

soldiers; in all, 13 men. 

After the close of hostilities, Governor Clinton 

sent Lieut. Stoddert to Montreal to arrange for an 

exchange of prisoners. With Capt. Anthony Van 

Schaick he went into the Indian country to recover 

the captives, but with indifferent success. Among 

those who returned with Lieut. Stoddert were Capt. 

Anthony Van Schaick, John Vrooman, Peter Vas- 

borough [Vosburgh], Albert Vedder and Francis 

Conner. Efforts were made to induce others to 

return, but without success; of these were Rachel 

Quackenbos, Simon Fort and Philip Phillipsen. 

Rachel Quackenbos abjured the English religion, 

and Lieut. Stoddert could not persuade her to re- 

turn. Fort and Phillipsen also desired to remain 

with the Iroquois; the former belonged by adoption 

to a sister of a chief named Agonareche. She 

refused to give him up at any price. Capt. Van 

Schaick offered six hundred livres for Fort, with- 

out succeeding in obtaining him. On the con- 

trary, so determined was his squaw owner to retain 

him, that she said she would obey the French com- 

mandant and deliver him up, but that she and her 

husband would follow him, and he should not 

reach home alive. Lieut. Stoddert left Canada on 

the 28th of June, 1750, with 24 prisoners. 

FORTIFICATIONS AND GARRISONS. 

All considerable settlements on the upper Hud- 

son and Mohawk rivers were from the first pro- 

tected by wooden walls. Though never attacked 

nor even seriously threatened by the Iroquois or 

Mohicans, there were but few short periods down 

to the close of the French war (1763) when they 

were not subject to frequent alarms from the French 

or their Indian allies from Canada. 

The method of fortification was by stockades, 

which the abundance of timber at their very doors 

made a cheap and ready protection. Guns were 

only used for defense, attacks being always made 

by the musket. The stockade consisted of a se- 

ries of posts or logs, from 15 to 18 feet long and 

12 inches or more thick, sharpened at one end and 

hewed flat on opposite sides. 
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Pine was usually chosen, because most abundant 

and easily worked. 

The line of stockade being marked out, a trench 

three feet deep was dug; the posts were set therein, 

the flattened sides together, and the earth shoveled 

back and rammed against them. To strengthen the 

top, two adjoining posts were bored and fastened 

together with oaken trenails. At the angles, gates 

and other important points, block-houses for the shel- 

ter of the garrison and guards were built, and within 

> all La 

Tata Bal TU Eee aN 

the stockade all around was a free space, called the 

- Roudweg, of sufficient width for the patrol to 
march. 

In addition to this outer circle of fortification, 

in Albany and Schenectady there was a fort in one 

of the angles of the latter place surrounded by a 

double row of high palisades, furnished with bar- 

racks for the garrison, platforms, guns, lookouts, 

etc. And in later times, when Schenectady be- 

came a depot for men and materials, there were 

barracks outside the walls. In 1765 the troops 

were posted along the east side of Ferry street, 

from Union to the Episcopal church ; in 1762, on 

the south side of Union street, from Ferry to Mrs. 

Colon Clute’s house ; in the Revolutionary war, 

on the south side of Union street, from Lafayette 

eastwardly to Quackenbush street. 

For protection and safety Schenectady was 

admirably placed, being surrounded with water 

and marsh on three sides and open only to the 

southeast, from which side the inhabitants had 

little to fear. 

The first settlers, though their land lay else- 

where, built their habitations mainly together for 

their better protection. Doubtless, as soon after 

the settlement in 1662 as it could conveniently be 

done, the village was stockaded. Starting at State 

street, the line ran along the east side of Ferry to 

about the gate of the Episcopal church ; then ina 

straight line to the north side of Front, a little be- 

yond Washington street; then southerly and parallel 

to the same to State; and lastly, along the same 

twenty-eight feet south thereof to Ferry street or Mill 

lane. This was the original plot inclosed and con- 

tained most of the houses of the first settlers. 

The south and west lines remained substantially 

the same down to the time of their extinction soon 

after the Revolutionary war. The front and Wash- 

ington street lines were later moved north and 

west to the river bank, and the Ferry street line 

some time after 1765 was carried southeasterly to 

where is now the New York Central railroad depot, 

and thence northerly through the Dutch church 

burying ground to the river bank, 
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Gatrs.—In 1690 it was said in the French ac- 

count of the village that there were but two gates, 

one at the north end of Church street, called the 

‘‘north gate,” the other at State. This was, doubt- 

less, at the junction of State and Church streets, and 

opened out to the roads through Mill lane and 

Water street, leading to the bouwlands and to the 

Mohawk country. In later times there were others 

at Front and Union streets. The foundations of 

the gates and guardhouses where Ferry crosses 

State and Union streets were exposed in laying the 

water pipes in 1871. 
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““OLD FORT,” 

By Rev. John Miller. 

EXPLANATION.—I, 1, Block Houses. 
5, Centry box. 6, Spy loft. 7, 7,7, Sties for hogs. 
and others like them houses. 10, A great barn. 

Forts.—Schenectady was so important a post 

for the protection of the Province against the incur- 

sions of the Canadians that for the first hundred 

years of its existence it was deemed necessary to 

strengthen it by a fortand garrison, 

It is believed, from references in the records, that 

the first block-house was in the north angle of 

the stockade at or near the junction of Front 
and Washington streets. This was destroyed in 

1690 by the French, at. which time it was garri- 

soned by a small detachment under Lieut. Enos 

Talmage, from Capt. Jonathan Bull’s company, 

then stationed at Albany. These troops were 

Connecticut men. The magazine stood on or near 

the lot of Mrs. Willard, then belonging to Capt. 
Sander Glen. 

A second was built in 16yo between Washing- 

ton street and the river, opposite the west end of 

2, 2, Rivers running beside ye fort. 3, 3, Indians’ wigwams. 
8, The Block House designed for a church. 

II, 11, The treble stockadoes. 

(Original in British Museum.) 

4, Flag staff. 
9, 9, Those 

12, 12, The Fort Gates. 

State street, covering the lot of A7/eme Zsaack (that 

is, Isaac Swits), who with his son Cornelis was 

carried away by the French to Canada. On his 

return from captivity next year he found his home- 

stead occupied by soldiers, his orchard cut down, 

and his home utterly ruined. He repeatedly peti- 

tioned for remuneration for his losses, but it was 

not until 1708 that his son received a patent for 

1,000 acres of land in Niskayuna as a recognition 

of his father’s claim. 

The second fort was a large and spacious in- 

closure surrounded by ‘‘a triple stockade, a new 

block-house at every angle and in each block-house 

two great guns.” It contained twenty-eight huts 

for inhabitants of the village, two wigwams for In- 

dians, a large barn and styes for hogs. 

At a court-martial held at Schenectady, August 

7, 1691, upon a soldier named George Castleton, 
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it was proved that he quarreled with a fellow sol- 

dier named Desvallous about some beer; the lat- 

ter struck the former with a stick, whereupon Cas- 

tleton, drawing his sword, thrust it into his side, 

causing almost instant death. The facts of the 

case were mainly proved by persons living within 

the fort. The culprit was adjudged guilty of man- 

slaughter, burnt in the hand and banished the 

Province. 
If Miller’s drawing of this fort be correct, it must 

have extended quite across the west end of the vil- 

lage from State to Front streets, and included much 

of the land between Washington street and the 

Binne kil. The block-house in the south angle 

covered Swits’ lot. 

The renewal of the stockadoes, which, being made 

of pine logs, lasted but five or six years, became 

very burdensome to the inhabitants of the village 

after its destruction in 1690. Having built a new 

fort in 1690, they were ordered to renew the pali- 

sades in 1695. On this occasion Reyer Schermer- 

horn refused to cut and draw his proportion of the 

logs; it may be because living at the mills he 

thought himself exempt from his burdensome ser- 

vice or that his quota was too large. Thereupon 

Justice Johannes Sanderse Glen fined him twelve 
shillings, and continuing contumacious, Governor 

Fletcher, on the gth of April, 1698, directed the 

sheriff of Albany County to bring him before the 

Council in New York to answer for his conduct. 

On the 30th he appeared before the Council, and 

“‘stood upon his vindication, whereupon he was 

committed to answer at the next Supreme Court, 

and Col. Courtland was desired to take bond with 

sureties for his appearance, and that he be of good 

behaviour in the mean time.” 

In the winter of 1695-6 the garrison at Sche- 

nectady consisted of a detachment under command 

of Lieutenant Bickford, from the companies of 

Captains James Weems and William Hyde, sta- 

tioned at Albany. 

‘On the roth Jan., about 12 of the clock at 
night deserted the whole guard except one, and 

others to the number of sixteen broak through the 

north west Block house next the water side.” 

{Binne kil. ] 
“They drew the guns of both powder and shott. 

The Lieutenant about two o'clock discovering their 

desertion, notified by express Col. Richard In- 

goldsby, at Albany, and with ten volunteers of the 

inhabitants and eleven soldiers, started in pursuit. 

The sergeant and seven red coats soon gave out 

and were left behind. At four in the afternoon 

the lieutenant and his 14 men came up with the 

16 deserters ; ordering them to lay down their 

arms they answered with a volley, and both sides 

continued to fire until five of the deserters were 

killed and two wounded when the remainder sur- 

rendered.” 

The following were the volunteers from Schenec- 

tady who accompanied Lieutenant Bickford in his 

hazardous enterprise: ‘‘ Harmen Van Shyck, en- 

signe of the trained bands of Schenechtide, and 

Gerryt Simons Veeder, Peter Simons Veeder, Al- 

bert Veeder, Gerryt Gysbert [Gysbertse Van 

Brakel], Jan Danielse Van Antwerpen, Dirck 

Groot, Jonas De Ray, John Wemp, Daniel Mutch- 

craft [Mascraft] and Thomas Smith.” ; 

At a court-martial held in Schenectady April 21, 

the survivors of the deserting party were accounted 

guilty and condemned to be shot. 

The commander of the garrison who succeeded 

Lieutenant Bickford, in the spring of 1696, was 

Lieutenant Daniel Hunt, from the garrison at 

Albany. 

After the second fort had been occupied about 

fifteen years, 1690 to 1705, the block-houses were 

abandoned, and “Queens new Fort” was built at 

the east angle of the stockade. This was the ‘‘ Old 

Fort,” about which all the traditions of the people 

cluster. 

It was at first simply a double or triple stockade, 

100 feet square, with bastions or block-houses at 

the angles. In 1735 it was rebuilt in a more sub- 

stantial manner of timbers on a stone foundation. 

The four curtains were ‘‘ about 76 feet each, and 

the four bastions or block-houses 24 feet square.” 

In 1754, at the beginning of the French war, it 

contained one 6 and one g pounder on carriages, 

but no ‘‘ port holes in the curtain to fire them.” 

On the 15th October following the inhabitants 
of Schenectady again petitioned the Governor to 

build a fort in the village, signed by Daniel Camp- 

bell, Arent Bratt, Abm. Glen and others. 

The open space on which this fort stood, at the 

junction of Ferry, Front and Green streets, was 

about 264 feet by more than 200 feet, extending 

from the Episcopal churchyard to Green street. 

The fort was built nearly in the center of this 

plat, the south wall extending across Ferry street, 

three feet south of the north corner of the parson- 

age house. 

The well of the fort was in the middle of the 

street, three feet south of the north corner of Mr. 

James Sander’s house. 

GARRISON AT SCHENECTADY.—While the province 

remained under the Dutch rule a small body of 

soldiers was stationed at Fort Orange. After the 
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English occupation in 1664 there was seldom less 

than one full company there, sometimes two, and 

Schenectady was garrisoned by a detachment there- 

from of 20 to 40 men, under command of a lieu- 

tenant. 
In times of alarm and war, as in the ten years’ 

war between England and France, 1688-1698, the 

regulars were supplemented by the militia of the 

town or from Connecticut. 

Hardly a year passed that the importance of 

having Schenectady better fortified and garrisoned 

was not recognized, either by the Governor and 

Council, the Legislative Assembly or the ruling 

power in the mother country. 

In 1671 Governor Lovelace directed Captain 

Thomas De Lavall, chief officer at Albany, and he 

on the 15th of July ordered all the inhabitants of 

Albany and Schenectady over 15 and under 60 

years to provide themselves with guns, side arms, 

two pounds of powder and four pounds of lead, 

each under a penalty of 100 guilders, all within 

fourteen days. The year following this order was 

renewed at a meeting of the chief officers of Al- 

bany and Schenectady, those of the latter place be- 
ing Ensign Jacob Sanderse Glen and Ensign Sweer 

Teunise Van Velsen. 

In 1687 Major Brockholes, being in command 

at Albany, reported to the Governor and Council 

assembled at Fort James, July 19, the condition of 

things at Albany and Schenectady, that ‘‘he is 

now come from Albany to Schanectade with in- 

structions ffrom the Government to bring up there 

with all convenient speed, a certain number of 

men & some provisions. ” 

Whereupon it was ‘‘ordered that sixty men be 

reysed in & out of y® city & county of New York, 

& fifty men out of Queens County.” 

Inanticipation of an immediate attack upon the 

frontiers, the Mayor, Common Council of Albany, 

military officers and justices of the peace of the 

county met in convention at Albany, on the 4th 

of September, 1689, as a committee of safety, and 

after deliberation resolved to send an express to 

Capt. Leisler, of New York, for one hundred or 

more men, ‘‘a recrute of six hundred weight of 

powder and foure hundred Ball, viz., 200 two 

pounders and 200 foure pounders with some match 

and one hundred hand Grenadoes.” 

The period from 1688 to 16y8 was the most 

trying and critical in the history of Schenectady. 

First there were alarms and apprehensicns of an 

attack by the French and their Indians ailies, the 

destruction of the village, the slaughter and the 

captivity of a large part of its inhabitants, and 

lastly, the departure of many of the remainder to 

Albany, New York and other places of safety. 

The town was in danger of being depopulated in 

spite of stringent ordinances against removal and 

the encouragement of the Mohawks to stay by the 

post, fortify and maintain a vigorous 

against their enemies. 

For ten years the town gained little or nothing 

in population and prosperity, and until the peace 

of Ryswick the chief aim of the government and 

inhabitants was to hold the village, keep in repair 

warfare 

its fortifications and maintain a sufficient garrison, 

In 1698 the government sent over one Col. 

Romer, a military engineer, to examine, report 

upon and build certain forts needed on the coast 

and the frontiers. 

Gov. Bellomont fully appreciated the import- 

ance of Schenectady and the necessity of its being 

properly fortified for the protection of the province 

on the side toward Canada. Hence he constantly 

importuned the Lords of Trade for men and means 

to complete and garrison the forts. 

From this time on, the letters of the Governors 

of the Province to the Lords of Trade, the reports 

of the military commanders at this post, the orders 

and warrants of the Provincial Council, the acts of 

the legislature from time to time and the petitions 

of the chief inhabitants all combine to show the 

culpable neglect of the mother country of the 

safety of this her most important Province. All 

accounts of the condition of the fortifications and 

garrison at Schenectady after the peace of 1698 

show that the stockades were neglected and suf- 

fered to rot down, rendering the town an open 

village, that the barracks became uninhabitable and 

that ‘‘it was by no foresight or energy of the Home 

government that Schenectady and its neighbors had 

been preserved from a second attack and destruc- 

tion.” 
In the year 1703 Gov. Cornbury laid the foun- 

dations for a stone fort at Albany, and by the 

‘advice of Her Majesty’s Council of this province 

repaired as well as possible the stockaded fort at 

Schenectady.” 

Up to 1704 the palisades on the west side of the 

village stood about roo feet back from Washington 

street, buton the 29th July, 1704, Governor Corn- 

bury issued an order removing them to the bank of 

the Binnehil. 

At about the beginning of the second ‘‘ French 

War’—1755—the Assembly passed an act for 

raising £3,000, to be expended in fortifying the 

village; but after the close of this contest, and the 

fall of the French power in Canada in 1763, the 
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defenses of the village fell into decay, and were not 

renewed at the outbreak of the Revolution; neither 

were they renewed after its close. The old fort 

was removed, and the land sold; the stockades rot- 

ted and fell to the ground, and Schenectady be- 

came an ‘‘open village.” 

In 1872 there were those who remembered see- 

ing the palisades standing along the Binne killand 

used as tying posts for the Catteaux. 

There is no map which shows the change made 

during the Revolution, when the palisade line was 

carried out as far as Given’s Hotel on the south, or 

State street side, and thence north to the old Dutch 

Church burying ground. 

MILITARY ORGANIZATIONS. 

From 1748 to the Revolution not much can be 
learned of the military organizations in Schenec- 
tady, with the exception of the gallant part per- 
formed by a company of eighty-nine men, from 
Schenectady, commanded by Capt. William Mc- 
Ginnis and Lieutenant Jonathan Storms, at the 
battle of Fort George, September 5, 1755, between 
the English and French. The English troops 
were under Sir William Johnson, and the French 
-under Baron Dieskau. In this battle, at that time 
said to have been one of the most desperate en- 
counters ever witnessed in the new world, both 
officers and many of the privates of the Schenec- 
tady company were killed. But so nobly did they 
fight that, in his official report, Sir William John- 
son said: ‘‘The Schenectady officers and men 
fought like lions.” 

When the first gun was fired and the first blood 
flowed at Lexington, on the rgth day of April, 
1775, the mass of the inhabitants of Schenectady 
arrayed themselves on the side of liberty. On the 
6th day of May, 1775, at a meeting of the free- 
holders and inhabitants of the township of Sche- 
nectady, the fo’lowing persons were selected to be 
a committee of correspondence, safety and protec- 
tion for the township: 

Rimies Mynderse, James Wilson, Hugh Mitchel, 
Henry Glen, Harmanus Wendell, Abraham Oo- 
thout, John Roseboom, Christopher Yates, Cor- 
nelius Cuyler and Jacobus Teller. Christopher 
Yates (father of the late Hon. Joseph Yates) was 
made chairman; Hugh Mitchel was made clerk. 

The committee held its meetings in the house 
of William White, located on the corner of Church 
and Front streets, for many years the residence of 
the late Stephen Yates. Extensive and multiform 
were the duties that devolved upon the members of 
this body. Not only were they to attend to raising 
troops and all the details of military matters, but 
acted as judges in cases of trial of all persons 
charged with treasonable sentiments. Many cases 
of this kind were tried before them, and those per- 
sons found to be unfriendly to the cause of the 
colonies, or who had in any way been proved as 
allies of England in speech or deed, were sum- 

marily punished by imprisonment in the jail at 
Albany. 

From the book of minutes kept by this commit- 
tee, now belonging to the library of Union Colleve, 
a book of 162 closely written pages, we learn how 
extensive were the duties and labors of this body 
of patriotic citizens. 

The committee met often, and from the minutes 
kept of the meetings we make but a few extracts 
relative to the military companies formed at Sche- 
nectady during the revolutionary period. At a 
meeting, held May 26, it was resolved ‘‘to raise 
three companies of minute men in this township 
for its safety, in manner following, viz.: 

“Two companies in the town and one company 
in the Westina; that such companies consist of 
one captain, two heutenants, four sergeants, three 
corporals, a drummer and fifty privates, to choose 
their own officers; and that when said companies 
are formed, the captains in each to give a list of 
his company to the committee, and that said com- 
panies spend a few hours every week in learning 
the military exercise.” 

But at a meeting of the committee on the fol- 
lowing day the inhabitants requested the commit- 
tee to appoint officers for these companies, which 
the committee consented to do, and selected the 
following officers: 

First Company—Captain, Jellis J. Fonda; st 
Lieutenant, Andrew Van Patten; 2d Lieutenant, 
Myndert A. Wemple. 

Second Company—Captain, Cornelius Van Dorn; 
1st Lieutenant, John Mynderse; 2d Lieutenant, 
Garrett Veeder. 

Third Company—Captain, John Van Patten; 1st 
Lieutenant, Cornelius Van Slyck; 2d Lieutenant, 
Myndert M. Wemple. 

From the minutes of May 29, 1775: 
‘In consequence of a request of the Committee 

of Albany to raise one company of men for the 
continental service to go to Ticantarog (Ticon- 
deroga), consisting of one captain, one lieutenant, 
one ensign, three sergeants, three corporals, one 
drummer, one fifer and fifty privates, 

**Resolved, that Cornelius Van Dyck is ap- 
pointed Captain, Benjamin Hilton and Cornelius 
Van Slyck, Ensigns, and that the utmost despatch 
be made in raising said company. Their pay to 
be as follows, viz.: Captain, per month, £6; 
Lieutenant, per month, £4; Ensign, per month, 
£3; Sergeants, per month, £2 8s.; Corporals, per 
month, £2 4s.; Drummer, per month, £2 4s.; 
Fifers, £2 4s.; Privates, £2—all lawful money of 
New England.” 

That this company was soon after raised is evi- 
dent from the minutes of the committee of May 31, 
two days following, wherein the following appears: 

‘‘Captain Van Dyck made application to this 
board for provisions for his men. 

‘*Resolved, that Captain Van Dyck’s men be 
boarded for the present at the houses of John 
Wilson and Robert Moston (Moycton), at the rate 

of one shilling, New York currency, per day, per 
” . man. 
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On the 13th of July, 1775, orders were sent 
from General Schuyler to Captain Van Dyck to 
march with his company immediately to Lake 
George. But at this time both Captain Van Dyck 
and his First Lieutenant were absent recruiting. 
The committee therefore advised that the company 
proceed to Lake George on the following day, un- 
der the command of Lieutenant Lansing. But 
from the minutes of the committee we find the 
members of the company refused to march with- 
out their captain. The following resolution was 
then passed by the board: 

‘* Resolved, that an express be sent to Captain 
Van Dyck, requesting his immediate return to 
march with his company, and that a letter be 
sent to General Schuyler, acquainting him of the 
reason for the company’s delay.” 

On the 2oth of August, 1775, a meeting of the 
committee was held for the purpose of taking into 
consideration the forming of the militia of the 
township into companies, according to the plans 
of the Continental and Provincial Congress. 

It appears at this meeting that five companies of 
minute men and militia were formed, from the 
fact that a sub-committee was appointed at a meet- 
ing, held September 6 following, to attend the 
general committee at Albany on the seventh in- 
stant, to lay a list before it of the companies 
formed, and ask for their commissions. The cap- 
tains of these several companies were the follow- 
ing: Jellis J. Fonda, John Mynderse, John Van 
Patten, Abraham Wemple and Thomas Wasson. 

From the minutes of September 27, 1775: 
‘* Having received a letter from the Provincial 

Congress, dated gth of August, requesting that all 
the districts who could raise five companies of 
militia should recommend such persons as they 
thought proper to be field officers, 

‘* Resolved, that this board recommend the fol- 
lowing persons, viz.: Abraham Wemple to be 
Colonel; Jacob Schermerhorn, Lieutenant-Col- 
onel; Abraham Swits, 1st Major; Nicholas Veeder, 
2d Major; Aaron Van Patten, Adjutant; John 
Peek, Quartermaster. 

On the 17th of November following the commis- 
sions of these officers were received, under in- 
structions to the board to cause such Officers to 
sign certain articles on the receipt of their com- 
missions. All this was subsequently consum- 
mated, and the above-named officers were enrolled 
in the service. 

January 13, 1776, Christopher Yates was ap- 
pointed Lieutenant-Colonel, Mindert Wemple 2d 
Major and John Post Quartermaster, in place of 
Jacob Schermerhorn, Nicholas Veeder and John 
Peek, all three of whom had either refused to 
serve or resigned. 

A company of 60 men was sent from Schenec- 
tady, January 13, 1776, to Tryon County, to quell 
a disturbance that had broken out there among the 
inhabitants, which, in the language of the letter 
received from the General Committee, ‘‘ threatened 

destruction to the friends of liberty in that section. ’ 
Orders were sent to Capt. John Van Patten, Jan- 

‘uary 14,1776, to place guards at William De 

Graat’s, Tunis Swart’s and Lewis Peek’s, to prevent 
any unfriendly persons or letters to pass this point. 

Ata meeting of the committee, January 26, 1776, 
it was resolved to prepare a list of all the male in- 
habitants not already formed into military compa- 
nies, so as to better enable the board to organize 
the militia of the township. Three lists were pre- 
pared, representing three companies, and all per- 
sons whose names appeared upon them were re- 
quired to appear in Schenectady, February 10, to 
choose their respective officers. At this time the 
following officers were selected: 

First Company—Captain, Thomas Bouver Bank- 
ers; First Lieutenant, John B. Vrooman; Second 
Lieutenant, Aaron Vedder; Ensign, Benjamin 
Young. 

Second Company—Captain, Henry Glen; First 
Lieutenant, John Batterseles; Second Lieutenant, 
Nicholas Barhite; Ensign, Cornelius V. Sanford. 

Third Companv—Captain, Ahasueras Marseles; 
First Lieutenant, Isaac Van Slyck; Second Lieu- 
tenant, William Stephens; Ensign, Abraham Van 
Eps. 

April 10, 1776, Garrett S. Veeder was appointed 
Captain of all the troops raised in the district. 

At this date ends all records that can be found 
of the doings of the Committee of Safety, and from 
lack of reliable data it is impossible to follow in 
any connected manner the history of the military 
organizations formed in Schenectady during the 
revolution. We know from reminiscences and 
tradition that the soldiers furnished by the town- 
ship of Schenectady during the long years of des- 
perate and bloody strife were conspicuous for their 
bravery and ardent patriotism. Among the names 
already mentioned of the revolutionary veterans, 
those who became the most conspicuous at this 
period were: Cornelius Van Dyck, Christopher 
Yates, Jellis J. Fonda, John Graham and John 
Thornton. 

Mr. Van Dyck was Lieutenant-Colonel and John 
Graham Major of the First New York Continental 
Regiment, commanded by Colonel Gosen Van 
Schaick, of Albany. This regiment was so well 
drilled and disciplined that it was said to have had 
no superior in the American Army. At the bat- 
tles of Saratoga and Monmouth this regiment was 
conspicuous for the bravery and daring of its 
officers and men; and on the surrender of Bur- 
goyne, one of its captains, as a mark of honor, was 
deputed by General Gates to carry a captured flag 
and the news of the surrender to the anxious citi- 
zens of Albany. At the storming of Stony Point, 
July 16, 1779, General Wayne placed this regi- 
ment in the front, and on the storming of the two 
redoubts at Yorktown, late in the afternoon of the 
14th of October, 1781, where, to excite a spirit of 
emulation, this regiment was divided, one-half 
being committed to the French under Baron de 
Viomesnil, and the other to the Americans under 
the Marquis Lafayette, these troops assaulted 
the works with such rapidity and daring that the 
redoubts were carried with inconsiderable loss. 

Major John Thornton, many descendants of 
whom still live in Schenectady, is spoken of as a 
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daring hero and one who experienced much severe 
military service. 

Major Jellis J. Fonda, whose name has already 
been frequently mentioned, was an officer much | 
esteemed by General Schuyler, and often selected 
by him where a heroic and intrepid léader was re- 
quired. He was one of the earliest, most stirring 
and unhesitating patriots of Schenectady. On the 
first report of the beginning of the strife at Lexing- 
ton, he immediately raised and equipped a com- 
pany of more than 100 Schenectady minute men. 
In 1777, when Sir John Johnson with his Scotch 
retainers had fortified themselves in ‘Johnson 
Hall,” General Schuyler with a large body of 
militia went there to reduce them. From out of 
his large force General Schuyler selected Captain 
Fonda to command a company of 200 men for 
the assault, of which the Schenectady men formed | 
one-half. Under the assault of this daring officer, 
Johnson lowered his flag and surrendered without 
firing a gun. Fonda was ever afterward regarded 
as one of the most fearless of soldiers. 

| 

WAR OF I812. 

After the Revolution to the war of 1812 not 
much can be learned concerning military organiza- 
tions in Schenectady. From the best information 
which can be obtained, not more than one. inde- 
pendent company existed during this period. 

During the war of 1812, Jonas Holland, who 
was a major under Gen. Scott, raised a company 
in Schenectady, which participated in this war. 
Nicholas Van Slyck, a major in the Revolutionary 
War, xrandfather of Christopher Van Slyck, of 
Schenectady, was a conspicuous military man at 
ais Urme 

, tt 
4 though but one regular company was raised 

in Schenectady for the War of 1812, many soldiers 
were recruited in this vicinity, who joined regi- 
ments which were credited to other localities, 

\bout 1815 a company of Heavy Artillery was 
«rsanized in Schenectady. John Benson was its | 
het captun, Among its other officers appear the 
nes of Thomas Hannah and David Reese. | 

_ Kile company was formed soon after the | 
Heasv Artillery, Henry Miller, Joshua Harmon 
eed Nicholas Barhydt were successively captains. 
Atonc ume Andrew J. Barhydt, one of the oldest 

nk members, was a Heutenant in this company. 
seat T8z0 a company called the Grays was 

yg Phe name of the company was derived 
weil ice! Color of their uniforms. Simon Glenn, 
rm . in Slyck and Abraham Clems were cap- 

ms cumpany at citferent periods, 

y 

vng the passing through the citv of the 
nog Gov, Clinton and party. ) 

é 9 Company was organized about 1825. 
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the State Militia law, all the military organizations 
in the counties of Schenectady, Montgomery, 
Fulton and Hamilton were formed into a brigade 
called the Fourteenth. This brigade was composed 
of three regiments, numbered 26th, 57th and 
188th. The 26th Regiment included the military 
companies in Schenectady. The officers of the 
various companies in the brigade elected the fol- 
lowing staff: Brigadier-General, Isaac I. Yates; 

Judge Advocate, Platt Potter; Aids, J. Andrew 
Barhydt, Van Schaick Vedder, John Allen and 
Martin C. Myers. 

In 184- the military companies in the State 
militia in this district were reorganized. All the 
companies were formed into a brigade called the 
Seventeenth. This brigade was composed of three 
regiments; the number of the regiment which the 

Schenectady companies formed was the Twenty- 
sixth. The Governor appointed the following 
officers of this regiment: Colonel, Stephen Yates ; 
Aids, J. Andrew Barhydt, James Ward, Carl 
Thompson, Nicholas Van Debogert and Dr. 
James S. Van Ingen. Col. Yates resigned in 
1857, when J. Andiew Barhydt was appointed 
colonel. William H. Young was at one time 
major of this regiment. 

About 184— a company called the Independent 
Artillery was formed in Schenectady, This became 
one of the finest companies ever organized in this 
vicinity. The uniform was very expensive and 
elegant, being a dark blue in color with no 
facings, surrounded by heavy white cord, entwined 
with gold braid. Tall bearskin caps added to the 
imposing appearance of the members. In this 
company were numbered many of our representa- 
tive citizens at that time. John Robinson and 
Benjamin F. Paths were captains at different 
periods. John B. Clute and James Hannah were 
officers in this company, and took a lively interest 
in its welfare. The hall in Madison Vedder's 
building on Union street was used as an armory 
and drilling room. In 184— this company went 
to the State Camp at Utica, and for soldierly bear- 
ing, discipline and appearance was admitted to 
be the finest company among the large number 
there represented from different parts of the State. 

In 1855 a company called the Continentals was 
organized. John B. Clute was its first captain. 
He was succeeded by Stephen Truax. Isaac 
Reagles was the last captain of this company, which 
disbande | some time in 1861. 

CIVIL WAR. 

We have now reached the exciting period of the 
beginning of the Civil War, at which time interest 
in home military companies was lost sight of, and 
they either disbanded or were allowed to die 
by neglect. The threatened realities of war made 
‘‘playing soldier” in time of peace too tame 
for the patriotic citizens of Schenectady, and the 
first signal of the beginning of hostilities aroused 
many to the purpose of raising companies to save 
this government from threatened destruction. 

And to-day, looking back over the stormy events 
of 1861-5, which formed the most important 
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period in the history of this country, we realize 
why the citizens of Schenectady have reason to feel 
proud of the record made by her sons in the war of 
the rebellion. 

The State of New York was especially promi- 
nent in the number of troops it sent to the war, and 
no county according to population furnished more 
men to help save the nation’s life during 
those years of bloody strife than Schenectady, 
The services they performed, the _ privations, 
suffering and the hardships endured in that great 
struggle, where so many of Schenectady’s bravest 
and best gave up their lives that this government 
might live, cannot be properly treated in a work 
like this. It could only be imperfectly done in a 
work especially devoted to such a subject. 

- In the following account of the military organi- 
zations which went from Schenectady it has been 
the object to give in a necessarily condensed form 
the briefest account of each company, and of all 
the men from Schenectady who took a prominent 
part in the war. Much of the information here 
gathered was obtained from the meager accounts 
contained in the reports of the Adjutant-General, 
and from personal recollections of many of our 
living veterans of the war. 

The first company organized in Schenectady 
for the late civil war was the Seward Volunteer 
Zouaves, afterward known as Company A, 
Eighteenth Regiment New York Volunteers. This 
company was organized by William Seward Grid- 
ley, who was elected its captain, and who com- 
manded it at the first battle of Bull’s Run. 

On the 12th of April, 1861, Fort Sumter was 
bombarded, and evacuated by Major Anderson on 
the 15th. On this same day President Lincoln 
called for 75,000 men to suppress the insurrection. 
The next day the New York Legislature passed a 
bill, which was signed by Governor Morgan, ap- 
propriating three million dollars for the purpose of 
raising and equipping 30,000 volunteers. 

On the 18th day of April, or six days after the 
_ first shot was fired at Fort Sumter, the following 
notice was published in the Schenectady Daily 
Times: 

** Attention Volunteers/—A\l young men who 
are in favor of forming a light infantry company 
and offering their services to garrison this State, or 
to the President of the United States, to aid and 
assist in defending the Constitution and Union of 
the United States against foreign or domestic 
foes, are requested to meet at Cleary’s saloon, op- 
posite the railroad depot, on Friday evening, at 74 
o'clock, the rgth inst. This means fight, and all 
who sign must go. Wx. SewarD GRIDLEY.” 

At the meeting held in response to this notice 
forty-seven men signed an application for a company 
organization, and asked Governor Morgan to com- 
mission Wm. Seward Gridley, Captain; Daniel 
Daley, First Lieutenant, and Edward W. Groat, 
Ensign of said company. Gridley took the appli- 
cation to Albany, and received an order from the 
Adjutant-General to report at Albany with his com- 
pany for duty on the 22d day of April, 1861. In 
the same order Lieutenant Simon G. Smith, of the 

Twenty-sixth Regiment, New York Militia, was 
ordered to inspect and muster said company and 
to preside over an election of the officers. The 
muster and election took place on the 2oth of 
April, when the same officers were clected as 
Governor Morgan was asked to commission. 

In two days this company was organized and 
officered, and three days from the time of the call 
was ordered to report for duty at Albany. 

May 14, 1861, the Eighteenth Regiment, New 
York Volunteers, was organized, and this company 
(then called the Seward Volunteer Zouaves) was 
assigned to that regiment as Company ‘‘A.” At 
this time it numbered seventy-four men and three 
officers. About sixty of the men were from 
Schenectady. 

May 17, 1861, the Eighteenth Regiment was 
mustered into the service of the United States, and 
on the 18th of June following started for Wash- 
ington, being one of the regiments in the first fight 
of Bull’s Run. 

Captain Gridley was promoted to the rank of 
Major, October 14, 1862, and received at the close 
of the war the honorary title of Brevet Colonel, 
New York Volunteers, Daniel Daily was pro- 
moted to the captaincy of this regiment, November 
10, 1862, and was honorably discharged February 
26, 1863. Edward W. Groat was promoted from 
Ensign to Second Lieutenant, July 4, 1861, but 
resigned December 18, 1861. March 5, 1863, he 
became Major of the 134th Regiment. Joseph 
Strunk, who entered Gridley’s company as Ser- 
geant, was mustered out, May 28, 1863, as Second 
Lieutenant. He was commissioned, December 
14, 1863, as Captain in the Second Regiment, Vet- 
eran Cavalry, and at the close of the war made 
Brevet Major, New York Volunteers. 

The second company organized in Schenectady 
was formed by Stephen Truax. The officers, who 
received their commissions May 2, 1861, were: 
Captain, Stephen Truax; First Lieutenant, William 
Horsfall; Ensign, John Vedder. This company 
was enrolled in the Eighteenth Regiment as Com- 
pany *‘E,” May 17, 1861 (same time as Captain 
Gridley’s company), for a term of two years. 
Captain Truax resigned December 27 of this 
year, and was succeeded in command by William 
Horsfall, who was killed while gallantly leading 
his company at Crampton Gap, Maryland, Sep- 
tember 14, 1861. John Vedder succeeded him as 
Captain, and remained in command until the 
company was mustered out of service, May 28, 
1863. Alfred Truax, who entered this company as 
Sergeant, was promoted to the rank of First 
Lieutenant, December 15, 1862. Andrew C. 
Barup became Second Lieutenant. 

E. Nott Schermerhorn, who enlisted in this 
company as [First Sergeant, rose in succession to 
Second Lieutenancy, First Lieutenancy, and be- 
came one of the Adjutants of the Regiment, No- 
vember 10, 1862, holding the latter rank when the 
regiment was mustered out, May 28, 1863. 

The Eighteenth Regiment was one of the first 
organized during the war, participating in the first 
battle of Bull’s Run, Crampton Gap, West Point, 





White Oak Swamp, Malvern Hill, Antietam, Fred- 
ericksburg, Salem Church and Savage Station. 
For a short time the late Dr. James L. Van Ingen 
was one of the Surgeons of this regiment. When 
the time for which this regiment was mustered 
into service expired, the present Captain of the 
Thirty-seventh Company, National Guard, State 
of New York, George W. Marlette, was the only 
private in the regiment who received from Gov- 
ernor Morgan, for gallant and meritorious service, 
the honorary rank of Brevet Lieutenant. 

William A. Jackson, a son of the late Professor 
Jackson, of Union College, was Colonel of the 
Eighteenth Regiment from the time of its organi- 
zation till his death from disease at Washington, 
November ro, 1861. William H. Young, an- 
other gallant soldier from Schenectady, was fora 
short time Lieutenant-Colonel of this regiment. 

The third company formed in Schenectady was 
organized by Barent M. Van Voast, June 1, 1861. 
The officers, who received their commissions July 
4, 1861, were: Captain, Barent M. Van Voast; 
First Lieutenant, Manse V. V. Smith; Ensign, Ed- 
ward Van Voast. This company contained seventy- 
four privates and three officers. It was enrolled in 
the 30th Regiment as Company ‘‘C,” for a term 
of two years from June 1, 1861. 

Captain Van Voast was dismissed March 7, 1862, 
and succeeded by Manse V. V. Smith, who re- 
signed November 26 of the same year. Edward 
Van Voast became First Lieutenant May 13, 1862, 
retaining this rank when the company was mustered 
out, June 18, 1863. He afterward became Major 
in the 2d Regiment of Veteran Cavalry, and at the 
close of service of this regiment was made a Brevet 
Lieutenant-Colonel, N. Y. V. 

Charles Roth, who entered Company C as First 
Sergeant, was promoted to the rank of First Lieu- 
tenant March 4, 1863, and subsequently commis- 

sioned a Brevet Major, N. Y. V. 
The 30th Regiment, with which Company C 

was most honorably connected, participated in the 
battles of Gainesville, Groveton, South Mountain, 
Antietam and Fredericksburg. 
The fourth company formed at Schenectady was 

organized by Allen H. Jackson, who received a 
Captain's commission October 1, 1861. This 
company consisted of eighty-seven members, in- 
cluding the officers.’ It was enrolled as Company 
G in the grst Regiment for a term of three years, 
being mustered out of service July 3, 1865. The 
officers who were commissioned at the same time 
as Jackson were George W. Shaffer, First Lieuten- 
ant, and William Harty, Second Lieutenant. 

Captain Jackson was honorably discharged from 
this company February 23, 1863, and promoted to 
the rank of Major in the 134th Regiment. March 
4, 1863, he became Lieutenant-Colonel, and De- 
cember roth of the same year, Colonel of this regi- 
ment, but was mustered out of service June 10, 
1865, as Lieutenant-Colonel. George W. Shaffer 
succeeded Jackson as Captain of Company G. 
December 31, 1864, Shafter was promoted to Major, 
61st N. Y. Vols., and subsequently received the 
honorary rank of Brevet Lieutenant-Colonel, N. Y. V. 
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William Harty succeeded Schaffer as Captain of 
Company G, December 24, 1864, and remained 

in command until the company was mustered out 
of service. 

Cornelius Gill entered this company as Second 
Sargeant, and was promoted through the succes- 
sive ranksto First Lieutenant, which latter position 
he held when the company was disbanded. 

Between the middle of August and the 3d of 
September, 1862, there were three military com- 
panies formed at Schenectady, which entered the 
service for a term of three years. All three were 
enrolled in the 134th Regiment, and were known 

as Companies B, F and H. 
Company B was organized by David H. Ham- 

lin, who received his commission as Captain, Au- 

cust 17, 1862. At the same time Solyman G. 
Hamlin was commissioned First Lieutenant, and 
Solomon C. Wilson, Second Lieutenant. This 
company numbered 102 men, and participated in 
many of the great battles of the war. Benjamin F. 
Sheldon was Captain of this company when it was 
mustered out. Solyman G. Hamlin was promoted 
to Captain of Company C, March 7, 1863. April 
7, 1865, he was made Major of the 192d Regiment, 
and mustered out of service August 28, 1865, 
with the honorary rank Brevet Captain, N. Y. V. 

Lucius Mead, who enlisted in Company B as 
First Sergeant, was promoted to a Lieutenancy. 
He was killed while bravely leading his company 
at the battle of Gettysburg. 
Company F was organized by Gilbert D. Ken- 

nedy, who was commissioned as Captain, August 
30, 1862. At the same time were commissioned 
George A. Turnbull as First Lieutenant, and Clin- 
ton C. Brown as Second Lieutenant. 

Captain Kennedy was promoted to rank of 
Major, June 23, 1863, and died of disease at Phil- 
adelphia, August 3 of the same year. 

George A. Turnbul succeeded Kennedy as Cap- 
tain of Company F, but resigned February 3, 
1564. 

Clinton C. Brown was promoted to Captain, 
April 14, 1863, and to Lieutenant-Colonel of the 
134th, July 27, 1864. 
Company H_ was organized by Austin A. Yates, 

who received his commission as Captain, Septem- 
ber, 1862, with Gerardus Canley as First Lieuten- 
ant and Marcus A. Herrick as Second Lieutenant. 
Captain Yates was discharged June 10, 1863, on 
account of defective eyesight, but re-enlisted as 
Capiain of Company F of the Fourteenth Veteran 
Corps. This regiment participated in the engage- 
ment against Early in front of Washington. Capt. 
Yates was promoted to rank of Brevet Major by 
President Lincoln, and was assistant to Judge-Ad- 
vocate-General at Washington, D. C., one year 
subsequent to August, 1866, when he was mustered 
out of service. 

William H. Mickle, who enlisted in Company 
H as Second Sergeant, was made Captain, April 

22, 1865. Barney S. Smith, another Sergeant, 
became Captain, February 28, 1865, and was 
mustered out of the service as a Brevet Major, 
ING Vs 
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The 134th Regiment, of which the three pre- 
ceding companies formed a part, participated in 
the battles of Chancellorville, Gettysburg, Mis- 
sionary Ridge, Knoxville, Atlanta, Resaca, Dallas, 
Pine Knob, Lost Mountain, Peach Tree Creek, 
Savannah and Goldsboro. At the overthrow of 
the 11th corps, on the afternoon of Saturday, May 
3d, at the battle of Chancellorville, the 134th was 
engaged in reconnoitering in the enemy’s lineand did 
not share in that. terrible retreat, but took active 
part in the battle of the next morning. 

Companies ‘‘A”™ and ‘‘1” of the 134th were 
raised and credited to Schoharie County, vet both 
contained many Schenectady men. In company 
‘““A” Henry Y. Bradt, First Lieutenant, and the 
names of Garret Horsfall and Andrew A. Kelly are 
worthy of mention. Incompany ‘‘I,” Frank Fletch- 

er was Captain, who afterward became Chaplain of 
the regiment and was mustered out of the service 
as Brevet Major, N. Y. V. Albert G. Washburn 
entered this company as First Lieutenant and was 
promoted to Captain. He died in camp, near 
Falmouth, Va., Jan. 26, 1863. 

In company ‘‘I” Charles A. Ahreets enlisted as 
Orderly Sergeant ; by promotions, earned by gal- 
lantry, became Adjutant of the 134th, July 27, 
1864. He was killed while acting as assistant 
adjutant-general, in the siege of Savannah, Dec. 
13, 1864. 
Edwin Forrest enlisted in company ‘‘B” of the 

134th as First Lieutenant, Dec. 2, 1862. Jan. 30, 
1864, he was made Captain of this company. He 
died from wounds received at the battle of Dug 
Gap, May 20, 1864. 
-Thomas Forrest, a brother of Edwin, enlisted as 

Second Lieutenant in company ‘‘F,” of the 134th, 
and was promoted to First Lieutenancy, March 7, 
1863. He was subsequently made Brevet Captain, 
Ne Wav. 
Among the Schenectadians who served with dis- 

tinction in the rebellion, whose names have not 
been, previously mentioned, were A. Y. Carner, 
Henry Ramsey, Jr., James T. Joslin and A. Barclay 
Mitchel. Cramer was made Quartermaster of the 
134th, Oct. 1, 1862 Ramsey entered this same reg- 
imentas a Lieutenant and was also made Quarter- 
master. Joslin and Mitchel entered the service as 
Lieutenants and were promoted to the rank of 
Captain, Joslin in the 134th and Mitchel in the 
18th. 

Although the t1rgth regiment was raised and 
organized in New York city, some of its best and 
bravest officers came from Schenectady. Indeed 
its first commanding officer was Col. Elias Peissner, 
a son-in-law of the late Prof. Tayler Lewis, of 
Union College. Col. Peissner was a brave and 
courageous officer, and after galiantly leading his 
regiment in a number of engagements was killed at 
the battle of Chancellorville, May 2, 1863. 

In company “B” of the 119th, Charles F. Lewis, 
a son of the late Professor Lewis, enlisted as Second 
Lieutenant, but was promoted in succession to the 
rank of First Lieutenant, Captain and Major. 

In company “D” of the rigth, Henry R. 
Schwerin, another Schenectadian, enlisted as Second 
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Lieutenant. He was promoted to First Lieutenant 
April 10, 1863, and was killed at the battle of 
Chancellorville, May 6, 1863. 

The 77th Regiment, although organized in Sara- 
toga County, contained a number of Schenectady 
men. In Company H of this regiment fully a 
fourth of the number were from this county. In 
this company David J. Caw enlisted as Ist Ser- 
geant. His worth and gallantry secured him rapid 
promotion. March 21, 1862, he was commis- 
sioned 2d Lieutenant ; September 23, tst Lieuten- 
ant; December 10, Captain ; December 20, 1864, 

Major; and four days after, Lieutenant-Colonel, with 
which rank he was mustered out of the service, 
June 27, 1865. July 6, 1865, for gallant and mer- 
itorious services, he was commissioned Colonel by 
Governor Morgan. At the same date his brother, 
William E. Caw, who entered Company H as 
Corporal, received a commission as 1st Lieutenant. 

The 77th Regiment, it will be remembered, was a 
part of the Sixth Corps, and accompanied the army 
of the Potomac through all its memorable cam- 
paigns, participating in the battles of Yorktown, 
Williamsburg, Golding’s Farm, Savage Gee tion. 

White Oak Swamp, Malvern Hill, Crampton Gap, 
Antietam, Maryes Heights, Fredericksburg, Get- 

tysburg, Wilderness, Rappahannock _ Station, 
Petersburg, Spottsylvania, Cold Harbor, Fort Ste- 
vens, Opeguan, Fishers Hill and Cedar Creek. 

In the 2d Regiment of Veteran Cavalry, besides 
Edward Van Voast and Joseph Strunk, a Iready men- 
tioned, were Charles W. Johnson, Albert Westing- 
house and Sherman A. Case. Johnson was_ pro- 
moted from a Lieutenancy to (uartermaster. 
Westinghouse was a Lieutenant in one of the com- 
panies of this regiment. He was killed in action, 
December 10, 1864. Case also served as a Licu- 
tenant, and was mustered out of service with this 
rank, November 8, 1865. 
Among the surgeons from Schenectady who en- 

tered the service during the civil war were: G. W. 
Van Voast, J. D. Jones, Alfred G. McDonald and 
William H. Hoag. Jones was Surgeon in the 22d 
Cavalry, McDonald in the 12th Cavalry and Hoag 
in the 134th Infantry. 

J. J. De Forest, a resident of the town of 
Duanesburgh, was Colonel of the 81st Regiment, 
raised in Oswego, during the war. (For further 
sketch of Mr. De Forest, see article on town of 
Duanesburgh. ) 

The 192d Regiment was composed principally 
of men who had- already served one term of enlist- 
ment. This regiment was one of the last organ- 
ized during the war, having been mustered in the 
service In the fore part of the year 1865. No less 
than 133 in this regiment were from Schenectady, 
among whom was the late Solyman G. Hamlin, a 

brave "and courageous soldier, who, as has been 
previously stated, was promoted to the rank of 
Major in this regiment. 

The 83p Reorent, for home protection, com- 
posed entirely of companies i in the City and County 
of Schenectady, was formed April 27, 1863. It 
was composed of ten oifpanses and formed a 
part of the 18th Brigade, 5th Division, when first 
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organized, but soon after was included in the 13th 
Brigade, 3d Division. July 23, 1873, it was re- 
duced to a battalion of six companies. It was 
disbanded January 17, 1874. 

The original officers of this regiment were: 
James Fuller, Colonel ; Robert Furman, Lieuten- 
ant Colonel ; John C, Bartrydt, Major; Vedder V. 
Van Patten, "Adjutant ; - L. Dodge, (Quartermaster ; 
J. O. Timberman, Surgeon ; Cornelius Van Sant- 
voord, Chaplain. 

Robert Furman was made Colonel, 
1864, and John McShea Licutenant Colonel. 
Gershom Banker was made Major, July 12, 1866. 
Benjamin F. Sheldon was made Adjutant, June 20, 
1866, and Major, October 17, 1867. George W. 
Marlette was made Adjutant, January 4, 1865, and 

Major, May 27, 1871.. John C. Perry became 
Major, December 29, 1869, and Lieutenant-Colo- 
nel, May 28, 1869. Michael H. Lamp was made 
Adjutant, September 1871, and Edward H. 
Vrooman became (Quartermaster, June 14, 1867. 
James D. Jones was at one time Surgeon, and 
Dennis Wortman, Chaplain. 

After the close of the war a company composed 
of army and navy veterans, called the Soldiers’ and 
Sailors’ Union, was formed, of which Major Ralfe 
Van Brunt was Commander. Some time after this 
company disbanded and formed the Schenectady 
Zouaves Cadet. Major Ralfe 
first Captain. He was succeeded by Captain Aus- 
tin A. Yates. This company existed for a number 
of years, when its name was changed to William 
Horsfall Post, No. 14. A. A. Yates, G. W. Mar- 
lette and William G. Caw were Commanders of 
this company at different periods. The name of 
this Post was subsequently changed to Edwin For- 
est Post, No. go. G. W. Tompkins, James F. 
White, Frederick Eisenminger and James R. 
Reagles were at various times Commanders of this 
Post. A few years ago the name of the Post was 
again changed to Post Horsfall, No. 9, which name 
it still bears. The present Commander is James 
R. Reagles. 

At present there are but two military companies 
in Schenectady under the State Militia laws, the 
36th and 37th Separate Companies, N. G., S. 
N._Y: 

The Tuirty-SixtH Company (Citizens’ Corps) 
was mustered in the State Militia, July 12, 1880, 
for a term of five years, with 57 members. Its 
first officers were: Austin A. Yates, Captain; 
Oscar Shannon, rst Lieutenant; Geo. W. Tomp- 
kins, 2d Lieutenant. Its present officers are: 
Austin A. Yates, Captain; James F. White, rst 
Lieutenant ; James R. Reagles, 2d Lieutenant. 
This company is composed of 65 members. 

The Turrty-Seventa Company (Washington 
Continentals) was mustered in the State Militia, 
with 51 members, at the same time and for a like 
period of service as the 36th. Its first officers 
were: Clinton C. Brown, Captain; Nelson 
McDonald, tst Lieutenant; Thomas Gregg, 2d 

Lieutenant. Captain Brown was succeeded by 
Walter S. Van Voast. Van Voast was succeeded 
by the present Captain, Geo. W. Marlette. By the 

August 6, 
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Van Brunt was its. 

death of rst Lieutenant Nelson McDonald, Thomas 
Gregg was made rst Lieutenant and James H. 

Vedder 2d Lieutenant. This company is com- 
posed of 65 members. 

NAVIGATION. 

RIVER, STAGE AND RAILWAY. 

It would be difficult for those acquainted with 
the present business interest of Schenectady to 
realize its commercial importance during the colo- 
nial history of this State. 

Situated at the foot of navigation on the Mo- 
hawk, it had a frontage of twenty miles by road, 

subsequently reduced to sixteen miles by way of 
the Albany and Schenectady turnpike, between the 
Binnekill and Hudson river. From its fortunate 
position and subsequent improvements made in 
the channel of the Mohawk, it had direct com- 
munication by water with the chain of lakes in 
the interior of the State and with Lake Ontario 
and the St. Lawrence, and thus became the natural 
depot for the products of the far-stretching West. 

To explain the obstacles overcome and the 
causes which tended to make Schenectady a center 
of commercial trade, it will be necessary to review 
some of the history of the earliest settlements in the 
New Netherlands. 

The first settlers in this region came here almost 
solely for the purpose of trade. Indeed, so intent 
were they upon the Indian trafhe that agriculture 
was greatly neglected and barely enough farm prod- 
ucts were raised to support the population at the 
trading posts. 

The first trading house was built by the United 
New Netherlands Company, on an island in the 
Hudson river, called Castel £idandf, in the year 
1614. This island is now included within the 

limits of the City of Albany. 
The privileged West India Company was char- 

tened in 1621, with extraordinary powers of 
sovereignty and trade, and two years after erected 
Fort Orange, where Albany now stands. Here 
was the chief seat of the Indian trade, and where, 
in the business season, in June, July and August, 
the natives gathered in great numbers with their 
peltries. Until 1630 the two chartered companies 
above mentioned claimed and practically had a 
monopoly of the Indian traffic. Van Rensselaer, 
who had obtained possession of about 700,000 
acres of land around the fort in that vear, claimed 
not only a share of the profitable beaver trade, but 
also the land on which Fort Orange stood. 
Not only did this result in the loss of a large 
revenue to the West India Company, but it was 
also found that the servants of the company made 
private ventures of their own, so that by 1639, 
when trade was nominally thrown open to all, the 
income of the company had very much diminished. 

In 1652 Stuyvesant established a court at Fort 
Orange and Beverwyck. With this court came 
municipal rights, excise, taxes, civil officers and all 
the privileges thereto belonging, among which 
was claimed the monopoly of trade with the 
Indians. 
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Every burgher (for outsiders were denied this 
privilege) who could purchase an anker of brandy 
or tub of beer, claimed and used his rights to trade 
for beaver and often forestalled the market by send- 
ing runners up the Mohawk to purchase the natives’ 
peltries. Such was the condition of the Indian 
trade when the first settlhement was made at Sche- 
nectady in 1662. 

The people of Fort Orange, plainly seeing that 
the location of Schenectady would make it a for- 
midable rival as a trading center, took precautions 
to defend their own market and protect themselves 
from competition. 

When the settlers of Schenectady applied fora 
patent to their territory, called by the Indian title 
the ‘‘ Great Flatt,” from the Governor and Council, 
it was granted only on the condition that they ‘‘ pro- 
mise not to carry on or allow to be carried onat the 
aforesaid Flatt or thereabout any the least hande- 
ding (trade) however it may be called.” This arbi- 
trary prohibition, though for a time apparently 
acquiesced in by the people, outraged their sense of 
justice and right. It soon began to be reported 
that these trade regulations were disregarded at 
Schenectady. Gov. Lovelace in 1669 issued an 
order prohibiting such trade, and in 1671 issued 
orders to Capt. Sylvester Salisbury, Commander of 
the fort at Albany, to search the houses in Schenec- 
tady whose occupants were suspected of trading 
with the Indians. But proclamations and orders 
against the offending town seemed unavailing, as 
neither the orders of the Council nor proclama- 
tions of the Governor served to effectually restrain 
the people from engaging in traffic with the Indians, 

Albany was chartered as a city in 1686, before 
which time, though claiming a monopoly of the 
Indian trade, the magistrates were powerless to 
pass ordinances for its regulation, but operated 
through the Governor and Council. 

Immediately after the granting of the charter, 
however, the common council passed ordinances 
claiming for such city the sole monopoly of the 
trade with the Indians, and prohibiting any traffic 
with the Indians outside of the walls of Albany. 
But these exclusive ordinances did not have the 
effect of confining the trade to the city of Albany. 
Much legal difficulty grew out of this attempted 
enforcement, until the year 1727, when the arrest 
and conviction of a citizen of Schenectady, sus- 
pected of Indian trading, was contested in the 
Supreme Court, which legal contest resulted in the 
final acquittal of the suspected persons and freeing 
Schenectady from the authority of those hateful 
ordinances that had fettered its trade for more 
than fifty years. 

After 1727, by the decision of the highest court 
in the province, trade was made free. With free 
trade came traders, and the flow of emigration be- 
gan to go westward. Settlements were made on 
the upper Mohawk and along the Schoharie, which 
greatly increased the volume of trade at Schenectady. 
Ketter roads were made from Albany to the foot of | 
navigation in this city, as aiding to the impediments 
in the lower Mohawk. Schenectady was always the 
best place of departure, while the distance from 

| 

| Albany was little, if any, greater than points lower 
| down the stream. 
| Up to about the year 1740 the early settlers used 
| the largest sized Indian bark canoes for transport- 

ing their merchandise. They were very light, and 
capable of carrying considerable cargo. One or 
two men, sitting in the bottom, propelled the 
little vessel by paddles, and at rifts or shallow 
places waded, and pushed or pulled it over. When 
water failed them, or the falls could not be over- 
come, the boat and cargo were carried around the 
portage, when navigation was again resumed. As 
there were many rifts or rapids in the Mohawk 
river to be overcome, navigation at this period was 
attended with great difficulties. The first of these 
impediments was a few miles above Schenectady, 
and was called Sevth Flat rift, Proceeding west, 
in succession came Fort Hunter rift, Caughnawaga 
rift, Keator's rift, the latter having a fall of ten 
feet; Brandvwine rift, at Canajoharie, short but 
rapid ; Lhles rift, near Fort Plain, and the Lzétle 
falls, so called in comparison with the larger falls at 
Cohoes. At Little Falls there is a descent in the river 
of forty feet in the distance of half a mile, up the 
current of which no boats could be forced ; so it 
became a portage, or carrying point, for both boats 
and merchandise, which were transported around 
the rapids on wagons, and when relaunched and 
reloaded, pushed on again. 

Gov. Burnett, one of the Colonial Governors of 
New York, in a report to the Lords of Trade, 
during the period of canoe navigation, estimated 
the number of canoes regularly engaged in the 
fur trade which came to Schenectady from 1716 to 
1720, at about 30, and from 1720 to 1724 at about 
322. 

As settlements grew in the western part of the 
State the yolume of trade increased to such an ex- 
tent, that about the year 1740 the Indian canoe was 
superseded by the small batteau, a wooden vessel 
strongly braced with ribs, sharp at both ends, and 
generally manned by three men. They were pad- 
dled or poled, or towed by men along the bank or 
shallow places. 

in his history of Schoharie County, Simms says, 
speaking of the batteau: ‘‘These boats were 

| forced over the rapids in the rivers with poles and 
ropes, the latter drawn by men on the shore. Such 
was the mode of transporting merchandise and In- 
dian commodities toand from the west for a period 
of fifty years and until after the Revolution. A 
second carrying place in use at an early day was at 
Fort Stanwix, from the boatable waters of the 
Mohawk to Wood Creek; thence passing into 
Oneida Lake the batteau proceeded into the Os- 
wego River, and thence to Oswego on Lake Onta- 
rio, and to Niagara, or elsewhere on that lake, or 

| the St. Lawrence, as they pleased to venture,” and 
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after being carried around the Falls of Niagara to 
Chippewa, went uninterruptedly on to Detroit, 
their usual limit, and sometimes even to Macki- 

naw. 
But after the Revolutionary War the tide of emi- 

gration set strongly westward, and that energetic 
population required increased facilities for trans- 
portation and communication with the great Hud- 
son River and their old homes in the East, and 

elsewhere. 
Gen. Philip Schuyler, who at this date was Sur- 

veyor-General of the State of New York, succeeded. 
with the aid of many citizens of Schenectady and 
its vicinity, in forming a corporate body, known as 
the Western Inland Navigation Company. This 
company was empowered to improve the channel 
of the Mohawk from Schenectady, and_ build 
canal and locks to Lake Ontario and to Seneca 
Lake. 

A canal was built at Little Falls, 4,752 feet long, 
of which 2,550 feet went through solid rock. 
Upon it were five locks, with a total rise of 444 feet. 

A canal 1} miles long was constructed, with a lock 
at Wolf’s rift, German Flats, while another canal 
at Rome, 12 miles long, connected the Mohawk 
with Wood Creek. On Wood Creek four locks 
were built, with a total depth of 25 feet. The 
chambers of the locks were 74 by 12 feet, and al- 
lowed boats of 32 tons to pass, but other impedi- 
ments limited boats to a burden of ro to II tons, 
This work of the Inland Navigation Company was 
finished in 1797, and cost $400,000, of which the 
State paid $92,000. The great cost required high 
tolls. In 1808 the company gave up its rights 
west of Oneida Lake, and sold out to the State in 
1820 for $152,718.52. 

These improvements opened not only a direct 
water communication from Schenectady to Lake 
Ontario and the St. Lawrence, but permitted the 
use of larger and more serviceable boats. 

To meet the demands of an increased trade, made 
possible by better facilities, a boat called the 
Durham was constructed, a craft which carried a 
fair cargo, and which held its own until the Erie 
Canal sounded the death knell of the Mohawk 
river as a navigable stream. This style of boat is 
said to have been first used on Long Island. 

“The Schenectady Durham,” says Prof. Pear- 
son in his history of the Schenectady Patent, ‘‘ was 
the pride of the place, and extensive boat-yards 
were employed in construction and repairs of these 
crafts, which were roughly treated by the boulders 
on the many rifts and landing places. © 

This gallant craft was constructed something in 
shape like the modern canal boat, broad, flat-bot- 
tomed and straight-sided, with easy lines at bow 
and stern to help her flotation on striking a rapid. 
Her carrying capacity ranged from eight to twenty 
tons. A mast was placed near the bow and 
equipped with square sails. 
When wind and tide were favorable these Durham 

boats sailed easily, but owing to the crookedness 
of the channel and its shallowness, this was only 
for very short distances. The main reliance was on 
the pole or tow-line. 

In the cuta boat is seen forcing a “‘ rift,” and the 

crew (usually numbering five or six men) are wad- 
ing and pushing the craft through the pass. Light 
boats could go from Schenectady to Fort Stanwix 
and back in nine days, but the larger boats required 
fourteen days to make the tip. 

Durham Boat. 

As the country grew in population, and more 
especially after the Revolution, the traffic on the 
river grew toimmense proportions. A stone tram- 
way was built at enormous cost by the Albany 
and Schenectady Turnpike Company, to ex- 
pedite the hauling of goods to the harbor on the 
Binne Kill, which in time was lined with batteaux, 
and as late as 1812 as many as fifty Durham boats 
would lay in this port, loading or discharging 
cargoes. 

Most of these boats used on the Mohawk and 
western waters were built at Schenectady. It 
formed one of the most important business interests 
of the place. 

The boat-yards were located on what is termed 
the Strand street on the river, then much 
wider than now, owing to encroachments and 
other causes. It was no uncommon sight, says 
Judge Sanders, in his history of this county in 
the war of 1812, to see from twenty-five to 
one hundred boats on the stocks at the boat- 
yards, extending from near the Mohawk bridge to 
North street. 

The boats that conveyed the army of General 
Wilkinson down the St. Lawrence were all built at 
this place, the oak forests of our common lands 
furnishing the requisite material. The principal 
boat builders were the Van Slycks, Marselises, 
Veeders and Peeks. 

Time has wrought so many changes in this city 
that it seems difficult to picture the scenes of busy 
activity, with the extensive wharves, freighting 
establishments, and storehouses which lined the 
Main Binne Kill previous to the year 1819. At 
this date a destructive fire occurred, which com- 

pletely destroyed this portion of the city, which 
never again recovered its business, mercantile or 
commercial importance, for the contemplated con- 
struction and subsequent completion of the Erie 
Canal removed the business seat of our city to its 
present location, 

‘Previous to the fire of 1819,” says Judge 
Sanders, ‘‘ the Mohawk river above the bridge was 
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a broad, deep stream, upon which Durham boats, | 
carrying sails like an Albany sloop and from eight | 
to twenty tons of freight, glided, often under full | 
sail, to or from our then deep and commercial | 
Binne Kill, the miniature golden horn of our | 
city.” . 

At this wharf were the warehouses of the freight- 
ing firms of Yates & Mynderse, Jacob S. Glen & 
Co., Stephen N. Bayard, Walton & De Graff, | 
Lusher & McMichael. Some idea of the bus- 
iness done may be gathered from the fact that 300 
families derived their support by carrying in 
wagons the freight from the storehouses in Sche- 
nectady to the City of Albany. 

The first daily line of boats used for carrying 
passengers was established by Eri Lusher, in 1815. 
They were constructed after the model of the Dur- 
ham boat, with cabin in midship, carefully cush- 
ioned, ornamented and curtained, expressly calcu- 
lated for and used to carry from twenty to thirty 
passengers at a time. They ran between Sche- 
nectady and Utica, making the passage between 
the two places down the river in about thirteen 
hours, and up the river, with favorable winds and 
high water, within two days. 

But we are now coming to the period when the | 
completion of the Erie Canal, the greatest work of 
internal improvement in the interest of commerce 
ever accomplished in this country, began to play 
an important part in the commercial interest of 
Schenectady. It was commenced in 1817, but 
was not completed until the year 1825. 

It is a fact not generally known that the route of 
the canal through this city is entirely different from | 
the course as first laid out by the projectors. The 
original route was along the Binnekill, near the 
business portion of the city. Work had even been 
commenced upon it when, mainly through the 
personal efforts of Resolved Givens, proprietor of 
a hotel which stood near or on the site of the present 
Givens Hotel, the canal commissioners were per- 
suaded to change the course to the present route. 
Resolved Givens was the father of William C. 
Givens, of this city, and a man of considerable in- 
fluence at this date. The construction of the canal 
through the central part of the city, together with 
the destructive fires already mentioned, decided the 
fate of the lower part of the city as a business 
center, and this section lost forever the commer- 
cial importance it had enjoyed for so many vears. 

Navigation on the canal has not undergone much 
change since the early part of its history. The 
boats of to-day are very similar in appearance, al- 
though much larger than those used in the early 
days of canal navigation. As first constructed, the | 
canal Was about forty feet wide and four feet deep, | 
but in 1835 the work of enlargement began, which 
was not completed until 1862, costing over $36,- 
000,000, The present dimensions of the canal are 
seventy feet in width and seven feet in depth. 
These improvements in the channel of the canal 
have permitted the use of boats at the present day 
of the carrying capacity of 300 tons, while the 
original boats were only able to carry about ninety 
tons. | 

The motive power remains substantially the 
same as when the canal was first opened, most of 
the boats being propelled by the use of horses. 
Steam power has only been used since a compara- 
tively recent period, and although it is a sub- 
ject of much discussion among canal men, and 
great improvements have been made, it is a system 
of canal navigation not generally used. 

The completion and successful operation of the 
Erie Canal gave rise to similar ones elsewhere, and 
was of vast benefit to the whole country, and to- 
day, notwithstanding the rapid transportation of 
merchandise by our great systems of railroads, it 
continues to be the channel of awonderful outflow 
of the agricultural products of the West to the sea- 
board, and the inflow of the merchandise from the 
Atlantic ports to the interior. 

Untl the completion of the railroad the Erie 
Canal was much used for carrying passengers. 
Boats used for this purpose were called packets. 
Even before the entire canal was finished portions 
of it, as completed, were used. As early as May 
31, 1824, a boat named Schenectady) commenced 
to make trips from Albany to Schenectady; leaving 
Albany in the morning at nine o'clock, it reached 
Schenectady about noon, and then would start on 
a return trip on the following morning, 

The traveling done on the packet boats was an 
important feature of the early navigation of the 
canal, anda great number of boats were used ex- 
clusively for this purpose along its entire length, 
yielding a large income. Up to the year 1857 
these boats were built and used upon the canal for 
this purpose, but since this date they have been 
entirely discarded, having been completely super- 
seded by the railroads. 

Since 1857 the canal has been used exclusively 
for carrying merchandise, and during the year 1872 
(the year before the great depression in the busi- 
ness of the country began) the value of the prop- 
erty that was transported on the canal was $168,- 
000,000, notwithstanding a two-track railway 
carrying an immense amount of freight was laid 
parallel to it in its entire length. 

The future of this great thoroughfare, of such 
untold benefit to the early development of this 
country, cannot be foretold in this period of rapid 
growth of our vast western territory. But it would 
seem that the slow method of canal tran-portation 
must be improved by new and more rapid meth- 
ods of locomotion or ultimately give way to the 
demands for a more speedy transportation. 

STAGE LINES, 

In the early history of this country, means of 
communication and facilities for traveling from 
one place to another were attended not only with 
great expense, but with difficulty and danger. 
Until the completion of the Erie Canal, and the 
limited facilities the Mohawk offered, traveling to 
and from Schenectady was done by the slow, te- 
dious and wearisome stage coach. 

Communication from New York to the interior 
prior to the revolution was a matter of the greatest 
difficulty, and only attempted in cases of most urg- 
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ent necessity, usually taking three weeks to make 
the round trip. So slender were the facilities and 
resources of the country that the first mail ever re- 
ceived at Schenectady was on the 3d day of April, 
1763, more than one hundred years after the pat- 
ent was granted. 

Probably the first regular stage started by a 
Schenectadian was run by Moses Beal in May, 
1793. Itran from Albany to Schenectady, Johns- 
town and Canajoharie once a week. The fare was 
three cents a mile. The success of this enterprise 
was so great, that John Hudson, keeping the 
Schenectady Coffee House, on the southwest cor- 
ner of Union and Ferry streets, now the property 
of Madison Vedder, Esq., soon afterward estab- 
lished a line of stages to run from Albany to Sche- 
nectady three times a week. John Rogers, of 
Ballston, ran a line from that place to connect 
with it, by which a regular communication was 
first established for the convenience of those who 
visited the springs. The fare was one shilling to 
Schenectady; those that continued through were 
charged three-pence per mile. 

In 1794 there were five great post routes cen- 

tering in Albany—the first to New York, the 
second to Burlington, Vermont; the third to Brook- 
field, Massachusetts; the fourth to Springfield, 
Massachusetts; the fifth route was by the way of 
Schenectady, Johnstown, Canajoharie, German 
Flats, Whitestown, Old Fort Schuyler, Onondaga, 
Aurora, Scipio, Geneva, Canandaigua, and subse- 
quently extended to Buffalo. The mail on this 
route was carried once in two weeks. Thomas 
Powell, Aaron Thorpe and Asa Sprague, of Sche- 
nectady, were leading proprietors of this last route, 
under whose management its business grew to im- 
mense proportions, ‘‘so much so,” says John San- 
ders, ‘‘ that during the war of 1812, it was no un- 
common sight to witness from eight to twelve 
stages on the Scotia dyke, leaving or entering Sche- 
nectady at one time; and in one instance the 
writer counted fourteen in a continuous line.” 

The fare from Schenectady to Canajoharie was 
fourteen shillings, returning twelve shillings, av- 
eraging four cents per mile. Four cents was the 
average fare per mile on this route. 

In 1795 John Hudson ran two stages, one of 
four horses and the other of two, daily between 
Albany and Schenectady, and in March of the next 
year Ananias Platt went upon the same line, mak- 
ing four trips a day. At this time there were four 
public places on the stage line between Schenectady 
and Albany: Truax’s, four miles from Schenecta- 
dy; Down’s, nine miles; McKown’s, eleven miles; 
and Humphrey's, fourteen miles. 

In 1823, Thomas Powell, of this city, com- 
menced running daily stages from Schenectady to 
Troy, fare seventy-five cents each way. From a 
Schenectady newspaper of May 1, 1823, we find 
at the close of the advertisement announcing the 
new enterprise, the following quaint notice: 

‘“N, B.—As this is an establishment entirely 
new, itis not likely to be very profitable at first; 
but the proprietor hopes in time, with the assist- 
ance of his friends, to make it a great accommo- 

dation to the public, and merely asks a remunera- 
tion for necessary expenses.” 

In 1825 another daily line was started between 
Schenectady and Troy, and the fare reduced to 63 
cents. This includes all the stage lines of impor- 
tance which had headquarters at Schenectady of 
which we have any authentic account. The open- 
ing of the canal in 1825 did away with a greater 
part of this business in Schenectady, while the 
completion of railroads closely following sup- 
planted it entirely. Its tired horses and tired men 
have been superseded by the iron horse that never 
tires. 

RAILWAYS. 

No event in the history of Schenectady has done 
more to give this ancient city renown abroad than 
its connection with the enterprise which result- 
ed in building the first steam passenger railway in 
the world. True, in 1783 a railroad was construct- 
ed in France, but it was a crude affair and used 
only for the transportation of coal. The era of 
successful operations for the transportation of pas- 
sengers upon railroads by locomotives propelled by 
steam dawned a little more than half a century 
ago, and the fine plain between Schenectady and 
Albany was the theater of the first genuine passen- 
ger railroad ever built in the world. 

Mr. George W. Featherstonhaugh, an honored 
and influential citizen of Schenectady, and the 
father of Geo. W. Featherstonhaugh of this city, was 
one of the first projectors of this enterprise. As 
early as 1812 a pamphlet was published explaining 
the superior advantages of railways and steam car- 
riages over canal navigation. In 1825, a writer in 
the A/éany Argus urged upon capitalists the abso- 
lute necessity of their building a railroad from 
Albany to Schenectady, under the questionable 
plea that it was the only course to take to prevent 
Albany going to decay through the rivalry of Troy. 

Mr. Featherstonhaugh, in a _ letter to the 
Mayor of Albany, said the transportation of prop- 
erty from Albany to Schenectady was seldom 
effected in less than two, and sometimes three, 
days. By railroad, he argued, the communication 
between the same points could be made, in winter 
and summer, in three hours, at no greater cost 
than by canal, paying for sixteen instead of 
twenty-eight miles. He regarded this experiment, 
which he believed to be practical, as a test whether 
this economical mode of transportation would suc- 
ceed in this country. 

The project was brought before the Legislature 
early in the session of 1826, and a bill to incorpo- 
rate the Mohawk and Hudson Railroad introduced. 
On the roth of March the bill was discussed in the 
Assembly. It is amusing to read the novel argu- 
ment, advanced by the men of that day, both pro 
and con, in regard to the project. 

The bill passed the Assembly on the 27th of 
March, 1826, incorporating the company, with a 
capital of $300,000, with liberty to increase it to 
$500,000, and a duration of fifty years, limiting 
the time for construction to six years. Stephen 
Van Rensselaer, known as the old patroon, of 
Albany, and George W. Featherstonhaugh, of this 
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city, were the only persons named as directors in 
the charter. 

On the 26th day of June of this year books were 
offered for subscription to the stock of this road, 
and the stock was eagerly taken up by capitalists ; 
but for some cause the company moved slowly, 
for more than four years elapsed before the road 
was begun. 

On the 29th of July, 1830, the ceremony of 
breaking ground for the Mohawk and Hudson 
Railroad took place near Schenectady wth a silver 
spade by Stephen Van Rensselaer. In September 
it was announced the stock had risen ten percent., 
and the editor of the A@any Daily Advertiser pre- 
dicted that trains would run from Albany to Sche- 
nectady in a quarter ofan hour, and reach Utica 
from Albany in four hours. The latter was a 
somewhat startling prediction at this time, when we 
consider that the utmost exertions of the stages 
barely overcame the distance in twelve hours. 

By the 25th of July, 1831, twelve months from 
the time when the ceremony of breaking ground 
was performed, the road was completed from the 
junction of the Western turnpike and Lydius 
street, Albany, to the brow of the hill at Schenec- 
tady, a distance of twelve and a half miles. Some 
defects in the first locomotive used, called the De 
Witt Clinton, prevented a trial before the 3d of 
August. On this day a trip was made in one hour 
and forty-five minutes, and on the roth they ran 
two trains each way, with coke as fuel, making a 
part of the trip at the rate of thirty miles an hour. 

The passenger cars were simply stage coach bodies 
placed upon trucks for temporary use, affording 
seats for fifteen or eighteen persons. August 13 a 
large company assembled to take a trip on the 
railroad, but the De Witt Clinton engine, built at 
the West Point foundry, in New York, proved de- 
fective in her boiler, and was returned for repairs. 
At this trial, and in previous ones, coal or coke 
had been used for fuel; but wood was finally 
adopted. On the gth of September the De Witt 

_Clinton was again put upon the rail, and succeed- 
ed in drawing a train over the road in forty-five 
minutes. It was not till the 22d of September 
that the directors advertised to take passengers, 
although city officials and other dignitaries had 
passed over the road. both by steam and _ horse 
power early in August. The road was still uncom- 
pleted and used only from the junction, as it was 
called, two miles from the foot of State street, in 
Albany, from where passengers were taken to the 
train by stage coaches. The other terminus of the 
road was still at the bluff overlooking Schenectady, 
where passengers were again transferred to stages. 
The distance traversed was less than thirteen miles. 

The precise time when the directors of the road 
felt prepared to crown the success of their labors 
by a grand excursion, was the 24th of September, 
1831. To this demonstration, by invitation, came 
the State and city officials and a number of emi- 
nent citizens of New York. ‘The train, drawn by 
the De Witt Clinton, started off with three cars and 
returned with five cars, making the return trip in 
thirty-five minutes. 

* 

In January, 1832, the company reported to the 
Legislature that the amount actually paid and dis- 
bursed in the construction of the road was $483,- 
215, and that $156,693 would be required to com- 
plete it. 

In the spring of 1832 the road was completed 
throughout its whole line, and the inclined plane 
being in working order, another grand excursion 

was given on the “"tath of May, extending from the 

foot “of Gansevoort street, Albany, into the heart 
of Schenectady. The cars were drawn up the in- 
clined plane by means of a long rope attached to 
them and to a stationary engine at the top, the 
whole steadied and balanced by a car loaded with 
stone descending on the opposite track. This 
same ceremony was observed at both terminations 
of the road, occupying much time. The same 
style of coaches were still used. In the fall of this 
year a new pattern of car was built at Schenectady, 
more nearly like those now in use, the architecture 
of which was modeled from Dr. Nott’s parlor stove, 
and was called the Gothic car. 

In 1841 the inclined planes at both ends of the 
roads were done away with, and locomotives were 
used on the whole length of the road. The suc- 
cess of this road, and the advantages of this means 
of communication, although rudely constructed at 
great and much needless expense, became so. ap- 
parent, that within three years railroads, duly char- 
tered by law, were projected in every part of the 
State. 

The next railroad built in this section was called 
the Saratoga and Schenectady Railroad, and ran 
from Schenectady to Saratoga. This company was 
formed February 16, 1831, and the road was com- 
pleted and in operation in 1832. This road is 
now leased and operated by the Rensselaer and 
Saratoga Railroad. 

In 1835 the Utica and Schenectady road was 
constructed, and in 1843 the Schenectady and 
Troy branch was built. 

It will be seen at this early date in the history of 
railroads in this country that Schenectady enjoyed 
facilities for communication by rail equal to, if not 
surpassing, any place in the State. 

In 1853 a company was formed by consolidating 
all the railroads then in operation, and some pro- 
jected roads between Albany and Buffalo, called 
the New York Central Railroad. This consolida- 
tion included the Mohawk and Hudson, the Sche- 
nectady and Troy, and the Utica and Schenectady 
Railroads. The act allowing the consolidation 
was passed April 2, 1853, and carried into effect 
May 17, 1854. This road runs from Albany to 
Buffalo. It was finished and in operation in 1855. 

In 1869 this company consolidated with the 
Hudson River road, running from Albany to New 
York, under the corporation name of the New York 
Central and Hudson River Railroad, thus opening 
a road, under the management of one company, 
extending from the great lakes to the Atlantic 
seaport. 

In 1874 this road from Albany to Buffalo was 

increased from two tracks to four, making it the 
only four-track road in the United States. 
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FERRIES. 

——S— 

In 1869 the Schenectady and Duanesburgh road 
was incorporated, with a capital of $150,000, and 
completed 1873. It runs from Schenectady to 
Quaker Street, and connects at the latter place with 
the Albany and Susquehanna road. 

In 1866 a road called the Athens Branch was 
constructed. It runs from Athens to Schenectady, 
and is now owned and operated by the New 
York, West Shore and Buffalo Railroad. 

In 1883 the New York, West Shore and Buffalo 
Railroad was constructed, and runs through the 
western portion of Schenectady County, having a 
station at ‘‘South Schenectady,” about two anda 
half miles from the city. 

This completes but a necessarily brief account 
of the railroads in Schenectady County, which to- 
day form the most important business interest of 
this city, which can almost lay claim to the proud 
distinction of having been the birth-place of the 
great railway system of the world. 

REUBEN S. ALLEN. 

Revusen S. Aven, the hale and hearty old gen- 
tleman whose features are shown in the accom-. 
panying engraving, was born in Burlington, Vt, 
in 1823. When a young boy he was apprenticed 
to Gay & Edwards, of Winouski Falls, to learn the 
machinist’s trade, and readily grasped the details of 
the business. When he was about seventeen, he 
was sent by Mr. Gay to Canada, to ride for a 
month on a locomotive engine plying on a rail- 
road from St. John to La Prarie, to study its work- 
ings. This attracted his attention to locomotive 
engineering, which he was destined to make his 
life work. At the time Mr. Allen began learning 
his trade, the science of steam motive power had 
progressed so little, that there was scarcely a steam 
engine in the State of Vermont, and during suc- 
ceeding years, Mr. Allen set up many stationary 
engines in Vermont, New York State and else- 
where, in the meantime spending one year on the 
steamer ‘‘ Dodger,” then plying on Lake Cham- 
plain. On March 11, 1846, he became a locomo- 
tive engineer, running an engine on the Whitehall 
and Saratoga railway. In1850 he relinquished his 
place for a similar one on the N. Y. Central road, 
which he has kept ever since. During this time 
he has run engines named after every president of 
the road, beginning with Erastus Corning. In 
this long period Mr. Allen has never been injured, 
nor has a brakeman or passenger on his train re- 
ceived a scratch. Many notable persons have been 
carried by him, both on his regular trips and spe- 
cials. About twenty-five years ago he took the 
Russian fleet from Albany to Niagara in six and a 
half hours, the first time an engine ever ran so long 
a distance without long stops. In 1881, he ran 
William H. Vanderbilt’s special train from Syracuse 
to Albany in the remarkable time of two hours 
and fifty minutes. Mr. Allen now runs the ‘‘ flyer,” 
which leaves Albany daily for the West at 12:15 
pM. In 1844, Mr. Ailen married Miss Irene 
Taylor, and their union has been blessed with six 
children—five of them daughters. All these have 

dL 

married, and twenty-three little ones say ‘‘ grand- 
father” to the subject of our sketch. Mr. Allen 
has always had good health, and still possesses an 
iron constitution. His present home is in Sche- 
nectady. When he retires, as he expects to do 
March 11, 1885, the fortieth anniversary of the be- 
ginning of his life on the locomotive, he intends to 

publish a book relating his varied experiences 
among railroad men and others. After that is 
finished, Mr. Allen says he ‘‘will go fishing ten 
years,” after which he will be ready to go ‘‘over 
the river.” The veteran often receives letters from 
young engineers asking for advice, which he is al- 
ways ready to impart in his genial, whole-hearted 
way. 

Tuomas Cox, son of Hugh Cox and Elizabeth 
Muir, was born in Schenectady, December 14, 
1818, his parents having come from Scotland two 

years previously. He is one of the oldest locomo- 
tive engineers in the State. 

Epwin Wemp ce was for many years one of the 
most trusted and skillful engineers of the New 
York Central Railroad, and is now retired from 
active service with a competency. 

FERRIES. 

The first ferry was established, at a very early 
date in the history of Schenectady, at the north end 
of Washington street, and continued there to 1768. 
Some time after it was removed to the north end of 
Ferry street, which, at the first, terminated at the 
fort, but this street was afterward carried through 
to the river, and was called New street. This latter 
ferry was owned by the Borough of Schenectady, 
and, as far back as 1795, was leased to Abram 
Oathout for £50 per year. 

In 1790 there was a ferry at the foot of Ferry 
street, then recently opened to the river, as appears 
by a mortgage given by Sybrant Van Schaick to 
Adam S$ Vrooman. 

In the year 1797 there were three ferries in 
Schenectady. The first, called the Upper Ferry, 
was at the foot of Washington street, and kept by 
Jan Bapt. Van Eps. The second was called the 
Middle Ferry, was one mile below the Upper 
Ferry, andkept by Volkert Veeder. The third was 
called the Lower Ferry, situated a few rods below 
the Middle Ferry, and was kept by John Bapt. Van 
Vorst. 

The individuals who laid claims to the revenue 
received at the Upper Ferry were: Jan Bapt. 
Van Eps, who owned the land on both sides of 
Washington street ; John Sanders, who owned the 
opposite bank; and Joseph C. Yates, who owned 
the land below Van Eps on the same side. 

A compromise was effected in this manner: 
Sanders collected all tolls from the country to the 
city, and Van Eps and Yates collected from the 
city to Glenville. There were two boats: one from 
foot of Washington street, owned by Van Eps, 
and the other from Governor's lane, owned by 
Yates. By compromise, the ferry rights of all 
persons were obtained by the Bridge Company, 



16 
La 
ee = Soa emenyeeeres 

-nory** yra eon slyit: aiden bas ebro naliA aM «lsjede wo Io isstdue adi of “yodiet | 
is eseeomog’ Hite hoe dilged boeg bar eunwla aad 00% ai et smod dneeng i pottutitesoo not 
oh of slasqis ai en jaeier od worl “beizen 
ad of} lo yisaavinna doth? gift Aber th dotveM 
O} S ebnoit a svitomosal sa} ao stl el) lo Qainoty 
eastshegxs bsinev ail “apaley dood ¢ duiidurq 
é: Jad? afiA odio baa seer beowies MECH, 
ist Eaidel og fiw? Sit aise oll aH Doteint 
twvo** op of} ebaeor sd Mw Set hoidey setts” ‘ PTHBY 
foul a7sitol esvisus? aafio apisiey att “sasvit-odt 

atl doisdwy avivbe yt antden CORI NNS BUT s 
banassi-slody ining Eats Ware] iegeni os ‘“iaDF BTR 

2 Bw 

eisdesit. bas vod dguit to wee zo) eaxduy'h >. 
salinsosG «zheiobraiioe ai. wiod eaw - aly 

i Lreliood® oest-sana5 nen ed BinSs 
romano esble edt to sae at bl teas MONT INE 

Sige ~ ag eiseniyiia ovit 
5 etasy vito A saw sae vee 
qi Satiyite s hateeae Fecia 

barter va ws Wom af lasted taal 
(yaolac pista AE SOIVae aOR 

a BS Bo ik: 3 

ae, vrist jet ST 
roszid od? a) wigh PU 

 .Jegie rotyaiies Wt 
7OMNS1 ani FI Toke Sm Bae 

i | ae | 7 L sy tH ADR Tate Ase 
r ast Hel a0} 

weno wai rer! boiew fr] “aba ‘4 

eee RA do sett: 3H) ah. tie 

VITO, 

aw 

t Yog - on tk st jsortia 16) 
a ue pew. sports coer nl 
sasqay viinezer i wd} Joate 

Pe - MSS ogogrtent & vd 
emnoord 2 mab 

Fd aw e737 ors TOY oct gr] 
2 boils i geek afl ‘bstuonst ai, 

is3te ongaizien yy 3 i@ joot orlt is enw 
bacose ott ead ae¥ gel ee 

olsd silen eno. Bay aii! otbbils 
s9bos¥ notlet wJuad bas wr 

Psi betautie ema, sawed ods belles 
yd iged zy bas agra ADDI. alt, 

: do v 
AHeevot walt oi eminio ‘hist one deubivibai. oft 
ie Mai. 1 stow yrs mgg sit is Bevioos 
a i} uo beret ids bs tne one eq. ast 
cr r¢ PishiEe Adar ieee soveniden yy ©: 
weawe onw ze O deesot baw. iiied aizoqge 

shia Sine oct mo ag ne wailed bist exit 
as iid Doss ear sPHnonpMos A bit ii 

“i nhent betosttos gal big’ 
NO ares + e3Rod set SARI. “rgd h otivaglo: ce rs ae 

woh ed. Beewve doyits nergaites W peek ap 
‘Dene: spmgh Pips mH eee ai Beene 
ihe enslgie 

gata 
to 

iin wingoa Srlt mink wbied its harsatlos nishaee: bE 
Smee bras ety qe 

. ot met aves bas hiataw 

Onan Ore aa 

Bet 

eta ds oan 

| Bio 4 

oleae tee a eed lio’ Ww 

rf dcp 

F ¢ : va b 

es preenliae: a 
Feaniogtent 

stint: Wel Jaont 
oa) Wes sanlq-ltd ot goad. af 

; ‘sks withe 

“oF stoke Py 

Wo Jasob : 

‘ 

98 hie pear han “inl ot nee 
“HEOQGE SE it Huo. ons 
iayt ER WM ewuti Bs ‘Prod 

basiinerg Aopuy Got 
Sete at aM 
toveiiateh ait bags 
oH SSSI yae Ned 

Ey sit onl pA Cod: 
ao. Biihgy ‘setpes gion 

Hified) See A 
y tOWSIIR 

ee ot 
otf nL ae sent of 

HeTER ovbont ig te 
minnie a A is SOT OR 

asenhen' 

Oi oO! h sree 



52 HISTORY; .OF THE: COUNTY ‘OF ‘SCHENECTADY. 

when the Mohawk Bridge was constructed. In 
1805 this ferry was called ‘‘ Van Eps’ Ferry.” 
The ‘“‘ Middle” ferry was discontinued about 1804, 

as the charter of the Mohawk Bridge Company 
passed the Legislature about this time, and_ provid- 
ed that no ferry should be within one mile of the 
bridge. 

The ‘‘ Lower Ferry,” being without the limits pro- 
vided in the bridge charter, was continued in various 

{ Sateen 
Vets 

— 

hands until some time in 185-, or until Volney 
Freeman built a bridge across the river at this 
point. 

The most western ferry in Schenectady County 
was established by Harmanus Vedder, twelve miles 
west of the city. It was called Vedder's ferry until 
1835, whenit was bought by John Hoffman, and the 
name changed to Hoffman's ferry. It has borne 
this name ever since, and is still in operation. 

OLD MOHAWK BRIDGE. 

| BRIDGES. 

Probably the first bridge in Schenectady was the 
bridge over Mill (or Sand) Kil, on Water street. 
It' was called the ‘‘ Town Bridge” as early as 1701. 
It is doubtful if there was any bridge over this 
creek in Washington street until long after. 

As early as 1716 there was a bridge across the 
Sparrebaugh (or Sand Kil), three miles south of | 
Schenectady, at or near the Brandywine Mill, on 
the old road to Albany. It was known as the 
Sparrebaugh Bridge. 

In 1736 there was a bridge over Poenties Kil, on 
the ‘‘ Bouwland,” about two miles west of the city, 
called Johannes Tellers Bridge. In some old 
deeds it was also called the ‘‘ Third Bridge.” 

In 1767 there was a bridge across the Cowhorn 
Creek, on Albany (now State) street. ‘[his was 
called John Baptist’s Bridge. About this same 
date there was a bridge over Hansen (or Simon 
Groot’s) Kill, on Wart (now Romeyn) street. 

But the first bridge of importance and worthy 
of much note was an elliptic or arched one, built 
at the foot of State street over the Mohawk. It 
was begun in 1797, and when nearly completed, 
the winter following, was upset by the wind, taken 
down, and rebuilt on piers in 1803. 

In 1808 was erected the original Mohawk Bridge 
across the river at the foot of Washington street. 
This was a suspension bridge of elegant proportions, 
built of wood, goo feet in length. It was designed 
by the celebrated bridge architect, Theodore Burr, 
and was pronounced his best effort. Its comple- 
tion December 6, 1808, was the occasion of a 

grand celebration in honor of the event. Gov. 
Tompkins, State Comptroller, and many other 
prominent men participated. 

This bridge, as remembered by most of our citi- 
zens, gives no idea of its early appearance of sym- 
metry andbeauty. Its subsequent dishgurement by 
the addition of several piers, and an unsightly 
covering over the whole, may have added to its 
solidity and ultimate preservation, but certainly 
destroyed all its original elegance of design and 
execution. 

The cut we insert of this bridge was produced 
from a photograph taken a short time before it 
was taken down, in 187—. to make room for the 
present structure, which spans the river on the 
same piers, with but little alteration, upon which 

stood the old bridge, which had become for many 
years previously an object of curiosity to travelers 
and tourists, and the last of its kind in the United 
States. The present bridge was finished in 1874, 

at a cost of about $60,000, and is owned by the 
town of Glenville, toll being collected of all non- 
residents. 

In about 1855, as previously stated, Freeman’s 
Bridge was erected by Volney Freeman, who 
shortly after its construction became sole owner. 
Since the first bridge was built two other structures 
have been erected on the same site, caused by the 
destruction of the original bridges, either by natural 
decay or in consequence of floods. The present 
bridge was built in 1879-80, ata cost of $20,000. 
In 1875 the Freeman Bridge prvperty was pur- 
chased by the town of Glenville, and is still owned 
by this town. 
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BOROUGH TOWN OF SCHENECTADY. 53 

The aqueduct bridge, crossing the Mohawk at 
Rexford’s Flats, was built by the State shortly 
after the construction of the canal aqueduct over 
the Mohawk at this place, about 1825. It was 
afterward purchased by the Rexford’s F Jats Bridge 
Company, and is still owned by this company. “A 
new iron bridge is at present in course of construc- 
tion on this site. 

BOROUGH TOWN OF SCHENECTADY, 
1765-1798. 

The inhabitants of the township of Schenectady 
for more than a hundred years from its first settle- 
ment had enjoyed no civil privileges or political 
rights other than those appertaining to other towns 
in the province. 

During and subsequent to the French war, the 
town made rapid growth in population and impor- 
tance. 

The commercial business, as has been stated, 
at this period had grown to immense proportions, 
bringing a large influx of foreign people to the 
town, and to properly rule and govern the place 
a stronger government was needed. The magis- 
trates and people were anxious to secure an in- 
dependent government, and in 1764 applied to 
Gov. Monckton for a city or a borough charter. 

In accordance with this petition, Lt.-Gov. Colden, 
on the 22d of October, 1765, granted the inhabi- 
tants a borough charter, the second granted in the 
province. It was fashioned after an English model, 
with great care, formality and minuteness, worthy 
to be called a city charter. 

Schenectady was thus created a borough town, 
under the corporate title of the ‘‘ Mayor, Aldermen 
and Commonalty of the Borough Town of Sche- 
nectady.” 

The following is a list of the first officers named 
in the charter: Isaac Vrooman, Mayor; John 
Duncan, Recorder; Jacobus Van Slyke, John 
Glen, Jr., John Sanders, Daniel Campbell, John 
Visger and John B. Van Eps, Aldermen ; Garrit 
Lansing, Rynier Myndertse, Ryer Schermerhorn, 
Tobias Ten Eyck, Cornelius Cuyler and Hermanus 
Bradt, Assistants : Thomas Mcellworth, Town 

Clerk ; Christopher Yates, Treasurer or Chamber- 
lain ; Isaac Marselis and Isaac Swits, Assessors ; 
Barent S. Veder, Collector; Richard Collins, 
High Constable; Thomas Murray, Hermanus 
Terwilliger, John Van Voast, Charles Dennison, 
James Dunlop and John Wasson, Jr., Sub- Consta- 
bles; and Alexander Campbell, Sergeant of the 
Mace. The mayor, recorder and town clerk 
were to be appointed, and were removable by the 
Governor and Council; the aldermen and assist- 
ants, assessors, collectors and constables were 
elected by a plurality of votes of the freemen as- 
sembled yearly for that purpose on the feast day of 
St. Michael the Archangel; the high constable 
and chamberlains were named by the mayor and 
common council and the seryeant of the mace. 

The mayor or recorder, with three or more alder- 
men and three or more assistants, by the name of 
the ‘‘Common Council of the Borough Town of 

| 
| Schenectady,” were to have power to make laws, 
ordinances, etc., for the good rule of the borough 
aforesaid, and the trade carried on there; for regu- 
lating the watermen and ferriage; for the preserving 
and selling the lands of Schenectady, etc., to re- 
main in force for twelve months. The freemen of 
the borough were to be such persons of lawful age 
as had been born therein, or such as had resided 
therein ten years previously, or such as had that 

privilege granted by the common council; and 
none but freemen were allowed to use any art, 
trade or mystery, or to expose for sale any manner 
of goods or wares at retail, under penalty of five 
pounds. 

It is doubtful if this very elaborate charter was 
ever carried into effect ; it was altogether too com- 
plicated a piece of machinery for the simple-minded 
burghers of Schenectady. The mayor, recorder, 
aldermen and assistants were called together the 
following December to hear it read and take their 
official oaths ; whether they ever met again or per- 
formed any acts under it is not know n, no records 
being now extant of their doings. 

A fatal defect of this charter was, that it did not 
finally dispose of the dispute about the management 
of the common lands; the trustees appointed 
under Arent Bradt’s will did not relinquish their 
office and power to thenew common council; they 
still held and managed all the property of the 
town. 

Soon after this charter was granted, the contest 
for independence began with the mother country. 
All local differences were merged in this, and it 

-was not until some years after the war closed that 
the dispute about the public lands of the town was 
settled and a new city charter obtained. 

GEORGE WASHINGTON. 

The ‘‘ Father of Our Country” visited Schenec- 
tady at three different times. The first occasion 
was soon after the revolutionary war, in the 
interest of the defence of the frontier. He was the 
guest of John Glen, who was then quartermaster 
of the department. The second occasion was by 
invitation of the citizens of Schenectady. He, in 
company with Gen. Philip Schuyler, rode in a 
carriage from Albany, on June 30, 1782. He was 
received with great honor by the civil and military 
authorities, and a public dinner given him at 
a hotel then situated on the south corner of State 
and Water streets, one of the houses spared in the 
great fire of 1690. It was kept at the time by 
Robert Clinch, formerly a drum-major under Gen. 
Braddock, and well known to Gen. Washington. 
The principal citizens of the place dined with him. 

An address was made to Washington, to which 
he wrote the following reply : 

‘To the Magistrates and Sfilitary Officers of the 
Lownship of Schenectady : 

‘*GENTLEMEN—I request you to accept my warm- 
est thanks for your affectionate address. In a 
cause so just and righteous as ours, we have every 
reason to hope the Divine Providence will still 
continue to crown our arms with success, and 
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finally compel our enemies to grant us that peace, 
upon equitable terms, which we so ardently desire. 

“May you, and the good people of this town, in 
the meantime be protected from every insidious 
and open foe; and may the complete blessings of 
peace soon reward your arduous struggles for the 
establishment of the freedom and independence of 
our common country. GEoRGE WASHINGTON. 

‘‘SCHENECTADY, June 30th, 1782.” 

The third visit was in 1786, when Washington 
made a tour with Gov. George Clinton, Gen. 
Hand, and many other officers of New York as far 
west as Fort Stanwix. In passing through Sche- 
nectady, he stopped at the same hotel as on his 
former visit. 

THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS. 

The office of Supervisor in the State of New 
York is of very ancient origin. It existed in the 
Colonial period, during which time the duties of 
the office were confined to auditing the ac- 
counts brought against the county by town officers 
and others, electing County Treasurers, Law 
Officers and a Clerk—very ancient offices in this 
State. The Boards of Supervisors in the different 
counties are now legislative bodies, having the 
same relation to the counties that the Assembly 
has to the State. From time to time, since the 
organization of the government, their powers have 
been extended over local matters, until many im- 
portant local Jaws touching the interests of their re- 
spective counties had, and still have, their origin 
in them. 

The first Board of Supervisors met in the City 
Hall, situated on the corner of Union and Ferry 
streets, on the site of the present dwelling house 
of H.S. Barney. This building was owned by 
the city, and used for city purposes, till the or- 
ganization of the county, when suitable quarters 
in this building were given the county for the 
transaction of county business. The Board con- 
tinued to meet here until 1816, when the City Hall 
was sold to Union College, and a room was pro- 
vided in the present Union School building, then 
purchased by the city. Here the Board contin- 
ued to meet till the completion of the present 
Court House, in 1833, from which date the meet- 
ings of the Board were. held in this building, till 
the present commodious quarters were provided in 
the County building on Union street in 1871. 
Tue First Boarp or Supervisors for the coun- 

ty of Schenectady of which there is any record, 
met at the Court House in the city of Schenectady, 
on Tuesday, October 3, 1809, under the pro- 
visions of the Act of the State Legislature, passed 
March 7, 1809, forming Schenectady County, 
which gave to this county all the rights, powers 
and privileges enjoyed by the other counties of the 
State. 

The Supervisors elected for this year were as fol- 
Jows: Maus Schermerhorn, for First and Second 
wards; Alexander McMichael, for Third ward 
(now Rotterdam) ; James Boyd, for Fourth ward 
(now Glenville); William North, for Duanes- 

burgh ; Lawrence Vrooman, for Niskayuna ; 
Alexander Murray, for Princetown. William North 
was chosen Moderator, Abraham Van_ Ingen 
Clerk, and Cornelius Z. Van Santvoord, County 
Treasurer. 

The salaries of Clerk and Treasurer were fixed 
at fifty dollars per annum. 

The following appears in the record of this 
year: 

“Resolved, that a reward of ten dollars be al- 
lowed for each and every wolf which shall be killed 
within this county, to be paid to the person or 
persons producing satisfactory proof to this Board 
that he or they have killed the same as aforesaid.” 

We find in the record of proceedings for this year, 
and for a number of years following, that consid- 
erable money was paid to different persons under 
the provisions of this resolution. 

The contingent expenses this year were $361.21; 
S947. 32 were returned to the city of Schenectady 
for repairs to Court House and Jail. The total 
tax levied was $2,417.11. The total valuation of 
real and personal estate of the county was $1, 841,- 
728. 
1810.—Supervisors— Simon <A. Groot, First 

and Second wards; Jacob Mabie, Third ward ; 
John A. Vrooman, Fourth ward; John Young, 
Duanesburgh; S. J. Van Antwerp, Niskayuna ; 
Alexander Murray, Princetown. 

The Board met April 28, at the Court House, 
and elected Alexander Murray, Moderator; and at 
the first meeting of the annual session, Oct. 2, 
Harmanus Peek was chosen Clerk, John Yates, 
County Treasurer, and Alexander G. Fonda, Coun- 
ty Physician. The latter appointment was the first 
ever made to this position. 

The total amount of tax levied this year was 

$3,393.25. 
1811.—Supervisors—Maus Schermerhorn, First 

and Second wards; Jacob Mabie, Third ward ; 
John A. Vrooman, Fourth ward; John Brown, 
Duanesburgh; S. I. Van Antwerp, Niskayuna ; 
William Templar, Princetown. ‘Tuesday, October 
1, Maus Schermerhorn was elected Moderator, 
Abraham Van Ingen, Clerk, and Cornelius S. Van 
Santvoord, Treasurer. 

The sum of $503.11 was raised to reimburse the 
city of Schenectady for preparing a Court House 
and Jail for the use of the county; $800 was 
levied upon the freeholders of the city to pay a 
night watchman for guarding the city. 

The total tax levied this year amounted to 
$2,664.97. 

1812.—Supervisors—Jellis A. Fonda, First ward; 
Maus Schermerhorn, Second ward; Harmanus 
A. Van Slyck, Jr., Third ward ; Jacob A. Vroo- 
man, Fourth ward ; John Brown, Duanesburgh ; 
Derick C. Groot, Niskayuna; William Templar, 
Princetown, 

The Board met October 6, and elected Maus 
Schermerhorn, Moderator, Abraham Van Ingen 
Clerk, and Cornelius Z. Van Santvoord, County 
Treasurer. 

The following sums were levied upon the city of 
Schenectady for this year: Support of poor, 
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THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS. 55 

$315.00; night watch, $800.00 ; surveying road, 
$8.75 ; expense of a road in Third ward, $142.53. 

The entire tax levied this year was $2,751.03. 
1813.—Supervisors—Harmanus Peek, First 

ward ; Simon A. Groot, Second ward; Harmanus 
A. Van Slyck, Jr., Third ward; James Boyd, 
Fourth ward; James Cantley, Duanesburgh ; 
Simon J. Van Antwerp, Niskayuna; William Tem- 
plar, Princetown. 

The Board met Tuesday, October 5, electing 
James Cantley, Moderator, Abraham Van Ingen, 
Clerk, and Daniel McDougall, County Treasurer. 

The contingent expenses of the county were 
$300.00; the total tax levied, $4,139.86. 

1814.—Supervisors—Harmanus Peek, First 
ward; John S. Schermerhorn, Second ward; H. 
A. Van Slyck, Jr., Third ward; James Boyd, 
Fourth ward; James Cantley, Duanesburgh; Wil- 
liam H. Alexander, Niskayuna; William Templar, 
Princetown; Moderator, James Canly; Clerk, 
Robert Galley; County Treasurer, Daniel Mc- 
Dougall. This year $800 was levied on the city 
for expenses incurred in laying out a road from the 
extremity of Washington street to the western 
bounds of the city. ‘Total tax levied, $3,981.62. 

1815.—Supervisors—Harmanus Peek, First 
ward; Cornelius Z. Van Santvoord, Second ward; 
Garrett S. Veeder, Jr., Third ward; James Boyd, 
Fourth ward; James Cantley, Duanesburgh; 
Derick Vedder, Niskayuna; Henry Fryer, Prince- 
town. 

The Board met October 3, and elected Cor- 
nelius Van Santvoord, Moderator, Robert Galley, 
Clerk, and Daniel McDougall, County Treasurer. 
A tax of $1,063.66 was levied against the county 
this year for common schools. ‘The total tax 

- levied this year amounted to $4,761.13. 
1816.—Supervisors—Harmanus' Peek, _ First 

ward; Dowe Clute, Second ward; Jacob Mabie, 
Third ward; Robert Sanders, Fourth ward; 
James Cantley, Duanesburgh; Simon I. Van Ant- 

_werp, . Niskayuna; James Combs, Princetown. 
Moderator, Simon I. Van Antwerp; Clerk, Henry 
V. Fonda; Treasure, Daniel McDougall. 

On April 5th of this year a special act of the 
Legislature was passed empowering the Board of 
Supervisors to convey to the city all the right and 
title to the lot and building thereon used as a Court 
House and Jail, in consideration of the cor- 
poration of the city granting to the Board suitable 
room in the edifice now occupied by the Union 
School, and which had been bought from the 
Trustees of Union College, in the year 1812, for 
court, jail and all county purposes. 

Such exchange was consummated October 14th 
of this year. 

Total tax levied, $5,080.73. 
1817.—Supervisors—Harmanus_ Peek, First 

ward; Dowe Clute, Second ward; Harmanus A. 
Van Slyck, Third ward; James Boyd, Fourth 
ward; James Cantley, Duanesburgh; Harmanus 
P. Schuyler, Niskayuna; James Combs, Prince- 
town. 

The Board met October 7, and elected Har- 
manus Peek, Moderator, Henry V. Fonda, Clerk. 

The following is a report made by Gideon 
Hawley, principal assessor, and adopted by the 
Board of Supervisors, October 10, 1817: 

‘‘ Valuations of lands and dwelling houses in 
the seven towns and wards within the county of 
Schenectady, as determined by the principal as- 
sessor of the thirteenth collection district in the 
State of New York: 

“First ward, $245,335; Town of Niskayuna, 
$105,421; Second ward, $385,280; Town of 
Princetown, $140,850; Third ward, $179,750; 
Town of Duanesburgh, $448,205; Fourth ward, 

$277,177. 
“The Board of Principal Assessors added two 

per cent. to the above valuations,” 
Entire tax levied, $12,278.42. 
At this session of the Board a resolution was 

offered for the removal of County Treasurer Dan- 
iel McDougall; but it failed in being carried by 
one vote. Mr. McDougall then resigned his 
position, and Thomas B. Clinch was appointed 
treasurer. 

1818, — Supervisors — Harmanus Peek, First 
ward ; Maus Schermerhorn, Second ward ; Fred- 
erick Bradt, Jr., Third ward; Henry Hogan, 
Fourth ward; James Cantley, Duanesburgh ; 
Harmanus P. Schuyler, Niskayuna ; James Combs, 

Princetown. Moderator, Harmanus Peek; Clerk, 
Henry V. Fonda ; County Treasurer, Thomas B. 
Clinch. The total tax levied, $9,478. 38. 

1819.—Supervisors—Richard McMichael, First 
ward ; | James Walker, Second ward; Bar- 
tholomew Schermerhorn, Third ward; Christian 
Haverly, Fourth ward; Lewis Eaton, Duanes- 
burgh ; Harmanus P. Schuyler, Niskayuna ; 
James Combs, Princetown. Moderator, Har- 
manus P. Schuyler; Clerk, Henry V. Fonda; 
County Treasurer, Thomas B, Clinch. We finda 
spirit of friendship for educational privileges 
evinced by the members of this Board in granting 
the free use of rooms in the City Hall to the 
trustees of the Schenectady Academy for one year. 
Total tax levied, $10,699. 10. 

1820.—Supervisors—Richard McMichael, First 
ward; James Walker, Second ward ; Bartholomew 
Schermerhorn, Third ward ; James Boyd, Fourth 
ward ; James Cantley, Duanesburgh ; Harmanus 
P. Schuyler, Niskayuna ; Isaac Wemple, Prince- 
town. Moderator, James Cantley ; Clerk, Henry 
V. Fonda; County Treasurer, John S. Vroo- 
man, 

At this session of the Board, $100,000 of valua- 
tion was taken from the aggregate valuation of 
the First and Second wards in consequence of the 
destruction by fire of these wards during the pre- 
ceding year. 

1821.—Supervisors—Henry Peek, First ward ; 
James Walker, Second ward; Peter Becker, 
Rotterdam ; Albert A. Vedder, Glenville ; James 
Cantley, Duanesburgh; Harmanus P. Schuyler, 
Niskayuna; Solomon Kelly, Princetown. Mod- 
erator, AlbertA. Vedder ; Clerk, Henry V. Fonda; 
Treasurer, John S. Vrooman. 

It will be noticed that at this time the city of 
Schenectady was divided into only two wards. 



v 

aa aS hi q AOU NEE: yi 

rigebiD. xd aba nia 8 a ninrelbat aT od? “ud balgobe baa gosesces logiodt Natit 
5 ‘Tien jO8 isdome mrozivisye Io piso 

ol esto yaillowb bee ebrel Io: -aaoitnilsY al 
jo Ywaues at nidtiv- ehige bas aiwot esrae ‘ed? . 
44 ingioang alt. vd Sontnateb es ths ibsnadoe 
iyi Wine ow: satlog ht bootie? att Wo” tages. 

Hey wet te aie’. 
ERSTE Drew jou 
baw briossd * is wae, e 3 

ny ! 1028 og72 (neussset 
Bin God .7or. dane whordesrrs cath la “aeer 

OL esta 
owl Dsbbe togseA legivnia£ to: lymoth ott 

“icine sods: artet aie 13. 
we devel sa aie 

ofl oid 3 30: HOiaesa aes * {ene s 
b hs Tone “eh ut fravaite, | -ivr* BF fe 

Lt aud ithe ia {31-1 yal i 
i arts y 7 

NL. Kites ig 

“sarang 
‘eye -— (Bh e 

wise. gosh + Binw 
et) “She dalsy 

Brew sfruesT 
Bir NIE 

ET Wrety. wrt 
Vv qineHi 

sae 

een, = 
iteeeder rreteirta 
ENV EXE #1 

ge fie 
reno wirnofost 

i wipes eT Srevait WaWehsdr P. aigoe! 
wise teva 184 1ateBRD , de ae 
eed beter: 

apnpat 
eHIneD 

jig * 
ea byonive 

AMGcCT io sep sah orl? 
it U4 st & oh bat MASiod odd io exopyTT | ae 

7 t .beivet-zeh Kot 4 wrod 
coll bradioidl—e g1o2i29que— -O88e . 
| baw brass? ‘odie f esrank vinaey 

of youtel ; brew baid’l’ smodisenedad- 
3 , doredessnu.’ sling? zonal + base’ 
sigwioW opael cpeuredsiv xl iloR = ee: 
Hel) + yolraly vowel. pamobow umeot’ | «05 

adal vormenere = urted yebnot °Y 4 sidasiag 
= esate Boia Si 

te reiniea’ andy fA + vik 
Qoigze sii mon msde} daw poe 

wu to SSaSupSsytod of abine biroosd bag teh oe, 
Ai; Ss a gainub zhww sae to aah 4d maliouiesh” 

ROE Ribs: 
we teil wood a tate abet 

nial . : baie Daos2 Fpl 
tivaako 

a areult (ager orf out 

snenekh 5 i Aapadomnciel *- zt 
if allo nameise:; RAE src 

greell. elo sabhe¥ dovealA Ronee 
aioe Pidet Mirae ol f 

lo he sdbsomeit ail tn Ie baohiba: ddtibw 
eo Uae a (pew 

) Wa 



56 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

April 14, 1820, by an act of the State Legislature | 
the part of the city known as the Third ward was 
formed into a separate town called Rotterdam, 
while ail that part of the city heretofore known as | 
the Fourth ward was formed into the town of | 
Glenville. The total tax levied this year was 
$7,484.53. 

1822. — Supervisors — Harmanus Peek, [rst | 
ward; Abram Van Ingen, Second ward; Har- 
manus A. Van Slyck, Rotterdam; Peter H. 
Brooks, Glenville ; James Cantley, Duanesburgh ; 
Cornelius C. Van Vranken, Niskayuna ; Solomon 
Kelly, Princetown. Moderator, Abram Van 
Ingen; Clerk, Archibald L. Linn; Treasurer, 
John S. Vrooman. The amount of county charges 
this year, including $510.52 for contingent fund, 
was $2,751.55; State tax, $1,852.21. 

By an act of the State Legislature, passed April 
12 of this year, the Board of Supervisors, in con- 
junction with the Judges of Common Pleas, ap- 
pointed the Justices of Peace, and prescribed the 
number of coroners to be elected. ‘The Board 
met for this purpose February 18, 1823. 

1823. — Supervisors — Harmanus Peek, First 
ward ; Abram Van Ingen, Second ward; John 
Pangburn, Rotterdam ; Cornelius $. Conde, Glen- 

ville ; Joseph Gaige, Duanesburgh ; Cornelius C. 
Van Vranken, Niskayuna ; Solomon Kelly, Prince- 
town. Moderator, Abram Van Ingen; Clerk, 
Edward Yates; Treasurer, John S. Vrooman. 

The Board met with the Judges of Common 
Pleas October 7, 1823, in accordance with an act 
of the Legislature passed April 12, 1822, direct- 

_ing the appointment of Commissioners of Deeds 
for the several towns of the county. Total tax 
levied this year, $8,134.54. 

1824. — Supervisors — Harmanus Peek, First 

ward; Abraham Van Ingen, Second ward; Peter 
Becker, Rotterdam; James Boyd, Glenville; Wil- 
liam A. 5. North, Duanesburgh; Cornelius C. Van 
Vranken, Niskayuna; Solomon Kelly, Princetown. 
Moderator, Abraham Van Ingen; Clerk, Edward 
Yates; Marshal, Thomas B Clinch ; County 
Treasurer, John S. Vrooman. 

Total tax levied this year was $9,327.53. 
1825.— Supervisors — Harmanus Peek, First 

ward; Abraham Van Ingen, Second ward; Zacha- 
riah Carpenter, Glenville; William A. S. North, 
Duanesburgh; Cornelius C. Van Vranken, Niska- 
yuna ; Peter Becker, Rotterdam. Abraham Van 
Ingen, Moderator; Edward Yates, Clerk; Thomas 
B. Clinch, Marshal; John S. Vrooman, Treasurer. 
From the records this year, the names of the fol- 
lowing incorporated companies in Schenectady 
County. liable to taxation were returned to the 
State Comptroller: Mohawk Bank, Mchawk Turn- 
pike Company, Mohawk Bridge Company, Sche- 
nectady Manufacturing Company and the Schenec- 
tady Water-works Company. 
The total tax levied this year was $8,997.50 ; 

State tax, $1,016.39; school tax, 762.3¢; poor, 
$2,062.99; road and bridges, $515.59. 
Up to the present year the annual sessions of 

the Board had been commenced on the first Tues- 
day in October. By an act of the Legislature this 

year the time was changed to the second Tuesday 
in November. 

1826. — Supervisors — Harmanus Peek, First 
ward; Abram Van Ingen, Second ward; Zach- 
ariah Carpenter, Glenville; Benjamin S. Knight, 
Duanesburgh; John Clark, Niskayuna; Abraham 
Dorn, Princetown; Bartholomew Schermerhorn, 
Jr., Rotterdam. Moderator, Abram Van Ingen; 
Clerk, Edward Yates; Marshal, Thomas B. Clinch: 

Treasurer, John S. Vrooman. 
At this session of the Board, the first report was 

presented from the superintendents of the alms- 
house. 

From the report of the superintendents we find 
that the total expense of the alms-house, from Au- 
gust 1 to October 30 of this year, was $321; num- 
ber of paupers, 38. 

The amount of tax levied this year, and for like 
purposes, was about the same as for the preceding 
year. 

1827.—Supervisors—Ezekiel Sexton, First ward, 
Abraham Van Ingen, Second ward; Daniel Smith, 
Glenville; Benjamin S. Knight, Duanesburgh; 
John Clark, Niskayuna; William Templar, Prince- 
town; Bartholomew Schermerhorn, Jr., Rotter- 
dam. Moderator, Abraham Van Ingen; Clerk, 
Archibald L. Linn; Marshal, Thomas B. Clinch; 
Treasurer, John S. Vrooman. 

An appropriation of $500 was made for the erec- 
tion of a fire-proof County Clerk’s office. 

The County expenses this year were $4,000. 
1§28.—Supervisors. —Ezekiel Sexton, First ward; 

Abraham Van Ingen, Second ward; Zachariah 
Carpenter, Glenville; Abraham Pearse, Niscayuna; 
Ebenezer Knibloe, Duanesburgh; William Tem- 
plar, Princetown; Simon Schermerhorn, Rotterdam. 
Moderator, Abraham Van Ingen; Clerk, Archibald 
L. Linn; Marshal, Thomas B. Clinch; Treasurer, 
John S. Vrooman, The County Clerk's office was 
completed this year at a cost of S1,000.co. It was 
built on the northeast corner of the Court House 
yard. 

The first list of Grand Jurors was chosen this 
year. 

April 12, 1824, an act was passed by the Legis- 
lature relieving all persons from military duty who 
had conscientious scruples averse to bearing arms, 
by the payment of $4.00 as commutation money, 
such money to be applied to the support of the 
poor. 

The names of the persons are given in the rec- 
ord of this year who availed themselves of the pro- 
visions of this act. 

Total tax levied this year was $8,310.79. 
1829.— Supervisors. — Harmanus Peek, First 

ward; Abraham Van Ingen, Second ward; Peter 

H. Brooks, Glenville; Joseph Gaige, Duanesburgh; 
Abraham Pearse, Niscayuna; Solomon Kelly, 
Princetown; Simon Schermerhorn, Rotterdam. 
This was the first meeting of the Board when the 
presiding officer was called Chairman instead of 
Moderator. 

Chairman, Abram Van Ingen; Clerk, Archibald 
L. Linn; Marshal, Thomas B. Clinch; Treasurer, 

John B. Clute. 
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THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS. ce La 

The total tax levied this year was $8,011.40. 
A special meeting of this Board was held March 

16, 1840,to confer with the Common Council of the 
city, trustees of the Lancaster School, and a com- 
mittee appointed by the citizens of Schenectady, 
regard to the sale of the City Hall and Court Beets 
to the State, for the purpose of a female penitentiary. 

It was agreed on the part of the Board to sell the 
City Hall and Court House for asum not less than 
ten thousand doilars, provided that not less than 
eight thousand dollars should be paid to the Board 
toward the expenses of erecting a court house and 
jail and fire-proof clerk’s office, and the furnishing 
of a room to the city as a common council cham- 
ber. 

1830.—Supervisors. —Harmanus Peek, First 
ward; Abraham Van Ingen, Second ward; Corne- 
lius S. Conde, Glenville: Joseph Gaige, ‘Duanes- 
burgh; Cornelius C. Van \i ranken, Niskay una; Sol- 
omon Kelly, Princetown; Simon Schermerhorn, 
Rotterdam. Chairman, Abraham Van_ Ingen; 
Clerk, Archibald L. Linn; Marshal, Lewis Finch; 
Treasurer, John B. Clute. 

The total tax levied was $10,176.98. 
1831.—Supervisors. — Harmanus Peek, First 

ward; Abraham Van Ingen, Second ward; Robert 
Sanders, Glenville; Joseph Gaige, Duanesburgh; 
Abram Pearse, Niscayuna; Abram Dorn, Prince- 
town; Simon Schermerhorn, Rotterdam.  Chair- 
man, Abraham Van Ingen; Clerk, Archibald L. 
Linn; Marshal, John S. Ten Eyck; Treasurer, John 
B. Clute. 

A special act of the Legislature was passed April 
25th of this year, authorizing the Board of Super- 
visors and Common Council of the city of Sche- 
nectady to sell the Court House, Jail and County 
Clerk’s office for not less than ten thousand dollars, 
the proceeds of such sale to be expended in the 
erection of a new court house and jail, the corpo- 
ration of Schenectady to be allowed the use of a 
room in the new structure for a common council 
‘chamber. _ Under the provisions of this act the 
then existing court house and jail could only be 
sold under the conditicns that the same should be 
used and occupied for literary, scientific or religious 
purposes. By the powers jointly conferred on the 
Board of Supervisors and Common Council, this 
property was sold, through Dr. Eliphalet Nott, to 
Union College, June 15, 1831. 

The location of the present Court House and 
Jail was selected, and the lot was purchased for the 
sum of $1,900.00, of Jacob and John Dellamont. 

The contract for building the Court House was 
let to John W. Teller, at the sum of $9,964.00. 

Total tax levied this year was $9,295.70. 
County tax, $4,900.00. 
1832. —-Supervisors--Harmanus Peek, First ward; 

Abraham Van Ingen, Second ward; Sidney B. 
Potter, Glenville; Joseph Gaige, Duanesburgh ; 
Abram Pearse, Niskayuna; David Murray, Prince- 
town; Harmanus A. Van Slyck, Rotterdam. Chair- 
man, Abraham Van Ingen; Clerk, Archibald L. 
Linn; Marshal, John S. ‘Ten Eyck; ‘Treasurer, 
John 'B. Clute. 

The entire tax levied was $11,691.97. 

1832.--Supervisors—Isaac M. Schermerhorn, First 
ward; Abraham Van Ingen, Second ward; Peter 
H. Brooks, Glenville; David Wing, Duanesburgh; 
Morgan Strong, Niskayuna; Daniel Darrow, Prince- 
town; Harmanus A. Van Slyck, Rotterdam, 
Chairman, Abraham Van Ingen; Clerk, Archibald 
L. Linn; Marshal, John S. Ten Eyck; Treasurer. 
John B. Clute. 

Total tax levied this year was $11,744.22. 
Up to the present year the total valuation of the 

real and personal estate had remained at about the 
same amount since the organization of the county, 
This year it was increased nearly $1,000,000, being 
$2,765,000. 

1834.—Supervisors—Isaac M. Schermerhorn, 
First ward; Abraham Van Ingen, Second ward; 
David Ostrom, Glenville; Thomas Knight, Duanes- 
burgh; Abraham Pearse, Niskayuna; David Mur- 
ray, Princetown; Harmanus A. Van Slyck, Rotter- 
dam. Officers same as last year. 

Total tax levied this year was $12,589.77. 
1835.—Supervisors—Isaac MM. Schermerhorn; 

First ward; Abraham Van Ingen, Second ward, 
Daniel Smith, Glenville; Thomas Knight, Duanes- 
burgh; Abraham Pearse, Niskayuna; David Mur- 
ray, Princetown; John B. Schermerhorn, Rotter- 
dam. Officers same as preceding year. 

The total tax levied this year was $14,557.22. 
The following is each ward and town propor- 

tion of whole tax: First ward, $2,560.53; Second 
ward, $4,977.38; Glenville, $2,228.78; Duanes- 
burgh, $2,046.14; Niskayuna, $537.60; Princetown, 
$717.01; Rotterdam, $1,489.78. 

1836.-—Supervisors—Isaac M. Schermerhorn, 
First ward; Abraham Van Ingen, Second ward; 
Theodore W. Sanders, Glenville; Abraham Pearse, 
Niskayuna; James Smealie, Princetown; Jacob I, 
Schermerhorn, Rotterdam. Officers same as for 
year 1834. 

At the session of the Board a final settlement 
was made between the city and the Board of Su- 
pervisors for building the Court House, the city 
agreeing to accept $1,250 in full settlement, $250 
to be paid this year, $509 next year and $500 the 
following year. 

Total tax levied, $15,518.16. 
1837—-Supervisors—Giles F. Yates, First ward; 

David M. Moore, Second ward; Robert Sanders, 
Third and Fourth wards (wards formed from the 
Second ward); Robert Sanders, Glenville; Marvin 
Strong, Duanesburgh; Harmanus A. Van Slyck, 
Rotterdam; James Smealie, Princetown; Abraham 
Pearse, Niskayuna. Officers same as preceding 
year. 

Total tax levied, $16,733.64. 
1838.—Supervisors—Isaac Riggs, First ward; 

James C. Magoffin, Second ward; William Ander- 
son, Third and Fourth wards; Abner Smith, Glen- 
ville; Marvin Strong, Duanesburgh; Simon Scher- 
merhorn, Rotterdam; William Gifford, Prince- 
town; Abraham Pearse, Niskayuna. Chairman, 
Abraham Pearse; Clerk, A. L. Linn; Marshal, 
Bartholomew C. Vrooman. 

The lot where the present County Clerk’s office 
is situated was purchased this year by the Board 
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58 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

from Alexander G. Fouder for $500, and a com- 
mittee appointed to cause the erection thereon of a 
fire-proof County Clerk’s and Surrogate’s office, at a 
cost not exceeding $2,000. 

The total tax levied this year was $18,766.74. 
1839.—Supervisors—Isaac I. Yates, First ward; 

James C. Magoftin, Second ward; William Ander- 
son, Third and Fourth wards; David F. Rees, 
Glenville; Marvin Strong, Duanesburgh; Garrett 
Van Vranken, Niskayuna; William Gifford, Prince- 
town; Simon Schermerhorn, Rotterdam. Chair- 
man, Marvin Strong; Clerk, James M. Bouck; 
Marshal, Cornelius J. Barhydt. 

The total tax levied this year was $19,984.09. 
1840,—Supervisors — Nicholas Hansom, First 

ward; James C. Magoffin, Second ward; Joel Phil- 
lips, Third and Fourth wards; David Ostrom, 
Glenville; Benjamin F. Wood, Duanesburgh; Pe- 
ter B. Noxon, Niskayuna; Alexander Clogston, 
Princetown; John P. Becker, Rotterdam. Chair- 
man, James C. Magoffin; Clerk, James M. Bouck; 
Masshal, Cornelius J. Barhydt. The brick build- 
ing on the east side of the almshouse was built 
this year. 

Total tax levied this year was $23,649.94. 
1841.—Supervisors—Isaac I. Yates, First ward; 

James C. Magoffin, Second ward; James G. Van 
Voast, Third and Fourth wards; Nicholas Brooks, 
Glenville; Benjamin F. Wood, Duanesburgh; Gar- 

_ret Van Vranken, Niskayuna; Alexander Clogston, 
Princetown; Abram Warren, Rotterdam. Officers 
same as preceding year. 

Five hundred dollars was appropriated this year 
for the purpose of building school-houses in the 
city of Schenectady. Sheriff Mindert M. K. Wem- 
ple received the sum of fifty dollars for the execu- 
tion of Charles Cook, murderer of Mrs. Merry, a 
resident of the town of Glenville. The tax levied 
this year was about the same as last. 

1842.— Supervisors— Sidney B. Potter, First 
ward ; Nicholas A. Vedder, Second ward; Peter 
Rowe, Third and Fourth wards ; Jacob Carner, 
Glenville; Benjamin F. Wood, Duanesburgh ; 
William Gordon, Princetown ; Garrett Van Vran- 
ken, Niskayuna; Abraham Warren, Rotterdam. 
Chairman, Abraham Warren; Clerk, James M. 
Bouck ; Marshal, Cornelius J. Barhydt. 

March 28 of this year an act of the Legislature 
was passed creating the office of Police Justice of 
the city of Schenectady. The selection of this 
officer was duly delegated to the Board of Super- 
visors. Joseph H. Vrooman was chosen for this 
year. His salary was fixed at seven hundred dol- 
lars per year. The total tax levied this year was 
$28,151.35. 
1843.—Supervisors— Simon C. Groat, First 

ward ; Nicholas A. Vedder, Second ward; Peter 
Rowe, Third and Fourth wards ; Jacob Carner, 
Glenville ; Perry T. Briggs, Duanesburgh ; Mor- 
gan. Strong, Niskayuna; John W. Shannon, 
Princetown; Abraham Warren, Rotterdam. Chair- 
man, Abraham Warren; Clerk, Benjamin F. 
Patten ; Marshal, Cornelius J. Barhydt. 

The amount of taxes levied this year was nearly 
$2,000 less than last year. 

1844.—Supervisors — Isaac Riggs, First ward ; 
Samuel Myers, Second ward; John G, Van 
Vorst, Third and Fourth wards: Peter Sanders, 

Glenville ; Thomas Knight, Duanesburgh ; Abra- 
ham Pearse, Niskayuna; John W. Shannon, 

Princetown; James ‘IT. Wasson, Rotterdam. 
Chairman, Abraham Pearse; Clerk, John Van 
Santvoord ; Marshal, Bassett Vedder. The total 
tax levied this year was $23,495.82. 

1845.—Supervisors—Martin De Forest, First 
ward ; John S. M. Barhydt, Second ward; Jabez 
Ward, Third and Fourth wards; Abraham W. 
Toll, ‘Glenville: Thomas Knight, Duanesburgh ; 
James R. Craig, Niskayuna; James Donnan, 
Princetown ; James Allen, Rotterdam. Chairman, 
Thomas Knight; Clerk, Benjamin F. Potter ; 
Marshal, O. S. De Forest. The amount of taxes 
levied was about the same as last year. 
1846.—Supervisors — Martin De Forest, First 

ward; John S. M. Barhydt, Second ward ; John 
Tq. Vrooman, Third and Fourth wards ; Adam C, 
Van Patten, Glenville ; Thomas Knight, Duanes- 

burgh ; James R. Craig, Niskayuna ; James Don- 
nan, Princetown; Abraham N. Bradt, Rotter- 
dam. 

Officers of the Board were the sameas preceding 
year, $853.45 was expended on repairs at the 
almshouse. Total tax levied this year was 
$25,901.82. 

1847.—Supervisors—Martin De Forest, First 
ward ; Nicholas Barhydt, Second ward; John I. 
Vrooman, Third and Fourth wards; Abraham 
Conklin, Duanesburgh; Abraham W. Toll, 
Glenville ; William Van Vranken, Niskayuna ; 
James Templar, Princetown ; James P. Wasson, 
Rotterdam. Chairman, Martin De Forest ; Clerk, 

Benjamin F. Potter; Marshal, O. S. De Forest. 
Under an act of the Legislature, passed this year, 

the offices of Judge and Surrogate were combined, 
and the first election of a person to this office oc- 
curred this year. The Board fixed the salary at 
one thousand dollars. Total tax levied this year 
Was $24,374.58. 

1848. —Supervisors—Martin De Forest, First 

ward; Peter Banker, Second ward; Joshua Bar- 
ker, Third and Fourth wards; Abraham Conklin, 
Duanesburgh; Reuben Ellwood, Glenville; Wil- 
liam Van Vranken, Niskayuna; James Templar, 
Princetown; John W. Conklin, Rotterdam. Chair- 
man, Abraham Conklin; Clerk and Marshal, 
same as last year. 

Application was made and granted by the Free- 
man’s Bridge Company for the right to build a 
bridge where the present bridge stands. The 
right was also extended to the Schenectady and 
Duanesburgh Plank Road Company and _ the 
Schenectady and Saratoga Plank Road Company 
to build plank roads. 

The State and County tax this year amounted to 
$10,500. Ward and town charges, $2,295.10; 
city, $8,507.74. 

1849. —Supervisors—Martin De Forest, First 
ward; Peter Banker, Second ward; David P. Greene, 
Third and Fourth wards; Abram Conklin, Duanes- 
burgh; Reuben Ellwood, Glenville; John Pearse, Nis- 
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kayuna; James Weart, Princetown; John W. | Vedder, Third ward; Livingston Ellwood, Fourth 
Conklin, Rotterdam. Chairman, Peter Banker; | ward; James Donnan, Duanesburgh ; Minard 
Clerk, Stephen. H. Johnson; Marshal, Green G. 
Crandall. The first local law for the preservation 
of game was framed by this Board this year. The 
application of the Fort Hunter and Albany Plank 
Road Company to extend a plank road through a 
part of this county was granted. The aggregate 
valuation of real and personal estate was returned 
at $3,112,417.66. 
remained at about the same amount. 

The total tax levied this year was $32,833.15. 
‘State and county tax, $15,400; city tax, $1r2,- 
400,09. 

1850.—Supervisors—Stephen Yates, First ward; 
John S. M. Barhydt, Second ward;  Solo- 
mon B. King, Third and Fourth Wards; Alex- 
ander Siddle, Jr., Duanesburgh; Adam C. Van 

Patten, Glenville; William V. Bradt, Niskayuna; 
James Weart, Princetown; N. I. Schermerhorn, 
Rotterdam. Chairman, Stephen Yates; Clerk, 
Benjamin F. Potter; Marshal, John C. Barhydt. 

The total tax levied this year was $27,616.43. 
The State and county tax was $13,000. 

1851.—Supervisors—Stephen Yates, First ward; 
Adrian Van Santvoord, Second ward; Solomon 
B. King, Third ward; Nicholas Barhydt, Fourth 
ward (by act of Legislature, March 21, 1851); 
Alexander Siddle, Jr., Duanesburgh; A. C. Van 
Patten, Glenville; William V. Bradt, Niskayuna; 
John Robinson, Jr., Princetown; John J. Scher- 
merhorn, Rotterdam. Officers same as preceding 
year. 

The following sums were levied upon the city 
this year: Support of poor, $3,000; highways, 
$2,000; Fire Department, $2,000; Police, $1,- 
“E00 ; contingent, $1,400. 

The valuation of real and personal estate in the 
county this year was more than double over pre- 
ceding year, being $7,149,113. 

Total tax levied this year was $34,150.66. 
1852.—Supervisors—Stephen Yates, First ward; 

A. M. Vedder, Second ward; A. F. Kingsbury, 
Third ward; Nicholas Barhydt, Fourth ward; 
Alonzo Ladd, Duanesburgh; Nicholas Brooks, 
Glenville (subsequently elected Sheriff; Reuben 
Groot was appointed to fill vacancy) ; James Van 
Vranken, Niskayuna; James Robinson, Jr., 
Princetown; George Vedder, Rotterdam. Officers 
same as preceding year, with the exception of 
Alexander J. Tiomson, Clerk. 

The county tax this year was $23,501.10. Of 
this sum $5,039 was appropriated to schools by 
law of 1851. Total tax levied, $38,493.68. 

1853.—Supervisors—Sidney B. Potter, 
ward; Alexander M. Vedder, Second 
Francis Fisk, Third ward; Nicholas Barhydt, 
Fourth ward; Alonzo Ladd, Duanesburgh 
Bracey Tobey, Glenville ; James Van Vranken, 
Niskayuna; James McNee, Princetown; N. I. 
Schermerhorn, Rotterdam. Chairman, Sidney B. 
Potter; Clerk, John Bradt; Marshal, George Wag- 
goner. ‘Total tax levied this year was $40,427.99. 

1854.—Supervisors—Albert Ward, First ward ; 
Alexander M. Vedder, Second ward; Peter 

First 
ward ; 

From 1833 to this year it had | 

Knights, Glenville ; John H. Putnam, Niskayuna ; 
James McNeese, Princetown; George tat Rotter- 
dam. Chairman, Alexander M. Vedder; Clerk, 
Simon Calkins; Marshal, John T. Van "Potten. 

Total tax levied this year was $36,744.05. 
1855.—Supervisors—James R. Craig, — First 

ward; Sybrant G. Van Debogart, Second ward ; 
Levi Case, Third ward ; Robert C. Dorn, Fourth 
ward; Alexander Liddle, Jr., Duauesburgh ; 
Christian H. Brooks, Glenville; John Pearse, 
Niskayuna; Samuel! B. Bradshaw, Princetown ; 
Moses Chism, Rotterdam. Chairman, James R. 
Craig; Clerk, James J. Marlette ; Marshal, John 
T. Van Patten. 

The city of Schenectady raised by tax this year, 
by act of the Legislature, $3,100 for school pur- 
poses. County and State tax. this year was $26,- 
500. Total tax levied, $46,708. 38. 

1856.—Supervisors—Sidney  B. 
ward; S. G. Van Debogart, Second ward ; 
Francis Van Debogart, Third ward; Abraham 
Vrooman, Fourth ward; Angus McIntosh, 
Duanesburgh ; Philip R. Toll, Glenville; John 
H. Putnam, Niskayuna; Samuel B. Bradshaw, 
Princetown ; S. J. Schermerhorn, Rotterdam. 

Chairman, S. G. Van Debogart; Clerk and 
Marshal same as preceding year. 

Under law of State passed April 9, 1854, $6,000 
was raised, levied on the city of Schenectady, for 
school purposes this year. 

Amount of taxes levied upon the county this 
year was about the same as last year. 

1857.—Supervisors—James R. Craig, First ward; 
S. G. Van Debogart, Second ward; Francis Van 
Debogart, Third ward; L. M. Clement, Fourth 
ward ; Angus McIntosh, Duanesburgh ; Philip R. 

Potter, First 

Toll, ’Glenville ; William H. Lake, Niskayuna ; 
Andrew Kelly, Princetown ; Henry M. Crane, 
Rotterdam. Officers same as last year. 

Total tax, $73,610.19. 
Among the sums levied upon the city of Sche- 

nectady were the following: Fire purposes, $1-, 
200; lighting streets, $4,000; poor, $2,500; 
volice, $1,000; school purposes, $8,000. The 
entire city tax was $25,840.25. 

Ward and town charges were $7,770.50. 
1858. —Supervisors—Jay Cady, First ward; S. 

G. Van Debogart, Second ward; Francis Van De- 
bogart, Third ward ; Ira Browaell: Fourth ward; 
Benjamin F. Wood. Duanesburgh ; Charles P. 
Sanders, Glenville; Benjamin C. Lansing, Nis- 
kayuna; Andrew Kelly, Princetown; Henry M. 
Crane, Rotterdam. Chairman, S. G. Van De- 
bogart ; Clerk, H. Maynard Aiken and J. J. Mar- 
lette ; Marshal, John S. M. Barhydt. 

Total tax levied this year was $76,125.77. 
1859.—The Supervisors this year were: Peter 

Dorsch, First ward; William H. Anthony, Second 
ward ; Jacob Vedder, Third ward ; William H. 
Helmer, Fourth ward; William Young, Duanes- 
burgh ; Charles P. Sanders, Glenville; John I. 
Vrooman, Niskayuna ; John Marlette, Princetown; 
William Akin, Rotterdam. Chairman, William 
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60 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

H. Anthony ; Clerk, James J. Marlette ; Marshal, 
John G. Van Patten. 

The Excise Commissioners made a report this 
year, from which we find that $3,005 was received 
from licenses granted. 

Total tax this year was $64,749.76. 
1860. — Supervisors — A. Thompson, First 

ward; William H. Anthony, Second ward ; An- 
drew Frame, Third ward; Andrew McMullen, 
Fourth ward; Nicholas Barhydt, Fifth ward 
(formed March 8, 1860, by an act of the Legisla- 
ture); Charles P. Sanders, Glenville ; John Mar- 
lette, Princetown ; Samuel Wingate, Duanesburgh; 
James T. Wasson, Rotterdam ; John I. Vrooman, 
Niskayuna. Chairman, James T. Wasson; Clerk, 
Allen H. Jackson. 

From the report made by the Excise Commis- 
sioners this year, it appears that ninety-one licenses 
were granted in the county, producing a revenue of 

$2,893.76. 
The ee tax levied this year was $65,240.67. 

The city tax this year was $26,882.42. 
1861.—Supervisors—Alexander J. Thompson, 

First ward; S. G. Van Debogart, Second ward ; 
Jacob Vedder, Third ward; Andrew McMullen, 
Fourth ward; James H. W ard, Fifth ward ; Sam- 
uel Wingate, Duanesburgh ; Charles P. Sanders, 
Glenville ; Walliama Van Vranken, Niskayuna ; 

Thomas Passage, Princetown; James McMillan, 
Jr., Rotterdam. Chairman, James H. Ward; 
Clerk, Allen H. Jackson, part term, Walter T. L 
Sanders remainder. 

Total tax this year was $68,015.11. 
1862.—Supervisors—sSimon V. Swits, First ward; 

William H. Anthony, Second ward; Jacob Ved- 
der, Third Ward; Cornelius Thomson, Fourth 
ward; James H. Ward, Fifth ward; Samuel Win- 
gate, Duanesburgh; Charles P. Sanders, Glen- 
ville; William Van Vranken, Niskayuna; Alex- 
ander Gifford, Princetown; James McMillan, Jr., 
Rotterdam. 

Chairman, William H. Anthony; 
officers same as preceding year. 
We have now arrived at that period in the his- 

tory of the Board when the war for the preserva- 
tion of the Union had reached gigantic proportions. 
The present Board of Supervisors, and all sub- 
sequent boards during the war, exhibited a pa- 
triotic devotion to the Union. 

After the organization of the Board, a special 
meeting was held August 16th of this year, and a 
resolution, of which the following is part, was 
unanimously passed: 

‘*Resolved, that we, the Supervisors of the 
County of Schenectady, will continue to pay to 
all volunteers enlisting in the companies now form- 
ing, or to be formed, to fill up the quotas required 
by the general Government to be raised by this 
county, either upon the first or second calls of 
the President for 300,000 men upon each call, the 
sum of $50 to each of such volunteers, in addi- 
tion to the bounties already provided by the State 
and general governments. ” 

The enunciation of the passage of the resolu- 
tion was received with much applause and cheering 

remaining 

' - 

by a large body of anxious and expectant citizens, 

who were present awaiting in silent solemnity the 
action of the board. 

Under the provision of this resolution the sum 
of $29,250 was expended this year, and the 
raising of this amount by taxation was legalized 
by legislative act passed the subsequent year. 
The total tax levied this year was $96, 200. 24. 

1863.—Supervisors—Martin De Forest, First 
ward; Wm. H. Anthony, Second ward; Sidney C. 
Ellsworth, Third ward; Peter Van Dyck, Fourth 

ward; James H. Ward, Fifth ward; Samuel Win- 
gate, Duanesburgh; Charles P. Sanders, Glenville; 
Hiram Baumes, Niskayuna; Alexander Gifford, 
Princetown; James McMillan, Jr., Rotterdam. 

Chairman, James H. Ward: Clerk, Walter T. 
L. Sanders; Marshal, Benjamin F. Sheldon. 

At this session of the Board, the sum of $300 
was appropriated to each volunteer recruited in 
the county under the proclamation of the Pres- 
ident dated October 10, 1863, calling for 300,000 
men. 

Twenty-six thousand dollars in bonds of the 
County of Schenectady, of $500 each, were issued 
this year to discharge the liabilities incurred under 
the resolution of the Board for the payment of 
bounties to volunteers. 

The total tax levied this year was $109,785.75. 
1864.—Supervisors — Martin De Forest, First 

ward; William H. Anthony, Second ward; Sidney 
C. Ellsworth, Third ward; “Peter Van Dyck, Fourth 
ward; James H. Ward, Fifth ward; Samuel Win- 
gate, Duanesburgh; John L. Turnbull, Duanes- 
burgh (appointed to fill vacancy caused by removal 
of Samuel Wingate from town); Aaron Swart, 
Glenville; Hiram Baumes, Niskayuna; Alexander 
Giftord, Princetown; James McMillan, Jr., Rot- 
terdam. Chairman and Clerk same as last year. 

From the report of the County Treasurer this 
year, it appears the Finance Committee had given 
orders to 279 men, amounting to $83,700, for 
bounty money, from December 15, 1863, to July 
g, 1864. 

A tax was levied upon the city this year, made 
payable June 1, of $50,000 to pay bounties. 

The total tax levied this year was $225,718.36, 
the largest tax ever imposed upon the county. 
Over $120,000 of this sum was for bounties. 

1865. First 
ward; William H. Anthony, Second ward; Sidney 
C. Ellsworth, Third ward; Peter Van Dyck, Fourth 
ward; Nicholas H. Swart, Fifth ward; Charles P. 

Sanders, Glenville; John I. Vrooman, Jr., Niska- 
yuna; William Dougall, Princetown; Jacob D. 
Wemple, Rotterdam. Chairman, Martin De For- 
est; Clerk, Walter T. L. Sanders; Marshal, John 
T. Van Patten. 

At this session of the Board, the Provost Marshal, 
J. P. Baths, of the Eighteenth Congressional Dis- 
trict (comprising Saratoga, Schenectady, Mont- 
gomery, Fulton and Hamilton counties), made a 
report concerning military affairs in the district, 
from which we make the following extracts: 

The corrected enrollment, made in 1865, shows 
12,418 men in the district liable to military duty. 
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Of this number Schenectady County was credited 
with 2,110 men, The whole number of men 
mustered into service in the district was 7,157 
men. 

The following was the amount of bounties paid 
by the city and respective towns of the county up 
to October 31, 1865: 

City, $183.750; Duanesburgh, $113,394; Glen- 
ville, $88,720.53; Princetown, $36,coo; Rotter- 
dam, $75,292; Niskayuna, $24,756.94. A special 
tax of $50,750 for bounty money was levied upon 
the city of Schenectady, to be paid by the 3d of 
May, 1866. 

The total tax levied this year was $150,196.86, 
1866.—Supervisors—Arthur W. Hunter, First 

ward; William H. Anthony, Second ward; Rich- 
ard Rosa, Third ward; Peter Van Dyck, Fourth 
ward;~- Frederick Vedder, Fifth ward; 
Mallock, Duanesburgh; Charles P. Sanders, Glen- 
ville; John E Vrooman, Jr., Niskayuna; William 
Dougall, Princetown; James McMillan, Jr., Rot- 
terdam. Chairman, Richard Rosa; Clerk and 
Marshal same as preceding year. 

Total tax levied this year was $140,584.93. 
1867.—Supervisors—Jonas H. Crane, First 

ward; William H. Anthony, Second ward; Rich- 
ard Rosa, Third ward; Peter Van Dyck, Fourth 
ward; Frederick Vedder, Fifth ward; William 
Mallock, Duanesburgh; Charles P. Sanders, Glen- 
ville; John I. Vrooman, Jr., Niskayuna; William 
Dougall, Princetown; James McMillan, Jr., Rot- 
terdam. Chairman, William Dougall; Clerk and 
Marshal same as preceding year. 

This year $15,407.30 was raised in the city of 
Schenectady to defray expenses of the capital po- 
lice,as provided by the amendatory acts to Chapter 
555 of the Laws of 186s. 

The total tax levied this year was $149,210.68. 
A special tax of $46,575, to be paid by May 3, 

1868, was levied upon the city to fund its bounty 
debt. 

1868.—Supervisors—Jonas H. Crane, First ward; 
William H. Anthony, Second ward; Harmon Sey- 
mour, Third ward; Peter Van Dyck, Fourth ward; 
Frederick Vedder, Fifth ward; William Malloch, 
Duanesburgh; Charles P. Sanders, Glenville; John 
I. Vrooman, Jr., Niskayuna; Andrew T. Wingate, 
Princetown; James Clute, Rotterdam. Chairman, 
Harmon Seymour; Clerk and Marshal, same as 
Jast year. 

Total tax this year, $123,774.54. 
1869. —Supe-visors—Jonas H. Crane, First ward; 

William H. Anthony, Second ward; Peter Vedder, 

Third ward; Peter Van Dyck, Fourth ward; Fred- 
erick Vedder, Fifth ward; William Mallock, Duanes- 

burgh; Charles P. Sanders, Glenville; Nicholas 
J. Van Vranken, Niskayuna; Andrew T. Wingate, 
Princetown; H. Maynard Aiken, Rotterdam. 
Chairman, H. Maynard Aiken; Clerk and Marshal 
same as preceding year. 

The sum of $10,411.78 was expended upon the 
county fair and parade grounds this year. 

Total tax levied, $148,165.59. 
1870. —Supervisors—Jonas H. Crane, First ward; 

William H. Anthony, Second ward; John G. 
> 

William | 

Greene, Third ward; Peter Van Dyck, Fourth 
ward; Frederick Vedder, Fifth ward; William Mal- 
lock, Duanesburgh; Charles P. Sanders, Glenville; 
Nicholas J. Van Vranken, Niskayuna; Walter Brad- 
shaw, Princetown; John M. Veeder, Rotterdam. 
Chairman, Nicholas J. Van Vranken; Clerk, G. Gil- 
bert; Marshal, John G. Van Patten. 

Ten thousand dollars was appropriated this year 
for the enlargement of the County Clerk’s and Sur- 
rogate’s office. The lot adjoining the old office 
was purchased for this purpose for $5,000. 

Total tax levied, $160, 947.65. 
1871.—Supervisors—Jonas H. Crane, First ward; 

Charles G. Ellis, Second ward; John G. Greene, 
Third ward; William H. Clark, Fourth ward; Har- 
rison Clute and Thomas Shannon (the latter ap- 
pointed to fill vacancy occasioned by election of 
Harrison Clute, Superintendent of Poor); Emmett 
O'Neill, Duanesburgh; Charles P. Sanders, Glen- 
ville; Walter Bradshaw, Princetown; John I. Vroo- 
man, Jr., Niskayuna; John M. Veeder, Rotterdam. 
Chairman, Walter Bradshaw; Clerk and Marshal, 
same as preceding year. 

Total tax levied, $138,693. 20. 
1872.—Supervisors—A. W. Hunter, First ward; 

Charles G. Ellis, Second ward; John G. Greene, 
Third ward; William H. Clark, Fourth ward; 
William H. McClyman, Fifth ward; Emmett 
O’Neill, Duanesburgh; Charles P. Sanders, Glen- 
ville; Christopher O. ‘Hamlin, Niskayuna; Walter 
Bradshaw, Princetown; John M. Veeder, Rotter- 
dam. Chairman, Emmett O’Neill ; Clerk, G. 
Gilbert; Marshal, Solomon Bearup. 

Total tax levied, $166,625.08. 
1873.—Supervisors — James 

ward; Charles G. Ellis, Second ward; John G. 
Greene, Third ward; Bartholomew O’Connel, 

Fourth ward; William H. McClyman, Fifth 
ward; Emmett O'Neill, Duanesburgh; Charles P. 
Sanders, Glenville; Christopher O. Hamlin, Nis- 
kayuna; Walter Bradshaw, Princetown; John M. 
Veeder, Rotterdam. Chairman, Christopher O. 
Hamlin; Clerk, G. Gilbert; Marshal, John G. 
Van Patten. April 21st of this year an act of the 
Legislature was passed authorizing the Board of 
Supervisors to sell a portion of the poor-house 
farm; 187 lots were sold at auction for the sum of 
$42,083. 

Total tax levied, $149,056.57. 
i Jonas 

ward; William H. Anthony, 
Hugh Reynolds, Third 
Fourth ward; Garrett 

R. “Craig, ; First 

H. Crane, First 
Second ward; 

ward; Martin Swart, 
S. Veeder, Fifth ward; 

Emmett O'Neill, Duanesburgh; Charles P. San- 
ders, Glenville; Christopher O. Hamlin, Niskay- 
una; Walter Bradshaw, Princetown; Seeley Pat- 
terson, Rotterdam. Chairman, Seely Patterson; 
Clerk, Josiah Van Vranken; Marshal, John G, 
Van Patten. 

Total tax levied, $177,744.78. 
1875.—Supervisors— Jonas H. Crane, First 

ward; William H. Anthony, Second ward; 
Hugh Reynolds, Third ward; Martin Swart, 
Fourth ward; Garrett S. Veeder, Fifth ward; 
Arthur D. Mead, Duanesburgh; Philip R. Toll, 
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62 HISTORY OF ‘THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

Glenville; Christopher O. Hamlin, Niskayuna; 
Alexander Gifford, Princetown; Jacob D. Wemple, 
Rotterdam. Chairman, Jonas H. Crane; remain- 
ing officers same as preceding year. Total tax 
levied, $184,441.72. 

1876.—Supervisors—A. W. Hunter, First 
ward; William H. Anthony, Second ward; Hugh 
Reynolds, Third ward; Lewis Vrooman, Fourth 
ward; William G. Van Patten, Fifth ward; George 
Lasher, Duanesburgh; Reuben Groot, Glenville; 
Christopher O. Hamlin, Niskayuna; Alexander 
Gifford, Princetown; Isaac Wemple, Rotterdam. 
Chairman, William H. Anthony; Clerk, Josiah 

Van Vranken; Marshal, John T. Van Patten. For 
a number of years heretofore the aggregate valua- 
tions of real and personal estate in the county had 
been returned by the assessors at about five and 
one-half million dollars. ‘This year the aggregate 
valuation was increased to $6,500,690.03. Total 
tax levied, $158,002.52. 

1877.—Supervisors—A. W. Hunter, First ward; 
Robert Cornell, Second ward; James McDermott, 
Third ward; Lewis Vrooman, Fourth ward; 
William G. Van Patten, Fifth ward; Arthur D. 
Mead, Duanesburgh; Reuben Groot, Glenville; 
Christopher O. Hamlin, Niskayuna; Alexander 
Gifford, Princetown; Isaac Wemple, Rotterdam. 
Chairman, Arthur D. Mead; Clerk, Josiah Van 
Vranken; Marshal, John G. Van Patten. Total 
tax about as preceding year. 
¥878.—Supervisors— A. W. Hunter, First 

ward; Robert Cornell, Second ward; James Mc- 
Dermott, Third ward; Peter Van Dyck, Fourth 
ward; F. T. Van Patten, Fifth ward; George 
Lasher, Duanesburgh; John A. Taws, Princetown; 
James Turnbull, Rotterdam; Christopher O. Ham- 
lin, Niskayuna; Reuben Groot, Glenville. Chair- 
man, George Lasher; Clerk, Gilbert De Graff; 
Marshal, John T. Van Patten. Total tax levied, 
$142,308. 31. 

1879.—Supervisors—A. W. Hunter, First ward; 
Hiram J. Ingersoll, Second ward ; James Flinn, 

-Third ward; Lewis Clement, Fourth ward; F. T. 
Van Patten, Fifth ward ; John W. Head, Duanes- 
burgh ; Reuben Groot, Glenville ; Christopher O. 
Hamlin, Niskayuna; John A. Taws, Princetown ; 
James Turnbull, Rotterdam. Chairman, John 
W. Head; Clerk, Gilbert De Graff; Marshal, 
John T. Van Patten. 

At this session a special act of the Legislature 
was passed abolishing the office of Keeper at the 
Almshouse, the duties of which office were united 
with those devolving upon the Superintendent of 
Poor. 

Total tax levied this year, $143,073.59. 
1880,—Supervisors—A. W. Hunter, First ward; 

Henry Bradt, Second ward; Francis Cain, Third 
ward ; Peter Van Dyck, Fourth ward; F. T. Van 
Patten, Fifth ward ; George Lasher, Duanesburgh; 
Alexander Donnan, Princetown; Thomas W. 
Winne, Niskayuna; Reuben Groot, Glenville ; 
James Turnbull, Rotterdam. Chairman, Reuben 
Groot ; Clerk, Patrick H. Cain; Marshal, John 
T. Van Patten. 

Total tax levied this year, $142,753.07. 

1881,—Supervisors—A. W. Hunter, First ward; 
Charles W. Sanders, Second ward; Francis Cain, 
Third ward; Peter Van Dyck, Fourth ward; 
George M. Bostwick, Fifth ward ; James W. Wad- 

dell, Duanesburgh; Reuben Groot, Glenville ; 

Samuel A. Weast, Rotterdam ; Alexander Donnan, 
Princetown ; Thomas W. Winne, Niskayuna. 
Chairman, Reuben Groot; Clerk, P. H. Cain ; 
Marshal, John T. Van Patten. 

Total tax abont the same as preceding year. 

1882.—Supervisors—A. W. Hunter, First ward ; 
Levi A. Young, Second ward; Francis Cain and 
Patrick H. Cain (the latter appointed to fill 
vacancy caused by death of Francis Cain), Third 
ward ; Peter Van Dyck, Fourth ward; Jerome 
B. Dow, Fifth ward ; James T. Wyatt, Glenville ; 
James T. Waddell, Duanesburgh ; Thomas W. 
Winne, Niskayuna; Samuel A. Weast, lRotter- 
dam ; James Weast, Princetown. Chairman, A. 
W. Hunter; Clerk, George M. Bostwick ; Mar- 
shal, John T. Van Patten. Total tax levied, 
$151,817.23. 

1883.—Supervisors—A. W. Hunter, First ward ; 
N. J. Swart, Second ward; P. H. Cain, Third 
ward ; Seth L. Clute, Fourth ward; Ephraim 
Clow, Fifth ward; James W. Waddell, Duanes- 
burgh; Thomas W. Winne, Niskayuna ; James 
Weast, Princetown; S. J. Schermerhorn, Rotter- 
dam. Chairman, A. W. Hunter; Clerk, John E. 
Myers ; Marshal, John T. Van Patten. 

At this session of the Board the aggregate valua- 
tions of the personal and real estate was increased 
from $5,542,448 for preceding year, to $13,281,- 
490.05 for this year. Total tax levied, $164,- 
364.78. 

Four of the city members of this Board made an 
appeal to the State Assessors, claiming that the 
equalization of assessment, as made by a majority 
of the Board, resulted in great injustice to the tax- 
payers of the city. A hearing was had before the 
State Assessors in this city in June of the follow- 
ing year, when the appeal of the city members was 
sustained, and the various towns of the county 
were ordered and did pay back to the city the 
several amounts wrongfully, as was claimed by 
the State Assessors, assessed upon the city. 

1884.-—Supervisors—A. W. Hunter, First ward; 
Jacob Barringer, Second ward; Patrick H. Cain, 
Third ward; Lewis Vrooman, Fourth ward; 
George Susholz, Fifth ward; John A. McClure, 
Duanesburgh ; James T. Wyatt, Glenville; John 
C, Myers, Rotterdam ; James Weast, Princetown ; 
Tnomas W. Winne, Niskayuna. Chairman, 
James T. Wyatt ; Clerk, Omie F. Vedder; Mar- 
shal, John T. Van Patten. 

Total tax levied this year was $183,664.65 ; 
State tax, $2y,880.64 ; county tax, $33,898.13 ; 
city charges, $95,346.73; town charges, $24,- 
538.85. 

Included in the city charges were the following 
items: Poor, $5,000.00; schools, $17,000.00 ; 
for deficiency, 1883 (by special act of Legislature), 
$13,500.00 ; extinguishment of fires, $12,000.00 ; 
lighting streets, $10,000.00 ; police, $9,500.00. 
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SUPERINTENDENTS OF POOR. 63 

SUPERINTENDENTS OF POOR. 

Previous to 1824, each town in all the counties 

of the State supported its own poor, under statutes 
passed by the Legislature, but which, however 
humane and liberal, were imperfect compared with 
our existing laws. November 27, 1824, alaw was 
passed for the establishment of a poor-house in 
several counties of the State. April 11, 1826, 

a law was passed authorizing the establishment of 
a poor-house in the county of Schenectady. This 
act was in the main similar to the law passed 
November 27, 1824. The number of superin- 
tendents was limited to three and not more than 
five. It was also provided in this act that the poor 
sent to the county poor-house from the city and 
several towns should be a charge upon the city or 
towns from which they were sent. 

The present county poor-house and the adjoin- 
ing farm, before the passage of this act, were used 
as an almshouse by the city and the present towns 
‘of Rotterdam and Glenville. On the gth day of 
December, 1825, a committee was appointed by 
the board for the purpose of purchasing this prop- 
erty. The price agreed upon was $2,000. The 
act of April 11, 1826, permitted this sale, which 
was consummated July 15, 1826. 

The first Superintendents of Poor were: David 
Boyd, Cornelius Z. Van Santvoord, John Wood, 
Jacob I. Schermerhorn and David Smith. They 
were appointed fora term of one year. The first 
poor-house keeper was Henry Clute. 

August 1, 1826, the poor-house was first opened 
for the reception of county poor. 

The first year the Superintendents made a con- 
tract with the keeper for the support, maintenance 
and clothing of the county paupers for sixty cents 
each per week, the keeper being allowed the prod- 
ucts of the farm and the use of the buildings, and 
whatever labor he could obtain from the able- 
bodied paupers. 

The first report was sent by the Superintendents 
to the Board of Supervisors, November 14, 1826, 
from which we find that from August Ist to October 
30th, the entire expense of the county poor-house 
was $321.00; the whole number of paupers, 38, 
divided as follows: City, 16; County 11; Rot- 
terdam, 3; Glenville, 6; Princetown, 2. The 
Superintendents reported that they had engaged 
Dr. John La Tonelier as almshouse physician, at 
an annual salary of $75. 

The Board of Supervisors prescribed the laws 
and regulations governing the poor-house, and the 
Tules to be observed by the inmates. The Super- 
intendents reported as follows: ‘‘That the poor- 
house and paupers have been visited every week 
by one of the Superintendents ; the paupers always 
found clean and cheerful; and the house clean, and 
everything in good order. The by-laws, rules 
and regulations laid down by the Board of Super- 
visors have been strictly adhered to.” 

The following year the Superintendents made a 
contract with Henry Clute to keep the paupers at 
fifty cents per week, under the same conditions as 
last year. 

| 

This year the offices of poor-house and jail 
physician were united into one office, and an an- 

nual salary of $120 allowed. David Low was 
elected as such physician. The total expense of 
the poor-house for the year was $481.14. 

In 1829, the sum of S150 was appropriated for 
the purpose of building a lunatic asylum on the 
poor-house property. The Superintendent reported 
that Sgoo would be necessary to defray the expenses 
of the poor for the following year. 

In 1830, the number of Superintendents was re- 
duced by the Board of Supervisors from five to 
three. 

The reports of the Superintendents for this and 
the following years are so limited that few facts of 
interest can be obtained. 

In 1831,.f. I. S. Van Epps, Henry Peek 
and William Carpenter were Superintendents of 
Poor. From the report of these officers it ap- 
pears the expenses of the poor-house were $1, 316.63 
for the preceding year, $500 of which sum was 
used to pay an indebtedness of previous year; $800 
was raised this year for poor-house purposes. 

The Superintendents for 1833 were: Henry 
Peek, Henry Lovett and William A, S. North. 
$1,200 was raised this year forsupport of the poor- 
house. 

Henry Peek, William A. S. North and Abner 
H. Smith were appointed Superintendents for 
1834. $1,400 was raised for County poor-house 
this year. 

For 1835, Abner Smith, Simon Schermerhorn and 
John Van Voast were Superintendents. $2,127 
was raised for county poor this year. 

For 1836, the same Superintendents were ap- 
pointed as in the preceding year. 

From this year to 1840 the amounts raised for 
county poor ranged from $1,600 to $2,200, 
The reports for these years were not recorded in 
the minutes of the Board of Supervisors, and could 
not be found. 

It had been the custom of the Board of Super- 
visors to visit the poor-house annually for inspec- 
tion. After inspecting the premises in 1840, it was 
determinea that insufficient room was provided for 
the paupers, and, in consequence, the brick build- 
ing on the east side of the poor-house was con- 
structed this year. A barn was also built at the 
same time. ; 

The following sums were raised this year: 
$2,000 for support of poor, $500 for furniture for 
new building, and $602 to pay indebtedness for 
poor purposes for preceding year. 

The Superintendents for 1841 and 1842 were: 
John Van Voast, Wm. A. S. North and John 
Clark. The sum of $1,800 was raised each year 
for county poor purposes. 
Wm. A._S. North, John Van Voast and Daniel 

Smith were chosen Superintendents for 1843, and 
Daniel Smith, David M. Moore and John Van 
Voast for 1844. $1,600 was raised in 1843, and 
$1,250 in 1844 for county poor. 

In 1844 the Board of Supervisors, deeming the ap- 
pointment of three Superintendents of Poor to be 
unnecessary and too expensive, petitioned the Legis- 



ge ee sp ROME AG 

list fia. = bind ae” fo ae acti: sq eidT 
-ne as bite soto sno onl berita sew seed Ph 
cow wool Dive, « hswolle GEER? to ‘welna’ isi. | 
ja sense injot sdT waning done ap Datdole.. 

hETCLA enw WR offs tat sesod-aoog oie 
101 beishqorqys sew OFT Jo. india oe eer Al, 
wilt ao. mula siinmel a gaibliad Wo seeing oil? 
hehogs: insbrsiniequa at “roger oevod- *370} 
esos ae ont Yalob oy Tinexooae od fluores Coie nik 

og eitiwolled ot saad) olf 
-vi 2ow aingsbasinheque lo wdousde ott opt i 
4b SUik toil Gi free to Gunctl . ast ~ Sau 

; seul | 
vsotniequ? edt to assqur ott 

wot indt Loilnil ow win ee Ef yniivatial ody | 
-bosinsilo of 4:93 mest | Tae: gis. 5th ant heen ned ropa o- ; 

yunsth. .eqqh oef 2 J ages al | ne ae-ad) wae aeew a a. act hile 2 ro 
MVUSIMIISMNE Siew ie gem , BRB: site “hits 1 i yale erp {ae tie ot eet 

1 ; “tile aie ee a EIB CIAY lag ll 
Bet to Ena 

f @ Went ise cay Bie ph “ae ae 
jocyeb ep. ori oe sate 

arcu P Ley Heroes a Wt VES & it | fot SE BEY | al 1? oH bia ret ahi 8 ae 

. . 6 emt | Megeniy wits ails 
erst as97 , ott eGo <3 expe 

okey sett sisheibneeh 
yea Pr 

bien gyteh lap sage” 

t 233 ooall, royal Tag ! 

‘peBe f vodY dein. bis bee 
wie band onl’ T asst amb ta. rot & 

a angt ef 

+t] to 2% 

Phe ja t 2hw Goe te 

ie Bio 

Heine 

7 Sr V dpsat 
rey ever sei 

anf gifet 
sein 2ay 
a1 a0! 

3 [i Lay he 

H 
t 
b | 

} 

| 
i 
1 

ie ) 
# oy euis: ens ie j 

WHO Vt } 

Tol aneter sis [1 

{ 

y | 

e710 satu mia gett 
= = oy 4 aaa 3d Jae 

a: aoRL agit Jo grojemd gat sod beat if 
atta ood edt itary’ o3 eqI2iT 

f Ras | qwdogoh) ¢ 0} igs aan 
if poche settoinbeic Og _ 

5 toyiag of |, BS grequag Ae 
3 “dl, HO Bri oN sit 
ai botoswe | afl 
DOH QpeRe esetuns : 

s1o% ate gaivollch . oat, (aie 
eye coed. tg, Srogyue Ih BEG ss 
q 0 1 S608” brig. ‘criblind was 

of 
£3 

“HO Baw Det aisoon ba 

an} ts itis bala aby 

Bp ee Se 

; xy 

h 

wine patbaasig ite es2oging 192g 
:yTow sp%) bog 1p8r 108 anpbaainiaqut od 

f r F. ae + AW Ak. aN ego Fae! adat’, 
soy fans beets: enw co8lse YW wad off “lish Fs 

“ede TOO YaST | eRe 
aT tdot” tow 8 mW ES 

. Seeiniege nesods stow die 
as / anol. bas ywek, WM bivedl + sige Is meth. 

1. boaiat baw oie : i 
GG Pauae AOR GBT Moe Be 

-qa9 de oa sioaiesoqu bist ww (241 
d¢ ol qog4 Jontitobasinitegne S90 to: srgmaog || ° 

ented ols eau: i Ene nes 

a 



. 64 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

lature for the passage of an act permitting the 
Board to appoint but one Superintendent of Poor. 
The passage of such a law was not effected until a 
number of years after. 

The Superintendents from 1845 to 1848 were : 
Benjamin F. Wood, Abraham A. Van Voast and 
Abijah Freeman; $15,000 was raised in 1845 
and $1,600 in 1846 for the maintenance of the 
county poor; $853.45 was expended in 1846 on 
an addition and repairs at the poor-house. 

In 1848, the Superintendents of Poor were re- 
quired to give bonds in the sum of $3,000 each. 
The Superintendents for this year were: John F. 
Clute, Philip H. Dederick and William S. Kelly. 

The Superintendents for 1849 were: Joshua 
Parker, Abraham Vrooman and Philip H. Dederick. 
From 1848 to 1854, the cost of maintaining the 
poor-house ranged from $1,500 to $2,000. In 
1854 a difficulty arose between the Board of Super- 
visors and the Superintendents of Poor as to which 
body was delegated the power of appointing a 
keeper at the poor-house. The Board appointed 
Henry Marcellus and the Superintendents selected 
William Chism. After legal investigation it was 
settled by allowing the Superintendents to make 
their own appointment; but that it was not an ac- 
knowledgment of their legal rights, is evinced by 
the fact that the fol lowing year the Board appointed 
a keeper, and continued to do so until this office 
was abolished in 1879. 

An act was passed by the Legislature, in 1854, 
reducing the number of Superintendents of Poor 
to one, and providing that such officer should be 
elected by the people for a term of three years. 
The first Superintendent elected to this office, 
under this law, was Nicholas I. Schermerhorn in 
1856. His term began January 1, 1857. 
From the report made by the Superintendent in 

1860, we find that there were 73 paupers at the 
poor-house November 1 of that year, and that the 
entire expense of the county poor for the year end- 
ing November 1 was $9, 280.67. 

In 1861, the brick building on the west side of 
the poor-house was erected for the purpose of 
accommodating the insane of the county, at a cost 
of $3,000. 

For the year ending November 1, 1862, the 
whole expense of the county poor was $9,270.59. 

From 1862 to the present time, the yearly ex- 
pense of the county poor-house has averaged be- 
tween eleven and twelve thousand dollars. In 
1866 it was $15,453.12. The maximum amount 
was reached in 1878, when it was $16,199, and the 
lowest in 1880, when it was $8,283. The average 
number of paupers has been between seventy and 
eighty. 

In 1873, a portion of the poor-house farm was 
sold at auction in small lots to private individuals. 
187 lots were disposed of. 

In 1879, a special act of the Legislature was 
passed abolishing the office of poor-hcuse keeper ; 
the duties of this office were united with those 
devolving upon the Superintendent of the Poor. 
Since the passage of this law, the Superintendent has 
resided at the poor-house. 

For a number of years after the erection of the 
Asylum building in 1861, the county took care of 
its insane, but in 1875 most of the incurable cases 
were removed tothe State Asylum at Ovid, and a 
few years after, all incurable patients were removed 
to this institution. At the present time the county 
supports none of its insane at the county house. 

LIST OF SUPERINTENDENTS OF POOR 

Superintendents, —1856-1866, W. 

AND KEEPERS. 

I. Schermer- 

horn; 1866-1869, John F. Clute; 1869-1872, 
W. J. McIntosh; -1872-1879, Harrison Clute ; 
1879-1885, William G. an Patten; 1885, An- 
thony Waiton. 

Keepers. —1857-1866, William Chism ; 1866- 
1871, Francis Veeder ; 1872-1876, John I. Vroo- 
man; 1876-1879, Philip Eygner; 1879-1880, 
William E. Dederick. 

COUNTY AND STATE OFFICERS. 

Following will be found as complete a list of the 
officials, both County and State, from Schenectady 
County, as could be obtained. Those not given 
in the following pages will be found in separate 
articles in different portions of this work. 

Robert Yates wasa Member of the First, Second, 
Third and Fourth Provincial Congresses of New 
York; was a Member of the First Convention of 
New York, in 1777, to form a constitution, and a 
member of the committee to draft it; was an As- 
sociate Justice of the Supreme Court of New York, 
and finally its Chief Justice. He was a member ot 
the Convention of 1788 to ratify the Federal Con- 
stitution, 

Rineis Schermerhorn was Senator under the first 
Constitution, 1777 to 1781. 

John Sanders was Senator under the first Con- 
stitution, 1799-1502, and member of the Council 
of Appointment in 1800. His associates were De 
Witt Clinton, Ambrose and John Roseboom. 

Simon Veeder was Senator under the first Con- 
stitution from 1804 to 1806. 

Henry Yates, Jr., was Senator under the first 
Constitution from 1810 to 1814, and from 1818 to 
1822. He was also a member of the Council of 
Appointment in 1812 and 1818. 

Gerret S. Veeder was the first Judge of the 
Schenectady Court of Common Pleas, appointed 
soon after the organization of the county in 
1809. 
Among those who represented Schenectady in 

the General Assembly from 1615 to 1768 were the 
following: Karl Hansen Toll, Jacob Glen, Arent 
Bradt, Abraham Glen, Nicholas Schuyler, Jacob 
Van Slyck, Isaac Vrooman, Ryer Schermerhorn, 
Jacobus Mynderse and Nicholas Groot. 

Henry Glen was member of Assembly in 1786, 
1787 and 1810. He was also member of the Third, 
Fourth, Fifth and Sixth Congresses of the United 
States, from 1793 to 1802, and also member of the 
First, Second and Third Provincial Congresses, 

1775-1776. 
Harmanus Peek was member of the Sixteenth 

Congress from 181g to 1821, 
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COUNTY AND STATE OFFICERS. 65 

William North was member of the Assembly 
1792, 1794, 1795, 1796 and 1710, and _ several 
times Speaker of that body. In 1798, during a 
recess of the Legislature, he was appointed a 
Senator of the United States by Governor John 
Jay, to fill a vacancy occasioned by the resigna- 
tion of John Gloss Hoburt. 

MEMBERS OF ASSEMBLY. 

1798-1800, 1802, 1804-1807, 1813, Joseph 
Shurtliff; 1811-1812, James Boyd and John 
Young; 1813, Alexander Combs; 1814, Abraham 
Van Ingen and Lawrence Vrooman; 1815, Abra- 
ham Van Ingen and John Victory; 1816, Harma- 
nus Peek and Harry Fryer; 1817, Harmanus Van 
Slyck and John Victory; 1818, Daniel L. Van 
Antwerp and Simon A. Veeder; 1819, James 
Frost and Simon A. Groot; 1820, Christian Havy- 

erly and Marinus Willett; 1821, Richard Mc- 
Michael and Garrit Veeder; 1522, James Walker 
and John F. D. Veeder; 1823, Peter M. Bronck; 
1824, Isaac Riggs; 1825, John S. Vrooman; 1826, 
Robert Sanders; 1827-1830, Alonzo C. Paige; 
1831, Aaron Carroll; 1832, Abram Dorn; 1833, 
Cornelius C. Van Vranken; 1834, Simon Scher- 
merhorn; 1835, David Ostrom; 1836, John B. 
Duane; 1837, Thomas Knight; 1838, Silas H. 
Marsh; 1839, Silas H. Marsh; 1840, Theodore 
W. Sanders; 1841, Abraham Pearse; 1842, Jona- 
than C. Burnham; 1843, Edward H. Walton; 
1844, Archibald L. Linn; 1845, William Gifford; 
1846, David M. Moore; 1847, David Caw; 1848, 
Abraham W. Toll; 1849, Israel A. Green; 1850, 
James Allen; 1851, Reuben Ellwood; 1852, James 
Donnan; 1853, Wm. Van Vranken; 1854, Mat- 
thew Winne, Jr.; 1855, James Donnan; 1856, 
James Rodgers; 1857, Nicholas Barhydt; 1858, 
Angus McIntosh; 1859, Charles Thomas; 1860, 
Peter Dorsch; 1861, Alonzo Macomber; 1862, 
Simon J. Schermerhorn; 1863, John McShea, Jr.; 
1864, Charles Stanford; 1865, Charles Stanford; 
1866, John C. Ellis; 1867, Chas. G. Ellis; 1868, 
Robert Furman; 1869, Henry M. Crane; 1870, 
Gershom Banker; 1871, Gershom Banker; 1872, 
William Greenhalgh; 1873, Daniel P. McQueen; 
1874, Daniel P. McQueen; 1875, Samuel T. Ben- 
edict; 1876, Emmett O’Neill; 1877, Walter T. L. 
Sanders; 1878, Arthur D. Mead; 1879, Daniel P. 
McQueen; 1880, Arthur D. Mead; 1881, George 
Lasher; 1882, John D. Campbell; 1883, Christo- 
pher O. Hamlin; 1884, John W. Veeder; 1885, 
Edward D. Cotter. 

STATE SENATORS. 

John Veeder, 1806, 1808-9 ; Joseph C. Yates, 
1807, 1808; Henry Yates, Jr., 1811-1814, 1818- 
1821; | Alonzo .C.. Paige, 1837, ,1839-1840; 
Stephen H. Johnson, 185c-1; Charles Stanford, 
1866-9. 

COUNTY JUDGES. 

1809, Gerrit S. Veeder; 1812, Gardner Cleve- 
land; 1823, David Boyd; 1835, Samuel W. 
Jones ; 1840, Archibald L. Linn; 1845, Samuel 
W. Jones; 1851, Stephen H. Johnson; 1855, 
John Sanders ; 1859, Stephen H. Johnson; 1865, 

! 
| 
| 
| 
| 
Judson S. Landon ; 1869, Walter T. LL. Sanders ; 
1873, Austin A. Yates ; 1879, David C. Beattie. 

COUNTY SURROGATES. 

1809, William J. Teller ; 1813, Robert Hudson ; 
1815, William J. Teller; 1816, John Yates; 

1821, Giles F. Yates; 1840, John Saunders; 1844 
—1847, David Cady Smith. Since the latter date 

the County Judges have acted as Surrogates. 

DISTRICT ATTORNEYS. 

1818, John K. Paige; 1823, Alonzo C. Paige; 
1839, Platt Potter; 1847, Benjamin F. Potter; 1850, 
Samuel L. Baker; 1851, James Fuller; 1851, John 
Van Santvoord; 1853, Samuel T, Freeman; 1856, 
Simon Calkins; 1856, Judson S. Landon; 1862, 
John G. McChesney; 1865, John L. Hill; 1868, 
Austin A, Yates; 1873, Alonzo P. Strong; 1874, 
David C. Beattie; 1877, Charles E. Palmer; 1880, 
J. Teller Schoolcraft. 

SHERIFFS. 

1809, James V. S. Riley; 1810, John V. Van 
Ingen; 1811, James V. S. Riley; 1813, John 
Brown; 1815, Gideon Holliday; 1818, Isaac Riggs; 
1821, Lewis Eaton; 1822, A. Van Slyck; 1825, 
John F. D. Vedder; 1828, Gershom Van Voast; 
1831, Isaac I. Yates; 1834, Matthew Putman; 
1837, Myndert M. R. Wemple; 1840, David F. 
Reese; 1843, Anthony H. Van Slyck; 1846, John 
G. Van Voast; 1849, John F. Clute; 1852, Nicholas 
Brooks; 1855, Obadiah L. De Forest; 1856, Philip 
Dederick; 1858, Norman M. F. Clute; 1861, Abra- 
ham Gillispie; 1864, Samuel Wingate; 1867, Peter 
Milier; 1868, Clark V. Worden; 1869, Jacob Ved- 
der; 1872, James McMillan; 1875, Hiram J. In- 
gersoll; 1878, Charles H. Van Vranken; 1881, Jacob 
De Forest; 1884, Seth L. Clute. 

COUNTY CLERKS. 

1769, Henry Glen (Town Clerk) ; 1809, Peter F. 
Veeder; 1810, Joseph Shurtliff; 1811, Peter F. 
Veeder; 1812, Jellis A. Fonda ; 1813, Joseph 
Shurtliff; 1815, Jellis A. Fonda; 1822, Jellis A. 
Fonda ; 1834, John S. Vrooman ; 1834, Jonathan 
Burnham; 1837, Archibald Campbell; 1843, 
Silas H. Marsh; 1849, David P. Forrest; 1852, 
Marvin Strong; 1858, John W. Veeder; 1861, 
John N. Banker ; 1864, John McShea, Jr. ; 1864, 
James G. Caw; 1876, J. Fonda Veile; 1882, 
Thomas Yelverton. 

TuHomas YELVERTON, the present County Clerk, 
was born in Chester, Orange County, N. Y., in 
1842, and graduated from Union College in 1866. 
He came to Schenectady in 1872. 

COUNTY TREASURERS. 

(Previous to 1848, County Treasurers were 
chosen by the Board of Supervisors, and for list 
of these officers previous to this date see article on 
Supervisors.) 1848, Stephen Y. Vedder; 1851, 
Charles H. Matthews; 1854, John H. Vander- 

veer; 1857, William M. Colborne ; 1860, Nicholas 
Barhydt ; 1863, Nichols V. Swits; 1866, N. J. 
Schermerhorn ; 1881, Ira Brownell. 
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66 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

COUNTY SCHOOL COMMISSIONERS. 
(Previous to 1857, School Commissioners were 

appointed by the Board of Supervisors. The first 
election was held in November, 1859.) Daniel J. 

| | 
| 

Darrow, David H. Hamlin, Samuel H. Weart, 
Nicholas T. Van Natta, Solyman G. Hamlin, 
Simon J. Schermerhorn, David Elder, H. Maynard 
Akin, C. W. Van Santvoord. 

HISTORY OF THE CITY OF SCHENECTADY. 

Edited and Compiled by Rev. J. H. MUNSELL. 

MUNICIPAL HISTORY—1798-1885. 

fT *‘HE municipal history of Schenectady properly 

| begins with the passage of its charter, March 

26, 1798, being the third incorporated city in the 

State. 

For ten years preceding the date of incorpora- 

tion, Schenectady was controlled by a Board of 

Trustees, who in 1798 signed a petition to the 

Legislature declaring they deemed the incorpora- 

tion of Schenectady as a city, beneficial and neces- 

sary to its growth and welfare. The names of 

the trustees appended to this petition were: Abra- 

ham Wemple, Nicholas Veeder, Abraham Switz, 

Abraham Oothout, John Glen, John Sanders, Jel- 

lis I. Fonda, Andrew Van Patten, Adam S. Vroo- 

man, Garret S. Veeder, Jr., and Richard Scher- 

merhorn. Among other citizens at this period 

who were influential in securing the passage of this 

act, were Joseph Shurtliff, member of Assembly 

from Schenectady at this date, and for a number of 

years after, Simon Veeder, Joseph C. Yates, Maus 

Schermerhorn, John Yates, William North and 

Harmanus Peek. 

The area embraced within the corporate limits 

of Schenectady by the charter of 1798 was exten- 

sive, being twelve miles in length and eight in 

breadth. It was divided into four wards. The First 

ward included all the compact part of the city 

lying between Union street and the Mohawk River; 

the Second ward, that part lying south of Union 

street and extending a short distance upon the 

Bouwlandt; the Third ward, what is now’ the 

- town of Rotterdam; and the Fourth ward, what 

is now the town of Glenville. 

The corporate title was known by the name of 

“«The Mayor, Aldermen and Commonalty of the 
City of Schenectady.” The legislative power of the 

‘ city was vested ina Mayor and a Board of Alder- 

men, who together formed the Common Council, 

a majority of the whole constituting a quorum for 

the transaction of business. 

By this charter, the surviving trustees became di- 

vested voluntarily of all rights and claims over the 

common lands, the same being vested in the Mayor, 

Aldermen and Commonalty of the city. Three 

commissioners were appointed to settle all ac- 

counts against and in favor of the trustees, and it was 

provided by the act that no sale or transfer of the 

common lands should be made, ‘‘ unless two-thirds 

of the whole number of Aldermen and Assistants of 

said city shall give their assent to such sale.” 

The charter provided for the election by the 

people of two Aldermen and two Assistants, who 

should serve for a period of one year, such elec- 

tions being held on the first Tuesday in April. 

The term of office began on the first Tuesday in 

May. From 1798 to 1822, the Mayors in all the 

cities of this State were appointed by the Governor, 

with the advice and consent of the Council of Ap- 

pointment. Fiom 1822 to 1840 they were ap- 

pointed by the Common Council. By act of the 

Legislature, passed Febiuary 13, 1840, they have 

since been elected by the people. 

The. first Mayor of Schenectady was Joseph C. 

Yates, who received his appointment from Gover- 

nor john Jay. Mr, Yates was one of the foremost 

lawyers of his day, and the early history of this 

city owes much to his far-seeing acumen, ju- 

dicious counsel and high administrative ability. 

He became State Senator in 1806, and in 1808 bc- 

came one of the Judges of the Supreme Court of 

this State. He became Governor of the State in 

1822. 
The Mayor presided over the deliberations of 

the Board of Aldermen, and possessed all the privi- 

leges, as far as voting was concerned, of an alder- 

man. He was also given power similar toa Judge 

of Common Pleas in all transactions relating to 

lands within the city, 

To him was delegated the exclusive power of 

granting and giving licenses for the sale of in- 

toxicating liquors under the public seal of the 

city. 
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CITY, OF SCHENECTADY. IY UNICIPAL HISTORY. 

The officers appointed by the Common Council 
under the first charter consisted of a city treasurer, 
clerk, and as many assessors, collectors, constables, 
commissioners of highways, overseers of the poor, 
pound-masters and fence-viewers as the Common 
Council might deem necessary. 

The charter of 1798 has been subjected to many 
amendments, to meet the demands of the times. 
The existing charter not only meets the require- 
ments of a liberal, progressive policy, but under 
its operation the city is governed in a highly credit- 
able and satisfactory manner. 
Mayor.—The office of Mayor, as has been 

stated, was filled by appointment of the Governor 
and Council until 1822. From that date to 1840 
the Mayor was appointed by the Common Council, 
since which time it has been an elective office. 
The term of office from 1798 to 1861 was one 
year, since which date it has been two years. 

RecorpEr.—Although the office of Recorder is 
mentioned in the charter of the borough of Sche- 
nectady, it does not seem to have been created 
under the city charter until 1833, in which year 
Harmanus Peek was made Recorder and held this 
position for a number of years after. This officer 
possessed all the powers then conferred by law upon 
the Recorders of cities, and during the absence, 
sickness or disability of the Mayor, could exercise 
all the powers conferred upon the Mayor. From 
1833 to 1862 the term of office was one year; 
since the latter date it has been extended to four 
years. The duties of this officer, as defined by the 
charter, consist in attending meetings of the Com- 
mon Council, and in the absence or inability to 
act of the Mayor, he shall discharge the duties of 
that office. He is invested with power to arrest 
‘or cause the arrest of all persons violating the laws 
of the State, or the ordinances or police regula- 
tions of the city. 
ALDERMEN.—The charter of 1798 provided for 

the election of four Aldermen in each ward fora 
period of one year. In 1851 the four Aldermen 
in each ward were divided into two classes, two 
who should serve for one year and two who should 
serve for two years. The act under which this was 
effected, provided that thereafter the terms of only 
two aldermen in each ward should expire during 
each year, and that all Aldermen elected one year 
after the passage of the act should serve for two 
years. In 1873 the number of Aldermen in each 
ward was reduced to three, who should be elected 
for three years, but they were divided into classes, 
so that the term of only one Alderman in each 
ward now expires every year. 
TREAsURER.—The Treasurer was appointed by 

the Common Council from 1798 to 1848, at which 
latter date a Treasurer was elected by the people. 
To the year 1862 the term of office was one year, 
but by the charter of this year it was extended to 
two years. 

Crerk.—The Clerk has annually been appointed 
by the Common Council since the incorporation 
of the city. 

Boarp or MacistratEs.—A law was passed in 
1815, empowering the Common Council to appoint 

as many Aldermen or Justices of the Peace as was 
deemed necessary to constitute a Board of Magis- 
trates. This Board was required to attend to 
the relief and support of the poor, and to punish 
persons committing petty offences within the city. 
‘The exclusive power of applying and distributing 
the poor fund was committed to this Board. 
After the creation of the office of Police Justice, 
this Board was composed of that officer and two 
Aldermen, the latter selected by the Common 
Council. For many years the sole duty of this 
Board has been confined to the relief of the poor. 

SUPERINTENDENT OF STREETS. —By an amendment 
to the charter in 1813, provision was made for 
the appointment of one or more Superintendents 
of Streets, who should have charge of laying out 
and grading of streets. From 1813 to the present, 
but one Superintendent of Streets has been an- 
nually appointed by the Common Council, by 
which body his powers and duties are prescribed. 

City Attorney.—This office was created in 
1833, since which date such officer has been an- 
nually appointed by the Common Council. He 
receives a stated salary, attends all meetings and 
acts as the legal adviser and assistant of the Board 
in all matter pertaining to questions of law. 

Crry Puysicran.—This officer was created about 
the same time as City Attorney. The person hold- 
ing this office is chosen annually by the Common 
Council and receives a regular salary. He is, 
ex officio, health officer of the Board of Health, 
and required to render surgical aid and as- 
sistance to all indigent persons within the city. 

Boarp or Heattu.—The duty of attending to 
sanitary affairs devolved upon the Mayor and 
Aldermen during the early municipal history of 
Schenectady. In 1813 the charter provided that 
one or more persons should be appointed by the 
Common Council, who should attend to the alter- 
ing, amending, cleansing of any street, vault, sink 
or common sewer, and to apportion the costs upon 
the owners of property benefited thereby. In 
1833, the Common Council appointed as many 
members as \vas deemed necessary to form a Board 
of Health to assist the Mayor in carrying into 
effect the provisions of the existing laws relating 
to the prevention and introduction of infectious 
and pestilential disease. Members of the Board 
were allowed a reasonable compensation for their 
services, as determined by the Common Council, 
By the charter of 1862, the Board of Health con- 
sisted of the Mayor, City Physician and one Alder- 
man from each ward. ‘The City Physician was the 
health officer of the Board. This Board, as then 
constituted, remains the same, although under 

recent laws their powers and duties have been 
greatly enlarged. 

Justices OF THE Peace, CoNSfaBLES AND POLicE, 
—(See separate Article on Police.) 

Boarp or Excise. —As_ has been stated, the 
Mayor had exclusive power to grant licenses for 
sale of intoxicating liquors under the first charter. 
In 1813 the charter was so amended that a Com- 
missioner of Excise was appointed by the Common 
Council for the Third and Fourth wards, who, 



4 al 

2- rae | 
rt oe ee ee Fo oe SE SE ain le 

ace 2a on0'T odd lo exiten], 20 andialde vn oh 
~eignifl in bisedl 6 simtenod voi sinekioon horas 

coat wed BosiMO® enews noramoD 

o} busts oj. bwigpoa sew, SreotlseidT otal 
dzisue' ot bie 300g oi to 4 noyque brit eifsn odd 
thy 4d quiny ¢ 

aniiudniath Lae enidgas to. rowey oviewions afb! 
soc vid) Of boiiermoo ase bavt aoaq sill 

die} SoileT To sotto elt Ia anes orl weft 
ow? bos iol iain jle hsseqmos av Risoll ent 

i besiselsa saiiel sil 
adi wesy cto wT JM 

fe ATMSRATS GO TH BATE AAIIS. 
nomivow, git: si yernds af) oy 

Je Bros Jo SHO “lo pr ager: feo nil” | 
oyna b nHOn mie alee Ww 

wi at er8t mod setosu a yaibery, bas, 
fins cei shroite do inh couhinsqs fit Site Tid 
Corverey ‘a ee: AR id h snore wh ER es 

ae} pesto ener seer idT- 13H aii TO 

i gedisuftea done eink ; 
S srepaerggey oth 

ISS This a 

1 ot ap Hor 

Bhiog rarer iby ai 

y avewk Prt! 

a iia ein? ue 

the Hap) 

: id) Bsr alias 

res isi | issigive ‘buss of botiapa hie 
AHI 91 Pi ere MN hi He OF scene 
o! giibaaws Jo uwrb adT 34 Hous eHao8 
ie Wy th oe Devfbveb vvustte ‘FISNTESE 
Te vs: it vi pinedr aso hhh 

itr odi eter at  wvwhsiqoriseod 
H) ilucdd eouisd siost qe. sae. 
dite Gilbey JiomvedD aommell 

2 746 Jo Qttanesly snibasate (Bei 
ile Homoggs O Der 29 roe domme 

i “Ve aramwo 9a 
sonste) ons s38i 

ime Ob vines bens 2ey7 2p eraretdin 
Ino Gr Wee otis jween ot dNaghlT 

yuiteley eval guisclica at Wy anolavorg sdt jgully. 
ari to mononbental Bink. ‘aDitiova7q ‘om of 

intnod vi jo modmelie: sagseth Levnoliaeg “bar 
Jil wel gebeenogmos. siiatogent.e bayolls orn 
HIRO) sroetbeeney D at 4 ef burtarieib a6 seat ieras 

‘thiol to Greotl attr seas Yo, 2 oted oul 
able gfe bn SES ao noel ont ia bavere 

Sil 

ERT TION ftp 

A + ‘ hatdaresel eRieag vue 

liens. 2 

ay I if I 

4s RS 

ould weve staiosev sth atk JokT “brew doe sion maa 4 
wait ag Dasetl id D> off Sh lo isdtto- died’ 

CRUSOE OMEBS oat 

Doral 3h 
so a tua eaaaa wk SENT 3 aa? 40 2x01 

sit eoleig a) dest ee REE Pe Soe? wwe 
ct erecta Misty obameag.siaution. fed ty i. 
AST 3 
-o «16s Doboems ge esw ened 
Benet nr ad be HAGE BE SS eS Re peonsah 

Sera. 

eG} ot herniags nood end bysotf 

“1A onl? yaliie SOUL Usa anEE: Vor alee y 
kth oat rai, at 

in 

4 

wat Dod soot 

P pos Be Agron di In Bis ait 

mit samge-|ylp : 4 

arising? pais ietyy +. Mi 
avAd est pare “eeerrOg tied) ‘aural smack ‘los 

Ary dinky eo 
2 ty ‘byboik Bri, Bence seers aoe 

; i! 

ae Soi oviidaae gon 
sienna “01 “bes roy 2 oes a 

_* JOM fEREE “prersiaitga 4 

dase ead ei “gow lo sollte eaT—y 
Aina) ad? Wi teios atoqae “qd ball enw ma: 
Otro) Since) 2a Bg olin te bw. ae che 
“tigen aeretiee aitt ¢d brotelaguas eit sory 7 
sid ouitpely ap seed esi sat dotdw sonia 
ous weve i384, 40 Spr rH wo Io. 

inaey ci fas end 3 a 1 
ti sob yos8e Io. sittin, $03 ds 

Jiiits 1. dat) guet ot meager kee”) 
cosa Tain. raNeetias vgs) 

155i, att nah pene ad 
adie veshogeh 
osddads ii H 

3% sites be ; 

MONE a ual. ods seat, berehdes i 

“ie ots “epw ssaio ty cnt ay 
1484) A. 20h docuk WESIRS Sexes, eerie: 

volte hemiteb ab 2 
autteyD yt la suelisant was 
i aitiieied 10 posaie: a) bag ee 
hen esphzenty sad) he a iady-sd soya lh atte to os 
aay ah (ai yee pur jit 

“owl baat’ ie 

ieee Sau 

ote 
abe} wauld : 

is te: 



68 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

under the approbation of the Mayor, was empow- 
ered to grant licenses. In 1833, licenses were grant- 
ed by the Mayor and Cominon Council, under the 
provisions of the State law at this time. In 1857 
a law was passed giving the County Judge and 
Justices of Sessions of the several counties power 
to appoint three Commissioners of Excise to grant 
licenses in the county. In 1870 the Mayors of most 
of the cities of the State were given power to appoint 
three Commissioners of Excise for a period of 
three years. ‘The present Commissioners are James 
Brownell, Charles Fellhousen and James Speir. 

Divisions oF THE City.—From 1798 to 1820 
the city of Schenectady, as has been previously 
stated, was divided into four wards, but at the 
latter date, owing to the vast extent of territory 
comprised by the Third and Fourth wards, and 
the diversity of interests between the inhabitants 
of those wards and the citizens residing in the 
compact part of the city, the members of the 
Common Council applied to the Legislature to 
have a law enacted erecting the territory embraced 
in the Third and Fourth wards into separate towns. 
This petition of the municipal officers of Schenec- 
tady was granted, and a law was passed in 1820 
separating these two wards from the city and form- 
ing the present towns of Rotterdam and Glenville. 
From 1820 to 1837, Schenectady was divided into 
but two wards, but at the latter date a special act 
was passed by the Legislature dividing the city into 
four wards. The present division of the city into 
five wards was made in 1860. 

MoenicipaL = Buirpincs.—The first Common 
Council met in a building called the City Hall, 
on the corner of Union and Ferry streets, on the 
site of the present residence of H. S. Barney. 
The meetings of the Board continued to be held 
there until the purchase of the present Union 
School building in 1816, in which a Common 
Council Chamber was provided and used until the 
erection of the present Court House in 1833. At 
the latter place the Board continued to meet until 
the completion of the City Hall in 1881, on Jay 
street, for the erection of which Gen. W. K. Fuller, 
one of Schenectady’s most public-spirited citizens, 
donated to the city the sum of $10,000. 

CITY OFFICERS FROM 1798-1885. 

1798-1808.—Mayor, Joseph C. Yates. 

1807.—Treasurer, Cornelius Z. Van Santvoord; 
Clerk, David Boyd. 

1808.—Mayor, John Yates; Treasurer, Cornelius 
Z. Van Santvoord; Clerk, Harmanus Peek. 

_ 1809.—Mayor, John Yates; Treasurer, Corne- 
lius Z. Van Santvoord; Clerk, Harmanus Peek. 

1810.—Mayor, Abraham Oathout; Treasurer, 
Maus Van Vranken; Clerk, Harmanus Peck. 

1811.—Mayor, John Yates; Treasurer, Maus 
Van Vranken; Clerk, Harmanus Peek. 

1812.—-Mayor, John Yates; Treasurer, Maus 
Van Vranken:; Clerk, Harmanus Peek. 

1813.—Mayor, Maus Schermerhorn; Treasurer, 
Maus Van Vranken; Clerk, Harmanus Peck. 

1814.—Mayor, Maus Schermerhorn; Treasurer, 
Maus Van Vranken; Clerk, Harmanus Peek. 

1815.—Mayor, Maus Schermerhorn; Treasurer, 
Maus Van Vranken; Clerk, Harmanus Peek. 

1816.—Mayor, Maus Schermerhorn; Treasurer, 
Maus Van Vranken; Clerk, Harmanus Peek. 

1817.—Mayor, Henry Yates; Treasurer, Maus 
Van Vranken; Clerk, Harmanus Peek. 

1818.—Mayor, Henry Yates; Treasurer, Maus 
Van Vranken; Clerk, Harmanus Peek. 

1819.—Mayor, Henry Yates; Treasurer, Maus 
Van Vranken; Clerk, Nicholas F. Beck. 

1820.—Mayor, Henry Yates; Treasurer, Maus 
Van Vranken; Clerk, Nicholas F. Beck. 

1821-1824.—Mayor, Henry Yates; Treasurer, 
Maus Van Vranken; Clerk, Nicholas F. Beck. 

1825. —Mayor, Isaac M. Schermerhorn. 

1826-1827.—Mayor, David Boyd; Treasurer, 
Maus Van Vranken; Clerk, Abraham Van Ingen. 

1828-1829.—Mayor, Isaac M. Schermerhorn; 
Treasurer, Maus Van Vranken; Clerk, Abraham 
Van Ingen. 

1830.—Mayor, Isaac M. Schermerhorn; Treas- 
urer, Jacob Swits; Clerk, Abraham Van Ingen. 

1831.—Mayor, Archibald L. Linn; Treasurer 
and Clerk same as 1830. 

1832.—Mayor, John I. De Graff; Treasurer and 
Clerk same as 1830. 

1833.—Mayor, John I. De Graff; Recorder, Har- 
manus Peek; Treasurer, Jacob Swits; City Attor- 
ney, Abraham Van Ingen; Clerk, Abraham Van 

Ingen. 
1834.—-Officers same as preceding year. 
1835.—Mayor, Archibald L. Linn; remaining 

officers unchanged. 
1836.—Mayor, John I. De Graff; Treasurer, 

Thomas Harmon; Clerk, Abraham Van Ingen; At- 

torney, James M. Bouck. 
1837.—Mayor, Samuel W. Jones; Clerk, Stephen 

S. Riggs; remaining officers same as preceding 
year. 

1838.—Treasurer, Nicholas Swits; Attorney, 
Theodorick R. Van Ingen; remaining officers same 
as in 1837. 

1839.—Mayor, Archibald L. Linn; remaining 
officers same as preceding year. 

1840.—Mayor, Alexander C. Gibson; Treasurer, 

Nicholas Swits; Clerk, Stephen S. Riggs. 

1841.—Mayor, Alexander C. Gibson; Treasurer, 
John B. Clute; Clerk, James Gilbert; Attorney, T. 
R. Van Ingen. 

1842.—Mayor, John I. De Graff; Treasurer, Vol- 
ney Freeman; Clerk, James M. Bouck; Attorney, 
Samuel W. Jones. 

1843.—Mayor, Alexander C. Gibson; Clerk, 
James M. Bouck; Attorney, S. H. Johnson. 

1844.—Mayor, Alexander C. Gibson; Treasurer, 
John B. Clute; Clerk, Harmanus S. Van Ingen; 
Attorney, 5. H. Johnson. 

1845.—Mayor, John I. De Graff; Treasurer, 

Joseph Lyon; Clerk and Attorney same as preced- 
ing year. 
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CITY OF SCHENECTADY. MUNICIPAL HISTORY. 69 

J. Thomson; Clerk, Thomas Palmer; Attorney, 
Stephen H. Daggett. 

1848-1849.—Mayor, James E, Van Horn; Treas- 
urer, James Walker. 

1850.—Mayor, Peter Rowe; Clerk, James M. 
Bouck; Attorney, Thomas Palmer. 

1851.—Mayor, Mordecai Myers; 
officers same as in 1850. 

1852.—Mayor, Abraham A. Van Voast; remain- 
ing officers same as in 1850. 

1853.—Mayor, Abraham A. Van Voast; Clerk, 
James M. Bouck; Attorney, John G. McChesney. 

1854.—Mayor, Mordecai Myers; Recorder, 
Thomas Palmer; Treasurer, L. A. Young; City 
Attorney, J. G. McChesney; Clerk, D. A. Atwell. 

1855.—Mayor, Abel Smith; Recorder, Henry 
Stevens, who died while in office, and was suc- 
ceeded by David M. Moore; Treasurer, N. M. F. 
Clute; Clerk, D. A. Atwell. 

1856.—Mayor, Abel Smith; Recorder, David 

M. Moore; Treasurer, N. M. F. Clute; City At- 
torney, John G. McChesney; Clerk, D. A. Atwell. 

1857.—Mayor, Benjamin V. S. Vedder; Re- 
corder, David M. Moore; Treasurer, N. M. F. 

Clute; Attorney, John G. McChesney; Clerk, D. 
A. Atwell 

1858.—Mayor, Alexander M. Vedder; Re- 
corder, David M. Moore; Treasurer, N. M. F. 
Clute to January 1, 1859, and Henry M. Vedder 
for balance of term; Attorney, David C. Smith; 
Clerk, Stephen S. Riggs. 

1859.—David P. Forrest; Recorder, David M. 
Moore to January 1, 1860, and Jay Cady for bal- 
ance of term; Treasurer, Frederick Clute, Jr., to 
September, 1859, and John Bradt for balance of 
term; Clerk, Stephen H. S. Riggs to November, 
1859, and Charles 8. Vedder for balance of term. 

1860.—Mayor, Benjamin E. Potter; Recorder, 
Jay Cady; Treasurer, John Bradt; Attorney, D. 
Cady Smith; Clerk, Charles S. Vedder to October 
1, 1860, and Daniel J. Darrow for balance of 
term. 

1861.—Mayor, Arthur W. Hunter; Recorder, 
Jay Cady; Treasurer, John Bradt; Attorney, D. 
Cady Smith; Clerk, S. L. R. Buchanan. 

1862.—Same as preceding year. 

1863.—Mayor, Arthur W. Hunter; Recorder, 
W. H. Helmer; Treasurer, John Bradt; Attorney, 
D. Cady Smith; Clerk, Henry B. Houston. 

*1864.—Same as preceding year. 

1865.—Mayor, Andrew McMullen; Recorder, 
W. H. Helmer; Treasurer, John Bradt; Attorney, 
G. N. Timberman; Clerk, James M. Bouck. 

1866.—Mayor, Andrew McMullen; Recorder, 
W. H. Helmer; Treasurer, John Bradt; Attorney, 
D. M. Chadsey; Clerk, Frank Seymour. 

1867.—Mayor, Andrew McMullen; Recorder, 
S. L. R. Buchanan; Treasurer, John Bradt; Clerk, 
Edward Hibbard; Attorney, A. J. Thomson. 

1868.—Mayor, Andrew McMullen; Recorder, 
S. L. R. Buchanan; Treasurer, John Bradt; Clerk, 
Edward Hibbard; Attorney, D. Cady Smith. 

remaining 

1846-1847.—Mayor, Peter Rowe; Treasurer, A. | 1869.—Mayor, A. Van Voast; Recorder, Edgar 
M. Jenkins; Treasurer, John Bradt; Clerk, J. Van 
Vranken; Attorney, D. Cady Smith. 

1870.—Mayor, Abraham A. Van Voast; Re- 
corder, Edgar M. Jenkins; Treasurer, John Bradt; 
Clerk, J. Van Vranken; Attorney, D. Cady 
Smith, 

1871.—Mayor, William J. Van Horne; Recorder, 
Edgar M. Jenkins; Treasurer, John Bradt; Clerk, 
H. W. Dennington ; Attorney, D. Cady Smith. 

1872.—Mayor, William J. Van Horne; Re- 
corder, Edgar M. Jenkins; Treasurer, John Bradt; 
Clerk, Howard Barringer; Attorney, J. S. Landon. 

1873.—Mayor, A. W. Hunter; Recorder, Edgar 
M. Jenkins; Treasurer, John Bradt; Clerk, How- 
ard Barringer; Attorney, J. S. Landon. 

1874.—Mayor, A. W. Hunter; Recorder, Sam- 
uel T. Benedict to December 15, 1874, and W. 
H. Helmer for balance of term; Treasurer, John 
Bradt; Clerk, H. W. Dennington; Attorney, E. 
W, Paige. 

1875.—Mayor, Peter B. Yates; Recorder, Wil- 
liam Howes Smith; Treasurer, John Bradt; Clerk, 

H. W. Dennington; Attorney, E. W. Paige. 

1876.—Mayor, Peter B. Yates, who died July 4, 
1876, and was succeeded by William Howes Smith, 
July 11, 1876; Recorder, Wm. H. Smith to July 
11, 1876, and Benj. L. Conde for balance of term; 
Treasurer, John Bradt; Clerk, H. W. Denning- 
ton; Attorney, A. J. Thomson. 

1877..—Mayor, Wm. Howes Smith; Recorder, 
Marcus N. Millard; Treasurer, John Bradt; Clerk, 
H. W. Dennington; Attorney, A. J. Thomson. 

1878.—Mayor, Wm. Howes Smith; Recorder, 
Marcus N. Millard; Treasurer, John Bradt; Clerk, 
H. W. Dennington; Attorney, A. J. Thomson, 

1879.—Mayor, Joseph B. Graham: Recorder, 
Marcus N. Millard; Treasurer, John Bradt; Clerk, 
H. W. Dennington; Attorney, 5. W. Jackson. 

1880.—Mayor, Joseph B. Graham; Recorder, 
Marcus N. Millard; Treasurer, John Bradt, who 
died January 31, 1881, and was succeeded by 
appointment for balance of the year by H. W. 
Dennington ; Clerk, H. W. Dennington to Feb- 
ruary 8, 1881, and E. E. Kreigsman for balance of 

term; Attorney, S. W. Jackson, 
1881.—Mayor, A. A.-Van Voast; Recorder, 

Henry S. De Forest; Treasurer, H. W. Denning- 
ton; Clerk, E. E. Kreigsman; Attorney, S. W. 
Jackson. 

1882.—Mayor, A. A. Van Voast; Recorder, 
Henry S. De Forest; Treasurer, H. W. Denning- 

ton; Clerk, E. E. Kreigsman; Attorney, S. W. 
Jackson. 

1883.—Mayor, John Young; Recorder, H. S. 
De Forest; Treasurer, H. W. Dennington; Clerk, 
James Hanley, Jr.; Attorney, A. J. Thomson. 

1884.—Mayor, John Young; Recorder, H. 5. 
De Forest ; Treasurer, H. W. Dennington ; Clerk, 
James Hanley, Jr.; Attorney, A. J. Thomson. 

1885.—Mayor, Henry S. De Forest; Recorder, 
James H. Flinn; Treasurer, H. W. Dennington; 

Clerk, Horatio G. Glen; Attorney, A. J. Thom- 
son. 
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JOHN BRADT. 

Joun Brapr was born in Schenectady, January 
24, 1822. His father, Peter Bradt, died as the re- 
sult of an accident in the younger years of his son, 
and the latter was thrown upon his own exertions 
in early life. His education was purely a business 
one, but he was of such a practical turn of mind 
that he utilized it with wonderful success, early 
displaying much sagacity in the settlement of his 
father’s estate. W hen quite a young man he 
became confidential clerk and agent of Hon. 
Henry Yates, of the firm of Yates & McEntyre, 
New York, and in this position he developed those 
qualities which marked him as a correct business 
man and successful financier, laying the founda- 
tion of his future monetary success. 

On the decease of Mr. Yates, Mr. Bradt, then 
only about twenty-three years old, became execu- 
tor and trustee of his vast estate. In this capacity 
he had entire charge of all affairs of the estate, 
which necessarily involved transactions in several 
States of the Union. Several years were consumed 
in reaching a final settlement, during which Mr. 
Bradt attended to the interests intrusted to him 
with a fidelity that won the admiration of all in- 
terested persons. 

He now returned to Schenectady, which was 
his permanent home. Without solicitation on his 
part, or opposition from any quarter, he was ap- 
pointed Treasurer of the Canal Board, a position 
which he held several years. August 2, 1859, he 
was appointed Treasurer of the City of Schenec- 
tady, to succeed Frederick Clute, Jr. April 2, 
1860, he was elected to the same position and re- 
elected each successive term until his death. In 
an official point of view his name was long a 
household word in Schenectady. He held this 
responsible trust longer than any other incumbent 
of the treasurer's office. The office was conferred 
term after term on that sound principle, so rarely 
acted upon, that the office should seek the man, 
not the man the office, and was a testimonial of 

the public confidence in his strict integrity and re- 
markable financial ability. One w ho knew him 
well wrote: ‘‘ Could it have been possible or right 
to have extended his sphere of usefulness, we verily 
believe he would have made an excellent Secre- 
tary of the Treasury, or of the Department of the 
Interior, in the general government.” An indefatig- 
able worker, he was always found in his office at- 
tending to his duties, for he believed that, once 
elevated to a public trust, it was incumbent on him 
to discharge all duties faithfully and impartially. 
A Democrat, and markedly consistent as such, he 
was no politician, and never indulged in heated 
discussions upon public affairs. 

In his private business relations Mr. Bradt was 
successful, and he was at the same time so upright 
in all his dealings as to win the confidence ofall with 
whom he came in contact. His operations were 
conducted methodically, and with foresight and 
sagacity. He made such judicious investments in 
real property that he came to be regarded as one 
of the chief real estate owners of the city. He was 

looked upon as the best posted authority in regard 
to local real estate values. His skill as an ac- 
countant was well known, and _ his services were 
often sought by eminent lawyers and jurists 
throughout the State in the settlement of tedious 
and difficult litigation suits. From time to time 
he was entrusted with the settlement of several 
estates. As a landlord he was always kind and 
forbearing to the poor, and under a quiet, unex- 
pressive exterior, those who knew him best dis- 
cerned a generous, unassuming nature, 

In 1854, Mr. Bradt married Miss Margaret A. 
Hover, of Schenectady. He died suddenly Janu- 
ary (31, 188s, leaving a widow and four children. 
His only daughter i is the wite of Henry McMullen. 
The other children are sons. His name will long 
have a place in the memory of the leading business 
and professional men of this section, and its place 
in the history of Schenectady is one of proud 
eminence. 

POLICE. 

In the early history of Schenectady, before it was 
incorporated as a city, it devolved upon the Jus- 
tices of the Peace, appointed by the Governor, to see 
that peace and order were maintained, and they 
had power to appoint certain persons whose duty 
it was to arrest and report to the Justices all offend- 
ers against the laws. 

In 1788 a law was passed by the Legislature 
giving the Justices of the Peace authority to appoint 
six night watchmen and an officer from the citizens 
residing in the township of Schenectady south- 
ward from the Mohawk River and not more than 
three-quarters of a mile from the Dutch Church. 
These persons so selected were required to keep 
watch and guard in theirturnin such manner and 
time as the Justices directed. Only one watchman 
was on duty at a time. The Justices prescribed the 
rules and regulations to govern the watchmen, anda 
fine was imposed on any officer neglecting his 
duty. This was the first regular police service in- 
stituted at Schenectady. 

This manner of appointing night watchmen was 
repealed when the charter of Schenectady was 
adopted. 

In the act incorporating the city of Schenectady, 
passed March 26, 1798, the Common Council was 
given power to designate the number of constables 
to be elected in each ward. From and up to the 
present date one constable was elected in each 
ward, and to them was given the same powers in 
criminal actions now posseszed by the policemen. 
There was no regular salary attached to this office. 
The only pay received for services consisted of 
regularly prescribed fees. 

June 17, 1817, the number of night watchmen 
was increased to eight. They were appointed by 
the Common Council and were placed under the 
direction of two Superintendents, also appointed 
by the Common Council. The Superintendents 
had entire supervision of the watchmen, prescribing 
the rules and regulations governing them and the 
time each should serve. Only two watchmen were 
on duty at a time. When on patrol, the watchmen 
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CITY OF SCHENECTADY.—POLICE. on 

carried a staff five feet long, and were obliged to be | ing to the police government of the district. April 
on duty from nine o’clock in the evening until day- 
break. At every hour of the night they announced, 
in an audible voice, the time. ‘These oflicers were 

required to maintain the peace and see that the 
laws were enforced and obeyed. A watch-house 
was provided for the imprisonment of all offenders 
against the law. 

March ro, 1815, a law was passed by the Legis- 
lature, creating a Board of Magistrates, consisting 
of two persons selected by the Common Council 
from the Aldermen or Justices of the Peace, who 
were empowered to attend to the relief of the poor 
and to punish petty offences committed within 
the city limits. [hey were required to receive the 
report of the night watchman every morning and to 
proceed to the examination of all persons appre- 
hended by the watchman. The Common Council 
selected one or more constables, called police 
constables, who were required to serve all warrants, 
summonses and processes by the Board of Magis- 
trates. These constables were expected to arrest 
and report all offenders against the Jaws and ordi- 
nances of the city, and bring such persons for trial 
before the Board, which had jurisdiction similar to 
the present police justices. The magistrates were 
allowed an annual salary of one hundred and fifty 
dollars, and the constables fifty dollars. 

About 1830 a High Constable was chosen by 
the Common Council, pursuant to an act of the 
Legislature. He represented the entire city, and 
had jurisdiction over criminal matters such as is 
now exercised by the Chief of Police. His term of 
office was limited to one year. The High Consta- 
ble and the Ward Constables continued to exercise 
their police powers in maintaining peace and order 
until the Capital Police Force was organized in 
1867. : 
March 28, 1842, the office of Police Justice was 

created by an act of the Legislature, which pro- 
vided that the Board of Supervisors should appoint 
one of the Justices of the Peace of the city to at- 
tend to complaints, examinations and trials of a 

criminal nature. April 1st of the following year 
another act of the Legislature was passed, provid- 
ing that the Police Justice should be appointed by 
the Governor, with the consent of the Senate, and 
that his term of office should be for three years. 
March 31,1848, another act was passed, providing 
that the office of Police Justice, High Constable and 
four Justices of the Peace should be elective offi- 
ces. The term of Police Justice was extended to 
four years and that of High Constable and Justices 
of the Peace to three years. 

April 22, 1865, a law was passed by the Legis- 
lature creating the City of Albany and the several 
adjoining towns a district known as the Capital 
Police District of the State of New York. This 
act provided that three Commissioners and two 
Advisory Commissioners of Capital Police should 
be appointed by the Governor, with the consent of 
the Senate. To these Commissioners, called a Po- 
lice Board, was intrusted the appointment of Su- 
perintendents, Captains, Sergeants and Patrolmen, 
and had tke entire supervision of all matters relat- 

10, 1866, by an act of the Legislature, the Capital 
Police District was extended so as to embrace the 
City of Schenectady, which city was limited to the 
service of seven patrolmen, at an annual salary of 
five hundred dollars each, to be paid out of the 
contributions of the city to the Capital Police 
Fund. <A. W. Hunter, of this city, was appointed 
Police Commissioner for this city. 

It seems that the passage of this act was not 
done in response to the wishes of the people of this 
city, for the following year the Board of Super- 
visors passed a resolution condemning the passage 
of the act, and asking for its appeal. But nothing 
was done in this direction beyond remonstrating 
against it, and this system of police protection re- 
mained in force till the passage of the Act to Or- 
ganize and Establish a Police for the City of Sche- 
nectady, April 15, 1870. 

The passage of this act provided for the election 
of two Police Commissioners by the people, who, 
in conjunction with the Mayor, should constitute a 
Police Board, having the general charge of all mat- 
ters pertaining to the Police force. ‘These Com- 
missioners are elected for two years, and perform 
their duties without compensation. The act cre- 
ating them provides that they shall select not more 
than ten policemen, whose term of service shall 
continue during good behavior and capacity to per- 
form the duties required. The pay of policemen 
is fixed by the Commissioners, and cannot be less 
than five hundred dollars nor more than eight hun- 
dred dollars perannum. <A Chief of Police and 
an Assistant Chief are selected from the ten mem- 
bers composing the force by the Board. The Chief 
of Police, under the direction of the Board, is the 
chief executive officer of the Police Department, 
and is obliged to keep a book of records of pro- 
ceedings in his department, and all the services 
rendered by himself and the several policemen. 
During the absence of the Police Justice, the Chief 
possesses the power of that officer to entertain com- 
plaints for criminal offences, and to issue warrants 
for the arrest of persons charged with criminal ac- 
tions. The salary of the Chief of Police is fixed 
by the Police Board, when approved by the Com- 
mon Council, and cannot be less than five hundred 
nor more than twelve hundred dollars per year. 

The present Police Commissioners are: Peter M. 
Doty and George Buskerk; Chief of Police, Wil- 
liam S. Campbell; Assistant Chief, Frank V. De 
Forrest. 

Salary of the Chief is $850; Assistant Chief, 
$800; patrolmen, $730. 

When the first police force was organized under 
the Capital Police system, the city furnished a 
station-house in Wall street, in the present store cc- 
cupied by Thomas Ody. Here were provided suit- 
able cells for the confinement of prisoners until 
final disposition was made of them before the 
Police Justice. A Police Court was arranged on 
the second floor over the Police Station. 

This building was used for this purpose until the 
completion of the present City Hall, in 188r. 
Here commodious apartments are provided for 



Rese sy aa io Sa an en he Le a ar 

lag’, d>hteib od Jo Jasnymewog sion add cb gol 
tssiqa’J ont oruieleriat ott Wa ion 18 ¥e "DOST o1 
acy conidia of eo be Babisred ei Ty) weil sgilod 
any ot basins! ane wit dtoitiy Wt whurssaatoe Tego” 
to yoles Isuarin: nea fainlovieg MTSE 1O SiIVIDE: 
oxy) to Ay 128) bine edo) fivts ereliob parbriuul ov | 

eset haiqs) edt of Wi Shy ie enetiadrnted Le 
beinhogus aw 21 iho aio aayult A A baw os 

brats ett YOY aidkeoionnt soiled | 
jon aw Jon eli ‘to ogiueny Od) Jest ere 37 
eins fey Shepases add tee mayheTy lt OF babii aed ni Snob 

Vo Disdtl silt atoy grirwollo! od? 26, yafo 
vag wid yoicensh top doliniogst s tar AE RIOR 
ore Ju et dasqqa ei igh giles bas dos dildo 

5 haoyed Aonsvib sid? ob. sheb, gey 
@ aerly Tie. th deere 

Paltiig YNdOSST Ap s 
13%} Dak si 

“SNE: area 

liegeege DAME 

] Sty zhiw gotiensQaroo of | 
sisngy odd goivad binell eotleh, | 
Pola sii ot Brigiariay ard 

! is ain Credo 
meat i =) > dnncestsie Sarat tive GW | Poaceae Sid.» 

162 talt aabivor waif setiie vi bas lesbond sao ts 
of If : / Hcg ik hitias 
Prob siya 
Hee orftferscfl iC, ona bas 

Hine Sat bpanoosaa aa 
punt facia poo: 

yb foe wA dk =| 
(sv. weil 1 si 

i Seetloky Beals ; 

st riot boloaise ste JoidD Janteiaste ae 
Weel adi vd Soret qr Siibecny sno erod } 

rogiih sit yobAe sailot Yo i 

f tsoitlo Svifuoeme® Tides. | 
+ lo dood 2 qaed ot bogilde vias 

aa ot 
Bre 2 £2 

Hiern, 23 

ls Dis desmateqoh zit i 2umibess | aay Salen) & 
wee oft Line” liseinrd * i botebroy |. ee | ately 

; aniled st ie ‘abinse de ye} preset] | pane bj Sets tee a 
ioe dieroine of taoito pad To sizvadg olf 2 2acesv20q | tae sie) a i 

aineviey suest OF Die esonetha lenioisa Ww 2icblohey ee é 
tw homies nica to OTIG SHEL. | 

le 40 | 11d), sft Yo rae od eat 4 
d bovenqqr naw fod] wile) att vd 

mud avi apis aest od ee eeigs Epc reesicgh tele 

bios. ic 
; Ne _Dpoitttion 

2 8 jasife? daeerg oft 
ie ey oa. ee, Werden ties a vot 

20 MV start “Asi seigiebwads Sai rons ise 3 taal 
; oe ce eI 
laidD JamteiewA Dogee a oree yal isi relay 

; ESE wotnlong ¢ 
obae Daye aw shier eoieg Yarn Sct nat 

lelost vaio oft ete doilod' latiqe > ait 
DICT geoteeey asl: aE deena. ary at Seuortn aie 

sige behivoag sew anal 
ihe eS ae | te 

* 



72 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

Police Court, Police Justice's offices, office of Chief 
of Police, sleeping apartment for Patrolmen, and 
cells for the confinement of prisoners. 

FREDERICK ErsENMENGER, Police Justice, was ap- 
pointed by the Common Council May 2, 1882, 
and elected to the same office for four years in 
April, 1883. He is also chairman of the Board of 

Magistrates to distribute relief to the poor. 
Wiritam L. Campsett, Chief of Police, has been 

a police officer here since August 3, 1869. He has 
served the city faithfully, and from the accounts 
kept in his office, records back to 1798 can be 
traced. 

THE FIRE DEPARTMENT. 
& 

Before Schenectady was incorporated as a city, 
the means for the extinguishment of fires were 
limited to the use of leather buckets. Each dwell- 
ing was supplied with as many as the authorities 
prescribed. Every able-bodied citizen, in case of 
fire, was obliged to render all the assistance within 
his power, and any refusal to do so was an offence 
against the safety of the inhabitants, deemed worthy 
of a fine and, in certain cases, imprisonment. The 
first law passed by the Legislature relating to 
protection from fires in Schenectady was on March 

1788. This act provided that the Justices of 
the Peace should select from the inhabitants living 
south of the Mohawk River, and not more than 
three-quarters of a mile from the Dutch Church, 
twenty able-bodied citizens to act as firemen, such 
persons to have the care and management of all 
fire apparatus and to render assistance at fires. 
The Justices made and established the rules and 

_Tegulations governing the firemen, and had power 
to remove any fireman for disobeying them. The 
persons appointed under this act probably consti- 
tuted the first regular fire company ever organized 
in this city. 

The first date we find any reference made to fire 
engines was in 1797. September rith of this year 
the trustees of Schenectady, at a regular meeting, 
directed by resolution that a letter be sent to Alex- 
ander Ellice, London, England, directing him to 
purchase two fire engines, one large one at a cost 
of 120 guineas, and a small house engine at a cost 
of 20 guineas. ‘These engines were soon after ob- 
tained and used for many years. They were 
operated by hand—smalland crude affairs even 
compared with the hand engines used at a later 
date. he larger of these two engines was about 
eight or ten feet in length, between three and four 
feet wide, and stood three feet high. The condens- 
ing case, inclosing the works, was placed in 
the center of the machine, considerably higher than 
the main portion of the case. On the top was an 
elbow or ‘‘ goose-neck,” to which, when the engine 
was at work, was attached a pipe, through w hich 
the stream of water was directed upon the flames. 
As this engine had no suction, it was supplied 
by means of buckets, the water being drawn from 
neighboring wells, carried to and emptied into the 
engine through an aperture in the side of the box, 
so as not to interfere with the working of the en- 
gine. This box held many gallons of water. The 

arms or pumping handles were placed fore and aft, 
working lengthwise of the box, the bows striking 
on the ends: and, when full manned, four men 
could work on each arm, making eight in all. Such 
were the engines in use at this time, which were 
considered instruments of utility and beauty. 

When Schenectady was incorporated as a city 
there were two fire companies, the members 
of which were appointed by the Mayor and 
Common Council. At this period, and for a num- 
ber of years after, it was a duty incumbent upon 
the Mayor and Aldermen to attend all fires and 
give personal supervision to the work of the fire- 
men. Indeed, at this time the city magistrates 
performed the same services in later years dele- 
gated to the chief engineer and his assistants. 

May 12, 1798, an ordinance was passed by the 
Common Council which provided that two persons 
should be appointed for each ward, called 
Inspectors, who were required at certain times 
in each month to inspect the dwellings in 
their respective wards and ascertain if proper pre- 
caution was taken to guard against fire, and to 
make a report to the Aldermen of the condition of 
the buildings in the ward as to their safety from 
fire. ‘This ordinance contained many regulations 
respecting the necessary things to be done by prop- 
erty owners for the prevention of fires, and any 
citizen whose dwelling did not-comply with these 
regulations, who was “reported by the inspectors, 
had a limited time to remedy such defect. If he 
failed to do so he was fined. 

In 1798 a company was organized called the 
Fire Bag Company. ‘To this company was princi- 
pally intrusted the work of removing personal 
property from buildings exposed to danger by fire 
to places of safety. Such property, when removed, 
they were expected to guard and protect from loss 
by thieves until it should be taken care of by the 
owners. This company consisted of twenty-one 
members, and continued in existence for many 
years. The first members were: David Tomlin- 
son, Jeremiah Van Rensselaer, Jr., Gilbert-R. 
Livingston, James Murdock, Jonathan Walton, 
George Leslie, William N. Lighthall, Dorcey 
Jones, James I. Hoyt, William J. Teller, Law- 
rence Van Baskerk, Dow Clute, James Anderson, 
Robert Wendell, Samuel Thorn, Luther Halsey, 
James Adair, Andrew M. Farlan, Jr., Abraham 

Van Ingen, Henry Yates, Jr., William Corlett. 
In 1798 the fire limits were defined as extending 

one mile due north from the northwest corner of 
Union College building, thence due west one mile, 

thence south two miles, thence east two miles, 

thence north two miles, thence west to the place of 
beginning, two miles. 

The charter of the city of Schenectady, as 
amended April 2, 1813, provided that not more 
than eighty able-bodied freeholders should be se- 
lected by the Common Council from the two wards 
of the city to act as firemen, who should have the | 
care and management of the engines and tools pro- 
vided for the extinguishment of fires, which per- 
sons were to be called the Firemen of the City of 
Schenectady, 
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CITY OF SCHENECTADY.—FIRE DEPARTMENT. 73 

The fire district at this time extended from the 
south side of the Mohawk River, and not more 
than three-quarters of a mile from the site of the 
present First Reformed Dutch Church. 

The first Hook and Ladder Company was 
formed in 1814, and consisted of ten members. 
This company was provided with the necessary . 
apparatus by the city and was under the super- 
vision of a captain and an assistant appointed by 
the Common Council. 

Ax-meN.—In 1814 a company was organized 
called the Axv-men. It consisted of two members 
under the same supervision as the Hook and 
Ladder Company. Each man was provided with 
an ax, and expected to cut down fences and 
buildings where necessary, to check the spread of 
fire. 

The first Superintendent of Firemen was ap- 
pointed in 1814. To this officer was not only in- 
trusted the general supervision of the firemen at 
fires, but he was required to see that the engines and 
all other fire apparatus were kept in proper work- 
ing order. His duties were somewhat similar to 
those imposed upon the present Chief Engineer. 

In 1815 there were four fire companies in the 
city, exclusive of the Hook and Ladder and Ax- 
men. They were designated as Nos. 1, 2, 3 and 
4. Company No. 1 had quarters near the present 
stores of Walker and Mains; No. 2, near corner of 
Front and Ferry streets; No. 3, a few doors below 
the residence of Edward Walker, on Liberty 
street; No. 4, near the location of the present J. 
D. Campbeil Hose House. Each one of these 
companies had fire engines at this date. The en- 
gine purchased in England in 1797 was still in use, 
and the other engines, though larger, were similar 
in construction. 

The laws of the city were very strict in regard to 
the duty of citizens at time of a fire in these days. 
Every able-bodied citizen was pressed into service, 
and it was no uncommon sight to see a line of men 
nearly a quarter of a mile long, standing in a 
close line, reaching from the nearest point where 
water could be obtained to the engine, passing 
buckets of water from one to the other, to supply 
the engine with water. Even women at times were 
engaged in this work. A fine was imposed on any 
citizen who refused to perform such work when 
requested to do so by the city magistrates. 

From pictures of the larger engines used at this 
date, we see simply a long tank or box placed upon 
wheels. On each side of the tank was a long arm 
or handle extending the entire length of the tank, 
which worked on the principle of a pump-handle. 
At a time of fire this engine was drawn as near as 
possible to the scene of destruction, the tank was 
then filled with water, and then, by means of the 
pump, the water was forced from the tank through 
a hose. About thirty men could work at the pump 
of the largest engines. Although there was much 
labor, requiring a large force ofmen, attending the 
use of these early engines, they did good service, 
and prevented any extensive conflagration until the 
year 1819, when, notwithstanding the most 
strenuous exertions of our firemen, spoken of at 

that time in the most praiseworthy manner, the 
entire lower portion of our city was destroyed. 

Tue Traror.—There are those living who can 
remember the small engine used at this date 
(1815), and for many years after, by the members 
of Company No. 3. It was a small engine, called 
the ‘‘’Teapot,” on account ofits appearance. It was 
simply a tank, with a pump attached, capable of 
being carried when full of water by four men. It 
was of great service at a fire, often being carried 
into a burning building and doing excellent work 
where the larger engines could not be used. This 
engine was used for many years. 

DousLE Deck Encrne.—In 1825 the Common 
Council purchased the first double deck engine 
ever used in this city. It was given in charge of 
Company No. 4, and was something of a wonder 
at this time. It was purchased from a firm in 
Philadelphia. It was larger than the other engines 
in use in the city, but worked on the same princi- 
ple. The two decks made it possible for more 
men to work at the pumps, and thus more force 
was given the water. Some of the firemen of this 
period who are now living, claim that this engine 
could throw a stream of water even higher than the 
modern steam engines, 

Frre Warpenxs.—In 1825 five Fire Wardens were 
appointed, who had supervision over the buildings 
erected in the fire district, as to the regulations to 
be observed under the laws of the city relating to 
safety from fires. The first Fire Wardens were : 
Isaac S. Miller, Benjamin M. Munford, John Van 
Voast, Nicholas Van Vranken and George Mc- 
Queen. 

INCORPORATION OF THE FIRE DEPARTMENT OF 
THE City. —April 21, 1828, a law was passed by the 
Legislature constituting all persons belonging to 
the several fire companies a body politic, under 
the name of ‘‘The Fire Department of the City of 
Schenectady.” This act provided that each com- 
pany of firemen should choose two representatives, 
who should select a president and vice-president, 

and, out of the whole body of firemen, three trus- 
tees, a treasurer, secretary and a collector. ‘The 
first representatives were George McQueen, John 
Van Voast, Richard F. Ward, Myndert Van Guy- 
sling, Cornelius L. Barhydt, Henry Peek, Robert 
Osborne and Peter Bradt. ‘The first president was 
George McQueen; the first vice-president, John 
Van Voast; the first trustees, Joseph Mynderse, 
Jacob De Forest, Jr., and Harmanus W. Peek ; 
the first treasurer, Henry Peek ; the first secretary, 
Joseph Mynderse; and the first collector, Richard 
F, Ward. 

The trustees managed the affairs and disposed 
of the funds of the corporation according to the 
by-laws, rules and regulations of the corporation. 
By this act, the time of incorporation was extended 
to April 1, 1848, and the firemen were granted all 
the rights and privileges then extended by law to 
the firemen of the city of New York. 

First Hose Compaxy.—In 1830 the first Hose 
Company was formed for the purpose of attending 
to the hose of the fire companies, but in 1834 it 
was disbanded and converted into a supply com- ~ 
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74 HISTORY, OF THE COUNTY OF ‘SCHENECTADY. 
ea 

pany of twelve members. ‘The members of this 
company were expected to supply the engines with 
water, but, a few years later, the purchase of suction 
engines did away with this work, and the company 
was disbanded. 

Tue First Sucrion Enoint.—About the year 
1836, three suction engines were purchased by the 
city for the use of the Fire Department. ‘Two were 
called the Seeley engines, the other was known as 
the Button engine. Both were constructed at 
Rochester. 

These engines were a great improvement over 
those heretofore used by the firemen. They were 
hand engines, but did away with the laborious 
and difficult task of supplying the engines with 
water by the use of buckets. 

The first three engines bought were given to 
Companies Nos. 1, 2 and 4. A few years later a 
similar engine was purchased for Company No, 3. 
These engines were successfully used till the 
steam engines came into general use many years 
after. 

Tue First CHIEF BxGinewh -xSeptanber 16, 
1836, the Common Council passed a law creating 
the office of Chief Engineer of the Fire Depart- 
ment. In December of the same year the offices of 
First and Second Assistant Engineer were created. 

The first Chief Engineer was Richard F. Ward. 
The first Assistant Engineers were John C. Burn- 
ham and James E. Van Horn. 

These officers were subject to the direction of 
the Fire Wardens, but the firemen received their 
orders through the Chief and his assistants Sep- 
tember 2, 1846, the Chief and his assistants were 
given exclusive authority to direct the action of 
all firemen. 

Act oF INCORPORATION OF 1862.—April 2, 1862, 
an act was passed by the Legislature incorporating 
all persons belonging to the several fire companies 
in a body politic, by the title of ‘‘ The Fire Depart- 
ment of the City of Schenectady,” for the term of 
thirty years. Witha few changes, this act is similar 
to the act of incorporation of 1828. 

First STEAM Fire Encine.—The first steam fire 
engine was purchased at Portland, Maine, by the 
city, February 14, 1864, for $5,000, but was not 
received and accepted until the following year. It 
was named the A. W. Hunter engine, in honor of 
the presiding mayor at that time. It was placed in 
engine house No. 4 upon its arrival, and is still used 
for the extinguishment of fires. The first engineer 
was John Schermerhorn ; assistant engineer, Jere- 
miah Tenbrook; fireman, Vedder Peters. The 
salary of the fireman was fixed at $500 per year, 
and that of engineer and assistant engineer at $100. 
In 1867 another steam engine was purchased for 
No. 3 engine house, called the Andrew McMullen 
steamer, and in 1869 a steamer for No. 1 engine 
house, called the A. A. Van Voast. Thomas 
Carroll was appointed engineer of aa a No.3; 
and John J. Hart for steamer No. 

These three steamers were ‘ised till the year 
1872, when the completion of the Schenectady 
Water-works, and the arrangements made with 
this company for supplying the city with water 

for the extinguishment of fires, made their use 
unnecessary. Steamers Andrew McMullen and 
A. A. Van Voast were withdrawn from service im- 
mediately and subsequently sold. Steamer No. 1 
(A. W. Hunter) was retained and is still used. 

In 1872, in consequence of the new system 
adopted of fire protection, the entire Fire Depart- 
ment was reorganized by the Common Council. 
Companies Nos. 1, 3 and 4 were disbanded, but 

soon after reorganized. Company No. which 
retained the steamer A. W. Hunter, was the first 
to be enrolled. Companies Nos. 3 and 4 were 
soon after reorganized as Hose Companies. <A 
hose depot was established this year in the build- 
ing used by Company No. 1, and has been used 
ever since for such purpose. 

SUPERINTENDENT OF Hosr.—-In 1872 the office 
of Superintendent of Hose was established. James 
W. Clute was the first superintendent appointed, 
and has held the position continuously up to the 
present time. This officer is obliged to inspect, 
clean and keep all the hose used by the depart- 
ment in serviceable condition, to keep the steamer 
in running order, and to accompany and regulate 
it when its use is required. 

The history of the Volunteer Fire Department, 
from the incorporation of this city to the present 
time, has ever been a credit to the city and an 
honor to the men who composed it. 

Schenectady has been remarkably free from any 
extensive conflagration in many years, and credit 
for this fact can be attributed solely to the self- 
sacrificing pai: intelligent labor and praiseworthy 
exertions of its firemen. ‘The present efficient force 
has been ever ready to respond to the call of duty, 
and by zealous, united efforts has saved much val- 
uable property. 
Among our oldest living firemen are: Albert Van 

Brunt, Stephen Truax, D. Cady Smith, Levi Case, 
Martin De Forest, John O. Horsfall, Edward 
Rosa, Benjamin F. Lyons, Richard Benson and 
John B. Clute. 

Histoxy OF THE DIFFERENT Fire CoMPANIES.— 
The first year from which we can get a connected 
history of the different fire companies organized in 
this city is 1824. 

Following will be found the history of each 
company since 1824, not previously mentioned, 
down to the present time : 

Company No. 1.—From 1824 to 1858, when it 
was disbanded, this company was known simply as 
Engine Company No. 1. It was reorganized,1858, 
with 20 members, under the name of Protec- 
tion Hose Company No. 1, and retained this 
name until it was disbanded, by order of the Com- 
mon Council, September 24, 1872. It was re- 
organized, with 28 members, September 27 of 
this year, as Ellis Hose Company No. 1. It dis- 
banded May 2, 1876, but reorganized two days 

from this date as Protection Hose Company No. 
1. This company is still in existence, and has 15 
members. 

Company No. 2.—From 1824 to May 16, 1855, 
this company was known as Engine Company No. 
2. It was reorganized March 4, 1857, as the Del- 
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CITY OF SCHENECTADY.—BENCH AND BAR. ©) 

uge Company No. 2. It subsequently disbanded 
and did not organize until 1573, when it assumed 
the name of Van Vranken Hose Company. ‘This 
company still exists, and has a membership of 30. 

Company No. 3.—This company, from 1824 to 
1835, when it was disbanded, was called Engine 
Company No. 3. March 18, 1835, it was reor- 
ganized, but a few years after disbanded. March 
3, 1857, it was reorganized as Niagara Company 
No. 3, which nameit retained to October g, 1867, 
when it was reorganized, with 27 members, as 
Rosa Hose Company No. 3. It was disbanded by 
the Common Council, September 24, 1872, and 
reorganized, with 33 members, January 10, 1876, 
as the Cain Hose Company No. 3. It disbanded 
September 16, 1879, and reorganized October 14, 
1879, as Neptune Hose Company No. 3. This 
company is still in existence, and has a member- 
ship of 20. 

Company No. 4.—From 1824 to December 15, 
1847, this company was known as Engine Com- 
pany No. 4. It was disbanded in 1847, and re- 
organized fanuary 1, 1848, and again disbanded 
May 2, 1856. It was reorganized August 16, 
1856. October 6, 1857, the name was changed 
to Neptune Hose Company No. 4. June 16, 1867, 
it was reorganized, with 28 members, as the Hath- 
away Hose Company No. 4. September 24, 1872, 
it was disbanded by the Common Council, but 
immediately reorganized, with 19 members, as 
the Stanford Hose Company. May 3, 1876, it 
again disbanded, and reorganized, with 25 mem- 
bers, June 13, 1876, as the J. D. Campbell Hose 
Company. ‘This company is still in the service, 
and has a membership of 29. 

Company No. 5.—This company was organized, 
with 36 members, November 18, 1835. It at one 
time was the Mohawk Hose Company. August 
28; 1860, it was disbanded, and not reorganized 
till July 21, 1876, when it was called the E. W. 
Paige Hose Company. ‘This company still exists, 
and has amembership of 17. 

Company No. 6.—This company was organized, 
with 48 members, November 20, 1838, and existed 
for many years, when it was disbanded. January 
14, 1878, it was reorganized, with 30 members, as 
the J. S. Myers Hose Company. It disbanded in 
1881, and reorganized March 13, 1884, with 19 
members, as the Elmer Ellis Hose Company. This 
company has at present a membership of 23. 

Ax, Hook anp Lapper Company. — The first 
ax, hook and ladder company was organized in 
1814, and continued to exist until disbanded, 
June 5, 1856, but was reorganized on the same 
date. It disbanded August 17, 1860. 

July 8, 1862, Hook and Ladder Company No. 
I-was organized, with 55 members, and continued 
in the service to Desemiber 24, 1867, when it was 
disbanded, since which date no company of this 
kind has existed in the city. 

Fire Gvarps.—A company called 
Guards was organized September 6, 
the Supply Company, which disbanded at that 
time. The Fire Guards disbanded August 5, 1845, 
and have never been reorganized. 

the Fire 
1836, from 

Eacie Hose Company.—A company called the 
Eagle Hose Company was organized from the 
members of the Fire Guards, August 5, 1545. It 
was disbanded January 4, 1851, and has never 

been reorganized. 
Following is a list of Chief Engineers of the 

Fire Department since 1862: James Babcock, 
Patrick Kelly (three terms), Thomas H. Kennedy, 
Edward Ellis (four terms), William E. W alker 
(two terms), Ezra McCue, Francis Cain (four 
terms), George B. Swortfiguer, Martin Eagan, 
William J. Anthony, Arden W. Weller, John A. 
Vedder (three terms). 

Following is a list of Assistant Engineers since 
1862: 1863, Jaffrey Thompson and John Frame; 
1864, Ephraim Clow, Walter Clute; 1865, 
Ephraim Clow, Walter Clute; 1866, Walter Clute, 
James Smith; 1867, Joseph Parker, W. S. Van 
Voast; 1868, William Martin, John Collins ; 
1867, P, H. McDermott, William Stevens; 1870, 
Charles A. Clark, Francis Cain ; 1871, William 
Fuller, Peter M. Doty ; 1872, Edward Van Epps, 
Frederick Esenminger; 1873, Joseph Parker, 
John J. Wheaton ; 1874, John A. Vedder, Francis 
Cain ; 1875, Edward Cooley, Jacob De Long ; 
1876, John A. Vedder, George B. Swortfiguer ; 
187 77 George B, Swortfiguer, Martin Eagan : 
187 Martin Eagan, William J. Anthony ; 1879, 
Walton Anthony, Arden W. Weller : 1880, 
Arden W. Weller, Andrew Coleman; 1881, 
Andrew Coleman, Peter M. Dody; 1882, Elias 
T. Van Patten, William P. Daley ; 1883, William 
P. Daley, James C. Dougherty ; 1884, James C. 
Dougherty, Myndert Scrofford ; 1885, James C. 
Dougherty, William P. Daley. 

BENCH AND BAR. 

The Bar of Schenectady County is as ancient as 
that of Albany County. Its lawyers practiced in 
the courts established under the Dutch regime as 
early as 1626, but for at least one hundred and 
twenty years Schenectady County formed a part of 
Albany County, and the lawyers of Schenec- 
tady were members of the Albany bar. On 
March, 1809, however, Schenectady County was 
organized from territory taken from the western 
portion of the latter county, but it embraced no 
portion of the manor of Rensselaerwyck. 

Immediately after the formation of the County 
of Schenectady its bar was organized, and, in con- 
formity to the constitution and laws of the State, its 
county courts were also organized: the Court of 
Common Pleas, Court of General Sessions of the 
Peace, and the Surrogate’s Court; and times and 
places were also appointed for holding the Circuit 
Courts, Courts of Oyer and Terminer, and Special 
Equity and Supreme Court terms. 

The judiciary of the county consisted of the 
Hon. Joseph C. Yates, appointed a Justice of the 
Supreme Court by Gov. Tompkins a few w eeks pre- 
vious to the act establishing the county. Joseph C. 
Yates, at the time of his ‘appointment, was a dis- 
tinguished lawyer residing at Schenectady, and 
one of the most prominent characters in the 
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76 HISTORY OOF THE / COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

history of the State. We shall refer to him more 
at large hereafter. 

Hon. Gerrit S$. Vedder was appointed First 
Judge of the Court of Common Pleas of the county; 
William J. Teller, Surrogate ; Peter F. Ved der, 
Clerk ; James V. S. Riley, Sheriff ; James Barent, 
Under Sheriff ; Richard Oothout, Crier of the 

Court. 
The first court held in Schenectady County after 

its organization was a Court of General Sessions, 
which began May g, 1809. We take the following 
from the records of the Court of that date: 

Ata Court of General Sessions of the Peace, 
held in and for the County of Schenectady at the 
City of Schenectady, and at the Hall of the said 
county, on Tuesday, the gth day of May, 1809. 

Present—Hon. Gerrit S. Vepper, First Judge. 
Joun YAarTEs, 
JonaTHAN HErrIck, 
Jacos A. VRooman, 
Peter C. VAN SLYCKE, 

Court opened. 
The Sheriff returned the precept for summoning 

the Grand Jury for this Court with a panel of 
Grand Jurors annexed, and the following Grand 
Jurors appeared and were sworn : 

Charles Kane, foreman; James Rom, Henry 
H. Peck, Eri Lusher, Daniel Shields, Jacob Swits, 
David Van Der Hyden, Robert Knowlton, 
Francis Vedder, John B. Clute, Cornelius A. 
Groot, Isaac De Graff, Maus Schemerhorn, 
Rudolph Van Housen, Peter McDougall. Ger- 
sham Van Vorst, Stephen Cogswell, Isaac Ledyard, 
Gabriel H. Bowne, William Strong, Robert Gan- 
ley, John Van De Bogart, Henry Mercelus. 

Charge given to the Grand Jury; adjournd till 
afternoon at 2 o'clock, 

Court met at appointed hour ; there being no 
business, Court adjourned till next morning at 9 
o'clock. 

Wednesday morning, May 11; 
according to adjournment; present, 
as yesterday. 

The Grand Jury, being called by their names, 
reported that they had nothing to offer to the Court; 
and, there being no business before the Court, the 
Grand Jury was discharged and the Court ad- 
journed. 

The first Circuit Court and Court of Oyer and 
Terminer held in the county after its organization, 

’ began its session the 23d of October, 1810. ‘The 
following is a copy of the minutes of the proceed- 
ings of this term: 

At a Circuit Court held in and for the County 
‘of Schenectady, in the City Hall of the City of 
Pataca on Tuesday, the 23d day of October, 
1810. 

Present—His Honor, Mr. Justice Spencer. 
Lyman M. Stanford 

vs. 
Robert, Alexander and David Winne. 

- On the motion of Mr. Henry Yates, ordered 
that the Sheriff return a vemzre and that this cause be 
brought to trial. 

| Judges. 

Court opened 
same judges 

| 

| 

The Sheriff returned the vewre with the panel 
annexed, and the following jurors were drawn and 
sworn: Jesse Coon, Job Leonard, Henry Swits, 
James V. 8. Ryley, Charles Kane, William North, 
Araham A. Groote, Jesse Dowse, Henry Vandaman, 
Lewis Burhydt, John J. Van Vorst, Cornelius 
Putnam. 

Witness on the part of plaintiff—Gibbons Went- 
worth. 

The Jury, without leaving the bar, by 
Keene, their foreman, say that they find 
dict in favor of the plaintiff : 
six cents costs. 

There were three other causes disposed of by the 
Jury at this term, as follows : 

Jeremiah Fuller \ 
US. 

Jeremiah Romeyn, Rebeckah, | 
his wife, and six other de- | 
fendants. | 

The Jury rendered a verdict for the plaintiff of 
six cents damages and six cents costs. 

James C. Dares’) 

Charles 
their ver- 

six cents damages and 

Us 

Peter Keehtr. \ 

On trial before a Jury, a verdict was rendered in 
favor of the plaintiff, $111 damages and six cents 
costs. 

James Jackson, Ex-dem., | 
US. 

Jacob Dillamont, John Dill- } Ejectment. 
amont and Alexander 
Vedder. 

The defendants confess lease, entry and ouster. 
This was, as we see, an action of ejectment, with 

the celebrated James Jackson, Ex-dem.—according 
to the practice in those days in such cases—a 
fictitious party. These actions in the early history 
of the State, owing to the unsettled condition of 
land titles, were then and for fifty years following 
the most common actions tried in the courts. 
Looking at the reported causes for those days, the 
unprofessional reader naturally supposes that James 
Jackson, from the large number of cases in which he 
is plaintiff, was the most litigious being in the State, 
a troublesome fellow ; but, like John Doe and 
Richard Roe, he is never seen in court, and is only 
what can be called a legal myth. 

There were three witnesses sworn for the plain- 
tiff and three for the defendants. The Jury, with- 
out leaving the bar, found their verdict for the 
plaintiff; one-third of the PiPmises, six cents dam- 
ages, six cents costs. 

The next case was a case of ejectment; one 

witness sworn for the plaintiff and one for the 
defendant. The Jury without leaving the bar 
found verdict for plaintiff: six cents damages, six 
cents costs. 

This was the last cause tried at this term. 
Though it was called a Circuit Court and Court 

of Oyer and Terminer, it was merely a Circuit 
Court without the criminal side. No Court of 
Oyer and Terminer had yet been held in the 
county. 
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“CITY “OF SCHENECTADY. — 

Mr. Justice Ambrose Spencer, who presided, was 
one of the most learned and distinguished judicial 
officers in the State or nation, He was appointed 
in 1804, serving till 1819, when he was appointed 
Chief Justice of the State. He was the father of 
that great lawyer and statesman, John C. Spencer. 

From the first the Schenectady Bench and Bar 
took a highly. distinguished position, which has 
been maintained down to the present time. Many 
of its members have occupied the highest rank in 
their profession; many have been elevated to the 
Bench and to other prominent civic positions in 
the State and nation. Qn its roll were such hon- 
ored names as Harmon, Van Ingen, Paige, the 
Yateses, Duane, Fonda and many others. ‘The Bar 
never was large in numbers. As late as 1830 it 
consisted of only twelve members, as follows: 
Christopher Fonda, admitted to the Bar in 1822; 

Joshua D. Harmon, admitted 1822; Samuel D. 
Jones, admitted 1816; Archibald L. Linn, 1823; 
Alonzo C. Paige, 1818; Abraham Van Ingen, 
1818; Edward Yates, 1818; Gilbert F. Yates, 
1822; Joseph C. Yates, 1792; Henry Yates, Jr., 
1799; John B. Duane, Trumansburg, 1525; and 
Jacob G. Fonda, at Glenville, 1826. This was the 
Bar in 1830. 

Ten years later, in 1840, the Schenectady Bar 
consisted of eighteen members, having increased 
but six in number during that time, as follows: 
Platt Potter, James M. Bouick: John Brotherson, 
Stephen A. Daggett, Henry Fuller, James Fuller, 
Alexander Gibson, Joshua D. Harmon, John 
Howes, 8S. H. Johnson, Samuel W. Jones, ‘Alonzo 
C. Paige, John Sanders, D. C. Smith, Abraham 
Van Ingen, S. R. Van Ingen, James B. Van 
Voust, Giles F. Yates. 

PresIDING JUDGES OF THE CourT oF Common 
PLEAS OF THE CouNTY AND OF THE County Court. 
—Gerrit S. Vedder, appointed March 11, 1809; 
Gardner Cleveland, appointed May 25, 1812; Da- 
vid Boyd, appointed February 5, 1823: Samuel 
W. Jones, appointed January 31, 1835; Archibald 
L. Linn, appointed July 17, 1840: Samuel W, 
Jones, appointed February 10, 1845. 

The following Judges were elected under the 
provisions of the Constitution of 1846: Samuel W, 

Jones, elected June, 1847; Stephen H. Johnson, 
elected November, 1851: John Sanders, elected 
November, 1855; Stephen H. Johnson, elected 
November, Hing: Judson. Landon, elected Febru- 
ary 1,1865 (Judge Johnson resigned and Judge Lan- 
don, now one of the Justices of the Supreme Court, 
was ‘appointed to fill his place; he served ull the 
close of 1869, when Waiter T. L. Sanders, elected 
November, 1869, took his place): Austin A. 
Yates, elected November, 1873: David C. Beattie, 
elected November, 1879. 

District AtrorNeys.*—John 
pointed June 1, 1518; 

K. Paige, 
Alonzo C. 

ap- 
Paige, 

* The original appellation of this office was that of Assistant Attor- 
ney-General, created by the act of February 12, 1796. It embraced 
several counties. ‘The office of District Attorney was created by the 
act of April 4, 1801, and the State was divided into thirteen districts, 
several counties tn each District. Albany, Schenectady and Schoharie 
Counties formed the Twelfth District. By the act of 1318 each county 
was appointed a separate district for the office of District Attomey. 
These officers were appointed tll the Constitution of 1846 went into 
effect, when they were elected. 

| 

BENCH AND: BAR: v7 

appointed September 3, 182 Platt Potter, ap- 
pointed January 15, 1839; Benjamin I. Potter, 
elected June, 1847; Samuel L. Baker, elected 
November, 1850; James Fuller, appointed in 
place of Baker, resigned. August 22, 1551; 
John Van Santvoort, elected November, 1851 ; 
Samuel ‘IT. Freeman, appointed in place of 
Van Santvoort, resigned; Simeon Caulkins, ap- 
pointed January 7, 1356, in place of Freeman, re- 
signed: Judson S. Landon, elected November, 

1556; John G. McChesney, elected November, 
1862; John L. Hill, elected November, 1865; 
Austin A. Yates, elected November, 1868; Alonzo 
P. Strong, appointed December 24, 1873, in place 
of Yates, resigned: Daniel C. Beattie, elected No- 
vember, 1874; Charles E. Palmer, elected Novem- 
ber, 1877; J. Teller Schoolcraft, elected Novem- 
ber, 1880. 

SurroGates. — William J. Teller, appointed ~ 
ra 30, 1809; Robert Hudson, appointed April 
6, 1813; William J. Teller, appointed March 3, 
1815; John Yates, appointed February 12, 1816; 
Giles F. Yates, appointed February 21, 1821 ; 
John Sanders, appointed February 13, 1840; 
David Cady Smith, appointed February 13, 1844. 

The County Judges whom we have named, 
elected under the provisions of 1846, have been 

Judges and Surrogates down to the present time. 
County Crerks.*——Peter F. Vedder, appointed 

March 11, 180g; Joseph Shurtleff, appointed 
February 26, 1810; Peter I. Vedder, appointed 
February 14, 1811; Jellis A. Fonda, appointed 
May 25, 1812; Joseph Shurtletf, appointed March 
12,1813; Jellis A. Fonda, aEpenie February 
13, 1815; Jellis A. Fonda, elected } November, 
1822; John S. Vrooman, appointed by the Governor 
1834; Jonathan C. Burnham, elected November, 
1834 ; Archibald Campbell, elected November, 
1837; Silas H. Marsh, elected November, 1843 ; 

David P. Forrest, elected November, 1849: Mar- 
vin Strong, elected November, 1852; John W, 
Vedder, elected November. 1858; John M. 
Banker, appointed May 1, 1861, in place of Ved- 
der, resigned; John McShea, Jr., appointed 
January 6, 1864, in place of Banker, resigned ; 
James G. Caw, elected November, 1864; J. 
Fonda Veile, elected November, 1876; Mr. Veile 
served by re-election till December 31, 1882: 
Thomas Yelverton, elected November, 1382. 

SHERIFFs.—-James V.S. Riley, appointed March 
1, 1809; John V. Van Ingen, James V. S. Riley, 

‘ae Brown, Gideon Hol liday, Isaac Riggs, Lewis 
Eaton, A. Van Slyck, elected under provision of 
Constitution of 1821, November, 1822; John F. 
D. Vedder, elected November, 1825; Gershom Van 
Voast, elected November, 1828; Isaac I. Yates, 

elected November, 1831; Matthew Putnam, elected 

November, 1834; Myndert M. R. Wemple. elected 
November, 1837; David F. Reese, elected Novem- 
ber, 1840; Anthony H. Van Slyck, elected Novem- 
ber, 1843; John G. Van Voast, elected November, 
1847; John F. Clute, elected November, 1849; 
Nicholas Brooks, elected November, 1852; Philip 

* These officers were appointed by the Governor and Council of 
Appointment down to 1821, when, by the provisions of the Constitution 
adopted that year, they were elected by the people. 
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Dederick, appointed ze Brooks, resigned, January 
16, 1855; Obadiah L. De Forest, elected Novem- 
ber, 1855; Norman M. F. Clute, elected Novem- 
ber, 1858; Abraham Gillispie, elected Novem- 
ber, 1861; Samuel Wingate, elected November, 
1864; Peter Miller, elected November, 1867; 
Clark V. Worden, appointed by the Governor, 
1868; Jacob Vedder, elected November, 1869; 
James McMillen, Ir, elected November, 1872; 
Hiram J. Ingersoll, elected November, 1875; 
Charles H. Van Vranken, elected November, 1578; 

1881; S. L. Jacob De Forest, elected November, 
Clute, elected November, 1885. 

The legal history of Schenectady is best illus- 
trated by the lives and careers of men who have 
made its history by participating as leaders in the 
various matters of public and historic interest in the 
county. We shall, therefore, introduce biograph- 
ical sketches of those distinguished lawyers .and 
judges of the county, without which, it may with 
truth be said, its history could not be written. 
We shall begin with the biography of Joseph C. 

Yates, a name not only interwoven in the history 
of Schenectady, but in that of the State, and in a 
large degree with that of the nation. 

‘*Among the early settlers of Schenectady, or 
‘Corlear’ as it was styled in the olden time, was 
Joseph Yates, an honest, industrious, intelligent 
and enterprising English yeoman. He was a native 
of Leeds, in Y orkshire,and emigrated to the Colony 
of New York at that fearful period in English his- 
tory when Charles the First was beheaded to ap- 
pease the fury of the men who established, under 
Cromwell, the Commonwealth of England. 

‘«The descendants of Joseph Yates were numerous. 
Although they preserved the patronymic of their 
-ancestors, they soon lost their nationality in a de- 
gree, by their frequent intermarriages with their 
Dutch and German neighbors.” 
No family was more conspicuous in the early annals 

of New York and the Revolution than the Yates fam- 
ily. They were strong and influential Whigs, entering 
ardently into the struggle of the Colonists for freedom, 
notwithstanding a: large number (perhaps a majority) 
of the people by whom they were surrounded were 
Tories, and they were connected with some of the 
prominent loyalists by marriage. Nearly all the in- 
habitants ofthe valley of Mohawk and the intersecting 
valley of Schoharie were Tories. But the Germans 
and Dutch, with the exception of those families 
allied to the Johnsons or under their influence, 
were patriots, ready and willing to shed their blood 
for the freedom of their country. 

The connection of the Yates family with the 
Bench and Bar is singularly instructive and inter- 
esting. 

Robert Yates was one of the first Judges of the Su- 
preme Court of the State of New York, and subse- 
quently Chief Justice; Abraham Yates, Jr., an influ- 
ential citizen of Albany and afterward its Mayor; and 
Christopher Yates, father of Joseph C. Yates, whose 
life we are tracing, were cousins, and at an early 

day identified themselves with the great movement 
which terminated in the independence of the 
American Colonies. 

Chief Justice Abraham Yates was a member of 
the Committee of Public Safety and of the Con- 
vention which adopted the Constitution of 1777. 
When his judicial appointment was tendered to 
him, his practice as a lawyer was extensive and 
lucrative. At the Albany bar, of which he was a 
member, and even at the bar of the city of New 
York, he was an acknowledged leader; learned, sa- 
gacious, eloquent and adroit. Such was his posi- 
tion long before the days of 1776, and when in 
1777 he accepted the office of Chief Justice, he did 
so largely to the injury of his private interests. His 
judicial duties were peculiarly delicate and dan- 
gerous. He sat upon the bench, as a writer has 
expressed it, ‘with a halter about his neck, exposed 
to punishment as a rebel, had our efforts for liberty 
proved abortive. But no dangers could appall, no 
fears deter him from an honest performance of the 
functions of his office.” 

He represented New York in the Philadelphia 
Convention in 1787, and was a member of the 
State Convention called to ratify the Federal Con- 
stitution. 

Christopher Yates was one of the leading men of 
Schenectady for many years prior to the Revolu- 
tion. During the French and Indian War he held 
a captain’s commission in the provincial troops. 
He took part in the unsuccessful attempt made in 
758 to dislodge Montcalm from his position at Ti- 

conderoga; while bravely leading his men to theas- 
sault he was desperately wounded. In the following 
year he accompanied the army under Gen. Prideaux 
and Sir William Johnson in the expedition against 
Fort Niagara, and was present at the capture of 
that important work. The war over, he returned 
to his duties and occupation as acitizen. He was 
immediately elected to the Colonial Legislature, 
and for many years was a prominent member of 
that body. When the stirring questions began to 
be agitated that terminated in the Revolution, he 
espoused the cause of freedom. When the first 
alarm of war was raised he gave his services to his 
country. He accepted a commission in the New 
York troops, and was very soon promoted to the 
rank of colonel, in which capacity he served 
through the war, participating in many of its bat- 
tles. 

He married Jane Bradt, a lady whose many ex- 
cellent qualities caused her memory to be affec- 
tionately cherished by her posterity. She was de- 
scended from an old and respectable Dutch family 
who emigrated to the colony of New York and 
settled in the lower valley of the Mohawk at a 
very early period. She was the mother of several 
children, sons and daughters. Of the former was 
Joseph C., whose name stands at the head of this 
sketch. 

Henry Yates, a brother, represented the Eastern 
Senatorial District in 1811 to 1814, 1818 to 1821. 
He was also a delegate from the county of Sche- 
nectady to the Constitutional Convention of 1821. 
John B. Yates was for a long time an honored and 
respected citizen of Madison County, and Andrew, 
‘*the conscientious, punctual and kind-hearted” 
—to use the language of Dr. Potter—was an emi- 
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CITY OF SCHENECTADY.—BENCH AND BAR. “"9 

nent clergyman, a Professor in Union College, a 
‘Trustee of ‘Hamilton College, and Principal of the 
Polytechny of Chittenango. It will thus be seen 
how intimately connecteil with every part of Sche- 
nectady County—legal, judicial, civil and military 
—has been the name of Yates. 

But to proceed with the life of the distinguished 
subject of this sketch, JosepH C. Yatres. 

He was bor at Schenectady on November 9, 
1768. Robust and energetic, physically and 
mentally, exhibiting an unusual fondness for study 
and a persevering love of knowledge, he early indi- 
cated that he was destined to enter that career of 
life demanding intellectual endowments, strong 
executive powers, strengthened and sustained by 
those moral and religious sentiments which gave 
strength and dignity to his character. Many of 
these high qualities of the future Judge and Chief 
Magistrate of the State were exhibited in his early 
years. Inheriting many of the traits of his mater- 
nal ancestors, he early adopted the favorite maxim 
of their nation, ‘*Hes-dracht maakt macht.” As 
has well been said, this motto, like the magic 
word in the Arabian tale, removed many an ob- 
stacle which obstructed his path, and served oft- 
times to serve and encourage him. 

As the means of his father were ample, he 
enjoyed every advantage for obtaining a finished 
education, and he zealously availed himself of 
them. 

His education was begun under the tuition of 
Jacob Wilkie, an accomplished scholar, a tutor in 
his family. After receiving the instruction of this 
gentleman for several years he was sent to Caugh- 
nawaja, where he continued his studies under the 
instruction of Rey. Dr. Romain and his scholarly 
son, Theodoric Frelinghuysen Romain. He re- 
mained here until the incursions of Brandt, Sir 

Guy and Sir John Johnson rendered his residence 
at Caughnawaja unsafe, and he returned to Sche- 
nectady, where he completed his education under 
the instruction of Rev. Alexander Miller and that 
distinguished scholar, John Honeywood. 

Early in life he decided to enter the legal pro- 
fession. In conformity with this resolution, he 
entered the office of Peter W. Yates, a cousin of 
his father, a lawyer of distinction, and a leading 
Anti-Federalist, in the city of Albany. Young 
Yates pursued his legal studies, as he did his classi- 
cal, with a determination to master it as one of the 
greatest of sciences, which embodies in it, as has 
well been said, the perfection of all human reason- 
ing. At that day digests, compends and elemen- 
tary treatises on Jaw were not as abundant as at the 
present time, and the legal student was compelled 
to work out his education in the exercise of unre- 
mitting diligence in tracing the intellectual sub- 
tlety of the legal writers of that period. But this 
labor and research tended to strengthen and enlarge 
the mind, give it profundity and flexibility. 

In 1792 Yates was called to the Bar. Robert 
Yates was then Chief Justice of the Supreme Court 
of the State of New York. He, loo, as we have 
seen, was a native of Schenectady, a man fitted by 
education, by high mental qualities, thorough and 

| 
| 
| 
i] 

| 

exhaustive legal training, for the elevated positions 
in life which he was called upon to occupy. : 

After his call to the bar, young Yates opened an 
office in Schenectady and began the practice of his 
profession under the most advantageous circum- 
stances. As was said by one of the. distinguished 
citizens of the city at the time, ‘t Schenectady need- 
eda lawyer with the useful qualities which Mr. 
Yates possessed.” He was prudent and sagacious 
as a counselor, able and skillful as an advocate. 
familiar with the rules which control real property 
and with the doctrines which govern the creation 
and devolution of estates. In the interpretation of 
devises and the construction of the settlement of 
deeds, grants, and the operation of trusts and 
powers, he was peculiarly qualified for the practice 
which, at that time, largely occupied the attention 
of lawyers. 

Mr. Yates was not only active and useful in his 
profession, but he identified himself with every 
-public improvement which tended to the advance- 
ment of Schenectady. 

He was particularly active and useful in pro- 
moting the educational interests of the country. 
With other members of his family—with the Glens, 
the Fondas, the Van Ingens, the Oothouts, the 
Veeders and the Duanes—he was very influential 
in founding Union College. He was one of 
those to whom the funds raised by subscription 
were required to be paid, and one of the trustees 
named in the charter granted by the Regents of 
the University in 1790. The prosperity of Union 
College was to him a matter of deep interest. He 
remained a member of the Board of Trustees until 
the day of his death, and it may well be said that 
the history of Union College is largely blended 
with that of Joseph C. Yates. 
ies March, 1798, Schenectady was incorporated 
acity. Previous to this the corporate property 

was held under letters patent granted in 1684 by 
Sir Edmund Andross, then Governor-General of 
the province of New York. We have said that 
Mr. Yates was particularly interested in the pro- 
motion and prosperity of Schenectady. His efforns 
and abilities were warmly appreciated by his fellow 
citizens, who, in return, bestowed upon him the 
most flattering proofs of their confidence and re- 
gard. 

For over fifteen years he devoted himself with 
untiring assiduity to his constantly increasing and 
highly remunerative legal business, which brought 
him to the front rank of his profession. 

The political arena had the same attractions for 
him that it has for most lawyers, and he entered it 
to reap the highest honors in the gift of the people 
of the State of New York. From this position he 
rose rapidly from one office of honor and trust 
to another. 

In 1806-7 he was a member of the State Senate 
from the Eastern District. On the 3d of April, 
1807, he was appointed by the Legislature of the 
State on a commission, consisting of Ezra L’Hom- 
medieu, Samuel Jones, I-gbert Benson and Simeon 
De Witt, to meet and confer in behalf of the State 
with commissioners appointed by New Jersey, rel- 
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86 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

ative to certain claims of jurisdiction and territory 
made by the latter as to the extension of its 
eastern boundary. The able manner in which 
this commission performed its duty has passed 
into history. In 1808, Mr. Yates was again 
elected from the Eastern District to the State 
Senate. Soon after his election, that illustrious 
jurist, Brockholst Livingston, then a Justice of the 
Supreme Court of the State, was promoted to 
the Bench of the United States Supreme Court, 
and Joseph C. Yates, to the great gratification of 
the Bench, the Bar and the public, was appointed 
to occupy the place on the State bench made 
vacant by Judge Livingston's promotion. He 
occupied this position with great ability until 
January 20, 1823, a period of fifteen years, when 
he was, as we shall more { fully see hereafter, elevated 
to the chief magistracy of the State. 

On the 28th of February, 1812, he was chosen 
a Regent of the University. We should have said 
that Mr. Yates very early allied himself to the 
Democratic-Republican party, afterward known 
as the Democratic party. 

In November, 1822, he was elected Governor of 
the State over Solomon Southwick, his opponent. 
He resigned his office as Justice of the Supreme 
Court, and, on the first of January, 1823, was in- 
augurated Governor of the State. Until Governor 
Yates assumed the Executive chair, the State Gov- 
ernors, at the opening of each annual legislative 
session, appeared before the Senate and the Assem- 
bly, and delivered the Annual Message orally. He 
changed this custom by sending a written message 
to the Legislature, and the precedent he established 
has been adopted by all his successors. 

In his first message he recommended laws for 
carrying the new Constitution—the Constitution of 
1821—into effect; forthe encouragement of domes- 
tic manufactories and economy in the public ex- 
penditures; and a liberal prosecution of the works 
of internal improvements then in progress. His 
message was a plain, unassuming, but very prac- 
tical document. 

One of the questions that largely occupied the 
public mind in the State of New York, pending the 
canvass for President in 1820, which resulted in 
the re-election of James Monroe, was that of allow- 
ing the people the choice of Presidential E lectors, 
instead of the Legislature. This question entered 
largely into the gubernatorial canvass of 1823, ‘but 
was left undecided. 

In his message to the Legislature, January 6, 
1824, he called its attention to the fact that he de- 
sired a change in the mode of choosing Presidential 
Electors, expressing an opinion that it should be 
general throughout the country, looking to Con- 
gress for the remedy, and that in the meantime the 
interference of the Legislature, or the surrender of 
their right to choose the Electors, was not advisa- 
ble. Heé again recommended encouragement of 
domestic manufactures by duties on foreign im- 
ported goods. One of the most significant and 
important measures recommended by Gov. Yates 
in this message was the revision of the Statutes of 
the State. 

Early in the legislative session of 1824, a heated 

and angry discussion took place in both branches 
of the Legislature on the introduction of bills au- 
thorizing the people to choose the Electors by gen- 
eral ticket. Previous to this, as we have seen, they 
were chosen by the Legislature. 

A bill favorable to the change in the electoral 
laws passed the Assembly, but by a majority, in- 
stead cf a plurality. The object of this bill was 
intended to effect the vote of New York in the 
Presidential election, which was to take place that 
year. In this election Henry Clay, John Quincy 
‘Adams, Andrew Jackson and W illiam H. Crawford 
were candidates for President. 

The change was insisted upon by the friends of 
Mr. Crawford, by which means they believed it 
would give him the State. His opponents, how- 
ever, in the Senate defeated the measure by post- 
poning a further consideration of it until the first 
Monday in the following November, which, in 
effect, defeated the bill 

Such was the excitement on the question, that 
Gov. Yates called an extra session of the Legisla- 
ture for August 2, 1824. <A bill providing for the 
choice of electors by the people, under the present 
form, passed the Legislature in 1826. 

Gov. Yates’ term of office expired January 1, 
1825, and he was succeeded by De Witt Clinton. 
In 1828 he was elected President of the Electoral 
College, the State giving its vote for Andrew Jack- 
son for President. ; 

At the expiration of his term of office he re- 
sumed his residence at Schenectady, where he was 
greatly beloved and honored by its citizens. He 
remained attached to the Democratic party. He 
supported the administration of President Jackson 
and of Mr. Van Buren, though he did so with 
moderation and courteous deference to the opinion 
of others. 

Gov. Yates was married three different times. 
His first wife was Mrs. Ann Ellice, of Schenectady, 
by whom he had no issue. For his second wife he 
married Miss Maria Kane, of Albany; she bore 
him one daughter, who became the wife of John 

Keyes Paige, for many years a clerk of the Supreme 
Court, and afterward Mayor of Albany. His 
third wife was Ann Elizabeth De Lancy, by whom 

he had two daughters; one of them married Mr. 
J. D. Watkins, of Georgia; the other, Mr. Samuel 
Neal, of New York City. 

In person Gov. Yates was rather above the me- 
dium size and height. His appearance was digni- 
fied and his manner was easy, courteous and un- 
assuming. If he did not possess a brilliant mind, 
it was vigorous, well balanced and well disciplined 
by education and by his relations with the world. 
In all his private relations he was in every way es- 
timable. He died at Schenectady, on March 1g, 

1837, having attained the age of sixty-nine years. 
Hox. Atonzo C. PaicE, LL.D.—Few names 

are more distinguished in the legal history of the 
State of New York than that of Alonzo C. Paige. 
It isan ornament to the bar, where he was dis- 
tinguished as a wise, eloquent and faithful counsel- 
or. While at the bar, he devoted himself with 
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untiring industry to his profession. To him, ju- 
risprudence was a science which delighted his pol- 
emical mind, and he studied it with avidity and 
pleasure; but the student was never lost in the 
practicing lawyer. His deep reading was exhibited 
in his legal arguments, in his written opinions, 
and they rendered his briefs and all his Jegal pro- 
ductions beautiful specimens of legal logic and 
learning. Like most lawyers, Mr. Paige, in his 
earlier life, entered somewhat largely into politics, 
but never to the neglect of his professional duties. 
He was never what may be called a practiced pol- 
itician, and, when placed in comparison with those 
simulars of patriotism—politicians of policy and 
intrigue—approaching the people with artifice, and 
addressing them in the ambiguous language of a 
trimmer, his character shone with peculiar lustre, 
and it is no exaggeration to say that it did so in 
all the varied duties of his life. 

We cannot better place the character and career 
of Judge Paige before our readers than in adopting 
the beautiful memorial ofhim found in 52 Barbor’s 
N. Y. Supreme Court Reports. 

Judge Paige was the son of the Rev. Dr. 
Winslow Paige, a Presbyterian clergyman, who was 
afterward called to the then Reformed Protestant 
Dutch Church. Judge Paige was born in Schagh- 
ticoke, Rensselaer County, in 1797. Blessed with 
a pious parentage and with the advantage of every 
possible care bestowed in the cultivation of his 
mind and advancement in education, he entered 
Williams College at an unusually early age, and 
graduated from that institution before he had arrived 
at the age of sixteen. In 1857 he received from 
his Adma Mater the degree of LL.D. After 
leaving Williams College, his father, designing to 
educate him for the ministry, sent him to be in- 
structed under the care of the Rev. Dr. Banks, a 
learned Scotch clergyman, then living in a neighbor- 
ing parish. Aftera year or more thus spent, his father, 
learning of his absence, upon inquiry, found him in 
alaw office, in the city of Schenectady, laboriously 
studying a profession then most agreeable to his 
own wishes. He completed his legal term of study 
with the approbation of his parent, and was ad- 
mitted to the bar in 1818, and opened an office in 
the city of Schenectady in 1819. He then adopted 
that city as his residence, where he lived to the time 
of his ‘death. 

Judge Paige was a student in every sense of the 
word. When he first assumed the practice of his 
profession, his mind was so thoroughly imbued 
with accurate knowledge of elementary law, and 
his habit of study and investigation so diligent and 
unremitting, that he arose at once to the first 
rank in his profession. Though genial in his na- 
ture, and enjoying with the highest relish, in his 
hours of relaxation, the pleasures of refined social 
associations, his constant midnight lamp was the 
evidence to all of his love of study. 

In 1824 he was appointed District Attorney, 
which office he held for fifteen years, performing its 
duties with distinguished credit. In 1826 he was 
electeda Member of Assembly, and in the three suc- 
cessive years of 1827-8~g he was returned as the pop- 

ular representative of this county in the Assembly. 
These political duties, though onerous, were never 
permitted to interrupt those of his profession, in 
which it seemed to be the great object of his ambi- 
tion to excel. So rapidly did he rise in his pro- 
fessional distinction that the acute mind of 
Chancellor Walworth was attracted to him, and 
in 1830 he selected him as the reporter of his 
court, to which office he was appointed, and 
which he held until 1846. The highest encomium 
that could be paid to his qualifications for that po- 
sition is the appreciation of the Bar of the State of 
New York of the skill, ability, and success with 
which he executed its duties, as manifested in their 

appreciation of the eleven volumes of the reports 
which will bear his name to all the future in our 
judicial history. In 1838 Judge Paige was elected 
a trustee of Union College, which place he held for 
thirty years, until his death. He was placed in 
the principal charge of the finances of that institu- 
tion, and gave to that duty a constant and most 
laborious attention, ‘To no one individual during 
that period is more credit due than to him for the 
care, security, prosperity and increase of the now 
exceedingly large and productive property of that 
institution. Before the adoption of the Constitution 
of 1846, Judge Paige was twice elected to the Sen- 
ate of this State, and was thus made a member of 
the Court for the Correction of Errors. His opin- 
ions asa member of that court are distinguished 
for great clearness, learning and power. Upon 
the adoption of the Constitution of 1846, and at 
the first election under it, he was elected a Justice 
of the Supreme Court, and once after elected to 
supply a vacancy. He was for two years a mem- 
ber of the Court of Appeals. It would be useless 
to the judiciary, to his associates or to the bar to 
speak of the character of the many contributions 
in our books of reports which bear the impress of 
his profound legal mind. Suffice it to say, he 
spent his lifein the service of the State, and the 
ability and soundness of his judicial decisions are a 
part of its history and have greatly contributed to 
its honor and fame. 

The last public position occupied by Judge 
Paige was that of a member of the Constitutional 
Convention of 1867-8. Though then somewhat 
enfeebled by the disease which terminated his life, 
his noble and efficient efforts to provide in the 
Constitution of the State a security against the cor- 
ruptions of the elective franchise were in harmony 
with the integrity of his whole life. 

He was a gentleman of imposing presence, 
adopting the old school of dignified and gentle- 
manly manners, still possessing great urbanity, 
amenity and kindness. His leading characteris- 
tics were open, sincere honesty, undoubted, un- 
qualified integrity, frank sincerity, uniform cour- 
tesy, and he was generous and liberal in charities 
to the destitute. His early religious training im- 
pressed upon his mind great gravity of demeanor, 
and many years before his death he made a public 
profession of religion and united with the Presby- 
terian church ; at the time of his death he was one 
of the ruling elders of that church. 
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Upon the announcement of his death, in March, 
1868, the Bar of Schenectady County called a 
meeting to express their profound sorrow for his 
loss. This meeting was largely attended. Hon. 
John Sanders was called to the chair, 
taking it, addressed his brethren in a speech of 
deep feeling and eloquence. A committee on 
resolutions was appointed, consisting of Hon. J. 
S: Landon, Hon. Thomas, B..; Mitchell, S. ..Ay 
Daggett, J. Fuller and A. P. Strong, Esqrs., who 
presented by their chairman brief, touching res- 
olutions, eloquent and heartfelt expressions of 
sorrow for the death of the distinguished jurist 
they memorialized. 

In presenting the resolutions Judge Landon 
said: ‘‘ We honor our deceased brother, not so 
much on account of the high places of trust and 
of honor to which he was called and worthily 
filled, for none know better than our profession 
that in our age and time high official place is not 
the truest evidence of high merit. The bat can 
reach that eminence as well as the eagle. But we 
honor him because through all the years of his 
early and later manhood he dignified, adorned and 
elevated the profession of the law, even in the esti- 
mation of lawyers themselves. No pretense, no art 
of a demagogue, no superficial acquirements, can 
give the lawyer high rank among lawyers ; only 
merit, and real merit, can win that. Judge Paige, 
by the cheerful assent of his associates, long had 
place among the few who stand at the front rank 
of the Bar of our State. Others, doubtless, sur- 
passed him in the gift of eloquence which charms 
while it instructs, but none in that tireless industry, 
that exhaustive learning, which, guided by the en- 
lightened conscience and disciplined brain, com- 
pels, alike from principle and authority, the law to 
stand, as Bacon called it, ‘the perfection of 
human reason.’ Throughout the State Judge 
Paige commanded the respect and honor of the 
learned and the good.” 

We only give a portion of Judge Landon’s 
eloquent and ¢ appropriate eulogy. When he said 
that ‘‘throughout the State the departed jurist com- 
manded respect and honor,” he uttered the senti- 
ment of the Bench and the Bar in all the State, 
as was exhibited by many public demonstrations. 

The Schenectady Bar has furnished four Justices 
of the Supreme Court, viz.: Joseph C. Yates, ap- 
pointed February 8, 1808; Alonzo C. Paige, elected 
June 7, 1847; Platt Potter, elected November 3, 1857 

HON. PLATT POTTER. 

In writing the biography of the eminent jurist 
whose name appears at the head of this sketch, we 
speak of one long accustomed to the struggles of 
the Bar, one who has for many years. pronounced 
the law from the Bench. He is one who, in his 
sphere, has discharged his duties with such probity 
and honor, such learning and ability, as entitles 
him to the highest esteem of the Bench, the Bar, 
and the public. 

Hon. Platt Potter was born at Galway, Saratoga 
County, N. Y., April 6, 1800. He is perhaps one 

who, on 

| 

| 

of the oldest judges and lawyers in the State; one 
of those through whom one generation speaks its 
thoughts, appeals and sympathies to another. 
His father, Restcome Potter, was a native of Mass- 
achusetts, but removed to New York early in life. 

Notwithstanding the non-combatant principles of 
himself and his ancestors, who were members of 
the Society of Friends, he engaged in military ser- 
vice during the war with the mother country, un- 
der Ethan Allen (the noted hero of Ticonderoga) 
when demanding the surrender of the fort in the 
name of the ‘Great Jehovah and the Continental 
Congress.” 

Later in life he received a colonel’s commission 
in the militia from Governor George Clinton, for 
whom he named one of his sons. He removed to 
Saratoga County about 1794, and from there to 
Schenectady in about 1806, and followed the oc- 
cupation of farming. A man of energy and public 
spirit, he was chosen to fill various official posi- 
tions, being in turn Alderman of the City, Justice 
of the Peace, and for sixteen years a Judge of the 
Court of Common Pleas. He was possessed of 
commanding influence in his day, and died, greatly 
regretted, in 1853. The mother of Judge Platt 
Potter was Lucinda (Strong) Potter, of Litchfield, 
Conn., who was also descended from patriotic an- 
cestry. During his boyhood, Judge Potter at- 
tended the common schools and the academy at 
Schenectady, from which he graduated in 1824. 
He immediately began the study of law under the 
direction of Hon. ” Alonzo C. Paige, afterward a 
Judge of the Supreme Court. He was admitted to 
the Bar of the Supreme Court in 1828. He entered 
upon the practice of his profession at Minaville, 
Montgomery County, and continued thus occupied 
till 1833, when, removing to Schenectady, he en- 
tered into partnership with Mr. Paige, his former 
preceptor. ‘This connection continued fora period 
of thirteen years. Upon its dissolution, Judge 
Potter practiced alone for a time, but was subse- 
quently associated in practice with distinguished 
legal men who have occupied high positions of 
official hoor both in the State and National Gov- 
ernment. In the autumn of 1830, Mr. Potter was 
elected Member of Assembly from Montgomery 
County. During this session of the Legislature, a 
committee, of which Judge Potter was chairman, 
was appointed to consider the matter of providing 
improved accommodations for the insane. He 
made the report, and introduced the first bill to 
erect an asylum at Utica for lunatics. He served 
also during the same period of legislative labor on 
the Judiciary Committee. In 1836 he was married 
to Antoinette, daughter of the Rev. Winslow Paige, 
D.D. From 1839 to 1847 he held the office of 
District Attorney for Schenectady County, and was 
at the same time Master and Examiner in Chan- 
cery, having been appointed to that position in 
1828, and continuing to exercise its functions till 
the abolishment of the Court in Chancery about 
1847. In 1857 he was elected Justice of the Su- 
preme Court of New York, running as candidate 
against his former partner, Judge A. C. Paige. 
He was returned by a small majority, serving dur- 
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ing one of the most critical periods of our political 
history. During this term he also served as a 
Judge of the Court of Appeals. He was re-elected 
in 1865 to the Supreme Bench of the State without 
opposition. In the same year he was elected 
trustee of Union College, which office he continues 
to hold, and which institution conferred on him in 
1867 the degree of LL. D. 
He was always a staunch Republican in political 

sentiments. His judicial services during the rebel- 
lion, and the four years of trying national experience 
which immediately preceded it, were of the utmost 
value to the Government. 

Noted for more than usual mental readiness and 
penetration, and great activity in the performance 
of every duty, Judge Potter has filled with honor 
many high official positions in the State. His 
election to the Supreme Bench of the Common- 
wealth, and his long continuance as a member of | 
that distinguished body, evince the appreciation in 
which not only his talents but his worth are held 
by those whose interest have been the object of his 
judicial care. His labors as a legislator showed 
his large philantrophy and his wise statesmanship. 
As a jurist, he stands high in the State. His argu- 
ment before the Assembly upon the case of 
the supposed ‘‘High Breach of Privilege of 
the Honorable the Assembly of the State of New 
‘York, in the matter of the Hon. Henry Ray, Mem- 

a2 
ber of Assembly from Ontario,” exhibits his pro- 
found knowledge of the constitutional rights and 
powers of the judiciary as a co-ordinate branch of 
the Government, the extent of the law of legislative 
privilege, and those sound principles of law and 
equity underlying just legislative and judicial 
action. 

This case was novel and unprecedented: neither 
in the legislative nor judicial history of this State 
had any case similar to it been known. 

The facts in the case, briefly stated, are as fol- 
lows: On the 2oth of January, 1870, a subpcena, 
requiring one Henry Ray to appear and testify as a 
witness in a criminal proceeding then pending be- 
fore the Grand Jury of Saratoga, Oyer and Ter- 
miner, was issued under the authority of that Court, 
Hon. Platt Potter, one of the Justices of the Su- 
preme Court, presiding. The subpcena was duly 
served on Ray at the City of Albany. He refused 
to obey its mandates on the grounds of his privi- 
lege as Member of Assembly of the State of New 
York, then in session. The District Attorney of 
Saratoga County then applied to the Court for an 
attachment against Ray for such disobedience. It 
was granted by the Court, and the officer was di- 
rected to serve the same by producing the body of 
Ray before the Court. He went to Albany on the 

_morning of the 21st and arrested Ray at his lodg- 
ings. Ray insisted on his privilege, and refused to 
accompany the officer, who then informed him 
that he should take him by force. Under pro- 
test, the gentleman submitted himself to the cus- 
tody of the officer. 

When the arrest of Ray was communicated to 
the House of Assembly, it created great excite- 
ment in that body, and elicited an exciting debate. 

It was regarded as a question involving a high 
breach of privilege of the House, and an insult to 
their dignity. It was finally referred to the Com- 
mittee on Grievances for grave consideration. 
This Committee was composed of seven of the 
then most experienced members of the House. 
The Hon. Thomas C. Field was Chairman. After 
thorough inquiry anda full investigation, the Com- 
mittee presented an elaborate report, stating the 
facts and circumstances of the case, the effect of 
the act upon the character and dignity of the 
House, the encroachments on legislative rights of 
the law of Parliamentary privileges, and of the 
danger of the public interests if the precedent com- 
ing from sucha source should pass without public 
rebuke. The Committee came to the conclusion 
“that the arrest of the Hon. Henry Ray, on Jan- 
uary 21, 1870—a Member of Assembly "from the 
First District of the County of Ontario—on an at- 
tachment issuing out of the Court of Oyer and 
Terminer then being held in the County of Sara- 
toga, of which the Hon. Platt Potter was Presid- 
ing Justice, was a high breach of the privileges of 
this House by the said Potter, and deserves the 
censure of this House, Your Committee, there- 
fore, respectfully submit the following resolution: 

‘* Resolved, That the Hon. Platt Potter, Justice of 
the Supreme Court of the Fourth Judicial District, 
be summoned and required to appear before the 
bar of this House for a high breach of its privi- 
lege in issuing an attachment for the arrest of the 
Hon. Henry Ray, a Member of Assembly of the 
State of New York from the First District of the 
County of Ontario; and that the House will then 
and there take such action as the House in its 
judgment may see fit.” 

A similar resolution was passed in relation to 
the District Attorney of Saratoga County, who ap- 
plied for the attachment against Ray. 

The notice to appear at the Bar of the House 
and answer was served on the Judge February 14, 

1870, only two days previous to that appointed for 
the hearing. 

At twelve o'clock noon on the 16th of February, 
Judge Potter appeared at the bar of the Assembly, 
when the Speaker of the House briefly stated to 
him the charges which he was required to answer, 
and called upon him to state any excuse for his 
conduct in issuing his attachment against Hon. 
Henry Ray, a member of the House. 

Judge Potter, who had appeared with Hon. Wm. 
A. Beach, as counsel, proposed that that gentle- 
man should answer for him. Mr. Fields stated 
that the presence of counsel in such cases was 
unusual, whereupon the Speaker declared the 
Judge could not be heard through his counsel. 

‘“Then,” said Judge Potter, “Twill speak for 
myself.” He then entered on his remarks with 
the calm confidence of one who can rely upon 
himself in any emergency. His argument was 
able, profound and elaborate; every authority 
bearing on the matter in any w ‘ay—whether Eng- 
lish or American—was fully considered and 
digested. It did not touch upon anything which 
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would excite the fancy, for it contained nothing but 
logic, learning and facts. The Assernbly and 
many Senators who came to be present, and a vast 
throng of spectators, listened with deep and un- 
wearied attention. All who heard it were lost to 
everything except the words which fell from the 
lips of the speaker, standing under such peculiar 
circumstances. But he had the complete mastery 
of his subject, and his words flowed with intel- 
lectual energy. 
We regret that we have not space to give in 

detail his remarkably able arguments—this great 
defense of an independent judiciary. It was 
rewarded by a great and signal triumph. 

“Although,” said the Judge, in concluding his 
argument, ‘‘I have appeared here and _ offered 
this defense, I do not say that I submit this case 
to you, though probably ‘that will be the effect of 
your action; but, sir, I stand here prorestrnc, 
earnestly PROTESTING, that 1am not here in obedi- 
ence to your power, but here out of courtesy to 
an independent department of this Government.” 

At the close of this argument, Thomas C. Fields, 
Member from the City of New York, rose and 
made a motion that Judge Potter withdraw from 
the House until his case could be disposed of. 

The Speaker then informed the Hon. gentle- 
man that he could withdraw to the library till his 
case was decided. 

Judge Potter.—‘‘I prefer to stay, and unless 
driven from the House by its power shall remain. 

The Speaker.—‘‘ The request of the Hon. Judge 
will be granted.” 

Judge Potter.— 
taking his seat. 

“‘T have made no request,” 

A long and exciting debate in the House fol- 
lowed. Mr. Fields offered a resolution that Hon. 
Platt Potter, in issuing the attachment for the arrest 
of Hon. Henry Ray, Member of Assembly from 
Ontario, was guilty of a high breach of the 
privileges of this House, and that he be repri- 
manded by the Speaker in the presence of this 
House. 

This resolution received no support and was 
withdrawn, whereupon Mr. Alvord, of Onondaga, 
offered the following amendment to Mr. Field’s re- 
solution. 

Resolved, ‘‘That the Hon, Platt Potter was mis- 
taken as tothe privileges of this House in the ac- 
tion taken by him in the arrest of Hon. Henry 
Ray, but this House do not believe that intention 
or desire to interfere with the independence or 
dignity of the House actuated him in the perform- 
ance of that which he deemed his official duty.” 

Mr. Wm. D. Murphy offered a substitute for 
that resolution, to the effect that Judge Potter be 
discharged from the custody of the House until 
the hour of twelve o'clock on the first day of 
March, and that in the meantime the opinion of 
the Attorney-General be communicated as to the 
term ‘‘Civil Process” in the statute exempting 
legislators from arrest. This was lost. 

The question was then taken upon the motion 
of Mr. Alvord, which was carried by a vote of 92 

to 15, and thus ended the case, a sketch of which 
only is contained in Barbor’s Reports, Vol. 

page 625. 
Very soon after Judge Potters discharge, he re- 

ceived a Jarge number of letters, ‘‘the volun- 
tary congratulations of the jurists, statesmen and 
lawyers, names distinguished in the State and na- 
tion.” They were written to the Judge as the in- 
dorsement of the soundness of his argument upon 
the question of the independence of the judiciary. 
These letters, though not written with the object of 
publication, have appeared in a pamphlet contain- 
ing the argument of Judge Potter, published by 
and at the request of members of the Bar in the 
counties of Rensselaer, Saratoga, Montgomery and 
Schenectady, to which publication Judge Potter 
consented, inasmuch as numerous and material 

errors and omissions in the newspaper report of 
the argument demanded correction. 

Further evidence of the high esteem in which the 
judiciary and the bar held Judge Potter, and the grati- 
fication his legislative triumphs gave them, was ex- 
hibited in the September following that event. A 
State Judicial Convention was held at Rochester in 
September, 1870, for the purpose of nominating a 
candidate for Judge of the Court of Appeals. It 
was chiefly attended mostly by judges and ex- 
judges. Mr. Potter was unanimously chosen _per- 
manent President of the Convention, upon the ex- 
press grounds of his triumphant victory over the 
Legislature on the question of the independence 
of the judiciary. 

Judge Potter's written opinions and judgments 
exhibit the profound lawyer, the thoughtful, 
patient and investigating judge. 

He has attained distinction as a writer. Among 
his written productions we refer to the following: 

In 1870, while still on the bench serving as 
judge, he prepared a work upon the construction 
and interpretation of American Statutes and Con- 
stitutions. In it he also included, with approval, 
the law of England, as far as applicable, and as 
laid down by one Dwarris,a distinguished law writer 
of thatcountry. The work prepared by Judge Potter 
is entitled ‘Potter’s Dwarris.” It is a work univers- 
ally approved as authority in all the States of this 
country. In 1875 he compiled and _ greatly en- 
larged, with the later authorities, a treatise on 
Equity Jurisprudence, originaily prepared by John 
Willard. This is known as Potter's edition of that 
work. In 1879 he prepared an original work on 
corporations, in two volumes, entitled ‘‘ Potter on 
Corporations.” Each of these three works has been 
recognized in this country as standard authority, 
and they are now used as books for study and _ in- 
struction in the Albany and other law schools. 

Judge Potter is distinguished for his domestic 
and social qualities. His own fireside is, to him, 
the dearest place on earth. His conversation is 
agreeable and instructive. His long and large ac- 
quaintance with distinguished men of the past and 
the present, and his reminiscences of their careers, 
give an historic interest to his conversation. He 
possesses the rare faculty of eliciting the strong points 
in the person’s character with whom he converses. 

229 
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As years fall upon him, they bring no asperities 
to his disposition, no dimness to the light of his 
social and mental powers, nor do they detract 
aught from the suavity of his manners. He is in 
every sense of the word a Christian gentleman, 
and has for many years been an elder of the First 
Presbyterian C hurch in Schenectady. His piety is 
with him a_ deep sentiment—it is warm, but not 
heated; earnest, but tranquil; a principle, not an 
impulse. 

That a man like Judge Potter should be held in 
the highest esteem and affection by his friends and 
neighbors, is the natural reward ofa well-spent life. 

Jupson Struarr Laxpon was born in Salis- 
bury, Litchfield County, Conn., December 16, 
1832. His great-grandfather, James Landon, rep- 
resented that town in the Legislature of the 
Colony of Connecticut in 1759, and his uncle, 
also James Landon, represented the same town in 
the Legislature of the State just one hundred years 
later. His father, William Landon, who married 
Phebe, daughter of Dr. Cyrus Berry, a physician 
of Dutchess County, was born in the same town, 
and died there in 1976 at the age of eighty-one. 
He was a merchant and farmer. 

Mr, Landon was educated in the common 
schools, and in the American and New York Con- 
ference seminaries. In 1853 he was a teacher of 
Latin, mathematics and natural sciences in the 
academy at Princetown, Schenectady County, 
N. Y. He at the same time pursued the study of 
law without an instructor. In 1854 he left the 

academy and studied law in Yale College for one 
year. In 1855 he returned to the academy as its 
principal. He received the degree of Master of 
Arts from Union College the same year. In 1856 
he was admitted to the Bar, and was elected Dis- 
trict Attorney of Schenectady County in the fall of 
that year. Since then he has resided in Schenec- 
tady. He was re-elected District Attorney in 
1859. In February, 1865, he was appointed 
County Judge to fill a vacancy, and was elected 
for four years in the fall of that year. In 1867 he 
served as a member of the State Constitutional Con- 
vention. In 1873 he was elected Justice of the 
Supreme Court in the Fourth Judicial District. 
Jesse Gay, of Plattsburgh, was the candidate of 
the Democrats, but declined to run, and the elec- 
tion of Tustice Landon was not opposed. 

He is one of the governors of Union University, 
a trustee of Union College and of the Albany Law 
School, and at present acting president of Union 
College. He received the degree of LL.D. 
from Rutgers College in 1885. 

His practice for several years was chiefly con- 
fined to litigated cases. In 1868 he was one of 
the counsel for Robert C. Dorn, Canal Commis- 
missioner, who was tried before the Court of Ap- 
peals and the Senate upon articles of impeachment 
preferred against him by the Assembly. He opened 
the case before the Court and examined the wit- 
nesses on behalf of Mr. Dorn, who was acquitted. 

Austin A. Yates was born in Schenectady, 
March 24, 1836; graduated from Union College 

in 1854; admitted to the Bar in 1857. He imme- 
diately began the practice of his profession, and at 
the same time became editor of the Schenectady 
Daily Times. “During the civil war he raised a 
company, of which he became captain, and for 
meritorious service in putting down a rebellion of 
miners in Pennsylvania he secured from President 
Lincoln the honorary rank of Brevet-Major. In 
1864 he was elected District Attorney of Schenec- 
tady, but resigned the office in 1873, on his elec- 
tion as County Judge. In 1879 he was appointed 
Attorney to the Insurance Department by the State 
Superintendent of Insurance, which office he held 
during the Governorship of Alonzo B. Cornell. 

Hon. Samvuet W. Jackson was born in the town 
of Palatine, Montgomery County, N. Y., June 28, 
1821. His father, Allen H. Jackson, was a grad- 
uate of West Point, and was a civil engineer of dis- 
tinction. His mother was the sister of Judge Paige, 

of Schenectady. He graduated from Union Col- 
lege in 1842, receiving in due time the degree of 

AM. He completed his legal studies in the office 
of Paige & Potter, and was licensed as an attorney 
in 1843, and as counselor in 1846. He practiced 
law from 1843 to 1850 in Gilboa, Schoharie 
County, and for a time in New York, and came 
to Schenectady in 1858. He was appointed by 
Governor Hoffman, in 1867, to fill the unexpired 
term of Judge E. H. Rosencrans. In 1872 he was 
elected amember of the Constitutional Commission, 
and is now attorney for the New York Central Rail- 
road for his locality. Judge Jackson is a man of 
excellent legal attainments and strict attention in 
the performance of his duties, and has established 
a flourishing practice, and is highly honored by 
the community. 

HON. JOHN SANDERS. 

Hox. JouN Sanpers was born in Glenville, N. 
Y., in1802. His father was Presiding Judge of Al- 
bany County when Schenectady County was a part 
of it. He graduated from Union College in 1822, 
and completed his legal studies in 1825, and 
practiced fora yearin Albany, and afterward in 
Northampton, Catskill and Clermont, N. Y. In 
1836 he settled in Schenectady, and in 1840 was 
appointed by Gov. Seward Surrogate, which office 
he held till 1844. He was County Judge from 

1855 till 1860. He was identified with the interests 
of the Bar in various localities of the State, and is the 
author of a history of the County of Schenectady. 

Hon. Water T. L. Sanpers,son ofthe Hon, John 
Sanders, was born in Catskill, N. Y., September 7, 
1831. He engaged in teaching and business for 
some years, and was admitted to the practice of law 
in Schenectady in 1858. Elected Clerk of the 
Board of Supervisors in 1860, elevated to office of 
County Judge in 1870, and member of Assembly !n 
1876. These various public positions he filled with 
ability. 

Epwarp W. 
. 

PatGE was born in Schenectady, 
July 11, 1844, and graduated from Union College 
in 1864; from Harvard Law School in June, 1866; 
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He 

and 

and Albany Law School shortly afterward. 
occupies a leading position in his profession, 
has serve as Assistant State Attorney-General. 

Hon. Epwarp D. Cutier was born in Ballston, N. 
Y., December 18,1849; was educated in the common 
schools and at the Classical Institute, Schenectady; 
was a clerk in the grocery store of Adam Dillen- 
beck nine years; in 1877 entered the law office of | 
Hon. A. A. Yates, and studied law two y 
graduating from Albany Law School in 1880; 
came a law partner with Judge Yates ; in the fall 
of 1884 was nominated by acclamation by the 
Democratic party as Member of Assembly for Sche- 
nectady County, and gained the election, running 
625 ahead of the electoral ticket. 

How. D. C. Beatriz was born in Salem, N. Y., 
December 2, 1827, and graduated from Norwich 
University, Vt, in 1845. He practiced law in 
Chicago from June, 1850, to October, 1859, and 
at Albany, 1860-62, coming to Schenectady in 
February the latter vear. He was District Attor- 
ney of Schenectady County from January 1, 1875, 
to January 1, 1878, and has been County Judge 
since January 1, 1880. 

Atonzo P. STRONG, 

ears, 
bé- 

lawyer, whose office is in the 
Y. M. C. A. Building, is a prominent member of | 
the city and county Bar. He has an extensive 
practice and stands among the leading members of 
the Schenectady Bar. 

SamuEL T. Beynepict, lawyer, was born in Dan- 
bury, Conn., in 1837, and graduated from Union 
College in 1860 and from Harvard Law School 
1862. He practices his profession principally in 
New York, and has been a resident of Schenectady 
since 1865. 

Joun A. Dr Remer was fora short time tutor of 
mathematics in Union College. Asa lawyer he com- 
mands a lucrative practice. He has taken an active 
interest in politics, affiliating with the Republican 
party, and has held several important offices, the 
last being postmaster of Schenectady. 

E. Nott ScHERMERHORN, a descendant of one of 
the oldest families, though a lawyer of ability, has 
been principally connected with other pursuits, 
He was Collector of Internal Revenue from 1864 
to 1882, and was appointed receiver of the Jones 
Car Works, February 4, 1884. Healso conducts 
an extensive real estate and insurance business. 

Horatio Gates GLENN, attorney, was born in 
Schenectady, December 26, 1859, and graduated 
from Union College in 1881 and from the Albany 
Law School in 1883. Since then he has _ practiced 
in his native city. 

Cuarces Hastincs began the practice of law in 
1872 in Schenectady, and has secured an extensive 
practice. 

J. TELLER ScHOoLcrart, attorney at law, began 
practice at Schenectady in 1876. He was elected 
District Attorney on the Democratic ticket in 1880 
and re-elected in 1883. 

Ome F. Vepper, Jaw student and Clerk of the 
Board of Supervisors, is a graduate of Union Classi- 
cal Institute; was a school teacher from 1878 to 

1882, and was managing editor of the Schenectady 
Daily Union from April, 1883, to October, 1884. 
He was Committee Clerk in the Assembly of 1884, 

and has also been Clerk of the Board of Super- 
VISOrS. 

Epwarp E. Kriecsman was born in Albany, N. 
Y., in abe and became a lawyer in 1878, and 
added the insurance business three years later. He 
was City Clerk from February, 1881, to May, 1883, 
and since June, 1882, has been Secretary of Board 
of Health and Registrar of Vital Statistics. 

Jacop W. CLuTe was born in Schenectady, Oc- 
tober 12, 1846, and was admitted to the bar of 
Schenectady County April 16, 1868, and has been 
located in the city since. He has represented the 
Second ward as Alderman two terms. He is also 
Secretary of the Schenectady County Bible Society. 

James A. Goopricu, attorney at law, was born 

in ‘Schenectady in 1856, and graduated from Union 
College in 1879, and from the Albany Law School 
in 1882. 

SCHENECTADY County Bar.—Hon. Frothingham 
Fish, Justice; David C. Beattie, Louis C. Beattie, 
Samuel T. Benedict, Walter Briggs, Demetrius M. 
Chadsey, Jacob W. Clute, John F. Clute, Edward 
D. Cutler, Simon Calkins, David Daggett, John A. 
De Remer, Robert Furman, James Fuller, Horatio 
G. Glen, James A. Goodrich, Charles Hastings, 
Samuel W. Jackson, Edward E. Kriegsman, Rob- 
ert J. Landon, &. T. Lomasney, John E. Myers, 
John McShea, Platt Potter, Edward W. Paige, 
Charles E. Pa Imer, David Cady Smith, Everett 
Smith, Gerardus Smith, Walter T. L. Sanders, 
Charles P. Sanders, Jr., Alonzo P. Strong, J. Teller 
Schoolcraft, E. Nott Schermerhorn, Alex. J. Thom- 
son, Wm. i: Van Epps, George O. Van De Bogert, 
Austin A. Yates, James A. Van Voast, Alex. M. 
Vedder; Thomas Yelverton, Clerk of the Court; 
William J. Stevens, Crier; Jacob De Forest, 
Sheriff. 

ECCLESIASTICAL ‘SOCIETIES, 

THE REFORMED NETHER DUTCH CHURCH, SCHENEC- 
TADY, N. Y. 

At the first settlement of Schenectady in 1662, 
there were but five Dutch churches and ministers in 
the Province, viz.: those of 

New Amsterdam (New York), whose ministers 
were Johannes Megapolensis and Samuel Drisius. 

Beverwyck (Albany), Gideon Schaets. 
Breuckelyn (Brooklyn), Henricus Selyns. 
Fsopus (Kingston), Hermanus Bloom. 
Midwout and Amersfort (Flatbush, L. I.) 

nes T. Polhemus. 
Of these the church at Beverwyck, founded 

twenty years before, was the oldest in the colony, 
except that of New Amsterdam.* Her first dominie 
(1642 to 1647) was Johannes Megapolensis, who 
now ministered in New Amsterdam; the second, 

, Johan- 

* A church (Presbyterian so far as having ruling elders) co smposed 
of settlers who founded Southampton, L. I., in June, 1640, was organ- 
ized at Lynn in May of that year, anda similar church was organized 
at New Haven tn October of the same year by the settlers of Southold, 
o1 the same island, the settlement of this latter town having also been 
effected in the month of October. 
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Gideon Schaets (1652-1690). The latter probably 
assisted at the organization of the church at Schenec- 
tady, to which he occasionally ministered until his 
labors ceased in his own church in 1490. 

The date and circumstances of this organization 
are involved in much obscurity, the early records of 
both churches being lost. But from occasional 
mention made in contemporaneous papers and rec- 
ords,it is safe to say that the church of Schenectady 
was in existence between the years 1670 and 1680, 
and probably earlier. Thus, on the occasion of the 
death of Hans Janse Eenkluys, in 1683, the dea- 
cons petition the court at Albany for letters of ad- 
ministration on his effects, and say * * * 
“«dat eenen Hans Janssen of den 7 meert 1674 heeft 
overgedraegen aende aermen van Schaenhechtade 
zeecke syne plantage,” etc., etc.; in other words, that 
Hans Janse, in 1675, made over to the poor of 
Schenectady his plantation, on condition he should 
be maintained in his old age and weakness, which 
they say they have done, and paid the expenses of 
his burial. Now this p/anfage was simply the ‘‘ Poor 
Pasture,” and was the property of the church from 
Eenkluys’ time down to 1562, when it was sold. 

These facts seem to point to the existence of the 
church as early as 1674, for it is a well-known fact 
that the Dutch churches were the guardians of the 
poor, the orphans, and the aged, who were without 
natural protectors, and received and dispensed large 
alms and property for this purpose. 

The next incidental mention of this church is 
found in the records of the city of Albany. In 
February, 1679, ‘‘the court and consisfory of 
Schenectady requested that Dome Schaets may be 
sent four Sundays in one year to administer the 
Lord’s Supper to said place and community, which 
request is granted in so far that Domine Schaets is 
allowed to go four times in one year to administer 
the Holy Sacrament, but not on a Sunday, whereas 
it would be unjust to let the community [of Al- 
bany] be without preaching.” 

Thirdly, The prosperous condition of the poor 
fund of the church from 1680 to 1690 shows 
pretty clearly that it had been organized some 
years previous to the former date. At the close of 
the year 1689, Domine Vhesschenmaecker audited the 
deacons’ accounts, and found that the unexpended 
alms contributed for the poor amounted to about 
4,000 guilders, of which about 3,000 guilders had 
been loaned to individuals on bonds dating back in 
one case to 1681. Though the Dutch were a liberal 
people in matters appertaining to their church, itis 
not probable that such an accumulation of alms was 
made entirely within the ten years above mentioned, 

-especially when their numbers are considered, 
and that in this time the parsonage house was con- 
structed and their first Domne was called and 
maintained. It is fair, therefore, to conclude that 
the Dutch Church of Schenectady was certainly an 
organized body in 1674—probably much earlier. 

The first twenty years of the village was a_ strug- 
gle with the hardships of frontier life; its energies 
were spent in removing the forest and subduing the 
soil. For religious privileges it was dependent 

a 

having grown sufficiently strong in numbers and 
wealth, called its first minister. The earliest men- 
tion of Domine Vhesschenmaecker in the church 
records is found in a book of miscellaneous writ- 
ings, the first leaves of which unfortunately are 
wanting. 

The following is a copy and translation of the 
first page in its present mutilated condition: 

(Copy.) 
Uytgyeve. [1683?] 

aen Myndert Wemp, F. 48 
aen een kan, 8 
aen Jan Roelofsen: VOOr% 2. ...06 ees See cece 24 
aen 5 Witte broden, I 
aén domineVassemaker 4 2c ccisravass MER wc cine cee eee 24 
aen emanual Consaul, 6 
aen Lubbert gysbertse voor 2 dagen Wercke, 6 
aen spyckers van Albanie, 6 
aen den 4 duyzend harde steen, 18 
aen 2 bevers aen Laseysers tot het huys te singelen, 48 
aen 12 guldenaen....door stacken en....voor verb- 

ruyck aen de heyninge, 12 
27 april voor wyn tot het naght mael aen domine tass- 

chenmaker betalt, 20 
27 May domine Schats Verstelt, 36 
Schoonmaken van der Kerche, 13 
Sb atecse oie is sehsicave eiean boar: speyete nese SEravavlenchatessi kavenateser die eherenareves ks LO! 

Bee oe MM tone heath cian aextanieieee ant heaters ce 
oe fee cor, sWanalic o:se.:a:'51 so ey FEMRMe ce! alse or gicsyignievd arid einer 6, o!-d)a) weiss Sltarene .» 2.10 
Voor wyn van het naght mael, 20.0 
aen Adam Vroom, 24 
nogh aen domine tasschemaker voort maken vande 

heyninge aen het erf, 45- 
nogh voor 7 maal witte broot tot het avont mael @ 

fl. 1.10 a maal, 10.10 
Class permurent een dagen ryden, 18 
234 dagen aen de heyninge, 22 
Voor te singelen van ’t huys, 12 
aen 2 Vragsten posten gasacht, 6 
2 glazz Raamen, 10 

Somma, fl. 516-13 
(Translation.) 

Expenditures. [1683?] 

To Myndert Wemp, guilders, F. 48 
To [paid for] a pot, 8 
To jan ~Roelotsens, £0.43 2.046202 2d ee sed cows cens 24 
To 5 white loaves, I 
To domine’ Tassemakerss'ito. bocce bce ee sled ble aceon 24 
To Emanual Consaul, 6 
To Lubbertse Gysbertse for two days’ work, 6 
To nails from Albany, 6 
To the half thousand hard bricks, 18 
To two beayers to Laseysers shingling the house, 48 
To 12 guilders. ...for stakes. ...for use on the fence, 12 
27 April, For wine for the Lord’s Supper paid to 

Domine Tasschenmaker, 20 
27 May, presented to Domine Schaets, 36 
Cleaning the church, 13 
Bird a wletehd ateddetate:ctetona wistere © elajeie/s etplare ie ieis(e)e-e! ake) a6 66 eiaye 1.10 

ley: Was parece, hee Ny ox. Solis cielo liso d sausihe ao adies 8: 
HELE RIN Neaef eao rens iso) si nr Ss: af Seid igo RETO wie Ronee emer 2.10 
For wine for the Lord’s supper, 20.0 
To Adam Vrooman, 24. 
Also to Domine Tasschemaker for making the fence 

to the lot, 45. 
Also for white bread 7 times for the Lord’s supper @ 

fl, 1.10 a time, 10.10 
Class Purmerent [Van der Volgen] one day’s carting, 18 
23¢ days on the fence, 22 
tor the shingles of the house, 12 
To two loads of posts sawed, 6 
2 window glasses (or sashes), Ke) 

Total, florins 516.13 

From these accounts we learn that Dominie 

upon Albany until 1683, when the little hamlet | Thesschenmaecker came to Schenectady before the 
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death of Dominie Schaets (1690), and that the first 
of the five houses of worship built by this society 
was then built. We know little about it except 
that it was small and inconvenient, and that it stood 
at the junction of Church, State and Water streets. 

Dominie Pieter Thesschenmaecker, little known 
except by his tragical end, came to this coun- 
try from Guiana, whither he had gone from 
Utrecht a young theological student, and is first 
mentioned in a petition for his services, dated 
1676. 

It appears that at this time he had not been or- 
dained, for in 1679, on application from New- 
castle on the Delaware, the Governor directed 
Dominie Newenhuysen to examine and induct him 
into the ministry of the Protestant Reformed 
Church. 

After his ordination, Dominie Thesschenmaecker 
departed immediately for his new field of labors. 
Here he remained three years until 1682, when he 
left and accepted a call from Schenectady, where 
he labored six years with reasonable success. 

Until 1700 the church was without a pastor, and 
indeed it does not appear that the people had any 
religious privileges, except such as might be had 
by a visit to Albany, until 1694, when Dominie 
Dellius began to minister to them occasionally. 
His first recorded visits that year were on the 11th 
of April and gth of October, on which occasions 
new members were added to the church and chil- 
dren baptized. In 1695 he came four times, viz. : 
on the 2d January, 27th March, 26th June and gth 
October. In 1696 five times: January 8th, April 
15th, July rst, September 19th and December 3oth. 
In 1697 three times: April 6th, June 30th and No- 
vember roth. And in 1698 four times: 27th April, 
2oth July, rgth October and 28th December. In all 
eighteen visits in five years. 

In 1699 Dominie Dellius returned to the Father- 
land, and Dominie Johannes Petrus Nucella, suc- 

ceeding to his place as minister of Albany, visited 
Schenectady once—on the 31st of August. The 

- following year he came twice, viz.: on the gth Jan- 
uary and 25th May. 

The number of members added to the church by 
these two ministers was twenty-five ; the number 
of children baptized seventy-six, seven of whom 
were Indians. 

But no sooner was peace proclaimed in 1697 
than both village and church began a new career 
of prosperity. © Within five years a second minister 
was called, and a new house of worship was 
erected. 

Dominie B. Freeman (or Freerman) succeeded 
Dominie Dellius in 1700. He was a man of ma- 
ture age. In 1698 he was a member of the church 
of Amsterdam, and on the gth of March of that 
year was licensed to preach by the Classis of Wor- 
den and Overryaland, and ordained by the Classis of 
Lingen, March 16, 1760. He immediately de- 
parted for his distant charge, accompanied by 
Dominie Johannes Lydius. On the 20th of July 
they arrived in Albany, where the latter remained, 
while the former passed on to Schenectady, and 
on the 28th commenced his labors as pastor of the 

church and missionary to the Mohawks. The latter 
office had been filled by Dominie Dellius for many 
years, and both for political as well as religious 
reasons, it was considered important to continue so 
powerful an agency among the native tribes. 

In regard to this matter the Earl of Bellmont, 
Governor of the Provinces, said to the assembled 
Sachems of the Five Nations, on the 26th of Au- 
gust,1700: * * * ‘JT have sent to England 
for ministers to instruct you in the true Christian 
religion. Iexpect some very soon; for the present 
I shall settle Mr. Vreeman, an able, good minister, 
at Schenectada, who I intend shall be one of those 
that shall be appointed to instruct you in the true 
faith. He will be near the Mohacks, and in your 
way as you come from [the] several castles to this 
town (Albany), and will take pains to teach you. 
He has promised me to apply himself with all dil- 
ligence to learn your language, and doubts not to 
beable to preach to you therein in a year’s time.” 
In a communication to the Board of Trade the Gov- 
ernor says: ‘‘Isend your Lordships a copy of Mr. 
Freeman’s letter. He isa Dutch minister at Sche- 
nectady, and a very good sort of a man.” 

As Albany was the headquarters of Indian trade 
as well as of the yearly Council held with the Five 
Nations, Dominie Lydius was also appointed to 
instruct the natives in the Christian faith, and ‘‘ve 
bettar to enable him to serve them in ye work of 
the Gospell, ve Interpretesse [Hillitie] was ap- 
pointed to be his assistant in that affair as former- 
vik qutks yea 

In the five years spent at Schenectady, Dominie 
Freeman became well versed in the Indian tongue. 
so as not only to preach, but to write in it, and so 
attached were the natives tu him, that five years 
after he left Schenectady they petitioned Gov. Hunter 
for his reappointment, ‘‘and that he live [with us] 
at our Castle and not at Schinnectady nor Albany. ” 

Probably his was the first attempt made to trans- 
late the church service or portions of the Holy 

Scriptures into the language of the Mohawks. 
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The salary of the earlv ministers of this church 
was one hundred pounds of New York currency 
($250), house and garden rent free, pasturage for 
two cows and a horse, and sixty cords of wood de- 
livered at the parsonage. The salary commenced 
from the day the Dominie sailed from Holland, 
and the expenses of the voyage, until he arrived in 
Schenectady, were paid by the church. ‘The fol- 
lowing is Do. F'reeman’s first bill, rendered August 
25,1400: 

“16 mar. 1700 to 25 aug. the Consistory is in- 
debted to Domine Freeman : 

‘For current salary from the 16 march to the 25th 
of august,— is five months and nine days and 
amounts to a sum of fifty pounds and something 
more,—is in sewant, gl. 2.000 

‘‘Also expenses incurred on the voyage, in fresh 
provisions, Wine, brandy, vegetables and hens, be- 
sides about three weeks expenses on the Isle of 
Wight, —is the sum of gl. 374 (or $46.75) 

gl. 2.374 (or $296.75) 
“« Schenectady. BaRNHARDUS FREERMAN.” 
Trifling as this amount may seem, the little 

community were unable to raise it, and on the 3d 

of September, 1700, applied to the Common 
Council of Albany for permission to solicit contri- 
butions in Albany. In reply, the Commonalty ad- 
vise ‘‘that they first goe and Visite there own Con- 
gregation, and if they do not obtaine said Sallary 
by them, then to make their application to the 
Commonality at ye next Court day.” 

When Do. Freeman was appointed missionary 
to the Indians by Gov. Bellomont, he was prom- 
ised a salary of £60; for expenses, £15; and 
for the interpreter, Laurens Claese Van der Volgen, 
who was his assistant, £25. 

The Governor expected to obtain this salary 
from the corporation for the propagation of the 
gospel at Boston, but in case he failed there, prom- 
ised to secure it for him out of the revenue of the 
Province. 

It is presumed that said corporation declined to 
assume this burden, and, as a consequence, the 
General Assembly passed an act in his favor. 

On the death of Do. Lupardus, of Kings Coun- 
ty, in 1702, the consistory of the churches there 
applied to Gov. Cornbury for permission to call 
Do. Freeman, who at the same time gave encour- 
agement of his acceptance. 

Fearing their minister might be enticed away 
from them, the Consistory of the church in Sche- 
nectady, the next year, presented to Lord Cornbury 
a remonstrance against his leaving; notwithstand- 
ing which, and also that the Governor objected to 
his leaving, he accepted the call. It was not, 
however, until] the summer of 1705 that he left for 
Flatbush, the license to change his pastoral rela- 
tions being finally granted by Gov. Combury on 
the 26th of December of the same year. 

Soon after Do. Freeman came to Schenectady, 
the house of worship then used was found to be 
unfit for the accommodation of the inhabitants 
and Indian proselytes; but as the little community 
had not yet fully recovered from the effects of the 

{ 

| 
| 

| 

late incursion of the French and their savage allies, 
the funds necessary for a new house could not be 
raised without aid from abroad. A petition, there- 
fore, was presented to Gov. Nanfan in 1701, asking 
permission to circulate a subscription throughout 
the Province for this purpose. 

This petition being favorably received by the 
Governor and Council, on the 27th October, 1701, 
he issued his license to the inhabitants of Schenec- 
tady to receive contributions from the people of the 
Province for the space of six months from that 
date, and directed all justices of the peace, 

schouts and other officers of his Majesty, as well 
as ministers of the gospel, to use their utmost en- 
deavors to aid this laudable object. This appeal 
to the liberality of their neighbors was successful, 
and the church was probably finished in 1703. 
The site was that of the first house of worship, at 
the junction of Church, Water and State streets, 
and the dimensions, fifty-six north and south by 
forty-six feet east and west, Amsterdam measure. 
The burying ground adjoined the church upon the 
west side, and was fifteen feet wide by fifty-six feet 
long. Speaking of Schenectady in 1710, the Rev. 
Thomas Barclay says: ‘‘There is a convenient and 
well-built church, which they freely give me the 
use of.” 

Probably it was substantially built of stone, for 
after its abandonment in 1734 as a place of wor- 
ship, it was used for some years as a fort. By the 
year 1754 it had been either removed or used as a 
barracks, watch-house and market; by 1768 the 
site was clear and designated the Market Place. 

The removal of Do. Freeman was a disheartening 
event to the church. He had gained the confi- 
dence of the people and considerable influence 
over the neighboring Indians. To obtain another 
minister from Holland, in their present circum- 
stances, was impossible. They were not only a 
small, but a poor people and, without aid, not in a 
condition to support a minister. 

For the following ten years they were destitute 
of the stated ministry, being only occasionally 
visited by the ministers of Albany and other more 
distant settlements. 

Between the years 1705 and 1715, Dominies 
Johannes Lydius and Petrus Van Driessen, of Al- 
bany, Petrus Vas, of Kingston, and Gualterus Du 
Bois, of New York, made 24 visits to Schenectady, 
baptizing 152 children, of whom 1g were Indians. 
In all this time the records show but one member 
added to the church. 

Rev. Thomas Barclay, chaplain to the fort 
in Albany, preached occasionally in Schenectady. 

As early as 1713, the church applied to Governor 
Hunter for permission to call a new minister, and 
received his license, dated July 27th that year. On 
the 17th day of May the following year, the con- 
sistory addressed a letter to Willem Bancker, mer- 
chant, of Amsterdam, and Rev. Matthias Winter- 
wyck, of Alphen (Dalphin ?), Holland, authorizing 
them to procure a minister for the church, and 
promising him a salary of £90, to commence on 
his arrival, a dwelling free of rent, firewood at the 
door, a large garden, and free pasture for two 
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cows anda horse. Theresult of this negotiation 
was the arrival of Dominie Thomas Brouwer, in 
July, 1714. He died on the 15th of January, 1728. 
In his will he left £25—one-half to the church and 
the other for the poor ; his gun, pistols, horse, table 
linen, etc., to various members of the families of 
Gerrit Symonse Veeder and Johannes Banker, and 
his books, best clothing, linen, etc., to his two 
brothers. He speaks of neither wife nor children. 

The fourth minister of the church was Do. 
Reinhardus Erichzon. His call or Bervep brief 

1728, two and a half was dated 3oth March, 

months after the death of his predecessor. He 

was probably a native, or at least a resident, of 
Groningen, North Holland, and before his call to 
Schenectady had ministered three years to the 
churches of Hackensack, Paramus and Schraalen- 
berg, New Jersey. The consistory agreed to give 
him a salary of £100 ($250), a parsonage house 
in good repair, a garden kept in a fence, pasture 
for a horse and two cows and firewood at the 
door. Dominie Erichzon left Schenectady in Oc- 
tober, 1736, having received a call to the church of 
Freehold and Middletown, N. J. 
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The matter of erecting a larger church began to 
be agitated soon after Do. Erichzon became pastor, 
and the congregation was able not only to build a 
house which for the time was both substantial and 
spacious, but also to furnish it with a bell and 
clock. 
Asa preliminary step in this new enterprise, a 

subscription paper was circulated through the 
town in 1730, by which £322 was obtained, and 
extending the appeal up the valley a still further 
sum of £33-15 was subscribed in money and 
wheat. ‘Theentire sum did not amount to quite 
one-third the cost of the church, which was £1,167 
17-10 ($2,919.73) ; the remainder was probably 

derived from the accumulations of former years 
and from sales of lands and leases—the gift of the 
trustees of the common lands. 

The following is the heading of the subscription, 
and is interesting as showing the forfeiture tor non- 
payment of the pledges made for the building of 
this edifice : 

‘‘We, or I, the underwritten, promise to pay to 
Arent Bratt, Jacobus Van Dyck, Dirck Groot and 

Cornelis Van der Volgen, and Robert Yates, Jac: ly 

Swits, Wouter Vrooman and Jan Barentse Wemp. 
Elders and Deacons, or to their successors, the 
sum which we, or I, subscribe with our hands, so 
soon as the foundation of said church is laid ; and 

~PWild= Photo Eng 
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failing of the same, we, or I, promise to pay ten 
pounds current money if we, or I, are negligent in 
the payment of the sum of money which I with 
my hand subscribe. As witness our hands or my 
hand.” 

After thorough preparation, the work was begun 
in the spring of 1732. Hendrick Vrooman was 

0 Lil wel 
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This house was dedicated January 13, 1734, on 
which occasion Do. Erichzon preached in the 
morning, and Do. Van Driessen, of Albany, in the 
afternoon. The following Sabbaths, January 20 

-and 27, the pastor continued the subject ofhis first 
sermon, 

This third house was situated in Church street, 
at its junction with Union street, and was eighty 
feet in length north and south, and fifty-six feet 
wide. The trustees.of the town conveyed to the 
church not only this site, but also the land around 
the same ten feet in width, except on the west side, 
where, by reason of the narrowness of the street, 
it was limited to five feet. The building material 
was blue sandstone or graywacke from the quarries 
east of the village. It had two entrances, one on 
the south end, the other on the east side, over 
which was built a porch with a staircase leading to 
galleries. The roof was in the gambrel style, a 
few specimens of which still remain in the city. 
The belfry and clock tower stood on the north end. 
As seen from the east end of Union street, it pre- 
sented a pleasing and imposing appearance. The 
tub-shaped pulpit, fixed upon a narrow pedestal, 
and surmounted by a conical sounding board, was 
built against the west wall, in front of which an 
open space was railed in called the Doophursye. 

| 
Baas (Boss) of the men, of whom seventeen were 
carpenters, besides masons, glaziers, etc. His 
wages was seven shillings a day; the others were 
paid from five to six shillings. The Preeck-stoel 
[pulpit] was built by Pieter Cornu for £20, and 
Gysbert W. Vandenbergh, of Albany, contracted to 
do the mason work for £80. 

=~ Jnlespestioy oo ayd (+ ei 
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Here the Dominie stood while administering the 
rite of baptism. 

There was a gallery upon all sides save the west, 
whether built with the church or ata later day is 
not known, as no mention is made of it before the 
year 1788, when it began to be occupied by adult 
males who could not obtain seats below. In this, 
as in other Dutch congregations, the males and fe- 
males sat apart, the former upon raised seats, 
called gestoelfe, placed against the walls of the 
church, and the latter in slips or dancken upon the 
floor of the house. 

In the first allotments of seats little regard was 
had to family relations, nor was there any ex- 
change of sittings, and so long as the yearly rent 
was paid they were the property of the. occupants, 
but in case of removal or death passed to the near- 
est relative of the same sex. Only in case of non- 
payment of the customary rent was a scat forfeited. 
It was then allotted anew at the discretion of the 
consistory, Every transfer of a sitting cost the new 
occupant twelve shillings, besides the yearly rent of 
five shillings for males and four shillings for fe- 
males, The same sitting was in some cases re- 
tained in the same family for three or four genera- 
tions. The slips were numbered from one upward. 
The deacons and elders sat in the four benches on 
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each side of the pulpit, and the magistrates and 
other men of note upon the long benches on the 
west side of the church, extending from the pulpit 
around to the south door. 

During the eighty years that this church stood, 
but few and trifling changes were made in the slips 
or dancken first erected, and these chiefly by addi- 
tions to accommodate the increasing congregation, 

The number of places (f/uafsen) occupied by 
adults at different periods were as follows: 

In 1734, men’s seats, 86; men in gallery, 0; 
women’s seats, 218; total, 304. 

In 1754, men’s seats, 104; men in gallery, o; 
women's seats, 328; total, 432. 

In 1788, men’s seats, 125; men in 

women’s seats, 346; total, 506. 
From 1788 to 1814, when the old church was 

removed, newcomers could not rent seats without 
great difficulty, except in the gallery, which being 
chiefly occupied by boys and negroes, was not 
considered quite respectable. 

The people worshiped on the Sabbath almost 
to the beginning of this century even in the coldest 
winter, without any other artificial heat than that 

gallery, 35; 

eon ee 
Mens seals ( Gesloelten } I -xI 

derived from foot-stoves. The first stoves used in 
this church were bought in December, 1792, and 
set up that winter. They were placed upon two 
platforms elevated to the height of the gallery, and 
reached by climbing over the balustrade. Itis said 
that the Avodluyer was accustomed to replenish 
them at the beginning of the dominie’s sermon; 
and, to notify the congregation of the importance of 
his vocation, was particularly noisy in opening 
and in shutting the stove-doors. By this arrange- 
ment ‘‘ the top of the church was comfortable, but 
the people below had to carry foot-stoves to keep 
themselves warm.” 
periment in warming the church that the matter 
was discussed by the consistory, and the result was 
that the elevated platforms were removed and the | 
stoves placed upon the floor of the church. 

The bell for the church was procuredin Amster- 
dam and did faithful service for more than a cen- 
tury, until it was cracked in 1848. It bore the 
following inscription : 

“*De Klok van de Neder-duidsch gemeente van 
Sconechiade door Haar self bezorght anno 1732. 
Me fecerunt De Grave et muller Amsterdam,” 

So unsatisfactory was this ex- | 

It was the custom to ring it three times before 
commencing religious service down to January, 
18to, when the consistory 

“¢ Resolved, that in future the bell shall be rung 
fwice, as usual, previous to the commencement of 
public worship, and that tolling shall be subsu- 
tuted for the “Ard ringing.” It is said the bell 
was also rung at the close of service, that the 
servants at home might have the dinner ready on 
their masters’ return. 

In 1740 the church had a public or town clock, 
purchased probably at the same time with the 
bell. 

Although the church had owned considerable 
real estate more than fifty years, it had no corpo- 
rate existence in law and could neither hold nor 
alienate property, save through individuals actin 
as its trustees. Feeling the precarious nature o! 
such a tenure, when the church edifice was finished, 
the consistory petitioned the Governor and Counc:! 
for a charter. This application was favorably 

considered, and on the third day of August, 1734. 

a charter was granted under the great seal of the 

province. 
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Parsonace.—The old parsonage on the site of 
the present church had now stood fifty years or 
more and was falling to decay. It was doubtless 
the house mentioned in the deed of 1715 to Do. 
Brouwer and the consistory, and was probably of 
wood, as were all other houses of this date. It 
was therefore removed in 1753, and a new build- 
ing of brick erected on the same lot. It was one 
story and a half high, with the usual pointed 

There were two rooms in 
front on the Union street side. The door was in 
the middle, over which was a gable. This house 
stood about sixty years, when it gave place to the 
church of 1874. 

As early as 1805 the subject of repairing the 
old church was agitated. The church which had 
stood for so Jong in mid-street in Albany had gone 
before the march of improvement, and there was a 
feeling that Schenectady should follow in its wake. 
In 1810 the consistory appointed a committee to 
draw a plan and to report as to the possibility of a 
new church building, and still another committee 

to meet the wishes of those who desired to see the 
old church put inrepair. The result of this was a 
decision to build anew on the parsonage lot. 
There was much opposition to this on the part of 
those whose affections clung to the old church, 
and many thought that the church should be built 
further east, as the population was extending in that 
direction. The two sites of the former churches 
were finally sold to the city to be thrown open to 
the streets, and the contracts for the new house of 
worship signed in 1812. In the autumn of 181 
it was so near completion that it could be used for 
public worship, and on the zoth November the 
last services were held in the old building. In the 
treasurer's book is the following entry under date 
5th July, 1814: ‘‘To paid for liquor when the 
old spire was taken down, 374 cents.” “Nov. 30, 
1814, Charles Kane and Henry Yates bought the 
old church for $442.50. The new church was 
built but little larger than the old one, and it isa 
singular fact that for a period of 128 years, from 
1734 to 1862, the church accommodations of this 
congregation remained substantially the same. In 
the meantime the little hamlet grew into a village, 
and the village into a city of respectable dimen- 
sions. The church had but few competitors in the 
field, and though it became the mother church of 
this region, with one exception all her colonies 
were sent out some years subsequent to 1814. It 
is proper to make special mention of Nicolas 
Van der Volgen and his wife, who were large 
benefactors to this church. By them were given 
the high brass chandeliers in 1792, and the pleasant 
organ in 1797, which some now living remember 
to have heard. The great chandelier (groote 
kroon) had eighteen lights, besides which there 
were seven lesser ones (kleyndere kroonan) of 
six lights each, costing altogether £67-10 New 
York .currency. The gift ‘for the organ was 
allowed to accumulate until probably 1826, when 
it was obtained from Henry Erben, of New York, at 
the probable cost of $1,000. It was consumed 
by fire with the church in 1561. 

VoOORLEZER AND VoorsANcer.—TLhe duties of these 
officers were usually united in the same person 
and defined by resolution of the Consistory: 

January 8, 1810, a Resolved, that in future the 

Clerk of the C “hurch shall commence public service 
in the morning with the reading of the ten com- 
mandments, a chapter of the Bible, and Psalm or 
Hymn at discretion; and in the afternoon with the 
reading of the articles of the Creed, together with a 
Chapter, and Psalm or Hymn.” In addition to the 
above he had ‘* the right and emoluments of bury- 
ing the dead of the congregation.” Next to the 
minister he was the most inportant officer of the 
church. 

To improve the psalmody of the congregation, 
on the 13th of February, 1794, the consistory took 
the following action: ‘The consistory take into 
consideration the defective condition of the Dutch 
Pslamody in the public worship of this church. 
Resolved, that Cornelis De Graff, the chorister, 
shall use his endeavors, in each family of this vil- 
lage and elsewere, to obtain pupils in singing, on 
condition that each shall pay one shilling and six- 
pence a month, the consistory also adding thereto 
for each scholar for the term of six months one 
shilling and six-pence a month; provided a certifi- 
cate be shown to the consistory signed by Mr. De 
Graff that each scholar has diligently spent his time 
as he ought. 

‘Also, Mr. De Graff, in singing, shall try to ob- 
serve the measure of the half notes and soften his 
voice as much as possible.” Mr. De Graff was 
voorzenger for twenty-nine years, and tradition says 
that the advice given him by the consistory was by 
no means inappropriate. It is said that while sit- 
ting on the ‘‘back stoop” of his house, which 
stood where the late Mrs. Abel Smith’s house now 
stands, on State street, he beguiled the evening 
hours in summer by psalm singing, and that his 
voice could be clearly heard two miles up the river 
in a straight line. 
KLoxiuyer.—The sexton of the church was 

called the AVokluyer, or bell-ringer, and his duties 
seem to have been not only to ring the bell, but to 
keep the benches and seats in proper order and to 
dig and fill the graves. The earliest mention of 
this officer in the church records is the following: 

‘“ At aconsistory held this rst July, 1696, it was 
resolved that Simon Groot, Sr., for ringing the bell 
and arranging the benches and stools in the church, 
shall receive annually, out of the income of the 
church or of the deacons’ money, the sum of 60 
guilders seawant [$7.50], to begin on this 1st of 
uly.” 
! This Simon Groot was the first of the name that 
settled here, and the ancestor of all the Groots 
found in this vicinity. He and his five sons were 
carried captives into Canada by the French and In- 
dians in 169o. 

The salary of the sexton was the same down to 
1735, when it was increased to the yearly stipend 
of SI5. 

Margaret Veeder, widow of Symon Volkertse 
Veeder, held the office during the years 1748—9 for 
$8.25 per annum, 
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From 1750 to 1758 Sara Marselis was bell-ringer, 
the duties being performed for £4, or Sto. 

In 1759 Isaac Quackenbos ‘‘neger’ rang the 
bell, and ‘‘ Peeter Seesar” (Cxsar), from 1760 to 
1766, for £6 per annum. 

Jacob Van Cise was sexton from 177! to 1791, 
at a salary of £10, and was succeeded by his son 
Gysbert, who was dismissed from the office in 1799 
‘‘for delivering the skull of a corpse to the house 
of Dr. Anderson, and which he was compelled to 
return in the presence of one of the members of 
the consistory, and deposit in the place whence 
it was taken.’ 

The sexton was required to keep order in the 
church during public worship, and was indemnified 
against any legal process ‘‘that might arise for 
correcting or turning out of church the unruly and 
refractory;~ provided he do not essentially injure or 
scandalously abuse any person.” 

Mr. Janus Lighthall was appointed sexton in 

1799- 
Baptisms.—The baptismal register of this church 

from 1694 to this time is entire, with the exception 
of ten years during Dominie Vrooman’s ministry; 
and as all children were baptized, both colored and 
Indian as well as white, legitimate and illegitimate, 
it is the only authoritative source, if rightly inter- 
preted, whence the descendants of most of the old 
Dutch families of this region can derive their pedi- 
grees. In early times baptism was always per- 
formed in the church, unless unavoidably prevented, 
and within a few days after birth; sometimes on the 
birthday. And it was the duty of the dominie to 
register each baptized child, with the parents and 
witnesses’ names. 

The number of registered baptisms from 1694 to 
1852 is 11,396. 
Marriaces.—The marriage register of this church 

contains the names of 2,543 couples married be- 
tween 1694 and 1852. 

Under the Dutch Government of New Nether- 
lands, marriage was considered a civil contract, and 
might be confirmed either by a magistrate ora 
minister of the gospel. Preliminary to such con- 
firmation, however, the bans were published three 
Sundays or market days by the minister of the 
church where the parties resided, or by a magis- 
trate in the court, after which the marriage could 
be confirmed by any minister or magistrate on pres- 
entation ofa certificate of such publication. No 
particular place was required for the marriage cere- 
mony. Sometimes it was performed in the church 
and sometimes in private houses. As it was im- 
possible or inconvenient to comply with the law in 
all cases, a dispensation and license was granted 
by the Governor, on the presentation of a ‘‘penal 
bond of £500 that there was no lawful let or im- 
pediment” to such marriage. The practice of 
issuing licenses ceased with the British rule in this 
State in 1783. 

When a widow or widower with infani children 
married again, it was Customary for the parties to 
contract with the Orphans’ Court guardians to pro- 
tect and preserve the property of said children un- 
til they arrived at lawful age. 

CovrtTsHip.—Comparatively little can be learned 
about the courtship customs in the early days of the 
frontier settlements. However, ‘‘old maids” were 
unknown, and widows seldom died in widowhood, 
unless at very advanced age. They easily and 
soon secured another husband, a very necessary 
protection in the sparse settlements of the border 
lands. The girls were needed at home, and were 
in great demand as housewives, and needed no 
fortune save health and strength as their marriage 
portion. If marriages of convenience were made, 
the wealth brought to the husband was in the 
bride’s strength and housewif ely skill, and the fam- 
ily influence gained by the match. The custom 
of ‘*bundling” was probably practiced to some ex- 
tent in all the early settlements along the Hudson 
and in this vicinity. The records of Albany 
County show some early cases in this locality. At 
the time of the Revolution it was generally preva- 
lent among the Dutch, insomuch that anything 
wrong in it did not prevail. 

Speaking of Van Corlear, Washington Irving 
says: ‘*Van Corlear stopped occasionally in the 
villages to eat pumpkin pies, dance at country 
frolics and dund/e with the Yankee lasses.” 

Tradition says that within this century sermons 
were preached against it in the Dutch church here, 
and that it was earnestly defended. 

Funerats.—At funerals no women attended the 
body to the grave, but after the body was borne 
out, remained to eat cakes and drink spiced wine. 
They retired quietly before the men returned, who 
then, in their turn, participated in the funeral feast, 
and finished with pipes and tobacco. The best 
room in the house was specially appropriated as 
the ‘‘dead room,” and was rarely opened but to 
be aired and cleaned. Wealthy citizens, in an- 
ticipation of a death in their families, were accus- 
tomed to procure a cask of wine during their life- 
time, and preserve it for this purpose. The prep- 
arations for the funeral included setting tables 
through the house, and placing thereon plates of 
cake, plates of tobacco, and sometimes hundreds 
of pipes. At the side of each plate of tobacco was 
a small roll of paper for lighting the pipe, also 
candles lit, and wine put up in bottles, and set on 
the table with wine glasses. The spiced wine was 
placed on the tables in silver tankards. The occa- 
sion was more like a wedding than a funeral. 

The coffins were black, made with a regular 
taper from head to foot, the top like the pitched 
roof of a house. A large silver plate, the name 
and date of death and age carved on it, was the 
only ornament. When removed from the house 
it was placed upon a bier at the door, a black pall, 
owned by the church, thrown over it, and it was 
borne by six or eight pall-bearers, who had four 
yards of linen given them for scarfs, and the minis- 
ter had the same. They bore it upon their shoul- 
ders to the grave, followed by the relations, even 
to remote cousins, two by two, and likewise in- 

vited guests. No one attended funerals in olden 
time without an invitation. A list was made out 
by the friends of the deceased, and the sexton 
would go around and invite those whose names 
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were thereon. The charges for attending funerals 
were regulated by the consistory of the church. 
The following is a list of prices established in 1771: 

“Rules for Cornelis De Graff, appointed sexton 
the 18th of November, 1771, in regard to what he 
is at liberty to take for inviting (the friends) and 
burying (the dead). 

‘« For a person of twenty years old and upward, 
16s. to 20s, 

“« For a person of 15 to 1g years, 15s. to 19s. 
‘* For a person of 10 to 14 years, 14s. to 18s. 
‘* For a person of 5 to g years, 138. to 178. 
‘* For a person of 1 to 4 years, 8s. to 12s. 
‘© For an unbaptized child, when the bell shall 

be rung once, 6s. to ros. 
‘* For ditto when the bell shall not be rung, 3s. 

to 7s. 
‘* For the Great Pall, 3s. 
“* For the Little Pall, gd. 
«¢ All thus when he is obliged to invite (the friends) 

within the village; but when he likewise is obliged 
to extend the invitations without, he may ask 4 

shillings (altered to 6 shillings) more each; this is 
to be understood, as far as Claas Viele’s (upper end 
of Maalwyck), or this side; but when he is obliged 
to extend invitations further—to Syme Vedder's 
(Hoffman’s Ferry) or this side— then he may ask 
3 shillings (altered to six shillings) more. 

“The prices in the above rules are increased by 
reason of the hard times.” 

The grave-digger and bell-ringer was allowed to 
charge as follows: 

‘For a person of 7 up to and above 20, for a 
grave, 3s., and for the bell, 3s. 

‘*For a child 1 to 6 years, for the grave, 2s., for 
the bell, 3s. 

*¢ For an unbaptized child, when the bell shall be | 
Tung once, for the grave, 2s., and for the bell, 2s. 

‘For tolling the bell he may likewise ask one 
shilling more.” 

He was required at his own expense to keep 
proper tools for making and filling graves, likewise 
proper cords, etc. 

Prior to the year 1800 there had probably been 
no hearse in the village. In all funeral processions 
the bier and pall were used ; hence it was not con- 
venient to carry the dead a great distance in this 
manner, and the people in the country buried their 
dead on their own lands. 

The consistory of the church procured the first 
hearse in December, 1800, for the use of the con- 
gregation and the public for an established fee. 

EnpowMENts.—Probably no church in the State 
outside the City of New York was so munificently 
endowed as that of Schenectady. In 1740 she 
owned fully twelve square miles of land in this 
county, which, had it been conveyed by long leases 
and not in fee, would have been worth to her now 
from 300,000 to 500,900 dollars. All this mag- 
nificent estate has passed away; at this time she 
possesses barely a fine house of worship and the lot 
upon which it stands. 

Fixnances.—In early times the Dutch churches 
often acted as guardians of widows and orphans ; 
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they provided for the poor and kindly looked after 
the aged and infirm who had no natural protectors; 
and it was not unusual for the latter to place their 
property in the hands of the consistory, from 
whom they received, from time to time, such sup- 
port as their wants required. The consistory 
were the almoners of the church. Every Lord's 
day a collection was taken of the free-will offerings 
of the people for this, and certain other purposes, 
and this duty was not omitted even though there 
were no present objects upon whom their bounty 
might be bestowed. 

In the outset, the littke community of Schenec- 
tady seems to have had few orno poor people; with 
the exception of a ‘‘shirt for a captive French- 
man,” it does not appear from the accounts that 
the deacons gave a stiver to any person during the 
years 1687-9. As the funds accumulated they 
were loaned on bond at 6 per cent. interest to citi- 
zens. Thus, in the auditof 1689, obligations to 
the amount of nearly 3,000 guilders were included 
in the assets of the church. Moreover the consis- 
tory traded with another portion of these funds, 
buying and selling brass kettles, nails, linen, 
thread, baize, coverlets, etc. 

Particularly unfortunate has it been for Schenec- 
tady that the flames of 1690 spared almost nothing 
of her early records ; with the exception of a few 
leaves of the deacons’ account book, all is a 
blank. 

In 1790, and for some years later, there was 
great scarcity of small change. ‘To meet this in- 
convenience, many individuals, corporations and 
churches issued ‘‘shin-plasters ” for one penny and 
upward. 

On the 6th of September, 1790, the deacons an- 
nounced to the consistory that in consequence of 
the scarcity of copper money the weekly collections 
in the church had fallen off nearly one-half, and 
therefore inquired whether there was no way of 
remedying the loss. The Reverend Consistory, 
having considered the matter, came to the unani- 
mous conclusion to issue ‘‘shin-plasters. ” 

The corsistory immediately had printed £100 
in one, two, three and six penny notes. They 
were issued by the deacons, and the money re- 
ceived for them was held for their redemption. 

PASTORS FROM 1740 To 1885. 

During the four years succeeding Dominie 
Erichzon the church was without a settled pastor, 
but was occasionally visited by the ministers of 
Albany, although they made efforts to secure a 
pastor from Holland. They finally succeeded in 
securing Dominie Cornelis Van Santvoord, of 
Staten Island, who was born in Leyden, and 
began his ministry in Schenectady, August, 
1740. 

Dominie Van Santvoord was a man of good 
natural parts and fine culture. He preached 
not only in his native tongue, but also in French 
and English, Under his ministry the church 
enjoyed a good degree of prosperity. His 
sudden demise at the early age of 55 years was a 
sad loss to the town. 
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For nearly three years after the church was again 
destitute of a pastor. 

The sixth minister of the church was Dominie 
Barent Vrooman, the first native of the Province 
ever called to this sacred office. His great-grand- 
father was one of the pioneer settlers, and, together 
with his son, was killed in 1690, in the sacking of 
the village by. the French. 

He was born in 1725, and began his studies for 
the ministry under Do. Van Santvoord and fin- 
ished them under Do. Frelinghuysen, of Albany. 
In 1751 he went to Holland and studied at the 
University of Utrecht and obtained ordination. He 
was inducted into the sacred office as pastor of the 
congregations of New Paltz, Shawangunk and Wall- 
kil, his parish embracing more than two hundred 
square miles. Although called to Schenectady 
September 18, 1753, he did not arrive there until 
November I, 1754. 

The expense and trouble of calling a minister one 
hundred years ago is very imperfectly understood 
by those of the present day. All candidates in 
theology were obliged to spend more or less time 
at a university in the Fatherland, and after ordina- 
tion they returned at the expense of the church 
calling them. In case of a subsequent removal, it 
was customary for the church making the call to 
pay a portion of this expense. ‘The call of Do. 
Vrooman cost the church in Schenectady $563. 
For thirty years he remained pastor of thechurch, 
though for four years preceding his death he was 
unable to preach but occasionally, and married 
386 couples, baptized 3,521 children, and received 
453 into church membership. He is said to have 
been aman of much heart, familiar and social, 
and popular with his people. 

Dominie Romeyn was the seventh minister, and 
the last of that long line of ministers who had, 
from the days of Thesschenmaecker, conducted 
the entire service of the church in the Dutch lan- 
guage. His active spirit infused new influence into 
the church and community ; an influence that is felt 

- tothis time in the educational institutions of the city. 
He was born in Hackensack, N. J. ; graduated 
from Princeton College, 1765; ordained May 14, 
1766; and on the first Sabbath of November, 1784, 
was installed pastor of this church, 
Among his first labors in Schenectady was an 

attempt to improve the schools and establish an 
academy and seminary. ‘The result was a charter 
for Union College, which institution he lived to see 
commence its prosperous career under the manage- 
ment of Doctors John Blair Smith, Jonathan Ed- 
wards and Jonathan Maxey. 

His health began failing i in 1801, and about the 
middle of 1802 he became permanently incapaci- 
tated for the full performance of his ministerial 
duties and relinquished all claims upon the church, 
accepting instead a salary of $520, and was to 
preach onesermon on the Sabbath in Dutch. 

In 1797 the General Synod of the Reformed 
Dutch Church elected him one of its Professors of 
Theology, the duties of which he discharged with 
honor to himself and benefit to others till the close 
of his life. He was twice honored with the offer 

of President of Queen’s (now Rutgers) College, and 
received from her the degree of Doctor of Divinity. 

During his ministry “the church was seriously 
disturbed on the subject of English pre aching, as 

there was preaching in English in the E piscopal 

and Presbyterian churches, ‘and fears were enter- 
tained that members of the Dutch congregation 
would be enticed away from their own church, 

Various compromises were made by which there 
was preaching in both English and Dutch at differ- 
ent stated times. The agitation began in 1794, 
and was carried on with more or less intensity for 

some years. Dominie Romeyn died on the 16th of 

April, 1804, and with his death ended stated Dutch 
preaching in the church of Schenectady. 

The Rev. Jacob Sickies was the eighth minister. 
He was born in Tappan in 1772; graduated at 
Columbia College in 1792; and was licensed by 
the Classis of New York in 1794. He was called 
as assistant minister of this church in October, 

1795, being then a divinity student, at a salary of 
$500. 

The Rev. John Hardenberg Meier was the ninth 
minister. He graduated at Columbia College in 
1795, studied theology under Dr. Livingston, and 
was licensed by the Classis of New York in 1798, 
at the age of twenty-four years. He acrepied a 
call as assistant minister to Dr. Romeyn, in 1802 
ata salary of $662.50, with a house and eu 
The following May he was installed. In less than 
a year his venerable colleague was removed by 
death, and within two years thereafter the church 
was called to mourn his death also 

For two years after the death of Do. Meier, the 
pulpit was supplied temporarily by ministers 
from the neighboring churches. The church called 
Rev. John Brodhead Romeyn, son of the late 
pastor, atasalary of $1,000, with house and fire- 
wood. For some reason the call was not accepted, 
and a call was made to Mr. Cornelius Borgardus, 
and he became the tenth minister of the church. He 
was licensed by the Classis of New York in 1808, 
and was ordained and installed pastor of this church 
the 27th of November the same year, being in the 
twenty-ninth year of his age. He remained with 
the church four years, and died December 
1812, aged thirty-two years. 
The first application made for the use of the 

church for a Fourth of July celebration was June 
24, 1811, when the consistory granted the request. 
‘provided no instrumental music shall be used 
and nothing be said in the oration to wound the 
feelings of any political party.” 

The Rey. Jacob Van Vechten became the 
eleventh minister, and remained the longest of any 
of its pastors. He graduated from Union College 
in 1809, and was licensed by the Classis of New 
Brunswick in 1814, at the age of 28 years. He 
was inducted into the pastoral office in this church 

15, 

June 8, 1815. He received the degree of Doctor 
of Divinity from Williams College, and at the 
time of his death was senior trustee of Umion 
College, to which office he was elected in 1837. 
He resigned his pastorate here on the 6th ol 
March, 1849, after a service of more than 34 
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years. He died in 1868 at the residence of his 
son-in-law, Prof. Huntington, in Auburn, N. Y. 

The twelfth minister was Rev. Wm. J. R. Tay- 
lor, D. D. He was born in Schodac, Rennselaer 
County, N. July 31, 1823; graduated at 
Rutgers College, 1841, and from the Theological 
Seminary at New Brunswick, N. J., in 1844, and 
was ordained the same year. His pastorate in 
Schenectady began in 1849 and terminated in 

1852. During the last year of his ministry here 
the church ‘enjoyed a gracious revival of relig- 
ion.” It was chiefly through his exertions that 
the Second Reformed Church of Schenectady was 
formed. ; 

In 1853 the Rev. Julius H. Seelye, now Presi- 
dent of Amherst College, was settled over the 
church, it being his first charge. He was born in 
Bethel, Conn., September 14, 1824. He graduated 

PRESENT. DUTCH CHURCH. 

from Amherst College in 1849, and from Auburn 
Theological Seminary in 1852. 

After a year of study at Halle he returned from 
Europe, and preached his first sermon at Schenec- 
tady May 22, 1853, and received a unanimous 
call as pastor of the church and was installed 
August 10, Dr. Hickok, Vice-President of Union 
College, preaching the sermon. He severed his 
connection with this church to accept the professor- 
ship of Mental and Moral Philosophy in Amherst 
College, having been its pastor fora little more than 

five years. No communion service passed during 
his ministry here without the reception of some 
members to the church on a profession of faith, and 
the annual contributions for benevolent purposes 
more than doubled during his pastorate. 

The Rev. Edward -E. Seelye, D. D., was the 
fourteenth minister. He was born in Lansing- 
burgh, September 24, 1819; graduated from Union 
College in 1839, and from Princeton Seminary i 
1843. He was installed over the church ¥ 
Schenectady November 1, 1858. During his pas- 
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torate here the church was destroyed by fire, and 
the present beautiful and costly edifice erected, 
the dedication sermon being preached by himself, 
August 6, 1863. He died while on his summer 
vacation, August 10, 1864, at Sandy Hill, the 
place of his former charge. 

The Rev. Dennis Wortman, D. D., became 
the successor of Dr. Seelye. He graduated from 
Amherst in 1857, and from New Brunswick 
Theological Seminary in 1860. Because of ill- 
health he resigned his charge here in 1870, 
greatly to the regret of a loving people. During 
his stay $11,000 of indebtedness on the church 
was paid, and the iron fence put around the 
church, 

The Rev. Ashbel G. Vermilye, the sixteenth 
pastor of the church, was born in Princeton, 
N. J., in 1822; graduated from New York Univer- 
sity in 1840. He preached his first sermon in the 
church here August 6, 1871, the anniversary of 
the burning of the old and the dedication of the 
new edifice. His labors ceased by resignation, 

December, 1876. : 
The Rev. Wm. E. Griffis, the present pastor, 

was born in Philadelphia in 1843; entered Rutgers 
College in 1865. After graduation, in 1869, he 
traveled in Europe for a few months, entered the 
New Brunswick Theological Seminary for a year, 
and in December, 1870, went to Japan to engage 
in government educational service. Returning to 
this country in 1874, he spent two years in the 
Union Theological Seminary of New York. He 
received a unanimous call to the pastorate of this 
church, May 1, 1877, while yet a member of the 
senior class, and was ordained May 31, 1877. 
The degree of D. D. was conferred upon him by 
Union College in 1884. 

He is the author of ‘‘ The Tokio Guide,” ‘‘ The 
Yokohama Guide,” ‘‘ Map of Tokio, with Histori- 
cal Notes,” ‘‘The Mikado’s Empire,” ‘‘ Japanese 
Fairy World,” ‘‘Corea, the Hermit Nation,” 
‘*Corea, Without and Within,” ‘‘ Schenectady 
First Church Memorial” (with Prof. Pearson), and 
is now preparing a life of Arendt Van Curler, the 
founder of Schenectady. 

Conciusion.—This church, with its vast estates 
and civil interests, must have had many valuable 
papers pertaining to the ancestry of the people and 
defining many historical facts which are now but 
conjectures. A committee ‘‘ to examine the papers 
in the old box belonging to the Board, and to de- 
stroy all such papers as they may deem useless,” 
was appointed in 1813, and they probably de- 
stroyed much history. It is said that the old rec- 
ords of Virginia were destroyed to cover up the 
sins of the destroyers’ ancestors, and tradition has 
it that the consistory of this church in its business 
aspect was a close corporation for the benefit of its 
friends. 

However this may be, this committee swept out 
of existence the original titles to much of the land, 
and, doubtless, obliterated the ancestral trace of 
many worthy as well as unworthy Dutch settlers 
whose descendants are numerous throughout the 
country. 

ST. iGEORGE'’S) CHURCH | (EPISCOPAL), 

This church was the natural outgrowth of the 
English occupation from 1664 to the Revolution, 
After the peace in 1754, at the close of the old 
French war, few troops were stationed here, and 

those of the inhabitants who desired to hear preach- 

ing in the English language, such as the English, 
Scotch and New Englanders, were forced to build a 
church for themselves. Paucity of numbers and of 
means delayed this for years, though the founda- 
tion was commenced in 1759. 

The old church still stands—transepts have been 
added in same style of architecture. Unfortu- 
nately, the old sounding board has been removed 
from over the pulpit, but the general quaintness of 
the interior has been preserved. 

‘“At an early period, the Rev. Thomas Barclay, 
missionary of the English church at Albany, vis- 
ited Schenectady, and, so far as can be ascertained, 
was the first Episcopal minister who held service 
in the place. Writing to London, to the Society for 
the Propagation of the Gospel in Foreign Parts, by 
which he had been sent over, he says, under date 
of 1710: ‘At Schenectady I preach once a 
month, where there is a garrison of forty soldiers, 
besides about sixteen English and about one hun- 
dred Dutch families. They are all of them my 
constant hearers. I have this summer got an 
English school erected amongst them, and in a 
short time I hope their children will be fit for 
catechising. ’ 

‘““Two years after, Mr. Barclay left Albany, 
where he was succeeded by the Rev. Mr. Miln, 
and he by other missionaries, till 1746. These 
gentlemen doubtless often crossed the pine plains 
to minister to the few churchmen here, though I 
do not find on our records any mention of their 
visits or acts. The Dutch pulpit became regularly 
occupied by its own pastors, and the English 
people, who were the feebler of the two, seem to 
have been brought under its predominating influ- 
ence, instead of vice versa, as Mr. Barclay so fondly 
anticipatea. 

“In 1748 the Rev. John Ogilvie came to 
Albany as rector of St. Peter's. And the same 
year arrived in Schenectady a layman, Mr. John 
W. Brown, whose memory is appropriately pre- 
served by a tablet on the walls of the church. He 
is said to have come from London, and was only 
twenty-one years old at the time of his arrival 
here. From him probably it received its name, 
St. George being the patron saint of his native 
country. 

‘The earliest baptism, by an Episcopal min- 
ister, on the parish register, is that of a daughter 
of Mr. Brown, in 1754, by the Rev. Mr. Ogilvie, 
who performed the same office for another child ot 
Mr. Brown in 1859. It also records the bapusm 
of three other children of Mr. Brown by Dutch 
ministers—the Revs. Thomas Frelinghise and B. 
Vrooman. 

‘That year—1759—the erection of the church 

edifice seems to have been undertaken; for under 
date of that year the parish books still preserve, 
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among other items of disbursement, to ‘ Richard | terians, The presbyterians highly ofended at this 

Oldrick and Horseford, for digging the foundation 
of the church, £4 3s. gd.’ Amounts for drawing 
timber, and work of the like kind, are mentioned 
from that date onward. The woodwork was done 
under the superintendence of Mr. Samuel Fuller, 
who also became the builder of Johnson Hall. He 
was master of the king’s artificers, and came to this 
vicinity from Needham, Massachusetts, with Aber- 
crombie’s army. To obtain the necessary assist- 
ance for fulfilling his part of the work on the 
church, he went “back, in 1762, to Needham, and 
engaged several carpenters; and_ besides having 
their regular wages while here, they were to be al- 
lowed a specified sum for the seven days it would 
take them to come from Needham, and also for 
the same number of days for their return. It was 
several years before the building was completed for 
occupancy and use, though as early as 1767 we 
find sums collected for pew rents among the treas- 
urer’s papers. These papers also show the names 
of persons who subscribed for the erection of the 
church, with their respective amounts. 

“ At that time lived in the Mohawk Valley Sir 
William Johnson. He was a major-general in 
the British service, and general superintendent of 
Indian affairs in North America. The English 
church had in him a warm friend. He not only 
contributed liberally himself to the erection of this 
building, but also obtained subscriptions from his 
friends in various parts of the colonies—at one 
time £61 ros. from the Governors of Pennsylvania 
and New Jersey, and other distinguished gentle- 
men, while attending a treaty of peace at Fort 
Stanwix. Sir William was also of great service to 
the church here, in procuring for it missionaries 
from the Venerable Society in England, which 
seems to have consulted him in most of its ap- 
pointments to this region of country. Through 
his co-operation the wardens obtained from the 
Governor of the colony a charter for their church 
in 1766, and Sir William was requested to act as 
one of the trustees. He was a frequent worshiper 
in these walls, and tradition says that his pew, 
which was on the south side, was distinguished by 
acanopy. The church, as it then was, according 
to a ground plan of it in one of the old books, had two 
doors—one on the west end, and the other on the 
south side (the arch of which still remains), with a 
communion table against the east wall in the mid- 
dle, and directly in front of it two desks for reading 
and preaching; and only a part of the church was 
finished with pews. 

“During those years the building was used 
more or less by the Presbyterians, who had none 
of their own. A curious statement exists on 
this point, said to have been found among the 
papers of a Mr. Alexander Kelly, a member of that 
body. He says: ‘Betwext 1760 and 1770, the 
Episcopalians and presbyterians agreed & build a 
Church Betwext them, The Former to goe in at 
the west Door the Later at the South Door when 
the Church was Finesht John Brown Belonig to the 
English Church went to New York & get it Con- 
secrated under the Bishop unknown to the presby- 

John Duncan, James Wilson, James Shuter, An- 
drew & Hugh Michel, Andrew McFarland & Wm. 

.White & Alexander Merser purchest a lot From a 
Gentelm in New York Colected money in varies 
places To Build a Church. The Dutch Inhabi- 
tants Seing How they were Served advanct very 
Liberal in money Boards plank Nails Hinges & 
paint The Church was built about the year 
L770:, 

‘*Mr. Kelly’s representation of the case must 
be as faulty as his orthography. To prove this, it 
is enough to state two facts—one, that there was 
no bishop in this country till 1784, thirty years 

after this alleged transaction; and the other, that 
the church was never ‘consecrated’ till nearly one 
hundred years later by Bishop Potter, in 1859. 

‘*As connected with this part of the ecclesiastical 
history of Schenectady, we take the liberty of quot- 
ing from a note on the subject, received by the 
Rector from the Rev. Dr. Darling: ‘One of 
the oldest members of my church (Presbyterian), 
when I came here, informed me that the south 
door was walled up after the Presbyterian exodus, 
‘Cand the Lord puta curse on the mortar so that 
it would not stick ;” though, as she had no pro- 
phetic credentials, you may prefer to account for it 
insome other way.’ 

“Tt was to matters of this kind that Dr. Darling’s 
predecessor, the venerable Dr. Backus, probably 
referred in his historical sermon, preached in 
1879, when he said: ‘Ritualism and evangeli- 
cism long contended here for the mastery.’ One 
of the champions in that contest was this same MIr, 
Kelly—Sandy Kelly, generally called—who, whena 
pitch-pipe was introduced into the Presbyterian 
worship, rushed down the aisle, and out of the 
door, crying ‘Awa’ with your box o’ whistles!’ 
What would he have said and done had his evan- 
gelic ears been shocked by the noble organ which 
now vies with that of St. George’s in improving the 
ritual of God’s house ? 

‘“While the church was being built, the Rev. 
Thomas Brown, who succeeded Mr. Ogilvie at St. 
Peter's, Albany, and after him the Rev. Harry 
Monroe, seemed to have ministered now and then 
to the church people here, baptizing their children 
and burying their dead, until the arrival of Mr. 
William Andrews. This gentleman had been for 
some time catechist among the Mohawk Indians. 
He was a native of Great Britain. He returned 
home in 1770, when he was ordained by the Bishop 
of London, and appointed missionary at Sche- 
nectady. He may be considered the first resident 
minister, or rector, of St. George’s. Mr. Andrews 
opened a grammar school here in 1771 ; but the 
labor attendant on this and his parish broke down 
his health, and he relinquished the mission in 1773, 
and went to Virginia. 

‘‘Mr. Andrews was soon succeeded by the Rev. 
John Doty, a native of Westchester, and an alum- 
nus of King’s (now Columbia) College. It was 
now the eve of the Revolution. Like many of his 
brethren, Mr. Doty suffered between a sense of 
duty and the pressure of the times. He was ar- 
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rested and kept in ward for awhile. On _ being 
released, he left for Canada; and divine service 
was suspended in the church during the remainder 
of the war. 

‘« When the independence of the States was estab- 
lished and peace declared, in 1782, the few members 
which Mr. Doty had been forced to abandon were al- 
most entirely scattered. The church edifice had be- 
come dilapidated, the windows were broken out, and 
desolation reigned within and around. Soon after, 
in 1790, the parish was admitted into union with 
the Convention of the Protestant Episcopal Church, 

which had become duly organized. But it was 
some time before it could enjoy the services of a 
settled clergyman, depending upon those of Albany 
and other neighboring towns. 

“In 1798 the Rev. Robert G. Wetmore became 
rector, in connection with Christ’s Church, Duanes- 
borough ; and from that day its affairs moved on 
in uninterrupted order and with increasing success. 
At the first election of the corporation, Charles 
Martin and John Kane were chosen wardens. In 
a register book, then begun, there is a rude pen- 
and-ink sketch, by Mr. Wetmore’s own hand, of 
the church as it then was—a little, oblong stone 

structure, fifty-six feet long (about half its present 
length) by thirty-six feet wide, with three windows 
on each side (the old south door being walled up), 
and in front a small wooden steeple, crowned by a 
low bell tower, with a cross upon it. It contained 
thirty-six pews (about one-third of its present num- 
ber), and no gallery, except across the west end, 
which was reached by a stairway within the church 
in the northwest corner. The pulpit, with a long 
flight of stairs, was against the east wall in the 
center, with a reading desk in front, and a clerk’s 
pew in front of that, and the altar, with rails, on 
the north side—an arrangement similar to that 
sull existing in the old church at Duanes- 
borough. 

‘*Mr. Wetmore resigned in 1801, and some 
years elapsed before his place was regularly sup- 
plied. Meanwhile the services of neighboring 
clergy were occasionally obtained, and several im- 
provements made in the church edifice. Ata 
meeting of the vestry in 1804, ‘ Charles Martin and 
John W. Brown represented to the board the ne- 
cessity of taking down the steeple, on account of 
its being in a decayed situation, and proposed to 
obtain by subscription a sum adequate to the erect- 
ing a new steeple.’ Messrs. David Tomlinson 
and Wm. Corlett were appointed the committee, 
and the result was the wooden tower (which was 
taken down twelve years ago) and the beautiful 
belfry and spire which crowned it and which were 
deemed worthy of preservation. 
“The foundation of that tower was laid by a 

young man who had then just arrived in Sche- 
nectady, and who, though born and reared a New 
England Congregationalist, soon attached himself 
to this church, and afterward became most inti- 
mately identified with all its changes and improve- 
ments—David Hearsey. 

‘The next rector was the Rev. Cyrus Stebbins, 
who, having been a Methodist minister at Albany, 

was ordained with special reference to this parish, 

by Bishop Moore. He was here from 1806 
1819. 

‘‘For a year or two after Dr. Stebbins’ resigna- 
tion the services were kept up, with much 
acceptance to the congregation, by Mr. Alonzo 
Potter, as lay reader, then tutor of Union Col- 
lege, and afterward the Bishop of Pennsylva- 
nia. A tablet to his memory has been placed 
by the trustees of the college on the walls of 
St. George’s. 

“In 1821 the Rev. Alexis P. Proal was called 
to the rectorship, and he continued in it till 1836. 
During those fifteen years several substantial addi- 
tions were made to the church property. A house, 
with lot, belonging to Ahasuerus Wendell, was 
bought for a rectory by the church’s side on the 
north ; and more sittings being found necessary 
in the church, side galleries were erected, run- 
ning from the west to the east wall. 

‘«Dr. Proal was succeeded by the Rev. 
Smedes, during whose rectorship of three 
radical change was made in the church edifice. 
Increased accommodations being required, the ves- 
try debated whether to pull down the old building 
and erect a new one, or to enlarge. The latter 
course was adopted ; and so, in the spring and 
summer of 1838, two transepts, or wings, were 
added to the old nave. Under the pulpit was a 
hole, where the clergyman could go and change 
his surplice for a black gown between the service 
and the sermon. Thirty pews were gained onthe 
lower floor, besides many others by continuing the 
galleries around the new transepts ; and the grace- 
fularch over your heads was shut out of sight by a 
floor making the whole upper ceiling fat. An- 
other important event in the history of the parish 
during Dr. Smedes’ rectorship was the purchase 
of the house next south of the church, called the 
Peek house, where the Sunday school met and the 
sexton lived. The garden was added to the burial 
ground,” 

The most efficient services rendered this church 
during its long history were by the Rev. William 
Payne, D. D., who was born at Portland, Middle- 

sex County, Conn., in 1815. He early attended 
the academy connected with Hobart’s College, 
Geneva, and after a full course at Trinity College, 
Hartford, Conn., graduated from that institution 
in 1834. Henextentered the General Theolozical 
Seminary at New York, and at the end of three 
years was ordained as an Episcopal clergyman 
and became rector of St. Michael’s Church, Litch- 
field, Conn. Here he remained for six years, after 
which he became assistant professor of Latin in 
Trinity College, Hartford, Conn., remaining in 
this position for several years. In 1848 he was 
called to St. George’s Church in this city, where he 
has remained for an uninterrupted period of thirty- 
five years, retiring from active ministerial work in 
1883. In 1859 he received the degree of D.D. 

from Hobart College, Geneva. : 
The Rev. John Philips Brooks Pendleton, 8. T. 

B., has just entered upon the duties of the rector- 
ship, 
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THE FIRST PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH. 

The early history of the Presbyterian Church in 
Schenectady is obscure. As late as 1756 there was 
no church in town except the Dutch. Before this 
date, however, settlers from England, Scotland 
and New E ngland were drawn to ‘this “ frontier,” 
by facilities ‘oflered for trading with the interior. 
Missionaries, chiefly for the Indians, had been sent 
into these parts by the Society for the Propagation 
of the Gospel, early in the eighteenth century. 
There was a chapel in the fort which was built in 
1735, and was probably used by different denomi- 
nations for worship. Concerning the church build- 
ing in which the Presbyterians worshiped, now St. 
George s Episcopal Church, a tradition existed that 
Presbyterians subscribed to its erection with the 
understanding that it should be used in common 
by both denominations. Between 1760 and 1770 
the Episcopalians and Presbyterians ‘‘agreed_ to 
build a church between them, The former to Goe 
in at the west door, the Later at the South Door. 
When the church was Finesht John Brown, be- 

longing to the English church, went to New York 
and got it consecrated under the sishop unknown 
to the Presbyterians. The Presbyterians Highlie 
offended at this, purchest a lot, collected money 
in various places to Build a church. The Dutch 
inhabitants, seeing how they were aa ed, advanst 
Liberal in money, Boards, planks, Nails, Hinges 
& paint. The church was built about the year 
1770-1 7ckelley.) 

It is not unlikely that such Presbyterian mission- 
aries as had penetrated to Albany had also. visited 
this region, but there was no settled minister before 
1770, though for some time prior to this date the 
Presbyterians worshiped statedly in a hired ‘‘meet- 
ing-house. ” 
‘On the 12th October, 1769, a lot was purchased 

from Peter De Bois for £100, and work seems to 
have begun at once in earnest, as almost immedi- 
ately follows: ‘‘To 2 Gallons West’ Rum when 
cutting the timber for the church ris.;’ the next 
item being, ‘‘ To cash paid to Phinn & Ellice for 
rum and sugar when rideing timber £4 gs. 4d.; and 
Aug., 1771, To tickets bought at New Castle Lot- 
tery £4 16s.” 

The site of the old meeting house cannot now be 
ascertained, nor can we learn concerning it more 
than that it was furnished with a bell. It was still 
in use 22d March, 1773. 

By the end of ‘73 the edifice seems to have been 
completed, and the bell in the new steeple, with its 
leaden ball adorned with ‘‘ 6 bookes of gold leaf,” 
no doubt called the congregation to a joyful service 
of dedication. 

The church and lot are credited with an expendi- 
ture of about s1,800. The carpenters work was 
done by Samuel Fullerand John Hall. The church 
had a gallery, and on the ground floor, 21 wall 
and 22 ‘‘ Boddy” pews, and the carpenters agreed 
‘to do the work on the Pulpit In the Same man- 
ner as In the English Church only it is to Joyn the 
wall So as to have no piller for a Soport & to make 
the Clark's Seat.” 

| | 

Of the size and strength of the congregation 
there is no record until much later; but in 1768 
they felt able to compete with their brethren in Al- 
bany; for a letter of Mr. Brown to Sir Wm. John- 
son at this time, in urging the necessity of securing 
Mr. Murray for St. George’s, says: ‘‘ Weare the 
more Anxiously Solicitous on this Head as the 
Presbyterians are busee to get Mr. Bay among 
them —this Mr. Bay being called about this time 
to the Presbyterian Church at Albany. The first 
minister who is known to have preached to the con- 
gregation statedly is the Rev. Alexander Miller. 

Mr. Miller was a pupilof Rev. James Findley, a 
graduate of Princeton College, in 1764; a student 
of theology under Dr. Rodgers, of New York; was 
licensed 1767, and orc lained by the Presbytery of 
New Vok- 1770, the date of bis settlement here. 

He also preached at Currie’s Bush and Remsen’s 
Bush in connection with his charge here, and 
taught a very respectable grammar school during 
the Revolutionary War, ‘‘in which Governor 
Tichenor of Vermont and others, since celebrated, 
acted as assistants.” 

During the war the church seems to have suf- 
fered greatly. The congregation was in arrears for 
salary to Mr. Miller at the time his successor, Mr. 
John Young, was called, about the middle of 1787 
and probably about six years after Mr. Miller closed 
his labors as pastor of the church. 

Mr. Young was ordained June 14, 1788, and 
gave one-third of his time to Currie’s Bush, 
Princetown. 

Tho congregation at this time, and for years 
later, was composed of elements which did not 
mix very kindly, formalism contending stubbornly 
against ‘the growing evangelical spirit in the church, 
and Mr, Young was dismissed in consequence of 
the dissensions, non-payment of salary and _ ill 
health. The former pastor was still seeking payment 
of its indebtedness to him,and the church at Currie’s 
Bush had applied to the Presbytery for two-thirds 
of Mr. Young’s time, on the ground that the 
church in Schenectady was no longer able to sup- 
port hir. 

From 1791 to 1795, among those preaching here 
occasionally were Rev. Messrs. Baldwin, Chap- 
man, Cce, Cook, Davenport, Dod, Dun, Judd, 
McDonald, Pomeroy, Schenck, Thompson and 
Williams. 

With the election of the Rev. John B, Smith to 
the presidency of the college, a brighter day dawned 
for the church. Dr. Smith did much to reorganize 
the church; ordaining four elders in 1795 or 1796, 
viz.: Alexander Kel lly, John Taylor, Alexander 
W alastey and John MeAty re. 

On the 13th September, 1796, the Rev. Robert 
Smith, of Pennsylvania, a graduate of Princeton, was 
installed over the church, which at this time num- 
bered only 37 communicants. There were, how- 
ever, about 85 pew holders, and the income of the 
church from pews and subscriptions was a little 
over $700. 

Mr. Smith remained until July, 1801, when, the 

severity of the climate having impaired his health, 
he sought refuge in Savannah, Ga., dying soon after 

Or 
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102 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

His life was sacrificed to his zeal and 
affection for his people. Under his ministry the 
church received 51 additional members. The town- 
ship of Schenectady at this time contained about 
3,500 inhabitants, 683 being electors and 381 
slaves. 

During the illness of Mr. Smith the Rev. Mr. 
Adair and Dr. Jonathan Edwards, Jr., second 
president of the college, frequently supplied the 
pulpit, and as collections for 1801 show an increase 
over previous records, and additions to the church 
are also recorded, the impetus given by Mr. Smith’s 
pastorate would seem not to have been arrested. 

In March, 1802, three elders and seventy-three 
others petitioned Presbytery for the speedy install- 
ment of the Rev. William Clarkson; twenty peti- 
tioners, including two elders, however, pray that 
the installation may not take place. Mr. Clark- 
son’s settlement was the signal for war among the 
discordant elements in the congregation, and 
shortly after such serious charges were preferred 
against him as that he did not ‘‘ preach” but read 
sermons, ‘‘contrary to Luke 4: 16-23, where our 
Lord preached, said preaching being without 
notes.” Mr. Clarkson was also charged with say- 
ing, ‘‘ We never had such preaching here before ; 
we had nothing but like the reading of an alma- 
nack,” and the Presbytery failing to see the hein- 
ousness of Mr. Clarkson's homiletical shortcom- 
ings, a temporary secession of twenty-four families 
took place. Although considerable accessions to 
the church took place during Mr. Clarkson’s brief 
pastorate, his opponents claimed that the commu- 
nicants had diminished one-third. 

During this unhappy contention, in which Mr. 
Clarkson was rather the occasion than the cause 
of the quarrel, an election for elders had occurred, 
which seemed to intensify the strife, and in Sep- 
tember, 1803, Mr. Clarkson sought peace in de- 
parture. In the succeeding December the Rey. 
John B. Romeyn, a son of Dr. Romeyn of the Re- 
formed Dutch Church, and founder of Union Col- 
lege, was settled over the church, at a salary of 
$625. But the charch was at strife, and in No- 
vember, 1804, Mr. Romeyn also left. The num- 
ber of communicants at this time could not have 
been much above a hundred; the highest rental 
for pews was but $35, and the support of the 
church and pastor in the midst of such difficulties 
was very doubtful and precarious. Mr. Nathaniel 
Todd, ordained December 11, 1805, was dismissed 
in the succeeding November, on the ground 
that the congregation were unable to support 
him. 

For some time the church depended upon tem- 
porory supplies, but, as if still further to confuse 
and complicate matters, the ear of the congrega- 
tion was taken by an Irishman of the Methodist 
Church, a lay preacher, Mr. John Joyce. In spite 
of the peril of a threatened schism if Mr. Joyce 
were not settled over the church, Presbytery de- 
clined to intrust the church to his care, and de- 
clared it expedient for the session to resign, that 
new elders might in the interest of harmony be 
elected. The new session consisted of Messrs. 

his removal. 

| 
| 

Kelly, Walmsley, Daniel Chandler and Prof. Henry 
Davis, afterward President of Middlebury, and still 
later of Hamilton College. 

Notwithstanding its want of a pastor, and its in- 
ternal differences, the church does not seem to 
have lost any confidence in itself, for on the 3d_ of 
July, 1809, the corner-stone of a new edifice was 
laid, the old building on the site of the chapel be- 
ing taken down, and the congregation worshiping 
for a time in the college chapel. 

We introduce here an impression of the old 
church seal, believing that it represents the form of 
the original church structure. 

No doubt a large part of the strength and im- 
pulse of the new church movement came from the 
college. Dr. Nott,from his accession to the Presi- 
dency in 1804,had been a warm friend, and to his 
kindness, as well as that of Dr. McAuley and other 
members of the faculty, it was probably in large 
measure owing that the church came through its 
crisis with so little loss of strength. 

Meantime, the Rev. Alexander Monteith had 
been called to the pastorate, and on August 29, 
1809, he was settled over the church, remaining 
its pastor until his death, January 29, 1815. Dur- 
ing his ministry there was an increase in its collec- 
tions, the communion roll was enlarged by 62 
additions, and the pastor's salary was advanced 
from $700 to $1,000, 

Mr. Monteith’s successor was the Rev. Hooper 
Cummings, whose eloquence covered not a few of 
his ownsins and other men’ssermons. Eccentric and 
unfortunate, to speak mildly, Mr. Cummings’ brief 
pastorate, judged by statistics, was most successful. 
Installed 22d November, 1815, and dismissed 18th 
February, 1817, sixty-five persons were added to 
the communion roll, and work among the colored 
people prosecuted with vigor and success, Presby- 
tery having authorized Messrs. Wisner and Davis, 
then members of the church in Union College, to 
catechise and exhort among them. 

During Mr. Cummings’ ministry, however, old 
strifes broke out again, and it was not till the 
8th of June, 1820, that another pastor could be 
secured, changes having occurred in the session, 
and some withdrawing from the church, which in 
the interval enjoyed the services of Drs. Nott and 
McAuley. In April, 1820, the famous: Mr. Net- 
tleton preached, and the church seems to have en- 
joyed spiritual prosperity, not less than 120 being 
added to the church during the year. ‘‘ Tokens” 
at the communion were still in use, not being dis- 
pensed with till March, 1821, when members of 
other Evangelical churches were welcomed to 
the Lord’s table. The ‘‘ Token” was intended to 
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prevent any unknown person or member under 

discipline from coming to the Lord's table. Tokens 

were distributed by the elders before communion 

to all who were in good standing, and were taken 

up by the elders again from the communicants at 

the table. They were made of lead, or pewter, 

were about an inch square, having inscriptions on 

each side, like these samples : 

re ee 

| II.TIM: |: 
ee Ses 

:IPRESBY.N!: 

CHURCH 
:|ISCHEN.DY|: 1. COR: XI. |: 
Se ctBOQn.- vol XR VELE S| 3 
Sbar olahesetereietevanecceliod a, Fo. 28,1 1. seetete ietatenatehe are. 9/su55e 

Besides these changes, during Mr. (Walter) 
Monteith’s pastorate (1820 to 1226), the old 
psalm book (Rouse) was relinquished, which 
indicates that a decided change was taking place 
in the sentiment of the church. In Mr. Monteith’s 
time also the old ‘‘Session House” was built by 
subscription, and not without much opposition 
from those who did not favor Sabbath-schools, 
prayer meetings and other ‘‘new-fangled ideas.” 
‘The Sunday-school had been started by Mr. Jona- 
than Crane, an elder in the church, in the base- 
ment kitchen of his own house, as a Mission Union 
School in 1817; but in 1824 it divided into two 
church schools, one Dutch, the other Presbyterian, 
which found a home in the Session House, though 
viewed with suspicion, if not with dislike, by many 
who regarded it as ‘‘a school for outcasts. ” 

Mr. Monteith’s successor was the Rev. Erskine 
Mason, a son of the celebrated Dr. John M. 
Mason, whom in intellectual strength he in no 
small degree resembled. A scholarly and finished 
preacher, the three years of his service here were 
years of strength and blessing to the church, which 
received during his brief pastorate an addition of 
89 members, 306 being the total number of com- 
municants reported to Presbytery in 1830. 

From July, 1830, until December, the church 
seems to have depended for service upon various 
ministers, when the Rev. Wm. James, a brilliant 
but somewhat eccentric preacher, became its 
«Stated Supply,” declining, however, in 1832, the 
call to become the pastor, and ceasing to preach 
in the spring of the same year, for the Rev. James 
W. Henry appears to have supplied the church in 
April and May. 

The day of rapid changes and shifting pastorates 
‘was soon to end, for the pulpit having been supplied 
by the Rev. Jonathan ‘Trumbull Backus, May 27, 
1832, a call was extended to him, and on the 6th of 
December following he was ordained and installed 
over the church, remaining its pastor until the 18th 
of June, 1873. During all this long pastorate, 
under the blessing of God, the church steadily 
grew and strengthened ; old differences died out ; 
larger ideas of the privilege of Christian benevolence 
obtained ; more efficient methods of work were 
adopted, and the usefulness of the church greatly 
increased. During his ministry -Dr. .Backus re- 

ceived over 1,000 persons to the communion of 
the church and a new era of benevolence entered 
upon, the aggregate of the reported benevolence 
during this period being over $160,000. The 
church edifice was enlarged in 1834, and again in 
1859; and the old ‘‘Session House” in 1843 
gave way to the chapel, to which was added in 1857 
the session room. This church was rebuilt and 
enlarged in 1884, and is a unique, beautiful, com- 
modious and convenient structure. During this 
century more than 60 of its members have entered 
the Christian ministry. 

The Rev. Timothy G. Darling, the ‘present 
pastor, succeeded Rev. Dr. Backus, June 18, 
1873. For three years he had been assistant 
pastor of the First Presbyterian Church, Baltimore, 
Md. He was born at Nassau, N. P., Bahamas, 
October 5, 1842; graduated from Williams Col- 
lege in 1864; Union Theological Seminary in 
1869; and was Instructor of Metaphysics from 

77 to 1880, in Union College. There has been 
a continuance of prosperity in the church under 
his pastorate. 

THE METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH. 

A little more than a hundred years ago an 
officer in the British army, listening to Mr. Wesley, 
in Bristol, England, was led to embrace Christ as 
his Saviour. Soon after he identified himself with 
the Methodists and became a co-laborer with Mr. 
Wesley, who licensed him as a local preacher. 

Not long after, Captain Thomas Webb was sent 
from England to New York State on military duty 
and stationed at Albany, where he continued to 
preach Christ to his fellow soldiers and to all whom 
he could gain access. 

About the beginning of the year 1767 he visited 
this city, and was probably the first Methodist 
preacher who came here. In a building standing, 
at that time, on the east side of Church street, near 
Union, used for bolting flour, this soldier of the 
cross preached the word with considerable success. 
It was strange and novel to see a military officer, 
arrayed in the habiliments of his office, with his 
sword by his side or lying on the table before him, 
assuming the functions of the sacred office. Many 
went to hear him out of mere curiosity. Some 
opened their hearts to the Saviour and were made 
happy in his love. Among the first converts were 
Nicholas Van Patten, Giles Brower, Rachael Bar- 
hydt, and the wife of Giles Van Vorst; also a 
colored man and woman who were slaves. The 
first converts were accustomed to meet together 
after the departure of Webb tor religious services, 
but were much opposed by those who could not 
appreciate their feelings and were unaquainted with 
their religious enjoyments. Because of their 
peculiarly deep piety and zealous devotion they 
were called, in derision, ‘‘ New Lights.” 

The second Methodist preacher, as far as we 
can learn, wasthe famous George Whitfield, in the 
year 1770, when he was making his last tour in 
America. Enthusiastic crowds, composed of all 
grades and conditions of society, flocked to hear 
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him, but we have no positive knowledge as to the 
general effects of his preaching here. 

Benjamin Akin was the first local preacher resid- 
ing here. We began to preach in January, 1807, 
in the house of Richard Clute, on Green street, 
and quite a number were soon converted, who were 
really the founders of the Methodist Society here. 

The conference year ending in May, 1807, 
Andrew McKean, the preacher in charge of the 
Albany Circuit, occasionally visited this little band, 

and organized the same year the first Methodist 
Episcopal church in Schenectady. At the meet- 
ing of the conference in 1807 . Schenectady Circuit 
was formed, and Samuel Howe appointed to preact 
once in four weeks, Services were continued in 
Richard Clute’s dwelling until autumn, when they 
were removed to a small house in Liberty strec L. 

where they were continued during the winter and 
following spring, quite a number being added to 
the church. 

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH. 

In the spring of 1808 Seth Crowell was ap- 
pointed to this place and preached in a building 
on State street, kindly furnished by its owner, 
Dorsey Joyce. Under his preaching the little flock 
‘were edified and encouraged.” In the following 
year two preachers were appointed to the Schenec- 
tady Circuit, which embraced the surrounding 
country, viz.: Truman Bishop and Datus En- 
sign. During this year a house of worship was 
erected and dedicated, and, though a rude struc- 
ture, was used by the society for twenty-six years. 
It was situated on the northeast corner of Liberty 
and Canal streets, where the Canal now runs. As 
soon as inclosed, and before the walls were put on, 
and when the seats consisted merely of loose 
boards placed on blocks, it was occupied, and it 
remained in this condition for several years, when 
it was completed and rendered quite commodious. 
It was afterward removed to the northwest, to 
make way for the canal, and placed with its front 
on Union street, remaining here until this lot was 
needed for the railroad. 

In 1$1o the preachers appointed to this circuit 
were Isaac B, Smith and Hugh Armstrong. Mr. 
Armstrong was soon removed to another field, and 
Cyprian . Gridley was sent to take his place. 
The church flourished much under the labors of 
these two devout and godly men. They were suc- 
ceeded in 1811 by Henry Stead and Samuel Mer- 

win, the former a practical, animated and usefui 
preacher, the latter one of the able and efficient 
men of his times. Mr. Stead was returned the 
next year with John Finnegan, a sociable, agree- 
able but eccentric man, as his associate. 

Smith Arnold and John B. Matthias were ap- 
pointed,;in 1813.. They were said. to be, like 
Stephen, ‘‘full of faith and the Holy Ghost.” 
They were followed the next spring by John Kline 
and Samuel Eighmey, men zealous and earnest in 
their Master’s work. In 1815 three preachers were 
appointed to this circuit, E. P. Jacobs, Eli Bart- 
lett and James Young. It is said that B. English 
preached here also about this time. 

Thus far in its history the society appears to 
have been quite feeble, and made great exertions 
to maintain its existence. The men who served it 
endured great privations and hardships, ‘‘count- 
ing not their lives dear unto themselves,” that 
they might win souls to Christ and nurture the 
flock to which they were appointed overseers. 

In 1816 the society ceas2d to be connected with 
the circuit and became a station, under the pas- 
toral charge of Laban Clark. The number ol 
members at this time was about fifty. Mr. Clark 
is said to have been a man of gentlemanly bearing, 

courteous, affable, kind, and of a contemplative, 
serene and tranquil mind, and was highly es- 
teemed by all classes of citizens as a man 
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and as a preacher. Under his administration 
Methodism arose in influence, and attained a 
much higher position than at any previous time. 
Two years afterward he was succeeded by William 
Thatcher, His two years’ ministry marked an im- 
portant era in the history of the church. <A 
powerful revival during his first winter extended its 
influence throughout the whole community, and 
added much material and spiritual strength to the 
church, ‘The successor of Mr. Thatcher was Sam- 
uel Luckey, afterward Dr. Luckey, who was pas- 
tor in Rochester in 1860. He commenced his 
labors here in 1820, and remained two years. 
Mr. Luckey was esteemed by all who knew him, 
and his influence gave special character to the 
church. He was succeeded by James M. Smith. 
Mr. Smith excelled as a doctrinal preacher, and his 
clear and skillful presentation of what the Metho- 
dists really believed, overcame much of the oppo- 
sition heretofore shown by those who considered 
their teachings unscriptural. The church pros- 
pered under his ministry. 

In the year 1824 Daniel Brayton was appointed 
to this charge, an excellent man and a good 
preacher. During his ministry the church suffered 
somewhat from adverse influences, but the band 
of believers were not disheartened. They trusted 
in God, pressed forward, and soon rejoiced in re- 
turning prosperity. 

George Coles assumed the pastoral care in 1826. 
He afterward became editor-in-chief of the Chr7s- 
tian Advocate and Journal, Mr. Coles was a 
preacher of ability and attractiveness, It is related 
that at one of his meetings, seeing one of his 
brothers in the congregation locked in uncon- 
scious slumbers, he suddenly paused in his dis- 

course and cried out, ‘‘ Brother G.! wake up, wake 
up! I have something important for you to hear.” 
Brother G.’s slumbers were effectually broken for 
that occasion, and this incident made an impres- 
sion on his mind not easily obliterated. At the 
next prayer meeting he seemed to have a vivid 

‘recollection of it, and in his prayer he prayed fer- 
vently that the Lord would baptize the preacher 
and help him to preach so that his hearers would 
not go to sleep, to which prayer the preacher re- 
sponded with a loud amen, he, doubtless, feeling 

that it would require a supernatural influence to 
keep some hearers awake. 

Next in order came Buel Goodsell, who was ap- 
pointed in 1828. His influence was most salutary, 
effecting a very essential improvement in the char- 
acter of the charge. He did much to modify the 
extravagance which characterized the religious ex- 
ercises of some of its members; and he brought about 
a beneficial change in this regard, although he was 
violently opposed and accused of want of piety on 
his part. 

Mr. Goodsell was succeeded by Coles Carpenter. 
Dr. Luckey said of him: ‘‘ He was one of the most 
truly eloquent men I ever heard.” The church 
was blessed under his faithful and eloquent ministry 
for two years, and he had the confidence and esteem 
of the community generally. He was followed by 
Salmon Stebbins in 1832. The prevalence of the 

| 
| 
| 
1 

| 
| 
| 

cholera spread general gloom over the city this 
year. This turned the attention of many to the 
concerns of religion, and a goodly number were 
converted and united with the church, 

In 1833 James B. Houghtailing entered upon 
this field of pastoral labor, and remained two 
years. During this time the old church and lot were 
sold, arrangements made for building the edifice on 
Liberty street—now used for the Catholic Church 

and the foundation laid with appropriate ceremo- 
nies. The superstructure was completed under 
the pastorate of Truman Seymour, who commenced 
his ministry in 1835. The dedication took place 
the next spring, Rev. John Kennedy, D.D., of 
New York, preaching the sermon. 

This same year the society was favored with the 
services of Noah Levings, the odor of whose name 
is like ointment poured forth, The church mem- 
bership at this time was one hundred and _ninety- 
five, and over one hundred were added during his 
two years labor, Union College conferred upon 
him the degree of Doctor of Divinity. He was 
followed in 1838 by Epharim Goss, whose labors 
were attended by an extensive revival. Stephen 
Remington was the next pastor, for two years, and 
was succeeded by John Harwood, a mighty man in 
prayer. 

The next pastor was Andrew Witherspoon, after- 
ward Dr. Witherspoon, an able minister, who built 
up the church insound doctrine and piety. James 
Rawson was appointed in 1845. A goodly num- 
ber were converted during the ministry of this re- 
fined and cultured preacher. His administration 
was followed by that of John Frazer, for two years, 

when Allen Steel became the incumbent, a popular 
preacher who drew large congregations. In the 
spring of 1850, Barnes M. Hall was appointed 
preacher. He was a strong preacher, of dignified 
bearing, and commanded universal respect. About 
seventy were added to the membership during his 
two years’ connection with the church. In 1852 
the pastoral oversight was given to Henry L. Starks, 
a faithful preacher and pastor, who was followed in 
1854 by Merritt Bates, during whose term the 
church edifice was considerably repaired. In the 
spring of 1856, J. K. Cheesman was transferred 
from the Genesee Conference and appointed to 
this charge. He succeeded in removing the heavy 
debt which had greatly embarrassed the church for 
many years, and received into the church more than 
a hundred probationers. He was succeeded by 
Samuel McKean, son of Andrew McKean, the 
preacher in charge of the Albany Circuit, in 1807. 
In the spring of 1860 Henry L. Starks was reap- 
pointed to the pastorate, as was also J. K. Chees- 
man in 1862. In1864 Andrew J. Jutkins assumed 

the pastorate, remaining three years, the ministerial 
term being extended one year. His ministry 
largely increased the permanent congregations, and 
presented to the society the necessity of building 
a larger edifice. Mr. Jutkins succeeded in raising 
subscriptions to the amount of $8,000 for this pur- 
pose. During his term the pastor’s salary was 
raised from $1,000 to $1,200. Frederick Widmer, 
appointed in 1867, maintained all the interests of 
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the church, and elevated the cause of Methodism. 
Rev. Joel Eaton was appointed in 186g, and _re- 
mained three years, and was very efficient in aiding 
the church building enterprise. The site had been 
purchased on the corner of State and Lafayette 
streets for $6,000. The foundation of the build- 
ing was laid in the summer of 1870,and the corner- 
stone in June, 1871, the Rev. Samuel Mere- 
dith, Presiding Elder of the Albany District, deliv- 
ering the address, Rev. Dr. Backus, of the Presby- 
tery Church, offering the prayer. The church walls 
were erected and the buildtng enclosed during this 
year. The chapel was completed, dedicated and 
occupied for public services in December, 1872. 
Daniel W. Gates succeeded in the pastorate. During 
his term the old church edifice was sold to the St. 
John’s Catholic Church for $10,000, the old bell 
being reserved, and the main edifice of the new 
church finished and dedicated in March, 1874. 
The Rey. Ira G. Bidwell, D.D., of Boston, Mass., 
preached the sermon, and the Rev. B. I. Ives, 
of Auburn, N. Y., managed the finances. The 
church, with its furnishings, cost about $85,000, and 
the remaining debt of $30,000 was fully pledged 
on this occasion. 

George J. Brown was, by request, appointed 
pastor in 1875, and sustained a successful and af- 
fectionate ministry for two years. He was succeeded 
by William J. Heath, for three years. All the in- 
terests of the church were maintained, and a large 
number of valuable members added. William H. 
Hughes followed him with wise and successful 
management, especially with respect to finances. 
He was a good and able preacher, and affectionate 
and zealous in the conduct of society meetings, 
and faithfully served all the interests of the church, 
one hundred and fifty probationers uniting during 
his three years’ incumbency. 

The present incumbent, George A. Barrett, as- 
sumed the pastorate in 1883, and has well and 
faithfully sustained all the responsible duties of the 
church. 

The present full membership is 620, and 30 pro- 
bationers. 

THE FIRST BAPTIST CHURCH. 

Fifty years ago, when the population of the city of 
Schenectady was about 4,000, the religious wants 
of the people wereadministered to by four churches 
=+the First Reformed Dutch, St. George’s Episco- 
pal, the First Presbyterian and the Methodist. 

Some time about the beginning of October, 1821, 
a number of Baptist brethren residing in the com- 
munity agreed to meet on Wednesday evenings 
for the purpose of prayer and Christian conference. 
In the beginning of 1822 they were encouraged to 
institute Sabbath-day meetings. Soon after they 
began to hope that a church might be established 
here, and ata meeting held the gth of October, 
1822, a paper was drawn up stating that it was the 
belief of the subscribers that a Baptist church here 
would be profitable to Zion, and expressive of their 
wishes to be constituted into a church. At a mcet- 
ing held November Sth, it was voted that a council 

be called to organize a church. The council met 
November 21, 1822, the following churches being 
represented by their delegates: Churches at Clifton 
Park, Waterford, Burnt Hills, Florida, Duanes- 
burgh, First of Albany and the Colored Church. 

The following ministers took part: Abijah Peck, 

John Lamb, Lewis Leonard, Mr. Paul, Joseph 
Cornell, J. Olmstead, Mr. St. John and Fegenia 
Kineade, afterward the distinguished missionary. 

The council unanimously advised the brethren to 
organize a church, which was done, and it was duly 
recognized by the council as the First Baptist 
Church, Schenectady, N. Y. The sermon was 
preached by Rev. Mr. St. John. Rev. Joseph Cornell 
made the prayer and gave the right hand of fellow- 
ship to the church. ‘Twelve brethren and twenty- 
four sisters comprised the thirty-six originalmembers, 
principally from the Baptist Church in Clifton Park. 
Meetings were held for some time in private houses, 
afterward in a building on the southeast corner of 
Church and State streets, also in a school building 
on Church one door north of State street, and in 
the Court House in the building now occupied by 
Union School, where they continued until the base- 
ment of the church edifice was ready for use. ‘The 
church, though for some time without a_ pastor, 
grew considerably, for in June, 1823, it reported to 
the Shaftsbury Association forty-five members. In 
August of this year, Rev. Nathan N. Whitney, a 
pastor of a Dutch Church in this vicinity, having 
been led by prayerful study to embrace Baptist 
views, offered himself to the church for member- 
ship and was baptized by Elder Peck, of Clifton 
Park, in the presence of many members of his 
former charge. Invited to take the oversight of 
the church, he was ordained as its pastor October 
22, 1823. This year Lewis Cheeseman was licensed 
to preach the gospel by the church. On the 17th 
of April, 1824, the church secured a lot for a 
‘‘burying ground.” The records this year report 
a membership of seventy-one. Thissame year the 
Sunday-school was organized. In 1825 the Rev. 
John Cooper was called to the pastorate at a salary 
of $150; the lot where the old church stood in 
Center street was purchased for S150, and_ the 
foundation of the edifice laid in the fall, though the 
building was not occupied by the society until 1528. 
The following December, Rev. Richmond Taggart 
was called and entered upon his pastorate at the 
beginning of 1830, and continued until May, 1531, 
when, because of the inability of the church to 
support him, he resigned. At this time the church 
was much discouraged, because of their inability 
to provide for the payment of a pressing debt upon 
the ‘‘ Meeting House,” and were also unable to 
provide for preaching. Abram D. Gillette supplied 

the pulpit for three months during the summer, and 

was ordained as its pastor September 28th, and the 
church entered upon a season of prosperity that 
continued during the ministry of this esteemed 

brother. In 1832 the church was dismissed from 
the Shaftsbury Association and united with the 
Hudson River Association. This same year side 

galleries were put in the ‘“‘ Meeting House,” and in 
| 1834 it was enlarged to double its former capacity, 
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seven young men were in various colleges prepar- 
ing for the ministry, and its membership reached 
Bde. 

On the 20th of May, 1835, Rev. J. M. Graves 
was called to the pastorate, and resigned, after 
some difficulty, in 1836. The debt on the church 
was $2,400. In October, 1836, Rev. Philander D. 
Gillette commenced his labors as pastor. The 
church was blessed with a revival, which added 42 
to its membership. Elder Gillette closed his 
labors in March, 1838. 

While the church was without a pastor, there 
occurred one of the most powerful revivals of re- 
ligion with which Schenectady was ever favored. 
Elder Jacob Knapp commenced holding protracted 
meetings about the rst of June, 1835, which con- 

tinued far into the summer. He preached _ his 
first sermon in the Baptist Church, which was soon 
found to be too small, and on invitation of the 
Presbyterians the services were afterward held in 
their house of worship. So great did the religious 
interest become, that stores were closed and the 
citizens generally attended the meetings. The 
weather being warm in the evening, the voice of 
prayer was heard from the dwellings of the people 
throughout all parts of the city. This church being 
without a pastor, the larger part of the converts 
joined the other churches. Rev. Dr. Backus, 
then pastor of the First Presbyterian Church, says 
of this revival: ‘‘Elder Knapp’s preaching was 
apparently very effective in awakening the people 
to serious thoughts. * * * * It was a season 
of blessing, and the labor of the evangelist is held oO 

in grateful remembrance.” In October the Rev. 
Conant Sawyer began his pastorate, and remained 
until July, 1840. During this period the church 
enjoyed great prosperity, the membership reaching 
300. 

In June, 1840, nine brethren and twenty-two 
sisters were dismissed, to constitute a new church 
in the village of Scotia. The church was without 
a pastor for some little time, when Mr. Leroy was 
called and ordained as pastor, December 1, 1841. 
In 1840 a powerful revival of religion was enjoyed, 
the pastor being assisted by Elder Kingsley. 

The Rev. Wm. Arthur (father of President 
Arthur) was called August 4, 1844, and remained 
until September, 1846, notwithstanding the church 
at this time, by the removal of some of its wealthier 
members, was feeling heavily the burden of its in- 
debtedness, and was hardly able to give a pastor an 
adequate support. 

At the beginning of the year 1847 the present 
incumbent, Rev. Horace G. Day, accepted the 
duties of the pastorate. The church was then en- 
vironed with many difficulties. His ordination 
took place on the 25th of May. At this time the 
debts of the church exceeded the value of its entire 
property. ‘Their meeting-house was undesirably 
located, because of its proximity to the railroad. 
There was a long-pending litigation with the rail- 
road for damages to the church property from the 
disturbance of religious services by the ringing of 
bells and the blowing of steam whistles on the 
Sabbath. In 1849 the membership was reduced | 

to 163 by removals and excisions. From this 
time began to dawn a brighter condition. In 
1848 the house of worship in Center street was dis- 
posed of, and the meetings were held in the Young 
Men's Association Hall in the Van Horn building, 
where they continued within a few months of the 
completion of the Lecture Room of the present 
church edifice. In the meantime meetings were 
held in private houses and also in the old 
Cameronian Church building in Center street, now 
occupied by Carley Brothersas a flourand feed store. 
Such was the burden of indebtedness at this time 
that some favored disbanding the church and re- 
organizing as anew society as the readiest way of 
freeing themselves from debt, but the majority re- 
fused to repudiate. The claims against the so- 
ciety were finally settled in an honorable manner, 
through the liberality of creditors and individual 
citizens, and the church proceeded to effect meas- 
ures for the building of a house of worship. The 
Lecture Room was formally opened January 23, 
1883, the pastor preaching the opening sermon, 
and Rev. Dr. Hickok, of Union College, preaching 
in the afternoon. From this time forward the 
church grew steadily for some years. For the first 
time in many years, at the close of 1855 the 
church was out of debt and money in its treas- 
ury. The main church edifice was finished in 
1856, and dedicated the same year, President 
Nott, of Union College, making the dedicatory 
prayer. The cost of the edifice and lot was about 
$12,000. 

With the year 1858 commenced one of the most 
powerful revivals with which the church has been 
favored. Special revival services were held until 
the 23d of April, and the revival continued in con- 
nection with the regular services of the church far 
into the summer, adding to the membership of 
the church 127. Among the converts were about 
40 young men. The Rev. David Heagle and the 
Rey. Norman Fox, Jr., both of them at that time 
licentiates, were the efficient helpers of the pastor. 
The baptistry was put into the church this year, 
and used for the first 'time March 7th. Inthe sum- 
mer of 1870-the house of worship was thoroughly 
repaired, frescoed and refurnished, at a cost of 
about $4,000. 

During six weeks, services were held in Union 
Hall. Revivals have been characteristic of this 
church, and it has been signally honored in 
being permitted to license many candidates for the 
ministry who have been successful preachers of the 
Gospel. Among them we mention Rev. Geo. W. 
Eaton, late President of Madison University; 
Emerson Andrews, the evangelist; S. B. Willis, 

Alanson Baley, J. S. Webber, D. D. Gregory, H. 
F. Cochrane, David Heagle, Everett R. Sawyer. 
In 1856 the church ordained Henry L. Simpson, a 
colored brother, who was said to be the first of his 
race to take a full course of study at Madison 
University. In 1866 it ordained Abril Parmater 
to serve as chaplain in the army. The total num- 
ber of persons received into the church is 1,048 by 
baptism and 562 by letters, The present mem- 
bership is 297, 
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108 HISTORY OF THE “COUNTY OF ) SCHENECTADY. 

THE SECOND REFORMED DUTCH 
CHURCH. 

The Second Reformed Church was organized in 
October, 1851. The importance and necessity of 
a Second Reformed Dutch Church had been felt and 
discussed by members of the First Church for sey- 
eral years prior to 1851. At one time a subscrip- 
tion was started and $4,c00 was subscribed to start 

the enterprise, but nothing was done. At a meet- 
ing of the consistory of the Reformed Dutch Church 
held in December, 1850, it was resolved to call a 
meeting of the great consistory to consider the pro- 
priety of organizing a new Reformed Dutch Church 
in the city. Two meetings of the great consistory 
were held and the subject of a new church thor- 
oughly discussed, and with only one dissenting 

voice it was 
“« Resolved, That a Second Reformed Dutch 

Church in this city is both expedient and necessary.” 
A committee was appointed to raise $500 to 

make the experiment. Though nothing was im- 
mediately accomplished, the idea was not abandoned, 

andin July, 1851, itwas decided to call a public 
meeting of all those favorable to the object. The 
meeting was held in the lecture room of the First 
Reformed Dutch Church; a large number were pres- 
ent. A communication from Rey. Wm. J. R. Tay- 
lor, pastor of the First Church, was read, in favor of 
the project, and outlining a plan. It was made the 
basis of action. In the communication referred to, 
the Rev. Taylor says: ‘‘The action of the great 
consistory last winter has settled the question of the 
expediency and necessity of the new Reformed 
Dutch Church. This isa point gained.” ‘‘ What 
creates the necessity?” ‘‘ The want of room in the 
churches for the people of the city.” ‘‘ There are 300 
families in First Reformed Dutch Church and only 
150 pews; many of these are occupied by two fami- 
lies and at great inconvenience. We have lost val- 
uable families on this account.” Further it says: 
«‘Something must be done. Begin a prayer meet- 
ing and a Sabbath-school immediately. Arrange 
fora temporary place of worship. Get the pastor 
on the ground and zo to work as soon as possible. ” 
After the reading of the pastor's letter, measures 
were adopted to carry out his ideas. <A prayer 
meeting was held, a Sabbath-school organized in 
the public school-house on White street. At the 
meeting of Classis in September a petition was pre- 
sented, signed by twenty-nine heads of families, ask- 
ing for the organization of the new church. The 
request was granted, arrangements made for the or- 
ganization, supplies for the pulpit arranged until 
next meeting of the Classis in April. 

The first consistory was elected October 30, 1851, 
and the church organized with 14 members, 11 

from the First Reformed Dutch Church, 2 from the 
Reformed Dutch Church of Cohoes, and one from 
the Presbyterian Church of Schenectady. On the 
16th of November, 1851, the services of organiza- 
tion were held in the First Reformed Dutch Church. 
The sermon was preached by the Rev. Wm. J. R. 
Taylor, pastor of the church. An address to the 
new church was delivered by Rev. Goyne Talmage, 

| of Niskayuna. November 23, 1851, the first sery- 
ice was held in the old Cameronian church on 

Center street. Rev. N. D. Williamson, of Scotia. 
officiated. 

November 16, 1852, Rev. I. G. Durvea was 
installed pastor of the church. In 1854 the lot; 
the church was purchased, and immediately t)). 
work of raising funds to build a church was becun. 
July 4, 1855, the corner-stone of the present 
church was laid; in September, 1856, it was com- 

pleted. The church prospered greatly under Mr. 
Duryea’s pastorate until the spring of 1858, when 
his health failed and he took a brief vacation. the 

church agreeing to supply the pulpitin his absence. 
The Rev. Artemus Dean was engaged as a supyily. 
Many of the members preferred his preaching to that 
of Mr. Duryea, and began to organize a larve fil- 
lowing favorable to the dismission of the pastor and 
the calling of Mr. Dean. Mr. Duryea returned in 
August. A majority of the consistory favored his 
resignation. He was prevailed upon to. offer 
it, which, after much ill feeling in the congregation, 
was accepted. ‘Then an effort was made to settle 
Mr. Dean as pastor; this was opposed by some 
and Classis rejected the call. The Dean party, 
having a majority in the consistory and_ possession 
of the church, finally declared themselves independ- 
ent of Classis, and proceeded to install Mr. Dean 
and change the organization to a Congregational 
church. ‘This was done in 1859. 

Those who remained loyal to the Reformed Dutch 
Church began a suit for possession of the church. 
The case was tried before the late Judge Ira Har- 
ris, of Albany, as referee; the late Judge Paize 
counsel for the loyal party, and the late William 
A. Beach counsel for the Dean party. The case 
was not concluded until September, 1861, when 
Judge Harris decided that the Dean party had no 
right to the church, but must yield the property 
up to the loyal party. 

In July, 1862, Rev. A. DuBois, D. D., was set- 
tled as pastor. In 1866 the large debt against the 
church was paid off. In 1868 the chapel was 
erected. Rey. DuBois resigned in September, 1569. 
February, 1870, Rev. Wm. H. Phraner was settled 
as pastor. The membership under Mr. DuBois 
had increased from 60 to 113. Under Mr. Phraner s 
care the membership increased to 200. Mr. Phra- 
ners health failed in 1870, and he resigned the 
pastorate. 

In the fall of 1875 the church made a call of Rev. 
H. H. Northrop. The Classis refused to accept 
Mr. Northrop. A large portion of the c mngresa- 
tion, who were in favor of Mr. Northrop, left the 
church on account:of the action of Classis. ‘The 
church was badly broken up, but soon rallied again, 
so as to continue the Sabbath-school and ordinary 
church services. In June, 1876, Rev. J. N. Croc ker 

was called,and served the church faithfully until May. 

1878, although he was never installed. The church 
prospered greatly under his care. In September, 
1878, Rev. E. C. Lawrence was installed as pastor. 
He resigned September 1, 1880. Rev. Peter fr. 
Kipp, the present pastor, was settled in April, 1554- 

The church has greatly prospered under his pas- 
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torate, the membership at present being 290. The 
church is centrally located ; has a good, convenient 
lecture room adjoining ; a good house for a par- 
sonage, the gift of the late Rev. A. J. Swits, 
within a few rods of the church. Its success has 
proved the wisdom and foresight of the Rev. Wm. J. 
R. Taylor and the men of the First Reformed Dutch 
Church, who so earnestly labored to establish the 
second church of the denomination in this ancient 
city. 

P. E. Kipp was born in Paterson, N. J., in 1847, 
and graduated from the New York University in 
1867, and New Brunswick Theological Seminary 
in 1870. He was located in Fishkill from 1870 
to 1874; Brooklyn, 1876 to 1880; and became 
pastor of the Second Reformed Dutch Church, 
Schenectady, in 1881. 

CHRIST ‘CHURCH: 

This church was the outgrowth of a Sunday- 
school Mission, started by a few Christian ladies of 
St. George's Episcopal Church about 1865. 

It was first incorporated as Christ Church, Sep- 
tember 23, 1867. The corner-stone of a wooden 
edifice, much smaller than the present building, 
was laid during this year by Rev. Dr. Payne, rector 
of St. George's, assisted by Rt. Rev. D. Randell, 
Bishop of Colorado. This church was first opened 
for services March 1, 1868. ‘The first rector was 
Rev. F. C. Wainright, who remained till the year 
1871, when he was succeeded, April 1 of that year, 
by Rev. Lucius N. Voigt. 

During Mr. Voigt’s pastorate the vestry room 
was enlarged 11 by 8 feet, and the number of 
communicants increased from 18 to gt. The 
value of the church property was estimated at 
$5,000. 

Mr. Voigt resigned June 1, 1874, and for one 
year from this date the church was without a nm gu- 
lar rector. Dr. Lowell, of Union College, officiated 
during this interval. Rev. John M. Rogers was 
elected to the vacant rectorship June 1, 1875 
Under his administration the church began to 
flourish, and in 1876 the building was enlarged to 
its present size. ‘The vestry room was increased to 
double its former seating capacity ; a new chancel, 
12 by 14 feet, was built, a steeple erected, the 
grounds improved, and the entire church decorated 
and improved, at a cost of nearly $1,800. 

Mr. Rogers resigned August 10, 1880, and was 
succeeded a few months later by Rev, J. Lewis 
Parks, who continued as rector till his resignation 
in June, 1883. 

The present rector, Rev. Eugene L. Toy, suc- 
ceeded Mr. Parks in August, 1883. Under Mr. 
Toy’s ministrations the church has continued to 
increase in numbers and in influence. 

There are at present 151 communicants, an 
increase of 17 over preceding vear. ‘There is a 
Sunday-school connected with the church of 171 
pupils and 20 teachers. 

The size of the main body of the church is 22 
by 55 feet; the number of seats 180, furnishing 
seating capacity for about 500 persons. The value 

of the church property is estimated at $10,500, 
upon which there is a mortgage of $6,200. 

The present officers of the church are the fol- 
lowing: Wardens, James E. Curtis and David 
Guy ; Vestrymen, Samuel - Pe William N, 
Butler, H. C. Van Zandt, \ John K. Flwin, 
E. E. Kreigsman, aay an Craig, David O. 
Youlen and Prof. Sidney G. Ashmore. 

STs JOSEPHS: GERMANDR: C)"CHURCH. 

Rev. Father Theodore Noethen, from Albany, 

and other secular priests, visited the German 
Catholics of the city before any organization was 
made, and held services for them in St. John’s 
Church. On January 23, 1859, about 75 members 
met in Gottfried Blum’s marble shop and resolved 
to build a church, which shouid be called St. 
Peters Church. At the head of this movement 
stood Gottfried Blum and Navier Zeiser as presi- 
dents, Peter Baldus, Mathias Treis and Peter 
Selzinger as trustees, Franz Tele as secretary, 
Julius Meyers as treasurer. At another meeting, 
on the 6th of February, in Meyer's molder shop, 
Fonda street, Peter and Karl Baldus, Jacob Gar- 
ling and Jacob Stener were chosen collectors, to 
take up a house collection. February 2oth the 
large lot corner of State and Albany streets, where 
now the Arsenal stands, was purchased from Mr. 

Ramsay, for $2,000—s$100 paid down, the rest to 
be paid within five years. Quarrels and lack of 
money afterward made them lose this splendid 
location. After many fruitless attempts to get a 
church, the generous Bavarian, Joseph Harreker, 
bought on sheriff’s sale the old Cameronian frame 
church, on Center street, for $2,000, in his own 
name. To this was built a new sanctuary, for 
$300. This church, named after its founder and 
benefactor, St. Joseph’s Church, was dedicated the 
2gth of June, 1862, by the Rev. Alphonse Zceller, 
O. M. C., of Utica. The Franciscan Fathers, from 
Utica, as Revs. Leopold, Oderic, Alphonse, Pius 
and others, held regular services in the new church. 
Father Oderic bought the cemetery on East avenue 
for $300. Father Pius bought the small brick 
house on Franklin street, west of St. John’s Church, 
for $1,300, for theSisters of St. Francis, who taught 
the children ina frame school-house built north of 
the church. Afterthat, Fathers Leopold and Pius, 
who was the first residing pastor, bought the east 
corner lot of Albany and Lafayette streets, with 
brick house for parsonage, from John McEucroe, 
for $4,750. 

At the end of October, 1868, the Franciscan 
Fathers were called away, and Rev. Maurus 
Ramssauer, from Manlius ‘Station, near Syracuse, 
was made pastor. Soon afterward the Franciscan 
Sisters were succeeded by a secular teacher. The 
double house north of the church on Center street 
was bought for $3,500. The church incorporated 
April 16, 1869. At the end of April, 1876, Father 
Maurus resigned and went back to Manlius Station. 
His successor was Rev. J. Henry Cluevey, D. D., 
from Deerfield Corners, near Utica. ‘Through his 
energetic efforts the present beautiful church was 
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built. The corner-stone was laid Sunday after- | Kindler, Henry Kastendirck, Casper Jost, Franc 
noon, July 29, 1877, by Rev. Thomas Burke, of. 
St. Joseph’s, Albany, N. Y., with imposing cerc- 
monies ; the church was dedicated March 3, 1878, 
by Right Rev. Bishop Francis McNeirny, of Albany. 

Architect, M.,J. Cummings, of Troy, N.. Y.; 
builder, Jacob Van Zandt, of Schenectady, N. Y. 
Cost, without furnaces, organ and altars, $27,286. 

December 14, 1881, Bishop McNeirny conse- 
crated the new marble side altars. 

In August, 1882,the double lot, with house, west 

of the old cemetery was bought for $1,900, and 
added to the old insufficient burial place. 

December 8, 1883, Rev. J. Herman Wibbe, from 
St. Peter’s Church, Oswego, N. Y., succeeded Dr. 
Cluever, who took charge of St. Marys Help of 
Christians, in Albany, N. Y. 

In March, 1884, the new gothic high altar, built 
by Joseph Stoppelkamp, of St. Louis, Mo., for 
$1,200, without statues, was put up, and new 
stations, donated by some members of the parish, 
at a cost of $370, erected on the evening of Good 
Friday, the 11th of April, 1584. 

Sunday afternoon, October 19, 1884, Bishop 
McNeirny solemnly blessed three new bells, bought 
from Clinton H. Meneely, Troy, N. Y., for $1, 105.- 
72; the smallest, weighing 508 pounds, called 
“St. Jacobus,” donated by Mr. Jacob Garling ; 
the second, ‘‘Joseph Franciscus,” weighing 1,023 
pounds, donated by St. Joseph and St. Franciscus 
Aid Societies; the largest (1,993 pounds), ‘‘St. 
Maria,” donated by members of the parish. The 
bells were first swung on the eve of All Saints Day 
(October 31st). 

In the fall of 1884, the wooden annex of the 

Sisters’ house was torn down and a large brick 
school-house erected, connecting the old school- 
house with the Sisters’ house, and adding a new 
story to the latter, bringing the whole under one 
metal roof. The work was done by Mike Deckel- 
meyer for $3,647, without the steam boiler. The 
school is in charge of five Sisters of St. Joseph, and 
is attended by over 200 children. The congrega- 
tion has grown to over 400 families. With the 
church are connected five religious societies, with 
large memvership, and a social club of the young 
men of the parish, the ‘‘Schenectady Eintradit,” 
who meet twice a week in the basement of the 
school. 

GERMAN METHODIST CHURCH. 

This church was organized October 24, 1849, 
with the following members: August and Elizabeth 
Schweneker, Henry and Maria Strueme, Christian 
and Sophia Kasten, Frederick and Justine Danne- 
berg. 

The first church was erected on Jay street,on the 
site of the present Congregational Church, May, 
1850, at a cost of $1,500. 
The first pastor was I, I. Grau, under whose 

pastorage the church grew in membership and _ in- 
fluence. 

Following is a list of pastors in the order of 
their ministration over this church: I. I. Grau, A. 
Schwartz, Sebastian Mickel, I. I. Grau, Jacob 

G. Graty, Christian Blinn, John Sauter, Christian F 
Grimm, John C. Deininger, Casper Jost, Georze 

Abele, Paul Quattlander, Henry Kastendieck ani 
Erk. Ray. 

The present church on the corner of Union and 
Lafayette streets was erected in 1872. It is 53x 32 
feet, and has a seating capacity of Soo persons. 

This church is in a most prosperous and healthy 
condition, with a full membership of 388, and 6< 
probationers. The average congregation numbers 
between 500 and 600. The Sunday-school con- 
nected with this church numbers 400 children, with 
an average attendance of 300. 

The value of the church property, consisting ot 
the church edifice and a parsonage on Park place, 
is estimated at $38,000, against which there is a 
debt of but $6,000. 

THE, EAST AVENUE PRESBYTERIAN 
CHURCH. 

On Tuesday evening, October 25, 1866, the first 
prayer meeting of this society was held, Dr. Backus, 
of the First Church, presiding. About fifteen per- 
sons were in attendance. 

The meetings in the course of afew weeks be- 
came so largely attended, that the private house in 
which they were held was overcrowded. Accord- 
ingly the young men engaged in the work, with 
commendable enterprise rented a small dwelling 
in the vicinity and, having removed the partitions, 
fitted it up asa place or worship. This building was 
first used December 23, 1866, and from that date 

meetings were held there on Thursday and Sabbath 
evenings during the winter and following summer. 
A Sabbath-school was organized December 15th 
with five scholars. The second Sabbath it numi- 
bered twenty-one scholars and six teachers.  T'eb- 
ruary 3, 1867, an infant class was organized. The 
attendance upon the school and prayer meeting in- 
creased so greatly during the winter that the build- 
ing was again found too small for the accommoda- 
tion of those who came, and again the laborers 
recognized the finger of Providence pointing them 
forward. The idea of building a chapel was talked 
about, and funds were sought after and obtained, 
chiefly among the members of Dr. Backus’ congre- 
gation, and the work was commenced July 23, 1577. 
October 10th the chapel was finished, and was 
soon dedicated, with appropriate services; Rev. Dr. 
Backus, Rev. Dr. Hickok and Rev. John Clancy 
officiating. The work continued to prosper, and 
through the influence of the Sabbath-school and 
prayer meeting, a number of persons were con- 
verted and united with the city churches. ‘The 
Sunday-school, at present, is the largest and most 
efficient in the city. 

During the winter a Sabbath evening preaching 
service was kept up regularly. In the spring 
1869 those who had been interested in the work 
from the beginning thought that circumstances war- 
ranted them in asking for a separate organizauon. 
The proposition was accepted by the pastor and 
people of the First Church, to whose cordial sympa- 

thy and co-operation the success of the undertak- 
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CITY OF SCHENECTADY.—ECCLESIASTICAL SOCIETIES. 111 

ing had been largely due. Accordingly sixteen 
persons were dismissed from the mother church, 
April 1, 1869, to form the new society. ‘The fol- 
lowing Sabbath, April 4th, afier the sermon by Rey. 
Dr. Backus, from Heb. 13:17, the church was or- 
ganized. From this time the pulpit was regularly 
supplied, morning and eee by various minis- 
ters. The first stated supp ly was George Alexan- 
der, a licentiate of the U. P. Presbytery of Albany 
and a student of Princeton Seminary, who preached 
during the months of July and August. Ata meet- 
ing ae the congregation, August 4th, he was elected 

and called to the pastoral charge. Having accepted 
the call, he was ordained and installed January 20, 
1870, and dismissed by Presbytery in 1884. 

The church edifice is located on Upper State 
street. It is built of brick, with a Gothic roof, and 
has a seating capacity of 600, The present pastor, 
J. D. Paxton, has served since 1884. 

THE. EVANGELICAL CONGREGATIONAL 
CHURCH. 

The Evangelical Congregational Church, Sche- 
nectady, N. Y., was unanimously recognized bya 
council of pS ae churches and _ pastors, 
April 24, 1877, convened by invitation of the pas- 
tor, officers and members of the Free Evangelical 
Church, an independent religious organization that 
had been holding religious services in Union Hall 
for sixteen months previous, under the ministra- 
tions of Rev. Henry H. Northrop. 

The council was composed of the following pas- 
tors and delegates of these churches: Albany, 
Gloversville, Oswego, Syracuse, Middletown, Har- 
lem, Homer, N. Vee the Rev J. C. Holbrook, 
D. D., secretary of theN. Y. S. Home Missionary 
Society; Rev. James G. Cordell also Rev. H. G. 
Day, of the Baptist Church of Schenectady. 

The public services took place in the evening of 
the same day in Union Hall, when the Moderator, 
Rev. J. C. Holbrook, D. D., officially recognized 
the church, welcoming it to the fellowship of the 
Congregational churches. An address on the Princi- 
ples of Congregationalism was made by Rev. Jona- 
than Crane, of Middletown, N. Y. A sermon was 
preached by Rev. W. S. Smart, D. D., of Albany, 
and an address delivered by Rey. Samuel H. Vi irgin, 
pastor of Pilgrim Church, Harlem, N. Y. 

The church continued to hold its public services 
in Union Hall and prayer meetings in ee German 
M. E. Chapel, on Jay street. Rev. H. H. N orthrop 
continued with the church until March, 1879, when 
he was regularly dismissed by council. 

Rev. John H. Munsell was called to and accepted 
the pastorate in April, 1879. It soon became evi- 
dent that Union Hall was not a suitable place to 
hold Sabbath services, and the same fall they were 
removed to the chapel on Jay street, in which the 
prayer meetings were held. Large congregations 
were accustomed to attend the services in the pub- 
lichall, not more than half of which followed the 
church into the chapel to worship there. Soon 
after a revival of religion greatly blessed and en- 
couraged the church, largely increasing its mem- 
bership. The capacity of the chapel was soon 

found to be too small to accommodate those who 
desired to worship with the church, and in 
the spring of 1880 active measures were insti- 
tuted to secure a larger place of worship and a per- 
manent church home, and the lot and buildings 
comprising the chapel and the adjoining dwelling 
house—now the church parsonage—were  pur- 
chased and immediate measures taken to erect a 
suitable church edifice. After two years of patient 
toil, constant prayer, and unusual sacrifice, the 
church was permitted to dedicate its present beau- 
tiful edifice on Jay street, April 5, 18582, the Rev. 
Wm. M. Taylor, D. D., pastor of Broadway ‘Tab- 
ernacle, New York, preaching the sermon. 

The following year the adjoining chapel was 
erected. This church, with its accompaniments, 
is one of the most attractive and convenient church 
buildings in the city. 

The church has steadily grown, comprising now 
330 church members. Its Sunday-school numbers 
more than 300. 

EMANUEL BAPTIST CHURCH. 

This church was organized in 1881 by a num- 
ber of the former members of the First Baptist 
Church. At this time the members of the congre- 
gation had no church edifice, and used Union 
Hall in which to hold religious services. The first 
regular pastor was John C. Breaker, who became 
pastor April 10, 1882. In 1883 a lect on Nott 
terrace was purchased, and the present church 
edifice erected, at a cost of about $3,500. Mr. 
Breaker remained as pastor of this church until 
October, 1884, when he resigned his charge. The 
congregation remained without a regular supply 
until June 17, 1885, when the present pastor, 
George M. Muller, accepted the pastorate. This 
congregation is composed of about 130 members, 
and is in a healthy financial condition. 

JEWISH SYNAGOGUE. 

This congregation was organized in 1856. At 
this time the store a few doors from State street on 
Ferry street was purchased for $1,400, and is still 
used in which to conduct religious services. The 
officers of the Synagogue are president, vice-presi- 
dent, three trustees, treasurer and secretary. The 
first President was Alexander Susholz, who was 
succeeded by the present officer, Jonathan Susholz. 
The remaining officers are Jacob Henry, Vice-Pres- 
ident; Phieffer Levi, Treasurer; S. Susholz, Secre- 
tary; Henry Heilbronner, S. Sterns and L. Behr, 
Trustees. 

This congregation consists of 38 members, and 
is known by the corporate name Shara Schoma- 
jim. The present Rabbi is Rev. Rudolph Farber. 

oT: JOHN'S CHURCH. 

The first Roman Catholic congregation was or- 
ganized in this city in 1880 with less than 20 per- 
sons. At this time a small frame building near 
the Mohawk bridge on Washington avenue was 
neatly fitted up and used for church services. The 
congregation had no regular rector, but was occa- 
sionally attended by Rev. Charles Smith, of St. 
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Mary’s Church, Albany. The building on Wash- 
ington avenue continued to be used as a church 
until October 13, 1839, when the present com- 
modious edifice on Franklin street was conse- 
crated. Rev. John Kelly, who succeeded Rev. 

Charles Smith, was the first regular rector in- 
stalled over this church. He was succeeded in 
1838 by Rev. Patrick McCloskey. Then followed 
in succession Revs. Daniel Falvey, McGeough, M. 
E. Clark, and J. M. Scully, who was installed in 
1875. In 1873 the building formerly used by the 
Methodist congregation on Liberty street, adjoin- 
ing the rear of St. John’s Church, was purchased 
by the latter church, and has since been converted 
into a convent. 

The present rectory on Liberty street was built 
in 1876. 

The property of this church is centrally located, 
and one of the most valuable belonging to any re- 
ligious denomination in the city. <A few years 
ago a tract of land containing over twenty acres, 
on the upper end of State street, was purchased by 
this church, and is now used as a cemetery. The 
total number of persons connected with St. John’s 
Church will probably exceed 2,500. 

St. Joun’s Convent.—May 22, 1865, the build- 
ing Opposite to St. John’s Church, on Franklin 
street, was first opened as a convent, under the 
direct patronage of the church, and presided over 
by Mother Alphonsus and Sister Mary Montear- 
mel, who were reinforced the following months by 
Sisters Ann Michael and Mary Lucy. At the 
convent and the small school-house adjoining the 
church, the children of the congregation were 
taught the common English branches of study by 
the Mother Superior and Sisters. 

But the number of scholars so increased year by 
year, that in 1880 the old Methodist Church on 
Liberty street, purchased in 1873, was converted 
into a convent. ‘This large edifice has been most 
conveniently arranged for the purpose of a school 
and convent, and meets the needs of this rapidly 
growing congregation. At the new convent more 
than 460 scholars are ‘nstructed in the common 

English branches of study. Thisschool is supported 
entirely by the church, and is under the charge of 
Mother Superior Augustine, assisted by five Sisters. 

A private school for instruction in the higher 
branches of study is conducted at the convent, 
where French, music (vocal and instrumental), 
drawing, painting and embroidery are taught. This 
department of the school is attended by both 
Protestants and Catholics, and is supported by 
tuition fees. The instruction received at the con- 
vent is considered as most careful, thorough and 
complete, and ranks high in the educational in- 
terests of Schenectady. 

GERMAN LUTHERAN CHURCH. 

This church was organized in 1870. In 1872 
the present church edifice was purchased from the 
Congregational Church for $3,500, since which 
m:ny improvements have been made on the church 
property. The first pastor was G. H. Brandan. 

' 
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He was followed by Michael Wolf, Emil Schnejder 
and Henry Homrighaus. The present pastor is 
Louis Schultze. This congregation is composed 
of 95 members, and is in a prosperous and flour- 
ishing condition. 

PTE TEMPLE-GEMEINDE ”’)CHURGIL 

The German church on College street, called 
‘‘The Temple Gemeinde,” is a branch of the Ger- 
man Temple Society, organizedin Germany about 

1854, by Rev. Dr. C. Hoffman, which aims at the 

advancement of the work of Christ and final 
establishment of the kingdom of God on earth as 
itis in heaven. The only source of revelation to 

the members of the Society is exclusively the Bible. 
without ecclesiastical traditions and human deoc- 
trines, as far as they are in contradiction to the will 
of God as interpreted by the members of this 
Society. Concerning the Temple Gemeinde, 
will give an extract of its history : 

The congregation was organized in May, 1854, 
by the Rev. W. Wolf, and incorporated according 
to the law of the State of New York, under the 
long and inconvenient name, ‘‘ Third Evangelical 
Protestant Reformed Dutch Church.” At the end 
of the same year the present pastor, the Rev. W, 
F. Schwilk, took charge of the school and congre- 
gation, which increased remarkably in number. 
In 1856 they bought the so-called old Lancaster 
school and converted it into a chapel. A school- 
room was added in the rear of the building, and 
afterward used as a dwelling for the sexton and his 
family. As the little flock steadily increased, it was 
found necessary to erect a larger and more com- 
modious house of worship—the same which stands 
a few rods farther from the old one, toward Green 
street, and which was dedicated in the presence of 
a highly interested assembly on September 1, 1567. 

At the beginning of 1867, Mr. Schwilk started 
the first German newspaper in the city, Die Reichs 
Posaune, a religious, political and social semi- 
monthly, and continued it as editor and manager 
fully seven years, when he was obliged (on account 
of ill health) to suspend the paper. At the close 
of the year 1867 the congregation withdrew [rom 
the Classis of Schenectady, and declared itself, for 
various reasons, ecclesiastically free and inde- 
pendent of the General Synod of the Reformed 
Dutch Church; yet its officers and members 
retained their first legal name, and endeavored to 
make it a living name by being Protestants, not 
only by birth, but also by conviction. Thus they 
made themselves worthy of anew name. In the 
meantime they felt the necessity of changing 1t 
more and more, and recently, at a special meeting 

of the pastor, elders and deacons, they resolved 
unanimously to drop the old name altogether and 
adopt a new and better one—‘‘The Temple — 
which expresses plainly and distinctly its common 

faith. They authorized their pastor to take all the 

legal steps necessary to that effect. 
This name was legalized and took effect Decem- 

ber 25, 1884. The Temple Gemeinde is composed 

ot 200 members, with a Sunday-school numbenns 

we 
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CITY OF SCHENECTADY.—CHARITABLE INSTITUTIONS. 113 

80 scholars. The church property is valued at 
over $8,000, and is free of debt. Rev. W. F. 
Schwilk, who has been pastor of this church more 
than thirty years, is a highly educated and accom- 
plished gentleman, deeply interested in religious 
matters, and to his intelligent, conscientious work 
can be attributed the present prosperity of this 
church. 

CHARITABLE INSTITUTIONS. 

Tue Lapirs’ BENEVOLENT Society, an organiza- 
tion which has accomplished great good in this 
community, was established about 1513. 

In this society at this early date were many 
ladies of the first families of the city. In a book 
of minutes of this period appears the names of 
Mrs, James Duane, Mrs. Stebbins, Mrs. A. Yates, 
Mrs. Dr. Fonda, Mrs. Simon Groot, Mrs. Dr. 
Mynderse and Mrs. John Constable. In 1817 
thirty-five sick and distressed women and 128 
helpless children were assisted, necessitating the 
expenditure of more than $600. 

The primary objects of the society were to afford 
assistance to indigent women and_ children, 
although no cases of deserving charity were ne- 
glected. 

The officers consisted of a first and second di- 
rectress, treasurer, secretary, and aboard of mana- 
gers. The contribution of a certain sum to the 
funds of the society constituted the person so con- 
tributing a member, with equal privileges in man- 
aging the affairs. The board of managers appoint- 
ed a certain number of Jadies in each ward, in 
prescribed districts, who were expected not only 
to solicit funds, clothing or provisions for carrying 
on the work, but to make personal visits to the 
homes of all persons in these districts who might 
be in indigent circumstances, and report all cases 
of deserving charity to the board of managers, in 
which case the members of the board of managers 
were expected to afford relief In many cases 
sick women and children were removed from their 
wretched homes to suitable quarters in private 
houses, the society paying for their board. It was 
this branch of the good work which ultimately 
grew tosuch proportions that the need of a build- 
ing especially adapted to this purpose became a 
necessity. 

The aims and plan of work of this society have 
not undergone much change since it was organized, 
and it will not be necessary to go into much detail 
concerning the work accomplished. 

In 1864 this society was reorganized, and many 
of the members of that date are still active workers 
in this society. Among the members might be 
honorably mentioned the names of Mrs. Dr. Nott 
and Mrs. Jonas H. Crane, two of the oldest living 
members, who for more than a quarter of a century 
have been earnest workers in the cause of this 
society. Among others who are equally entitled to 
praise, both in the past and present, are the follow- 
ing ladies: Mrs. Anna Myers, Mrs. Mark Scher- 
win, Miss Rebecca Duane, Mrs. Dr. A. M. Vedder, 
Mrs. James Walker, Mrs. Judge Mitchel, Mrs. 

Maria Barhydt, Mrs. Charles Angle, Mrs. Theodore 
Brown, Mrs. Aaron Freeman, Mrs Elizabeth Wal- 
ters, Mrs. Elizabeth De Wigne, Mrs. John C. Fllis, 
Mrs. D. Cady Smith, Mrs. Richard Franchot, Mrs. 
Andrew McMullen. 

Home or THE FRrENDLEss.—The present com- 
fortable and commodious building on Green 
street, known as the Home of the Friendless, was 
the result of the labors of the Ladies’ Benevolent 
Society. 

In 1868 the Ladies’ Home of the Friendless So- 
ciety was organized, mainly composed of the 
members of the Benevolent Society. At this time, 
although without a dollar in the treasury, and trust- 
ing entirely upon the generosity of the citizens to 
aid them, the ladies decided to purchase the 
building, No. 35 Green street, now owned by the 
society. 

But legal difficulies confronted them, from the 
fact that they were not a corporate body. At this 
opportune time Dr. A. M. Vedder, Max Schwin, 
T. W. McCamus, Austin M. Ketchum, David 
Murray, Charles H. Mathews, Samuel W. Jack- 
son, D. Cady Smith, Andrew Truax, Horace G. 

Day and Lewis C. Barhydt, under the provisions 
of a legislative act of 1848 relative to the incorpora- 
tion of charitable institutions, associated them- 
selves together and became a corporate body, 
August 4, 1868, under the corporate name of 
the Home of the Friendless of the City of 
Schenectady. 

The following gentlemen were named as the 
first trustees: J. ‘Trumbull Backus, Charles H. 
Mathews, Alexander M. Vedder, D. Cady Smith, 
Andrew Truax, Horace G. Day and Lewis C. 
Barhydt. 

These trustees were given the entire charge 
and supervision of the funds, property and 
affairs of the association. They were at first 
divided into three classes, two who were elected 
for one year, two for two years and three for 
three years; but in 1881 the term of all the 
trustees was extended to three years, although the 
three classes remained the same, and the term of 
not more than three trustees expires during any 
one year. 

The trustees elect a president, secretary and a 
treasurer; the latter officer cannot be a trustee. 
At the present time an executive committee of 
three is appointed by the President from the list of 
trustees for one year, to whom is given the general 
charge of all funds, property and affairs of the 
society, to audit all bills and to invest funds. 
The trustees are elected by ballot the first Tues- 
day in September of each year. Every person 
who shall donate the sum of five dollars to the 
funds of the society, regardless of sex, is entitled 
to one vote, and an additional vote for every five 
dollars donated. 

The first trustees immediately purchased the 
dwelling, No. 35 Green street, of George G. Soley, 
for the sum of $3,000, paying about $2,000 in 
cash, raised by subscription; the balance remain- 
ing a mortgage upon the property. This property 
was thus given over to the management of the 
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114 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY ‘OF SCHENECTADY. 

Ladies’ Society of the Home of the Friendless, and 
was first opened September 9, 1868. 

The real management of the Home, the collec- 
tion of funds, and the care and supervision of the 

inmates, devolve solely upon the ladies of the 
society. The officers consist of first and second 
directresses, treasurer and secretary, an executive 
committee and a board of managers. The trustecs 
act as an advisory committee. The first officers 
were: Mrs. Urania Nott, First Directress; Mrs. 
Cordelia Crane, Second Directress; Mrs. Mary A. 
Myers, Secretary; Mrs. Anna Angle, Treasurer. 

The subscription fee of annual members is 
$5; of life members, $25; of life members and 
benefactors, $100. 

The entire internal charge of the Home is under 
the direct supervision of a matron, who is em- 
ployed -by the Board. This position has been 
most creditably filled by Mrs. Mary Perkins ever 
since the Home was established. 

Since the establishment of the Home, it has 
been used exclusively for the support of indigent 
sick or aged women. But it is the intention of 
the members, as soonas sufficient funds can be 
obtained, to so extend the facilities of the institu- 
tion as to be able to support a juvenile depart- 
ment, when children without homes, too young to 
provide for themselves, can be maintained. 

From the report of the secretary made at the 
end of the first year of the Home, we find that 
eight aged and infirm ladies had been the recipients 
of the comforts of this institution. The total 
receipts this year were $1,945.40, and total ex- 
penditures $1,327.85. 

In September, 1873, the present building ad- 
joining No. 35 Green street, used as the Home, 
was purchased of Mr. Frame for $5,000. 

In 1878, mainly through the efforts of the 
trustees, a debt of over $3,000 was liquidated by 
public subscription, Dr. Andrew Truax, who had 
been an enthusiastic friend of the Home since its 
organization, gave $1,000 of this sum. 

During late years, the Home, by the death of 
a number of its early friends and benefactors, 
has been the recipient of generous donations. 
Among the legacies thus bequeathed were $5,000 
from Dr. A. M. Vedder, $6,000 from Colon 
C. Clute, and $20,000 from Dr. Andrew Truax. 
In 1869 the True Blues, a civic organization 
in Schenectady, donated the sum of $1,000, the 
proceeds of a fair held for the purpose of aiding 
this institution. 

At the present time the Home is in a flourish- 
ing condition. Its property, valued as $10,000, is 
free from debt, and it receives the proceeds of 
$33,500 invested for its use. 

The work accomplished by this institution of 
charity has been of the most commendable nature. 
Its average yearly expenses have been about 
$1,200, while an average number of eight poor, 
enfeebled, deserving women have received the 
comforts of a Christian home. 

In 1883 an addition of a hospitable room was 
made to the Home at a cost of $700, which 
amount was raised by public subscription. 

| 

YOUNG MEN'S CHRISTIAN: ASSOCIATION. 

In the year 1858 the first Young Men’s Christian 
Association was organized in Schenectady. ‘The 

first officers of the Society were: Prof. John New- 
man, President ; George F. Bollis, Vice-President: 
Charles S. Vedder, Corresponding Secretary 
William F. Fox, Recording Secretary; and James 
J. Marlette, Treasurer. ‘The Board of Directors 
consisted of Joseph B. Graham, David Herron, 
Jr., David J. Vichenor, Charles N. Yates, A. Craig 
Palmer, Charles Brockmyer, Daniel A. Atwell, 
Samuel Lyon, William DeGraff, Rembrandt P. 
Wilkie and Abraham Van Vranken. The plan of 
work and object of the association, as defined by 
the constitution of this date, were similar to tha: 
followed by like associations throughout the State, 
and not materially different from the aims and pur- 
pose of the present association. The society 
secured rooms on the second floor of the Clute 
building ‘on State street, now used as a dental 
office by John F. Hull. 

Young Men's Christian Association Building. 

Here the members of the association labored for 
a number of years, with comparatively limited 
means and resources, for the beneficent objects ot 
the association. But either through lack of proper 
support, through imperfect organization, or the 
usual period of excitement during the late civil 
war, the work was abandoned some time in 1563 
and nothing was done to perfect a reorganization 
until 1867. During this year, by the exertion of a 
few of the public- -spirited citizens of Schenectady, 
renewed interest was awakened in the work of this 

kind of organization, as exhibited in parts of the 

State, and a new association was formed and a 

more perfect constitution adopted. The officers 

elected under the new organization were as follows: 
Nicholas Cain, President ; C. C. Brown and M. A. 
Vedder, Vice-Pr esidents ; E. A. Charlton, Corre- 
sponding Secretary; George O. Seaver, Recording 

Secretary ; John Brow n, Treasurer: - and L. Hoyt, 

Librarian. Directors: Andrew TT Veeder, J: acob 
Vrooman, Louis Feldman, Richard Farley, C. W. 
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Backus, “D:D: ‘C/ellér) John AY’ De Remer, 
Edward S. Sauter and E. W. Moore. At this 
period the association had rooms in Van Horne’s 
Hall, No. 151 State street. Here a free reading- 
room, furnished with the leading daily and weekly 
papers, magazines and various periodicals, was pro- 
vided. A library of over 300 volumes was also 
procured this year. 

In 1871 application was made to the Legisla- 
ture for a new charter and for the incorporation of 
the association. This was granted, and the follow- 
ing citizens of Schenectady were a board of 
trustees, to holdin trust the property of the associa- 
tion: J. Trumbull Backus, Platt Potter, FE. H. 
Wheeler, Simon C. Groot, Andrew Truax, Peter 
Rowe, Abram Doty, H. 8. Edwards, C. C. Clute, 
N. I. Schermerhorn, Levi A. Young, H. S. Bar- 
ney, T. W. McCamus, Nicholas Cain, Robert Fur- 
man, G. G. Maxon, C. H. Mathews and Edward 
W. Paige. This act of incorporation provided 
that one-third of these trustees should be annually 
elected after March, 1872. During the year 
1871, mainly through the efforts of Nicholas Cain, 
then president of the association, and a few others 
equally interested in the welfare of the organiza- 
tion, the project long contemplated by the 
friends of the association—the erection of a per- 
manent edifice—began to take definite form. In 
October of this year the lot where the Association 
building now stands was purchased for the sum of 
$12,000, the entire amount being raised in a few 
days by subscription. At this time the task of 
raising money to erect a building upon this site 
was begun by the officers of the organization. The 
following are some of the principal donors at this 
time:;, Nicholas‘ -Cain}'\'$3,000; J. ‘Trumbull 
Backus, $2,000; Charles H. Mathews, s1,500 ; 
Peter Rowe, $1,000; Platt Potter, $1,000; Abram 
Doty, st,c00%5” Lay NM Youngs $1/o00 'pc' Ts Ws 
McCamus, $1,000; Robert Furman, $1,000; 
Andrew Truax, $1,000; N.. I. Schermerhorn, 
5,000, C., "C. - Clute, +Sitiiooo MEAS. Edwards, 
$1,000. FE. “Wheeler “S170060, 3! HS: Barney, 
$1,009; Simon C. Groot, $1,000. Considerable 
money was also raised in smaller amounts. 

In 1873 the present building began to be 
erected. Its exterior was completed in 157—. At 
this time, the association lacking necessary funds, 
work was suspended. From 1873 to 1877 seems 
to have been a dark period in the history of the 
Young Men’s Christian Association in this city. 

Some time in 1874-5 the room in the Van 
Horne Hall was abandoned, and no regular place 
of meeting seems to have been provided until 
1877, when, mainly through the efforts of General 
Secretary O. C. Morse, who came to Schenectady 
under the direction of the New York State Execu- 
tive Committee of the Young Men's Christian 
Association, Stanford Hall was rented for a period 
of three months, Here the association library was 
removed and a free reading-room proy.ded. 

In March, 1877, the work of completing and 
furnishing four rooms in the new building was 
undertaken by the different churches, the First 
Reformed Church furnishing one, the First 

| 
| Presbyterian Church another, the Baptist a third, 

and the Episcopal Church the fourth. On the 
15th of the following May the association took 
possession of its new rooms, and the new building 

was first used for the purpose for which it was 
erected. Since this date numerous improvements 
have been made in the Association building, al- 

though it is not yet entirely completed. Over 
$40,000 has been expended on it, and the associ- 
ation is at present S1g,000 in debt. The lower 
part of the building is occupied by the crockery 
store of S. R. James, the second floor by the 
association, and the third floor by law offices. 
For a number of years a coffee or refreshment 
room has been in the unfinished part of the build- 
ing, which has enjoyed a liberal share of patronage. 

The present oflicers of the association are: James 
A. Goodrich, President; Marcus C. Wood, Vice- 
President; Frank E. Smith, Recording Secretary; 
James Cantine, Treasurer; William F. Cromer, 
Acting Secretary. The financial atfairs of the 
Y. M. C. A. are controlled by a Board of Man- 
agers, consisting of twenty members. 

The reading-room and library has been re- 
cently much improved. Many daily papers and 
most of the leading periodicals are furnished, while 
the library has increased to nearly two thousand 
volumes of choice and selected books, The Y. M. 
C. A. building, as shown in the cut, is one of the 
finest public edifices in the city. 

HISTORY OF MASONIC ORGANIZATIONS. 

ST. GEORGE'S LODGE, NO. 6. 

St. George’s Lodge was founded previous to the 
American Revolution by dispensation from the 
Grand Lodge of England, and went into operation 
in 1774, under the auspices of Sir John Johnson, 
then Provincial Grand Master of the Colony of 
New York. The first dispensation under which 
the lodge was organized has been lost; but a second 
one, granted by the same authority, is still pre- 
served as a relic in the archives of the lodge. It 
was given at Fort Johnson, December 13, 1774, 
and bears the bold signature of Sir John Johnson. 
By this instrument, Christopher Yates was ap- 
pointed Master; Benjamin Hilton, Jr., Senior 
Warden; and John Henghan, Junior Warden. 

The book of minutes of the lodge as above consti- 
tuted, but extending from atime even previous to this 
dispensation, is still preserved. From this it appears 
that in addition to the officers mentioned, the lodge 
had but four members, viz.: Cornelius Van Dyck, 
Aaron Van Patten, Robert Clinch and Robert Alex- 
ander. The first initiation of which there is any 
account is that of Teunise Swart, which was speed- 
ily followed by others, until when this record closes, 
December 30, 1799, more than one hundred and 
twenty names had been added to the roll of mem- 
bership. 

From the book of minutes, it appears that the 
first meetings of the lodge were held at the house of 
Robert Clinch, afterward in the dwellings of 
Abram Truax and John A. Bradt. April 16, 1790, 
the lodge purchased a building and lot of Dr. Nich- 
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olas Van Der Volgen on the south side of State 
street, where the Central Railroad now passes, and 
after properly arranging a room for the use of the 
lodge, surrendered the remaining part to Andrew 
Rynex, as Tiler, by whom the dwelling was there- 
after occupied. In January, 1797, the growing 
numbers of the lodge rendered this place too sm: all, 
and it was considerably enlarged by building. In 
the same year a Mark Lodge was established, to 
which the use of the lodge room was freely per- 
mitted. 

At this time there were in Schenectady three 
flourishing lodges and a Royal Arch Chapter. 
They were named respectively, St. George’s Lodge, 
Clinton Lodge and Morton Lodge. St. George’s 
Lodge has alone survived. Cyrus Royal Arch 
Chapter, No. 57, which existed about this period, 
has also been disbanded, but in its place has been 
organized the Mohawk (now St. George’s Royal 
Arch Chapter, No. 157), which now numbers many 
members. 

The record of the proceedings of the early his- 
tory of St. George’s Lodge is full of interest, illus- 
trating the character of the men and times of the 
most interesting period of our country’s history. 
Among the members of the lodge were many who 
became active in the war of the revolution, and 
whose names have been frequently mentioned in this 
volume as connected with the stirring events of 
this period. 

The following, taken from the book of minutes, 
is full of significance, and is one of many having 
reference to the active participation of the members 
of this lodge in the scenes of the revolution: 

‘*At the regular communication, December 26, 
1780, it was unanimously 

“ Resolved, That fifty shillings, hard money, out 
of the funds of this lodge, shall be delivered into 
the hands of Brother Robedt Alexander, for the use 
of Brother Walter Voorman’s family, who is now 
captive with the enemy, and the same amount be 
paid into the hands of John Cummins, for the use 

- of Brother Andrew Rynex’s family, who is also taken 
captive.” 

The last record contained in this venerable min- 
ute book is especially interesting. It is as follows: 

‘“ Whereas, The death of our Worthy Grand 
Master, George Washington, was this evening an- 
nounced to bis lodge ; therefore, unanimously 

“* Resolved, That the members of this lodge wear 
(as a token of respect to the memory of our said 
late Grand Master) a black ribbon in the button- 
hole of the waistcoat, until the ensuing Festival of 
St. John the Baptist, and that the Secretary be 
directed to give notice of the foregoing resolution 
to such members as did not attend this 1 meeting. 

‘¢Jeuis..A.. Fonpa, 
‘*W. Master.” 

Thus appropriately closes this valuable record of 
the last meeting of the last year of the lust century, 

The minutes of the lodge are preserved in full 
until the close of the year 1804: when there seems 
to have been a disagreement between a large num- 
ber of the lodges in the interior and those in the 

_worth, 

city of New York and its vicinity, which resulted 
in a disruption of the ties between them. In 
common with the lodges with which it had sided in 
the questions in dispute, which seem to have been 
little more than ‘‘ Where shall the meetings of the 
Grand Lodge be held—in New York or Albany?” 
St. George’s Lodge was declared by the Grand 
Lodge to have forfeited ‘‘its Masonic privileges,” 
and its members were expelled from the order. 

From this time the records are imperfect, until 
1822, when the lodge was formally reinstated to 
full Masonic standing, and anew charter granted to 
Henry Yates as Worshipful Master; Samuel Farns- 

Senior Warden; and John McMichael, 
Junior Warden. This charter bore the signature 
of Daniel D. Tompkins, then Vice-President of the 
United States, as Grand Master. 

From this time to 1834 the records, and even 

the charter of 1822, are lost, and it would seem 

that the meetings were either entirely intermitted 
or but seldom held. This period was that dark one 
in the history of Masonry in America which fol- 
lowed the Morgan excitement, when most of the 
lodges in the State were broken up and the order 
proscribed, 

From 1834, however, complete sets of the 
minutes are preserved, from which it appears that 
a dispensation was granted by the Grand Lodge, 
bearing date January 5, 1844, and that on the 
eighth day of June, 1844, a new charter was 
granted, naming Giles F. Yates as Worshipful Mas- 
ter; Roswell Perry, Senior Warden; and Jonathan 

C. Burnham, Junior Warden. Under this charter St. 
George’s Lodge now works, and is to-day in a very 
prosperous and flourishing condition, In 1868 
the temple on Church street was erected, making 
one of the finest and most complete Masonic build- 
ings in the State. 

OFFICERS FOR nary —Bro. me Low Barhydt, 
Master ; Bro. John S. White, S. Warden ; Bro. P: 
M. Doty, J. W arden ; W. Bro. W. Scott Hunter, 
Treasurer; Bro. Thompson Dealtry, Secretary; Bro. 
Charles E, Palmer, S. Deacon ; Bro. Frank Will- 
iamson, J Deacon; Bro. Rev. E. L. Toy, Chap- 
lain; R. W. Bro. John Keyes Paige, Organist ; 
Bro. Charles Hausmer, Physician; Bro. G. A. 
Wendell, S. M. of Cer.; Bro. E. King, J. M. of 
Cer.; Bros. J. Teller Schoolcraft and john S. 
Swits, Stewards; Bro. S. Abrams, Tiler ; G. 
Maxon, S. W. 

‘Trustees. 

Jackson and John M. W wide 

New Horr Loner, No. 730. aes a: Hope Lodge 
was founded November 30, 187 For a number 
of years meetings of this fate’ were held in Van 
Horne’s Hall, on State street ; recent years, Odd- 
fellows Hall, in the Ellis building, on State street, 

has been used for that purpose. 
Orricers For 1875.—W. Bro. Charles Baum, 

Master; H. M. Stanton, S. Warden; W. C. 
Campbell, J. Warden ; W. H. Helmer, Treasurer < 
James: L. Foote, Secretary; W. P. Daley, -. 

Deacon; Wm. J. Rosekranz, J. Deacon: D. W. 

Walpole, S. M. of Cer,; Simon Schermerhorn, J. 

M. of Cer.; G. E. McDonald, M. D., Physician ; 
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Fred. Reaber, Marshal; E. E. Kreigsman, 
Butler and D. Allen, Finance Committee ; 
Butler, Tiler. 

St. GeorGe’s Cuaprer, No. 157, R. A. M., was 
installed in 1856. Officers for 1885 : M. I. Comp. 
John H. White, High Priest ; W. Scott Hunter, E. 
King ; T. Low Barhydt, E. Scribe; W. H. Peck- 
ham, Treasurer ; W. G. Helmer, Secretary. 

St. GrorcE’s CommManverY, No. 37, K. T., was 
instituted 1866. Officers for 1885: FE. Sir W. 
H. Helmer, Commander; George Buskerk, Gen- 
eralissimo ; John H. White, Captain-General ; F. 
Williamson, Prelate; Geo. Weller, S. Warden ; 
John J. ° Fenwick, j.° Warden; H.. °H: Swart, 
Treasurer ; W. H. Peckham, Recorder. 

TEMPERANCE. 

The earliest trace of united temperance work 
in Schenectady is that of the State ‘Temper- 
ance Society, organized in 1828 by E. C. Delavan 
and Dr. Eliphalet Nott. July 8, 1830, an auxiliary 
society, the ‘‘Schenectady City Society for the 
Promotion of Temperance,” was formed. The 
pledge did not cover the use of malt liquors, but 
‘‘distilled spirituous liquors, except as a medicine 
in case of bodily infirmity.” The officers were: 
President, Petér I. Clute; Secretary, James Ma- 
goffin; Treasurer, Joel C. Bailey; Directors, Jon- 
athan Crane, George McQueen, Jabez Ward and 
Obed Chandler. The Reverends E. Mason (Pres- 
byterian), Coles Carpenter (M. E.), Jacob Van 
Vechten (First Reformed), and Mr. ‘Gillett (Bap- 
tist), and Dr. Nott and Mr. Delavan, were also 
members. By 1832, through the efforts of Mr. 
Crane and others, 27 auxiliary societies (which in- 
cluded one colored) had been formed. Union 
College also organized one at this time. During 
the year last named the city society had a mem- 
bership of 2,013 males, 421 females. Lectures 
were occasionally delivered by Prof. Alonzo Pot- 
ter, Dr. Nott, Reverends Stebbins, Gillett, Van 
Vechten and Hon. A. L. Linn, and Messrs. Pol- 
lard and Wright, of Baltimore, John B. Gough, and 
Judge McQueen. Dr. Fonda and Dr. Nott were 
the last survivors of this organization. Its efforts 
practically ceased in 1846. 

The Washingtonian movement gained a foothold 
and flourished for a few years during the existence 
of the city society. 

From 1847 to 1867 but little public work was 
done, but in the latter year the ‘‘Sons of Temper- 
ance” instituted a division, which is now extinct. 
In 1868 the Good Templars organized their first 
lodge here, which did good work until 1880, when 

.it too became practically lifeless, 
The Independent Order of Rechabites never 

gained a foothold here. The Father Mathew 
movement of 1850, which was originated by the 
Catholics, succeeded in gaining many converts. 

In September, 1876, the ‘‘Schenectady Tem- 
perance Society” was formed, with the following 
officers: President, J. Charles Lawton; Vice-Presi- 
dent, Dr. L. Faust; Secretary, Henry Swan; Treas- 
urer, Peter Chrisler. Articles for the press were 

of Union College; Prof. 
Halsey, Classical Institute; Revs. W. J. Heath 
and Northorp and Mr. Chrisler. October 19th a 
Reform Club was organized, and the 31st of the 
month was merged with the ‘‘ Schenectady Tem- 
perance Society,” and these changed to the ‘‘ An- 
cient City Temperance Society.” 

In June, 1880, Peter Chrisler was successful in 
having the official board of the M. E. Church 
adopt a resolution discontinuing the use of fer- 
mented or alcoholic wine at the communion, and 

during the same year he organized the “ M. FE. 
Church Temperance Society.” 

July 11, 1878, internal dissensions in the ‘‘ An- 
cient City” order resulted in a new society, taking 
the old name, ‘‘Schenectady Temperance Society, 
with Mr. Chrisler as President. 
October 31, 1878, the two societies united, under 

the name of ‘‘ Christian Temperance Union,” with 
Jethro W. Chute as President. 

The ‘‘Women’s Christian Temperance Union 
was organized in March, 1878, Mrs. Dr. Nott, 
President, and in July the ‘ ‘Children’s Temper- 
ance Society” was instituted, all the societies 
meeting in the same room. 

January 29, 1880, a new departure was taken 
by the society. Good Templarism ideas were fol- 
lowed, and ‘‘ Ancient City Lodge, 174,” formed. 
No organization since 1830 or 1867 has been so 
successful. In March, 1884, there were 1,130 
members, making it the banner lodge of the State. 
At the County Lodge, held April 1, 1885, it re- 
ported 895 members. 

written by Prof. Wells, 

” 

HENRY RAMSAY. 

The subject of this sketch was born in Guilder- 
land, Albany County, N. Y., May 18, 1808. He 
spent the first six years of his life in the vicinity 
of his birthplace, after which his parents removed 
to Albany. At this early age he entered the first 
Lancaster School in the United States, then recent- 
ly opened in Albany by William Anderson Tweed 
Dale, under the personal supervision of Joseph 
Lancaster, the founder of the system. 

In 1823, with three others, he was promoted to 
the Albany Academy, a high mark of honor con- 
ferred on pupils of the Lancaster School who had 
shown themselves specially meritorious in behav- 
ior and scholarship, and which entitled them to a 
free course of instruction at the Academy. Young 
Ramsay rapidly advanced in his studies, and by 
orderly conduct and close attention gained the 
esteem and confidence of the Faculty and Trustees, 
who, as a signal mark of favor, informed him, after 
a term of two years, that he could remain as long 
as he pleased, free of tuition. But the painful ne- 
cessity of depending for support upon the daily 
labor of an aged father, constrained the youth to 
leave the Academy in 1826. 

He immediately became an assistant teacher in 
the Lancaster School, under his former instructor, 
Mr. Dale. In this position he remained nearly a 
year, performing his work most satisfactorily to the 
management of the school and its patrons. But 
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HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

the care and labor proved too severe for mind and 
body, and he was obliged to seek rest and recrea- 
tion in the country. Becoming sufficiently recu- 
perated, the following year he accepted the charge 
of a school in Glenville, Schenectady County, and 
the same year he returned to Albany and ac- 
cepted the appointment of book-keeper in French 
Webster’s hardware store, located on the site of 
the present post-office. 

This position did not meet the ambition of the 
young man, and he determined to seek future 
advancement in the great city of New York. 
Here he arrived in 1829, without money and with- 
out friends, not knowing a single person to whom 
he might apply for aid and assistance. He en- 
countered all the discouragements and difficulties 
so many deserving young men similarly placed 
have experienced in securing employment in the 
metropolis. For a short time Benjamin C. Wat- 
son gave shelter and assistance to our young friend, 
and secured for him a position as clerk in the land 

} 
H 
t 
{ 

Vt 

ak 
, 

office of Isaac M. Woolley, at the small salary of 
$10 per month and board. 

While a student at the Albany Academy, young 
Ramsay: became very proficient in penmanship and 
map-drawing, and gained valuable knowledge of 
the art of surveying. These various accomplish- 
ments served him most advantageously while in the 
employ of Mr. Woolley, who was quick to utilize 
the talents of his young clerk in drawing and 
copying maps as needed in the transaction of the 
business of his office. So well did young Ram- 
say execute this work, that maps drawn by him and 
exhibited in the real estate sale-rooms of the old 
Merchants’ Exchange attracted general attention 
for their excellence. Among those who were at- 
tracted by the ability of Mr, Woolley’s clerk, were 
John C, Morrison, Dr. Van Soligen and Mr. Parker, 
author of ‘‘ Parker's Arithmetic,” who induced 
young Ramsay to open an office, under promise of 
immediate patronage. Accordingly in 1530 he 
opened an office in an attic bedroom in Greenwich 
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CITY OF SCHENECTADY.—HENRY RAMSAY. uh AY) 

street. His ability soon gained for him the friend- 
ship and patronage of influential citizens. Phi- 
lologus Holley, who proved a most valuable friend 
at this period, in return for such services as he 
could render him, gave him office room in his of- 

fice in Carmine street. While at Holley’s he be- 
came acquainted with John Lewis, the confidential 
clerk of the celebrated Col. Aaron Burr, and by 
the latter he was frequently employed in making 
surveys, maps and plans of buildings. 

Reuben Spencer, a city surveyor, at this time 
occasionally employed young Ramsay to assist him 
in making surveys ‘‘on the Island,” and in return 
allowed him to use his instruments when he could 
find a job for himself. 

This soon brought him into prominence, which 
resulted in his securing a lucrative business, and in 
bringing his sterling worth into public recognition, 
During this period he met Miss Isabelle Wester- 
velt, eldest daughter of Jacob Westervelt, then 
Sheriff of New York County, whom he married 
May 17, 1831, and soon accepted the appointment 
of book-keeper in the Merchants’ Exchange Bank, 
but shortly after became deputy sheriff under his 
father-in-law, which position he retained under the 
latter’s successor, John Hillyer ; and after an inter- 
val of two of Hillyer’s successors, was appointed to 
the position again, under his wife’s uncle, John J. 
V. Westervelt. 

In 1836, Mr. Ramsay, by prudence and econ- 
omy, had amassed sufficient means to gratify his 
desire for the quietude of country life, and accord- 
ingly removed to Schenectady in this year, pur- 
chasing fourteen acres of land, including his pres- 
ent homestead at the head of State street. At this 
time there were but two small frame buildings 
upon the property, which, at the present, has be- 
come one of the most eligible building sites in the 
city, upon which have been erected more than 
eighty buildings, including the State Armory.  Af- 
ter making some improvements on his property, 
Mr. Ramsay again returned to New York to accept 
a situation offered by his brother. Here he re- 
mained for nearly four years, returning to Schenec- 
tady in 1839, 

At this time Mr. Ramsay resolved to perma- 
nently adopt the profession of surveyor and _ engi- 
neer, for which his-early training and experience 
peculiarly fitted him In 1842 he received the 

appointment of chief engineer on the Mohawk and 
Hudson Railroad between Albany and Schenec- 
tady. At this time, the expenses of operating the 
two stationary powers at the heads of the inclined 
planes at the two cities nearly exhausted the re- 
ceipts of the road, and rendered the construction of 
new sections to supeisede the inclined planes ab- 
solutely necessary. ‘This difficult work was Mr. 
Ramsay's maiden professional effort, and was ac- 
complished without a single adverse occurrence or 
the interruption of a single train. He was made 
assistant engineer of the Erie Canal enlargement, 
his section extending from Little Falls to the tower 
aqueduct. While engaged in this work, he 
was appointed Resident Engineer of the Seneca 
River Survey and ‘Triangulations, from the Monte- 

zuma Marshes to the foot of Jack’s Reef. His ad- 
ministration of this office was so satisfactory, that, 
December 10, 1853, he was appointed, without 
solicitation, State Engineer and Surveyor. 

In 1853, he was chosen by the Board of State 

Officers to locate the wharf or water-line of New- 
town Creek and East River. In 1844-5-6, he 

was engaged by Eugene and Montgomery Liv- 
ingston in defining the subdivision of the great 
Hardenburg Patents, which he accomplished with 
much difficulty and danger during the ‘“ anti-rent” 
craze in Ulster and Delaware Counties. Mr, Ram- 
say has held the position of City Surveyor by ap- 
pointment for several terms, though he has never 
taken an active interest in politics, and in 1552 he 
received the Democratic nomination for Mayor of 
the city, which, for private reasons, was declined, 
although equivalent to an election. After the close 
of his State service, Mr. Ramsay received the ap- 
pointment of Chief Engineer of the United States 
Petroleum Company, at Pithole, Venango County, 
Penn., and on Duck Creek, Ohio, driving the 
first stake in the oil enterprise on the Thomas 
Holmden farm. He remained, making surveys 
during the oil excitement in this remarkable re- 
gion, unul he terminated his professional services 
in 1866-7. 

In 1867, he began preparations to carry out a 
long cherished plan, which, he says, ‘‘had been 
the dream of my youth and hope of my age—to 
visit Europe, Egypt, Palestine and Syria,” hoping 
thus not only to gain needed recreation and rest, 
but more especially to satisfy the natural craving 
of his mind to visit places and scenes associated 
with ancient Biblical lore. On May 1, 1869, he 
sailed for Scotland, and at Glasgow began a tour 
of the wonderful places of the Old World, which, 

as described in his graphic and _ intelligent lan- 
guage, would fill a volume of valuable and instruc- 
tive material for the students of ancient history. 

Most of the time consumed by Mr. Ramsay s 
journey abroad was spent in Egypt and_ the 
Holy Land. Here his devout nature was inspired 
and filled with reverence, as he visited and_ trod 
over places and scenes made sacred and ever to be 
revered as associated with the lives of the early pa- 
triarchs, and as connected with the life and history 
of our Savior. Only those personally acquainted 
with this venerable gentleman, and who have heard 
him relate with a remarkably intelligent compre- 
hension, aided by a most retentive memory, can 
fully realize how thorough was his research in this 
interesting portion of the world. 

Since his return home he has frequently been 
called upon to detiver lectures upon the subject of 
his travels, and whenever he has complied has 
been highly appreciated. 

Up to this period of Mr. Ramsay’s biography we 
have given but the mere outlines, without much 

comment, of the chief events of his remarkably suc- 
cessful and active life. His struggles and successes 
as a poor boy, without assistance, family prestige, 
or influential friends, furnish an example of what 
pluck, brains and honesty can do on the great stage 
of life, and is an incentive to every young man 
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120 HISTORY AOL! THENCOUNTILY OF SCHENECTADY. 

struggling with adverse fortune. His success was 
not the result of what the world calls ‘‘ good luck.” 
He went to the city of New York at an early period 
to be sure, but even then there was no place in 
this country where competition was stronger, and 
where any young man without influential personal 
friends would be less sure of winning success, ex- 
cept upon true and proved merit. “Here young 
Ramsay, by application, hard work, perseverance 
and honesty, won not only the nucleus of a com- 
fortable fortune, but, what is better still, the sincere 
respect and esteem of all who knew him. Mr. 
Ramsay early became attached to a Christian church 
and through along career has been active in pro- 
moting all matters pertaining to church work, and 
by action and deeds has led a consistent Christian 
life. 

Mr. Ramsay’s domestic relations have been of 
the most pleasant nature. His wife, who shared 
the trials and struggles of his early days and wit- 
nessed the successes and triumphs of his later years, 

still remains his congenial partner in his declining 
years. Ten children have been the result of their 
union, nine of whom are stillliving. Mr. Ramsay 
has always felt much indebted to the Albany Acad- 
emy, and considers that the instruction there re- 
ceived had much to do with his success in life. 
In 1883, out of friendship, if not as a debt of grati- 
tude, he endowed this institution of learning with 
the sum of $1,000, to be used for the permanent 
establishment of the Henry Ramsay Scholarship, 
to aid poor and deserving young men to obtain an 
education, 

Mr. Ramsay has ever been a progressive, public- 
spirited citizen, and has taken a keen and active 
interest in everything pertaining to educational 
matters. He himself has been a careful, pains- 
taking student of history, men and passing events, 
and now, in his seventy-eighth year, enjoys g good 
health and a high degree of intellectual vigor. In 
this city, his adopted home, where hier is best 

known, heis justly honored for his sterling worth 
and integrity of character, and is quietly enjoying 
the remaining years of a well-earned repose, sur- 
rounded by family, kindred and friends. 

EDUCATIONAL.—OLD MASTERS. 

‘* Full well they laughed, with counterfeited glee, 
At all his jokes, for many a joke had he ; 
Full well the busy whisper circling round 
Conveyed the dismal tidings when he frowned.” 

GoLpsMItH’s ‘‘ Deserted Village.” 

Chronologically arranged, and as accurately as is 
now possible, the early school-teachers of Schenec- 
tady are given below. ‘These all, as will be seen, 
ante-date any organized State school system. 
Education in the things taught from books in 
those days was of minor importance. The school- 
master was a curious combination of ignorance 
and ofa little learning. Oftener than not to his 
profession he joined one of the homely but useful 
trades, generally cobbling. Sobriety was consid- 
ered commendable, but it was no noteworthy 

thing for the ‘‘ master” to indulge all too freely 

during his hours of freedom from the school-room, 

Physical propulsion, conveyed by the impressive 
whip, was thought a wise way of inducing into the 
mind of the young scholar a proper understandiny 
of his studies ; though, even then, there were some 
eccentric fathers whosurmised that the best road to 
a boy's brain was not to be found at the sharpest 
end of a whip. 

The first school was opened here by Peter 
Tassermaker, the first pastor of the First Dutch 
Church, who was killed by the Indians when 
Schenectady was burned in 1690. 

In 1725, Peter Feeling, the grandfather of Mrs. 
John Clark, was teaching here. 

The following is a copy of the oldest school-bill 
extant in Schenectady : 

R. Schermerhorn to Thos. 
Dr. 

Jno. Nielson, 

Si, 0G: 
Schooling 2 children from ye 17th April, 

1738, to ye 21 November, being 7 
months....... iieus: cexevete sO siene Mejouge Loe Oeey 

Schooling 2 children from ye 21st 
April, 1739, to ye last December, 
IDEN. MIG 2 tb cc5dc syensia Keon & see sees IS 44 

Bi PSALLORS cece iy ce sists eats wie ep tan 5 Oo 

£3 6:11 
Abatement for ye children Being at Home 

BES PLATVESE 2 5 ate sig a. earnest aege.t 4 6 11 

pips A: dae cam) 

ScHENEcTADY, ye mo. March, 1739-40. 
There appeared before me, Nicholas Schuyler, 

Esq., one of his Majestie’s Justices of ye Peace for 
ye County of Albany, ye above Thomas Neilson, 
and made oath on ye Holy evangelist of Almighty 
God, that ye above acct. according to the Best of 
his Knowledge is a Just and Fair account Jurat 
Corma made. Tuos. NEILSON. 

Nicu. SCHUYLER. 

On the reverse side of which is : 
Recd. from Mr. R. Schermerhorn, three pounds, 

New York Currency, Being the full Contents of 
the Acct. on the other side, and is in full of Debts, 
Accts. and Demands Whatsoever to this 24th 
March, 1739-40. 

I say recd. by me, 
Tuos. NEILSON. 

Witnesseth : 
Anna WENDOL. 

£3, 0,10 

In 1755, Caleb Beck; in 1757, William John- 
son, the ‘‘dominie;” and from 1759 to 1763, 
Hendrick Hausen, were schoolmasters; and by a 
bill dated 7th April, 1762, we learn that Mr. 
Matthew Lyne was then master, and for the years 
1760-4-5-6 bills were also rendered by him : 
‘ir year, y ands! ictyna9imo.g-43; 38. pin 
1766 Richard Oliver was teacher, and from 1765 
to 1768 Andrie Johnson received from 2 to 4 
shillings per month for his services. From an 
account rendered by Peter Sparling to Ryer 

2 2S., 
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Schermerhorn, and paid 13th March, 1767, it ap- 
pears that Mr. Schermerhorn paid for ‘‘6$ months 
day and 5 months night school, at 16s. per quarter,” 
the sum of £3 os. 4d. for his son John ; that 
‘syphering’” cost the same amount per quarter; 

and that to his other qualifications Master Sparling 
added that of a spinner, receiving 2s. a pound for 
“spinning 11 1b,” In 1769, George Passage, ‘‘shoe- 
maker and schoolmaster,” was paid 2s. 6d. per week 
for his services as teacher. In 1770 Hendrick 
Hausen is again master, and in the same year 
George Passage renders along account, amounting 
to £15 1os. 8d. to Reyer Schermerhorn, for mend- 
ing and making shoes, boots and pumps, for in- 
structing ‘‘ hisson Bartholomew in the cordwaning 
trade.” In 1771 William Andrews, who was a Ccate- 
chist among the Mohawk Indians and missionary, 
and first rector of St. George's Church, opened a 
grammar school. In 1772-3 ‘‘ William Johnson 
was shoemaker and_ schoolmaster.” 
the school needed a little urging to pay their 
school-bills, as the following will show, though, as 
has already appeared, the receiver of this polite 
request had not been remiss with previous bills : 

“*Mr. Schermerhorn, Sir: When I broke up 
school at New Ark, this spring, I sent my acct. by 
your son Richard, the amount of which was 
£5 2s. 8d. As I have heard nothing from you 
since, should be glad if you would order the pay- 
ment of it in New York, either to Mr. Cobham, at 
the great Dock, or Mr. Quakenbush, or where else 
it may suit you, and please to advise me of the 
same by a Letter directed to William Haddon, 
Elizabeth Town, and you will oblige, Sir, 

Your very h’ble serv't, 

Witrram Happoy. 
New York, June 9, 1772.” 

In 1773 Dominie Miller was master, and on 
October 5th of the same year, Master P. H. 
Raworth made out a bill for ‘‘one quarter’s 
schooling at 13s,” on which he had received ‘‘ one 
Load of Wood, at 3s. 6d.” William Wellman, 
master, writes in Atgust, 1773, to one of his 
patrons: ‘‘I would be verry glad if you Could let 
me have that Trifle, as 1am very much in want, 
for your Boy Schooling, from the 23 of Apriel to 
the 28 of July, whichis one quarter, gs.” 

In 1774, Francis Rawert (Raworth), as is shown 
bya bill he then makes out, and in May, 1775, 
Mr. Fletcher, were teachers. Ph. Ryley renders 
an account, in 1776, of £1 13s. for his services as 
teacher, which is offset by a bill of fourteen items, 
in which ‘‘cash” is charged three times and 
‘rum ” eleven times, bringing the bibulous pro- 

fessor's demand down to nine shillings. A year 
later Master Ryley has another account of £2 8s., 
and this is reduced by offsets to eight shillings, but 
to his credit be it said, that the word ‘‘rum” is 
not so frequent. In 1779-80, ‘‘Mr. Martin kept 
a school in a house Senaine then between the 
house of C. Vibbard and Dr. A. G. Fonda, on the 
north side of Union street. (4, lim. 780; John Clute, 
and from 1783 to 1785, Edward Johnson, taught 
school. 

Patrons of 

A history of the Ecierecaidy Academy elsewhere 
appears in this article. The teachers for 1785 
were: Michael Tyms, English teacher, ap »pointed 

April 29 ; Nicholas Van Vranken, September - 22, 
and Mr. Basset, October 24. Jacobus Romeyn 
was made usher August 14, 1786. In July, 1787, 
Basset and Van Vranken were still teaching; and 
August 20, Mr. Wilkie is engaged, to begin No- 
vember 1. Mr. Basset to ‘‘leave at next quarterly 
examination, on September 5, 1787,” and on that 
day, Rev. Dirck Romeyn is appointed superintend- 
ent of the academy. January 18, 1758, the teach- 
ers were: Tyms, Van Vranken and Wilkie, and 
May 28, Morris, Tyms and ‘‘ Beck’s room.” From 
the fact ‘that, on June 12, ‘‘ Mr. Beck, usher,” is 
directed to ‘‘leave at end of quarter in September, 
it is to be inferred he may have been the ‘‘ teacher” 
in ‘ Beck’s room.” Mr. Wilkie also leaves then. 
September 1, 1789, Mr. Elliott was teaching the 
English branches there. In March, 1790, Mr. 
Tyms was teaching arithmetic, and from Septem- 
ber 1, 1789, to March 1, 1790, Van Vranken was 
Latin and Greek professor. Mr. Wilkie ‘‘ taught 
reading, arithmetic, etc.” ‘‘D. Hale was Latin 
preceptor as early as January, 1792.” John Tay- 
lor and Luther Halsey were also professors there in 
1792 and 1793. 

In 1793, John Lambert kept school in Church 
street, in what was, in 1865, the Tannahill house. 

Temperance teachings seem to have made some 
progress, or at least the masters were willing to 
make the effort to avoid the blue Mondays so fre- 
quent heretofore. he following iron-clad pledge 
speaks for itself : 

‘This agreement, made the ivenciseh day of 
March, 18600, W itnesseth, That the subscriber 
hereunto will not, betwixt this date and the first 
day of June next ensuing, neglect his school through 
means of his getting intoxicated, with any kind of 
liquors whatsoever, under a forfeit of five dollars 
for each time, time to be stopped out of his school 
pay by me. BaRTHOLOMEW SCHERMERHORN. 

SCHUYLENBERGH SCHOOL, } 
March 20, 1800. \ 

(Signed) Joun HETHERINGTON.” 

True, this pledge only provides for ‘‘ neglect”’ 
of his duties, but it was a good step in the right 
direction. 

With the beginning of the Schenectady Acade- 
my, and particularly after it merged into Union 
College, education proper commenced here. 
While the bulk of the students attended these 
schools, still there were some private schools in 
existence, among which were the following : 

In 1800, Mrs. Van Orden taught a school in 
the second house from the corner Washington 
and State streets. A Mr. Barhydtand a Mr. Wig- 
gins (who also read prayers in the Episcopal 
Church) were teaching here in 1802, and four years 
later ‘‘ Mr. Ganley taught school in a room in the 
yard on the south side of State street, back of 
where Gray’s shoe store afterwards was.” Mr. 
Shumway in 1805 ‘‘kept school” in a house at 
the west corner of Front and Ferry streets, and 
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122 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF ‘SCHENECTADY. 

Thomas Dunlap taught vocal music at Mr. 
Mooney’s school-house in 1807. 

By a notice published March 28, 1808, it ap- 
pears that a ‘‘ French professor” had recently been 
engaged for the ‘‘Schenectady Female Academy,” 
who ‘‘will devote two hours in the forenoon of 

each day to the instruction of such young ladies as 
wish to acquire a knowledge of that language.” 
Mr. Malcom and C. C. Cuyler were teachers of the 
Female Academy in 1808. It was located at 32 
Church street, the lot afterward passing into the 
hands of the Masonic Order. 

February 4, 1812, the president of the consistory 
of the Dutch Church was authorized to subscribe 
fifty dollars ‘‘ toward the support of a suitable per- 
son to instruct the people of color in this place,” 
and April 20, measures were taken by them to es- 
tablish a school, and they ‘‘ procured the late Mr. 
Murdock’s store ” for that purpose. 

This ends our recital of the ‘‘Old Masters” of 
Schenectady. The opening of the ‘ Lancaster” 
School in 1816 marked an important epoch in 
our educational development. 

THE LANCASTER SCHOOL, -1816-1854. 

In the Lancasterian System of Schools, thus 
named after its inventor, Joseph Lancaster, of 
England, the seats and tables were arranged in the 
center of the school-room, leaving a passage clear 
around the outside; on the walls hung stiff cards 
or pasteboards containing the lessons, so that 
the class, standing in a semicircle, could learn to 
read and spell from the same card. The tables 
were divided into partitions, or shallow boxes, 

filled with sand, and occupying the spaces in front 
of each scholar. The child was taught the letters 
and how to make them by drawing them in the sand 
with a stick, cut sharp at one end and flat at the 
other, so that light and heavy lines could be made 
without having to retrace them. ‘The sand was 
smoothed over with a rule of exactly the same 
width as the partition, and the lines to rule the 
sand were made by little pegs in the ruler, on the 
other side, which was used after the sand had been 
smoothed. After learning to trace the letters in 
the sand, the scholars were given slates and pencils, 
afterward pens and ink. Monitors from the higher 
classes were assigned classes to teach, being 
changed frequently, so that teaching might not 
occupy too much of their time to the detriment 
of their own studies. 

An act to incorporate the Schenectady Lancaster 
School Society was passed November 12, 1816. 
The act provides that this school could be estab- 
lished in the compact parts of the first and second 
wards of the city; and that the thirteen trustees 
therein appointed should receive all the moneys 
rightfully due them under the act relative to com- 
mon schools. 

The thirteen trustees named in the act (and 
who by the act were to be elected annually by the 
citizens) were; Maus Schermerhorn, Henry Yates, 
Jr., Cyrus Stebbins, Jacob Van Vechten, Hooper 
Cumming, Isaac Riggs, Elisha Taylor, Eliphalet 

Nott, James Bailey, David Boyd, Abraham §&. 

Groot, Charles Kane and James C. Duane. 
The first meeting of the Board of ‘Trustees wa- 

held November 20, 1516, at the office of Henry 
Yates. James C. Duane was elected President: 

David Boyd, Treasurer; and Isaac Riggs, Secretary, 
Different committees were appointed, among which 
was one to draft by-laws and one to ascertain 
‘‘the probable expense of a building for the 
school-house.” February 12, 1817, a committee 
reported to the Board that ‘‘ they had procured a 
lot from the corporation” for school purposes, and 
a committee was appointed to receive proposals for 

building such house. The by-laws were adopted 
five days later. 

December 17, 1817, a committee reported that 
they had ‘‘ obtained for the benefit of the Lan- 
caster School Society, from the corporation of this 
city, seventy acres of land on the hill opposite 
Jacob Lyons’ ” which was situated on ‘the north- 
east side of the Albany and Schenectady turnpike.” 
* * as that ‘‘they expect to receive for 
the taxes laid on the two inner wards, the sum of 
$213.72,” and in February next, ‘‘ to receive from 
the State about the said sum of $213,” which, with 
about $90” in the hands of D. L. Van Antwerp, 
‘¢will make a total of about S500 to be received 
during the current year.” It was also resolved at 
this meeting that the salary of the teacher should 
be $750 yearly, provided enough money was 
received to make that amount; if not, then the 
salary was to be all above ‘‘the current expenses 
of the year.” 

January 10, 1818, Nicholas Van Vranken was 
unanimously chosen to be the teacher upon the 
opening of the school. 

The report of 23d May, places the tuition at 
‘one dollar a quarter, paid in advance,” and 
that school be opened June 24. (The building 
in which it was located is now occupied, 1885, by 

the Union School Primary Department on Union 
street. ) 

July 24, the committee reported that they had 
‘*caused the school-house to be finished, and that 

there remained due to Mr. Lyon the sum of $317.- 
25, after deducting $488.70, the price of 54 acres 
1 rood 8 perches of land at $9 per acre. Cost of 
the whole, $809.95. 

The first Teacher's Report to the Board, showing 
the result of the Lancasterian system, was presented 
by Nicholas Van Vranken, March, 1820. In this 
remarkably able paper it is stated. ‘** The whole 
number of scholars admitted into the school since 
the 1st March, 1819, is 267. The school ts 
divided into 8 reading classes; from the first to 
the second of these there have been 27 promvu- 
tions; to the third, 28; to the fourth, 26; to the 

fifth, 44; to the sixth, 31; to the seventh, 39: and 

to the eighth, 36.” The method in use is then 
spoken of: ‘‘When it is taken into consideration 
that none are permitted to write on paper but 
those who write a fair and handsome hand on the 
slate, and that 154 out of 267 have done this, the 

excellence of the place * * ci must 
stand unquestioned.” 
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March 27, 1824, tuition was reduced to twenty- March 15, 1839, this resolution, etc., was 
five cents; the salary of the teacher to $500; and | adopted: ce Wher cas, Doubts have been expressed 
resolved that ‘‘ poor scholars, not exceeding forty, 
be admitted into the school gratuitously.” 

June 27, 1831, the corporate seal, a circular 
seal with the letters “‘S. L. S.” engraved thereon, 
was adopted. 

March 23, 1832, it was resolved that the teacher 
receive for his salary for the ensuing year, after de- 
ducting therefrom the incidental expenses of the 
school, ‘‘the total amount of the public money 
arising from tax and school fund, and also the 
amount received for tuition, at twenty-five cents 
per scholar.” ‘‘The poor children” to be received 
as per resolution of March 27, 1824. Many out- 
side duties were thrown upon the teacher; he per- 
sonally bargained for and superintended all repairs, 
building of walks, etc. March 13, 1833, Ezekiel 
Sexton was elected teacher in place of Mr. Van 
Vranken, who declined a reappointment. Reso- 
lutions commendatory of Mr. Van Vranken for his 
fifteen years’ services as teacher were passed by the 
Board, and Mr. Van Vranken was elected one of 
the Trustees of the Board. October 16, 1833, it 
was resolved that the present school-house be sold 
to Dr. Nott for $225, ‘‘reserving the benches and 
fixtures,” and that they purchase of Goy. Yates, a 
lot on College street for S500, of forty feet front, 
upon which a new school-house is to be erected. 
October 25th the committee reported that Dr. Nott 
wanted the outhouses, etc., included with the 
school-house. This the Board refused to grant, 
and it was decided that the buildings should be 
turned into the general building fund, to be used 
as far as practicable in the new school-house. The 
Joseph C. Yates lot was bought for S500, as is 
shown by the report of March 19, 1834, and on 
March 26th it appears that Dr. Nott had finally 
purchased the school-house for $250, ‘‘the 
benches being reserved.” The school ‘‘to be 
vacated the 1st of April next.” 

_ Proposals, as follows, for building the new school- 
house, were submitted 21st April: 

John N. Vrooman, for $759.983; Frederick 
Tupper, for $800; Henry Vine, for $775; Berten 
& Kingsley, for $850; Edward Clark, for S800. 
Mr. Vrooman’s bid being accepted. 

Mr. James Slater was elected teacher one week 
later, and specifications for the new school-house 
in College street were decided upon. It was to 
be ‘‘forty feet from front to rear, thirty feet wide, 
and twenty feet high from top of sills to top of 
plates,” and to be ‘‘ finished June rst next.” The 
first meeting was held in the building July 16th, 
when it was ordered that the second story be 
completed. 

April 1, 1836, it was Resolved, “That this 
corporation feel themselves obliged to appropriate, 
for the purposes of the education of the colored 
children of this city, such proportion of the public 
money as may hereafter be collected on the enu- 
meration of such children,’ and in June, 1837, 
$25 was set aside from the school funds to be 
applied for the maintenance of a teacher in the 
‘* African Lancaster School Society.” 

whether any other mode of instruction than what is 
called the ‘Lancaster System,’ can be used in the 
schools of this Society; “Resolved, that this Board re- 
quest our members of Assembly and the Senate 
* * * to procure a law to remove such doubts, 

and leave this Board the power of causing all the 
branches of education taught in any of the com- 
mon schools of this State to be taught in the 
schools of this Society, and in any approved mode 
that this Society may deem expedient to adopt.” 
Mr. Slater was hired as teacher for another year; 
his pay to be so much of the public money as does 
not exceed $550 and the tuition money. ‘‘ He to 
employ at his own expense a female teacher for the 
female department.” April 18th, a District Library 
was ordered to be paid for with the State money. 
At this meeting $200 was appropriated for the es- 
tablishment of a school or schools in the first 
ward, and $300 for schools ‘‘in the part of the 
third or fourth wards, or in both, or either of 
them, within the Police District.” These schools 
to be subject to the regulations of the Board, so 
long as their teachers ‘‘ receive any part of the ap- 
propriation.” By December 3oth, $279.34 had 
been expended for the new library, and the books 

the 

and Alexander Cam- 
were, ‘‘for the present,” in the rooms of 
‘“Young Men’s Association,” 
eron was appointed Librarian. 

The committee appointed April 18, 
ported February 25, 1840, that: A school be es- 
tablished in the first ward; teacher’s salary to be 
$250; tuition to be $1.50 per quarter from May 
to November; $1.75 November to May. Gram- 
mar, geography, bookkeeping, navigation and 
surveying to be taught. Section 8 of the report 
is as follows: ‘‘It is proposed to continue some 
parts of the ‘ Lancaster System ’ (such as the mode 
of teaching the names and mode of forming fig- 
ures and letters) in the first or primary school, 
and in the other schools in the wards for begin- 
ners, but to depend upon instruction from the 
teachers personally so soon as the scholar has 
made progress beyond the first elements of litera- 
ture;” and section 7 states that they ‘‘hope to have” 
furnished by the corporation ‘‘the engine- 
house in Liberty street, and the old market belong- 
ing to the heirs of Peter Smith.” The treasurer's 
report of April 6, 1840, shows $833.75 on hand. 

Wm. D. Cockran and Miss Stiles were engaged 
as teachers for the ‘‘Lancaster School;” Martin 
C. Hall for Ferry Street School; and Harvey 
Moore for Liberty Street School. These two last 
opening May 4, 1840. 

The annual report, made to the Superintendent 
of Common Schools, November 1, 1840, shows 
that during the past year the whole amount of pub- 
lic money received from the County Treasurer was 
$1,396.88, of which $279.37 was paid for books, 
$48 to the African School, and the balance of 
$1,069.51 for wages of teachers (they also received 
about $450 tuition fees), The number of children 

taught in all the schools in which the trustees had 
any voice was 360; the number of children re- 

1839, re- 
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siding within the Police between the ages of five 
and sixteen years was 1,065. The teachers were: 
James Slater, Martin C. Hall, Misses Ritchie, 
Thurston and Stiles, their monthly wages running 
from S15 to $45. 

April 1, 1841, Myndert Veeder was teacher for 
the Liberty street school, James Slater and Miss 
Stiles re-elected for the Lancaster School, and 
Nicholas Merselis for the Ferry street school. The 
‘Lancaster School Report,” submitted at this 
meeting shows the total amount of school money 
received for the year to be $1,409.12. 

April 11, 1842, the school money was divided 
as follows: ‘‘The school in College street, male 
department, $330; female department, 135;, | erry, 
street school, S1go; Liberty street school, $190; 
John B. Clute School, in State street, $115 (this is 
the first mention in the minutes of this school); and 
the African School, s4o.” July 15 ‘‘the rear Jot 
of the Lancaster House was leased to James D. 
Felthousen for a term of fifteen years” (price not 
stated). November rst, Joseph Blanchard was ap- 
pointed teacher in the State street school. 

The school money, as reported April 9, 1543, 
was $1,335.88, and at this meeting Nancy Ferrell 
was engaged as teacher for the female department, 
and Frederick De Lamater for the State street 
school. On March 5th there were 1,009 volumes 
in the Library. 

During 1843-44 the question of changing the 
present school system was seriously agitated, when, 
on January 6, 1845, it was decided ‘‘not to take 
any action thereon at present.” 

The annual report of Alexander Holland, made 
April 2, 1845, was so unusually accurate and de- 
tailed, that he was given a special vote of thanks. 
The appropriation for 1845 for the pay of teachers 

was : 

College street school, male department, $265 00 
ut a ‘¢ female ue I10 00 

Maiden lane cs : ; ; «1 4475, 00 
Ferry street Masi 3 : : 175 00 
State street 175 00 
Miss Clark, a private teacher in Yates st, 20 00 
Miss Ritchie, se ce ‘* Front ce 20 00 
Miss Joanna Crooks, ‘‘ Wash’n’ton ‘‘ 20 ©O 
African School, : ? f : 40 0O 

Total, $1,000 00 

Wm. G. Caw was appointed teacher for the 
Fourth ward school in May, in place of Mr. De 
Lamater, resigned, and, in October, M. Myndert 
Veeder was elected teacher in the Lancaster School 
vice Mr. Hall, resigned. It appears, from the 
minutes of this meeung, that the ‘Fourth ward 
school was held in Wm. Hannah’s building in 
State street.” 

The report made April 10, 1846, shows that the 
average attendance at the different schools had been: 

College street, male department, : “5 = 394 
oe ‘« female ue 5 ; 117 

’ Ferry abet ; : : ! a agi 
Maiden Lane, 3 7 . 61 
Fourth ward, . 

The amount of school money received for the 
year, reported April 24th,was $1,295.85. On May 
6th the gradual introduction of uniform text-books 
was recommended. 

This was brought forth by a memorial from the 
teachers, presented at the last meeting. The fol- 
lowing is a list of the books designated by them, 

with those also named by the committee : 
Webster's Spelling Book, Hazen’s Speller and 

Definer, Sanders’ First, Second and Third Reader, 
Hale’s History of the United States, Porter's Rhe- 
torical Reader, New Testament, Smith’s Grammar, 
Mitchell’s Geography, First and Second, Critten- 
den’s Arithmetic, Parley’s History, Davies’ Algebra, 
Olmstead’s Philosophy, Marsh’s Bookkeeping r 
(Single Entry), Crittenden’s Bookkeeping (Double 
Entry). 

The introduction of music books was also fa- 
vored. It seems that music very soon became 
part of the curriculum, as on August 20th the 
teachers invited the Board ‘‘to attend an examina- 
tion of their scholars in musical exercises ” soon to 
be held, which invitation was accepted by the 
Board as a body. The following week, on the 
2gth, a grand concert was given by the united 
scholars in the consistory of the Dutch Reformed 
Church, which was well attended. Mr. S. B. 
Marsh was the musical instructor. 

The agitation regarding a change from the Lan- 
caster system was again raised during 1847. Dur- 
ing this year—1847—the Maiden Lane school was 
removed to a room leased in the Cameronian 
Church. Mr. Vedder, the retiring secretary, added 
these words to the minutes of the meeting held 
July 17th: ‘‘Vale, vale, dongum vale. How mutable 
are all human affairs. Othello’s occupation gone. 
Bread or no bread.” 

The amount appropriated April 10, 
pay for teachers was : 

1848, for 

three male teachers at $250 
a year, or $750; one female teacher at $100; and 
oneat $125. Total, $975. 

The apportionment of the school money for 
teachers’ salaries made April 6, 1849, was as 
follows : : 
College street school, male department .......... $245 00 

as se female Sh See tke eat T10 co 
nude lane OD CER OOMEUIY SE BIN od odeas Meat 245 00 
Ferry street San Vahioscutthew seca. onto 245 00 
Missisandens? tS pS. oe 28.5 2:50) a cycfayapeis ctave Siaeussouess I10 co 
African Me eam testes Met hevste iiiehe tcett otax suet were +. 40 00 

TOtMAWPA SIS I, AE AS. ABORT Se SN ok $995 00 

During 1849 there were various complaints made 
against different teachers, but in every case the 
teacher was sustained by the Board. 

January 4, 1850, the customary resolutions were 
passed regarding the death of Frederick R. Van 
Ingen, Esq., a late member of the Board. Hiram 
Champion was appointed to fill the vacancy caused 
by his death. January 26th it was eseoanmentitd 
‘“‘that the schools be made entirely free from the 
present quarter,” but no definite action was taken 
thereon, and March 7th it was reported that there 
would be sufficient school money ($1,997) to pay 
the teachers enough more to make up for their 
deprivation of tuition money, and also to establish 
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another school of a higher grade. April 4th the 
appropriation for teachers was : 

First: ward school male. 2. [o's ci. ccsees ee te se $310 00 
Second ‘ Uc ES AIAN, TREN ate ae. cee wud sifecere 310 CO 

i Ge female: eels sist cle Sus! s cekeiets 170 00 
Fourth ‘* && MA] Obiarasshays eye eis cots sys noi oyolentc 310 00 

CO GY s femmallespeyvanistnesese thea ccotvets 170 00 

Motalte seh Steel oses EMSRS. MESS setts $1,270 00 

and $225 was applied for the Library. 

The report of the Treasurer, made April 18th, 
shows the school money received for the year to be 
$1,261.10, which, with $307.69 received from the 
former Treasurer, made $1,568.69 total cash re- 
ceived. April 25th, the Special Committee upon 
By-laws made their report. This report provides 
for the routine business of the Board, the appoint- 
ment of committees, regular and special, etc. The 
report of the ‘‘ Library and Text-Book ” Committee, 
made at this meeting, is : 

Year. Appropriation. Vols. purchased. 

1820). REE. $279 34 185 
TSAO). Heh ators Sh Nopatoxs 274 91 218 probably. 
POAT ES cSt Se ce 281 84 218 
TSAZE cmtycte hice eects 267 25 205 tc 
TSASIAL . GO RALOEe 267 17 183 
TS44 steak: Mare 268 co 131 
ESAS so Berra teys WileeTceiars 259 17 95 
TSAO hes reas aes oes 260 60 197 
to) ly Parrereibekes Neale ie Parr 264 59 195 
184s Ces, AE SOs 247 47 135 
18493). . Mash. ees 254 70 118 

II years. $2,915 O4 1,879 vols. 

119 volumes are reported as missing, and ‘‘96 
volumes probably.” 

May 2, the following uniform system of text- 
books was recommended : 

Reading and Spelling—Mandeville’s Course, 1 
to 6, 

New Testament, 
Swan’s Spelling Book, 
Mitchell’s Primary and large Geography, 

- Perkins’ Primary, Elementary and High Arith- 
metic, and Colburn’s Intellectual, 
Grammar—Brown’s first lines and larger, 
Cutter’s Physiology, 
Hall’s History of the United States, 
Gray’s Natural Philosophy, 
Perkins’ Elements of Algebra and Geometry, 
Johnston’s Catechism of Agricultural Chemistry, 

which was adopted by the Board May 23. The 
tuition for children under five years of age was 
fixed at $2 per quarter. The report of July 11 
shows that John W. Schoolcrait had been teaching 
the African School since June 3d,at st5 per month, 
(This school had not been in operation for some 
months), and October rith it was decided that this 
school should be closed November 3d. 

The question of a free school had, by this time, 
-become universally agitated, and in January, 1852, 
a committee was appointed to prepare a draft of a 
law for such a school in the city, with a view of 
having the same presented to the Legislature at its 
present session. ‘The committee reported, through 
its President, February 24th, that ‘‘the free school of 
the city of Troy, with such alterations and amend- 

ments as may be necessary, as being suitable for 
this city,” and the report was adopted. 

In 1853 a new school was opened in the Third 
ward, on ‘*‘The Green,” and Miss Frances M. 
Sacia was engaged as teacher on April Ist. 

The last meeting of the ‘‘ Lancaster School So- 
ciety” of which there is any record, was held 
March 16, 1854, the minutes being in the hand- 
writing of Mr. B. V. S. Vedder, for many years its 
Secretary. By these minutes it appears that the 
Trustees recently elected were : 

A. A. Van Vorst, B. V. 5. Vedder, W. H. Clute, 
A. M. Vedder, Francis Van DeBogart, Peter Ved- 
der, Jont. Pierson, Nathaniel Clark, D. M. Chad- 
sey, John Foster, S. L. Hand, M. C. Myers and 
Al M. Mull. 

A. A. Van Vorst was elected President, B. V. S, 
Vedder, Secretary, and A. M. Vedder, Treasurer. 
At this meeting the following resolution was 
adopted : 

‘That this Board do approve of the act now 
before the Legislature of this State, providing for 
the reorganization and improvement of the school 
system of this city, and that we recommend its 
immediate passage,” and ‘‘that the President and 
Secretary be requested to forward a copy of the 
foregoing resolution to the chairman of the proper 
committee of the Senate of this State, under their 
official signatures.” 

The ‘‘ Lancaster School System,” after a life of 

nearly forty years (1816 to 1854), gave way during 
the latter year, to our present Free School system. 

THE FREE SCHOOL SYSTEM, 1854-1885. 

April 9, 1854, an act was passed by the Legisla- 
ture in relation to the public schools in the city of 
Schenectady, and on the 15th of the month the 
Union School was established. In the evening of 
that day the first meeting of School Commissioners 
was held at the Common Council Chamber at the 
Court House. There were present: Alonzo C. 
Paige and Nicholas Van Vranken, from the First 

Ward; D. M. Moore and Wm. M. Duane, of the 
Second; Charles Chequer and Hiram Champion, 
of the Third; and Rev. I. G. Duryee and D. M. 
Chadsey, of the Fourth Ward. Alter organization, 
Mr. Nicholas Van Vranken was elected president, 
and D. M. Chadsey, secretary. James J. Marlette 
succeeded Mr. Chadsey the following year. The 
commissioners, at this meeting, drew lots to decide 
which should hold the long or short terms. Steps 
for the purchase of a proper building for school 
purposes were at once taken, and, May 26th, David 
M. Moore, of the committee, reported that the West 
College, which originally cost over $53,000, couid 
be purchased by the city for $6,c00. ‘The grounds 
were 225 feet front on College street. This prop- 
erty was secured shortly after this report, and the 
first two stories were made ready to accommodate 
about 450 scholars, it being believed that that num- 
ber would cover all those ready to attend the 
school. 

October 
opened. 

15, 1852, the school was formally 
In the evening appropriate exercises were 
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held at the Presbyterian Church, at which speeches 
were made by Dr. Nott, Dr. Hickok and judge 
Paige. That the commissioners had been in error 
in concluding that the two lower stories would ac- 
commodate those desirous of attending was soon 
made apparent. From 450 the pupils immediately 
increased to over 1,100, and it was necessary to 
close the school in order to prepare the third 
story. 

The re-opening was December 1oth, at which 
time there were accommodations for 1,200 pupils; 
800 in the main building, 200 in the old Lan- 
caster school building, and 200 in the White street 
building. 

In the beginning the Union School was divided 
into ten departments over which George B. Cook 
was principal; he was assisted by the following 
teachers: Mary A. Morrill, junior and senior prim- 
ary departments ; Lizzie ‘AL W: Hill, junior sec- 
ondary department: Huldah A. Allen, senior sec- 
ondary department; Isabella E. Fisher, junior 
intermediate department; Angeline A. Monk, 
senior intermediate department; Caroline Van Voor- 
his, junior grammar department; Malvina Proctor, 
senior grammar department: Jane L. Olmstead, 

Catharine S. Olmstead, Mary Wilds, higher English 
department; John S. Parsons, Mary A. Bodge, 
Caroline L. Bridgman, academical department; 
Abby W. French and two assistant teachers, boys’ 
library school; and Rebecca M. Gurnsey and Jane 
I. Cunningham, White street school. 

The attendance at this school, from its com- 
mencement, has steadily increased. The whole 
building was soon in use, and 1859, what is known 
as the ‘‘ New Building” was erected. In 1872 
another change was necessary, and the classical 
department was removed to the Delavan building 
at the corner of Union and Church streets, and the 
Fifth ward school was erected. Five years later, 
1877, the Park Place school was put up, and the 
Nott Terrace school followed in 1883. 

The yearly school-money now is about $30,000. 
Mr. Samuel B. Howe was appointed Superintend- 
ent of Schools August 31, 1868, and has held the 
position continuously ever since. To his personal 
efforts much of the success of the schools are 
due. 
The number of scholars’ names now on the 

registers is 2,500, and the average daily attendance 
is about 1,800. To instruct these the following 
named teachers are required, the year of the com- 
mencement of their services in Schenectady being 
also given: Anna E. Gilbert, Main School, August, 
1860; Sarah E. LaRue, August, 1860; Elizabeth 
M. Yates, June, 1867; Mary 16; Paine, December, 
1870; Marie Hastings, October, 1871; Mary L. 
Buell, August, 1872; Elizabeth Hallowell, Novem- 
ber, 1873; Ella McNee, March, 1876; Emma Lee, 
August, 1880; Augusta Oothout, November, 
1880; Helena A. Hall, November, 1880; Jennie 
Vedder, June, 1881; Emma C. Chubb, February, 
1882; Susie C. Vedder, June, 1882; Susie N. 
Sprague, October, 1882; Anna Ferguson, Novem- 
ber 1882; Lillie D. Daley, June, 1883: Carrie A. 
Brown, June, 1883; Ella McKenry, June, 1883; 

Ella Terworth, October, 1884; Mary Cleary, 
1885. Total, 21. 

S. Halsey, Classical School, July, 1 
KE. Carley, June, 1881 ; Emma L. Clare, June, 1881; 

Ida J. Fenn, September, 1 1882; M. H. Duurloo, 
July, 1883 ; Dow Beekman, June, 1884; Georgia 
Gates, Classical and Elocution, June, 1884. 
Total, 7. 

Olive Morris, Nott Terrace School, 
1866 ; Ernestine Stockwell, January, 1868 ; Lydia 
H. Brown, February, 1872; Minnie A. Piper, 

December, 1881; Alice D. Stevens, June, 1882 ; 
Mary F. Caw, February, 1883; Lottie Allen, 
June, 1883; Carrie R. Smith, October, 1884, 
Total, 8. 

Anna FE. Cunningham, Albany Hill School, 
May, 1867 ; Lucinda Sands, April, 1874; Joanna 

Chandler, October, 1874; Lillian G. King, April, 
1885. Total, 4. 

Rachel Baker, Park Place School, September, 
1874 ; Etta W. Felthousen, March, 1877; Mar- 
garet L. Groot, March 1877 ; Irene Schermerhorn, 

March, 

875; He ‘len 

August, 

March, 1882. ‘Total, 4 
Helen Palmer, Instrumental Music, August, 

1864, 

RECAPITULATION OF TEACHERS. 

Main School, 21; Classical, 7; Nott Terrace, 
8; Albany Hill, 4; Park Place, 4. Total number, 
Teachers, 44. 

S. B. Howe was born in Tompkins Co., N. Y., 
and graduated from Union College in 1862. He 
served as adjunct professor in the college, and 
previous to his location here, in 1868, as school 
superintendent, in Ithaca (1862), Catskill (1865), 
and Albany (1867). 

Capy Stacey, Professor of Civil Engineering in 
Union College, was born in Florida, Montgomery 
County, N. Y., December 12, 1840, and gradu- 
ated from Union College in 1865. He became a 
civil engineer in 1867, and in 1881 served on the 
Central Pacific Railroad as bridge engineer, and is 
at present Dean and Acting Treasurer of the Col- 
lege. 

Many graduates from ‘‘Old Union” remember 
JAMES Pickett, who was for many years prior to 
his death the superintendent of the college grounds. 
Mr. Pickett’s unobtrusive kindness and Christian 
character made for him many friends. 

Cuarces S. Harsey was born in Cambria, Ni- 
agara County, N. Y., December 20, 1834, and 
eraduated from Willams College in 1856. He 
served as principal in Macedon “Academy, Wayne 
ee N. Y., from September, 1856, to March, 
1858; Newton Collegiate Institute, NevtoR! NM. TS 
orm ‘April: 1859, to April, 1861; Macedon Acad- 
emy, from August, 1862, to June, 1865; High 
School, Burlington, Vt., from 1872 to 1875; and 
in 1875 was elected principal of the Union Clas- 
sical Institute, Schenectady, N. Y. He is author 
3) Sola Gras and Chronological Chart of the 
Rulers of England, Scotland, France, Germany 
and Spain ” (1873), and (1882) ‘‘An Etymology 
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of Latin and Greek.” His studies in philology 
have been extensive. 

SCHENECTADY ACADEMY. 

The first authentic information of any special 
attention being given to an organized school 
system in Schenectady dates back to the rev- 
olution. 

The coming of Dominie Romeyn as pastor of | 
the Dutch Church, was the inspiration of the 
Schenectady Academy. Through his influence 
the church was induced to erect a commodious 
building, the citizens agreeing to give it their 
patronage and furnish it with a library. ‘The 
church contemplated constructing a house of 
two stories, with two rooms on each story, upon 
the lot of ground upon which the old guard-house 
now stands, at the junction of Church and State 
streets. Three rooms were to be assigned for the 
use of the school and academy. 

On account of the great cost of the Academy- 
house to the church, it was ‘‘resolved, that said 
church shall receive four shillings from every scholar 
taught in said house, and if said academy or ///us- 
tre Schocl shall become changed into a college, 
then the presidents of such college, as well as the 
tector of said school, shall be a member of the 

Dutch Church and minister of this church ; and 
the said four shillings for each scholar shall be be- 
stowed upon such poor scholars as the church shall 
name.” 

The consistory, about March 5, 1785, were still 
negotiating with the town magistrates for the im- 
provement of the common schools of the town and 

-for the establishment of an academy. The con- 
sistory ordered the gathering of materials for the 
academy on the 16th of the same month, and on 
the 28th it was considered expedient to build the 
academy, not upon the old guard-house lot, 
but upon the north corner of Union and Ferry 
Streets. 

April 7, 1785, the academy building was well 
under way, and the consistory, together with 
twenty-seven respectable citizens of the town, met 
at Rueben Simond’s public-house in Church street, 
to close the matter of the academy by signing 
articles of agreement for its management and sup- 
port. (This agreement is drawn with great formal- 
ity and particularity in eleven sections, and _ is 
written upon fifteen pages of foolscap——probably 
by Do. Romeyn, who was president of the 
meeting. ) 

William Schermerhorn was appointed superin- 
tendent, and a committee, both of citizens and 
consistory, to urge forward the Academy building. 
A stone of an oval shape was built into the front 
on which were cut the names of the building 
committee ; this stone is now in Union College 
Museum. 

An effort was made in 1791 to endow this school 
by a grant of Indian lands; and November 16, 
Dr. Dirk Van Ingen announced to the consistory 
that he and others had rented 10,240 acres of land 
of the Oneida Indians for twenty-one years, on con- 

sideration that he paid after five years £100 yearly 
to said Indians. Inasmuch as the academy, un- 
incorporated, could not hold real estate, he of- 
fered the land to the consistory for the benefit of 
the Dutch Church, At first the consistory agreed 
to receive the land but subsequently gave it up, 
finding, doubtless, that it could not be legally held 
by the church. 

On the 2d day of April, 1793, the Dutch 
Church made the building over to the trustees of 
the academy; and on September 24, 1796, it was 
made over to the trustees of Union College, to be 
sold and the money put into a more commodious 
building. The proceeds of this sale were finally 
merged in the building fund of the present Union 
School edifice. 

Academy Building, 1795. 

The academy building was of brick, two stories 
in height, about 50 x 30 feet on the ground, and 
cost about $3,000. It was used by Union College 
until 1804. This school was openedin 1793 under 
the care of Col. John Taylor, of New Jersey. This 
school appears to have been conducted with much 
ability, and being well sustained by the community 
in which it was planted, became the germ of the 
college. 

An academic school, in connection with Union 
College, was established by President Nott imme- 
diately after his election in 1804. The teachers of 
this school were appointed by him, and the princi- 
pal was recognized by the laws of the college as a 
member of the faculty. This academic school be- 
came popular and extensively useful for many 
years. 

On the 7th of April, 1818, an act was passed 
authorizing the revival and reorganization of the 
Schenectady Academy, which was done by the 
election of a Board of Trustees on the rst day of 
April, 1819. The academic department of Union 
College was merged into this school. 

The Rev. Dr. Nathan N. Whiting was appointed 
principal of the academy, and was succeeded by 
Mr. Wm. Beattie, who resigned in 1828, and was 
succeeded by Daniel Fuller. 

The academy continued until the reorganization 
of the schools of the city in 1854. 
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UNION COLLEGE. 

Union College was founded at Schenectady, Feb- 
ruary 25, 1795. The Legislature having vested in 
the regents of the university the right of granting 
college charters, a memorial was addressed to the 

board by the trustees of the Schenectady Academy, 
which led to the granting of a charter to twenty- 
four persons therein named, and their successors, 
under the title of ‘‘ The Trustees of Union College 

Se Log SAPS oe 

De LORS PAGES a bans ban SET 

in the Town of Schenectady, in the State of New 
York.” The first trustees were Robert Yates. 

Abraham Yates, Jr., Abraham Ten Broeck, Golds- 

brow Banyar, John V. Henry, George Merchant, 
Stephen Van Rensselaer, John Glen, Isaac Vrooman, 

Joseph C. Yates, James Shuter, Nicholas Veeder, 
James Gordon, Beriah Palmer, Samuel Smith, 

Henry Walton, Ammi Rodgers, Aaron Conduit, 

Jacobus V. (S) Romeyn, James Cochran, John Frey, 

D. Christopher Pick, Jonas Platt, and Jonas Coe. 

COLLEGE BUILDINGS AND CAMPUS, UNION COLLEGE. 

OF these, seven resided in Albany, six in Sche- 
nectady, three in Ballston; and in Saratoga, Troy, 
Kinderhook, Palatine, Herkimer and Whitestown, 
N, ¥;, and ‘Hackensack, N.#}.5 ome-each. 

Under an act passed March 30, 1805, the charter 
was amended by the regents, March 29, 1806, by 
reducing the number to twenty-one and adding the 
Chancellor, Justices of the Supreme Court, Secre- 
tary of State, Comptroller, Treasurer, Attorney- 
General and Surveyor-General, by virtue of their 
civil offices. The Constitution of 1821, by reducing 
the number of Judges made further vacancies, which 
by an act passed February 14, 1823, were to be 
filled by the Governor and Lieutenant-Governor. 

The Constitution of 1846, by abolishing some of | 
the above offices, required further changes, and the 
ex officio trustees are now the Governor, Lieutenant- 
Governor, Secretary of State, Comptroller and 
Treasurer. They were empowered to hold an estate 
with an income of $13,3334, were vested with the 
usual powers of a college, and were empowered to 
fill vacancies in their board. 

The chronicles of the day record that the event 
of receiving a college charter was celebrated by 
great rejoicing, with the ringing of bells, display of 
flags, bonfires and general illumination. 

The name ‘‘ Union College” was given as express- 
ing the intention of uniting all religious sects in a 
common interest for the common good, by offering 
equal advantages to all, with preference to none. 

It is believed that this is the first college in the 
United States not confessedly denominational 
its character. 

The college was organized on the rgth of Octo- 
ber, 1795, ‘by the election of Rev. Jobn Blair 
Smith, D,D., of Philadelphia, as president; John 

Taylor, A. M., as professor of mathematics and 
natural philosophy; and the Rev. Andrew Yates, 
as professor of the Latin and Greek languages. 

The first commencement was held May, 1797, 
and the first degree conferred upon three young 
men, who had completed the course of study re- 
quired. 

This wasan occasion of signal and novel interest 
all over the country around, and drew together a 
large and enthusiastic audience. The public ex- 
ercises were held in the old Reformed Dutch 
Church. 

Dr. Smith was succeeded by Rev. Jonathan Ed- 
wards, D. D. (son of Rev. Jonathan Edwards, after- 
wards President of the College of New Jersey), 
who died in 1801, and was followed by Rev. Jona- 
than Maxcy, D. D., a Baptist clergyman from 
Providence, R. I., who resigned in 1804, and went 
to Columbia, South Carolina, as President of the 
South Carolina College. 

Under the presidency of Dr. Edwards a new ed- 
ifice was begun on a scale magnificent for that day, 
and still one of the finest and best built in the city. 

Rev. Eliphalet Nott was chosen president in 
1804. 

Dr. Nott found the college wanting both means 
and students. The inhabitants of Schenectady 
had proposed an endowment of $30,000 in lands, 
obligations and money; but the largest subscrip- 
tion was only $250, the next $100, and the total 
sum altogether, from sources other than direct gift 
of the State, but $42,043.74 Grants were made 

by the State as follows: 
April 9, 1795, for books and apparatus, $3,750; 

April 11, 1796, for buildings, $10,000; March 30, 
1797, for salaries, $1,500; March 7, 1800, for 
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completion of building, $10,000; March 7, 1800, 
ten lots, of 550 acres each, in the military tract, 
for support of president and professors, $43,453.- 
93; April 8, 1801, and April 3, 1802, sale of gar- 

Total rison lands near Lake George, $9,375. 20. 
grants before 1804, $78,112.13. 

The building, begun under President Edwards, 
in 1792, was still unfinished, and the college was 
burdened with a heavy debt. It was completed 
during the first year of Dr. Nott’s incumbency. 
The original cost, including the site, was $60,000. 
It contained a residence for the president, the 

a 

a Seas 

THE OLD WEST COLLEGE, NOW UNION SCHOOL. 

chapel, library and recitation-rooms, and a consid- 
erable number of dormitories. In 1815 it was 
sold to the city and county for a court-house, jail 
and city offices, and, while thus owned, was com- 
monly known as the ‘‘City Hall.” The college 
received in payment 3,000 acres of land, in de- 
tached parcels, in various parts of Schenectady 
County. In 1831 it was repurchased by the college 
for $10,090, and used for library, cabinets and 
residents of freshmen and sophomore classes until 
1854. It was then resold to the city for the sum 
of $6,000, and is now known as ‘‘ Union School.” 
Between 1805 and 1810 a row of two-story brick 
buildings was erected on College street for use of 
dormitories. It was known as ‘‘Long College,” 
and was sold in 1830. The means that had been 
provided were quite inadequate to the wants of a 
prosperous college, and to supply the needed en- 
dowment recourse was had to an expedient, now 
forbidden by a better public sentiment, but then 
deemed proper, for raising funds in aid of every 
religious, educational and benevolent enterprise of 
the day and for public improvements. It was 
therefore deemed advisable to urge the passage of 
a law, which was secured March 30, 1805, for rais- 
ing the sum of $S0,000 by lottery. This sum was 
to be drawn by four successive lotteries of $20,000 
each. The act directed $35,000 to be applied to 
the erection of additional buildings; an equal sum 

to be invested, the interest to be applied to the 
support of professorships, and the remaining 
$10,000 to be invested, one-half of the proceeds 
for a classical library and the balance toward de- 
fraying the expenses of indigent scholars. It ap- 
pears, from a legislative report made in 1814, that 
but $55,009 were realized from this grant. 

A few years’ experience showed that the location 
in the city was not sufficiently ample, and the ob- 
serving eye of Dr. Nott, at an early period in his 
presidency, had noticed in the suburbs a better 
one, that combined in rare degree every advantage 
desirable. 

A tract of some 250 acres was secured, and new 
buildings begun, on College Hill, in 1812, and 
were occupied in part in the summer of 1814. To 
provide the means for these improvements, and for 
a substantial endowment, application was made to 
the State for another grant of a kind similar to the 
last. An act was accordingly passed, largely 
through the efforts of Dr. Nott, for raising the 
sum of $200,000 for Union College and consid- 
erable sums for other institutions. Of the sum al- 
lowed to Union College there was specially given : 

For the erection of buildings, st1oo,o00; for 
payment of existing debts, $30,000; for library and 
apparatus, $20,000; for relief of indigent students, 
50,c00. Total, including all sums previously given 
by the State, $331,612.13. 
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The proceedings consequent upon these trans- | ing it fully the peer of the first institutions of the 
actions extended through many years, and the | country. 
drawings of the lotteries were not entirely closed 
until the end of 1833. 

From the time of completion of buildings on the 
new site the college entered upon a season of gen- 
eral prosperity, and the unusually large proportion 
in the senior classes shows a fact well known 
throughout the country, that many students, after 
passing through the lower classes elsewhere, came 
hither to enjoy the instruction of Dr, Nott, and 
receive from him their first degree. 

The advancing age of Dr. Nott led to the calling, 
in 1852, of the Rev. Laurens P. Hickok, D. D., 
from the Auburn Theological Seminary to serve as 
vice-president, and upon him gradually devolved 
the cares of the presidency, although they were 
not actually conferred in name until after the death 
of Dr. Nott, in 1866. 

SEMI-CENTENNIAL OF THE COLLEGE.—This event 
in the history of the college was celebrated in con- 
nection with the commencement exercises in 1845. 
The occasion called together an immense number 
of the alumni and literary strangers, to receive whom 
the common council extended the hospitality of 
the city, and all the principal citizens opened their 
houses to receive guests. The Rev. Josh. Sweet- 
man, of the first class graduated, and the Rt. Rev. President Eliphalet Nott Potter. 
Alonzo Potter, of the class of 1818, then recently 
elected Bishop of Pennsylvania, delivered addresses Present Buripincs.—The principal buildings of 
on the occasion. Union College are North College and South Col- 

lege, six hundred feet apart, and each with a colon- 
nade facing inward ; a memorial hall midway be- 
tween but standing back three hundred feet from 

SemI-CENTENNIAL OF Dr. Nott’s PREstpENcy.— 
This occasion was celebrated on the 25th of July, 
1854. Ason the previous gathering, the hospital- 
ities of the city were tendered to the returning sons 
of Union, and to the literary strangers called to- 
gether by so unusual an event. The address of 
Dr. Nott was a compact and interesting review of 
the labors, joys and trials of the last fifty years. 
The principal orators of the occasion were the 
Rev. Francis Wayland, President of Brown Uni- 

versity, and the Hon. Wm. W. Campbell, of 
Cherry Valley. 

Recent Huistory.—On the retirement of Dr. 
Hickok, Charles A. Aiken, D.D., of Dartmouth 
College, was chosen president, and he filled the 
duties with acceptance until 1871, when, for do- 
mestic reasons, he resigned ; and in the selection 
of a successor, the choice fell upon the Rev. Eliph- 
alet Nott Potter, D. D., the grandson of Dr. Nott 
and son of Bishop Alonzo Potter. 

With the declining years of Dr. Nott the number 
of students decreased, and during the late war the 
college was nearly stripped of its students by the 
withdrawal of the whole number from the South, | 
while many from the North were attracted to new 
institutions that were competing for favor. It be- 
came a subject of serious thought on the part of 
those intrusted with the affairs of Union College 
as to how the emergency was to be met, and | the front line ; a gymnasium in the rear ot South 
no plan appeared more feasible than that of | College; a president’s house, and three other 
yielding to the progressive spirit of the age by | dwellings on the line with the main college build- 
enlarging its facilities, extending its courses of | ings, and a professor’s residence at some distance 
study, and, in the best sense of the word, render- | east of the principal group of buildings; also a 

Blue Gate. 
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CITY: OF |SCHENECTADY. 

semi-circular building facing westward on the 
campus, the centre of which is used for the library 
and the wings for recitation rooms. 

PRESENT Grounps.—The original grounds ac- 
quired for college uses have been somewhat re- 
duced by railroad and street improvements, but 
are scarcely liable to further encroachment, and 
are amply sufhicient for every probable want. They 
embrace about one hundred and _ thirty acres, in- 
cluding the campus, gardens and grounds properly 
belonging to the college and essential for its use, 
besides some one hundred acres of woodlands and 
fields adjoining. 

College Brook. 

Oruer Reat Estatre.—The college owns con- 
siderable land in Long Island City, that was pur- 
chased by Dr. Nott for Union College from the 
Hunter family, after whom Hunters Point was 
named. The property has been laid out in streets 
and building lots, and graded. It extends about 
half a mile along Newtown Creek, and has a front- 
age on the East River of about half a mile. The 
property consists of several hundred building lots. 
In 1873 this property was considered to be worth 
a million dollars. The estimates now put upon it 
vary. 

In addition to the Long Island City land, the 
college owns three lots on One Hundred and 
Eighteenth street, and a house and lot on Fourth 
avenue, in New York City. 

Courses oF Stupy.—The ‘‘ classical course” of 
study usual in first-class colleges is now pursued 
in Union. In 1802 the required studies for the 
first, second and third terms of the freshman class 
were ‘‘ Latin, Greek and English languages, arith- 
metic, Sheridan’s Lectures on Elocution, and the 

writing of Latin exercises as the faculty shall ap- 
point.” ‘‘For the Sophomore year, geography, 
algebra, vulgar and decimal fractions, the extrac- 
tion of roots, conic sections, Euclid’s Elements, 
trigonometry, surveying, mensuration of heights 
and distances, navigation, logic, Blair's Lectures, 
and such parts of eminent authors in the learned 
languages as the officers of the college shall sub- 
scribe.” 

A Department of Engineering was established 
in 1845; its course of instruction aiming to impart 
skill and experience in mechanical drafting g, instru- 
mental field-work, and numerical calculation, com- 
bined with the study of text-books and lectures on 
numerous subjects where these are wanting. This 
course was afterward extended to four years, and 
intermingled with the scientific course of the college 
proper. This department is unusually well sup- 
plied with models, the most important of which is 
the original Oliver collection, purchased in Paris, 
France, in 1855. 

SCIENTIFIC COURSE OF STUDY, 

now so popular in many colleges, originated with 
Dr. Nott, and was firstintroduced in Union Col- 
lege. The plan was looked upon with much dis- 
trust at first by other educators, but its benefits 
soon came to be appreciated and it was gradually 
adopted by other colleges. The system has prov ed 
its excellency and justifies the foresight of its origi- 
nator. The scientific course of Union College has 
always maintained a first position among the edu- 
cational institutions of the country. 

CHEMICAL LABORATORY. 

A laboratory was established for chemical analysis 
in 1855, at a cost of about $7,000 for fixtures and 
$10,000 for chemicals and other stock. It has been 
successively in charge of Professors C. E. Joy, C. F. 
Chandler, and of Maurice Perkins, M. D., the 
present incumbent. 

MILITARY INSTRUCTION. 

In 1873 Union College applied to the War De- 
partment requesting that an officer of the Engineer 
Corps might be detailed for the purpose of giving 
military instruction, in pursuance of the policy fa- 
vored by act of Congress, with the view of inducing 
colleges to supplement in some degree the work 
of the military academy in this department of use- 
ful knowledge. The Government has, in accord- 
ance with this request, supplied the college with 
muskets and equipments for drill and instruction, 
under a commissioned officer of the army. <A 
plain, inexpensive uniform has been adopted, anda 
course of military instruction has been added to the 
college curriculum without abating anything from 
the course of studies formerly prescribed. The 
drill is regarded chiefly. as a physical training. 

COLLEGE SOCIETIES. 

Union College has at present two liverary socie- 
ties with libraries—the Philomathian Society, 
formed in 1793 by the young men of the town in 
the old academy building before the college charter 
was granted, possessing a library of 3,000 volumes; 
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132 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

the Adelphic Society, founded in 1797, and its 
library, containing about 3,000 volumes; cight 
‘*Greek letter” societies, some of which originated 
with this college; and a chapter of ‘‘Phi Beta 
Kappa Society,” established here in 1817, and is a 
strictly honorary society. There is also a ‘‘Sen- 
te,” formed for purpose of debate on political sub- 

jects, consisting of the Senior class. The rules of 
order and method of procedure are modeled, as 
near as may be, after those of the Senate of the 
United States. 

An Alumni Association was formed in 1857, and 
has several branches. A modification of the char- 
ter was procured in 1871, by granting to the 
alumni a representation in the board of trustees, so 
that now there are four graduates holding that 
trust, one being chosen annually for a term of four 
years. The election i is held on alumni day, the 
one preceding commencement, in the college 
chapel. 

SCHOLARSHIPS. 

Under an act passed in 1814, the sum of fifty 
thousand dollars was set apart as a fund, the income 
of which has ever since been applied in aiding 
young men of narrow means. This fund has been 
increased by several benefactions. Miss Catherine 
L.Wolf, of New York City, has given fifty thousand 
dollars in pursuance of a purpose entertained by 
her deceased father, Mr. John David Wolf, for aid- 
ing the education of young men from the Southern 
States. Dr. John McClelland (class of 1832), of 
New York City, influenced largely by the aid he 
had himself received while in college, has given fifty 
thousand dollars, and a worthy son of Union Col- 
lege has placed a bequest of thirty thousand dol- 
lars in his will to endow an emeritus professorship, 

ORDINARY SCHOLARSHIPS. 

To a large class of students Union College pre- 
sents extraordinary advantages in its numerous 
scholarships. In the scholarships of the first grade 
the incumbents, on condition of good conduct 
and satisfactory application to study, receive at the 
end of each term a credit on the books of the regis- 
trar to the full amount of term bills. 

In the scholarships of the second grade, the in- 
cumbents, on the same condition, receive a credit 
to the amount of half the term bills 

These scholarships are accessible, under certain 
restrictions, to all who present the requisite certi- 
ficates of character and sustain the examinations 
required for admission to the regular classes of the 
college. 

PRIZE SCHOLARSHIPS. 

Among the several classes of scholarships 
founded by the late Dr. Nott—a few of which only 
are yet actually founded, but their ultimate endow- 
ment is secured by the prospective sale of valuable 
lands—is a class of prize scholarships granted ac- 
cording to certain prescribed rules. The pecuniary 
emolument of a prize scholarship is thirty-five dol- 
Jars a term, or four hundred and twenty dollars 
for the whole college course, a provision which 
enables the incumbent, after paying his college 
bills, to retain the sum of one hundred and twenty 
dollars, 

The possession of a prize scholarship demands, 
thoughout the whole course, high standing asa 

student in all respects; and the incumbent is for- 
bidden to use intoxicating liquor as a beverage, 

and tobacco inall its forms. Some of these scholar- 
ships enable the student to pursue post-graduate 
studies for a certain time. 

PRIZES AND MEDALS. 

There area number of prizes given at commence- 
ment, consisting of medals, money or books, 
awarded for proficiency in oratory, essays and de- 
portment, some of which can be competed for by 
the Seniors only; others by the juniors and 
sophomores. 

COLLEGE LIBRARIES. 

There are three libraries connected with the 
institution, of which the college library proper con- 
tains about 20,000 volumes, the Philomathian 
Society library about 4,000 volumes, and the 

Adelphic Society about 3,000 volumes. 

COLLECTIONS IN NATURAL HISTORY. 

The college has long been a center of special 
interest for students of natural history. In 1541 it 
received a large collection of minerals and fossils 
from the State cabinet. In 1860 the ‘‘ Wheatley 
Collection ” of shells and minerals, worth more 
than $20,000, was presented by E. C. Delevan. 
Large and valuable additions of specimens were 
added by Prof. H. E. Webster as the results of his 
labors in dredging on the coasts of Maine, 
Massachusetts, Virginia and Florida. 

PHILOSOPHICAL DEPARTMENT. 

In this department the collections, under the care 
of Prof. John Foster, have grown to be among the 
finest in the country. ‘The donations of friends 
have added largely to the collection, but the princi- 
pal part has been purchased by the friends of the 
college or by special funds raised for this purpose. 

ART DEPARTMENT. 

Memorial Hall affords a fine opportunity for the 
preservation and display of works of art, a consid- 
erable collection of which is already procured. 
Through a liberal annual gift of Miss Catharine L. 
Wolfe, of New York, the prospect that this depart- 
ment will become unusually fine is promising. 

THE SONGS OF UNION. 

This feature of college literature deserves notice. 
For many years they were floating waifs. Some of 
them were productions of real merit. A few of 
these songs are perennial in their fragrance and are 
always sung on festive occasions. The song of 
‘‘Old Union,” composed by Fitzhugh Ludlow, 
class of 1856, is always sung on commencement 
day at the didse of the graduating services. The 
hearty good-will and feeling with which returning 

sons join in the grand chorus : 

** Then here's to thee, the brave and free, 
Old Union smiling o’er us ; 

And for many a day, as thy walls grow gray, 
May they ring with thy children’s chorus. 

show that the gifted poet did not attune his lyre in 
vain, 
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UNION UNIVERSITY. 

About forty years after the incorporation of 
Union College, the people of Albany conceived the 
idea of establishing a series of post-graduate institu- 
tions at the capital, and began by the founding of 
the ‘‘ Albany Medical College,” April 14, 1838. 

The ‘‘ Albany Law School” was incorporated in 
1851. 
The ‘‘ Dudley Observatory” was incorporated in 

1852. 
The above institutions, together with ‘‘ Union 

College,” were incorporated as ‘‘ Union University ” 
in 1873. . 

‘©The Albany College of Pharmacy” is also a 
part of the University. 

Orricrats.—President ad interim, Hon, Judson 
S. Landon, LL: Dy. of Schenectady. —President- 
elect, Rev. Joseph Tuttle Duryea, D.D., Pastor 
of the Central Congregational Church of Boston, 
Mass. 
TrusteEs.—Rev. Dr. J. Trumbull Backus, 

Hon. E. A. Paige, Hon. Platt Potter, Hon. Jud- 
son S. Landon, of Schenectady ; Hon. “Fred. 
Townsend, Albany; Rev. Dr. Wm. Irwin, Troy ; 
Revi Dr, J. LeeReese We) H...H. Moore;-Hon. 
David Murray, LL.D., Albany; Rev. Dr. Denis 
Wortman, Saugerties ; Hon. L. W. Rhodes, Troy; 
Col. D. C. Robinson, Elmira; Rev. Dr. George 
Alexander, Hon. Hooper C. Van Voast, Silas B. 
Brownell, Thomas W. Featherstonehaugh, New 
York ; Rev. Dr. E. Nott Potter, Geneva; Dr. P. 
R. Furbeck, Gloversville ; and the officers of the 
State of New York, ev-offczo. 

Proressors.—Henry Whitehorne, A. M., Greek 
Language and Literature; Wm. Wells, A. M., Ph. 
D., Modern Languages ; Maurice Perkins, A.M., 
Chemistry ; Cady: Staley, A.M., C. E., Civil En- 
gineering ; Samuel B. Howe, Principal Union 
Schools; «Chast .(S."7Halseyew, AvM.,; “ Principal 
Classical Institute; Sidney G. Ashmore, A.M., 
Latin; First Lieutenant, First Artillery, Henry W. 
Hubbell, U. S. A., Military Science ; Winfield S. 
Chaplin, A.M., Mathematics and Physics (Knight 
of the Rising Sun, Japan); W. E. Griffis, D.D., 
Mental Science, Adjunct Professor; James R. 
Truax, Rhetoric and English Literature ; Henry F. 
Depew, Adjunct Professor, Mathematics; Rev. 
Rudolph Farber, Hebrew. 

Actinc TREASURER. —Cady Staley. 
Recistrar.—Mrs. M. L. Peissner. 

Carlyle says that the history of the world is the 
biography of its great men. This applies with 
peculiar force to the life of Eliphalet Nott. He 
was born in Ashford, Windham County, Con- 
necticut, June 25, 1773. "At the! time’ of his 
death, January 29, 1866, he had occupied the po- 
sition of President of Union College for sixty-two 
years, a period without parallel in the history of 
our literary institutions. He had leng stood in 
the foremost rank of American educators. His 
reputation as a pulpit orator was hardly less dis- 
tinguished; while as a reformer and philanthro- 
pist he had now an honorable position among the 

benefactors of his kind. Such a life well deserves 
a written memorial. 

In 1804 a young Presbyterian clergyman, 
Eliphalet Nott, was called to the presidency of 
Union College. A year before the organization of 
the college he had passed from Connecticut 
ee. All any to a new settlement in Cherry 
Va lley, where he became ea and teacher. He 

Eliphalet Nott. 

was soon called to Albany, where, in 1804, he 
made the most fortunate effort of his life, which 

told greatly upon his future career. His sermon 
upon the death of Hamilton, at the hands of Burr, 
stamped him as one of the rising men of the 
period, and he was at once called to the presidency. 
President Nott found the college in imperative 
need of means and students. He soon appealed 
to the State for aid, and thus laid the foundation 
of measures which resulted in training the legis- 
lators and the people of the commonwealth to 
consider the matter of popular and higher educa- 
tion as the paramount duty of a Republican 
Government. The college was soon so rapidly 
increasing in numbers under his management that 
new buildings became a necessity, and the site now 
occupied by the college was obtained. During 
1814 Dr. Nott succeeded in having a bill passed 
by the Legislature of the State, by which Union 
College wasto have $200,000. In this period this 
was a princely sum for such purposes. The dis- 
cussion attending the passage of this measure at- 
tracted the attention of the whole State, during 
which the movement in favor of establishing com- 
mon schools became so popular that men who 
were first opposed to it began to tone down their 
opposition. The president watched the bill day 
by day, and from this period, down through the 
days of Marcy, Silas Wright and Seward, the in- 
fluence of Dr. Nott at the capital was very potent, 
and aided greatly in advancing the welfare of the 
institution. It is not our purpose to relate in 
detail the grand educational work of this man. 
The best years of his long life were given, un- 
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reservedly, to the enhancement of the college. 
He had time for other and important things. 
He was a leader in temperance teachings, his 
sympathies were loyal during the Civil War, and in 
the counsels of his own religious denomination, as 
well as others, his advice was often sought. His 
Christian sympathy and charity identified him in 
a practical way with every movement for moral 
and religious advancement. 

Dr. Nott was a genius in the line of mechanical 
invention, and the utilization of the latent wealth 
of the country. ‘‘ He was among the first to aid 
and supplement the labors of Fulton, in his ef- 
forts to introduce steam navigation on the Hudson 

Nott Stove. 

River, and the steamer ‘Novelty,’ which was 
largely constructed under his guidance, came from 
New York to Albany at a speed that astonished 
the age.” In these efforts to improve and intro- 
duce machinery, and especially to utilize the newly 
discovered power of steam, Dr. Nott’s attention 
was largely directed to the production and materials 
of combustion for mechanical and domestic pur- 
poses. The famous “Nott” stoves were long in 
use at the college, and gained, for a time, a broad 
public popularity. Albany and Troy owe their pre- 
eminence in the stove manufacture nota little to 
his immediate presence and counsel. 

The countenance of Dr. Nott was a striking one, 
even in its repose; the eye, which was of a grayish 

color, and capable of great variety of expression, 
being one of its most marked features. His fore- 
head was high and straight, nose prominent and 
aquiline, and the mouth and chin well-formed and 
symmetrical. He was nearly six feet high, with a 
stalwart frame. In his intercourse with students, 
his quick sympathy with youth was very marked. 
The stern aspect of one jealous of authority was 
not seen in the class-room. He had a way of pass- 
ing from grave to gay so easily and gracefully, 
that it was at once seen to be nature instead of 
studied art. He obtained, with some, the character 
of an adroit manager. It was said that he 
reached his ends, at times, by indirect methods, 
but those most familiar with him unite in their 
testimony to his truthfulness and honor. By ne- 
cessity he was discreet, cautious and wary. He 
knew men and how to approach, move and con- 
vince them. His method of doing this was his 
own. He was ascholar, a teacher and an inventor; 
but it was, however, as a man, a great souled, 

energetic, practical man, intent on making other 
energetic, practical men, who should leave their 
mark upon their times, as he has done, that he 
chiefly claims our admiration. No better epitaph 
can be written of him than the words applied by 
an orator to General Grant: “He is great by the 
arduous greatness of things done.” 

Tayler Lewis. 

For nearly thirty years the figure of Tayler 
Lewis was among the most prominent and strik- 
ing upon the streets of Schenectady, and within 
the enclosures of Union College. His presence 
was not such as impressed by muscular vigor 
or accumulated flesh and blood. His physical 
frame was slight in build, and his air was that of a 
studious scholar, to whom vigorous or violent ex- 
ercise was unknown. Yet it was not that of a_re- 
cluse, but gave even the casual observer the 1m- 
pression of a man among men who knew what 
was in man. Thoroughly acquainted with human 
nature, Tayler Lewis chose to sway the public by 
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thought and argument, rather than by personal con- 
tact or by dramatic action. In his later years, 
when his hearing ceased, this was a necessity. De- 
barred from social converse with his fellows, the 
pen became the potent instrument of his influence, 
and in his venerable old age a real sceptre of 
power, 

In his prime, his voice swayed assemblies, and 
during nearly a half-century of his life as a teacher 
he spoke with wisdom, tact, and mastery. 

Though a scholar whose fame was world-wide, 
Tayler Lewis did not become a familiar figure in 
the local history of Schenectady until the outbreak 
of the great civilwar in 1861. Long known asan 
earnest friend of Africa and the Africans in America, 
he yet had conservative views in the matter of slav- 
ery. The outbreak of the slaveholders’ rebellion 
was to him a revelation by divine light upon those 
questions which the civil war brought to solution. 
He became a hearty supporter of the Union cause, 
and a prophet who cried aloud and spared not. In 
the dark days, when the defeat of the Union armies 
made the home traitors exultant, Tavler Lewis 
lifted up his voice like a trumpet, and showed the 
iniquity of secession and the righteousness of the 
Union cause. Like bugle blasts were his constantly 
issuing editorials, letters, addresses and books, in- 
spiring alike the hearts of young and old. His 
«State Rights, a Photograph from the Ruins of 
Ancient Greece,” powerfully affected the minds of 
patriots, and ‘‘ Zhe Heroic Periods in a Nation’s 
History” welcomed home the returning veterans. 
The loss of his son-in-law, Colonel Elias Peissner, 
at Chancellorsville, kept the flame of his patriotism 
at white heat until the day of his death. Tayler 
Lewis loved his country with romantic ardor and 
an intensity of devotion rarely surpassed. He ex- 
ercised great influence over S. G. Hamlin, the fear- 
less editor of the Schenectady Union, many a time 
encouraging him to boldness and courage of utter- 
ance in the trying times that followed the war, 
Often at midnight, with quivering frame and _flash- 
ing eyes, he would seek the young editor to cheer, 
encourage and provoke him to be equal to the 
political situation. Sallying out with his cane be- 
hind his back and thrust between the elbows, while 
his hands were clasped over his breast, he would 
pace the streets, meditating his argument or ful- 
minating some thunderbolt which the next day 
would sway hearts or strike conviction. So 
do many people of our city remember Tayler Lewis, 
a venerable man, yet full of energy and fire, with 
long gray hair that fell over his collar, eyes deep-set 
that shot forth earnestness, slight body in long black 
coat of clerical cut, with meditative air and walk, 
in speech and in writing closely approaching one’s 
idea of a prophet of the old times, yet of this 
century’s garb and mien. 

Let us glance at his life as a scholar and Chris- 
tian. Born in Northumberland, Saratoga County, 
N.. Y., March 27, 1802, he prepared for Union 
College under Dr. Proudfit, and was graduated at 
Union College in 1820. He studied law with 
Judge S. A. Foot, in Albany, and commenced 
practice at Fort Miller in 1824. He was not, 

| 
however, in his natural element, and took greater 
pleasure in the ih of the classics. Under the 
influence of Rev. George Mair, he began the study 
of Hebrew, following it up with absorbed delight. 
Turning aside from law to letters, he became prin- 
cipal of the Academy at W aterford in 1833. He 
married on May 18th of the same year. He spent 
two years (1837-39) in Ogdensburg, and was 
called to the Chair of Greek in the University of 
New York. In 1849, after the delivery of an ad- 

dress, ‘‘ Faith, the Life of Science,” before the 
| Phi Beta Kappa Society of Union College, he 

was made Professor of Greek at his Alma Mater’s 
home, and henceforth resided in Schenectady. 
Later, he filled the Chair of Oriental Biblical Lit- 
erature, retaining this position until his death. 
Space does not allow us to speak in detail of Pro- 
fessor Lewis’ attainments as a scholar, nor of his 
versatility, accomplishments, native ability or 
literary achievements, except as they have a bearing 
on local history. In early life he became a mem- 
ber, in full communion, ‘of the Reformed Dutch 

Church, and so continued until the last. As an 
| elder he attended her consistory and class meet- 

ings. His seat in the First Reformed Church in 
| Schenectady was on the west side, near the 

Bancker screen. In this church, in front of the 

pulpit, now stands a memorial baptismal font, in 
dark red marble, erected chiefly by his fellow- 
members of the Old Testament Company of bible 
Revision. It is inscribed, near the base : ‘* Tayler 
Lewis. In Memoriam. Ab. Amicis Multis. In 
pacem. May 11th, 1877.” His favorite text—‘‘I 
know that my Redeemer liveth’”—is incised in 
Hebrew characters on the polished rim of the bowl. 

An eager and life-long student, Tayler Lewis was 
a master of many subjects. In the higher mathe- 
matics, in astronomy, music, philosophy and 

| languages, he was at home, and used his attain- 
ments as instruments of pleasure. With the Greek 
and Latin he was as familiar as with his mother 
tongue, and in the Semitic languages he had no 
superior in America, while in Arabic he was with- 
out a peer. Among the revisers of the Old Testa- 
ment he was, except Dr. Strong, the only layman 
in attendance at the sessions. In the work on 
Lange’s Commentary he was selected by Dr. Schaff 
to furnish the introduction and notes on Genesis, 
and the metrical versions of Job and Ecclesiastes. 
His ‘‘Six Days of Creation” was a true epoch- 
maker, and anticipated by a whole generation the 
current interpretation of the first chapter of Genesis. 
Despite an avalanche of hostile criticism it emerged 
scathless, and is now recognized as a masterpiece 
of sound argument and prophetic utterance. It is 
still printed. 

Omnivorous in his tastes, Tayler Lewis fed his 
mind in all fields of literature, and sought recrea- 
tion, not in bodily exercises, but in intellectual 
variety. He enjoyed fun, humor, caricature, and 
refreshed himself with light literature. A bundle of 
books for a morning’s reading in vacation time, in 

| Jackson's garden, might include his Hebrew Bible, 
Syriac New Testament, The Arabian Nights in the 

| original Arabic, Romola, and a novel or two from 
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the press of yesterday. In his last sickness, amid 
the agonies of sciatica, he would conquer pain by 
absorbing his mind in working out profound 
mathematical problems. He was a profound and 
brilliant Christian scholar, who, if not always in 
accord with the spirit of the age, was ever in har- 
mony with the spirit of the ages. 

On the dome of the Memorial Hall of Union 
College, in Hebrew and Latin letters, chosen and 
actually wrought in the slate-work by Taylor Lewis 
himself, is the motto which illustrates the great 
scholar’s life principles : 

The time is short, 
The work is vast, 
The reward is great, 
The Master is pressing. 

Isaac W. Jackson was born at Cornwall, Or- 
ange County, N. Y., August 28, 1804. Both of 
his parents were members of the Society of Friends. 
He was sent in his seventeenth year to the Albany 
Academy; completed his studies there with the 
highest honors; entered Union College, where he 
attained ee standing in the. classics, and from 
which, in 1826, in his twenty-second year, he 
graduated Hh the first honors in mathematics and 
chemistry. He was at once appointed a tutor in 
the college. 

During his collegiate course he founded and 
maintained a society for social and literary pur- 
poses. In succeeding years other like associations 
were formed, and hence Union College has been 
called the mother of the Greek-letter societies of 
the country. He was promoted to be professor 
of mathematics in Union College in 1831. He 
published books on trigonometry, optics, conic 
sections and mechanics, which were adopted in 
American colleges, and in one important British 
institution. 

As an executive officer of the college, he was 
prompt, energetic, ever-watchful, selecting his 
measures judiciously, and pursuing them with dis- 
cretion. In his general intercourse he was social 
and genial. He was always neatly and simply 
attired; slight in form, well built and active, with 

clear, piercing eyes looking outfrom under a large 
and prominent brow; his head finely developed; 
his voice frank and friendly. 

The science and art of horticulture were the de- 
light and solace of his life. Valuable works on 
this subject made up a large part of his library. 
His life centered in, and was “mainly bound by, his 
college. It was passed in his family circle, his 
study, his class-room, or with members of the 
faculty. He was always sympathetic, especially 
so with the sorrowing and the needy. Professor 
Henry, late of the Smithsonian Institution, who 
was his fellow student in boyhood, and his life- 
long correspondent, said that he was ‘‘the truest 
and most generous soul he ever knew.” Fulfilling 
the duties of his position ably, faithfully, content- 
edly, no achievements of wealth or fame could 
have brought him wider usefulness or higher hap- 
piness. Thousands of the educated men of the 
country attest their gratitude for his aid in the de- 
velopment of mind and character. 

| Europe. 

In 1876 Professor Jackson had completed a 
term of service in the college of fifty years. This 
event was made the occasion of a notable tribute 
of respect from his friends and former pupils. It 
was on this occasion that Dr. Tayler Lewis deliv- 
ered one of his most remarkable addresses. 

The titles of Professor Jackson’s publications 
are: t, Elements of Conic Sections; 2, Elementary 
Treatise on Optics; 3, Elementary Treatise on 
Mechanics. The honorary degree of Doctor of 
Laws was conferred on him by Hobart College. 
His death took place July 28, 1877. 

Joun Foster, now the senior professor of Union 
College, was born August 18, 1811, at Hebron, 
Washington County, N. Y. His parents were 
Scotch-Irish. His earliest schooling was at the 
county district school of Hebron. In the winters 
of 1828, 1829 and 1830 he taught in the district 
schools of Argyle and Salem, and in the summers 
pursued his studies of Latin and Greek under the 
Rev. James Irvine, of Hebron. In the spring of 
1831 he went to the academy at Fairfield, Herki- 
mer County. Here he studied mathematics and 
classics till the close of the summer term of 1832, 
after which he became an assistant in the academy, 
He entered the junior class of Union College in 
1834, and graduated July, 1835. He resumed 
teaching at the Fairfield Academy even before his 
graduation, and continued during the following 
year, teaching almost all branches, and working 
about ten hours daily. 

In the fall of 1836 Mr. Foster was appointed 
tutor in Union College, and was placed in charge 
of the building called West College. The fresh- 
man and sophomore classes were domiciled at this 
building, and Tutor Foster’s duty was to look 
after these two classes. For about a year he held 
this place, and then, having an offer to take charge 
of the North Pearl Street Academy for Boys in Al- 
bany, he spent about a year in this work; but 
in the winter of 1838 he returned to Union Col- 
lege, and took charge again of West College. He 
had classes in algebra, geometry, trigonometry 
and conic sections, and besides this he taught 
classes in Latin and Greek. After the death of Pro- 
fessor Edward Savage in 1840, Mr. Foster was ap- 
pointed Adjunct-Professor of Natural Philosophy, 
and gave instructions in the ‘‘Cambridge Mechan- 
ics.” Soon after he began to give lectures to vol- 
untary classes on electricity, magnetism, galvanism, 
electro-magnetism and acoustics. These subjects 
were subsequently added to the regular course, 
and on these Professor Foster has continued to 
give lectures. He also issued for the use of his 
classes a syllabus of his lectures, which forms a 
text-book on the subject. About 1842 Professor 
Foster organized a voluntary class, to whom he 
taught astronomy and surveying and_ leveling. 
This led to the establishment in 1845 of the De- 
partment of Civil Engineering, to which Professor 
W. M. Gillespie was appointed. 

In the spring of 1867 Professor Foster visited 
He visited the Universities of Bonn, 

Heidelberg, Munich and Zurich, and spent consid- 
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erable time at Paris. After his return he devoted 
himself to building up the scientific apparatus of 
his department. He obtained from the graduates 
of the college, mostly his old students, about 
$5,000, which he spent in the purchase of appa- 
ratus. He visited Lurope again in 1874, author- 
ized ‘by “the’\Board (of Trustees to expend 
$6,000 in physical apparatus. He visited the 
principal workshops of London and Paris, making 
selections and giving orders. After an extended 
tour he returned with such a variety of new and 
useful apparatus as to place the collection of Union 
College among the best in the country. 
Among the students who have passed under his 

instruction he has a reputation as a teacher of 
unusual force. Being himself a man of great 
industry, he expects and usually secures a large 
amount of good work from his pupils. He is 
genial in his temperament, and_ kind-hearted 

and ready to advise and help those who come to 
him. Professor Foster was made Doctor of Laws in 
1872 by the University of the City of New York. 

JonatTHan Pearson, A.M., is by lineage an alien 
to the Dutch community whose annals he has so 
diligently explored. His descent can be traced 
through seven generations from the Puritan Fathers 
of New England. 

At some time previous to 1643, John Pearson, an 
English carpenter, settled in the town of Rowley, 
Essex County, Mass. There he erected a fulling 
mill, and became the first manufacturer of cloth in 
the infant colony. He was evidently a substantial 
and leading citizen. He died near the close of the 
century. ‘The family record for two hundred years, 
with its scriptural names, reads like a genealogical 
chapter in the Old Testament. 

Caleb Pearson, the grandfather of Professor Pear- 
son, served through the revolutionary war. After 
its close he settled in Chichester, N. H., where, 
February 23, 1813, Jonathan was born. When he 
was 18 years of age his father removed to Schenec- 
tady, N. Y. Jonathan had previously secured a 
preparatory education at Dover, Pembroke, and 
New Hampton, im the vicinity of his former home. 
In January, 1832, he entered Union College, and 
graduated with honor in 1835. The following 
year he was appointed tutor, and in 1839 Assistant 
Professor of Chemistry and Natural Philosophy. In 
1849 he was elected Professor of Natural History, 
and in 1873 was transferred to the Department of 
Agriculture and Botany, where he still serves. 
Thus, for more than half a century his life has 
been incorporated with the life of his Alma Mater. 

In addition to the work of his department of in- 
struction, other onerous and responsible duties 
have devolved upon him. Since 1854 he has been 
Treasurer of the College, having in charge its 
varied and intricate financial interests. For years 
he has also held the office of Librarian, and has de- 
voted a vast amount of time and labor to the puz- 
zling and petty details of that trying vocation. The 
preparation of the general catalogue of the college 
has always devolved upon him, and he has repaid 
the affectionate esteem of thousands of alumni by 

maintaining a constant interest in their individual 
fortunes. His mind is an encyclopedia of facts 
concerning the sons of Old Union. His diverse 
services is sufficient proof of his versatility and tire- 
less industry, 

His antiquarian researches have been the recrea- 
tions of a busy life. The task of exploring the 
scattered and puzzling records of the Dutch families 
who founded the settlements at Albany and along 
the Mohawk Valley was one of unusual difficulty. 
He continued his labors in this field through many 
years. He first transcribed, translated, and collated 
the records of the Dutch Church in Schenectady. 
Having mastered the provincial dialect, he per- 
formed a similar work upon the records of the 
Dutch Church in Albany, and also of the County 
Clerk’s Otfice. The results of these studies, and 
others of a like character, are embodied in his his- 
tories of the old families of Schenectady and 
Albany, published years ago, and to some extent in 
this history. 

It would be indelicate, in a sketch published 
during the lifetime of Professor Pearson, to refer to 
those incidents which belong more especially to his 
private and domestic life, or to those qualities 
which have endeared him to his more intimate per- 
sonal friends. He has been for many years a faith- 
ful and active member of the Baptist Church, 
trusted and revered by all. As a son, a husband, 
and a father, his relations have been too tender and 
sacred to permit of comment here. Those who 
may survive him, and have shared and prized his 
friendship, will wonder that they did not prize it 
more, when the genial and unobtrusive presence 
lives only in memory or immortal hope. 

PRINTERS AND NEWSPAPERS. 

The first printers in Schenectady were Cornelius 
P. Wyckoff and ———— Brokaw, about the year 
1792. ‘Their office was on the south corner of 
State and Washington streets. This firm continued 
until 1795, when Brokaw went out and Wyckoff 
continued the business alone. 

The first newspaper printed in Schenectady was 
called 

The Mohawk Mercury. It was published as 
early as February, 1796, and as late as 1798. It 
was probably started by C. P. Wyckoff, who pub- 
lished it as Jate as December, 1797. Some time, 
probably in 1798, Wyckoff was succeeded in 
his business by John L. Stevenson. Whether 
Stevenson continued to publish the ohaws Mercury 
is not known. 

The Schenectady Gazette began to be published by 
J. L. Stevenson, January 6, 1799, on the corner of 
Albany (State) and Ferry streets, and December 
20, 1802, he gave it the more comprehensive name 
of 

The Western Spectator and Schenectady Weekly 
Advertiser, which was continued as late as May 23, 
1807, when he removed his printing office to 
Union street, a few doors west of the Dutch 
Church, and discontinued the paper. 
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The Western Budget was issued by Van Veghien 
& Son, at No. 10 Union street, the next month 
following the discontinuance of the Wesfern Spec- 
tator. he Budget continued three years, and the 
last year was issued by Isaac Riggs, and at about 
the same time, June, 1807, Ryer S. Schermerhorn 
began the publication of 

The Mohawk Advertiser, and continued it at 
least three years, and was succeeded by T. John- 
son, who published it for W. S. Buel, at his book- 
store, near the corner of State and Ferry streets. 
Schermerhorn was the first zafve printer, and fol- 
lowed his trade for many years. He kept a small 
supply of books on sale at his office, and among 
publications which he issued was an edition of 
Smith’s History of the State of New York, with ad- 
ditions. 

The Western Budget was continued by IJsaac 
Riggs until June, 181o, when he changed the 
name to the 

Schenectady Cabinet. In 1814 Isaac Stevens was 
associated with him for a short time, occupying 
No. 2 Cook’s Row (No. 34), Ferry street. Thence 
he removed to No. 23 Union street, next east of 

the Dutch Church, which he occupied until his 
death as a dwelling, and for many years his print- 
ing office was under the same roof. In 1837 he 
was succeeded by his son, Stephen S. Riggs, who 
changed the name of the Cadne/ to 

Freedom's Sentinel, under which name he con- 
tinued the paper until January, 1843, when he 
resumed the former name, calling the paper the 

Schenectady Cabnet and Freedom's Sentinel, which 
name it bore until January 1, 1850, when it was 
again called the Scheneclady Cadbnef, and until it 
ceased to be published January 1, 1856. 

The Miscellaneous Cabinet, a weekly publication 
of eight pages octavo, was begun in July, 1823, 
Isaac Riggs, printer. The first twenty-four num- 
bers are in Union College Library. Its contents 
were mainly literary selections, and original pro- 
ductions written mostly by the students of the 
college. 

The Mohawk Sentinel was begun June 24, 1824. 
It was printed by G. Ritchie, Jr., at the sign of 
Faust and Franklin’s head, Ferry street, and is 
said to have been edited by Archibald L. Linn, 
then a young lawyer of the city. This paper 
advocated the election of Mr. Crawford for the 
Presidency. 

The Protestant Sentinel began June 11, 1830, 
and was printed and published by Rev. John Max- 
on, at No. 39 State street (now 64 and 66). It 
continued there but a few years and then removed 
elsewhere. It was understood to be the organ of 
the Seventh-day Baptist denomination. 

Schenectady County Whig.—This paper was com- 
menced November 1, 1830, at 34 Ferry street, by 
C. G. & A. Palmer, and continued till October, 
1834, when the paper and all the appurtenances of 
the printing office were sold to Nathan Stone, who, 
on the 18th of November following, assigned the 
paper to Giles F. Yates, Esq. 

Stone was the owner of the ‘‘ Schenectady Book- 
store,” on the west corner of State street and Mill 
lane. He published the Whig, at 77 State street, 
for ten weeks, the ast number being issued De- 
cember 30th. Its direct descendant was 

The Reflector and Schenectady Democrat, the first 
number of which was issued January 1, 1835. Mr. 
Yates made this a very entertaining family paper. 
During 1835-6 he published many valuable articles 
of an antiquarian and historical character. It was 
printed by Robert P. Paine, on the west corner of 
State street and Mill lane. In July, 1835, the 
printing was done by Yates & Cook, the latter 
being associated with G. F. Yates. July 1, 1838, 
FE. H. Kincaid became proprietor of the Reffector 
for the next three and a half years, when, February 
5, 1841, Abraham A. Keyser purchased it at the 
commencement of Vol. VIJ., and David Cady 
Smith was associated with him as editor. 

The Schenectady and Saratoga Standard was pub- 
lished about the year 1833, at 96 Washington 
street, by Israel Sackett, printer, with Thomas Jef- 
ferson Sutherland, attorney at law, No. 14 Ferry 

street, as editor. Its principles were anti-masonic. 
After the first year the name was changed to Zhe 
Saratoga and Schenectady Standard, and it was pub- 
lished in Ballston by the same printer. 

The Wreath, ‘‘ devoted to polite literature,” was 
commenced November 22, 1834, by William H. 
Burleigh, proprietor and editor; Isaac Riggs, 
printer. It was a half-monthly of forty pages, and 
was issued about six months. During this time its 
name was changed to Zhe Literary Journal, ‘‘a re- 
pository of public literature and fine arts.” It was 
published in Albany, Troy and Schenectady, and 
numbered consecutively with the Wrea/h, and con- 
tinued until June, 1835, perhaps a little longer. 
The articles were chiefly original. 

The Mohawker was published by Riggs & Norris 
in 1835. 

The Schenectady Star was published by Jesse & 
Daniel Stone, and this partnership was dissolved in 
October, 1835. 

The Antiquarian and General Review, a monthly 
magazine, mainly of a religious character, edited 
and published by Rev. Wm. Arthur (father of 
President Arthur), was begun in 1845 and 
continued two years, making two thin octavo 
volumes. 

Freeman's Banner, a political paper, was published 
during the presidential campaign of 1848. It was 
the organ of the party known as the ‘‘ Barn-burn- 
ers:” It was edited and published by Judge Platt 

Potter. 
Lhe Daily Ancient City was the first daily paper 

issued in this city, and commenced in 1852 by Mr 
Riggs. It lived only a few months. 

The Schenectady Democrat was begun January 3, 
1854, by William H. Coulbourne and W. N. 
Clark. In 1857 it was sold to A. J. Thompson, 
and in April, 1859, to Cyrus Thayer, and united 
with the Reflector October, 1860, The united 
paper was called Zhe Schenectady Reflector and 
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It was published in 1864 at No. 134 The Dorpian was published in 1867. It was 
edited by A. A. Marlette and A. W. Kelly. Its State street. 

The Morning Star was the first successful daily 
established in this city. Its first issue appeared 
February 24, 1855. It was edited and published 
by Walter N. Clark and Wm. M. Colbourne. Sep- 
tember 17th of the same year its time of issue was 
changed from morning to es ening and was called the 
Evening Sfar, Marchs5, 1557, the firm of Colborne 
& Clark was dissolv ed, and Mr. Colborne took 
entire charge. During this year Isaac M. Gregory, 
now managing editor of the New Fork Graphic, 
was associated with Coulbourne in editing this 
paper. 

About 1861 Mr. Colborne sold the paper to H. 
L. Grose, of Ballston, who conducted it until 
1863, when it was sold to Wm. D. Davis and Isaac 
M. Gregory. During the following year Mr. 
Gregory sold his interest to Davis, who continued 
proprietor till 1865, when the paper was sold to J. 
J. Marlette, under whose management it has re- 
mained ever since. Since 1876 the publishing de- 
partment has been under the management of A. 
A. Marlette. Preceding its sale to Mr. Marlette 
the S/ar had been Republican in politics, but since its 
sale in 1865 it has been an organ of the Democratic 
party. In 1880, when the il/orning Gazelle was 
discontinued, that paper was purchased by the pro- 
prietor of the Svar, and for a time the name 
Schenectady Lvening Star and Gazelle was as- 
sumed, but was soon after changed to the original 
name of the Schenectady Evening Star. 

The Schenectady Republican, a weekly made out 
of the Lvenimg Sfar, was commenced in Septem- 
ber, 1857, by Wm. M. Colborne, with Judson S. 
Landon as editor. 

The Schenectady Daily News was begun April, 
1859, by I. W. Hoffman and E. F. Loveridge, 
and expired June, 1861. 

The Railsplitter, a political weekly paper, was 
published a few months during the fall of 1860. 

The Schenectady Daily Times was commenced 
January, 1861, and united with the Lveung Svar, 
in June of the same year, under the name of the 
Schenectady Daily Lvening Svar and Times, and was 
published in 1864 by W. D. Davis and Isaac M. 
Gregory, at No. 170 State street. 

In 1865 Mr. Davis, who was then sole proprie- 
tor, sold it to J. J. Marlette. 

The Schenectady Evening Svar.—A history of the 
paper will be found in the account of Zhe J/orning 
Svar. 

The Schenectady Daily Union was started in No- 
vember, 1865, by Charles Stanford. During the 
exciting political events of this period, the Repub- 
lican party had no organ in this city, and this 
paper was started to meet this want. Col. S. G. 
Hamlin was long connected with it as managing 
editor, being succeeded by Welton Stanford: 
Orvil F. Vedder was managing editor from 
April, 1882, to October 31, 1883, when it was 
sold to John A. Sleicher. May 15, 1884, it was 
sold to its present publisher, George W. Cottrell. 

- the German 

| 

publication was continued but a few months. 

The Schenectady Gazetfe,a weekly paper, was be- 
gun in 1869 by W. N. Thayer. In 1872 James 
H. Wiseman and Harman Seymour were the pub- 
lishers. In 1874 it was purchased by G. W. Mar- 

lette and Wm. H. Lee. Mr. Lee subsequently 
withdrew from the partnership, since which time it 
has been published by Mr. Marlette. 

The Deutscher Anzeiger, a weekly, published in 
language, was commenced by Ermst 

Knauer, at 176 State street, August 22, 1873, and 
is still published by the original proprietor. 

Lhe Schenectady Daily Gazelle was started by 
the proprietor of Zhe Weekly Gazetle, January 1, 
1879, and ceased to be issued July 28, 1880, when 
it was sold and united with Ze Schenectady Lven- 
ing Star. 

The Schenectady Weekly Union, made out of 
The Schenectady Daily Union, was started in con- 
nection with the daily in 1865, and has been pub- 
lished ever since. 

The Locomotive Firemen Monthly Journal was first 
published in 1872 under the direction of the Inter- 
national Union of Locomotive Engineers. It was 
edited by Henry Hoffman until 1878, when it was 
discontinued. 

PERIODICAL. FUBLICATIONS FROM UNION COLLEGE. 

The Floriad, published by the students of Union 
College in 1811. Vol. I, Nos. 1-15, is in the 
Boston Public Library. 

The Students Album, commenced in 1827, con- 
tained essays and tales, scientific items, and notices 
of new works. It was published half monthly by 
Isaac Riggs, at No. 10 Union street, and probably 
continued about six months. It was of 89 size, 
and each number contained 16 pp. 

The Parthenon and Academian’s Magazine. It 
began in 1832, and continued two years, forming 
two volumes 8°. Nine monthly numbers a year 
were issued. 

The Censor was published from November, 
1833, to May, 1834, one number each month, 8° 

The Union College Magazine was commenced in 
June, 1860, and was continued, with some inter- 
ruptions, until June, 1575. It was published 
under the joint auspices of the Philomathian, 
Adelphic, and Theological Societies, two editors 
being appointed by each. It was a very creditable 
publication, 

One number appeared each college session, or 
three a year. In the third year there was begun 
a series of portraits, one in each number, of 
distinguished men once connected with the 
college. 

The College Spectator, a monthly publication, 
4°, began April, 1872, and continued until De- 
cember, 1875 

The Concordiensis succeeded the Sfecfafor in 
November, 1877, and now continues, 
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140 HISTORY iO THE COUNTY: OF (SCHENECTADY. 

The Scroll began its publication in 1849. Ina 
May, 1850, its form was made smaller. 

Several other fugitive publications, such as Zhe 
Cnonian, etc., have been issued from time to time, 
but soon bedsed. 

J. Marcerte, editor of The Evening Star and 
Weekly Reflector, was born in Onondaga County, 
N. Y., in 1822, and received his education at 
district schools. He came to this county in 1837, 
and to the city in 1852. He became connected 
with the Svar in 1865. He has always taken a 
deep interest in public education and was for 
many years a leading member of the Board of 
Education of the city. 

Louis C. Beattie was born in Chicago, Il., No- 
vember g, 1856, removing to Schenectady in 1864. 
He received his education at public schools and 
Union College, and was admitted to the Bar in 
1877. He then followed his profession in New 
York, returning to Schenectady in 1883, since 
which time he has been on the staff of Zhe Daily 
Union and The Evening Star. Gifted with keen 
perception and a ready pen, his work is highly 
valuable. 

MEDICAL: SOCIETIES. 

The first medical society of the county of Sche- 
nectady was organized in Schenectady, June 11, 
1810. 

The society was formed under an act passed by 
the Legislature of New York, April 4, 1806, en- 
titled ‘An act to incorporate medical societies for 
the purposes of regulating the practice of physic 
and surgery.” The physicians and surgeons of each 
county of the State being thus empowered to join 
themselves into societies, those of this county met 
on the day first above given and enacted their by- 
laws and regulations. Under such, the society was 
to consist of a ‘‘ President, Vice-President, Secre- 
tary, Treasurer, and not less than three nor more 
than five Censors, to be chosen by ballot annually 
at the anniversary meeting of the society.” The 
president was ‘‘ to preside at all meetings, preserve 
order, put all questions, declare the decisions of the 
society, and in case of an equal division shall have 
the casting vote; he shall also appoint all commit- 
tees, unless the society choose to appoint them by 
special resolution.” 

Article 5th provided that the ‘‘Censors shall 
meet whenever notified * * * to examine all 
students in Anatomy, Physiology, Surgery, Mid- 
wifery, Materia Medica, Pharmacy, Theory and 
Practice of Physic and Chemistry.” Not less than 
three censors to form such examining board. 

By article 6th, the stated meetings “of the society 
were to be held on the ‘‘ second Tuesday in June, 
September, December and March,” at 10 o'clock 
A. M. Special meetings could be held though at 
any time ‘‘when the President, at the request of 
two of the members, shall order the Secretary to 
send to each member a notification” of the inten- 
tion of such meeting. Not less than five members 
constituted a quorum. <A student, successful in his 
examinations before the Censors, received, upon 

| 
the payment of two dollars, and signing the declara- 
tion prescribed by the State Medical Society, his 
diploma. It cost one dollar to become a member, 
and the annual dues were two dollars, payable 

quarterly, and for non-attendance at the stated 
meetings a fine of $1.00 was levied. 

We quote article 12th, as follows: ‘‘Any mem- 
ber who shall be convicted of base or dishonorable 
practices, tending to bring dishonor on himself 
or the profession, shall be expelled.” From this it 
is uncertain whether ‘‘convicted” applied to a 
regular trial and conviction by civic or military 
authority, or whether it concerned only such ‘¢dis- 
honorable practices ” as could be adjudicated by the 
original society. 

To these by-laws and regulations the following 
names are signed: Thos. Dunlap, Dan’! J. Toll, 
Alex. G. Fonda, Cornl Vrooman, Robt. M. G. 
Walmsley, Abraham D’Lamater, ee Wood, 
Dan’l McDougall, P. B. Noxon (2) J. J. Berkley, 
Be B. Sprague, J. W. Conklin, Cae Reming- 
ton, Jno. B. Judson, Arch’d W. Adams, David 
Low, Joseph Koon, J. C. Magoffin, John S. LL. 
Tonelier, Benj. F. Joslin, Edw’d H. Wheeler i, 
Abram W. Van Woert, Edgar Fonda, A. J. Prime, 
Andrew Truax, L. Sprague, James Chandler, 
Orasmus Squire (living 1885), A. M. Vedder, 
Benj’n Weeks, John S. Crawford, N. Marselis, J. 
Stackpole, Edwin A. Young. 

As we have stated, the society was organized June 
0, 1810. Its first meeting was held the next day 
‘at the Court Room,” and Archibald H. Adams 
was elected President ; William Anderson, Vice- 
President ; Alexander G. Fonda, Secretary ; and 
Dr. Corns. Vrooman, Treasurer ; Doctors Thomas 
Dunlap, Alexander G. Fonda, and Corns. Vrooman 
were the Committee upon the Code of Laws, and it 
was resolved that they meet ‘‘annually, the second 
Tuesday in June, at 2 o'clock p.m., in the Court 
Room, * * * which time shall forever thereafter 
be the anniversary meeting” of the society. Ad- 
journment was had until the following day, when 
the Code of Laws was adopted, and Doctors 
Vrooman, Anderson, Dunlap, Daniel Toll and 
Abram Delamater were elected Censors. Daniel 
McDougall was ‘‘unanimously chosen as a suit- 
able person to attend the lectures in the City of 
New York on the different branches of medicine.” 
An adjournment was then taken until September 
11, 1810. This quarterly meeting was held at the 
‘‘House of James Rogers, innkeeper.” Joseph 
F. Yates was examined and admitted to practice 
Physic and Surgery, and Drs. Toll, Fonda and 
Dunlap were appointed a committee to revise the 
by-laws, to report at the next quarterly meeting to 
be held December ro, to which time adjournment 
was then taken, and on that date the society met 
at the house of Dr. Vrooman. The committee 
upon the revision reported, and their report rati- 
fied. Dr. Archibald H. Adams was elected a 
delegate to the State Society, and Christopher T. 
Fonda examined and admitted to practice. 

At a special meeting, held at the Court House, 
March 19, 1811, Daniel J. Toll was elected Treas- 
urer, in place of Cornelius Vrooman, deceased, 
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and Daniel McDougall became a member of the 
profession. 

The first anniversary meeting ‘was held Tues- 
day,. June 11,, 1811, ,at 2 o clock p. M., at the 
Court Room,” and Daniel J. Toll elected Presi- 
dent ; Robert M. G. Walmsley, Vice-President ; 
Alexander G. Fonda, Secretary ; and Daniel I. 
Toll, Treasurer; and Doctors A, G, Fonda, Daniel J. 
Toll, R. M. G. Walmsley, Abram Delamater, and 
Thomas Dunlap, Censors; and Dr. Toll, a delegate 
to the State Society. Doctors Daniel McDougall, 
McClearg, Brown, Wood, and Christopher G., 
Fonda were proposed as members of the society. 

At the anniversary held one year later, June 11, 
1812, at the Court Room, Dr. Toll was elected 
President ; Dr. Walmsley; Vi ice-President; and Dr. 
Fonda, Secretary and Treasurer : and Doctors 
Toll, Walmsley, Delamater, Fonda, and Wood, 
Censors. The gentlemen whose names were 
proposed at the last meeting were admitted as 
members, and Dr. A. G. Fonda was sent as dele- 
gate to the State Society. Doctors Jno. Dodge and 
Lyman Carpenter were proposed as members of 
the society. 

The quarterly meeting was held at the Court 
Room, September 11, 1812, and Jno. Dodge and 
Lyman Carpenter elected members. The follow- 
ing addition to the Code was passed: ‘‘ That no 
member of the society shall hold any nostrum or 
specific for the cure of a disease under the penalty 
of forfeiting his seat in the same.” Doctors Ellis, 
Woodward, Devoe, Vought, Veeder, and Myn- 

derse were proposed as members. The sum of $3 
was received from Dr. Toll ‘* being the balance of 
licentiate fees on hand,” and ‘‘Dr. Jno. Wood 
paid $1 as an initiation fee.” 

A regular adjournment was then taken. From 
this time, up to 1825, the records of the society 
are lost, and nothing but a vague general legend 
of its doings is extant. 

The minutes of a meeting held 31st January, 
1825, that there were present Doctors Daniel J. 
Toll, the President; and Doctors Thomas Dun- 
lap, ‘James Magoffin, J. S. Ee Toneliér,= J.. Scher- 
merhorn, D. tow and Daniel McDougall, Dr. 

McDougall was appointed Secretary, and Dr. 
Magoffin a delegate to the State Society. Drs. 
Dunlap, Low and McDougall were appointed 
as a committee to revise the by-laws, to report at 
the next anniversary mecting, which was held 
June 14, 1825, at the house of Harvey Davis. 
Angus McDermid appears to have then been a 
member. The report of the committee appoint- 
ed 31st January, 1525, was adopted. Thomas 
Dunlap was elected President ; James Magoffin, 
Treasurer; and Dr. McDougall, Secretary. Drs. 
Dunlap, Magoffin, McDougall, G. Wade (whose 
name first appears here), and Peter Delamater were 
elected Censors. 

A meeting of two of the Censors, Dunlap and 
Magoffin, was held in April, 1826, when Dr, 

Cole was given his diploma, and at a sub- 
sequent meeting, held in November, Wade and 

McDougall being also present as Censors, Dr. 

‘Chamberlin was admitted to practice. 

| 

Frederick Orlop received his diploma from the 
Censors in June, 1827 

A period of six years now Sopset of which no 
record appears. February 25, 1833, the Censors, 
Drs. Dunlap, Magofiin and McDougall, met, and 
Edward H. Wheeler successfully passed an ex- 
amination. There were two meetings of the Cen- 
sors in 1834—March 23d, when Andrew Truax 
received his diploma, and July 23d, when Joseph 
Harman received his. It does not seem that the 
society met again during this year until Septem- 
ber gth, when the following new members were 
present: B. F. Joslin, J. Coon, E. H. Wheeler. 

A committee of three, Joslin, Magoffin and Mc- 
Dougall was made to revise the By-laws, to report 
at the next quarterly meeting. Alexander G., 
Fonda was sent as delegate to the State Society, 
and a contribution of five dollars was made by 
them to it. 

The committee appointed in September reported 
at the next anniversary meeting, held June g, 1835. 
Among the amendments suggested, and at once 
adopted, was: that the officers annually elected 
should hold until their successors should be elected ; 
that the President should, at the meeting one year 
after his election, ‘‘deliver to the society a disserta- 
tion upon some appropriate subject,” and the fee for 
a diploma was raised from two to five dollars. At 
this meeting Andrew Truax, A. J. Prime and 
Orsamus Squire became members ; and Dr. Dunlap 
was elected President; Dr. Magoffin, Vice-President; 
Dr. Prime, Secretary ; and Dr. McDougall, Trea- 

surer ; and as Censors Drs. Dunlap, Magoffin, 

Squire, McDermid and McDougall. The new 
meeting, or attempted meeting, is best described 
in the words of Dr. A. Prime, its Secretary : 
‘‘June 14, 1836. When the members gathered 
together, not enough stayed long enough to form 
a quorum. Drs. “Magoffin, Dunlap, McDougall 
and Prime, after waiting till the hour was expired, 
thought it was for their own private and others’ in- 
terests to absquotulate, and therefore decamped. 
A. J. Prime, Secretary.” D. Edgar Fonda received 
his diploma from the Censors January 31, 1837, 
and at a special meeting of the Society, held in the 
City Hall, July 18, 1837, G. Ee: Fonda, A. W. Van 
Woert, William N. Duane, J. Harman, J. Beake- 
ley and J. B. Noxon were elected members. At 
the next anniversary meeting, held at the City Hall, 
June 12, 1838, Dr. J. B. Noxon was elected Pres- 
ident ; Joseph Koon, Vice ; Andrew Truax, Secre- 
tary; W m. N. Duane, Treasurer : and Magoffin, 

Squire, Beakeley and Noxon, Censors. The 
customary committee on revision of the by-laws 
was appointed, consisting of Drs. Koon, Beakeley 
and Truax. Andrew Huyck and James Chandler 

fe their diplomas from the Censors, June 2 
538; and at a mecting of the Society, December 

rath; Dr. Sprague was elected amember. The an- 
niversary meeting of 1839 was held the second 
Tuesday in June, at the City Hall. Alex. M. 
Vedder, John O. Crawford, James Chandler 
and Benjamin Weeks were elected members, and 
James C. Magotlin, President; A. G. Fonda, 
Vice; Edgar Fonda, Secretary; and Andrew 
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Truax, Treasurer; and Drs. Dunlap, Magoffin, 
L. Sprague, McDougall and A. M. Vedder, Cen- 
sors. James C. Magoffin was sent as delegate to 
the State Society. 

The anniversary meeting, held at the City Hall 
the second Tuesday of June, 1840, proved, as far 
as the records show, to be the last wherein business 
of importance was done. On motion of Jacob 
Beakeley, it was ‘‘ Resolved, That it is proper to 
charge the sum of one dollar, and not less than 
fifty cents, for visit and medicine in’ ordinary 
cases ;” and, on motion of A. M. Vedder, it was 
resolved, ‘‘ That a committee of three be A MNS 
for the purpose of regulating the charges of physi- 
cians, whose duty it shall be to report at the next 
quarterly meeting.” A. M. Vedder, J. Beakel ley 
and Sprague were appointed to deliver a disserta- 
tion at the next. meeting. The President was also 
directed to deliver an annual address, or pay a fine 
of one dollar. Dr. Magoffin was elected Presi- 
dent; A. M. Vedder, Vice ; J. Chandler, Secretary; 
Andrew Truax, Treasurer; and Dunlap, Sprague, 
Magoffin, Young and Beakeley, Censors. 

The last anniversary held under the old organi- 
zation, of which there is any written record, was the 
one held June 8, 1841, at the Court House. By 
resolution, the officers then holding were directed 
to hold over for another year. Judging by the 
minutes, internal dissensions began to make them- 
selves felt at this time. It is not our province to 
enter into their merits or demerits. The society 
soon ceased, practically, to have an existence. For 
twenty-eight years there was no regular organized 
medical society in Schenectady. In the Daily 
Union of January 16, 1869, there appeared a call 
for a meeting of physicians and surgeons to organ- 
ize a medical society. In furtherance of this 
design, January 19th, at the Cadey House, the fol- 
lowing-named gentlemen appeared: A. M. ee 
16s Ellwood, J. D. Jones, Charles Hammer, N. 
Cheeseman, B. A. Mynderse, G. W. Van ome 
Robert Fuller and Wm. N. Duane ; and the 
society formed by the election of A. M. Vedder, 
President ; a D. Jones, Vice ; L. Ellwood, Secre- 
tary ; N. S. Cheeseman, Treasurer - and G. W. 
Van Voast, B. A. Mynderse and A. M. Vedder, 
Censors. 

Dr. Vedder was sent as delegate to the 
State Society. The membership fee was fixed at 
$2, and in order to become a member, it was neces- 
sary to submit the diploma to the Censors for 
examination, 

The title of the society, as shown by its by-laws 
adopted January 11, 1870, is. ‘‘ The Schenectady 
County Medical Society. ” Annual meetings are held 
the second Tuesday of every January, and semi- 
annual meetings the second Tuesday of June. 
Special meetings may be called. From the time 
of its organization it has been in a healthy condi- 
tion, and bids fair to outnumber in members, 
years of life and usefulness, any of its predecessors. 
In addition to those present at its first meeting, 
January 19, the following joined during the same 
year: Alex. Ennis, N. es Daggett, Geroe Greene 
and Andrew Veeder. 

| Hill, John (dead), Quaker street; 

The officers for the present year (1885) are: M. 
G. Planck, President; Geo. FE. McDonald, Vice- 
President: »Chas.. «C,..Duryee;.. secretary; J.iquL. 
Schoolcraft, Treasurer; Censors, E. P. Van E pps, 

J. Reaglesand H. V. Hull. 
The delegate to the State Society is L. Ellwood, 

and to the ‘‘ American Medical,” H. C. Van 
Zandt. 

The members, past and present are: Brumma- 
gehen, Peter A., Maniaville; Cheeseman, N. &., 
Scotia; Clute, W. T., Schenectady; Daggett, N. 

G., Schenectady ; DeLamater, S. G., Duanesburgh; 
Duryee, Chas. C., Schenectady; Ellwood, L., 
Schenectady; Ennis, Alexander, Pattersonville: 
Featherstonhaugh, ‘T. (left city), Schenectady; 
Fuller, Robert, Schenectady - Greene, Geroe (dead), 
Schenectady: Hammer, “Charles, Schenectady; 

Hoag, Peter C 
(left city), Schenectady; Hull, H. V., Schenectady; 
Johnson, T. B. (dead), Schenectady; Jones, J. 
D. (dead), Schenectady; Mackay, John P., 
Schenectady; McDonald, Geo. E., Schenectady; 
Munderse, B. A., Schenectady; Pearson, W. L., 
Schenectady; Perkins, Maurice, Schenectady; 
Planck, M. G., Schenectady; Roach, Paul, Quaker 
street; Rowe, George (left city); , Bramans’s Corners; 
Reagles, James R., Schenectady; Steinfithuer, G. 
A. oF., Schenectady; Schoolcraft, J. L., Schenec- 
tady; Van Voast, G. W., Schenectady; Van Zandt, 
H. C., Schenectady; Veeder, A. T., Schenectady; 
Vedder, A. M. (dead), Schenectady; Van Epps, 
E. P., Schenectady; Vedder, L. T., Schenectady; 
Van Patten, John, U. (dead), Schenectady; White- 
horne, E. FE. (left city), Schenectady; Young, 
Edwin, West Glenville. 

Among the leading physicians of the city not 
previously mentioned are: 

Joun Kastenpieck, M.D., graduated from the 
New York Homceopathic Medical College in 1878. 
He located in Schenectady in 1882, 

James Duane Jones, M.D., who deserves special 
mention, was born in Schenectady, January 20, 
1828. His ancestors, both paternal and maternal, 
were among the earliest settlers of Long Island and 
New York City. He graduated from Union College 
in 1846, and from the Albany Medical College in 
1849. He then went to the Seaman’s Retreat 
Hospital, Staten Island, remaining there for three 
years, 1849-51, coming to Schenectady, and 
entering upon his practice in 1851. He was mar- 
ried in 1872 to Anna M. Bigelow, daughter of 
John M. Bigelow, of Schenectady. In 1873 he 
became a member of the County Medical Society. 
Was city physician, and physician to the County 
Alms-house, and during General Sheridan’s Vir- 
ginia campaign he served as surgeon-in-chief to 
the 25th New York Cavalry. 

Jones’ professional career, was marked by 
that success which close attention, allied with 
natural aptitude, always commands. While a lead- 
ing physician, nature had made him a fine surgeon, 
and to that he willingly devoted the greater portion 

of his time. Dr. Jones died December 31, 1879, 
his wife surviving him. 
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LIVINGSTON: ELLWOOD, M.D. 

Among Schenectady’s numerous skillful and 
honored physicians, no medical practitioner is 
better or more favorably known than the gentle- 
man whose name heads this brief biographical 
sketch. 

Dr. Ellwood was born at Minden, Montgomery 
County, N. Y., on the twentieth day of July, 1825. 
After acquiring his education, he engaged in the 

‘ study of medicine and surgery, and graduated from 
the Medical Department of the Buffalo University 
in 1848, at the age of twenty-three years. 

He did not long delay the beginning of that 
which was destined to be his successful life-work, 

for we find him in August, 1849, a new-comer in 

Schenectady, where he soon established himself in 
practice, and entered upon a career which has 
marked him as a man of energy, perseverance, 
business ability, and high scholastic and profes- 
sional attainments. 

As a physician he gradually, but surely, rose high 
in the esteem of the public and his. professional 
brethren. He was one of the originators and a 
charter member of the Schenectady County Medi- 
cal Society, in the deliberations and management 
of which he has ever since been conspicuously act- 
ive. His knowledge of his profession and its _re- 
quirements is thorough and of broad scope; he has 
often been called in counsel with physicians of un- 
doubted eminence in very difficult and important 
cases, and from time to time he has prepared val- 
uable and interesting papers upon topics of deep 
interest to the medical profession. 

During the more than thirty-six years of Dr. 
Ellwood’s residence in Schenectady, he has closely 
identified himself with the best interests of the city 
and county. That such a man has been called to 
places of public trust, is only an evidence of the 
yvood judgment of his fellow citizens. Dr. Ellwood 
has served as a member of the Board of Supervis- 
ors of Schenectady County, has represented his 
Ward as Alderman, and has been prominently iden- 
tifed with the Boards of Health and Education. 
He has also served as both City and County 
Physician. ° 
Hearty, but unostentatious in manner, he speaks 

with moderation and to the point. His fidelity is 
undoubted, and: his circle of personal friends is 
wide, embracing many of the most prominent 
De ane and citizens of this section of the 
State, 

Lewis Faust, 
College, Berea, 
if re Oe Ora) 

ancl 

it 

y. 
( 

M.D., graduated from Wallace 
O., and from the New York 

pathic Medical College. He is a member 
an ex-president of the Montgomery County 

Meopathic Medical Society, and of the New 
‘State Tfomaopathic Medical Society. 
ORG Te” VAN MALDEN.) MAD, “234 “Centre 

‘4 was born in Bethlehem, Albany County, in 
,. 1+ &tduated from the medical department of 

_ ONS Miversity; practiced his profession in Gal- 
, 7 atatoga County, and Albion, Orleans County; 
bes ts weled and studied in Europe. Located in 

nectady in 1882, and makes a specialty of 

HPP, 
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the treatment of chronic diseases and diseases of 

women. 
PIONEER PHYSICIANS. 

Rynier Schaets, in the year 1681, was a practic- 
ing ‘‘chyrurgion” in Schenectady, though Pieter 
Van der Linde, or Van O’Linda, was a surgeon in 
North America in 1639, and by some it is thought 
was here about 1640, but of this there is nothing 

positively known. October 18, 1703, Jacobus V. 
Dyck petitioned for the right to practice surgery 
here, and from 1758 to 1767, Dr. Dirk Van 
Ingen was in regular practice. 

From 1764 to 1788, Dr. Spitser (de Spitser). 
In 1773, Dr. William Constable is ‘‘ said to have 
been a surgeon to a British regiment sent over in 
the French wars.” He died in New York. His 
son, John Constable, lived in Schenectady many 
years. A widow of Dr. John Constable, ‘‘for- 
merly of this city,” was buried in St. George's 
Church Cemetery in 1805. From 1779 to 1781, 
Dr. Onger was ‘‘the hessen docktor.”” In 1780 
Dr. William Mead was practicing surgery. He 
was a surgeon in the revolution, and died in 
Schenectady Feb. 1, 1829, aged 80 years. In 
1784 he was in possession of the McCamus & Co, 

lot on State street, which was afterward owned by 
Dr. William Adams. Dr. William Adams _ prac- 
ticed here in 1785 and subsequently. — His sons, 
Dr. Alex. Hamilton Adams, died April 1811, aged 
forty-two years, and Dr. James Adams died April 
20, 1803. They both practiced in this city. Dr. 
Cornelius W. Vander Heuvel was a physician 
from 1747 to 1797, dying two years later. Dr. 
Stringer, of Albany, at about this time visited pa- 
tients here, and in 1795, Dr. John Constable occu- 
pied the house afterwards owned by Dr. Wm. 
Duane in Unionstreet. In 1799 Peter Mabee was 
a ‘‘practitioner of physic.” Dr. Rogers lived 
here in 1800. Dr. William Anderson and 
Dr. Joseph W. Hegeman were partners here 
for some years previous and including 1811. 
In that year Dr. Anderson, while on his return 
passage from New Orleans, died with yellow 
fever. Dr. Hegeman removed to Cincinnati a 
few years subsequently, and in 1827 to Vicks- 
burg, where he died in 1837. Cornelius Vroo- 
man, son of Simon Vrooman, was born here, and 
for a few years previous to his death, which oc- 
curred in 1811, when he was but thirty years of 
age, followed his profession. 

DENTISTRY. 

O. J. Gross began the study of dentistry in 1875 
at Great Falls, N. H., and received the degree of 
Doctor of Dental Surgery in 1879 at the Dental 
College, Philadelphia, Pa. He came to Schenec- 
tady in 1880, and resides at 2353 State street. 

B. F. CarmicHarL, dentist, established himself 
at 37 Union street in 1878, and has had a suc- 
cessful and increasing practice. 

Among other dentists deserving special notice 
for extensive and well-merited practice, are Dr. F. 
DyrP. Gray, : Dr John Bz: Hullsand<Dr. D. R. 
Smith. 
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144 HISTORY, OF THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

BANKS. 

Mowawk Banx.—Among the first banks organ- 
ized in this State was the Mohawk Bank of Sche- 
nectady. In 1807 a special act of the leg:slature was 
passed to incorporate the ‘stockholders of this 
bank. At this date there were but a small number 
of banks in the State, and only two in the city of 
New York. 

In the act of incorporation, James Constable, 
Henry Yates, Jr., Lewis Farquharson, Garret S. 
Veeder, Moses Beal and David Boyd were ap- 
pointed a board of commissioners to open books 
on the first Tuesday in May, in which all persons 
willing to be associated for the purpose of estab- 
lishing a bank were inscribed, together with the 
number of shares taken. ‘The value of each share 
was ten dollars, and the number limited to twenty 
thousand. 

On the second Tuesday of May of this same 
year, the stockholders elected the first board of 
directors. which consisted of thirteen members. 
Charles Kane was selected by the directors as the 
first president, and David Boyd as cashier. 

It is impossible to ascertain the exact date 
when the bank was first opened for the transaction 
of business. 

This bank was first located in a comparatively 
small building on the corner of Union and Church 
streets, on the site of the present Classical institute 
building, a structure built by the bank in 18-—, and 
used for banking purposes until 1852, when it was 
sold and converted into a private dwelling. In 
1852 the bank was removed to the building on 
State street now occupied by J. H. Barhyte & Co, 
Here it was located until 1857, when its present 
building was erected at a cost of about $15,000. 
This bank continued to do business, under its 

charter of 1807, until 1852, when it was reorgan- 
ized under the general banking laws of 1837, with 
a capital of $200,000. In 1859 the capital was 
reduced to $100,030. In 1865 it was reorgan- 
ized as a national bank, for a period of twenty 
years. Its charter expired this year (1885) and 
was extended by the Comptroller of the Currency 
to1g05. The following is a list of its various 
presidents and cashiers from 1807 : 

Presidents : Charles Kane, James Duane, David 
Martin, John I. De Graff, D. D. Campbell, James 
R, Craig, G. G. Maxon. 

Cashiers: David Boyd, William Walton, Ed- 
ward Walton, Nicholas Swits, Charles Thompson. 

Scuenrctapy Bank.—This bank was organized 
under a special charter in 1832 as a Safety Fund 
Bank, for a period of thirty years, with a capital of 
$150,c09. Its first directors were: Archibald 
Craig, Alonzo C. Paige, Samuel Cook, Ephraim 
Benedict, Benjamin I, Mumford, Jay Cady, Ste- 
phen Clark, Freeman Stanton, George McQueen, 
Judiah Ellsworth, Harvey Davis, Isaac I. Yates, 
and William Cunningham. 

Its charter expiring in 1862, it was reorganized 
under the State banking laws, with a capital of 
$100, 000. 

This bank was first located in a building on State 
street, near the corner of Church street. Here it con- 
tinued to do business until 187—, when it was moved 
to its present location, Archibald Craig was its first 
president. He was followed by Jay Cady in 1842. 
In 1862 Simon C. Groot was made president. He 
was succeeded by William L. Goodrich in 1866, 
who remained in this position until 1869, when he 
was succeeded by Jay Cady, the latter remaining 
in this position until the election of Abraham A. 
Van Vorst in 1875, since which date Mr. Van 
Vorst has retained this position. 

The first cashier was Thomas Palmer. He was 
succeeded in 1843 by William H. Palmer, who 
was succeeded in 1845 by William L. Goodrich. 
Mr. Goodrich remained in this position until 1866, 
when Samuel L. R. Buchanan was made cashier. 
He was succeeded in 1869 by William L. Good- 
rich, who has remained in this position ever since. 

ABRAHAM A. VAN VORST. 

ABRAHAM A, Van Vorst, President of the Sche- 
nectady Bank, was born in Glenville, Schenectady 
County, November 28, 1806. His father, Abra- 
ham F. Van Vorst, was a farmer, and, though also 
a native of Schenectady County, was of Holland 
descent. The progenitors of the Van Vorsts were 
three brothers, who emigrated to the Empire State 
in the early part of the last century. One of them 
settled in Brooklyn, where there was at that time a 
flourishing colony of his countrymen ; another lo- 
cated on the Hudson, near Kingston; and the 
third, who was the immediate ancestor of Mr. Van 
Vorst’s family, fixed upon Schenectady County as 
his future home. Inheriting the thrifty and indus- 
trious habits of their nation, they engaged in the 
cultivation of the soil, and, like their countrymen 
generally, soon accumulated a handsome compe- 
tence as the result of their honorable labor. His 
mother was the daughter of Jacob Wallace, a na- 
tive of New York, but of Scotch extraction, 

Mr. Van Vorst pursued his studies at the dis- 
trict schools till he attained the age of seventeen, 
when, preferring a mercantile to an agricultural oc- 
cupation, he entered, as clerk, a country store in 
Schenectady, and continued thus employed four 
years. Soon after attaining his majority, in 1828, 
he engaged in the hardware business in the same 
place, in company with Henry Peek, the firm be- 
ing Peek & Van Vorst. This copartnership lasted 
until 1835, when the firm was dissolved, Mr. Van 
Vorst continuing the business on his own account 
until 1853. Fora few years subsequently he was 
connected with the New York Central Railroad. 
In 1858 he became a member of the firm of Van 
Vorst, Vedder & Co., for the transaction of the lum- 
ber business, in which line of operations he con- 
tinued unul 1874, when he retired from the active 
duties of mercanule life. 

Previously to 1845 Mr. Van Vorst had been 
elected a member of the Board of Directors of the 
Schenectady Bank, then a State bank. Upon its 
reorganization in 1862, he was clected its vice- 
president, and on the death of Jay Cady in 1875, 
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CITY OF SCHENECTADY.—INDUSTRIES. 145 

he succeeded to the office of president. This 
bank, one of the most flourishing financial organ- 
izations in the State, has a competent capital and 
also a surplus fund, and declares an average divi- 
dend of five per cent. semi-annually, clear of 
State and national taxes. Mr. Van Vorst is also 
vice-president of the Schenectady Savings Bank, a 
sound and prosperous institution. For nearly 
fifty years he has been connected with the vestry of 
St. George’s Episcopal Church in Schenectady. 
Though naturally averse to political preferment, 

Mr. Van Vorst has served as alderman for several 
terms, and as member of the County Democratic 
Committee, and was induced, through the persua- 
sion of his party, to accept the nomination for 
mayor, to which important office he was elected, 
serving for the terms of 1853-54, 1869-70 and 
1882— 33. This responsibil ity he accepted very 
reluctantly, and only after the urgent appeal of his 
friends to his patriotism and his desire for the wel- 
fare of the community—those higher motives that 
influence men to the acceptance of public trusts. 
During the period of our civil war, Mr. Van 
Vorst was an active ‘‘war Democrat,” upholding, 
by all the means in his power, the hands of the 
Government. He was for many years identified 
with the business interests of Schenectady, in which 
his thrifty and sterling habits made him a promi- 
nent mercantile character. Since 1862, his finan- 
cial skill and conscientious management of mone- 
tary interests have been an important factor in the 
prosperity of that city. He was married in 1830 
to Miss Amanda Hulbert, daughter of Dr. Hul- 
bert, of Pennsylvania, who bore him one son and 
three daughters (all of whom are living), and died 
in 1880, six months after the celebration of their 
golden wedding, Mr. Van Vorst built his resi- 
dence, No. 25 Liberty street, in 1835, and has lived 
there continuously since. 

City Banx.—This bank was organized in June, 
1874, with a capital of $100,000, “under the gen- 
eral banking laws. The first directors were: T,. 
W. McCamus, Andrew Truax, William J. Van 
Horne, E. Nott Schermerhorn, William Johnson, 
C. Van Slyck, Charles G. Ellis, George Curtis, 
Abraham Gillespie, Garrett S. Veeder, Marcus N. 
Millard and O. S. Luffman. T. W. McCamus 
was elected president, and O. I. Luffman as cash- 
ier, and remained as such officers from the organ- 
ization of the bank until they resigned in March, 
1884. At this time Charles G. Ellis was chosen 
president, E. Nott Schermerhorn, cashier, and O. 
S. Luffman, assistant cashier. 

December 15, 1884, it suspended, and John A. 
A. De Remer was appointed receiver. 

James H. Davis, gentleman, is a well known 
and respected citizen of Schenectady. 

SCHENECTADY WATER-WORKS 

During the latter part of the preceding century, 
a company was formed in this city to supply the 
town with water. Water was taken from a spring, 
which now in part supplies the cemetery pond. It 

was conducted by wooden pipes through the main 
streets at that date. In 1835, this system of water 
supply seems to have become inadequate for the 
needs of the city, for in that year an act was passed 
by the Legislature, empowering the corporation of 
Schenectady to build a new water-works. Water 
at this time was obtained by means of a spring on 
Engine Hill. The pipes were simply logs, with a 
hole bored through them of a diameter. of about 
two to three inches. For many years this sys- 
tem was in use. Even asmall portion above the 
canal was in use a few years before the present 
works were constructed. During the excavation 
made for the present water svstem, the pipes of the 
first works were unearthed, and in many cases 
found to be in a comparatively preserved condi- 
tion. 

THE SCHENECTADY WaTER Company.—In_ 1865, 
an act was passed by the Legislature incorporating 
the present Schenectady Water Company. ‘The 
first directors named in the act were: William Van 
Vranken, George G. Maxon, D. Cady Smith, John 
W. Veeder, Simon C. Groot, Benjamin F. Potter, 
and T. W. McCamus. The capital stock was lim- 
ited to $80,000. At a meeting of the directors, 
shortly after the passage of the act, William Van 
Vranken was elected President, T. W. McCamus, 
Vice-President, and D. Cady Smith, Treasurer and 
Secretary. This, and the following year, ineffec- 
tual efforts were made to secure sufficient capital 
to construct the works. 

In 1867, a few of the citizens of Schenectady, be- 
lieving that the city should own its own water- 
works, secured the passage of an act, which 
created William Van Vranken, William J. Van 
Horne, JohnC. Ellis, G. G. Maxon, and Andrew 
McMullen, Water Commissioners. These com- 
missioners were empowered to consider all matters 
relative to supplying the city with water, to furnish 
estimates and plans for the construction of water- 
works to the Common Council; which plans; upon 
the approval of the Common Council, were to 
be submit’ed to the resident taxpayers for their 
approval or rejection. 

The Water Commissioners did agree upon a plan 
of construction, which was submitted and approved 
by the Common Council; but when the subject 
came before the taxpayers some time in the follow- 
ing May, it was overwhelmingly voted down, 

The failure of the people’s consent to the con- 
struction of a city water-works, again brought into 
active existence the company formed in 186s. 
In 1869, this company, which had not forfeited its 
corporate rights, reorganized, by the election of 
Charles Stanford, President, and William Van 
Vranken, Treasurer and Secretary. At the reor- 
ganization all of the capital stock was subscribed, 
and the construction of the works commenced the 
following year,and was completed in1871. Thesys- 
tem adopted is known as the Holleysystem. The 
pumping-house is situated at the lower end of 
Ferry street, adjoining the river. The water is 
pumped from a large cistern or well, 114 x 6 feet, 
built under the ground near the margin of the river. 
The walls of this well aredry, permitting the filtering 
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of water from the river into the well, while over the 
top is an arched covering composed of brick and 
cement. Around the walls isa course of gravel 
and sand, which has a tendency to purify the water 
before it reaches the well. A conductor pipe, 
three feet square and one hundred feet long, ex- 
tends from the well, along and under the bed, out 

into the middle of the river. ‘The end of this pipe 
is protected by a perforated sheet of iron. 

In 1872 the works were in active operation, and 
have been ever since. During 1872, a contract 
was made by this company, with the city, to furnish 
water for the extinguishment of fires. Since the 
adoption of this system, much valuable property 
has been saved and no fire has extended beycnd 
the building in which it originated, and the losses 
by fire have -been proportionately less than at any 
other corresponding period of the city’s history. 

In 1871 only nine miles of pipe and roo fire 
hydrants were constructed; at present over fourteen 
miles of pipe have been laid and 140 hydrants fur- 
nished. 

The capital of this company was increased to 
$100,000 in 1871 

The present officersare : Charles Stanford, Pres- 
ident and Treasurer ; Charles Stanford, Jr., Sec- 
retary. Directors: Charles Stanford, G. G. Maxon, 
Charles G. Ellis, John McEncroe, Wm. Van 
Vranken, Edward Ellis, and Charles Stanford, 
Jr. 

GAS-WORKS. 

In 1852, acompany, composed entirely of capi- 
talists outside of this city, built the first gas-works 
ever constructed in Schenectady. This company 
subsequently sold the concern to Abell Smith and 
James R. Craig. Afterwards it was sold at public 
auction to Gershom Banker, who conducted it 

_ until 1872, when two-thirds interest in it was pur- 
chased by Charles Stanford and William Van 
Vranken. Shortly after, Mr. Banker’s interest was 
sold to John McEncroe. The works have since 
been operated and controlled by these three 
gentlemen. 

The capital of the company is $100,000, and the 
works are capable of producing yearly, 11,000,000 
cubic feet of gas. 

Ropert CLEMENT, who for over thirty years was 
superintendent of the gas-works, was born in Bel- 
fast, Ireland, in 1824. He died in 1883. Mr. 
Clement was a citizen widely known and esteemed, 
being a progressive, intelligent and exemplary man. 
He was largely interested in real estate in this city, 
and did much to promote the business interests 
of Schenectady. He was so long and intimately 
connected with the gas-works in Schenectady, that 
he may almost be said to have been its real founder; 
certain it is, that to his intelligent work, much 
of its present prosperity can be justly attributed. 

JoserH H. CLement, son of Robert, was born in 
New Yorkin 1849. He received his education in 
the public schools. In 1860 he became connected 
with the Schenectady gas-works and has remained 
with this company ever since. At present he is 
superintendent of the works. 

| 

CASPER PRATT HOAG. 

Casper Pratr Hoac was born in Troy, N. Y., 
September 24, 1810. His father was a vessel 

owner and he was early inured to the dangers and 
hardships of a seafaring life, which were then many 
times greater than they are now. Before attaining 
to his majority he had at times taken charge of his 
father’s vessel, and had made some progress in the 
acquisition of a practical knowledge of navigation. 
Soon after that time he accepted a_ proposition 
from a merchant: who had built a brig for sea 
service, to take an interest in the vessel and assume 
the command. He made two voyages to the Gulf 
of Mexico, and two to Europe, Madeira and the 
Canary Islands. After Mr. Hoag’s return to New 
York from the last of these, he and his partner 
leased the brig to the Brazilian Government to 
make a voyage to South America, from which she 
returned in due time newly rigged and in excellent 
order, having lost her masts, rigging and sails in a 
tornado, and been refitted at the Isle of St. Thomas 
at an expense of about $9,000. 

In the meantime, Mr. Hoag had married the 
youngest daughter of Peter I. Clate, of Schenectady, 
and had determined to abandon the sea and engage 
in business at Schenectady in partnership with his 
brother-in-law. His partner in the ownership of 
the brig consented to a proposition looking to this 
end very reluctantly, and after many vain endeavors 
to persuade Mr. Hoag to reconsider his determina- 
tion. 

The brig was sold to the Brazilian Govern- 
ment, and Mr. Hoag relinquished forever an avoca- 
tion which had been the means of his visiting many 
remote and interesting portions of the world, which 
had many charms for him, and in which he had 
met many appalling dangers which, if we had space 
to relate them, would form one of the most inter- 
esting portions of this volume. In partnership 
with C. C. Clute, he purchased five lots in Sche- 
nectady and erected a mill, thus establishing a busi- 
ness which the two owned and managed co-jointly 
for three years, at the expiration of which time, by 
purchase of his brother-in-law’s interest, Mr. Hoag 
became sole proprietor. He continued the busi- 
ness with considerable success, gradually increas- 
ing it until 1845, when, on July 25th, the mill 
was destroyed by fire. Mr. Hoag’s energy is no 
better evidenced than by the fact that within six 
months he had erected a brick foundry on his 
property, and began work therein during the 
following April. This enterprise Mr. Hoag made 
a success, as he invariably did such enterprises as 
he connected himself with, continuing its active 
personal management until 1860, when his health 
had failed in so marked a degree that his physician 
advised him to relinquish his confining business 
entirely, and take a necessary season of rest and 
recreation. He leased his foundry to a company 
of Albany men for five years, and deyoted himself 
to the care of his garden, pleasurable pursuits and 
such gentle exercise as was most conducive to good 
health, with such results that his physical condition 
was vastly improved. 
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In 1838 he united with the First Reformed 
Church of Schenectady, and was long officially 
connected therewith, and one of the most earnest 
and liberal contributors to its support and advance- 
ment. When, in the summer of 1860, its house 
of worship was destroyed by fire, he was one of 
the foremost in working to save it, and in all 
measures for its rebuilding took a leading po- 
sition, and was a member of its Building Commit- 
tee. Under their supervision, the erection of a 

stone edifice of the Netherland Gothic style was 
begun in October, 1860, and completed in Jan- 
uary, 1863. 

Since his retirement from business in 1860, 
Mr. Hoag has not re-entered the manufacturing 
business in any of its branches; but he has been, as 
he was previously, prominently identified with 
several of Schenectady’s leading commercial inter- 
ests, He was a stockholder in the Mohawk Bank, 
and for twenty-two years, until his resignation about 
a year ago, a Director intheS Schenectady Bank. At 
various times other important interests have com- 
manded his co-operation. During the past twenty 
years, the general confidence in his honor and 
business ability have been attested by his adminis- 
tration of two estates, and his closing out of two 
others by power of attorney. One of these estates 
required six years of his time in its settlement, and 
was divided among thirty-five heirs to their general 
satisfaction. The settlement of another 
them, the real estate of which was located in 
Michigan and Delaware, consumed five years of 
Mr. Hoag’s careful attention. 

Since the organization of the Republican party, 
Mr. Hoag has been identified with it; prior to 
that time he was a Whig, holding principles nearly 
akin to those of the earlier Republicans. He has 
represented his ward in the City Government several 
times as Alderman, and some years ago was chosen 
Mayor, to fill a vacancy caused by the resignation 
of an incumbent of that office. His administra- 
tion of all trusts, private, public, commercial and 
political, has been marked by the uprightness and 
careful intelligence which have characterized him 
through life. Heis one of the many self-made 
men of Schenectady, and one of the few who stand 
as connecting links between the Schenectady of fifty 
years ago and the Schenectady of to-day. Now in his 
seventy-fifth year, in the enjoyment of good health 
anda fine intellect, with no wish for worldly honors, 
made happy by those he loves, he calmly awaits the 
summons to the reward of a well-spent life. 

_THE MANUFACTORIES AND INDUSTRIES 
OK, SCHENECTADY. 

Broom Corn.—For half a century Schenectady 
County produced more broom corn than any other 
in the State. The New York ‘‘Gazetteer,” of 1860 
and 1872, states that one-half of the entire crop of 
the State was raised in the county. The introduc- 
tion of Western corn has reduced the acreage of 
1,500 acres, which it was up to 1880, to one-third 
that quantity. There will not be over 500 acres 
planted this year—1885. The soil has become 

one of | 

somewhat exhausted by this long repeated work, 

and land that formerly gave goo pounds to the 
acre will now produce only 550 pounds. 

The history of this interest is a large factor to a 
proper commercial knowledge of our county. 
While the industry shows a marked decline from 
its former condition, it is yet one of the largest of 
its kind in the State. 

As all old citizens will remember, the broom of 
former days was a rude device compared with 
that of to-day. It was simply a few round bunches 
of corn sewed on to a stick. George Canfield, 
who came here from Utica about fifty years ago, 
was the inventor of the improved ‘Shaker’ 
broom, the flat broom we now use. Mr. Can- 
field also invented, about 1550, a seed planter, 

planting previously being done by hand. He 
also, ten years later, made a horse planter, which 
is yetin general use. Mr. Canfield never protecting 
his contrivances by patent, met with the usual re- 
sult of inventors, and died a poor man. 

THE ProneErr.—The very first grower in the 
county was Otis Smith, who came here from Con- 
necticut over fifty years ago. A Mr. Willard, who 
owned a farm at the west endof the town, had 
planted two acres on the island. This was the first 
land ever planted to broom corn on the Mohawk 
River. After preparing his land, Mr. Willard, not 
himself a practical corn grower, sent for Mr. Smith 
to superintend the crop. Smith purchased land 
until he owned about 125 acres, and raised and 
manufactured corn until his death in about 1870. 

The following list gives the best information at- 
tainable of the pioneers in this industry, beginning 
on the north side of the Mohawk River at Sche- 
nectady, and running thence to Hoffman's Ferry, 
a distance of ten miles. 

NortH SipE oF River.—David F. Reese, fifty 
years ago, owned the islands a mile from the city. 
known as the Hook Islands. He had 200 to 
250 acres, and up to about 1865, the year of his 
death, was a grower and manufacturer. After his 
decease, his son Frederick continued the business 
until his death, some seven or eight vears later, 

when the farm was divided. Mrs. Frederick Reese 
now owns the Big Island, Hook Island belonging 
to the Collins family. 

Next west to the Reese farm, in scot was that 
of Charles P. and Edward P. Sanders, sho, forty- 
five years ago, owned 700 acres there, wear 
of which were devoted to corn. They also manu- 
factured and continued until about 1870, when 
they retired, though they still grow some corn. 
They belong to one of the old families of the 
county. 

The next farm on the west was that of 100 acres, 
owned by Col. Abraham Toll. He raised and 
manufactured from about 1840 up to about 1865, 
when his brother, Charles H., bought it and con- 
tinued the business for ten years. He then gave it 
up and became a general farmer. 

Next west to the Toll place was seventy-five to 
eighty acres owned by Reuben Ellwood, who, from 
about 1845 to 1855, grew and manufactured corn. 
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He then removed to Illinois, selling his property 
to Wm. Cramer, who, up to his death about fifteen 
years ago, as has his family since, remained in the 
same business. 

Cornelius and Nicholas Velie had fifty acres, next 
west to Ellwood, forty-five years ago. Up to about 
1860 they grew and manufactured, when they died, 
Wm. Haslow becoming owner of the farm. He 
has continued the business ever since. 

Next west of the Velie property was that of 
Nicholas Brooks, who, forty-five years ago, owned 
sixty acres there. He grew and manufactured 
corn for about five years, when David F. Reese 
rented the farm. In about 1855 Harvey Vedder 
leased it, and in 1865 Christian F. Seeley bought 
it. Through all these changes the corn business 
was kept up. The homestead is now owned by 
James Wyatt and the balance of the farm by Fred- 
erick Larbey. No corn is grown now. 

Garrett -Barhydt owned fifteen to twenty acres, 
next west to Brooks’, thirty years ago, and from 
that time to date has grown corn. 

West of Barhydt’s, Wm. Rector began, in about 
1845, with thirty-five to forty acres. Has never 
manufactured, but continues the raising of broom 
corn. 

For thirty years, ending in 1884, Adam H. 
Swart grew corn upon fifteen acres situate next 
west to the Rector farm. 

Next west to Swart’s are forty acres owned by 
John S. Barhydt, who, fifty years ago, was a grower 
and manufacturer there. Mr. Barhydtdiedin 1854, 
since then his son John has run the farm. He 
has a manufactory in the city. 

Forty years ago Aaron Swart raised corn upon 
20 acres next west of Barhydt’s. He made a 
few brooms at first, but soon gave it up. Mr. 
Swart sold out to Latin Johnson in 1866, and 
moved to Illinois. Mr. Johnson raised corn until 
1884. 

Next west to Aaron Swart’s is the estate of 
Philip Vedder, who owned it a century ago. In 
1845, Albert H. Vedder began growing corn upon 
from 40 to 50 acres of the original 150-acre farm. 
In 1863 he sold 80 acres to Nicholas H. Swart, 
including the land he had been working. Mr. 
Swart remained there until 1866, whenhe sold to 
Cornelius Van Patten, a grower. Mr. Van Patten 
died in 1883, leaving the property to his daughter, 
who shortly afterwards sold it to Bartholomew 
Clute. No corn is raised there now. 
We have traced every farm within the territory 

specified upon which broom corn was cultivated or 
brooms made. Next following is given a history 
of the farms along the ten-mile strip and through 
the town of Rotterdam on the 

SouTH Sipe or tur River.—Beginning at Sche- 
nectady, on the south side of the river, are the 
Watervliet Shakers, who, when Otis Smith har- 
vested the first two acres above described, were 
making preparations to cultivate and manu- 
facture corn in this county. They came here 
from New Lebanon, and were the first to make 
brooms for the Schenectady trade. They leased 
the Tomilson farm of go acres. They already 

owned—and still do—6o acres two miles up the 

river, making, with the Tomilson property, 150 
acres, which they planted to corn. Nicholas I. 
Schermerhorn was their superintendent from 1835 
for forty years. In 1850 the Tomilson portion was 
sold to John Myers, who grew and manufactured 
up to the year of his death, about 1570. He was 
a large operator. After his death his family rented 
the land and manufacturing wasstopped. The 60- 
acre piece was recently leased to John Van Epps. 

Nicholas I. Schermerhorn, from about 1840 to 
1880, had go acres where the Jones Car Company 
is now located. Mr. Schermerhorn was a large 
crower, manufacturer and dealer. He bought for 
years about all the corn grown in Schoharie 
Valley. 

Next west to the Schermerhorn property, fifty 
years ago, John, Alexander and Jacob Van Epps 
had 200 acres of land and grew and manufactured. 
In about 1860 the Van Epps’ sold a part of the 
farm to John Veeder. John Myers subsequently 
bought out Mr. Veeder, and after the death of Mr. 
Myers his family continued to grow corn, but 
no longer manufactured. Jacob Van Epps died 
about 1860, and John Van Epps, 1868. Alexander 
now lives in the city and still raises corn upon the 
homestead, though no brooms have been made 
there since 1863. 
Two brothers, John and Simon Schermerhorn, 

fifty years ago owned 50 acres next west to the Van 
Epps’ home, and from that time to date have grown 
corn and made brooms. 

Fifty years ago, Nicholas Vrooman and Josiah 
Van Patten owned 150 acres next west to the 
Schermerhorns, upon which corn was grown. 
Forty-five years ago, Nicholas alsoowned 25 acres 
there, upon which he grew corn and made brooms 
until 1880, when his son succeeded to the business. 
Josiah sold his land to Lewis Clement in about 
1873, and is now living in the city. Mr. Clement 
grows corn. Vrooman Van Patten is yet living on 
his farm, his son, Abram, growing corn and mak- 
ing brooms there. 

Next west to Van Patten’s, forty years ago, An- 
thony H. Van Slyke owned 50 acres. He died in 
about 1865. Corn was cultivated and a_ few 
brooms made. His sons, John and Harmon Van 
Slyke, own the farm, and until 1852 grew some 
corn. In that year they leased the land, upon 
which corn is still cultivated. 

Abram A. Bradt, next west to Van Slyke’s, in 
1845 cultivated 25 acres; he also made brooms. 
After his death, in about 1882, Harvey Bradt took 
possession and in 1883-4 corn was grown, From _ 
1870 to 1883, Harvey Bradt had quite an extensive 
manufactory in the city. 

In 1835, Simon Maybee, next west to Bradt’s, 
cultivated 15 to 20 acres, continuing until about 
1870, the year of his death. Jacob Maybee then 
grew corn there for about five years. 

In 1845, Aaron Bradt cultivated 30 acres. 
next west to Maybee’s. He died about 1860, and 
Francis Bradt grew corn and made a few brooms. 

Next west was the 35-acre piece of Abram N. 
Bradt. who, in 1835, grew corn there. He died 



with: agre acl te cid: enn “obey Me 
sqony mueliee git Balle pete 2 as 

; Ke 7 

PR ana haatyerona 
sROTOR TK diet aethape tol . aici nent set 5 

Bye saue Wanita Pine wean Dhbw ated moun tit: Reo 

Shop diode “dicey ait? 

ety 
SPE FEI 

eo Fi 

Se it 

fia, 

i 
1 

Pittets 

AG 

a4 

Hes 

dhe yop 

rrasiek 

2" Wo 

wes om oi a pelgeen s peme: A 
ete) meld 

of 

fo VEER 

Wiese iF . 

mtd 

Teo ne ot an 5 ibe: ith si ne 

open a 

oO Brus. cried :aeree. 2H bedi engetd 
e881. iden Bas. aa aehy thn sale 

nogu baat oti (bostet OS: Lasky Ts OS 
i te ming gee 

cab, Wettig veal alohten. WATE 
pe TiOt ee ION 

ADD y 

ep ry ent For it 

shel ale Oe rele Beslisrhnaash tae pS 
gq Pega, Seehiaoss e m bite aved Pred 
pike oF isd Tappan Ge Sot si sig DRS 3 

ith s ret smoyiecadoe ob 2 Lode 
ah Hh ae) gi Peal a | | 

She me oA ii iat» eT ve 7 

feo: Hipp Aon re 
Sih The itis: Re cra Wot 

PEases c 

i iets} v tk 

Pret erate ny Pe on eee i 

Baris aes raw teanel out 

BY fire 

appl et 

Soa 44 is 

2 gamic | plot. ewmillond oy 
i047 Ky esis Ge. Dele aeg es 

Y TRAE 835 
seerte rants 

ney, a Sih Leahey a 

Pas be 32} 

hal j iy St 

4 rhe 
Davie the MLE 

- ~ 5 4 a 7 iu U 

Bef 141 Oe RI Ort vt Hise oye Se Bo 

PO) Hubs aMe Moe 2 tl ae aL uf Ree Peyeey 

ese f OU ml 0) ae! eifl hie? neo 

Soka oat thy giiivdi. wont ab betae ye 
ei nis nav ayo %, asaaee PWeTE 

Surreon udindé eect peal ies, 
ruth eiacnd BH 

jt 2 setied ved of igs Teor 
ap oe hogwd otis asl [Pe 

he sMeeistt 2 eaw mio} « ROL ether), 

vibes Laan Ae at i sage 

4 

‘ 

‘ selves “slo 

“cad es eh be 

7 ip en = he ! oak : 

INGE ute Hate & mate erga = ae Pane} wots . ewe | 

i Ae. is 

be peer 

ager Woda 
phe maid 3 

Aut mee silt amin a 
1S: fess: Wer fe ‘Rewtgad 

“beat is ‘ee Hie Ley ic) 
: Bar ream - 

Fees “eae Os poent 

elie! gb aeeed Bina a HI 

soit Bee. vores ee nh 
mica 30) ‘gterer se12 sini ue 

Gam pte o” SER hoe 

fet: tod set of teow 
ser BEA Etat StS. yee * as ra 153 

S26. OS speKe wine uote “ahyitial 2 ndol 
wer ng bath dere teal anaes jounaetunnts bas 
FEMI! pt aor ESA gel aoe ent” 

Bisods i (one pane a add 

& Spent. oe 

enagy, ined A 

ith ‘e ge 

inst 



CITY OF SCHENECTADY.—INDUSTRIES. 149 

in about 1880, and was succeeded by his son, 
Simon Bradt, who continued until 1883, the year 
of his death. The property was bequeathed to his 
nephew, Abram A. Bradt, who now lives there and 
grows some corn. 

Nicholas Bradt has cultivated twenty acres next 
west for fifty years, and is yet living there. 

John M. Veeder raised corn upon. thirty acres 
next west, from 1857 to 1882. He also made a 
few brooms but is now out of the corn business. 

Next west to Veeder’s farm, and the last on the 
ten-mile track, is the thirty-acre farm of John 
Byce, who began raising corn there twenty years 
ago. He also made a few brooms, but in 1883 
retired from the business. The farm is still his 
home. 

Crry Dearers anp Manuracturers.—Among 
the prominent dealers and manufacturers of 
broom corn doing business in the city, are the 
following: 

Nicholas H. Swart has been a buyer and _ seller 
since 1835, and since that time has dealt with 

nearly every prominent grower in this section. 
Mr. Swart shipped the first load of broom corn 
ever brought from any Western State to us city. 
This load - was from Illinois, in the year 1 

We are indebted to Mr. Swart for a aoe of 
many of the facts given in this article, and to his 
remarkably clear memory any credit due to its 
accuracy should be given. 

H. J. Ansicker, Water street, corner Washington 
avenue, house 3, Ferry, continued ; John Barhy dt, 
Zi Washington avenue ; Henry Bradt, broom 
handles, Mill lane; H.S. De Forest, roo Centre 

street ; Charles Horstman & Co., 6 River; C. F. 
Rankins & Co., 121 Front street ; Henry Whit- 
myre, 19 North street; Chas. L. Whitmyre, 12 
and 14 Washington avenue; Christopher Van Slyck, 
7 Pine and 57 Centre street; James A. Flinn, John 
street. 

THE SCHENECTADY 
WORKS 

LOCOMOTIVE 

Are under good management, and deserve the suc- 
cess they enjoy. 

The capital of the Schenectady Locomotive 
Engine Manufactory, the first company formed, 
was raised by the citizens of Schenectady in Jan- 
uary, 1848, and was expended in buildings and 
machinery by a company who agreed to pay 
the interest on the capital annually, and to pay 
to the stockholders the whole capital in eight 
years, and thus themselves become the owners 
of the property. This company carried on the 
works about one year; their affairs turned out so 
badly that they abandoned the works, which re- 
mained idle for twelve months, during which time 
a part of the personal property was sold for taxes. 
The whole works were finally sold at one-half 
cost. 

The purchasers under the sale were John Fllis, 
Daniel D. Campbell, and Simon C. Groot, who, 
with others, raised a new capita!, and on June 14, 
1851, the present company, The Schenectady 
Locomotive Works, was incorporated. Walter 
McQueen acguired an intcrest in 1851, which he 
still retains. By February, 1863, John Ellis had, 
by purchase, acquired, substantially, the entire 
stock. October 4, 1864, Mr. Ellis died, and his 
stock was subsequently divided among his heirs, 

his sons, John C., Charles oe and William D. 
John C. Ellis died October 4, 1884, just twenty 
years after the death of his father. 

The officers and stockholders—all stockholders 
being trustees—are: Charles G. Ellis, President ; 
Walter McQueen, Vice-President ; Edward Ellis, 
Treasurer. The estate of John C, Ellis, deceased, 
and William D. Fllis. 

The plant of this large concern occupies an area 
of ten acres (though they use for all purposes 
twenty-one acres), upon which are erected fifteen 
brick structures, ranging in size from 25 x 71 feet to 
100 x 252 feet, and 85 X 345 feet. It is bounded by 
Fonda, Romeyn, and Nott streets, and the New 
York Central Railroad. They own, in addition, 
lumber yards on Romeyn street, coal yards between 
the canal and Fonda street, and their water-works 
upon the west side of the canal are constantly 
pumping water from the Mohawk River. 

All classes of locomotives, from the small, nar- 
row gauge to the large consolidation, with eight 
driving-wheels, are made, their annual capacity 
being 225 engines. 

One thousand one hundred men are employed, 
to whom is paid, monthly, from $50,000 to 
$60, COO. 

The products of this establishment are seen 
throughout the United States, Canada, and Mexico. 

The Superintendent, A. J. Pirkty, was born at 
Akron, O., in 1854 ; served an apprenticeship as 
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machinist there ; entered the drawing room of the 
Baldwin Locomotive Works, Philadelphia, in 
1876; was Mechanical Engineer for the Rhode 
Island Locomotive Works, Providence, in 1880; 
came to Schenectady in 1882 as Mechanical 
Engineer for the Schenectady Locomotive Works, 
and was appointed Superintendent of the Works in 
1884. 

WILLIAM GIBSON. 

Wititam Grsson was born near Edinburgh, 
Scotland, February 16, 1812, and died in Schenec- 
tady, March 28, 1881. During his boyhood, until 
his eighteenth year, he attended the schools of that 
city. Hecame to America in 1830 and soon lo- 
cated in Troy, where he speedily secured work in 
Burden’s iron works. Shortly afterward he was 
appointed foreman in the spike factory. Six years 
later he was made superintendent: of the works, 
which, however, were not so extensive as they are 
at the present time. In 1853 he severed his con- 
nection with the Burden works and removed to 
Albany, and became Superintendent of the Albany 
Northern Railroad, now a part of the railway sys- 

tem controlled by the Delaware and Hudson Canal 
Company. 

In 1855 he engaged in the manufacture of spikes 
in the shop of Mr. Townsend, which was located 
in what is now the lower part of Albany, thus em- 
barking in business on his own account. He sold 
out this enterprise a year later and removed to 
Schenectady. In 1858, Mr. John Ellis, formerly 
owner of the Schenactady Locomotive Works, and 
father of the present proprietors, knowing his 
worth, secured his valuable services, and promoted 
him to the position of assistant superintendent of 
the shops. The duties of his position he performed 
with zeal and fidelity, until his failing health com- 
pelled him to relinquish them in 1876, subsequent 
to which date he was in no wise occupied, save in 
taking care of his own property and that of others 
left to his immediate charge. 

Mr. Gibson was scarcely twenty-one years of age 
when he married Mary McQueen, sister of Walter 
McQueen, for some time superintendent of the lo- 
comotive works. His marriage occurred on July 
4, 1832, during his residence in Troy. At that 
time he was a member of the Associate Presbyterian 
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Church of that city, of which Rev. Dr. Bullions, 
author of Bullions’ English Grammar, was pastor. 
He was a leading spirit in that church until his 
removal to Schenectady, when he united with the 
First Presbyterian Church of the latter city, which 
was then under the pastoral charge of Rev. Dr. 
Backus. Asa Christian he was ever fervent and 
staunch, doing willingly and unostentatiously his 
utmost for the advancement of the cause he loved. 
He was a man of active temperament, and his 
sensitive nature often stood in opposition to his 
better judgment. He was counted a man worthy 
of unlimited respect and confidence, and he won 
and retained numerous friends who mourned his 
death with sorrow. He left a family of four: a 
widow, two grown-up sons, William W. and Peter 
M. Gibson, and a daughter, Jennie M., widow of 
the late John Gilmour. Another daughter, Mary 
E., died in 1852, aged four and one-half years. 
His father died in Scotland and his mother came to 
America with her son. She never made Schenec- 
tady her home, but lived with her daughter at 
Auburn, where she died some years ago. 

The firm of McQueen & Stace, mechanical engi- 
neers and manufacturers of steam engines and 
boilers, and self-regulating boilers for steam heat- 
ing, 170 Centre street, was organized April 1, 
1884. The individual members are Hon. Daniel 

P. McQueen and David L. Stage. The plant cov- 
ers an area of 80x 125 feet. Fifteen to twenty men 
are employed, the annual output amounting to 
$25,000. They also do plumbing and gas and 
steam-fitting. 
Among the buildings which were fitted up by 

them, are the Classical Institute, the German Cath- 
olic School, and the home of Hon. John D. Camp- 
bell. Mr. McQueen was member of Assembly in 
1874, and has also been inspector of foreign ves- 
sels, while Mr. Stage, for twelve years prior to 
1884, was chief engineer of the Schenectady water- 
works. 

Tue WestinGHousE Company, manufacturers 
of agricultural engines, grain-threshers, horse- 
powers, etc., is known throughout the United 
States. In 1837, George Westinghouse began at 
Fonda, N. Y., the manufacture of his patent 
threshing-machine and horse-power. — Facilities 
were added from time to time, as trade demanded, 
and in 1850 the works were removed to Schenec- 
tady, where they wereenlarged. In 1870, Mr. G. 
Westinghouse retired from business. In 1874 the 
buildings were destroyed by fire, and were imme- 
diately rebuilt. In 1884 the Westinghouse Com- 
pany was organized, the stock being held by the 
partners of the firm, which was succeeded by the 
corporate body. The officers are: J. Westing- 
house, President; Spencer Moore, Vice-President; 

John Westinghouse, Treasurer; H. R. Hegeman, 
Secretary. 

The premises are between Dock street and the 
Erie Canal, with a track from the Central Railroad 
running through them. 
brick, 300 x 500 feet, three stories. Around it are the 
foundry, blacksmith shop, warehouses, office, etc. 

The main building is of | 

| 
| 
A force of 175 to 200 is employed, and the annual 
capacity is 300 threshers, 150 engines, and corre- 
sponding number of horse-powers. 

Henry V, Jackson is the senior member of the 
firm of Jackson & Sanps, engineers and machin- 
ists, corner Jay and Franklin streets They are 
builders of engines and machinery for yachts, 
Jaunches and for stationary purposes. They also 
repair machinery of all kinds. 

The history of the Kttmer Wrre Banp Manurac- 
TURING Company, Dock street, is unique in the annals 

of the city. In 1876, Augustus Kilmer, then a resi- 
dent of Howe’s Cave, Schoharie County, N. Y., 
aided by members of his family, invented the wire 
band now so extensively manufactured by them. 
Patent was obtained in 1877, and one year later 
the manufacturing began. In 1880 the company 
built and moved into their present works. They 
occupy an area of 100x 180 feet, upon which are 
buildings to the extent of 1400 square feet. The 
machinery, most of which is patented by the com- 
pany, is driven by asteam engine of fifty-five horse- 
power, and 125 men are employed. ‘The average 
daily output of completed work is eight tons. 

They make annealed Bessemer steel wire bands 
for baling hay, straw, flax, etc., fence wire, and or- 
namental fencing, by a process of which they are 
the inventors and proprietors. ‘The company is 
composed of the father, Augustus Kilmer, and his 
seven sons, Ransom, Martin L., Irving A., Thalas 
S., Melvin D., Elmer E. and William A., and Ed- 
ward Davis, a son-in-law. Among the leading in- 
ventions of the firm is the fancy fencing and the 
arrow bale-fastener cutter invented by Irving A., 
and the twisting machine for bale loops by Irving 
A. and Elmer E. Additional buildings are soon 

|; to be constructed. 

Tue Jones Car ManuracturinG ComPpany.— 
The Jones Manufacturing Company came to 
Schenectady from West Troy in 1875, renting the 
premises of the Schenectady Car Company for the 
manufacture of street cars. Soon after the works were 
enlarged and they began the manufacture of draw- 
ing-room cars and sleepers, which continued until 
February 4, 1884, when E. Nott Schermerhorn was 
appointed its receiver, and for about eight months 
the business was continued by him. About the be- 
ginning of 1885, Mr. Walter A. Jones leased the 
works of the receiver, andin June, 15385, they were 
re-leased to the New York Sleeping Car Company, 
which is at the present time the controller of the 
works. 

THATCHER ELrvator.—What is now commonly 
known as the Thatcher Elevator, was built in 
1865 by George G. Maxon, of this city, and John 
W. Thompson, of Ballston Spa. From then until 
May 1, 1884, George G. Maxon and his son, Ethan 
A. Maxon, conducted the business. Mr, Thomp- 
son having previously sold his interest in the real 
property to Mr. Maxon, Sr., a stock company was 
formed, the name being the Schenectady Elevat- 
ing Company, of which George G. Maxon is 
President and Treasurer, and Le Grand C. Cramer, 
Secretary. In May, 1884, Ralph W. Thatcher, of 
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Ki, le bbe 

Albany, leased the property of the company for a 
term of years yet unexpired. 

An elevator and general mill business is done, | 
from one to one and one-half million bushels of | 
grain being annually handled. Their principal | 
business is in receiving and transferring grain which | 
reaches here from the West wa the Erie canal | 
and the railways, for Northern New York and New 
England States. The main building is 60x 100 
feet in extent, 95 feet high. A 200 horse-power 
engine is used. From 15 to 30 men are em- 
ployed. 

C.. C.CEUTE. 

CADWALLADER COLDEN CtutTE, eldest son of 
Peter I. Clute, was born in the City of Schenec- 
tady, October 18, 1814. Becoming associated in 
early life with his father (afterward of the firm of 
Clute & Bailey) in the general foundry business, he 
laid the foundation for those strict metuodical 
business habits which were so characteristic of him 
through life. Dissolving this connection, he started 
in trade for himself, conducting successfully for a 

number of years a hardware store, located on the 
block between the canal and railroad crossing on 
State street, Schenectady. During this time, and 
about the year 1841, he associated with one or 
two others, and took a contract for building sections 
1g and 28 on the Western Railroad. In 1842 he 
purchased the interest of Joel C. Bailey, of the 
firm of Clute & Bailey, and the firm of P. I. Clute 
& Sons was organized, continuing until the year 
1849, when it was merged in the firm of Clute 

Brothers, P. I. Clute retiring. His connection 
with this firm, subsequently ‘changed to that of 
Clute Brothers & Co,., remained up to the day of 
his death. On the organization of the firm of G. 
Westinghouse & Co., and the establishment of that 
house in Schenectady in 1856, he became a mem- 
ber, and continued such until the reorganization 
of the firm in 1870. On the organization of the 
Mohawk Bank of Schenectady in the year 1559, 
he was elected a director, and held that position 
uninterrupted until his death, August 16, 1876. 

He left a legacy of six thousand ($6, doo) dol- 
lars to the Home of the Friendless. 
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SHawL Facrory.—In 1848, the building now oc- 
cupied by James Roy & Co. for the manufacture of 
woolen cloth, was built by Schenectady capitalists, 
and up to 1854 was used as a carpet factory. Dur- 
ing this year Messrs. Roy & Co. purchased the 
property, changing its name to the Watervliet 
Mills, by which name it is now known. Up to 
about 1870 shawls were the main production, when, 
by the introduction of proper machinery, the man- 
ufacture of woolen cloth and ladies’ dress goods 
was begun. <A few shawls are still made yearly. 
Since Roy & Co. have owned the concern no cotton 
has been ever mixed with their goods, and the an- 

nual consumption of wool is now one-half million 
pounds. 

The buildings front 235 feet on Church street, 
and run through to Railroad street, One hundred 
horse-power is used, and 75 males and 75 females 
are employed. The company’s real estate covers 
an area bounded by Church, Water and Railroad 
streets, with the exception of one house at the 
angle formed by Railroad and Church streets. ‘They 
also own two brick wool store-houses opposite the 
factory on Church street. 

James Roy & Co. were incorporated January 1, 
1866, and two woolen mills at West Troy are 
owned by them, also being known to the trade as 
the Watervliet Mills. 

Arthur W. Hunter was the first manager of the 
concern here, continuing as such up to 1875, when 
he retired, and his son, Winfield S. Hunter, took 
his place, which hestill retains. Among their old 
employees are John Jarvie, boss carder, with 23 
years service to his credit, and John Moorhouse, 
boss wool sorter, with 30 years. 

Kyittinc Mitis.—Tue Impertar Hosrery MILts, 
McLachlin, Conde & Co., proprietors, was organ- 
ized January 3, 1881, with $50,000 capital. ‘he 
individual members are John McLachlin, Cornelius 
S. Conde (who is manager and superintendent), 
and Edwin Groat. Mr I. Ik. Conde was a partner 
up to 1883, when he retired. Knit goods of all 
kinds for children, ladies and gentlemen are 
made. 309 sets of cards, 750 spindles, g knitting 
machines and 14 sewing machines, keep busy 40 
female and 26 male operatives, who produce 1,500 
dozen goods monthly, which are in value from $5 
to $10 per dozen. 

The works, corner Ferry street, continued, and 
Erie street, are two stories, frame, go x 50 feet, with 
an L 24x 36 feet. A 70 horse-power boiler and 60 
horse-power engine are used. The value of the 
building and furniture is $50,000. 

ScuENEcTADY KwittinG Mitt.—The Schenectady 
Knitting Mill Company was organized in 1875, The 
principal stockholders were Hon. Charles Stanford, 
N. I. Schermerhorn, D. D. Campbell and William 
H. McClyman. ‘The building was completed 
in 1876, and a prosperous business conducted 
until 1878, when the entire property was destroved 
by fire. In 1879 the building was rebuilt and 
work again resumed. For a number of years Hon. 
Charles Stanford was president of this company. 
He resigned a few years ago, when N, J, Scher- 

merhorn was elected in his place. Wm. H. Mc- 
Clyman is treasurer and general manager of this 
mill. About 130 persons have been continuously 
employed in this flourishing establishment since it 
was rebuilt. 

NICHOLAS I. SCHERMERHORN. 

NicHovas I, ScHERMERHORN was born in the town 
of Duanesburgh, N. Y., March 26, 1818. His 
father, of German descent, was born in Schodac, N. 
Y., July 14, 1779, and moved to the town of 
Duanesburgh, 1817. 

In 1824, when he moved to Rotterdam, Nicho- 
las was about eight years old. In 1833 his father 
died, and his remains now rest in the family plot 
in Vale cemetery. Nicholas was now in his fif- 
teenth year, and being the oldest son, the direction 
and care of the household was assumed by him, 
managing the farm in the interests of the family. 
At twenty-three years of age, in 1841, he was mar- 
ried to Susan, daughter of Conrad Chism, and re- 
mained upon the farm for three years longer. His 
first enterprise, in 1844, was in raising broom corn 
for the Watervliet Shakers on the Rotterdam-Mo- 
hawk Flats, two miles west of the city of Schenec- 
tady. The second year he commenced the manu- 
facture of brooms on his own account. 

His business increased from year to year, until 
he became the largest producer and manufacturer 
in this part of the country, up to 1877, when he 
disposed of his interest in this business. 

In 1855 he moved his family on the old home- 
stead of Bartholomew Schermerhorn in Rotterdam, 
opposite the grist-mill, and there bought three 
hundred acres of land, including all that part of 
the Mohawk flats adjoining the city of Schenec- 
tady. Here he lived until 1870, when he bought 
the fine residence of Dr. L. Ellwood, 230 State 
street, in the city of Schenectady, and removed 
there with his family, and where he still lives. 

In 1865 he bought the Vandebogart Brothers’ 
coal business, and formed a co-partnership with his 
son-in-liw, Mr. W. H. McClyman, in which they 
continued until 1874, when Mr. McClyman retired 
from the firm and Mr. Schermerhorn’s son, William 
G., was taken into partnership with his father. 

Messrs. Schermerhorn & Sonalso entered into the 
hay and straw business about 1872, on the dock 
between the Erie Canal and the New York Central 
Railroad, in which they still continue. The coal 
business was sold out in 1884. In 1880, Mr. 
Schermerhorn and_ his brother-in-law, William 
Christler, bought the Schenactady flouring mill, 
which they still continue to operate. 

Outside of his mercantile business, he took the 
contract to build the Schenectady and Duanesburgh 
railroad and took into partnership with him on the 
contract Messrs. Samuel Donaldson, of Fultonville, 
and Harmon Van Slyke, of Rotterdam. The work 
was completed within a year. 

He was one of the originators and stockholders 
of the Schenectady Car Works, built on a part of his 
Rotterdam farm near thecity. He was also one of 
the originators and stockholders of the Schenectady 
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Knitting Mills, known as the Brandywine Mills, 
and he still continues to be an active member of 
the firm, and is also its president. 

Queen Locomotive Works in Rotterdam, situated 
on the flats near the Jones Car Works, and he 
still remains connected with that enterprise. 

He has been a director of the Schenectady Bank 
for the past twenty years, and also a trustee of the 
Savings Bank. He is also a trustee of the Young 
Men’s Christian Association of this city, who own 
one of its finest buildings. 

He has taken an active part in the political in- 
terests of his county, and has held the office of Su- 
pervisor in the town of Rotterdam two terms, 
County Superintendent of the Poor three terms, 
and County Treasurer from 1867 to 1882. 

Thus it may be seen that Mr. Schermerhorn has 
been an active and honored citizen ; a promoter of 
the industries of the community ; that he has done 
much to advance the material and social interests. 
His life has been a success in many respects. He is 
a model of enterprise and is highly esteemed by his 
acquaintances. 

Mr. Schermerhorn has also shown the art of rul- 
ing his own house well. He has three children, 
one son and two daughters. His son, William G., 
resides with him and is an active partner in his 
business. He married Sarah L. Swart and has 
one son, N. Irving, ten years of age. His daugh- 
ter Anna M., married William H. McClyman, of | 
the Schenectady Knitting Mills, and they have 
one daughter, Susie May, age sixteen. His other 
daughter, Catherine E., married G. S. Veeder Mil- 
ler. ‘They have four sons: Abram G., age 22 
years ; William S., age 20 years; Nicholas I., age 
13 years; and GarretS., age 7 years, 
He is a member of the congregation of the First 

Reformed Church, and one of its Advisory Com- 
mittee. 

SusHoLz & Myers.—The house of Susholz & 
Myers, with Solomon Susholz, George Susholz 
and Adolph Myers, was organized in 1880-81. In 
February, 1884, George Susholz and Mr. Myers 
retired, Solomon succeeding to the business, and 
the firm name becoming S. Susholz. George re- 
mained as superintendent. Their mills, on Dock 
street, are of brick, 4 stories, 50x 150 feet; an en- 
gine of 100 horse-power turns 4 sets of cards, 4 
self-operating mules, and 16 knitting cylinders, the 
average daily capacity being 800 pounds yarn. 75 
females and 25 males are employed, who produce 
scarlet-colored woolen knit underwear for men, 
women and children. 

They have selling agents in New York City. 

The firm of Jonny WiepERHoLD & Co., manufac- 
turers of ladies’ underwear, children’s garments, 
dress wrappers, aprons, hoop skirts, etc., 180 
Centre street, was established in 1870. For a 
time the firm was Wiederhold Brothers, but it was 
subsequently changed to its present form. Mr. 
John Wiederhold, the senior member, has been at 
the head of the business from the first. The factory 

He is one of | 
the originators and a large stockholder in the Mc- | 

employs one hundred women and girls. It is fully 
equipped with sewing and other necessary machines 
and implements. 

3REWERS, MALTSTERS, ETC.—The first brewery in 

Schenectady of which there is any knowledge was 
in 1820. It was located in the First ward on 
Washington avenue. A Mr. Moffatt conducted it 
for seven or eight years, when he discontinued, and 
the brewery was closed. 

About this time (1820), but possibly two or 
three years later, two brothers, Hugh and Daniel 
Martin, started one on,.the same avenue. This 
was soon sold to Mr. La Britton, who continued 
it for a few years, when he in turn stopped brew- 
ing. Still another, and located on the same ave- 
nue, at the head of Union street, was the one 
started in about 1824 by John S. Vrooman and 
Isaac M. Schermerhorn. Mr. Vrooman soon re- 
tired, and, shortly afterward, Francis Myers pur- 
chased the same. Mr. Myers evidently did not 
meet with much financial encouragement, for he 
soon withdrew from the business. While the exact 
dates of the closing of the above-named concerns is 
not attainable, all of them were out of existence by 
the year 1831. 

In about 1830, Reed Brothers started a malt- 
house on the dock,in the building erected by 
Daniel D. Campbell, of Rotterdam. ‘The building 
passed through the hands of Messrs. Millard & Crane, 
Cornelius Thompson, H. Rosa and Martin De 
Forrest, and finally into the hands of the Susholz 
Manufacturing Company. 

Peter Engle owns and conducts a lager-beer 
brewery at 47 Nott terrace. This is the only 
brewery now in the city. 

Cornelius Thompson has a malt-house on Dock 
street, and has been in the business for many 
years. 

In 1860, George Weller began the manufacturing 
and bottling of soda water at 62 College street, 
remaining there until 1863, when he removed to 
No. 46 of the same street, his present location. 
The manufactory covers an area of 60 x 190 feet, 
and is two stories high. He employs eight males, 
and his trade extends through a radius of forty 
miles. Mr. Weller is the only manufacturer and 
bottler of soda water, lemon soda, sarsaparilla and 
ginger ale in the county. He also makes seltzer 
water. 

In 1875 he became agent for the Bartholomay 
Brewing Company, and since then has kept a sup- 
ply depot for this and Montgomery Counties. The 
curious yet simple bottling machine used by him 
for his soda water is well worth an inspection. 

Charles Weincke, proprietor of the Hotel Ger- 
mania, corner Liberty and Centre streets, has for 
many years had a large share of public patronage. 

HOWLAND S. BARNEY. 

How tanp S. Barney, the recognized head of the 
mercantile fraternity of Schenectady, and one of 
the most notable of the sel/made men of Schenec- 
tady County, was born in Saratoga County, N. Y., 

is a three-story brick building, 50x 100 feet, and | March 2g. 1o22,a son, of Dr. Z) H. and Eliza 
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(Swain) Barney. When his son was about four 
years old, Dr. Barney removed to Minaville, Mont- 
gomery County. There, as he grew older, the 
boy attended the common schools till he had 
reached the age of fourteen, when (in 1836) he 
came to Schenectady and became a clerk in the 
dry goods store of Sydney B. Potter. He was thus 
employed four years. 

Next he found employment in the store of John 
Olin, whose partner he became in 1849, under the 
firm name of John Olin & Co. In 1853 he 
bought the interest of a retiring partner in the firm 
of Barringer & Co. In 1858, thrcugh changes in 
its personnel, this firm was reorganized under the 
style of H. S. Barney & Co., and so it has since 
been known. It has been due largely to Mr. 
Barney’s mercantile ability and sound and enter- 

prising management that this house has outgrown 
all rivals, ranking as the wealthiest and most ex- 
tensive dry goods concern in the city, and occupy- 
ing commodious and well-appointed quarters at 
Nos. 93, 95, 97 and gg State street. This large 
building was erected in 1872, and occupied in 
April, 1873. 

Mr. Barney is a Republican, but has always been 
too busy, and has never been inclined, to take any 
active part in politics. He has done his full share 
to promote the interests of the city. In 1856 he 
married Sarah, daughter of Joseph Horsfall, of 
Schenectady. They have two children. 

Dry Goops.—The firm of H. S. Barney & Co., 
dealers in dry goods, carpets etc., 95, 97 and 99 
State street, was established about 1843 by Messrs. 
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Barringer & Co. In 1854 it was purchased by the 
present firm, who in 1873 completed the Barney 
Block. This block has a frontage on State street of | 
60 feet, a depth of 120 feet and is three stories high. 
They also manufacture ladies’ robes, wraps, mits, | 
etc. The stock averages $90,000. 

The junior member of the firm is Mr. H. H. 
Swart. Mr. Barney has been in business here 48 
years. 

The house of T. H. Reeves & Co., dealers in 
dry goods, carpets, rugs, etc., 137 State street, 
was established in 1822 by McManus & Co. The 
individual members of the present firm are T. H. 
Reeves, T. R. Barringer and C. F. Veeder, who 
succeeded to the business in 1874. The store 
is 30 x 140 feet, with an L 40x 60 feet, and two 
stories high. The carpet and upholstering de- | 
partment is 60 x 60 feet and 18 feet high, and is 
the oldest carpet room in the city. They also 
manufacture ladies’ cloaks, dresses, mits, and 
wraps. 

Pfeiffer Levi, clothing merchant and dealer in 
gentlemen's furnishing “goods, gO State street, is 
an old and well-established merchant of the city. 

L. R. Reagles, 103 State street, is a dealer in 
ladies’ furnishing goods, and ranks with the lead- 
ing merchants of the city. | 

Lumber Yarps.—In 1855 Peter Vedder and Henry 
Vedder started a lumber yard, locating it where the 
elevator nowis. In 1857, Abram A. Van Vorst was 
added, and the firm became Van Vorst, Vedder & 
Co., and moved to Green street near the railway, 
remaining there until 1867, when they located on 
Pine street near the Locomotive Works. During this | 
year Walter S. Van Vorst became a member of the 
company, remaining until 1873, in which year he, 
with his father, Abram A., retired, and Wm. C. Sweet 
was added, the firm becoming Vedder & Sweet. 
In 1875, Albert Van Voast bought the interest of 
Mr. Sweet, and the firm name was Vedder & Van 
Voast up to 1881, when the Pine street property 
was sold to the Delaware and Hudson Railroad 
Co. Peter Vedder retired, and Albert Van Voast 
opened a yard on John street, near Green street, 
where he now is. 

In 1867, Peter B. Yates, John Bradt and Peter 
Van Dyck opened a yard, the office being at 31 
Dock street. The firm was knownas Bradt, Yates 
& Van Dyck. April 17, 1876, Horace Eggleston 
and Wm. C. Sweet purchased the property. Jan- 
uary 14, 1878, Mr. Sweet retired, Mr. Egeleston 
being sole owner until August, 1880, when Walter 
S. Van Vorst became a member, and remained as 
such until October, 1883, when he retired, and the 
present firm of Eggleston, Vedder & Co. was or- 
ganized, the firm being Horace Eggleston, Wm. 
H. Vedder and Albert G. Vedder. They operate 
a steam planing mill, deal in all kinds of lumber, 
wholesale and retail, and manufacture doors, sashes, 
blinds and moldings. 

The lumber, lime, cement, hair, and building- 
paper business of Charles L. Blakeslee, 27 Dock 
street, was established in 1876. The yard extends 
from Dock street, facing the canal, to the railroad 

track. There is a planing mill, 50 x 80 feet, in 
the yard. Mr. Blakeslee built a large number of 
portable buildings for use at the stations of the New 
York, West Shore and Butfalo Railroad. Alex- 
ander F. Vedder, formerly with Eggleston & Co., 
is foreman, 

Grocers. —March 1,1849, Marcus N. Millardand 
Jonas H.Crane formed a partnership, under the firm 
name of Millard & Crane. The firm has remained 
up to this time without change. They were then 
located at 176 State street, where the American Ex- 

press office now is, and were engaged in a general 
grocery business. In 1857 they removed to 160 
State street, their present quarters. The building 
occupied by them was erected by Wm. W. Tread- 
way in 1836-7, and sold by him April 1, 1837, to 
Cadwallader C. Clute, Messrs. Millard & Crane 
buying of Mr. Clute, December 31, 1855. Up to 
1865 they did a large jobbing trade, but since then 
have confined their attention mainly to the retailing 
of groceries, liquors, wines, ales and porter. 

Mr. Millard was born at Charlton, Saratoga 

County, N. Y., in 1820, coming to Schenectady, 
June 1, 1847. 

J. H. CRANE 

This gentleman, who is one of the oldest and 
most highly respected merchants in Schenectady 
City or County, was born in Amsterdam, Mont- 
gomery County, April 22, 1813. His father was 
Caleb ‘C. Crane, who was born in Newark, N. J., 
April 17, 1768. He was buta lad at the time of 
the destruction of Newark by the British in revo- 
lutionary times, and with many others fled to the 
high ground from which he viewed the burning of 
the town. That was one of the most memorable 
days in the history of Newark, and it was with 

streaming eyes that many then saw their homes 
swept away under the torches of the ruthless in- 
vaders. But it was such scenes that fired the 
American heart with hatred for the oppressors of 
Americans, and nerved desperate men to press 
forward to victory. During all the years that fol- 
lowed, Caleb C. Crane never quite forgot the feel- 
ing of resentment which took root in his being on 
that occasion. When he reached maturity, being 
of an ambitious turn of mind, he resolved to strike 
out for himself in some other part of the then new 
country. ‘Le made his way toa point two miles 
north of where the village of Cranesville, Mont- 
gomery County, now is, and there, in the midst of 
an almost undisturbed wilderness, made a settle- 
ment. 

Buying lands he improved them and made a 
home for himself and his family, and there he lived 
out the remainder of his allotted years, and died, 
passing into the local history as one of the pioneers 
of that section. 

Of the fourteen children of Caleb C. Crane, J. 
H. Crane was the eighth born. His early years 
were passed on his fathers farm. The common 
schools of the time and place supplied him the 
only means of education. As he neared manhood 
it became evident to him that he was not physically 
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strong enough to. make a successful farmer of him- 
self, and he concluded to enter upon a mercantile 
career as soon as an opportunity should present 
itself’ He came to Schenectady January 1, 1835. 
He first found employment for several years in a 
hotel, and later he kept the Givens House four 
years. In 1849 he formed a copartnership with Mr. 
Marcus N. Millard, which has continued uninter- 
ruptedly through a period of more than thirty-six 
years to the present time, Mr. Crane facetiously Te- 
marking that he and Mr. Miller ‘‘had yet to have 
their first quarrel.” This business has kept pace 
with the public progress, and they have ever held a 
place among the leading merchants of Schenectady. 
Mr. Crane is an old school Democrat, but is not 
inclined to take any active part in politics, He 
was married in 1844 to Cordelia A. Seely, of New 
York, and resides at No. 24 Church street. 

| 

& 

WS 

Tay Lf) 

W. E. Van Devsen, 28 and 30 State street, oc- 
cupies a leading position as a grocer. He also 
deals in wooden-ware, fruit, etc., and makes flour 
a specialty. 

Messrs. W. E. Walker and James W. Mairs, 
composing the firm of WaLrker & Mairs, dealers in 
groceries, seeds, housekeeping goods and farming 
implements, 118 and 120 State street, occupy the 
block, 60 x 120 feet, with cellars and lofts. 

This firm was founded in 1786 by the grand- 
fathers of the present proprietors. The business 
has always remained in the family, handed down 
from father to son, and the history of the firm is 
part of the city’s life. Their trade extends for miles 
around Schenectady. 

Joun J. Hart, grocer, 235 State street, has been 
in the trade since ‘187 6, when he purchased a busi- 
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ness then located at 235 State street, peuen had 
been established since 1840. 

L. N. Reese, of the firm of Reese & Hartley, 
corner Union and Romeyn streets, is one of the 
leading grocers, and enjoys the reputation of a fair 
and honest dealer. 

Cuarces N. Smiru, grocer, a son of the late Abel 
Smith, ‘has been in business in Schenectady since 
March, 1883, in connection with A. Dillenbeck. 

Wir.is 1. Hanson & Co., druggists and apothe- 
caries, 195 State street, was established in 1879. 
The premises are 25 x 100 feet, with the prescrip- 
tion department and private office in the rear. 
They deal in all the standard medicines, trusses 
and other surgical appliances, toilet articles, pure 
wines and liquors, mineral and medicinal waters, 
cigars, etc. 

Their specialty, and which is their manufacture, 
is ‘‘ Hanson’s Magic Corn Salve,” a remedy widely 
known. 

Mr. Willis T. Hanson is the active Pparenct of 
the concern. 

In 1835, Andrew Truax established the phar- 
macy at 141 State street, which is now conducted 

by Anprew T. VeEper. Mr. Truax retained his 
connection with it for forty-eight vears In 1564 
Mr. Veeder became partner, and in January, 1883 
Mr. Truax retired, leaving his former junior part- 
ner sole proprietor. 

The premises are 30 x 100 feet in dimension, 
and the stock carried embraces all necessary arti- 
cles. Dr. Veeder isa descendant of one of our 
oldest families, is an accomplished pharmacist, and 
treasurer of the County Medical Society. 

ANDREW TRUAX, M.D. 

Dr. AxprREw Truax was born in Schenectady 
April 10, 1811, and died there September 26, 
1883. About 1830 he became a clerk in the drug 
store of Richard Fuller (the old Dunlap & Fuller 
drug store), and while thus employed studied 
medicine. After his graduation, he located and 
practiced for a few years on the Hudson River. 
Returning to Schenectady about 1835, he opened 
a drug store, which has grown to be the most ex- 
tensive concern of the kind in the city, and is now 
under the management of his nephew, Andrew T. 
Veeder, who became his partner in 1846. 

Dr. Truax was successful in business. Ever 
attentive to all duties, he was economical, but 
never penurious. His reputation for all those 
qualities which characterize the honorable, upright 
man of affairs was well known, and as a citizen his 
virtues were as conspicuous as his honor. He was 
a quiet, unassuming gentleman, courteous to all, 
whether high or low. His words were few, but to 
the point. No appeal for charity, when the object 
was deserving, was made to himin vain. Many 
an aching heart was made glad by his kindly hand, 
and many a poor soul, whose necessities he re- 
lieved, felt, at his death, that a faithful friend was 
gone. Like his life, his charities were unostenta- 
tious, and in this he but obeyed the promptings 

of his noble heart, which turned from vain display. 
He never married. Although not a professor of 
religion, he was a faithful attendant at the First 
Reformed Church. His friendship was. steadfast, 
and the many who knew him will respect his 
memory while they live. 

Ep. L. Davis, druggist, began business in Sche- 
nectady in 1881, and has a flourishing trade. 

G. A. F. STEINFUEHER has sustained a prosperous 
business in the drug trade for some years, and well 
merits the extensive patronage he controls. 

FURNITURE AND UNDERTAKING. — The present 
firm of ArBert Brown & Soy, 154 State street, up- 
holsterers and furniture manufacturers and under- 
takers, is the outcome of the business established 
by Albert Brown in 1829 in the Lassell building. 
In 1830, Mr. Brown bought the cabinet shop of 
Nicholas Yates, State street, and occupied it until 
1833, when he leased the store of Cornelius Groot, 
subsequently Vedder & Co. Six years later he was 
burned out, and then leased the Doty Block. In 
1857 he moved into the I. I. Truax Block across 
ie eay, remaining there until 1872. His son, 
Clinton C,, purchased Fuller’s Hotel, corner State 
and Dock streets, and converted it into the present 
establishment, to which place Mr. Brown removed 
October 1, 1872. During the years from 1872 to 
1882, the ‘firm was known as Albert Brown, 4 & 
FE. Brown, A. Brown & Son, Albert Brown and A. 
Brown & Son, under which head it still exists. 
Since the death of Mr. Brown, March 6, 1882, the 
business has been conducted by Clinton C. Brown. 
Mr. George Harding has been with the house since 
February 16, 1843. 

The semi-centennial of Mr. Albert Brown’s busi- 
ness life, April 10, 1879, was a memorable event 
in-the history of Schenectady. 

In 1849, Cuarves N. Yates learned his trade of 
Albert Brown, in the same building now occupied 
by the former. Mr, Yates during the years 1849- 
50-51 was with his father, Nicholas Yates, at 27 
Front street. After several business changes, Mr. 
Yates purchased his present property, 62, 68, 7 
and 72 State street, and engaged in the wholesale 
and retail furniture and upholstering business, 
where he has since remained. He also manufac- 
tures, from the raw stuff, any custom work ordered. 
Fifteen males are employed, and their productions 
reach Saratoga and Montgomery Counties. The 
undertaking department is in charge of Mr. J. S. 
Timeson. <A son of the proprietor, M. De Forest 
Yates, is associated with the business. 

The establishment of Levi T. Crure, hatter and 
furrier, ror State street, was founded in 1839 by 
his father, William H. Clute, and Levi W. ‘Teller, 
under the firm name of Clute & Teller. They were 
then located at 96 State street. Mr. Teller died in 
1861, and the business was carried on by Wm. H. 
Clute until 1867, when Levi T. was added, the 
firm name becoming W. H. Clute & Son. The 
firm remained without change until 1871, the 
year of Mr. Clute’s death, since which time Levi 
T. Clute has conducted the most extensive business 
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in the line of hats, caps, furs, robes, trunks and 
satchels in the county. : 

James Sanpers, importer and dealer in watches 
and jewelry, 109 State street, has been established 
for about forty years. The store is 30 x go feet in 
extent, is richly fitted up, and presents an attractive 
appearance. Mr. Sanders also deals in clocks, 
spectacles and eve-glasses. He is also sole agent 
for the Charles E. Jacot watches. 

J. V. Vroomanx has been a dealer in stoves, 
hardware, tinware, etc., and a plumber, gas and 
steam-fitter since 1854, the year he established his 
present business ‘There has been no change in 
the firm name since the admission of his son, W. 
C. Vrooman, when the name was changed to J. V. 
Vrooman «& Son. 

Their premises at 64 and 66 State street are 28 x 
106 feet in extent, and three stories high. ‘The first 
floor is devoted to general retail purposes. In the 
mechanical department trom fifteen to twenty men 
are employed in plumbing, gas and steam-htting, 
tin ‘and sheet metal- -working, etc. Buildings are 
fitted up for steam heating at high or low pressure. 

W. J. Swits, 136 and 138 State street, hardware 
merchant, is a well known business man of the 
city. He also deals in house furnishing goods, 
stoves and agricultural implements, and all kinds 
of metal work is done to order. 

Crark Wirtseck is a wholesale dealer in hard- 
ware, cutlery, iron, steel, farming and agricultural 
implements, at 217 State street. The annual out- 
put is large, and his trade extends throughout a 
large section of country. 

The establishment of Levi W. Case, copper- 
smith, gas and-steam fitter, 12 and 14 Warren street, 
was founded in 1849. The shop is of brick, two 
stories high and 60x 50 feet in dimensions. It is 
equipped with proper machinery, which is driven 
by astationary steam engine. From twelve to fifteen 
skilled workmen are employed. A specialty is fit- 
ting up public buildings, factories, dwellings, etc., 
for heating by steam at high or low pressure. In 
addition to the manufacturing and jobbing depart- 
ment, Mr. Case also deals in pipe, fittings, cocks, 
rubber hose, drive-well pipes, drain and sewer pipe, 
drive-well pumps, steam radiators, etc. 

J. W. McMutiex, marble and granite dealer, 
7 State street, purchased in 1871 his present estab- 
lishment of Mr. F. Kinney, who founded it in 
about 1855. The premises are 60x 150 feet, the 
front portion being used as a shop and the rear as 
a yard for storage. Mantels, windows, caps, 
monumental and other architectural work of all 
kinds are produced. Mr. McMullen was born and 
reared in Albany, where he resided until his re- 
moval here, about fourteen years ago. 

For twenty-one years previous to 1876, J. H. 
BaMeE was engaged in the livery business in this city. 
During that year he retired from that business 
and became a dealer in carriages, harness, robes, 
horse clothing, etc., locating in the Bame block, 
corner of Centre and Liberty streets. He built 
and owns the block, of which he occupies a part, 

He also lets money on real estate, and buys and 
sells horses. 

In 1852, Mr. FE. L. Freeman came here from 
Chenango County, and succeeded Mr. Jonathan 
Crane as a dealer in paints, oils, glass, putty, ete., 
locating at 18 Wall street. Mr. Crane established 
the firm about 1840. Shortly after Mr. Freeman 

purchased the business his two brothers were added, 
under the style of E. L. Freeman & Co., which 
continued without change until 1874, when Mr. E. 
L. Freeman died. 

Jonathan R. Freeman and A. T. Freeman then 
formed the present firm, FREEMAN BrorHers. ‘Their 
trade is wholesale and retail, and their stock em- 
braces everything legitimately connected therewith. 

-James W. Darrow & Co. (Gerardus Smith), coal 
and wood dealers, office, tro Centre Street, com- 
menced in 1878. The large yard on Ferry street, 
near the canal, has good facilities for receiving 
the coal and shipping it in large quantities; the 
yard on Centre street is convenient for delivery 
through the city. Both yards are fully equipped 
with necessary sheds and screens. 

Anprew McMurtry, coal, wood, lime, ce- 
ss broom-handles, etc., 92 and 94 Union and 
8, 9 and 10 Dock street, has been in business since 
18s 8. The Union street premises have a frontage 
of “60 feet, extending along the railway 200 feet. 
An office and two-story warehouse is also there. 
The office, warehouse and yard on Dock street 
were opened soas to obtain easy access to the canal. 

Mr. McMullen has resided here for 55 years; has 
served as Alderman and Supervisor; and was for 
four years Mayor of the city. Associated with him 
is his son, Henry McMullen. 

Smron H. Vepper, grandson of Nicholas Ved- 
der, was born in Schenectady July 17, 1839, and 
in 1872 established at 61 Park place his present 
business, that of wholesale and retail dealer in coal 
and wood, and manufacturer of refined cider and 
pure cider vinegar. 

H. Rosa, dealer in coal and wood, 15 
street, has been in this business for forty years. Th> 
yard, which is in the rear of the office, is accessi- 
ble to the canal on the front and to a branch track 
of the railway in the rear. It is fitted up with the 
necessary appliances. 

F. W. Ranxins is a dealer in coal on the dock 
and ranks as a popular business man of the 
city. 

In 1868, J. H. Dakrn founded his present busi- 
ness, that of plumber, gas and steam-fitter, jobbing 
machinist and brass-founder, at 102, 104 and 106 

Liberty street. The premises are 125x 69 feet, 
upon which is a building 125 x 30 feet containing 
the warerooms and shop. It is equipped with 
proper machinery and steam power. 

Dock 

Mr. Benjamin Van VRANKEN is an old resident. 
From 1853 to 1865 he was engaged as a grocer, 
building in 1862 the block corner Jay and State 
streets, which he occupied for three years. He was, 
in 1870, superintendent of section two, Erie Canal, 
being that part of the canal running from the lower 
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160 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

Mohawk aqueduct to Amsterdam, a distance of 32 
miles. . He held the position for two years, and 
was reappointed in 1874, holding it for four years. 
Since then Mr. Van Vranken, as contractor and 
builder, has been busily engaged, erecting, among 
others, the bridge across the North River from 
Luzerne, Washington County, N. Y., to Hadley, 
Saratoga County, N. Y. 

The contract forthe first foot of sewer ever laid 
in Schenectady was let to Benjamin Van Vranken, 
in August, 1884. Work was commenced in Octo- 

ber, 1884, for constructing ten miles. 
In 1867 he invented the improved ‘ Empire” 

brick machine, which is yet in universal use. 

Duncan Roersoyx, builder and contractor, has 
been in business in Schenectady more than thirty 
years. His grand-parents emigrated from Scotland 
and landed in New York July 4, 1776, and soon 
afierward located in Rotterdam and engaged in 
farming. Many of their descendants are now living 
in that town. 

The history of Schenectady County would be in- 
complete without mention of one of its most enter- 
prising citizens. 

Hon. Cuar_tes STANFORD was born in Albany 
County in 1819, and became a resident of this 
county in 1861. He represented this county in the 
Assembly of 1864-5, and this district in the Senate, 
1866-9. Inthe Senate he distinguished himself by 
his connection with canal reforms. He was largely 
interested in public enterprises in this city, being 
President of the Schenectady Water Company, Gas 
Company, and the McQueen Locomotive Works, 
and was one of the largest real estate owners in the 
city. He resided in the town of Niskayuna, where 
he conducted a stock farm, being largely interested 
in the breeding of horses. He died in August, 1885. 

Hon. Joun W. VEeDER was born in this city in 
1825. He was educated at the old Lyceum. He 
was engaged in transportation and grocery business 
for a number of years. In 1854 he was appointed 
Canal Collector, and in 1858 elected County Clerk. 
The latter office he resigned in 1861, to accept the 
appointment of postmaster under President Lin- 
coln. He held this position tor eight years. From 
1874 to 1883 he was employed in the State School 
Department, under State Superintendent of Schools 
Neil Gilmour. In 1884 he was elected Member of 
Assembly. , 

STEPHEN LusH, son of Major William Lush, 
was born in Albany, January 7th, 1818, and early 
retired from mercantile life to attend to personal 
affairs. He represented the City of Albany in the 
Board of Supervisors three terms, and has occupied 
several positions in the State departments. He 
married the daughter of John Gansyoort, and re- 
sides in Schenectady. 

Jostah Van VRANKEN was born in the town of 
Niskayuna in 1843. He has been a merchant, 

manufacturer, Clerk of the Board of Supervisors 

and Common Council, and Deputy County Clerk. 
At present he is Deputy Superintendent of the State 
Banking Department. : 

ATWELL & DENNINGTON are the leading real estate 
and insurance firm of the city. Frank J. Atwell 
attends to the real estate, and H. W. Dennington 
to the insurance department of the firm, They 
enjoy a lucrative business and the entire confi- 
dence of the community. 

C. L. Scorr conducts the business of real estate 
and insurance, and is a manager in the office of 
the Lvening Star. 

Major A. Frrrman was born in Galway, N. Y., 
September 30, 1802, and with Captain Richard 
Freeman, his father, removed to Schenectady when 
he was seventeen years old. In 1824 he married 

Miss Elizabeth Clute. In 1825 he became com- 
mander of one of the first passenger packet boats 
on the Erie Canal. In 1831 he was appointed 
Brigade Inspector of the Fifty-seventh Regiment 
Militia, with the rank of Major. He owned and 
keptseveral popular hotels. Retiring to Schenec- 
tady in 1870, he died in his eightieth year. He left 
two sons: E. L. B. Freeman, of New York, and 
Charles Freeman, of Schenectady. 

Paut Ramsay has been connected with the New 
York Central Railroad for ten years, and is now 
its ticket agent at Schenectady. 

James B, ALEXANDER is also ticket agent in the 
same office. 

A. M. Powers, photographer, has resided in 
Schenectady since 1873. In 1879 he opened a 
photographic gallery at 225 State street, where he 
has built up a large and lucrative business. 

Isaac I. YaTeEs, at present a retired gentleman, is 
a graduate of the Annapolis Naval Academy. He 
retired from naval service as a Lieutenant in 1883. 
He served in the European, North Atlantic, South 
Atlantic, North and South Pacific squadrons, and 
was one of a few saved at the time of the wreck of 
the Oneida, January 24, 1870. 

Among the leading builders and contractors of 
the city are Joshua Davis, Centre street, near 
Veeder's Mill; Benjamin Fraking, 530 State street; 
Thomas Gunn, 16 Romeyn street; Thomas Kil- 
lian, 27 Romeyn street; R. W. Lampman, 28 
Paige street; John McEncroe, 185 Union street; 
John McDermott, 66 Romeyn street; John U. Sit- 
terly, Hamilton street, near Paige; P. Van Dyck, 
152 Barrett street; A. R. Van Dermoor, 16 Ferry 
street; F. H. Weston, Hamilton street, corner 
Lafayette; Alonzo Warner, 24 Park place; J. M. 
Wendell, Mill lane; and Thomas Harrigan and 
F, P. Wright. 

RospinE Hatuaway for a number of years prior 
to his death was a superintendent on the Erie 
Canal. He was also a contractor and builder. His 
son, William, now holds the same position in the 
canal service formerly occupied by his father. 
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THE TOWNSHIP OF DUANESBURGH. 

SITUATION AND BOUNDARIES, 

UANESBURGH is the western town of Sche- 
|) nectady County, and is bounded north by 
Montgomery County ; east by the town of Prince- 
town; south by Albany and Schoharie Counties ; 
and west by Schoharie County. 

TOPOGRAPHICAL FEATURES AND ITEMS 
OF INTEREST. 

This town has an area of about 42,000 acres, 
and its population in 1880 was 2,995. Its form 
is irregular, and its situation elevated from 400 to 
500 fect above the level of the Hudson at Albany. 
Its surface consists of an up'and broken by the 
narrow valleys and gullies of small streams. Scho- 
harie Creek forms a portion of the western boundary, 
and Norman’s Kil flows through the south part, 
entering the Hudson further down, at a point 
about two and one half miles below Albany. The 
Bozen Kil, or Mad Creek, one of the branches of 
Norman's Kil, is a picturesque stream on which is 
a fall of seventy feet. Corry’s Brook and Chuck- 
tennuda Creek also do their part in draining the 
town. 

The hills which border upon these streams are 
steep and in some places rocky. The soil is a 
stiff, clayey loam with a slight intermixture of 
gravel. The products are various, but grass suc- 
ceeds better than grain, and, as a whole, the town 
is better adapted to pasturage than to tillage. 
Formerly the dairy interests were of considerable 
importance, but during late years the principal 
crops cultivated have been hay, oats, potatoes, 
corm, buckwheat and rye. But few of the lJarge 
or smal! fruits are grown, the demand for home 
consumption being only supplied. Maria Pond 
and Featherstonhaugh Lake are two small sheets 
of water in the northeast part, about 250 feet above 
the canal. The former is beautiful, especially 
during the summer, its circumference being about 
two miles. 

This town contains few important manufacturing 
interests. “The Albany and Susquehanna Railroad 
extends through the south part, with a station at 
Quaker street. This village and Duanesburgh are 
stopping places on the old Schenectady Railroad, 
the terminal points of which are Schenectady and 
Quaker Street. 

Judge Duane, on his withdrawal from active 
life, selected a plot of ground ten acres in extent, 
which he gave to the town. This is known as 
Centre Square or Lot, and was designed as a com- 

mons for the village of Duanesburgh. The situa- 
ion did not prove favorable for the growth of sucht 
a settlement, though two churches, a school-house 
and other buildings mark the locality. 

SETTLEMENT.—EARLY PURCHASES, 

Large tracts in what is now this town were pur- 
chased by different parties between 1736 and 1770. 
Among the purchasers were Thomas Freeman in 
1736; Timothy Bagley in 1737; A. P. and Wil- 
liam Crosby in 1738; Walter Butler in 1739; and 
Jonathan Brewster in 1770. The tract embraced 
about 60,000 acres, which, with the exception 
of about 1,cco acres known as Braine’s Patent, 
came into the ownership of Hon. James Duane, 
either by inheritance from his father or by pur- 
chase. 

Though, as has been seen, considerable land 
had been taken up, mest of it in bulk, actual 
settlement practically began about the time of the 
organization of the town (1765), when Judge 
Duane contracted with about twenty German 
families from Pennsylvania to begin a settlement. 
Sixteen of these families came and located per- 
manently. These lands were rented at the rate of 
about $15 per annum on each one hundred acres 
on perpetual leases, payable in gold and silver. 
The agents of Sir William Johnson excited prejudice 
against them, and were instrumental for a time in 
retarding the progress of their settlement and im- 
provement. Long continued disaffection on the 
part of tenants, intensified by the anti-rent troubles 
round about, culminated in the spring of 1354 in 
the formation in Duanesburgh of an Anti-rent 
Association, the members of which pledged them- 
selves to pay no rents, to resist all attempts to 
collect them, and to share equally the expense 
which any of them might incur in contesting at 
law the rights of landlords in the matter. The 
settlement of these difficulties forms a part of the 

general history of the territory treated in this article. 

JUDGE JAMES DUANE. 

Hon. James Dusse was born in New York City, 
February 6, 1733. Having acquired the fitting 
education, he selected the law for his profession, 
and entered the office of James Alexander, one of 
the most eminent counsel of our colonial bar, and 
the father of the American General, Lord Stirling. 
He was admitted as an attorney in 1754, and 
was soon intrusted with a large professional 
business. 
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HISTORY: OF THE COUNTY OF’ SCHENECTADY. 

October 21, 1759, Mr. Duane married Mary, 
the eldest daughter of Robert Livingston, then pro- 
prietor of Livingston Manor. This alliance tended 
to give direction to his studies and practice, and 
caused him to be actively engaged in all of the law- 
suits and decisions relative to the boundaries of 
New York colony with New Ham yshire, Masssa- 
chusetts, Connecticut and New Jersey. The stand- 
ing Mr. Duane had acquired in his profession 
before the revolution, led to his retention in nu- 
merous important cases. Among these may be 
mentioned, as of some local interest, the case of 
Schermerhorn against the trustees of Schenectady 
Patent, a long-continued strugg’e, and his connec- 
tion as counsel for Trinity Church with the oft-re- 
peated claims of the heirs of Anneke Jans. 

But it was as a high-toned patriot in the early 
neriod of our revolutionary struggle that Mr. 

uane assumed his noblest character, and was 
among the unappalled actors. Hewas a memter 
of the first Provincial Congress that met in Phila- 
delphia, September 5, 1774, to enter on daring 
measures. He was associated with such spirits as 
Patrick Henry, John Adams, John Jay, Richard 
Henry Lee, Benjamin Franklin, and others of 
similar temperament, and sustained his manly share 
of responsibility. He was again elected to Con- 
gress in 1775, and went soon after the battle of 
Lexington, reaching Philadelphia on the day the 
session opened, and co-operated with his fellow- 
delegates in raising an army, appointing Washing- 
ton commander-in-chief, issuing bills, establishing 
a post-office, and, in fact, assuming the powers of 
government. He continued in Congress until 
May 31, t776, when he was called home to attend 
the New York Congress, of which he had been 
chosen a member from the city of New York in the 
preceding April. The object was to form a State 
Government—an object so near and dear to the 
heart of every patriotic man of New York; and it 
was neither fear nor inclination that drew Mr. 
Duane, Robert R. Livingston and John Jay from 
the general Congress at this time, and prevented 
them from appearing as signers of the Declaration 
of Independence, to the preparatory steps of which 
they had effectually contributed, and to the main- 
tenance of which they all devoted so many years of 
their lives. 

So devoted was Mr. Duane to the cause of lib- 
erty, that he did not again set his foot on the soil of 
his native city, or visit his extensive property there, 
until he entered it in triumph November 25, 1783, 
on the evacuation cf New York by the Brit'sh 
troops and authorities. It is impossible in a sketch 
like this to recount Mr. Duane’s patriotic labors. 
He was either a member of the General Congress 
of the Union or the Provincial Congress of New 
York during almost the whole of the revolution- 
ary period. February 5, 1784, he was elected 
Mayor of the City of New York, which office he 
held several years; and in March, 1789, welcomed 
to that city the first Congress under the present 
Constitution, and General Washington as President 
of the Republic which their joint labors in diverse 
fields had helped to establish. -Our general Goy- 

| 
| 

| 

| 

‘fourteenth of the following month. 

ernment under the new Constitution went into 
operation in the spring of 1789, and in September 
of that year, without solicitation on his part, Mr. 
Duane was nominated by President Washington, 
and appointed by the United States Senate, United 
States District Judge of the District of New York, 
and entered upon the duties of his office upon the 

For about five 
years Judge Duane continued to execute the duties 
of this office, earnestly endeavoring to fulfill the 
wishes of his great friend, Washington, and with 
the still higher object of satisfying his enlightened 
conscience. But forty years of indefatigable labor 
had so undermined his health as to induce him 
to resign and retire to his estate in Duanesburgh. 
Accordingly, on the 1oth of March, 1794, he 
addressed a letter to the President, announcing his 
wishes, and urging the appointment of a successor 
by the middle of April. The President replied with 
a kind letter, and April 8th, so soon as the busi- 
ness of the court permitted, he resigned, and retired 
finally from a long and honorable pubiic life. 

In a few days after this he removed to Schenec- 
tady, where he owned some propeity, and had fre- 
quently spent portions of the year with his family. 
The large buildings which he owned were de- 
stroyed by the great fire of 1819. There it was his 
intention to remain until he could carry into effect 
his wish to fix his permanent home on his estate in 
Duanesburgh, where he had already erected a 
church, and in 1796 commenced building a coun- 
trv seat which he was destined not to live to com- 
plete. On the morning of February 1, 1797, at 
his city residence, just as he was arising from his 
bed, he was taken with an affection of the heart, 
and expired almost immediately. Thus passed 
away one whose name will live while the records 
exist of the days of the revolution, and the deeds 
of the patriots, statesmen and soldiers of that mem- 
orable period. He was laid to rest in a vault, now 
closed, underneath Christ's Church, Duanesburgh, 
and beside him have been placed the remains of his 
wife, Mary Livingston, and other members of his 
family. 

General Wirr1am Nortu.—Mary, the eldest 
daughter of Hon. James Duane, married Gen. Will- 
iam North, a distinguished soldier of the revolution. 
He was the friend and companion-in-arms of Baron 
Steuben, and with that patriot rendered most effici- 
ent service to his country in the time of her need. 
With his distinguished father-in-law he enjoyed the 
confidence and friendship of Washington, and was 
with him at Yorktown in 1781, when Lord Corn- 
wallis surrendered. 

In 1783, on that most memorable occasion in 
New York City, he bade farewell to Washington 
and his fellow officers, and shortly therealter, in the 
same year, retired to Duanesburgh. This town 
was then but little better than a wilderness, sparsely 
settled and infested with wild animals. Here he 
settled upon a large estate, living in a fine house and 
enjoying a well-earned le‘sure. 

The General's services to his country remained 
fresh in the public mind, however, and in 1796 he 
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was again called into public life and elected to the 
Assembly of the State, and when that body con- 
vened he was selected, from among the many emi- 
nent men composing it, to be the Speaker of the 
House. The succeeding year he was returned to 
the Assembly, and again made Speaker. In 1809 
he had the satisfaction of seeing Schenectady County 
established. He had been one of the chief pro- 
moters of that project, and upon the political or- 
ganization of the county in 181o, he was the first 
to represent itin the Assembly, and for the third 
time was chosen Speaker. His arduous life, how- 
ever, was beginning to tell upon him, and he re- 
mained in retirement thereafter until his death at his 
home in Duanesburgh. Heis buried in the vault of 
the family church before referred to in these pages, 
and a mural tablet records his services as a patriot 
and statesman, and his high integrity as a man. 

His son, William North, and one daughter sur- 
vived him. The former owned and occupied the 
North homestead until his death. He is buried 
beside his father. Mary and Hannah North were 
his only children. Mary married Rev. D. C. Wes- 
ton, who for some years was the clergyman of the 
old Duanesburgh Church. She died a few years 
since,and the only surviving member of the family, 
of the family name, is her sister, Hannah North, of 
New York City. The North residence is standing 
and in good condition, but it long since passed 
out of the possession of the family. 

THe FEratHERStONHAUGH Famrty.—Sarah, the 
second daughter of Judge Duane, was celebrated 
for her great beauty and her many accomplish- 
ments. Her father’s prominence and position had 
given her the acquaintance of many of the dis- 
tinguished men of the time, and her girlish grace 
had won for her the friendship of Washington him- 
self. There is now in possession of one of her de- 
scendants an original portrait of General Washing- 
ton, which was presented to her by its illustrious 
original shortly before his death. She was married 
in 1808 to George William Featherstonhaugh, an 
English gentleman who had come to this country 
in the service of the British Government. After his 
marriage Mr. Featherstonhaugh removed to Duanes- 
burgh, and in the midst of a large estate upon the 
banks of Featherstonhaugh Lake, he erected a mag- 
nificent mansion. Featherstonhaugh Park, as the 
place came to be called, in all its appointments re- 
sembled an elegant English country residence, 

Mr. Featherstonhaugh was of striking personal 
appearance, and a man of remarkable and diversi- 
fied attainments. Of high education, he was an 
accomplished scholar and linguist as well as a fine 
musician. He enjoyed the friendship and society 
of many of the most distinguished scholars and 
scientis's of the day, and few Englishmen of cul- 
ture and note came to America without receiving 
his hospitality. He was quick to perceive worth 
and talent in others, and it gave nim great satisfac- 
tion to afford encouragement to young men. When 
Thomas Cole, afterward the celebrated landscape 
painter, was struggling for recognition, he found in 
Mr. Featherstonhaugh the first substantial apprecia- 

tion of his talent. Mr. Featherstonhaugh, in his 
Journal, speaking of Cole, says: 

“‘T have staying with me a young Englishman 
by birth of the name of Thomas Cole, who has 
quite a talent for painting. He is now at work 
finishing a view of the lake and house for me. He 
shows great talent and I predict for him a brilliant 
career.” , 

How well that prediction was verified! 
That painting is now in the possession of the 

Featherstonhaugh family at Duanesburgh. Mr. 
Featherstonhaugh, with his friend, Stephen Van 
Rensselaer, originated the idea of a railroad be- 
tween Albany and Schenectady, and it was owing 
to his indomitable will and perseverance in ob- 
taining and selling stock, enlisting friends and 
arguing away countless objections, more than to 
any other cause, that the project was at last real- 
ized. Hewas the author of several works on agri- 
culture, and took an active part in promoting 
farming interests, by importing blooded stock and 
organizing a State Agricultural Society, and by 
getting favorable and salutary laws passed by the 
Legislature. He wasalso the author of several books 
on geology and travel, besides numerous essays on 
various subjects. He resided in Duanesburgh 
until about 1828, when, having just returned from 
foreizn travel, he had the misfortune of seeing his 
magnificent house and all its contents destroyed by 
fire. His wife dving a few years afterward, he re- 
turned to England, and was appointed by the gov- 
ernment as consul to Havre. He resided in his 
official capacity at that place until his death in 
1866. The following is extracted from a French 
paper : 

‘‘He was borne to his grave by six consuls of 
the English department, preceded by the clergy of 
the Church of England, All the principal author- 
ities, civic and military, followed, together with 
the officers of the English vessels in the port. An 
eloquent eulogy was delivered at the grave, com- 
memorating the eminent qualities and high char- 
acter which had distinguished the honorable dead.” 

M-. Featherstonhaugh was descended from one 
of the oldest families in England, and one cele- 
brated in story and ballad of olden time. He be- 
longed to many of the literary and scientific soci- 
eties both of this Country and England, and was 
an honored Fellow of the Royal Society. By 
his first marriage two sons survived him. These 
were George William Featherstonhaugh, now of 
Milwaukee, Wis., and James Duane Featherston- 
haugh, of Duanesburgh. By a second marriage 
he left three children, all residing in England. 
Three grandchildren, sons of James D. Feather- 
stonhaugh, are now living in New York State, viz. : 
Dr. James Duane Featherstonhaugh, of Cohoes; 

Dr. Thomas Featherstonhaugh, of New York City; 
and George William Featherstonhaugh, a lawyer 
of Schenectady, residing in Duanesburgh. A 
young child of the latter represents the last gener- 
ation of the family to the present time—a great- 
grandchild of the founder of the family in America. 

The Featherstonhaughs own and occupy the last 
of the family mansions erected in Duanesburgh. 
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This, known as the Duane Mansion, was built 
about 1810 by Catharine Livingston Duane, the 
younger daughter of Judge Duane, upon an emi- 
nence overlooking nearly the whole town of 
Duanesburgh, and but a short distance from the 
North mansion. It is large and imposing, 2 piazza 
seventy feet in length extending along its entire 
north side. The roof over the piazza, twenty feet 
high, is supported by eight massive columns, 
turned out of huge pine trees. Surrounded by 
ample grounds and sheltered by beautiful shade 
trees, this is one of the most charming of country 
residences. Miss Duane occupied it until 1852, 
when she died, noted for her charity and benevo- 
lence. By will it descended to her nephew, James 
D. Featherstonhaugh, and is the last property of 
any consequence in the town remaining in the pos- 
session of descendants of Judge Duane. 

PROMINENT CITIZENS IN 1838 anv 1858. 

The following were prominent citizens of 
Duanesburgh in 1838, as appears from the town 
records and other authentic documents ; Jacob A. 
Radley, Thomas Holmes, Jr., David Beverage, 
Charles O. 5. Patterson, Samuel Slawson, John 
Wiltse, Israel R. Green, Bradford Berckley, Thomas 
W. Patterson, Silas H. Marsh, John Bentley, Ira 
Bennett, ‘Alexander MeMillan, Amos Chapman, 
Ebenezer Cady, Joseph Braman, Frederick Shute, 

Leonard Herrick, James Tullock, Jr., Thomas 
Holmes, Henry I. Smith, David Lander, A. C. 
Clogston, John Combs, Nathaniel Wiggins, John 
Tullock, Alexander Liddle, Alexander Eegleston, 
William McMillan, William Turnbull, Robert 
Liddle, Lester Mott, Joseph Eggleston, Thad- 
deus King, George Ingersoll, Lawrence D. Long, 
William H. Morey, Jacob Coons, John L. Jones, 
Jesse Abbey, Jobn Shute, John ‘Tow right, Mat- 
thew H. Rector, Philip Paige, David Koon, Alonzo 
Macomber, Caleb H. Carpenter, James Ferguson, 
Samuel Ostrander, Ralph W. McDougall, Henry 
Ladd, Isaac C. Steven’: Kirby Wilber, Shelden J. 
‘Hoag, Jacob White, Nathaniel Jenkins, William 
D. Cary, John Tullock, George E. Cady, Stephen 
Badgley, Daniel P. Wing, Abraham Montanye, 
James Clement, Lyman Hows, George Lasher. 

Twenty years later the following list comprised 
most of the leading men in the town. It will be 
seen that some of the names appear in the preced- 
ing list. Henry Sniffers, Charles Dennison, Henry 
Pulver, John McCally, Charles A, Patterson, James 
M. Lasher, Elijah Rockwell, John D. Stillwell, 
Stephen Fuller, Je JeGreén, Thomas Freydendall, 
Hiram Hausett, George Mason, Joseph Bennett, 
James Macomber, Amos Chapman, Charles Cady, 
Lovell Doty, Lysander Markle, Elnathan Abrams, 
Elijah Ladd, William Marsh, Samuel Wingate, 
William Turnbull, Silas Tripp, Henry J. Smith, 
Henry (Quick, James Liddle, Daniel Wiggins, 
Charles L. Tullock, Thomas Liddle, Adam Hum- 
phrey, Jonathan Soule, William Waddeli, William 
McMillan, John Combs, James Wilkinson, Peter 
Cameron, Joseph ‘Eggleston, Lemuel Sisson, G. 
q McFarland, Albert Morey, David Hughes, 
William Koons, Charles Ladd, Henry Jones, John 

Shutt, Philo Avery, Peter Deyo, Orlando Root, Ira 
Marsh, M. H. Rector, William S. Gordon, Ben- 
jamin Warden, Joel J. Smith, Leonard Gaige, 
Jonathan Harden, Joseph Moore, Jesse Ketcham, 
John Ferguson, Elias Gey, Ralph W. McDougall, 
Charles Davis, Jacob Weaver, Charles Case, James 
Tullock, Reuben Briggs, David Griffith, Joseph 
Lason, B. F. Wood, Isaac Quimby, Allen Wilber, 
Samuel Rulison, Jacob Patterson, Abraham Ball, 
Alexander Dorn, Anthony De Long, Stephen 
Badgley, George Badgley, David Underhill. 

OTHER EARLY SETTLERS AND MEN OF PROMINENCE, 

The Dennison Famity 
back to the early settlement of the town. Charles 
Dennison, the ancestor, was a native of Ireland. 
He located on the farm now owned and occupied by 
George L. Dennison, about 1773, and was a soldier 
in the patriot service during the revolution. He 
had but one son, Ezekiel, who was born on the 
homestead, and married a Miss Pulver, living to 
the advanced age of eighty-four years, and having 
a family of several children, of whom Charles. Den- 
nison, the eldest, was born November 20, 1797. 
Charles was twice married; first to Maria, daughter 
of John Thomas, April 10, 1819. She was born 
November 16, 1793, and died in 1848. His sec- 
ond marriage was to Mary Lockwood, of Prince- 
town. His children by his first marriage were 
Margaret (deceased), John (living in Iowa), Eliza- 
beth, Charles P. (deceased), Ezekiel (deceased), 
and George L. and William, both of whom are 
farmers in Duanesburgh. George L. Dennison 
was born September 16, 1834, and was married 
January 9, 1866, to Miss Malinda A. Root, of 
North Norwich, Oxford County, Canada. Their 
children are Sherman H. Dennison, born October 
3, 1867; John M. Dennison, born September 26, 
1868; Sarah MM. Dennison, born October 3, 1870; 
Mary A. Dennison, born August 21, 1872; L. 
Louise Dennison, born November 20, 1874; 
Martha E. Dennison, born January 12, 1880; and 
Margaret A. Dennison, born April 8, 1882. 

Raven \.cDoucaLtt was a son of Alexander 
McDougall, a native of the Scotch Highlands, and 
emigrated to America with his father-in-law, Ralph 
Wesley, about 1774. He first located upon land 
now occupied by Duanesburgh Four Corners. His 
son, Ralph McDougall, was born June 6, 1785, and 
married Abigail, daughter of Benjamin Armstrong. 
His father-in-law was a native of Albany County, 
and at that time a farmer in Duanesburgh. Of the 
nine children of Ralph and Abigail McDougall, 
Ann married Joseph Rector and is dead; Hannah 
died, aged twenty-one; Hugh settled on a farm in 
Duanesburgh, and died there November 7, 1878; 
John lives in Walworth County, Wisconsin; Ben- 
jamin ts a farmer living near Binghamton, NOYES 
Alexander located adjacent to the old homestead, 
married Abigail, daughter of Alexander Gifford, 
and has a family of six children: Ralph A., Pur- 
son R., Elizabeth, John, Wesley and Hannah; 
Thomas and Abigail are dead; and Ralph W. occu- 
pies the old homestead of two hundred acres 
about a mile east of the village of Duanesburgh, 

in Duanesburgh dates 
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and is well known and _ highly respected by his fel- 

low townsmen. Ralph McDougall died June 1, 
1857. 
The venerable Ropert Lippre, of Duanesburgh, 

represents one of the earliest families of the town. 
His grandfather, a Scetchman, emigrated from the 
shire of Roxburgh about 1775, and settled on the 
place now owned and occupied by Robert Kelly, 
in Princetown. He was a mason by trade and did 
much work in Albany, going thither through the 
wilderness to earn money with which to pay for his 
home. He was born in 1741, and had married 

and had a family before leaving Scotland. His 
wife, and his sons, Thomas and Alexander, and 
his daughter, Margaret, accompanied him. — His 
daughter Elizabeth was born during the voyage, 
Christie and John, other children, were born after 
the establishment of the family in this country. Of 
this generation none are now living. Robert Lid- 
dle is the oldest son of Alexander and Mary (Gif- 
ford) Liddle and was born January 12, 1803. He 
has been three times married. His first wife was 
Sally Smith, daughter of Charles Smith, of Duanes- 
burgh. Her children were Alexander, Mary, 
Abigail, Ann E., Charles, Thomas, Abram S., and 
Robert W. For a second wife he married Sarah, 
daughter of John Robinson, of North Duanes- 
burgh, who bore. children named Agnes, Mc- 
Dermott, and Janet. His third wife, now living, 
was Janet Young, of Duanesburgh. ‘The Liddle 
family is both numerous and highly respected 
throughout Schenectady County. 

Ezexier Tripp was among the earlier settlers of 
the town. With his family of four sons and four 
daughters, he emigrated from Khode Island to 
Dutchess County about 1789. There he remained 
about a year, when he removed to Duanes- 
burgh, and located upon the present home- 
stead of Daniel C. Hoag. This farm, then com- 
prising 110 acres with small improvements, he 
purchased for $30. His wife was Mary Lawton. 
Benjamin Tripp was their oldest son. He married 
Hannah Deuel, and located on the farm of 1074 
acres now owned by Darius Tripp, a grandson of 
the pioneer. They had a family of ten children, 
Silas Tripp was the seventh in order of birth. He 
married Martha A. Stevens, and ee to the 
ownership of the home. Of the children of Silas 
Tripp, Darius and Emily are living on the old 
Tripp homestead; Jedediah. S. is in Wisconsin; 
Ezekiel, Mariette, Samuel B. and Ursula are de- 
ceased; Mercy A. is Mrs. I. G. (Quimby, of Duanes- 
burgh; and Seneca is in Minnesota. 

Wittram Lapp was one of the pioneer settlers in 
the vicinity of Braman’s Corners. With his two 
sons, Thomas and William, Jr., he came from 
Barrington, Mass., in 1781, and cleared about 
three acres of heavy forest at the spot now occupied 
by the farm buildings of Mr. Walthousen, being 
lot 160 Duane survey, and commonly known as 
the Old Ladd Homestead. This land was 
cleared, plowed and planted to wheat without the 
aid of team, plow or drag. That same year a 
small log cabin was erected, and late in the fall 

Mr. Ladd and his sons returned to Barrington, 
Mass., retracing their tree-marked way to their old 
home. ‘They came back in the spring of 
bringing with them Mrs. Ladd and other children 
named John, Levi, Sally, Betsey, Susan, Hannah, 
Polly, Nancy, Elizabeth, and Lemuel. In health, 
size and muscular strength, this generation of 
Ladds was a remarkable one. ‘The ancestors of 
William Ladd were of pure English blood, and he, 
with two brothers, emigrated from England in 
1633, and located at Saybrook, Mass. He was 
married to Elizabeth Vining, in Abington, Mass., 
November 4, 1776+ John D. Ladd, of Sche- 
nectady, is a son of John Ladd, Jr., and Mary 
Disbrow, his wife. John Ladd, Ir, was a son of 
John Ladd, son of William Ladd, the pioneer in 
Duanesburgh. ‘Thus it will be seen that John D. 
Ladd is of the fourth generation of the family in 
Schenectady County. He was born in Duanes- 
burgh, October 13, 1827, and until 1862, when 
he removed to Schenectady, lived continuously in 
his native town with the exception of about two 
years, during which he was a salesman ina dry 
goods store in Burtonville. In 1866 he entered 
the employ of William McCammus « Co., and 
has held the position ever since, though the old 
firm has been succeeded by T. H. Reeves & Co. 
He married Amanda, daughter of Joseph H., 
Jones, of Duanesburgh, who was born September 
21, 1833, and has three children, as follows: 
Nettie, born December 11, 1862; Frank, born 
May 14, 1872; and Justus, born February 11, 
1875 

Henry Suute was born in Chatham, Columbia 
County, N. Y., October 13, 1769. He married 
Sarah Irish, September 25, 1788, and doubtless 
located in Duanesburgh that same year, on the 
farm now owned and occupied by his two grand- 
sons, FE. W..-and, J... Shute.. He had a family 
of four sons and four daughters, named Daniel, 
Henry, Betsey, Ruth, Eunice, Cynthia, John, and 
Frederick, all of whom are dead. Frederick W., 
John H., and Luther Shute represent the third 
generation in the town, and are sons of John Shute 
who was the seventh son of Henry, and married 
for his first wife Fannie Norton, who died, leaving 
three sons and a daughter, named Jensen, Jerome, 
William, and Sarah A. Of these Jerome only sur- 
vives, living at Ballston Springs, N. Y. His second 
wife was Prudence, daughter of Asaph Eddy, of 
Albany. ‘The latter was born in 1758, and married 
Sarah Moon, who was born of New England stock 
in 1763, and whose ancestry in the line of the 
Moons is traceable back to about 1693. William 
Shute, Henry Shute’s father, served under Lieuten- 
ant Washington at the time of Braddock’s defeat, 
and was a daring soldier. 

1782 OL, 

Joun L. Jones is one of the oldest residents of 

Duanesburgh, and is a son of one of the early 
settlers of the town. His father, Lewis Jones, 
came from Westchester County “in 1787, and 
located near Braman’s Corners on the farm Mr. 
Jones now owns and occupies. He was a revolu- 
tionary soldier, and married Eunice Ketcham 
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while yet a resident of his native county, and had 
nine children, named Ephraim, Jonathan, laa 
iel, Hannah, William, John L., Benjamin, Poll 
Joseph Hy and Lewis John ib) Jones was ai 
December 28, 1798, and married Amy Bagley. 
She died, leaving a daughter named Polly Ann, 
and he married Catharine Koons, by whom he has 
eight children, named Julia, John E., Augusta, 
William, Amy, Lewis, janet, and De Witt, His 
farm consists of 175 acres. 

WiritaM TuRNBULL was the first of the name in 
Duanesburgh. He located on the property now 
in possession of Charles Titball, roo acres taken 
ona lease. George Turnbull was a son of this 
pioneer, and grandfather of John L. Turnbull, the 
well known merchant and present town clerk. He 
was a native Scotchman. A professional gardener, 
he worked in the royal gardens, and was a man of 
prominence. His ancestry is traceable in a direct 
line to the Douglasses, a great and powerful Scot- 
tish house. He married Jane Kennedy, lived 
to the close of his life on the homestead, and 
raised a family of three sons and three daughters. 
William Turnbull succeeded to the ownership of 
the homestead. He is remembered as a thrifty 
farmer and a popular townsman. He never mar- 
ried, and is dead. James, the second son, began 
life as an employee on the Union College Grounds 
under President Nott, and by economy and indus- 
try was enabled to enter mercantile life. He was 
a flourishing merchant at Esperance and Burton- 
ville, Montgomery County, and later was a farmer 
on the George Lasher Place, where he died in 1858. 
IJe married Isabel, daughter of Alexander McIn- 
tosh, an early Scotch-American settler of Prince- 
town. They hada family of nine children, eight of 
whom grew up: Jane, now Mrs. James Warner, of 
Redwing, Minn.; Arseneth, now Mrs. Burr Deuel,_4 
of Winona, Minn.; George A. (deceased), who 
served two years during the Rebellion as captain of 
Co. A., 134th N. Y. Volunteer Infantry; John L.; 
Rebecca, who became Mrs. T. Romeyn Herrick; 
A. G. W., a farmer in Dakota; William J., a part- 
ner with John L., who married Alice Jarvis; Isabel, 
living in Duanesburgh; and Helen, who died at 
the age of two years. The family has always fig- 
ured ‘conspicuously in the social and business cir- 
cles of the t town, and, in addition to the other im- 
portant trusts which have been confided to him, 
John L. Turnbull has been chosen SHneiyieos of 
Duanesburgh, 

T. Romeyn Herrick represents one of the oldest 
and most honored families of the town. His 
grandfather, Judge Jonathan Herrick, was born in 
Dutchess County, of Welsh and English parentage, 
in 1760, and located in Duanesburgh in 1792, on 
the property now occupied by John Holmes. He 

married Patience Palmer, of Dutchess County, by 
whom he had two sons (James and Smith) and 
two daughters (Mary and Amanda). James loca- 
ted on the present George Bender Place, and mar- 

ried Julia, daughter of John Sherburn, and had 
ten sons and two daughters, of whom T. Romeyn 
Herrick is the eighth son and the tenth in the order 

of birth. He lived on the homestead until he was 
about twenty-five years of age, when he married 
Rebecca Turnbull. He engaged in business in 
Albany, and later was for several years in New 
York City. In 1875 he returned to his native town, 
where he has since lived, and during the past eight 
years held the office of Justice of the Peace. 

Ira Estes, merchant at Quaker Street, is a na- 
tive of Duanesburgh, as was his father. The lat- 
ter—Benjamin T. Estes—was born on the Lister 
Farm in 1791. He was a carpenter and a Quaker 
minister, and was a regular attendant at the Qua- 
ker Street meeting for about fifty years. He was a 
son of Thomas Estes, one of the original settlers of 
the Duane tract, and doubtless a native of Rhode 
Island. He married Rebecca, daughter of Enoch 
Hoag, an early resident of the town and a member 
of another prominent Quaker family, and they had 
six children, of whom Ira Estes is the oldest liv- 
ing. Hewas reared a farmer, has been sixteen 
years a stock dealer and twelve years a merchant. 
He has been twice married, and has several chil- 
dren. He is justly rated as one of the leading men 
of the town. 

Hon. Atonzo MacompBer was born in Chester- 
field, Essex County, N. Y., in 1806. He is a 
mechanic by trade, and as such worked during his 
earlier years. In 1828 he located on a farm about 
half a mile southwest of Quaker Street, and there 
lived until he took up his present residence in 1846. 
In 1850 he entered upon a mercantile career, in 
which he continued successfully several years. He 
has served his fellow-citizens as Member of Assembly 
one term, as Assistant Internal Revenue Assessor 
seven years, as Justice of the Peace about twenty- 
four years, and as Postmaster one year. He retired 
from active life several years since. He married 
Eliza, daughter of Nathaniel Wilber (deceased), 
and has a son, whois a succe-sful druggist, located 
at No. 42 Hudson avenue, Albany. 

Metvitte Mean, one of the most enterprising 
young merchants of Schenectady County, is a son 
of Daniel and a grandson of Zaccheus Mead, both 
deceased. The children of Zaccheus Mead were 
Stephen, Zaccheus, Jr., John, Jehial, Nathaniel, 
Titus, Mary Jane (who married J. Shelden), and 
Daniel. The latter was in early life a money lender. 
Later he engaged in carriage-making at Quaker 
Street, in company with W. R. McGraw. His son, 
Arthur, was also for a time connected with this 
business, which was discontinued in 1881. Daniel 
Mead was twice married, first to Miss Lucretia Wait, 
by whom he had one son, Arthur, and afterward to 
Mary J. Haight, of Dutchess County. Melville 
Mead was the only issue of the marriage. Mr. 
Mead died May 6, 1884, aged seventy- five years. 
His widow survives him. Melville Mead is a prac- 
tical tinsmith. He began business on his own ac- 
count several years ago. He occupies the old W. 
S. Lang stand at Quaker Street and does a general 
trade, ‘including tinware, silverware, agricultural 

implements, stoves, furniture and other articles, 
also doing jobbing in tin gutters and roofing and 
similar supplies, 
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THE TOWNSHIP OF DUANESBURGH. 

Another representative man is CorNELL W. Bronk. 
Since the year 1797, when Abram Bronk settled on 
the present farm of A. Bronk, the family have fig- 
ured more or less conspicuously in the business and 
social development of the town. He came fram 

Columbia County and was of Holland Dutch 
parentage. He married Catharine Radley, or 
Ratcliff, as the name was formerly spelled. Nich- 
olas Bronk was a son of Abram, and married Eu- 
nice Wiltsie, and was the. father of Cornell W., 
Margaret, Catharine, Eunice, and Isabel Bronk, of 
whom the first mentioned is the only one living in 
the county. Cornell W. Bronk married Elizabeth, 
a daughter of John Levey, of Princetown, and they 
have five children: Catharine, now Mrs. John Mar- 
clay, of Mariaville, John L., Abram N., William 
J., and Nancy E. Mr. Bronk has served his town 
as assessor six years. Abram N, Bronk, of Maria- 
ville, succeeded the firm of Lasher & Son, in part- 
nership with J. A. Bradshaw, in 1879, and in 1881 
purchased his partner's interest. 

His stock consists of a full line of such goods 
as are to be found in all important country stores. 
He obtained his first mercantile experience as a 
clerk during nine years with Lasher & Son. He 
married Maria, daughter of Marcus Delamater, of 
Mariaville, and has two children, named Berdella 
and Emmett. Another, named Clifton, died in in- 
fancy. 

G. W. Conover has been a resident of Duanes- 
burgh about twenty-five years. He was born in 
Florida, Montgomery County, March 19, 1812. 
His father, Marcellus Conover, was a native of the 
town of Glenn, and was ason of Isaac Conover, 
who served as an aid-de-camp to General Washing- 
ton during the revolution. Mr. Conover's ances- 
tors were Holland Dutch and first located in New 
Jersey. The name as now spelled is an English 
modification of the old Dutch name of Covenho- 
ven, by which members of the family were known 
not longer than a generation ago. Isaac Covenho- 
ven and his brother Abraham were bold patriots 
and daring soldiers during the struggle for Ameri- 
can independence, as is attested by passages in 
Sims’ ‘‘ Border Wars of Schoharie.” George W. 
Conover married Sarah M., daughter of J. P. Rod- 
ley, of Florida, Montgomery County, and they 
have one son, John M. Conover. They live at 
Scotch Church, where they own a fine farm of 265 
acres. 

ApraHAaM Devensurc is an aged and respected 
citizen. He was born in Knox, Albany County, 
November 2, 1807. He was one of the founders 
and a liberal supporter of the Free Dutch Church 
of Mariaville. He owns and, in company with his 
son, John, operates the Devenburg Mills, the only 
circular saw-millin thetown. His wife was Ann 
Lloyd. Their son, John Devenburg, was born 
June 27, 1845, and learned the trade of carriage- 
making at Port Jackson, N. Y. He carries on the 
business of carriage-making at Mariaville. July 3, 
1866, he married Martha A., daughter of William 
H. How, of Port Jackson. They have four chil- 
dren, named Ettie L., Ann M., William H., and 

Satie. Harrison P., another son, died young. Mr. 
Devenburg is known as an enterprising and pro- 
gressive business man, 

EBENEZER WRIGHT was born in the town of Wes- 
terloo, Albany County, January 27, 1800, His father 
was John Wright, his mother, Susan, daughter of 
Captain Nehemiah Bassett. His grandfather was 
Mathew Wright, and his grandmother Esther 
Lewis, who was born in Chatham, Conn. Some 
years before the revolution, Mathew Wright and 
wife, with their sons, Daniel, John, Earl, Mathew, 

Thomas, and Ebenezer, removed from Sinsbury. 
Conn., to Sharon, Schoharie County. He, with 
Daniel and Earl, shortly afterward removed to 
Otsego County, N. Y. He lived to be 103 years 
old and his wife go years. Thomas enlisted in 
the patriot army in the war of the revolution; was 
taken prisoner and confined ina British ship in 
Boston harbor, where he died from starvation with 
a chip in his mouth, with which he was vainly try- 
ing to satisfy the cravings ofhunger. John Wright, 
the father of Ebenezer, was in both the revolution- 
ary war and war of 1812. After his marriage he 
moved to Albany County and afterward to Schenec- 
tady County. His children were Thomas, John 
Y., Justus, Nehemiah, Samuel, Anna, Fanny, 
Ebenezer, and Jane. Ebenezer married Susan, 
daughter of Olive Briggs, and settled in Quaker 
Street. He learned the carpenter's trade. As a 
workman, ‘‘ Boss Wright,” as he was called, had 
no superior in the town. There still remain many 
specimens of his work in buildings and furniture 
which show the ability of the builder. He was 
the undertaker for the neighborhood, When he 
began this business the Friends, or Quakers, who 
composed the largest part of the inhabitants in that 
part of the town, demanded Puritanical simplicity, 

and many of the coffins were of pine-wood, not 
stained or varnished, without handles or orna- 
ments. The height of extravagance was reached 
when for pine the native cherry was substituted. 
Instead of varnish, wax was used in finishing the 
coffins. He lived to see the time when the plain 
customs of the ancient Friends were forgotten, 
when ornamented and expensive caskets, and a 
hearse to carry them, were in as much demand 
from their descendants as from the ‘‘ World's 
People.” He was a man of sterling integrity and 
positive convictions, He was an earnest supporter 
of the Abolition party, and with John Sheldon, 
James Sheldon and Reuben Briggs, acted as 
agents for the ‘‘Underground Railroad,” assist- 
ing fleeing slaves on their way to Canada and 
freedom, The next station west was the house 
of Mr. Griggs, a miller at Schoharie. He was one 
of the Washingtonian temperance workers, and 
Quaker Street thirty-five to forty years ago was 
noted for the intelligence, temperate life and indus- 
try of its inhabitants. Upon the organization of 
the Republican party he became identified with it, 
and was honored by his townsmen with several 
positions of trust. A champion of the unfortunate 
the poor, and the oppressed, he was sometimes 
called fanatical, but even his greatest opponents 
unite in pronouncing him honest and sincere. 
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Doctor P. A. Brumaciy, who for about thirty- 
six years has been a successful practicing physician 
at Mariaville, was born in Root, Montgomery 
County, February 4, 1816, of which town his 

parents, John and Elizabeth (Carr) Brumagin, were 
natives and life-long residenis. He attended 
school in Root and received a higher education at 
the Ames Academy. He studied medicine with 
Dr. Thompson Burton, of Charlestown, attended 
lectures at Albany Medical College three successive 
terms, and graduated in the class of 1844. He at 

once began practice at Currytown, Montgomery 
County, and in 1848 located in Mariaville. He 
married Mary, daughter of Albert and Susan 
McMaster, of Kcot, Montgomery County, and has 
two children, Patience, now the wife of Peter Turn- 
bull, of Albany, and Charles, a resident of Florida, 

Montgomery County. 

Doctor P. I. Dopce, of Duanesburgh, is a 
native of Palmyra, Jefferson County, Wisconsin. 
He was born “April 13, 1857, and isa son of Rey. 
C. F. and Catharine (Darling) Dodge of that place. 
He attended the public schools of Palmyra and 
took an academic course at Big Rapids, Michigan. 
Later he was a student at the Indiana Northern 
Normal School. He studied medicine at the Ben- 
nett Medical College, graduating in 1880. After 
attending the Eclectic Medical College of New 
York in 1883 and 1884, he entered upon his prac- 
tice at Mariaville under auspicious circumstances. 

James McMIciey, deceased, was the progenitor 
of a numerous family in this section of New York. 
He was born in Scotland in 1785, and in 1792 
emigrated to America with his parents, locating 
in New Scotland, Albany County. Marrying Sarah 
Jane, he located on the present James Cullings 
Piace in Duanesburgh. They had six sons and 
two daughters named as follows: John, James, 
Isaac, Alexander, William, Samuel, Mary, and 
Sarah. William succeeded to the ownership of the 
old homestead. He married Leah, daughter of 
William and Margaret (Walker) Allen. Their 

children were : James L., Margaret I. (now Mis. 
James Cullings), Samuel, who lives in Livingston 
County, Michigan; and William (deceased). Hush 
McMillen, a prominent farmer of Duanesburgh, i 
the only one living of the three children of Tce 
McMillen, son of William. 

Davip W. Warpote is the youngest son of Rich- 
ard Walpole, deceased. Richard Walpole emi- 
grated from Ireland, where he was born, to 
America about 1836, and located as a farmer in 
Princetown. Removing to Duanesburgh he erected 
the Walpole Mill in 1844, and managed it until 
1873, when he removed to Oswego County, where 
he died, aged 79 years, in1881. He was an active 
business man, and as a citizen held high in the 
public esteem, as is attested by the fact that he was 
elected Justice of the Peace, serving thirteen years 
in succession. His wife was Margaret, daughter of 
Thomas King, who bore him eight children. In 
1873, David W. Walpole purchased the mill prop- 
erty, which he has since greatly improved by the 
introduction of broom-handle machinery and a 

| 
| cider-mill and otherwise, doing a good business in 

the different branches. He married Julia, daughter 
of William 2B. and Martha (Barrows) Dorn of 

Duanesburgh, and has three children, Mary Belle, 
Martha J., and Mansfield B, 

Wiriiam J. GARDENIER, the present merchant at 
Braman’s Corners, is a crandson of William S. Gar- 
denier, who located in Duanesburgh on William J. 
Gardenier’s farm about 1830, coming from Colum- 
bia County, where he was born. Samuel W. Gar- 
denier was one of the ablest of his family of three 
sons and six daughters. He married Mary M., 
daughter of John ‘Clayton, of Charlestown, Mont- 
gomery County. Their children were: William Is 
born July 18, ‘1847, and John A., born March 31, 
1854, now living on the homestead. William J. 
Gardenier made farming his principal business until 
the spring of 1884,w hen he opened his store. He 
carries a well assorted general stock, and aims tc do 
a cash business at the lowest possible prices. He 
married Miss Ellen Nethaway, of Duanesburgh, 
but formerly of Schoharie County, and they have 
five children, named Judson, Wilmer, Arthur, 
Mary E., and Martha. 

Benyamin Wictstr, of Mariaviile, was born on the 
farm in Duanesburgh now owned by William and 
John De Graff, in 1824. His father was John B. 
Wiltsie and his grandfather Cornelius Wiltsie, who 
came from Dutchess County as one of the early 
settlers of the town. The pioneer had a family of 
four sons and three daughters, of whom John B. 
was the third, born May 26, 1803. The latter 
married Maria, daughter of Abraham and Rebecca 
(Van Vechten) Dorn, in 1823. Benjamin Wiltsie 
located at Mariaville in 1853. In 1856 he took 
possession of the Wiltste House, which he has since 
conducted. He married Jane S., daughter of 
Hiram Hansit, who was for many years postmaster 
of Mariaville, and has four children: Emma H. 
(now Mrs. A. J. Bradshaw), John B., Emmet H., 
and Ann M. 

Benjamin GAIGE was one of nine brothers, all of 
whom settled in Albany and Schenectady Counties 
withina circuit of ten miles. heir parents, Joseph 
and Mary Mortimer Gaige, came from England. 
Benjamin Gaige came in 1791 from Quaker Hill, 
Dutchess County, to the property now of Asa M. 
Gaige, a great- grandson. He brought with him a 
family of six children. Of these, Phebe married 
Henderson Smith and removed to Western New 
York; Ebenezer and Mortimer removed to Silver 
Lake, Susquehanna County; Abram removed to 
Pennsyivaniaand thence to Otsego County, where he 
died; Miriam married Abram Coon and removed 
with him to Broome County, where both died; and 
Jane became the wife of Isaac Stevens and lived at 
Quaker Street and later at Kirkwood, N. Y., where 

she died. Five other children were born in Duanes- 
burgh. Of these, Asa B_ settled on the homestead, 
where he died May 2, 1869; Benjamin removed to 
Pennsylvania and thence to Michigan, where he 
died; Philip is living at an advanced : age at Quaker 
Street; Mary married and located in Root, Mont- 
gomery County; and Lydia married John Lake and 
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THE TOWNSHIP OF DUANESBURGH. 

where she ended her 

first to. 

removed to Orleans County, 
days. Isaac B, Gaige was twice married, 
Joanna, daughter of Joseph and Apphiay (Mosher) , 

of Counce County, 

to Margaret, 

Lason, 

1833, and secondly of daughter 
Abram and Helen (Ball) Sternberg, By the first 
marriage were born children named Walter, 
Ebenezer, Joseph L., and Phebe; by the sec- 
ond marriage children named Lucy B. and 
Helen M. The latter married Joseph Wright, of 
Brooklyn, N. Y. Joseph L. Gaige, the third son 
of Isaac B. Gaige, married Eliza J., daughter of 
Asa and Mary (Birdsall) Marshall, of Westchester 
County. He died in 1870, leaving two sons, Asa 
M. and Isaac B.,’both living in Duanesburgh. Asa 
M. married Fanny G., daughter of Nathaniel and 
Sarah J. (Forge) Estes, of Utica, N. Y., and they 
have a daughter named Jennie, born July 1, 

1884. 

ELNATHAN AsraMs settled about one mile east of 
Braman’s Corners about 1839. He was born in 
Florida, N. Y., and married Anna, daughter of 
Solomon Strong, one of the pioneers of that town. 
They had three sons: Solomon, John K., and J. 
Danforth Abrams. Solomon Abrams was born 
near Swan’s Corners, Florida, N. Y., February ro, 
1824; marrried Charlotte, daughter of John Vic- 
tory, of Duanesburgh; and has been a resident of 
Schenectady about thirty years. John K., a school 
teacher, lives at Little Falls, N. Y. J. Danforth 
enlisted and served in the United States Army in 
the late war, and died, in service, of fever, Novem- 
ber 12, 1864. He married Susan, daughter of 
Elijah Ladd, who survives him, living near Bra- 
man’s Corners. They had twosons, one of whom 
is Dr. A. E. Abrams, of Hartford, Conn., and the 
other, Elijah D., is a machinist in the Ellis Loco- 
motive Works, Schenectady. Anthony Abrams, 
great-grandfather of the present generation of 
Abramses, was a native-born German, who emigrated 
to America when a young man and ‘married a Miss 
Mickle. ‘They had a son named Andrew, who 
was drowned at about the age of twenty-one years; 
another named John, who was the grandfather of 
Solomon and the father of Elnathan Abrams; and 
a daughter who died unmarried. The former or- 
thography of the name was Abrahams. 

a 

Rev. Davin Cook Davis isa son of David Davis, 
of New Hampshire, and was born in Stratford, that 
State, September 10, 1815. His mother was Mary 
Cook. He attended the Wolfsbury Academy, N. 
H., until the death of his mother, when he was 
obliged to abandon school fora time. In 1842 he 
began to study for the ministry at Boston, and in 
1845 began preaching the Gospel at Dedham, 
Mass., and continued the work at other places in 
New Hampshire and New York. From 1551 to 
1874 he was engaged in secular business in New 

York City. At the latter date he was-called to the 
pastorate of the Church of the Redeemer (Univer- 
salist) at Braman’s Corners, where he remained 
several years. He married Euphemia, daughter 
of John and TJsabella (Russell) Murray, June 14, 
1835. The fruits of this union have been David 

who died Auzust 27, 

M. Davis, of Trenton, N. J.; Alexander M. Davis, 
of Boston, Mass. ; Mary E. (Mrs. George ie 
bull); Isabella R. (deceased); Jessie (Mrs. Dr. A. 

*. Abrams, of Hartford, Conn. ye "and Eliza“, 
(Mrs. G. N. Banker, of Duanesburgh). Mr. Davis 

has for some years lived the quiet and honored life 
of a retired clergyman. 

Rey. Davip B. Hatt, of Duanesburgh, was born 
March 16, 1812, at Middl le Granville, W ashington 
County, N. Y. He spent two years in study at 
Burr Seminary at Manchester, Vt., and four years 
at Union agate Schenectady, where he gradu- 
ated in 1839. He studied theology at Princeton 
Theological Seminary, Princeton, N. J., and was 
ordained to preach the Gospel by the Association 
of Pawlet, Vt. He has labored with success in 
several churches in connection with the Reformed 
Dutch Church of America, among them the Re- 
formed Dutch Church of Princetown, Schenectady 
County, of which he was pastor several years. He 
was many years compiling an elaborate genealogy 
of the Hali family of New England: which has re- 
sulted in a creditable work of 800 large octavo 
pages, and containing many valuable portraits. 
He was married April 14, 185 6-46 Jane: Eliza, 
daughter of Mulford and Rosatina (Hitchcock) 
Dayt ton, of Middle Granville, N. ¥Y. His children, 
born in Princetown, are Mary Jane, born August 
31, 1857; Sarah E. D., born October 11, 1862; 
and Hattie E. M., born April 15, 1868. 

SaMUEL Brown, an old and respected citizen of 
the town, was born in Saratoga County in 1807. 
His parents were Daniel and Louisa (Palmer) 
Brown, his father a native of Saratoga County, and 
his mother of Stockbridge, Mass. Samuel was the 
second of a family of five children. He married 
Jane, daughter of William Rose, of Saratoga 
County, and has one son, named Samuel, living at 
home. He owns a farm of sixty-five acres, pur- 
chased of William I. McIntosh. 

Witi1am CHapwick is a representative farmer. 
He was born in Rensselaerville, Albany County, a 
son of John Chadwick and a grandson of Aaron 
Chadwick, who was originally from Cape Cod, 
Mass., where his ancestors located as emigrants 
from England in the days of the old Cape Cod 
Colony. Locating for a time in Dutchess County, 
Aaron Chadwick removed to Otsego County, and 
soon afterward to Albany County. John Chad- 
wick, his youngest child, married Ann, daughter 
of Caleb Spencer, of Westerloo, and had five sons: 
Henry (deceased); Aaron; William, who married 

Martha, daughter of Joel Moore, of Duanesbugh; 
E. Spencer, a merchant at St. Paul, Nebraska, 
where he was a pioneer; and Thomas R. , a farmer 
near Rensselaerville, Albany County. 

Joux O. Becker has been a resident of Duanes- 
burgh since 1862. He was born in Sharon, 
Senge County, June 20, 1824, a son of David 
and Elizabeth (Bellinger) Becker, both natives of 
the town of Middlebury, N. Y., he of the second 
generation from Holland and she of German 
ancestry, their parents having been among the first 
settlers of Middlebury, where they lived in the wilder- 
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170 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

ness during the most perilous period of the revolu- 
tion, subjected to the many hardships of those 
times which tried men’s souls. John O. Becker 
left home at about the age of fourteen, alone and 
penniless. He found employment for a time on 
public works at Fort Plain, and, accumulating 
some means, purchased property in Florida, Mont- 
gomery County, where he lived until his removal 
to Duanesburgh. In 1843 he married Margaret 
Cooley. She died in 1844, leaving a son, David. 

In 1847 Mr. Becker married Sophia Casey, now 
deceased. David Becker married Miss Melissa 
Levey, of Mariaville, and has a son and a daugh- 
ter. 

Lury Parrerson, the founder of Pattersonville, 
was born in Duanesburgh, in 1812, and died 
February 19, 1881. He married Adeline Mont- 
gomery and she bore him five children, as follows : 
Alexander, a resident of Amsterdam, N. Y.; Will- 
iam H. Patterson, of Pattersonville; Lina (Mrs. 
S. L. Marlett); Clara (deceased); and Frances 
(wife of J. W. Olney, who is connected with the 
West Shore Railway). He located at the little 
hamlet which now bears his name, in 1856, and 
bought the John T. Hoffman property. A man 
of energy and enterprise, he was instrumental in 
establishing a post-office at that point, and he soon 
erected a store, hotel and several dwellings, and 
opened quite an extensive trade. He was Super- 
visor of the town, and took an active interest in 
all public affairs. His son, William H. Patterson, 
began trade in 1884, his building and stock are new 
and fresh, and he isa prominent business man. He 
married Gertrude Wiley, who died, leaving two 
children named Harriet and Seely. Bina Brad- 
ford was his second wife, and died without issue. 
His present wife was Gertrude O. Dickerman, by 
whom he has a son, Freeman M. 

JosrpuH Green, of Green’s Corners, represents 
one of the old families of the town, Robert Green 
and John Manning, his brother-in-law, having 
located at the Corners about 1780. ‘They came 
from Dutchess County. Sarah Manning 
Robert Green’s wife. She bore him six sons, five 
of whom lived to advanced age. John M. Green 
was their second son, born August I1, 1792, on 
the homestead at Green’s Corners. He married 
Mary, daughter of Philip Radley, an early settler in 
Montgomery County, and located on a farm 
adjoining the homestead and there lived until 
December 16, 1883, when he died. He had two 
children, Susannah (deceased) and Joseph, who 
owns both his father’s and grandfather's homesteads, 
aggregating 235 acres, He married Janet, daughter 
of Williant Lendrum, of Duanesburgh, and they 
have one son, John. 

James Frost, Sr., was born in Easton, Washing- 
ton County, N. Y., in 1783, and when a boy came 
with his father’s family to Duanesburgh. His 
father, Lot Frost, came to the town soon enough 
to be placed in the catalogue of the earlier settlers. 
The boy, taking naturally to books and scientific 
knowledge, educated himself, and for a time wasa 
schoolmaster. In the meantime he had become 

was | 

, Tolland County, Conn., 

an expert Seen and, in connection with the 
able surveyor Zoller, he made numerous important 
surveys. He was the engineer of the Albany and 
Susquehanna Railroad : made many valuable and 
extensive surveys in Albany, Schenectady, Scho- 
harie, Franklin and Montgomery Counties, N. Y.; 
and laid out the City of Elizabeth, N. He 
married Mary, daughter of Major Marsh, and had 
five sons and five ‘daughters, three of whom are 

now living-: General D. M. Frost, of St. Louis, 
who served the Confederate cause during the re- 
bellion; Mrs. Daniel Yost, of Fort Plain; and 
Miss M. Louisa Frost, of Mariaville 

The late Doctor JosepH Braman came from 
to Esperance in 1811, and 

from Esperance in 1814 to Duanesburgh. He was 

ason of Joseph and Anna (Jenks) ‘Bram. the 
former of whom was born in 1760 and the latter in 
1764. Their children were born in the following 
order: Bartimeus, 1786; Isaac, 1788; Fanny, 
1790; Joseph, 1792; Betsey, 1795; Sophia, 1797; 
Orsamus, 1799; Ephraim, 1801; John J., 1803; 
Aurora, 1806; and Orrin, 18c8. Dr. Joseph Bra- 
man came of age in 1813, at which time he 
was made a Mason. He taught school and read 
medicine, and for many years was a leading 
physician and citizen. He died March 24, 188 
He was twice married, first to Rachel Shute, and 
second to Catharine Stewart. Their children were 
born as follows: Catharine, 1816; Elvira, 1818; 
Emma, 1322; Mariette, 1825; Delos, 1829; and 
Harriet, 1833. Doctor Delos Braman graduated 
from the Albany Medical College in 1852. He 
practiced his profession three years with his father, 
in Duanesburgh, and twenty years in the West, when 
he returned to Duanesburgh, In 1859 he mar- 
ried Miss Agnes Tanner, of Wisconsin. They 
have two children, named ‘Anna and Joseph. 

COLONEL JOHN 2D: WOOD. 

This well known gentleman, who has been a 
life-long resident of Duanesburgh, is a son of 
Doctor John Wood, who was an early and 
highly esteemed physician and surgeon in this sec- 
tion. Doctor Wood was the oldest son of Benja- 
min Wood, once a farmer in Wright, Schoharie 
County, who settled there in 1789, married a Miss 
Tygert, and had nine scns and three daughters. 
He studied medicine with Doctor Williams, in 
Knox, Albany County, and came to Duanesburgh 
about 1808, locating on the turnpike near the 
present residence of I. R. T. Wood, and beginning 
the practice of his profession in partnership with ~ 
Doctor Peter Delamater. ‘This association was dis- 
solved a year or two later, Doctor Wood continu- 
ing his practice alone and enjoying an extensive 
patronage for about forty years. He married 
Martha, daughter of Robert Dennison, of Knox, 
Albany County, who was anative of Mystic, Conn. 
She bore him eleven children. Of these, Eun‘ce 
died April 1, 1831; Datus died February 12, 1817 
E. Darwin died April 23, 1840; Edwin died 
August 24, 1843; Robert died January 28, 1846; 
Benjamin F., a merchant at Duanesburgh Corners, 
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THE TOWNSHIP OF DUANESBURGH. ara 

a fin ret 
COLONEL, JACOB. J.. DE FOREST. near the old homestead, and at Fsperance, N. Y., 

died May 11, 1882, aged seventy-one years; Ada 
L. is Mrs. Brice Jarvis, of Duanesbergh; Angeline L. 
is Mrs. William E. Knight, of Binghamton, N. Y.; 
another daughter is Mrs. Henry Sherburne, of Es- 
perance, N. Y.; Isaac’R. T., who lives on the old 
homestead, married Clarissa M. Shoudy, of Guil- 
derland, and has ason named Edwin; and John D, 
is a farmer, whose possessions adjoin the old home- 
stead. The latter, whose name heads this sketch 
and whose portrait appears in this work, was 
Colonel of the 188th Regiment New York State 
Militia, succeeding Colonel Allen, and was formerly 
one of the best known and most popular of the old 
time military officers. His regiment was disbanded 
in 1835. Advanced in years, he lives a quiet and 
retired life. His friends are many and his friend- 
ships have been accounted hearty and helpful. 
His interest in the welfare and prosperity of the 
town has been earnest and unflagging, and all 
measures promising the enhancement of the pubiic 
weal have ever received his willing and sub- 
stantial support. The Wood estate comprises 240 
acres. 

The De Forest family, who were of Huguenot 
descent, came to America about the year 1620 
and located on Long Island. ‘There were three 
brothers, one of whom went to New England, 
one to Western New York, and one located in 
Greenbush, opposite Albany. From the latter 
branch Mr. Jacob J. De Forest, of Duanes- 
burgh, is descended. His grandfather, Jacob De 
Forest, came from Greenbush to Duanesburgh 
about 1780, and moved to Schenectady late in life 
and died there. His sons were named Jacob, 
Obediah L., Martin, John,and James. Jacob, the 
eldest, born October 23, 1797, married Anna 
Schermerhorn, born August 14, 1799. They had 
twelve children, of whom Jacob J. De Forest was the 
first born, October 10, 1820. Mr. De Forest died 
June 19, 1882, and his wife April 27, 1851. Jacob 
J. De Forest was born at the old Schuylenberg 
mansion, the birth-place of his mother and for two 
hundred years the homestead of his grandfather's 
family, about a mile south of Schenectady. He was 
educated at,the Schenectady Lyceum, under the 
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tutelage of Rev. Dr. Huntington. He taught a 
winter term of school in Rotterdam, and afterward 
apprenticed himself to learn the carpenter trade 
with James A. Van Vorst, then a prominent car- 
penter and builder of Schenectady. His ap- 
prenticeship concluded in 1844, and in 1845 he re- 

moved to Albany and engaged in contracting and 
building on his own account, continuing success- 
fully tll 1851, in the meantime erecting many large 
buildings and business blocks. In 1851 he formed 
a copartnership with R. _J...Patten and Benjamin 
Myers, under the firm name of De Forest, Patten 
& Co., and leased the Kenwood saw-mills and 

opened a lumber yard at the corner of Columbia 
and Quay streets, at the extreme southern point of 
the old lumber district. The firm did a large busi- 
ness until the expiration of the term of their co- 
partnership in 1858, when Mr. De Forest retired 
from active business. 

Mr. De Forest had long had a liking for military 
life. December 28, 1855, he was commissioned 
Engineer of the Twenty-fifth Regiment of the 
Eleventh Brigade, Third Division of the Militia of 
the State of New York. July 1, 1856, he was pro- 
moted to be the Engineer of the Fleventh Brigade. 
June 9, 1858, he was commissioned Inspector 
of the Eleventh Brigade, which position he 
held until the outbreak of the rebellion. In 
April, 1861, he was placed in charge of the 
old Adams House recruiting rendezvous in 
Albany, and served there until the following 
August, during which time the first thirty volunteer 
regiments of the State were recruited and organized. 
During the month last mentioned he was ordered 
to repair to Oswego, and there organize a regiment 
which was designated as the Eighty-first Regiment 
New York Volunteers, and of which he was elected 
colonel by unanimous vote; but, in deference to 
Colonel Edwin Rose, of Long Island, he withdrew 
in the latter's favor. February 19, 1862, he was 
commissioned lieutenant-colonel of the regiment 
with rank from December 2oth preceding, when the 
regiment was mustered into the United States ser- 
vice. July 19, 1862, he was promoted to the col- 
onelcy of the regiment, with rank from July 7th. 

The regiment ‘formed a part of the Fourth Corps 
of the Army of the Peninsular, under command of 
General Keyes, and participated in all of the ser- 
vice incident to McClellan’s Peninsular Campaign. 
At the battle of Fair Oaks, May 31, 1862, Lieuten- 
ant-Colonel De Forest, at the time temporarily in 
command of the regiment, was shot through the 
left lung. He was sent to the Douglas Hospital at 
W; ashington, and when he became convalescent was 
granted a furlough to return home. He recovered 
his health in a measure and rejoined his comrades 
September 1, 1862. Qn the 5th day of that month 
he was mustered as colonel of his regiment under 
authority of his commission previously issued as 
above mentioned. About January 1, 1863, the 
command to which the Eighty-first Regiment was 
attached was ordered into North Carolina and took 
part in the active service which followed in that 
section. Thence the command was sent to Beau- 
fort, South Carolina, and attached to the command 

| 

| of General Hunter. March 30th a reorganization of 
the forces was effected, preparatory to ‘the siege of 
Charleston, under which Colonel De Forest was 
placed in command of the Second Brigade of 
Heckman’s Division, Eighteenth Army Corps, 
After the conclusion of that unsuccessful attempt 
against the Confederate stronghold, the Union forces 
gathered in the vicinity were ordered to Morehead 
City, N. C., where the Eighty-first Regiment and 
other troops did garrison duty until late in the fall. 
During this interim, Colonel De Forest was placed 
in command of the sub-district of Beaufort. The 
forces there were sent to Fortress Monroe, and the 
Eighty-first Regiment and a company of cavalry 
were ordered by General Benj. F. Butler to North- 
west Landing, Va., where they were engaged in a 
desultory warfare with guerillas until April 1, 1864, 
when the regiment returned home on veteran fur- 
lough, having re-enlisted for three vears, at the ex- 
piration of which it joined Grant's army and _ par- 
ticipated in all of the campaigns, from the battle of 
Cold Harbor (June rst, 2d and 3d) until the close 

of the war. In the memorable and bloody engage- 
ment just mentioned, the Eighty-first Regiment was 
literally cut up, no less than seven out of nine of 
the company commanders falling in the fight, and 
Colonel De Forest having several hairbreadth es- 
capes. On account of disability, arising from his 
old wound, the Colonel was Sent to Point of Rocks 
Hospital, near Petersburgh, Va., and thence to the 
Annapolis (Md. ) Hospital, pit he remained until 
he was mustered out of service on the ist of Sep- 
tember, 1864, the lieutenant-colonel commanding 
the regiment until the close of the war. 

Since the rebellion, Colonel De Forest has liveda 
quiet life on his farm in Duanesburgh, broken only 
by service at times in the census bureau, taking 
a deep, but not active, interest in politics, and 
doing his share in developing the resources of his 
town. He has been three times married, and has 
seven children living. He has always been inter- 
ested in educational questions and has done much 
to advance the standard of the schools of Duanes- 
burgh and elsewhere, At one time, in association 
with the late Hon. Horace Greeley and others, he 
was a trustee of the People’s Coilege, at Ovid, N. Y. 

CIVIL HISTORY. 

Duanesburgh, named in honor of James Duane, 
its principal proprietor, was erected as a township 
by patent, March 13, 1765. It was first joined 
with Schoharie under the title of the United District 
of Duanesburgh and Schoharie. It was made a 
separate district March 24, and recognized 
as a town March 22, 1788. 

It is to be regretted that the loss of the town rec- 
ords by fire, about 1830, prevents the introduc- 
tion of many interesting extracts from the early 
books. The first record of an annual town meet- 
ing extant is that of the year 1832; but we are en- 
abled to present the names of all the Supervisors 
since the organization of the Board of Supervisors 
of the county of Schenectady. 

SUPERVISORS FROM 180g fro 1831.—1809, Will- 
iam North; 1810, John Young; 1811, John 
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THE FOWNSHIP, OF DUANESBURGH. %3 

Brown; 1812, John Brown; 1813, James Cantley; 
1814, James Cantley; 1815, James Cantley; 1816, 
James Cantley; 1817, James Cantley; 1518, James 
Cantley; 1819, Lewis Eaton; 1820, James Cant- 
ley; 1821, James Cantley; 1822, James Cantley; 
1823, Joseph Gaige; 1824, William A. S. North; 
1825, William A. S. North; 1826, Benjamin S. 
Knight; 1827, Benjamin S. Knight; 1825, Ebene- 
zer Kniblae; 1829, Joseph Gaige; 1830, Joseph 
Gaige; 1831, Joseph Gaige. 

CIVIL LIST. 

Following is a civil list for the town of Duanes- 
burgh from 1832 to 1885 inclusive : 

18832,.—Joseph Gaige, Supervisor; 
Town Clerk; John Herrick, Jonathan Jones, James Gale, As- 
sessors; Job ‘Cleveland, John Herrick, Justices of the Peace; 
John Victory, Henry Slawson, Abram Durtee, Commissioners 
of Highways; John Wood, Abram Durfee, Overseers of the 
Poor; John B. Duane, David Wing, James Stewart, Commis- 
sioners of Common Schools; Jacob Tatterson, Thomas 
Knight, Joseph Braman, Inspectors of Common Schools; 
Matthew Putnam, Collector; William B. Abell, Matthew 
Putnam, Joel J. Smith, Constables. 

18383.—David Wing, Supervisor; Job Cleveland, Justice 
of the Peace; Thomas Knight, Town Clerk; Jonathan, Jones, 
Ebenezer Frisbee, Abram Durtee, Assessors; John Victory, 
Henry Slawson, Abram Durfee, Commissioners of High- 
ways; John W ood, Abram Durtee, Overseers of the Poor; 
Matthew Putnam, Collector; Joseph Braman, Benjamin F. 
Wood, Jacob Patterson, Commissioners of Common Schools; 
Ichabod W. Briggs, Thomas Knight, Nathaniel J. Herrick, 
Inspectors of Schools; Matthew Putnam, William B. Abell, 
Joseph Rider, Constables. 

1834,—Thomas Knight, Supervisor; John Titus, Justice 
of the Peace: Benjamin F. Wood, Town Clerk; Ebenezer 
Foster, Jonathan Jones, Perry T. Briggs, Assessors: Henry 
Wiltse, Collector; John Victory, Henry Slawson, Abram 
Durfee, Commissioners of Highways; John Wood, Roderick 
Frisbee, Overseers of the Poor; Joseph Braman, John Wood, 
Jacob Patterson, Commissioners of Common Schools; John 
Banks, M. R. Case, Ichabod W. Briggs, Inspectors of 
Common Schools; Nathaniel J. Herrick, Matthew Putnam, 
Oliver D. Briggs, Constables. 

1885.—Thomas knight, Supervisor; John F. Vedder, 
Justice of the Peace: Benjamin F. Wood, Town Clerk; 
Ebenezer Foster, Jonathan Jones, Kirby Wilber, Assessors: 
Hebron W. Briggs, Collector; Lemuel Ladd, James Herrick, 
Abram Durfee, Commissioners of Highways; ; John Wood, 
Abram Darlee, Overseers of the Poor: Joseph 3raman, 
John Wood, Jacob Patterson, Commissioners of Common 
Schools; N. ye Errick, Benjamin F. Wood, I. W. Briggs, 
Commissioners of Common Schools; I. W. Briggs, R. H. 
Wood, M. R. Case, Constables. 

1836.—Thomas Knight, Supervisor; Benjamin F. Wood, 
Town Clerk; Nathanicl J. Herrick, Ira Avery, John A. 
Van Pelt, Justices of the Peace: Thomas W. Patterson, 
James Herrick, Abram Durfee, Commissioners of Highways; 
John Wood, Abram Durfee, Overseers of the Poor; John 
Smith, Collector; John Wood, Joseph eae Jacob Pat- 
terson, Commissioners of Common Schools: Benjamin F. 
Wood, R. P. U. Wilber, Ichabod W. Brigys, Inspectors of 
Common Schools; Oliver P. Dorn, Reuben HH. Wood, 
Stephen Griffith, Jr., [lebron W. Briggs, Constables 

1837.—Marvin Strong, Supervisor; Jolin A. Van Pelt, 
Justice of the Peace; Benjamin F. Wood, Town Clerk; 
Roderick Frisbee, James Herrick, James Gale, Assessors; 
Peter Soule, Collector: John Wood, Ira Avery, Overseers 
of the Poor; John Victory, James Herrick, Perry T. Briygs, 
Commissioners of Highways; Silas Hf. Marsh, Jacob Pat- 
terson, Thomas Knight, Commissioners o. Common Schools; 
B. F. Wood, JPB: Duane, Peter Carpenter, Inspectors of 
Common Schools: James I. Harris, Jonathan R. ‘Tiffany, 
John Murray, Constables. 

1838.—Marvin Strong, Supervisor: Benjamin F. Wood, 
Town Clerk; Matthew H. Rector, Justice of the Peace; 

Thomas Knight, 

Roderick Frisbee, Perry T. Briggs, James Herrick, Assess- 
ors: Peter Soule, Collector; John Wood, William A. S. 
North, Overseers of the Poor; ; Kirby W ilber, James Herrick, 

Jacob A. Radley, Commissioners of Hi ghw ays; Joseph 
Braman, Jacob Patterson, Thomas Knight, Commissioners 
of Common Schools; John Lb. Duane, Benjamin I’. Wood, 
Abram Conklin, Inspectors of Schools; John Murray, Jon- 
athan R. Tiffany, Bradford Bailey, Constables. 

1839.—Marvin Strong, Supervisor; Benjamin F. Wood, 
Town Clerk; James Herrick, Ira Avery, Justices of the 
Peace; Ebenezer Frisbee, James Herrick, Perry T. Briggs, 
Assessors; Jonathan R. Tittany, Collector ; John Wood, 

Abram Durtee, Overseers of the Poor; John Shute, William 
Conklin, Abram Durfee, Commissioners of Highways; 
Thomas Knight, Job Cleveland: Wm. A. S. North, Com- 
missioners of Common Schools; Nathaniel Mead, Abram 
Conklin, Jonathan R. Tiffany, Inspectors of Common 
Schools: Jonathan R. Tiffany, Peter Simmons, Constables. 

840.—Benjamin F. Wood, Supervisor: Abraham Conk- 
lin, Town Clerk; Bradford Baily, Ira Avery, Justices of the 
Peace: John Herrick, Kirby Wilber, Henry Dutcher, As- 
sessors; James Herrick, Perry T. Briggs, William Conk- 

lin, Commissioners of Highways; John Wood, Abram 
Durfee, Overseers of the ‘Poor: William A. S. North, 
Thomas Knight, Jacob Patterson, Commissioners of Com: 
mon Schools: John H. Salisbury, Frederick Delami iter, 
Nathaniel Mead, Inspectors of Common Schools James 
Tullock, Collector; Peter Simmons, Thomas Tullock, J. R. 
Tiffany, Constables. 

1841.—Benjamin F. Wood, Supervisor; Marvin Strong, 
Justice of the Peace; Abraham Conklin, Town Clerk: Perry 

Ale Briggs, George ioe Cady, Roderick Frisbee, Assessors; 
John Sinith, Collector; John W ood, Abraham Durfee, Over- 
seers ot the Poor; ‘Abram Durfee, John Tullock, William 
Conklin, Commissioners of Highways; Job C leveland, Thos. 
Koight, Joseph Braman, Commissioners of Common Schools; 
Nathaniel Mead, Frederick Delamater, Thomas N. Beebe, 
Inspectors of Common Schools; Peter Simmons, V. Tomp- 
kins, J. N. Tiffany, Constables. 

1849 ,—Benjamin F. Wood, Supervisor; Job Cleveland, 
Justice of the Peace: Abraham Conklin, Town Clerk: Perry 
T. Briggs, Matthew H. Rector, Roderick Frisbee, Assessors; 
Paris P hillips, Collector; John Wood, Abraham Durfee, Over- 
seers of the Poor; George Conklin, Joseph Eggleston, Benja- 
min Briggs, Commissioners of Hizhways; “Tob Cleveland, 
Thomas Knight, Joseph Braman, Commissioners of Common 
Schools; Frederick Delamater, Thomas N. Beebe, Inspectors 
of Common Schools; Stephen Hyser, George Conklin, \ 
Tompkins, Constables. 

18438.—Perry T. Briggs, Supervisor; Abraham Conklin, 
‘Town Clerk; Ira Avery, Justice of the Peace; Truman Case, 
George E. Cady, Elisha Chapman, Jr., Assessors; Adam 
Cole, Collector: John Wood, George Lockwood, Overseers 
of the Poor; Benjamin James, Alonzo Ladd, Abraham 
Durfee, Commissioners of Highways; Job Cleveland, Thomas 
Knight, Joseph Braman, Commissioners of Common Schools; 
Benjamin F. Wood, Thomas N. Beebe, Inspectors of Com- 
mon Schools; Joseph Braman, Bradford Bailey. James Frost. 
Truman Case, Matthew H. Rector, Caleb H. Carpenter, 
Inspectors of Election; George Conklin, V. Tompkins, Ben- 
jamin Briggs, J. R. Tiffany, Constables. 

1844,—Thoimas Knight, Supervisor; Abraham Conklin, 
Town Clerk; George Conklin, Collector: Bradford Bailey, 
Justice of the Peace; Benjamin F. Wood, Town Superintend- 
ent of Schools; John I. Lawyer, Benjamin Jones, Alonzo 
Ladd, Commissioners of Highways; John Wood, Georg 
Lockwood, Overseers of the Poor; Jos seph Braman, Nath aniel 
ule Herrick, James Frost, John I. Tawyer, Matthew H. Rec- 
tor, David E. Wing, Inspectors of Election; George Conklin, 
John Chilson, John. S. Ladd, Constables. 

1845,—Thomas Knight, Supervisor; John LD. Wood, 
Town Clerk; Marvin Strong, John Robison, Justices of the 
Peace; Jacob Patterson, Town Supcrintendent of Schools; 
Jacob Were Joseph Eggleston, James Lendrum, Assessors; 
Stephen V. Gaige, Collector; Isaac Li. Gaige, James Tullock 

2d, Johannes Houghtaling, Commissioners of Highways: 
John Wood, Isracl k. Green, Overseers ot the Poor; Bradiord 
Bailey, Isracl RK. Green, Alonzo Ladd, Daniel T. Hoag, 

Matthew H. Rector, John S. Van Aernam, Inspectors of 
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Election; Miles Lester, George Conklin, Reuben T. McIn- 
tosh, Constables. 

1846.—Thomas Knight, Supervisor; John D. Wood, 
Town Clerk; Marvin Strong, John Robison, Justices ef the 
Peace; Jacob Patterson, Town Superintendent of Schools; 
Jacob White, Joseph Eggleston, James Lendrum, Assessors; 
Stephen V. Gaige, Collector; Isaac I. Gaige, James Tullock 
2d, Johannes Houchtaling, Commissioners of Highways; 
John Wood, Israel R. Green, Overseers of the Poor; Bradford 
Bailey, Israel R. Green, Alonzo Ladd, Daniel T. Hoag, 
Matthew H. Rector, John S. Van Aernam, Inspectors of 
Election; Miles Lester, George Conklin, Reuben T. McIn- 
tosh, Constables. 

1847 .—Abraham Conklin, Supervisor; Matthew H. 
Rector, Benjamin F. Wood, Justices of the Peace; William E. 
Knight, Town Clerk; Jacob Patterson, Town Superintendent 
of Schools; Joseph Bennett, Assessor; Benjamin Jones, 
Alonzo Ladd, Simon S. Vedder, Commissioners of High- 
ways; Job J. Williams, Collector; John Wood, Joseph Bra- 
man, Overseers of the Poor; Charles Mosher, John Smith, 
Constables; James Kearns, William Ladd, John Smith, Sen- 
eca Enders, Paul White, Peter H. Hallenbeck, Inspectors of 
Election. 

1848.— Abraham Conklin, Supervisor; William E. 
Knight, Town Clerk: Bradford Bailey, Justice of the Peace; 
Wilham H. Morey, David Griffith, Assessors; James Tullock, 
Jr., Commissioner of Highways; Charles Frisbee, Town Su- 
perintendent of Schools; Joseph Braman, Jacob White, Over- 
seers of the Poor; Nathan J. Cornell, Collector; Charles T. 
Mosher, Nathan J. Cornell, Constables; Nathaniel |. Herrick, 
James Lester, Peter Overbaugh, Perry T. Briggs, Seneca 
Enders, Benjamin Sheldon, Inspectors of Election. 

1849 ,—Abraham Conklin, Supervisor; Job Cleveland, 
Benjamin F. Wood, Justices of the Peace; William E. Knight, 
Town Clerk; William H. Morey, Assessor; Alonzo Ladd, 
Commissioner of Highways; John Wood, Ira Bennett, Over- 
seers of the Poor; John G. Smith, Collector; Charles T. 
Mosher, Delos Sloan, John Bailey, Constables; Charles L, 
Tullock, William Ladd, Charles A. Frisbee, lester Mott, 
Joseph D. Head, Hiram P. Allen, Inspectors of Election. 

1850.—Alexander Liddell, Jr., Supervisor; Alonzo Mc- 
Comber, Justice of the Peace ; Alonzo Ladd, ‘Town Clerk; 
John G. Smith, Collector ; William Conklin, Assessor ; 
Janes R. Crawford, Town Superintendent of Schools ; 
Nathaniel C. Jenkins, John Ladd, Overseers of the Poor ; 
Simon S. Vedder, Commissioner of Highways; James 
Kearns, William Ladd, Charles Tullock, Miles Lester, Ad- 
dison Wilber, William Hunt, Inspectors of Election ; Griffin 
Whipple, Nathan J. Cornell, Charles T. Mosher, Delos 
Sloan, Miles Lester, Constables. 

- 1851,—Alexander Liddell, Jr., Supervisor; Griffin Whip- 
ple, Town Clerk; John W. Head, Justice of the Peace ; 
David Griffith, Assessor ; James Tullock, Jr., Commissioner 
of Highways; Nathaniel C. Jenkins, John Ladd Jr., Over- 
seers of the Poor; Asa Hurd, Collector; William Ladd, 
Thomas Black, Charles S. Tullock, Matthew H. Rector, 
William Whipple, Lester Mott, Inspectors of Election ; 
Stephen H. Abell, Benjamin Wilber, Griffin Whipple, Delos 
Sloan, Constables. 

852.—Alonzo Ladd, Supervisor; Griffin Whipple; Town 
Clerk ; Nathaniel J. Herrick, Justice of the Peace: Hugh 
H. McMillan, Assessor ; William B. Dorn, Commissioner of 
Highways; Alanson Lester, Superintendent of Schools; 
Asa Hurd, Collector , N. C. Jenkins, John Ladd, Overseers 
of the Poor ; James Lendrum, Charles S. Tullock, James 
Murray, Simon S. Kidder, William E. Knight, Samuel Win- 
gate, Inspectors of Election; David Hughes, John G. 
smith, Griffin Whipple, George P. Cramer, Constables. 

1858,—Alonzo Ladd, Supervisor; Orlando Root, Town 
Clerk ; Benjamin F. Wood, Justice of the Peace ; William 
Conklin, Assessor ; Perry T. Briggs, Commissioner of High- 
ways: Nathaniel C. Jenkins, John Ladd, Overseers of the 
Poor; Asa Hurd, Collector; Benjamin Vaa Deusen, 
Charles S. Tullock, Charles Cady, William Young, David N. 
Mericle, George Wright, William M. Gaige, Simon S. Ved- 
der, Edwin G. Wilber, Inspectors of Election ; Isaac Ladd, 
David Elughes, Erwin C. N, Miller, Benjamin Wilber, Con- 
stables. 

1854,—James Donnan, Supervisor; Bruce Jarvis, ‘own 
Clerk ; Alonzo Macomber, Justice of the Peace: Silas 
Tripp, Assessor; Samuel Wingate, Commissoner of High- 
ways; Alanson Lester, Town Superintendent of Schools ; 
Israel R. Green, John D, Wood, Overseers of the Poor; Asa 
Hurd, Collector; Charles S$. Tullock, James Lendrum, 
Ehsha Chapman, Adam Cole, James Love, Stephen Badg- 
ley, Peter Overbaugh, Thomas Biack, David Griffith, In- 
spectors of Election ; Jacob M. Swart, David Hughes, Or- 
lando Root, Eli Mickle, Constables. 

1855,—Alexander Liddell, Jr., Supervisor; J. H. Case, 
Town Clerk ; William B. Dorn, John W. Head, Justices of 
the Peace; Henry Wilber, Collector; Hugh H. McMillan, 
Assessor ; John D. Wood, John Ladd, Overseers of the 
Poor : Henry Mickle, Commissioner of Highways ; Charles 
L. Tullock, George W. Lester William Ladd, H. P. Allen, 
M. R. Victory, David Griffith, James Lendrum, John Mc- 
Dougal, William Young, Inspectors of Election ; Jacob M. 
Swart, Eli Mickle, William Marsh, James I. Harris, Con- 
stables. 

1856.—Angus McIntosh, Supervisor; Orlando Root, 
Town Clerk ; William B. Dorn, Justice of the Peace ; Caleb 
Frisbee, Assessor ; N. C. Jenkins, Commissioner of High- 
ways; John D. Wood, David Griffith, Overseers of the 
Poor ; Asa Hurd, Collector ; Alanson Lester, Superintend 
ent of Common Schools; M. R. Victory, William Young, 
“HP. Allen, C. S. Tullock, Moses C. Avery, John S. Van 
Aernam, William Wells, Ira Marsh, J. Lester Mott, Inspect- 
ors ot Election; Eli Mickle, James Volk, Jesse P. Chamber- 
lain, George Westfall, Constables. 

1857.—Angus McIntosh, Supervisor; James H. Case, 
Town Clerk ; Benjamin F. Wood, Justice of the Peace; 
David Griffith, M. R. Victory, Assessors : John D. Wood, 
Ebenezer Wright, Overseers of the Poor ; Joseph M. Lason, 
Collector ; Samuel Wingate, Commissioner of Highways ; 
T. R. Liddle, Lester Mott, Moses C. Avery, M. R. Victory, 
Charles L. ‘Tullock, Asa Hurd, William Ladd, Ebenezer 
Wright, Hiram P. Allen, Inspectors of Election; Benjamin 
Wilber, Eli Mickle, Constables, 

1858.—Benjamin 7. Wood, Supervisor; Alonzo Macom- 
ber, Justice of the Peace; George Allen, Town Clerk; 
Henry Wright, Asa Hurd, Assessors ; William Wells, Com- 
missioner of Highways; Benjamin Whlber, Collector; 
Ebenezer Wright, Truman Case, Overseers of the Poor: 
M. R, Victory, M. R. Brumoghim, C. L. Tullock, John 
S. Markle, William Ladd, Elisha Chapman, H. P. Allen, 
Hugh H. McMillan, Lewis Hunt, Inspectors of Election; 
Benjamin Wilber, David M. Limmer, James Volk, Smith 
Conner, Constables. 

1859,—William Young, Supervisor; George Allen, Town 
Clerk; John W. Head, Justice of the Peace; Asa Hurd, 
Assessor; Nathaniel C. Jenkins, Commissioner of Highways; 
Richard Walpole, Ebenezer Wright, Overseers of the Poor; 
Charles Slawson, Collector; Peter A. Brumoghim, M. R. 
Victory, Charles L. Tullock, John S. Markle, William 
Ladd, George Priest, Hiram P. Allen, Hugh H. McMillan, 
Lester Mott, Inspectors of Election; Henry Tripp, Adam V. 
Snyder, Benjamin Wilber, John M. Bradt, Isaiah R. Con- 
nor, Constables. 

1860.—Samuel Wingate, Supervisor; Oliver B. Wood, 
Town Clerk; Richard Walpole, Justice of the Peace; John 
McClure, Assessor; Henry G. Herrick, Commissioner of 
flighways; Abraham Devenberg, Ebenezer Wright, Over- 
seers of the Poor; Benjamin Wiltse, Collector; M. R. Vic- 
tory, Peter A. Brumoghim, James W. Waddell, William 
Ladd, John S. Markle, William R. McLean, Hiram P. 
Allen, Ralph W. McDougall, Lewis W. Hunt, Inspectors of 
Election; Benjamin Wilber, Henry Tripp, Constables. 

1861.—Samuel Wingate, Supervisor; John L. Turnbull, 
Town Clerk; John S. Van Aernam, Justice of the Peace; 
Henry Wright, Assessor; James Harvey, Commissioner of 
Highways; Ebenezer Wright, Overseer of the Poor: Ste- 
phen V. Gaige, Collector; M. R. Victory, Peter A. Brum- 
oghim, Wiliam B. Dorn, William Ladd, John S. Markle, 
William R. McLean, Hiram P. Allen, Kalph W. Mc- 
Dougall, Lewis W. Hunt, Inspectors of Election; James A. 
Love, Benjamin Wilber, Heath Markle, Hiram Munger, 
Constables. 
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1862,—Samuel Wingate, Supervisor; John L. Purnbull, 
Town Clerk; Alonzo Macomber, Justice of the Peace; Asa 

Hurd, Assessor: David Griffith, Commissioner of Highways; 
Ebenezer Wright, John Berckley, Overseers of the Poor: 
David V. Wilber, Collector: M. RK. Victory, Peter A. Brum- 
oghim, Bradford Bailey, William Ladd, Stephen Badvley, 
William R. Mclean, Hiram P. Allen, Kalph W. Me- 
Dougall, Lewis W. Iunt, Inspectors of Election; James A. 

Love, Benjamin Wilber, Constables. 
63.—-Samuel Wingate, Supervisor; John L, Turn- 

bull, TPown Clerk; John Liddle, Justice of the Peace; John 
McClure, Assessor; Hugh H. McMillan, Commissioner of 
Highways; Ebenezer Wright, John Berckley, Overseers of 
the Poor; John M. Bradt, Collector: M. R. Victory, Peter 
A. Brumoghim, William B. Dorn, William Iadd, John S. 

Markle, Elisha Chapman, [liram P. Allen, Kalph W. Mc- 
Dougall, Lewis W. Hunt, Inspectors of Election: James A. 
Love, Benjamin Wilber, Constables. 

64,.—Samuel Wingate, Supervisor; John L. Turn- 
bull, Town Clerk: Richard Walpole, Alonzo Ladd, Justices 
of the Peace; Henry Wright, Assessor; James Iarvey, 
Commissioner of Highways; Ebenezer Wright, Cornwell 
W. Bronk, Overseers of the Poor; M. R. Victory, Peter A. 
Brumoghim, Nicholas Smith, Frederick W. Shute, Mott T. 
Sheldon, Thomas R. McClure, Hiram P. Allen, R. W. Me- 
Dougall, Philip J. Fredericks, Inspectors of Election; Ed- 
ward Reynex, Benjamin Wilber, William Marsh, Cornelius 
L. Smith, John M. Bradt, Constables. 

18652 —William Malloch, Supervisor; George Allen, 
Town Clerk; John S. Van Aerman, Justice of the Peace; 
John Turnbull, Assessor; Benjamin F. Rutf, Collector; 
David Griffith, Commissioner of Highways; C. W. Bronk, 
Ebenezer Wright, Overseers of the Poor; M. k. Victory, 
P. A. Brumoghim, Charles [. Tullock, F. W. Shute, Mott 
T. Sheldon, Thomas Kk. McClure, Jacob Tingue, iliram P. 
Allen, Lewis W. Ffunt, Inspectors of Election; John Dean, 
Benjamin Wilber, Edward P. Reynex, Constables. 

1866,—William Malloch, Supervisor; George Allen, 
Town Clerk; Addison Wilber, Justice of the Peace; David 
Griffith, Assessor; Martin Bradt, Collector; Ebenezer 
Wright, Cornell W. Bronk, Overseers of the Poor; M. Rk. 
Victory, James A. Love, Charles L. Tullock, Frederick W. 
Shute, Jacob J. Gardner, Thomas R. McClure. Hiram P. 
Allen, Ralph W. McDougall, Lewis W. Hunt, Inspectors 
of Election; Benjamin Wilber, Silas Gallup, James A. Love, 
Edward P. Keynex, Constables 

1867.—William Malloch, Supervisor; George Allen, 
Town Clerk; Alonzo [.add, Justice of the Peace; Asa 
Hurd, Assessor; Martin Bradt, Collector; John D. Stillwell, 
Commissioner of Highways; Ebenezer Wright, Cornell W. 
Bronk, Overseers of the Poor; M. R. Victory, James A. 
Love, William Conklin, William Ladd, Mott T. Sheldon, 
John W. Head, Hiram P. Allen, Ralph W. McDougall, 
Lewis W. Hunt, Inspectors of Election; Jacob J. Gardner, 
James A. Tallock, Edward P. Keynex, Benjamin Wilber, 
Luke Donohoe, Constables. 

1868.—William Malloch, Supervisor; George Allen, 

Town Clerk; Richard Walpole, Justice of the Peace: John 
Turnbull, Assessor: Richard Hunter, Commissioner of High- 
ways; Daniel W. Bronk, Collector; Jeremiah M. Deys, 
William Wells, Overseers of the Poor; M. R. Victory, Peter 
A. Brumoghim, William B. Dorn, Frederick W. Shute, 
Adam Hunter, John W. Head, Hiram P. Allen, Ralph W, 
McDougall, Duncan R. Coulter, Inspectors of Election; 
Benjamin Wilber, Benjamin Rector, Edward P. Reynex, 
Delas B. Denise, Constables. 

1869,.—William Malloch, Supervisor; George Allen, 
Town Clerk; John 5.Van Aernam, Justice ofthe Peace; David 
Griffith, Assessor; F. W. Shute, Commissioner of High- 
ways; Elias Warner, Collector; Nathaniel C. enkins, Cor- 
nell W. Bronk, Overseers of the Poor; George Lasher, Peter 
A. Brumoghim, William P. Dorn, John Blanchard, Adam 
Hunter, Jr., John W. Elead, Ralph W. McDougall, Hiram 

P. Allen, Lewis W. Hunt, Inspectors of Election; Charles 
Lenwood, Benjamin Wilber, Jacob J. Gardner, Constables. 

1870.—William Malloch, Supervisor; George Allen, 

Town Clerk; Alonzo Macomber, Justice of the Peace; Ste- 
phen H. Abell, Assessor; Abram Devenbery, Commissioner 

Becker, Nathaniel C. Jenkins, Overseers of the Poor: George 
Lasher, Elenry C. McMaster, James Waddell, John C. 
Blanchard, Henry G. Herrick, Clark W. Head, Hiram P. 
Allen, Ralph W. McDougall, Lewis W. Hunt, Inspectors 
ot Election: Edward P. Reynex, John L. Barton, Benjamin 
Wilber, Alonzo Van Patten, Delas B. Denise, Constables. 

1871,.—William Malloch, Supervisor; George Allen, 

C. Jenkins, John O. Becker, Overseers of the Poor; Marcus 
Delamater, Henry P. McMaster, William B. Dorn, Henry G. 

Uerrick, William R. Baird, Ira E. Avery, Hiram P. Allen, 
Ralph W. McDougall, Lewis W. Hunt, Inspectors of 
Election: John L. Barton, Charles A. Lenwood, James Van 
Patten, George Stevens, Constables, 

1872. —Emmett O’ Neill, Supervisor: Hicks W. Sheldon, 
Town Clerk; Richard Walpole, Justice of the Peace: David 
Griffith, Assessor; Henry P. McMaster, Collector; Jesse B. 
Carpenter, Commissioner of Highways: William Weaver, 
John ©. Becker, Overseers of the Poor; Zachariah Smith, 
M. R. Victory, Nicholas Smith, Mott T. Sheldon, Richard 
Hunter, Jr., Jirah Rockwell, Hiram P. Allen, Ralph W. 
McDougall, Lewis W. Hunt, Inspectors of Election; Jonn 
L. Barton, Charles W. Lenwood, James Van Patten, Fli 
Mickel, Constables. 

1873.—Emmett O’ Neill, Supervisor; Hicks W. Sheldon, 
Town Clerk; John S. Van Aernam, Justice of the Peace; 
Eli-ha B. Morse, Assessor; Arthur D. Mead, Collector: 
James W. Waddell, Commissioner of Highways; William 
Weaver, John O. Becker, Overseers of the Poor; Corneli 
W. Bronk, John Buckley, Nicholas Smith, Frederick W. 
Shute, Andrew Hunter, Jirah Rockwell, William Chad- 
wick, Ralph W. McDougall, Lewis W. Hunt, Inspectors of 
Election; John L. Barton, James A. Tripp, Jacob Gardiner, 
George Mickel, Constables. 

1874.—Emmett O'Neill, Supervisor; John L. Turnbull, 
Town Clerk; Alonzo Macomber, George Lasher, Justices ot 
the Peace; Cornell W. Bronk, Assessor: Thomas Hem- 
street, Collector: Spencer Christman, Commissioner of 
Highways; William Weaver, Abram P. Bronk, Overseers 
of the Poor; John H. Markle, John Buckley, George H. 
Love, Joseph C. Wright, John Blanchard, Frank Chapman, 
Ralph W. McDougall, Hiram P. Allen, Lewis W. Hunt, 
Inspectors of Election; James A. Tripp, John L. Barton, 
John C. Gilbert, Eli Mickel, Constables. 

1875.—Arthur D. Mead, Supervisor; Duncan R. Coul- 
ter, Town Clerk: John W. Head, Justice of the Peace; David 
Griffith, Assessor; Peter Smith, Collector; David Durfee, 
Commissioner of Highways; Abram Wemple, John Conklin, 
Overseers of the Poor; Austin Delamater, Nicholas Smith, 
J. H. Love, Ralph W. McDougall, Hiram P. Allen, Lewis 
W. Hunt, William S. Knight, W. G. Sears, Henry G. Fler- 
rick, Inspectors of Election: Eli Mickel, John S. Barton, 
William H. Becker, Constables. 

1876.—George Lasher, Supervisor; W.S. Knight, Town 
Clerk; W. H. Barkhuff, Justice of the Peace; Andrew 
Hunter, Assessor; James W. Waddell, Commissioner of 
Highways; John L. Bronk, Nathaniel C. Jenkins, Over- 
seers of the Poor; Austin Delamater, John H. Marcley, 
George Dennison, Charles B. Carpenter, Charles Liddle, 
Oscar Durfee, John A. McClure, William Chadwick, Lewis 
W. Hunt, Inspectors of Election; William Landers, Col- 
lector; John M. Bradt, Eli Mickel, George W. Patterson, J. 
Chapman, fJirah Rockwell, Constables; Robert N. Durtee, 
(same Constable. 

1877.—Arthur D. Mead, Supervisor; William S- 
Knight, Town Clerk; Chalmers Devenberg, Ralph W. 
McDougall, Justices of the Peace; Nicholas Smith, Assessor; 
John W. Feidler, Commissioner of Highways; Nicholas S. 
Pangburn, Collector; Nathaniel C. Jenkins, John Bronk, 
Overseers of the Poor; George Malloch, George EH. Love, 
Frederick Delamater, William H. Avory, George T. Mc- 
Farland, R. J. Liddle, William Chadwick, A. S. Liddle, 
W. L. Schermerhorn, Inspectors of Election; John M. Bradt, 
Hiram Hliton, Jacob Gardiner, Eli Mickel, Jacob Way- 
goner, Constables; William McMillan, Game Constable; 
John O. Becker, Frederick Shute, A. H. Delavan, Auditors. 

78.—George Lasher, Supervisor; George Mickel, : 2 18 
of Highways; James Hf. Van Patten, Collector; John O. ' Town Clerk: John McClure, Assessor; George Love, Col- 
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lector; Zerah Jenkins, John L. Bronk, Overscers of the Poor; 
David Walpole, John I. Marckley; John Smith, Crlando 
Jones, Zachariah Smith, R. J. Liddle, Abraham Osterhout, 
Elwood Moore, Wiliam L.  Schermerhorn, Inspectors 
of Election; Hf. P. McMaster, Jacob W. Gardiner, Jacob 
Waggoner, George Fellows, Eli Mickel, Constables; Will- 
jam McMillan, Game Constable. 

1879 —John W. Head, Supervisor; George Mickel, 
Town Clerk; James Staly, Assessor; George H. Love, 
Commissioner of Highways; J. W. Head, T. RK. Herrick, 
Justices of the Peace; Martin J. Wilber, Collector; G. D. 
Durfee, John L. Bronk, Overseers of the Poor; Daniel S. 
Pulver, Frederick Delamater, William Bronk, N. S. Pang- 

burn, R. L. Hunter, J. J. Gardiner, William L. Schermer- 
horn, Andrew Harbeck, Elwood Moore, Inspectors of Elec- 
tion; Eli Mickel, J. M. Bradt, Henry McMaster, Jonathan 
Clayton, Jacob Wagvoner, Constables; M. H. Sheldon, 
Game Constable. 

1880.—George Lasher, Supervisor; William L. Scher- 
merhorn, Town Clerk; Cornell W. Bronk, Assessor; John 
W. Feidler, Commissioner of Highways; David W. Wal- 
pole, Justice of the Peace; Robert J. Liddle, Collector; 
Gilbert D. Durfee, John L. Bronk, Overseers of the Poor; 
James Quick, Robert Cullings, David N. Peek, F. W. 
Shute, Orlando Jones, Robert J. Liddle, Andrew Harbeck, 
Elwood Moore, J. M. S. Wilber, Inspectors of Election; 
Henry P. McMaster, Jacob W. Gardner, Jonathan Clayton, 
John L. Barton, John M. Brodt, Constables; William Mc- 
Millan, Game Constable. 

1881.—James W. Waddell, Supervisor; John L. Turn- 
bull, Town Clerk; A. H. Delevan, Assessor; Simon Dare, 
Commissioner of Highways; Lewis A, Wilber, Justice of 
the Peace; Robert J. Liddle, Collector; Eli Hart, John L. 
Bronk, Overseers of the Poor; George Astrander, Henry 
I. Smith, Edward Day, J. J. Gardner, John H. Shute, 
Horace Avery, Abram S. Liddle, William Chadwick, 
Hiram Hilton, Inspectors of Election; Henry McMaster, J. 
J. Gardner, Howard Sperbeck, Abram Ostrander, Con- 
stables; George W. Mickel, Game Constable. 

1882.—James W. Waddell, Supervisor; John L. Turn- 
bull, Town Clerk; Jacob D. Patterson, Assessor; George H. 
Love, Commissioner of Highways; John M. Delamater, 
Justice of the Peace; David N. Peek, Collector; John Levy, 
Eli Hart, Overseers of the Poor; Juan Pangburn, John 
Buckley, Edward Deay, John H. Shute, Jay Abbey, Will- 
iam Tiffany, Andrew Harbeck, William ‘Tl. Waddell, J. M. 
Swart Wilber, Inspectors ot Election; John L. Barton, 
Obediah Stillwell, Howard Sperbeck, Newton J. Gardner, 
Constables; William 5, Knight, Game Constable. 

1888.—James W. Waddell, Supervisor; John L. Turn- 
bull, Town Clerk; Nicholas Smith, Assessor; William 
Chadwick, Commissioner of Highways; Frederick W. 
Shute, Justice of the Peace: Stephen Pratt White, Col- 
lector; John Levy, Charles B. Carpenter, Overseers of the 
Poor; John Green, Marshall Wilkinson, John W. Smith, 
John Hl. Shute, Jay Abbey, Edward T. Liddle, John A, 
McClure, Edward Moore, Darwin E. Mott, Inspectors of 
Election; John L. Barton, Obediah Stillwell, Howard 
Sperbeck, Jacob J. Gardner, Constables; Austin Dela- 
mater, Game Constable. 

1884.—John A. McClure, Supervisor; John L. Turn- 
bull, Town Clerk; Spencer Churtman, Assessor; William 
Tiffany, Commissioner of Highways; David W. Walpole, 
Justice of the Peace; Robert J. Liddle, Collector; Charles 
B. Carpenter, John Levy, Oversee:s of the Poor; John 
Turnbull, James Wells, Daniel Pulver, John H. Shute, Jay 
Abbey, Horace Avery, Elwood Moore, William T. Wad- 
dell, J. M. Swart Wilber, Inspectors of Election: John L. 
Barton, James Durfee, Obediah Stillwell, Jacob J. Gardner, 
William Levy, Jr., Constables; William McMillan, Game 
Constable. 

1885.—John A. McClure, Supervisor ; John L. Turn- 
bull, Town Clerk ; Jacob D. Patterson, Assessor ; William 
D. McMillan, Commissioner of Highways; T. Romyne 
Herrick, Justice of the Peace ; Robert J. Liddle, Collector: 
Charles B. Carpenter, John Levy, Overseers of the Poor ; 
Jethro Rockwell, “heodore Vandescar, David N. Peck, Jay 
Abbey, John EH. Shute, William Avery, William T. Waddel, 
Elwood Moore, J. M. Swart Wilber, Inspectors of Election ; 

> 

James Durfee, Augustus Taber, Edward Montanye, John 
Stebbins, Constables ; William McMillan, Game Constable. 

EDUCATIONAL STATISTICS. 

The whole number of schools in this town is twenty-two. 
There are, besides, three joint districts—that is, districts 
partly in Duanesburgh and partly beyond the town limits, 
with school-houses beyond the lines. Two of the joint dis- 
tricts extend into Montgomery County, and one into Scho- 
harie County. The amount of State money appropriated 
to the schools of Duanesburgh during the last fiscal year 
was $2,163.70. The amount raised by district tax was 
$3,359-85 The total was $5,523.55. The number of 
scholars attending school in 1884 was 970. 

CHURCH HISTORY, 

Judge Duane, on his retirement, sought to establish in 
Duanesburgh a home for his declining years. One of his 
first thoughts was for a church. Centre Lot, or Square, 
having failed in its purpose of becoming the center of 
Duanesburgh village, he devoted it to the uses of this church, 
and in its center he built the present house of worship, about 
1792 and 1793. Before the date of its consecration it was 
conveyed to the corporation. At a meeting of the rector 
and inhabitants of the town of Duanesburgh, in communion 
of the Episcopal Church ot said town, on ‘Tuesday, Septem- 
ber 22, 1793, the following instrument respecting the conse- 
cration, entitled ‘‘an act of the founder for consecrating 
Christ’s Church at Duanesburgh,” was laid before the 
vestry. 

“J, James Duane, proprietor of the town of Duanesburgh, 
in the County of Albany, do hereby make known and de- 
clare that the edifice lately erected at the place called 
Centre Square of the said town, and the ground on which 
the said editice is situated, are intended and hereby appro- 
priated for the public worship of Almighty God, according 
to the rites and ceremonies of the Protestant Episcopal 
Church in the State of New York, for which use they shall 
always remain and continue. And that I have requested, 
and do hereby pray the Right Reverend the Bishop of the 
Protestant Episcopal Church in the said State of New York 
to consecrate and set apart the said edince, with the ground 
on which it is erected, by the name of Christ’s Church in 
Duanesburgh, according to the rights and ceremonies of the 
said Protestant Episcopal Church. In Witness,”’ etc. 

(Signed) 

[Seal. ] JAMES DUANE. 

The duplicate of this instrument was publicly delivered 
by Mr. Duane into the hands of the Right Reverend Samuel 
Provost at the chancel of the church, and there read and 
published by the Rev. Mr. Ellison, rector of St. Peter's 
Church, Albany, immediately before the consecration, toa 
large audience, on Sunday, August 25, 1793. There was 
also present, to assist at the service, the Rev. Leonard 
Cutting, minister of the Protestant Episcopal Church, 
Us S. 

The parish evidently had a corporate existence for some 
years previous to 1795, and was in charge of the Rev. Mr. 
Belden. It was admitted to the Convention of the Diocese 
of New York in1789. Under the State law then recently 
passed, action was taken to comply with the new require- 
ments. 

‘“To all people to whom these presents shall come or 
concern: The Rev. David Belden, minister of the Protestant 
Episcopal Church in the ‘Yown of Duanesburgh and County 
of Albany, and William North, James C Duane, Edward 
Cumpston and Joel Thompson of the said town, members 
of the said church, do hereby certify and make known, that 
on the twenty-third day of August, 1795, immediately after 
divine service, they were present and assisted at a meeting 
of the male adult persons of the congregation, or church in 
communion, of the Protestant Episcopal Church in the State 
ot New York, at Christ’s Church in the said Town of Du- 
anesburgh, for the purpose of incorporating themselves 
under the act of the Leyislature of this State, entitled ‘An 
Act for the Relief of the Protestant Episcopal Church in the 
State of New York,’ passed the 17th day otf March, 1795. 
That the said minister presided at the said meeting. That 
William North and James C, Duane, of the said town, were 
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then and there respectively and unanimously elected and 
chosen churchwardens of the said congregation or church; 
and George Wasson, Joel Thompson, Edward Cumpston, 
John Thornton, Jose eph Thompson, Nicholas Righter and 
William Skeels, also of the said town, and John Dorn, of 
Corrysbush, were in like manner respectively and unani- 
mously elected and chosen vestrymen of the said congrega- 
tion or church: and that it was further then and there 
unanimously agreed and determined that on Tuesday in 
Easter week the said offices of churchwardens and vestry- 
men of the said congregation or church shall yearly forever 
hereatter cease, and ‘their successors in office be elected and 
chosen; and, lastly, it was then and there agreed, de- 
termined and declared, that the said congregation or church 
shall forever hereafter be known and recognized in law by 
the name, style or title of the Rector and Inhabitants ot the 
Town of Duanesburgh, in communion of the Protestant 
Episcopal Church in the State of New York. In_ testimony 
whereof, the said David Belden, William North, James C. 
Duane, Edward Cumpston and Joel Thompson have here- 
unto set their hands and scals this twenty-third day of Au- 
gust, in the year of our Lord one thousand seven hundred 
and ninety-five. 

‘Sealed and delivered in presence of us, 

James DUANE,  [SEAL.] 
DAvipd BELDEN, [SEAL. ] 
W. Norris, [SEAL. | 
J.C. Duane, [SEAL. ] 
E. CUMPSTON, [SEAL. ] 
JorL Tomson.” [SEAL. | 

In 1811 a tower and spire was added to the building and 
a few changes were made in the interior. Since then no 
changes have been made. The building has been kept in 
excellent repair, and is the oldest church edifice in the Dio- 
cese of Albany which has preserved its primitive architect- 
ural design, 

Immediately after the consecration of the church, Judge 
Duane, ‘desirous to make some permanent provision tor 
the present and future incumbents of the said church,” pre- 
sented a glebe of eighty acres near the church and parson- 
age. ‘The land thus designated was a part of the farm No. 
116, Subsequently, the heirs of James C. Duane added a 
number of acres, increasing the glebe to its present size 
Judge Duane also contributed materially toward the build- 
ing of the parsonage house, and, at his instigation, the 
vestry applied for further aid to Trinity Church, New York. 
In answer to the request, Trinity Church furnished 300 
pounds tor this purpose. Before any further action was 
taken in the matter, Judge Duane died. It having been 
deemed inadvisable to place the parsonage on the glebe, a 
plot of ground was leased on the western side of the public 
square, at an annual rent equal to the value of five ‘¢Span- 
ish milled silver dollars.” The first parsonave was erected 
on this lot. The present rectory stands in the ylebe, facing 
the turnpike. 
On the 28th of January, 1811, Mary Duane, widow of 

Hon. James Duane, transferred to Robert Troup, of the 
City of Albany, and Peter A. Jay, of the City of New York, 
fifty-three shares of the capital stock of the Merchants’ Bank 
of New York City, its income to be applied toward the uses 
of this parish. At the death of the original trustees, the 
fund was placed in the trust ot the Protestant Episcopal 
Society for the promotion of Kelivion and Learning, the 
present trustee. By wise and judicious management the 
fund has gradually accumulated, and now provides an an- 
nual income equal to nearly twice the amount of the origi- 
nal principal, not a dollar having been lost through bad in- 
vestment or otherwise. October 17, 1845, the heirs of 
Elizabeth North, granddaughter of Hon. James Duane, 
conveyed to the church all’ transferable interests, in fur- 
therance of her wish, in the farm known as lot $5, contain- 
ing 106 acres, occupied by Warren Faller at a perpetual 

rent of $200 a year, to be applicd’t to the needs of this church. 

She had given the rent to the church since S54. It was 
paid regularly until, in 1858, during the anti-rent move- 

ment, the tenant refused to pay longer, and removed from 
the farm all the buildings and such other property as he 
could conveniently secure. Unable to effect an amicable 
settlement of the difficulty, the wardens and vestry insti- 
tuted legal proceedings, which eventually resulted favorably 

to the church. The entire property was finally disposed of 
and the proceeds invested in bond and mortgage. By the 
will of Catharine L. Duane, a fund of $500 was lett in trust, 
its annual income to be divided equally between the Sunday- 
school of Christ’s Church and the Duanesburgh Library 
Association. ‘Phe entire fund was lost by the recent failure 

of Emmet O'Neil. Several small funds obtained by sales ot 
timber are invested, the income from which is applied for 
specific purposes. 

There is no record of the first services held in Duanes- 
burgh, It is probable that the rectors of St. Peter's, Al- 
bany, from 1710 to 1770, officiated when there was need, 
The services of Christ’s Church were, from the first, pro- 
vided for by the parish. The building was erected, the 
organization effected, and all the essentials ap} pertaining to 
a formed parish were provided atthe outset. ‘Lhe measures 
then taken to maintain the services have, during the subse- 
quent history, demonstrated their wisdom and ctticacy, there 
having been no period during the more than ninety years of 
its lite when any difhculty existed in providing the support 
of a rector. 

The first minister after the incorporation under the then 
new State Law was Rev. David Belden. Mr. Belden had 
officiated as a deacon in Duanesburgh tor some time before 
the organization and had presided at the business meetings 
during the formative period. Upon hisadvancement to the 
priesthood he was instituted rector. His official connection 
with the parish is thought to ae ceased in the early part 
of 1797. On the 30th of July, 1798, Rev. Robert G. Wetmore 
was Called to the rectorship, the wardens agreeing ‘‘to be- 
come responsible for the payment of one hundred and thirty 
pounds sterling. * * * and further to find a house for him 
to live in from the time he begin to preach in Duanesburgh.”’ 
The right was reserved on the part of the vestry to make 
such agreement with the church at Schenectady respecting 
Mr. Wetmore’s officiating there as they might deem advis- 
able, provided he should not be obliged to officiate in the 
church at Schenectady oftener than once in three Sundays. 
August 23, 1798, the vestry of Christ’s Church agrecd 

‘to allow, permit and enjoin on the said Robert G. “Wet- 
more to pre each in the Episcopal Church in Schenectady one 
Sunday in three for and through the said year.’? November 
8, 1S00, the vestry having passed a resolution commending 
most highly ‘‘the ‘Rector of Christ’s Church, Duanesburgh, ’ 
for “his zeal, knowledge and integrity,” declared that tno 
deduction of his salary shall be made on account of any 
disability that may take place during the ensuing year.” 
His health beginning to be impaired shortly after, he re- 
mained unul April, though he was unable to minister pub- 
licly after the rst of February, 1801. He died soon atter- 
ward. During his rectorship in Duanesburgh, he baptized 
one hundred and performed eight marriages , the smallest 
fee being eight shillings, the largest a guinea. 

Between 1801 and 1817, the names of the following 
cergy a pear on the records as having officiated at various 
times: N. Lilly, Mr. Burtess, R. Hubbard, Dr. Mansfield, 
Gross Stebbins, F. Clowes. Of these, Mr. Hubbard is 
thought to have been rector for some time. Kev. Nathaniel 
F, Bruce, deacon, was called to be minister June 12, 1817, 
at a salary of $400. He was advanced to the priesthood 
between the latter part of March, 1818, and April 13, 1810, 
at which date he signs himself as rector. He resigned about 
the close of 1819. Key. Charles W. Hamilton was called 
to officiate as resident minister September 9, 1820. By 
mutual agreement his connection terminated aay 6, 1822. 
Rey. Richard Bury began his services February 10, 1823, 
at $400 per year, w hich was subsequently ear ce $500. 
He resigned about the last of December, 1827. Rev. 
William B. Thomas succeeded him early in 1828 and re- 
mained until i841. Rev. Kendrick Metcalf appears on the 
records as rector October 26, 1842, remaining until ¢ ae er, 
1850. During the interim the vestry invited Rev. Mr. Bab- 
Cace to officiate at the rate of ten dollars per Sunday. Rev. 
William O, Jarvis was elected rector August 27, 1851. A 
suit at law was entered by the Reformed Pres byterian So- 
ciety against the rector, wardens and vestry, for a portion 
of the “elebe. The issue was in favor of the defendants. 
The resignation of Mr. Jarvis took effect March 13, 1550. 

Rev. Robert T. S. Lowell, D.D., was elected rector April 
26, 1859. Dr. Lowell’s ministry was successtul, and he was 
associated with many important improvements to the parish 
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property. At the earnest solicitation of the vestry he con- 
sented to withdraw his resignation, presented December 13, 
1866, and remained until Easter, 1869. Dr. Lowell is well 
and widely known as an author and poet of high rank 
Rev. George L. Weide was elected rector October 20, 1869. 

In the summer of 1577, Trinity Chapel, near Esperance, 
was erected on land given by Benjamin M. Duane.  Ser- 
vices had been held in a school-house near, by Dr. Lowell 
and Mr. Weide, for several years previous. A society of 
women raised the building fund. The chapel was formally 
deeded to Christ’s Church, July 29, 1877, and consecrated 
August 7th following by the Right Rev. William Crosswell 
Duane, Si be “Bishop of the Diocese. Mr. Weide re- 
signed in the spring of 1881. Rev. H. L. Zeller was elected 
rector October 15, 1881, and remained until August, 1883. 
Rev. Ernest A. Hartman, the present incumbent, was elect. 
ed January 24, 1884, and assumed his duties March 16th fol- 
lowing. 

Below are the names and terms of service of the wardens 
of Christ’s Church from the foundation of the parish to 
1885. 
William North, 1795-1821; James C. Duane, 1795- 

1805 ; George W. Featherstonhaugh, 1805-25 ; Col. Will- 
iam S. North, 1821-45 ; John B. Duane, 1825-44; Benjamin 
M. Duane, 1844-82; Ralph McDougall, 1845-57; Hugh 
McDougall, 1857-79 ; Alexander McDougall since 1879 ; 
Ralph McDougall since 1882. 

THE SOCIETY OF FRIENDS, QUAKER STEEET. 

The Society of Friends of Duanesburgh was organized 
about 1790, when its first meetings were held. Its first 
meeting tor discipline, subordinate to a monthly meeting, 
was established by a committee sent from Nine Partners 
Quarterly Meeting in Dutchess County in the fallof 1800. 
This meeting was then a part of Coey mans Monthly Meet- 
ing. In 1806, by a division of Coeymans Meeting, Duanes- 
burgh Monthly Meeting was established and a provision made 
to hold its meetings one-third of the time at Otego and 
Burlington, in Otsexo County, and two-thirds of the ‘time in 
Duanesburgh. Some time between 1800 and 1806, a lot of 
land was deeded to Oliver Briggs, two acres of which was 
to be held by the Society of Friends. In 1807 this lot was 
exchanged for part of lot No. 360 in the Village of (Quaker 
Street, where the Friends’ log meeting-house then stood, by 
four brothers, named Job, Jeremiah, Robert and Richard 
Briggs, and was deeded by them to Jedediah Tallman and 
Zaccheus Mead, who were to hold it in trust for the society 
‘to be used for a burying ground and for the erection of a 
meeting-house thereon.’ In 1828 a new deed was given to 
Nathaniel Wilber, James Shelden, Isaac Gaige, Zaccheus 
Mead, Benjamin T. Estes, Joseph Moore, Michael >| Hoag and 
Isaac Stevens, who were to act as trustees for the society and 
transfer the property to their successors. A framed addition 
of ten feet was built to the log meeting-house in 1804, and 
in 1807 the meeting-house now standing was built. From 
that time until 1828 the Meeting consisted of about two 
hundred members. Prominent among these early Friends 
were members of the families of Gaige, Estes, Hoag, Shel- 
den, Moore, Briggs, Wilber and Wing, and many of their 
descendants now live in the vicinity. In tracing the history 
of this society down to the present time, we find that 
through the close proximity of other churches, and various 
other causes, the membership has fallen off to nearly one- 
fourth its former number. Yet, as a society, it still holds a 
wide influence for good. 

REFORMED PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH, DUANESBURGH. 

The frame church building of this society is situated a 
little more than a mile west of the village of Duanesburgh. 
The cemetery adjoins the churchyard on the west, and the 
parsonage grounds adjoin it on the north. 

The nucleus of the Duanesburgh congregation was formed 
in 1793 by Rev. James McKinney, who that year came from 
Ireland, although the formal organization may not have 
taken place for two or three years afterward. Kev. Mr. 
McKinney was settled as pastor in 1797. The congregation 
worshipped mostly in a stone church in Princetown. This 
was a kind of union church, occupied by different denom- 
inations as they could arrange among themselves, though 
finally occupied solely by the Presbyterians. Mr. McKin- 

ney resigned his pastorate in 1802 and removed to South 
Carolina, where he died the same year. 

For six years the congregation was without a pastor, 
though not ‘without preaching. In 1804 they built a sub- 
stantial frame church upon ‘the present site. Before this 
they often worshipped in private houses, and during the 
summier in the woods: but more frequently i in the barns of 
Walter Maxwell and Robert Liddle. The land for the 

church and burying ground was given by the Ion. James 
Duane. The first elders were W alter Maxwell, Robert Uid« lle, 
John Cullings and James Duquid, all natives of Scotland. 

The second pastor was Rev. Gilbert MacMaster. He was 
born in Ireland and came to this country when a boy. He 
first entered the medical profession and engaged in that 
work tor a time in Pennsylvania, but feeling that he had a 
call to the ministry, he fitted himself for it. He was or- 
dained and installed August 8, 1808. He remained 
pastor of this congregation tor nearly thirty-two years and 
exerted a wide influence, not only in the town where he 
lived, but throughout the country. Ife was one of the or- 
ganizers of the County Bible Society in 1823. He received 
the title of Doctor of Divinity from Union College in 1828, 
He wrote several volumes, all on religious topics. He re- 
signed and removed to Indiana in 1840, His death occurred 
at New Albany, Ind., in 1854. 

In the following year, Rev. Andrew Giftord Wylie became 
pastor of the congregation, and was ordained and installed 
august 29, 1841. He was born in the City of New York, 
and was educated at the University of Pennsylvania, in Vhil- 
adelphia. He remained for nearly thirty years, ending his 
labors here with the close of 1870, when he accepted a call 
to a church in Philadelphia. In 1880 he was called toa 
church in Cincinnati, O , where he remained till his death 
in December, 1884. Rev. 5. M. Kamsey became the next 
pastor, and is now (1885) occupying the pulpit. He began 
his labors here in October, 1873, and was installed the 14th 
of the following month. 

‘The parsonage was built in 1829. The lot (some eight 
acres) was given by Miss Catherine Duane. The present 
church building was erected in 1836 and 1837, and was first 
occupied for w orship June 18, 1837. A Sabbath-school was 
opened about 1834, and has been steadily carried on since. 
Mr. Robert Liddle occupied the position of superintendent 
for thirty-three years. The following persons have held the 
office of Ruling ‘Elder: First Elders, Walter Maxwell, Robert 
Liddle, John ‘Cullings, George Duquid; elected in 1814, 
James Young, James. “McBean; in 1825, John Tulloch, John 
Liddle, James Maxwell, Charles MeClews in 1839, Alex. 
Liddle, Daniel Stuart, James Turnbull, Ebenezer Cullings; 
in 1856, Robert Liddle, Robert Cess ford. Charles L. Tul- 
loch, John Cullings; in 1867, Daniel Stuart, Richard 
Hunter, James McCallum, Andrew Hunter. The following 
named persons have held the office of Deacon in the con- 
gregation: 1811, John Liddle, James Maxwell, John Tulloch, 
Thomas Kelly, Wm. Cummings; 1825, Daniel Stuart, 
Ebenezer McMillan, Simon Kennedy; 1826, Alex. Liddle, 
Samuel Young, James Ingersoll; 1839, Robert Cessford, 
Walter Maxwell, Robert Liddle, Thomas Liddle, John Cul: 
lings; 1856, Daniel Stuart, Richard Hunter, Peter Cameron, 
Andrew Hunter, James McCallum; 1867, Thomas Rk. Mc- 
Clew, James Liddle, Alex. Liddle, John E. Cullings, Richard 
L. Hunter. 

Dr. Alexander McLeod, who for thirty-two years. from 
1801 to his death in 1833, ranked among the leading minis- 
ters of the City of New York, was for six years a member 
of this congregation. Dr. E. D. McMaster, who in 1838 be- 
came President of Hanover College, Ind.; in 1845, Pres sident 
of Miami University, Oxford, O.; in 1850, Protessor in the 
Presbyterian Theological Seminary at New Albany, Ind.; 
and at the time of his death, in 1866, was at the head of the 
Presbyterian Theological Seminary in Chicago, Hl.; spent 
his boyhood days here, and early became a member of this 
congregation. Dr. A. 5. MacMaster, for nearly fifty years 
a gifted Presbyterian minister, as also his brother Benjamin 
J. MacMaster, editor of Zhe Freeman's Fournal, New York 
City, were als 9 members of the congregation. Through 
Divine grace this congregation has been a “blessing to many, 
and the names of Maxwell, Cullings and Liddle, ‘Tulloch, 
Stuart and McCallum, McClew, Hays and Young, Cesstord, 
Hunter and Turnbull, with many others, will long be pre- 
cious in Duanesburgh. 
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THE TOWNSHIP OF DUANESBURGH. 

FIRST PRESHYTERIAN CHURCH OF DUANESBURGH. 

Concerning the origin ot the Virst Presbyterian Church of 
Duanesburch, usually desienated the Mariaville Presbyterian 

Church, the records show that on May 17, 1842, an appli- 
cation was made To THE REV'b CLAssis OF Mon1Gom- 
ERY,” by the following named persons, for the organization 
of a church agreeably to the Constitution of the Protestant 
Reformed Dutch Church of North America. George 
Lasher, S. Hf. Marsh, J. D. Brown, J. M. Lasher. Daniel 
Nellis, lames Haver, Tames Frost, Ifiram Hansett, F. J. 
(Quackenbush, Alex. MeGaugh, Jacob M. Pulver, Henry 

Pulver, Philip Bronk, James love, Phomas Gifford, Jere- 

miah Murray, Charles Dorn. 
An entry in the records relates that, 

“Whereas, by virtue of an act entitled ‘An Act making 
such alterations in the Act of Incorporating Religious Socie- 
ties, as to render the same more convenient to the Keformed 
Protestant Dutch Congregation,’ passed the 7th day of 
March, 1788, we, the subscribers, lIders and Deacons of 

the Reformed Protestant [Dutch Church, or Congregation, 
formed or established in Duanesburgh, in the County of 
Schenectady, baving assembled together at the school-house 
in Mariavilie, on the roth day of July, 1842, by virtue of the 
said act, do by these presents certify that the Trustees of 
said Church or Congrevation, and their successors forever, 
shall, as a body corporate, be called, distinguished and 
known by the name, style and title of the Minister, Elders 
and Deacons of the Reformed Protestant Dutch Church at 
Mariaville, Duanesburgh, in the County of Schenectady. 

“In witness whereot, we, the Elders and Deacons, have 
hereunto set our hands the day and year above mentioned. 

‘“©George Lasher, Philip Bronk, Elders; Henry Pulver, 
Hiram Hansett, Deacons. 

«©The above-named consistory were ordained to their re- 
spective offices after a sermon was preached from Phil. 2: 
15, by Rev. James Stevenson, of Minaville, Montgomery 
County, on the roth day of July, 1842.” 

Georve Lasher was elected President of the Consistory, 
and Philip Bronk, Stated Clerk. 

_ It appears that the movement toward the erection of a 
house of worship somewhat preceded the petition to the 
Classis of Montgomery asking the organization of a church. 
A record of the proceedings of the Building Committee is 
preserved, and opens as follows: 

“‘Ata meeting of the inhabitants of Mariaville and vicin- 
ity, held at the school-house on the 24th day of June, 1841, 
convened for the purpose of taking into consideration the 
propriety and necessity of erecting a church edifice in said 
village, Silas HT. Marsh was called to the chair and James 
M. Lasher appointed secretary. . 

*©On motion, it was resolved that a committee of six 
persons be appointed to ascertain the terms upon which an 
eligible site can be procured, and to report to the next meet- 
ing; and that said committee consist of the following named 
persons, viz.: Silas TH. Marsh, James Frost, Daniel Nellis, 
Jeremiah Murray, Ifenry Pulver.and James M. Lasher.” 

This committce reported, at a meeting held soon after, 
that one of their number, Mr. James Frost, had tendered 
them a square half acre in a locality so suitable that they 
thought it unnecessary to make farther inquiry. Where- 
upon the donation of Mr. Frost was gratefully accepted by 
the meeting Ata meeting held in the same place five days 
later, July 2, 1541, a committee of eight were appointed to 
solicit subscriptions. ‘This committee pursued their work 
with varying success until they had secured sufficient to 
warrant the commencement ot the work. 

“Whereupon Silas Hl. Marsh, James M. Lasher and 
Daniel Nellis were appointed a building committee, with 
authority to contract for the erection of an edifice upon the 
best model they could tind.” 
November 10, 15.41, the committee entered into a contract 

with Mr. Thomas Gitford for the erection and completion of 
an edifice 38x 50 feet, containing a gallery on three sides, 

and furnished with pulpit and pews of the best style of such 
country churches of that time. 

The corner-stone was laid in June, 1842, and the building 
completed in November following. he house was dedi- 
cated December 7, 1542. 

Rev. James Donald, a minister of the Presbyterian 
Church, and a member of the Presbytery of Albany, was 

called, and by the Classis of Montgomery duly installed as 
pastor of this church on Wednesday, June 7, 1843. The 
Rev. Charles Jukes preached the sermon and gaye the 
charge to the pastor, and the Rev. James Stevenson gave 
the usual charge to the people. The first communion 
service of the church was held June 11, 1843. Previously 
to this the communion roll had been prepared, and was as 
follows: 

Received by certificate, from the Protestant Reformed 
Dutch Church of Florida (the Minaville Church), Helen 
Lasher, Margaret Pulver, Ann Hansett, Margaret Pulver, 
Charlotte Pulver, Catherine Wiggins, Jemima Patterson, 
Elisabeth Bronk, Mrs. Catherine Bronk, Miss Catherine 
Bronk, Dorothy Dorne, Jesse Platt, Elsy Platt, Hannah 
Conklin, Israel Scriver, Rebecca Green, Dorothy Conklin. 

From the Protestant Reformed Dutch Church of Sche- 
nectady, Daniel Nellis and Mary Nellis. 

Received on confession of their faith and satisfactory evi- 
dence of their piety, Agnes Conklin, James Brown, Mar- 
garet Brown, Ann Maria Ryne, Margaret Templar, John 
Dougall, Hannah Dougall, Maria Dennison, Susan McMas- 
ter, Eliza Clark, James M. Lasher, Catherine Clogston, 
James H. Patterson, Prudence Patterson, making a com- 
munion roll of thirty-one members, exclusive of the four 
members of consistory—a membership in all of thirty-five. 

The Rey. Mr. Donald closed his services on the last 
Sabbath of April, 1851. From this time until 1859 the 
church had no pastor, depending altogether upon such pul- 
pit supply as could be obtained from Classis and otherwise. 
At this point the records show the following: 

““The Reformed Protestant Dutch Church of Duanes- 
burgh having obtained leave of Classis to change their 
ecclesiastical relation, made application tothe Presbytery of 
Albany to be received under their care at their annual meet- 
ing in January, 1859. 

“* After this they obtained leave of the Court to be known 
by the title and to hold their property under the incorporate 
title of the ‘ First Presbyterian Church of Duanesburgh.’ 
“On June 15, 1859, said church was fully received and 

entered on the roll by the Presbytery of Albany. 
“On February 13, 1861, the ecclestastical name was, by 

Presbytery, for the sake of convenience, and without inter- 
fering with the corporate title, changed on Presbytery Roll 
to the church of Mariaville.”’ 

During the year 1859 the Rev. David Edgar served the 
church as stated supply. In 1860 the Rev. David Lyon 
was called, and remained until March, 1876. 

In June, 1877, the church secured certain ministerial ser- 
vices of Rey. R. A. Hill, pastor of the Princetown Presby- 
terian Church. Mr. Hill retained his pastoral relation to 
the Princetown Church, and in addition preached at Maria- 
ville on Sabbath afternoons, and performed such pastoral 
services as lay in his power, continuing for five years, 
and as long as he remained at Princetown. In June, 
1882, he received a call from the Seventh Presbyterian 
Church of Pittsburgh, Pa., which he accepted, and so sev- 
ered his connection with Princetown and Mariaville. 

Again the church was dependent upon temporary supply 
until November, 1883. At this time Rev, J. W. Johnston 
became stated supply, and has so acted until the present 
time. 

In the early part of the year 1885 an effort was made to 
repair the old church. $2,500 were raised by subscription. 
Rev. j. W. Johnston, J. W. Waddell and A. N, Bronk were 
appointed a committee to have charge of the work, which 
was completed in July of the same year, the church edifice 
having been thoroughly renovated and modernized. 

At the present time the session consists of Rev. J. W. 
Johnston, Moderator; and Elders James M. Lasher, Joseph 
Green, George Lasher and John Turnbull. 

THE BAPTIST CHURCH OF DUANESBURGH. 

But little is known of the history of the Baptists within the 
bounds of this church previous to the commencement of the 
present century, no records having been preserved of an 
earlier date. But it is well understood that there were some 
Baptist brethren and sisters among the early settlers who 
caine soon after the close of the revolution. One such emi- 
grant was Elijah Herrick, so well known fifty years ago as 
“Father Herrick.’? He had taken an active part in the 
struggle for independence, and soon after its termination 
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180 HISTOR OOK THE COUNTY: OF SCHENECTADY. 

embraced Christianity, and subsequently entered the minis- 
try, beginning his labors with the sparse population by 
which he was surrounded. He was one of those who early 
proclaimed the truths of the Gospel to the inhabitants of 
Duanesburgh. Having been inured to the privations and 
rigid discipline of the camp, he was well prepared to meet 
the fatigues and undertake the responsibilities of his new 
vocation. To his military training is attributed a remark- 
able punctuality, which characterized him through life, for 
he fulfilled his engagements regardless of weather or dis- 
tance. 

In 1800, according to the earliest record extant, there 
was a small society of Baptists in the northem part of 
Duanesburgh known as “Elder John Mudge’s Church,” but 
destitute of a pastor, and another in the adjoining town of 
Florida under the pastoral care of Rev. Reuben Mudge. 
These small churches being too feeble to support two min- 
isters, mutually resolved to unite in a common organization. 
This union was efiected by the usual observances July 
29, 1800, and the churchof Duanesburgh and Florida was 
constituted with seventeen members, nine of whom were 
women. 

The filth year after the new organization, the number of 
the members had increased from seventeen to sixty-four, 
and the sixth year witnessed the conversion of so many 
that the membership was increased to nearly one hundred 
by baptism. In 180g nineteen were received by immersion, 
and the total number amounted to one hundred and thirty. 

Conversions occurred nearly every year subsequent to 
this, varying in general from one to six and amounting in 
the aggregate to about ninety in thirty years. But deaths, 
removals and exclusions more than counterbalanced these 
and reduced the number more than one-half in that period 
of time. For many succeeding years but little transpired 
that is worthy of notice. There was a union meeting-house 
which the Baptists might occupy a part of the time, but 
which was little used on account of its untavorable location, 
and in 1834 they were yet holding their meetings in school- 
houses and private dwellings at different places as expe- 
diency suggested. In 1835 a house of worship was erected 
sufficiently commodious tor all ordinary occasions at that 
time. In 1840 there were only sixty communicants in the 
church, and but sixteen male members who could be relied 
upon to aid the organization steadfastly with their presence 
and substance. Nearly all of these had passed the merid- 
jan of life, and the most efficient laborers had before them 
but a few of their allotted ‘‘three-score years and ten.” 
Fears were entertained that the church might be disrupted, 
but during the winter of 1842 and 1843 sixty-two converts 
were added to the church membership by baptism. A 
large number of these were between the ages of fhiteen and 
twenty five, the extremes being twelve and seventy. In 
the winter of 1853 another revival brought an accession of 
forty-nine aterabets, all but ten of whom were heads of 
families. 

Previous to 1857 no rupture had occurred in the church, 
but at this time internal dissensions arose. But in the 
midst of these difficulties a revival began which resulted in 
the addition by baptism of a number of new recruits 
greater than that of those who had withdrawn, ‘Those who 
had not entirely departed from the church united hand in 
hand in working for the common good. In 1864 a parson- 
age was purchased which had long been needed, and in 
1868 the old meeting-house was sold and a larger and better 
one was erected. Some slight repairs have “been put on 
them from time to time. Following i isa list of the succes- 
sive pastorates: 

Reuben Mudge, 1800-1805; Elnathan Finch, 1So05- 
1810; Rey. Mr. Bolton, 181o- “1811; Reuben Mudge, 1812- 
1813; Rev. Mr. Longworthey, 1813-1814; Bartimeus 
Brann 1814-1819: Charles Howe, 1823-1833: Calvin 
Herrick, 1833-1843; Joseph Earl, 1843-1856; G, W. 
Abrams, 1857-1859; David Corwin, 1859-1861; W. F. 
Benedict, oe /1861, to November, 1862; D. B. Collins, 
1863-1867; J: Starkweather, 1867 - 1870; E. Ashton, 
1870-1871; J. s. "Johnson, 1871-1872; I. Powers, 1873; 
Leonard Smith, April, 1878, to the present time. 

THE TRUE REFORMED DUTCH CHURCH. 

The church at Mariaville known by the above name, orig- 
inated about forty years ago with persons living in that 

vicinity who were members of the church at Charlestown 
under the pastoral care of Rev. Ifenry V. Wyckoff. They 
met first as a reading society of worship at the house of Mr. 
Ifenry I. Smith. Atter some time had elapsed, they called 
Rey. Marcus Bellinger as their minister, and he preached 
in a school-house for a number of years. About 1858 or 1859 
Rev. Perry Devenburgh assumed the pastoral care, and re- 
mained about twenty-five years, till his death in December, 
1882. 
The present house of worship was built about 1864 or 

1865, and services have since been conducted therein. Since 
the death of Rev. Mr. Devenburgh the church has been con- 
nected with the Classis of Hackensack of the True Reformed 
Dutch Church, and has been supplied by ministers of that 
Classis. 

THE CHRISTIAN CHURCH OF QUAKER STREET. 

The Christian Church of (Quaker Street was organized 
after a series of meetings extending through Tcbruary and 
March, 1859, under the labors of Revs. Henry Brown and 
B. F. Summerbell. Quite a number of persons united in 
the organization, under a covenant declaring that Christian 
character should be the test of their fellowship, and the 
Bible their rule of faith and practice. The name Christian 
was applied as pointing directly to Christ as the head of the 
Church. 

Rey. Henry Brown was pastor until July, 1859, when, at 
his urgent request, the church obtained the services of Rev. 
Thomas Holmes, who remained until April, 1861. Since 
that time the pulpit has been filled by a number of seers 
ministers, prominent among whom was Rev. Charles 
Peake, who served two terms, aggregating seven years. ite 
was a ‘victim of the wrecked steamer Narragansett, on Long 
Island Sound. Among others may be mentioned Revs. 
Philip Couchman and Henry Brown, and the present pas- 
tor, Rev. W. Jay Reynolds. 

The church building was erected in 1859 60, and was 
dedicated in June of the latter year. Rev. F. Summer- 
bell preached the dedicatory sermon, and was baccuted in the 
services by Rev. John Ross, Rev. Henry Brown and Rey. 
Thomas Holmes, the pastor. The house underwent repairs 
about five years ago at an expense of about $1,500, and was 
rededicated by Rev. Austin Craig. 

THE CHURCH OF THE REDEEMER. 

The Church of the Redeemer (Universalist) was organized 
December 16, 1875, with sixteen members, as follows: 

Dr. Joseph Braman and wiic, Daniel Van Henn and wite, 
George Lester and wife, Fayette Peek, Murray Peek, De- 
Witt C. Chase, DeWitt C. Lester, Ida Belle Lester, Saxton 
M. Cheeney, Eunice Cheeney, Benjamin K. Elton, William 
Broefile and Susannah Broetile. 

The organization was effected at the house of Dr. Joseph 
Braman, under the ministrations of Rey, D. C. Davis. The 
growth of this church was rapid and steady during the next 
few months, The membership was soon increased to thirty, 
and January 17, 1875, three persons were confirmed by bap- 
tism. For a time the interest continued unabated, but at 
length, owing to causes over which those most deeply inter- 
ested had no control, it abated until services were held ir- 
regularly, and then ceased altogether. 

THE MFTHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH OF MARIAVILLE. 

The Mariaville Methodist Episcopal Church was organized 
about twenty-five years ago. Solomon Pulver, Henry 
Mickle, Evert Van Anken, and others were among the 
early members. The ground upon which the church was 
erected was given to “the Society by Messrs. Marsh and 
Delamater. During a portion of the time this church has 
been connected on one pastoral charge with the Methodist 
Episcopal Churches of Minaville and Fort Hunter. It has 
not for some time had a regular pastor, and is at present 
supplied. 

THE METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH OF QUAKER STREET 

At Quaker Street there is a flourishing Methodist Epis- 
copal Church, of which Rev. Mr. De Vol is the pastor. 
This organization owns a good-sized frame house of wor- 
ship, located at the foot of the rise of ground separating the 
ie parts of the village. Early meetings were held on the 
nil] : 
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THE TOWNSHIP OF DUANES BURGH. 1S] 

Cue ae oe, 

KIRBY WILBER. 

This well-known and highly-respected citizen of Quaker 

Street was born in that village September 25, 
of Kirby and Mercy (Allen) Wilber. His father came from 

Dutchess County about 1812, and was for a time engaged 

in tanning on a small scale. Soon, however, he opened a 

small custom shoe shop. In this shop, and with their fa- 

ther as an instructor; the Wilber brothers, R. P. U., E. G., 

W. K.and Kirby, gained their first knowledge of that busi- 

ness with which they were destined to be so prominently 

identified in after life. 

Kirby Wilber was educated sparingly in the public schools 

of the time and place, and taking more naturally to business 

tban to mechanical pursuits, at the age of fourteen he be- 

came a clerk in the old time store of Job Cleveland. Two 

years later he went to Schenectady, and was for a short 

time a clerk in the store of John Ohlen. Returning to his 

native town, he became a salesman in the store of James E. 

O’Neill in July, 1837. In the spring of 1840 he removed 

to Brainard’s Bridge, Rensselaer County, and entered a 

store belonging to a manufacturing company, in which 

-Seth Hastings, late of Albany, was one of the partners. 

There he was employed most of the time for about eight 

years, at the expiration of which time he bought the stock 

25, 1820, a son 

of goods of his former employers and engaged in trade tor 

himself, continuing during the succeeding five years. 

In the spring of 1853, Mr. Wilber disposed of his interests 

at Brainard’s Bridge and returned to Quaker Street to take 

an interest in the boot and shoe manufacturing business 

which had been established by his brothers, his successful 

connection with which is noticed elsewhere. The present 

store of Wilber & Co. was opened in 1860 and was owned 

in connection with the factory until 1867, when the firm 

dissolved and was reorganized. The successive owners of 

the store since that date have been Kirby & E. G. Wilber : 
Kirby, E. G., E. & Charles C. Wilber ; Kirby, E.G. & 

Charles C. Wilber ; and Kirby & Charles C. Wilber. E. 

Wilber withdrew in the spring of 1874, and E. G. Wilber in 

the spring of 1884, since when Kirby Wilber and his son, 

Charles C. Wilber, have conducted the business under the 

style of Wilber & Co. 
In 1843 Mr. Wilber married Lucy Ann Crego, of Chat- 

ham, Columbia County, N. Y. She died in 1877. In 1580 

Mr. Wilber married Mrs. P. J. Auchampaugh, of Quaker 

He has five children—a son and 

four daughters—by his first marriage. The son is Mr. - 

Charles C. Wilber, his partner, mentioned above. Mr. 

Wilber is a Democrat, and a staunch and conscientious de- 

fender of the principles otf his party, but he is not, except 

Street, who is still living. 
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182 HISTORY OFTHE GOUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

in the best and truest sense, a politician. Not an office 

seeker nor a vociferous campaigner, he yet takes 2 

interest in the public welfaré, and, politically and otherwise, 

he has ever been actively interested in all measures calcu- 

lated to advance the public good. Since 1859 he has been 

a member of the First Christian Church of (Quaker Street. 

proper 

So frequent mention is made of the name of the late R. 
P. U. WILBER in these pages, that some reference to the per- 
sonal characteristics which made him so successful and so 
popular seems to be demanded. He was a man of industry 
and originality; a man of enterprise and perseverance; a 
man of great public spirit, and an almost unconquerable de- 
sire todo something which would benefit the community in 
which he lived. He was the originator of the business 
which has made Quaker Street so well known, and an early 
and liberal employer of skilled Jabor. It was his part to 
pave the way for the Buel which came after he was 
gone from earth, and well and earnestly, and with wonder- 

ful forethought, did he perform his allotted task. During 
his busy and useful life it is doubtful if there was one good 
public interest that did not receive his moral support, his 
kindly encouragement and his financial aid. A more pub- 
lic-spirited man never lived in Duanesburgh, his means and 
opportunities considered. It has been nearly a third of a 
century since he died, but he is remembered with kindly 
regret by nearly every old resident of the town. 

E. G. and W. Kk. WILBER’s names will be long known in 
Duanesburgh as those of men who nobly did their part in 
the work of human progress as it came to their hands. 

VILLAGES AND HAMLETS. 

The villages and hamlets of this town are Quaker Street 
(Village and Depot), Mariaville. Duanesburgh, Braman’s 
Corners, Paiterson’s Comers and Green’s Corners. 

QUAKER STREET. 

This village is divided by a somewhat steep ascent into 
two parts, known generally as Quaker Street and Quaker 
Street Depot, though during late years the terms Old 
and New Quaker Street have obtained some popularity. 
One post-oftice, located at Quaker Street proper, suffices for 
both villages. Their combined population is not far from 
600. Evidences of thrift and enterprise are to be seen in all 

- directions. 
Quaker Street on the hill was early settled by the 

Briggses, Moshers, Hoags, and others, and was so named 
because the residences of numerous members of the Society 
of Friends were scattered along the road running through 
what is now its center. Quaker meetings were held there 
early in the present century For many years there was only 
one store there, one of the first buildings erected after a few 
dwellings having been a (Quaker meeting-house. The sec- 
ond store was built at least forty-five years ago. A prom- 
inent merchant inthe old store (now Wilber’ s) was Lewis 
Freeman. Thomas Barnes, James Gale and Asa Marshall 
were among its earlier keepers. It later had many occu- 
pants, one of whom was Daniel T. Hoag, now of New York, 
till it passed into the hands of the Wilbers. The second 
store was occupied by Job Cleveland, Seneca Enders, 
Thomas Rushmore and Kirby Wilber, among others, and 
has been open only a few months during the ‘past twenty- 
five years. The present store of Wilber “& Co. has been in 
the management of the family and firm with which they 
have been connected since 1860. 

Robinson P. U. Wilber began making shoes at Quaker 
Street for the retail trade in 1845. Three years later he be- 
gan manufacturing for wholesale orders, employing about 
twelve men, and continuing until 1854, when he died. 
While he was on his death-bed the sale of the enterprise to 
his two brothers—Edwin G. and W. K. Wilber—was_ ar- 
ranged and consummated. In 1857 Messrs. DeWitt Duane 
McDonald, Milton R. Hoag and Kirby Wilber became part- 
ners in the business, the firm name being changed to Wil- 
bers, Hoag & Co. Mr. McDonald withdrew two years later, 
but re-entered the firm in 1861. In 1863 W. K. Wilber re- 
tired, but resumed his interest in 1865. There were no fur- 

ther changes in the style or personnel of the firm until 1867, 
when Mr. Hoag sold his interest. About this time the gen- 
eral store, which had been run in connection with the factory 
for about ten years, was taken into the building now owned 
by Kirby and Charles C. Wilber, Kirby and E dwin G. Wil- 
ber purchasing that and W. Kk. Wilber and D. D. McDon- 
ald retaining the ownership of the factory under the style of 
Wilber & McDonald. In 1872 the factory passed to the pro- 
prietorship of Mr. McDonald and William H. Davis, the 
firm name being McDonald & Davis. Mr. Davis retired in 
1875, when Mr. McDonald and his son (Sew ard McDonald) 
became owners, under the firm name of D. D. McDonald 
& Son. ‘Thirty to thirty-five men find constant employment 
in this factory, making heavy boots and shoes for men and 
women. Twelve hundred cases are manufactured yearly, 
and the monthly wage-list foots up to $600. In connection 
with their factory the firm conduct a retail boot and shoe 
store and a general grocery and flour and feed store. The 
store proper is a frame building, two stories high, 22 x 55 
feet, and the factory 1s a two-story frame building, 35 x 40 
feet. The products of McDonald & Son are placed mostly 
in Albany, Schenectady, Schoharie, Delaware, Otsego, 
Greene and Ulster Counties, though large shipments are 
made to Ohio. Mr. McDonald also owns a store at (Juaker 
Street Depot. 

The grocery of Ira Estes on Main street was opened about 
twelve years ago. The old W.S. Lang stand has been 
occupied for several years by Melville W. Mead’s tin, hard- 
ware and furniture store. Mr. Mead is an enterprising bus- 
iness man and a prominent citizen. Mr. Estes, above men- 
tioned, was a stock dealer of repute before he became a 
merchant, and is known as a man of brains and progressive 
ideas. 

Lewis Hunt conducted a paint shop here for many years. 
Dying a few years since, he was succeeded by his son, 
Chauncey B. Hunt. 

The old hotel was occupied for many years by William 
R. Wing, Simon Vedder, George Rich and others. It was 
burned in 1875, and soon afterward the American Hotel, on 
the same ground, was nearly completed by John J. Ladd. 
It passed from his possession by legal process and was 
finshed by other parties. It has been occupied by E. 
Bigelow, Frank Bigelow, John J. Wilber and others, and is 
now in possession of Howland McComber. 

In 1870 Arthur D. Mead & William McGraw began the 
manufacture of carriages. Their works were on Main 
street in the building now occupied by John Moon, black- 
smith. Ten men were employed and about seventy-five 
wagons were made annually. A second blacksmith shop is 
that of Christian Mackley. W. H. Harden has carried on 
a small tailoring business for many years. 

It was the Albany and Susquehanna Railroad which 
gave activity and growth to the enterprising village known 
as Quaker Street Depot and New Quaker Street. The first 
store was erected there by Hicks W. Sheldon soon after the 
completion of the railroad. He was succeeded by Mott 
T. Sheldon, Mead Sheldon and Van Wagner, and the 
building was finally closed asa store and converted into a 
tin shop. 

About five years ago a store was opened at the 
Depot by W. K. Wilber & Son, which is now the 
property of L. A. Wilber. Milo J. Auchampaugh built a 
store here about ten years ago, and died not long afterward. 
He was succeeded in its occupancy by Elias Jones, and he 
by S. McKinney & Sons in 188s. 

The tin shop in the old Sheldon store above mentioned 
was established by Dexter Clement, whose successor was A. 
Manchester, whom Manchester & Wilber succeeded. In 
the spring of 1885, Elmer J. Fake opened a drug store ad- 
joining this establishment. 

The Shoudy House was built by James Shoudy about 
twelve yars ago. Ne has ever since owned it. The pres- 
ent lessee and keeper is John Boyce. The Central Hotel 
was built in 1880 and managed until the spring of 1885 by 
George Passage, whose successor was William Van Bens- 
choten. Dexter Clement erected a hotel building in 1883, 
and occupied it only a short time. It is now occupied as a 
residence and meat market by Emmet Schermerhorn. 
Whitney’s railway eating saloon was opened about two 
years ago. 

(Juaker Street Depot is the terminus. 
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FRANCIS HOAG. 

Francis HoAc was born in Duanesburgh September 27, 

1820. His early life was passed upon a farm, and his edu- 

cational advantages were only such as were attorded by the 

common schools near by. His parents were of the good old 

Quaker stock, and his early religious training was in the 

faith and doctrines of the Society of Friends, to which faith 

he has clung through a long and successful life, and whose 

pure teachings did much to develop in him a beautiful char- 

acter and an earnest, steadfast and thoughtful nature. 

Active, energetic, persevering, he has surmounted obstacles 

which seemed for the time to thoroughly block the way of 

his advance; but no worldly ambition ever led him to forget 

that strict integrity and honesty of purpose were called tor at 

his hands. 

At the age of twenty-four, Mr. Hoag married Eliza DD. 

Carpenter, a young woman of rare merit, well calculated to 

be a help and strength to him in all the relations of life. In 

1858 they moved to Albany, where he engaged in the 

wholesale provision trade, tor a time in Exchange street and 

afterward in Dean street, in which business he continued 

successfully for nearly ninetcen years. In business, as well 

| 
i 
i H 

as in social life, he won many warm friends. His noble 

manly, s_raightforward way of dealing, won him the conti- 

dence of men in leading business circles, and his credit was 

In 1861, the death of his beloved wite 

Their union, 
almost unlimited. 

brought to him the greatest sorrow of his life. 

during a period of more than fifteen years, had been an un- 

usually harmonious one. The war of the rebellion had soon 

afterward entered upon its dreadful career, and from his 

private sorrows the mind of Mr. Hoag was providentially 

drawn to the sorrows of a great people. His sympathies 

were aroused, and he gave freely of his means and influence 

to aid the Union cause and lend succor to the wounded he- 

roes in Southern fields and in Southern hospitals. Decem- 

ber 30, 1862, he married his second wife, Mary J. Case. of 

Chatham, Columbia County, N. Y., and on the opening of 

the new year (1863) he brought her to brighten his desolate 

home. Two sons have been born to them: Francis Hoag, Jr., 

in January, 1867, and William M. Hoag, in September, 1574. 

In 1877, having bought a farm near his old home at 

Quaker Street, he disposed of his business in Albany and 

moved his family to the country, building for himself a 

handsome residence, and settled quietly down to the enjoy- 

ment of a peaceful old age. 
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Cae 
HON. GEORGE LASHER. 

Hon. GEorGE LASHER vas born in Duanesburgh Septem- 

ber 20, 1834, ason of James McMillan Lasher, who was also 

born in Duanesburgh July 4, 1811. George Lasher, his 

grandfather, was one of the early settlers of the town. He 

wasa native of America. His wife, Helen McMillan, was 

born in Scotland. Simon Kennedy, father of the wife of 

James McMillan Lasher, and maternal grandfather of the 

subject of this notice, was for a long time a resident of Sche- 

nectady County. His wife was Mary Perry, of Connecticut. 

Mr. Lasher was educated in common schools and at East- 

man’s Commercial College in Poughkeepsie. He has been 

a merchant, and is at present engaged in farming. He cast 

his first vote for John C. Fremont for President, and has 

acted with the Republican party ever since. He has served 

his townsmen as Justice of the Peace; was Supervisor in 

1876, 1878 and 1880; and was elected to the Assembly in 

1880 by a majority of 382 over Edward W. Paige (Demo- 

crat), the Democratic majority in 1879 having been 299. In 

his responsible capacity as legislator he served with credit 

to himself and to the gratification of his constituents. Asa 

private citizen he enjoys the fullest confidence of all who 

know him. 

eee pan 
DE WITT DUANE McDONALD. 

De Wirr DuaANeE McDonatp, son of Anson D, and 

Hannah (Macomber) McDonald, was born in Wright, Scho- 

harie County, N. Y., December 15, 1827. He removed in 

infancy to Quaker Street and has since lived there. His 

educational facilities were limited to those afforded by the 

common schools, and even those he was unable to attend 

regularly, even the winter terms, after he was thirteen years 

old. 

At that tender age, when most boys are yet treated hke 

children and have no thought of the stern duties of life, 

young McDonald left home and began the battle of life in 

the humble capacity of a farmer’s boy of all work. He 

grew from boyhood to manhood, still doing his daily labor 

behind the plow, hoe in hand, or in the fields of grain ready 

to be garnered, and became in all respects a practical and 

well-informed farmer; but it was not as a farmer that he 

was destined to make a place and name for himself among 

his fellow men. . 

At the age of twenty he entered the service of R. P. U. 

Wilber, at Quaker Street, to learn the trade of shoemaking. 

He soon mastered all of its details and came to be con- 

sidered a thorough and skilltul workman. Ife remained in 
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‘lage up to the time his identification with it ceased. 

. Store and a vrist-mill and a saw-mill. v 
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Mr. Wiiber’s employ until the latter’s death and after that 

event in the employ of Messrs. E. G. & W. K. Wilber 

until the reorganization of the firm, when he became a 

of it. His subsequent business career is given 

elsewhere in these payes. 
connection to call attention to the sterling qualities of the 

man, who, from a poor lad, illy educated and without means 

or influential friends, has made his way against adverse 

circumstances to the head of a large manufacturing bus- 

iness, and won the esteem and confidence of all who have 

member 

It only remains to us in this 

known him boy and man. 

August 3, 1853, Mr. MeDonald married Rebecca Weaver, 

of Quaker Street, a daughter of Jacob and Deborah (Coflin) 

Weaver, who has borne him eight children, five of whom 

are living. Formerly an old-time Whig politically, Mr. 

McDonald gradually developed such principles as to ally 

him with the Republican party, of which he has been a 

member since its inception, He is a member of the First 

Christian Church of (Quaker Street. 

MARIAVILLE. 

This small village was named in honor of a daughter ot 
Judge James Duane. 

This was the scene of some quite extensive business oper- 
ations by Hon. Silas Hl. Marsh. who was once County Clerk 
of Schenectady County and represented his district in the 
Assembly. He was a man of enterprise and business ability, 
and was responsible for about all of the growth of the vil- 

About 
1830 he bought some land of ** Katie’? Duane and built a 

About fifteen years 
afterwards he disposed of the mercantile business to Jacob 
(Quackenbush. After passing through other hands, it be- 
came the property of James M. Lasher & Sons in 1862. In 
187g it was purchased by Bronk & Bradshaw, and in 1881 
by A. N. Bronk, the present owner. 

For atime Marsh was the proprietor of a trip-hammer 
and shop, where the manuracture of axes was carried on on 
a small scale, leasing it to other parties, and finally selling 
it. Itis now owacd by Dr. Delameter and operated by 
Marcus I¢lameter. An old grist-mill here had years before 
been converted into a carding and fulling mill and been 
operated by Jeremiah Murray and William Murray. This 
was bought and torn down by Marsh, giving place to his 
grist-mill, which, with the saw-mill and store, was sold in 
1862 to James M. Lasher & Sons. This firm consisted of 
James M., John K. and William M. Lasher. In 1863 John 
kK. Lasher removed to New York, William M. following 
him in 1805, since when the firm has been James M. Lasher 
& Son, the junior pariner being Hon. George Lasher. These 
gentlemen have done much to promote the prosperity of the 
locality, and are reckoned among Schenectady County's 
honored and substantial business men. Sixty or more years 
ago Dr. Staley built a saw-mill. It changed hands several 
times. Jeremiah Murray once owned it. It is now the 
property of Abraham Devenburg. Another saw-mill, built 
by Richard Walpole in 1844, has been converted into a cider 
and vinegar and broom-handle factory, and is owned by 
David W. Walpole. David Lander built a hotel about sixty 
years ago which was kept by different parties, among them 
the veteran landlord, Benjamin Wiltsie, until 1863, when it 
was converted into a cheese factory by a stock company 
who purchased it for that purpose. It was idle some time, 
and was finally purchased by James M. Lasher and con- 
verted into dwellings. Formerly a hotel, which had been 
made of two old dwellings moved together, was occupied 
part of the time as a hotel and part of the time as a store. 
It was reconstructed by Jeremiah Murray. About 1840 two 
other dwellings were joined and remodeled for hotel use. 
This public house was opened by Daniel Nellis. Many 
landlords succeeded him. It has been kept during the past 
twenty years by Benjamin Wiltsie, one of the oldest hotel 
men in Schenectady County. 

Patterson & Sirong and John Van Ilousen were once prom- 
inent merchants here. Besides the store of A. N. Bronk, 
the village now contains those of Miss Matilda Hansett, for 

some time postmistress, and J. A. Bradshaw, who began 
trading during 1885. John Devenburgh is a carriage-maker. 

DUANESBURGH. 

This is a village of about one hundred inhabitants, located 
on the Schenectady branch of the Delaware and Ifudson 
Canal Company’s system of railways, and contains, be- 
sides its business places of different kinds, a small depot and 
a post-office. The pioneer settlers of this place were of 
Scotch, English and Dutch stock, and their sturdy traits are 
easily discernible in the residents of to-day. The place 
was formerly called Jamesville, in honor of a wealthy Mr. 
James, who once owned considerable landed property in the 
vicinity. Its present name was adopted many years ayo, 
though it is generally called by residents and their neighbors 
The Four Corners. As has been seen, the early attempts 
of Judge Duane to make Centre Square, a mile distant, the 
nucleus of a village, was a failure. 

The house now owned and occupied by Dr. Stephen G. 
Delamater as a residence, was seventy-five years ago kept 
asa tavern by Joseph Gaige, who was for many years a 
Justice of the Peace. Mr. Gaige sold the tavern to his ne- 
phew, John Gaige, about sixty years ago, and it was subse- 
quently owned by Julius Keyes and Henry C. Ham. The 
latter sold it to Dr. Delamater. 

The present hotel, nearly opposite the building whose 
history has just been given, was built by John Post during 
the closing years of the revolutionary war. About 1820a 
Mr. Edwards became the proprietor, and soon afterwards 
John Hogh bought it and retained control until 1830, when 
it was purchased by Truman Case, who owned and conduct- 
ed it till 1874, when he died and it passed into the possession 
of his son, Josiah Case, who has since filled the roll of mine 
host at Duanesburgh, greatly to the satisfaction of his 
townsmen and the traveling public. 

About sixty years ago, Mr. James E. O’Neill was sent 
here in the employ of Messrs. Brodwick & Duane, of 
Schenectady, widely-known merchants of theirday. At first 
he sold goods for them on commission, walking to Sche- 
neclady every Saturday night to rendera report of the week’s 
business to his employers. It was not long before he was 
enabled to enter business on his own account. He erected 
the first store in the village and put in a stock of goods. 
He also bought a tan-yard west of the village, which had 
been established by one Gathan, and managed it successful- 
ly until 1840. His store was closed shortly after his death, 
which occurred in February, 1878. Mr. O’Neill had ac- 
quired considerable wealth as the result of a long life’s honest 
industry and wasa leading citizen of the town, well respected 
throughout the county. 

The leading store in Duanesburgh is the one now owned 
and occupied by Mr. John L. Turnbull. The building was 
erected by Philip James Fredericks a little less than twenty- 
five years ago. He kept the store until his death, about 
1870, when John S. Hoag purchased it, remaining in con- 
trol until 1872, when the present proprietor became the 
owner. A general stock of dry goods and groceries is kept. 
Mr. Turnbull has been Town Clerk of Duanesburgh most of 
the time for the past decade, and is regarded as a stirring 
and energetic man. 

The village school-house was removed to its present loca- 
tion forty yearsago. It was previously located down by 
the creek, where it had stood for a time beyond the memory 
of any citizen. 

A century ago, Dr. Abraham Delamater was a practicing 
physician in Duanesburgh and a surgeon as well. About 
the year 1800, his brother, Dr. Peter Delamater, came and 
for many years had an extensive ride. In 1843 Dr. Stephen 
G. Delamater, son of Dr. Peter Delamater, began here the 
practice of his profession, a service to the people which has 
been continued uninterruptedly ever since. Among the 
other early physicians were Dr. McDermott (1815-25) and 
Dr. Wilson (1825-35). While generally this locality has 
been remarkably free from those epidemics which rage from 
time to time in less favored places, it has not wholly 
escaped. Twenty years ago there was a diptheritic epidemic 
which carried off twenty people in the immediate vicinity of 
the village. 

BRAMAN’S, PATTERSON’S AND GREEN’S CORNERS. 

These localities are named in honor of the families of 
Braman, Patterson and Green. The first mentioned was 
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formerly known as Parlor Street. in honor of the Parlor fam- 
ily. Dr. Joseph Braman opened a store there as early as 
1840, and fifteen years later sold it to Nathaniel Herrick. 
George Bradiord occupied it later. The present merchant is 
George A. Snell. William Gardinicr once kept a grocery 
there. The Parlors once had a> tannery and carried on 
farming and other business. 

We take pleasure in making mention of the following 
well-known citizens, who by their guaranteed support have 
helped to insure the publication. of this valuable work: 
H. P. Allen, Mrs. A. E. Abrams, Samuel Brown, Martin 
Bradt, A. M. Bronk, C. W. Bronk, P. A. Brumagin, John 

O. Becker, Delos Braman, William Chadwick, John E. Cul- 
lings, G. W. Conover, Frank M. Chapman, 5S. G. 
De Lamater, ID. C. Davis, Marcus De Lamater, Cou, 
Peres John Davenburg, George Dennison, Ira Estes, 
J. D. Featherstonhaugh, James ‘Ferguson, A. M. Gaige, 
Joseph ao William J. Gardner, Francis Hoag, David B. 
Hall, T. Roymen Herrick, John L. Jones, ‘Alexander L iddle, 
George H. Love, Robert Lidell, George Lasher, Melville 
Mead, Alonzo Macomber, D. D. McDonald, R. W. Mc- 
Dougal berm ey McDougall, James L. McMillan, J. Kk. 
Rhinehart, W. F. & J. H. Shute, J. L. Turnbull, Darius 

~Lsipp, J. H. Titus, E. G. Wilber, John Di Wood, 1k. T. 
Wood, James Wright, David W. Walpole, Benjamin Wilt- 
sie, Kirby Wilber. 

HISTORY: OF THE. TOWNSHIP’ OF GLENVILLE. 

By Rev. E. 

LENVILLE was named from the original pat- 
entee, Sanders Leendertse Glen. It was formed 

from the fourth ward of Schenectady, April 14, 1520. 

Itis the only town in the county north of the Mohawk. 
In 1665 the country around Scotia was granted to 
Glen, a native of Scotland, who had removed to 
Holland in 1645 on account of religious persecu- 
tions. After several vears spent there in mercantile 
pursuits, he migrated to the New Netherlands. 

The greater part of the surface is covered with a 
thick deposit of drift, consisting Pensa of clay, 
with an occasional outcrop of slate, and underlaid 
with hard pan in the south and western part, and 
sand and gravelly loam in the eastern. The 
underlying rock is generally the shales of the Hud- 
son River group, which crop out in the valleys and 
the bottom of ravines. In portions of this town 
this is underlaid by bird's-eye limestone, from which 
are obtained both lime and stone for building. 
This rock crops out on the banks of the streams 
and from the declivities of the steeper hills. The 
central and western parts are occupied by rugged 
and wooded hills, abruptly rising from the valley 
of the river to a height of 300 feet. The eastern 
part is nearly level, The Mohawk intervales are 
very fertile, and have been, to a considerable ex- 
tent, devoted to the culture of broom corn. 

The streams are Crabskill, Chaugh-ta-noon-da, 
Aalplaats and Jan Wemp’s Creeks, and Verf Kill. 

Sanders Lake, in Scotia, is about a mile in cir- 
cumference. 

Van Slyck’s Island was granted to Jacques Van 
Slyck November 13, 1662, and later a new grant 
to Jaques Cornelise and Jan Barentse Wemp. 

Hoffman’s Ferry was established about 1790 by 
Harmanus Vedder, and called Vedder's Ferry 
until 1835. It was bought in 1835 by John Hoff- 
man, from whom it took its presentname. The 
present owner is Jeremiah Vanderhyden. The 
rate of passage is five cents for a single individual 
and ten cents for one horse and carriage. This is 
a railroad station of the Central Road, and is an in- 
significant place at present, with no hotel. It has 

E. TAYTI.OR. 

a small store, and has a hay barn for storing hay 
in transit for the market. The business interests 
center on the opposite side of the river, in Rotter- 
dam. 

In 1820, when the town of Glenville was set off 
from the City of Schenectady, much of the unoccu- 
pied land that was held by the city was cut up and 
sold in twenty-acre lots to residents of the city for 
wood lots. ‘his was sold in single lots only, and 
but one to the same person. This rendered farm- 
ing on these lands for a long time impossible. It 
was only in December of 1883 that the city sold 
the last of its lots, and many of these twenty-acre 
lots are still held. This has been one cause of 
delaying the development of this part of the county. 
Among the first settlers were the Glens, San- 

derses, Vieles, Van Eppses, Ostroms, Tolls, Bar- 
hydts, Browns, Johnsons and Carpenters. 

The following are the names and occupations of 
many of the principal persons in the town: 

C. P. Sanders, farmer, milk business and gar- 
dener; ex-Judge W. T. L. Sanders; Charles P. 
Sanders, Jr., attorney; John B. Wilson, specu- 
lator; AW. C. Carpenter, carpenter ; Lorenzo Van 
Patten, blacksmith ; Michael Whalen, blacksmith ; 
J. V. Z. Weaver, farmer and Justice of the Peace ; 

Lorenzo Lovett & Son, wholesale butchers ; Wil- 
lis C. Lovett, Justice of the Peace ; Jacob H. Hal- 
enbeck, dealer in tin-ware, and is Overseer of the 
Poor; N. S. Cheesman, practicing physician ; 
William Channer, broom business ; G. F. Becktel, 
shoe store; James H. Gillett, cabinet-maker ; 
Thomas Gould, Justice of the Peace: S. V. R. 
Ford, blacksmith, and has been Justice of the 
Peace; Lansing Slover, grocer; James Collins 
occupies one of the old Glen buildings, and is a 
son of Charles Collins, railroad contractor, etc. ; 
Philip Becker, on the Reese Place; Philip k. Toll, 
farmer, two miles north of Scotia; Charles I. Toll 
and Philip R. Toll, farmers; Tunis Vrooman, 
ah three miles north from Scotia; Alexander 
Van Eps, farmer, east from Scotia; John S. Lan- 
sing, farmer and milk dealer, two miles north of 
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THE TOWNSTITTP OF” GLENVILLE. 

Scotia; A. A. Livingston, farmer and milk dealer, 
four milés northeast of Scotia ; Joseph K. Passage, 
farmer; William Hasel, farmer, and occupies the 
old Viele Place, near Charies H. Tolls, one and 
one-half miles from Scotia, on the western turn- 
pike; B. H. Clute, farmer, three miles from Scotia ; 
Adam Swart and many others of the same name, 
six miles from Scotia, and descendants from first 
settlers; Charles H. Toll, extensive farmer, one 
mile from Scotia; Dan. Toll, farmer and broom 
manufacturer. two miles from Scotia; William 
Rector, farmer, five miles from Scotia; Charles W. 
Merselles, farmer, one and one-half miles north 

from Scotia; James T. Wyatt, farmer, four miles 
north from Scotia, and is now Supervisor ; John 
Houck, farmer and Commissioner of Highways, 
two miles northeast from Scotia. Eastward: Will- 
iam Dougal, farmer; Charles Dawson, farmer, 
and with his father in saw and _ grist-mill just over 
the line in Charlestown; J. J. Van Eps, farmer, and 
keeps hotel; James Van V erst, ‘farmer;s)) H. See- 
ley, farmer, near the Freeman Bridge ; Henry Slo- 

ver, farmer and milk dealer ; John Oliver, farmer ; 
Henry Palmer and Joseph Birch, farmers. Charles 
Closson keeps town house and has a store. ‘lhe 
building has been used as a town house for the 
past twenty years. Dan. Frank, farmer; GeorgeS. 
and Henry Cornell, farmers. 

In the western part of the town, W. S. Hammond, 

hotel and store ; Philip Green, farmer ; George P., 
John H. and Thomas Conde, farmers, and de- 
scendants of first settlers; Matthew R. Brown, 
farmer ; J. D. Van Eps, farmer ; George H. Van 
Buran keeps blacksmith and wheelwright shops ; 
Peter Y. Vandeveer, farmer and assessor; James 
Ostrom, farmer; Thomas Parks, harness-maker ; 
Johnson and Spencer and T. R. Patten, farmers ; 
Matthew Halenbeck, wagon-maker; Solomon 
Halenbeck, farmer, and former Justice of the 
Peace for several years; Rockwell Harmon, farmer; 
Edwin Young and L. B. Rulison, physicians. 

Hoffman's Ferry: Latin Johnson, farmer 
Aaron Bradt, farmer. 

WEST GLENVILLE. 

West Glenville is a village ten miles from 
Schenectady, containing twenty-eight dwellings, 
two blacksmith shops, one wagon shop, one har- 
ness shop, one shoe shop, one meat shop, one 
hotel—now closed—and two churches. It is in 
the northeast part of the town. The First Re- 
formed Church was organized in 1813, with an en- 
dowment from Schenectady. The church was 
built at once, and again rebuilt in 1872 at a cost 
of $8,500. There was half an acre connected for 
a burial ground, and there has since been added to 
it one and one-half acres, and the trustees are now 
making arrangements to again enlarge it. 

The minutes show the membership of 1883 to 
be 278; and three Sunday-schools connected with 
the chavo with an aggregate of 200 et 

The different pastors and dates of their settlement 
over the First Reformed Church, Glenville: 1. Rev. 
Peter Van Zandt, installed September $, 1818, the 
town then being embraced as the Fourth ward, 

| 

j 

Schenectady; Rev. Elbert Slingerland, installed 
July's, 1824; 3. Ge: Seth Bunnell, install ed Decem- 
ber 8, 1835; 4. Rev. Wilson Ingalls s, called Feb- 
ruary 4, 1840, and soon after installed; 5. Rey. 
Abram H. Myers, called February 2, 1852, and 
soon after installed; 6. Rev. Peter Burghardt, 
called September 5, 1855, and soon after installed; 
7. Rev. George H. Peck, called December 13, 
1861, and soon after installed; 8. Rev. John 
Miner, called February, 1864, and soon after in- 
stalled; 9. Rev. William Randell, called Febru- 
ary g, 1874, and soon after installed; ro. Rey. 
William J. Hill, called May, 1882, and soon after 
installed; 11. Rev. M. F. Nickerson has received 
an informal call, and is expected to be installed 
very soon, 

The Methodist Episcopal Society of West Glen- 
ville was organized in 1822 by Rev. Roswell 
Kelley, pastor, with seventy members. The first 
house of worship was erected in 1823, and the 
present house in 1848... The church is built of 

brick, and valued at $2,500, and will seat two 
hundred and fifty persons. This society was con- 
nected with the village of Charlton until 1877, 
when it was connected with a flourishing society at 
East Glenville, with a separate pastor. The present 
membership of the charge is one hundred and 
twenty-four. Its successive pastors have been 
Reverends T. Dodgson, C. Pomeroy, R. Kelley, 
John Fassett, W. Little, D. Poor, ref Williams, 
George C. Wells, L. D. Sherwood, W. T. Heard, 
H. Williams, John ‘Thompson, J. S.. Hart, J. F. 
Cope, ‘W. F. ‘Tiffany, R. Washburn, J. B. Wood, 
R. Patterson, S. S. Ford, William Earle, 5 oe 
Coleman, D. T. Elliot ; and since 1877 -—— Sut- 
ton, F. R. Sherwood, Joel Martin, J. P. Crane, 
W. W. Whitney, and the present pastor, Rev. H. 
S. Allen. This church a year ago procured two 
acres for a burial ground. 

EAST GLENVILLE. 

East Glenville contains a neat Methodist Episco- 
pal Church that has been lately rebuilt and refur- 
nished, with a burial ground attached, anda flourish- 
ing society and Sabbath- school, and a Lodge of 
Good Templars. 

The Town House is half a mile south of the 
Methodist Church. It was formerly a hotel, but 
at present has no license. A grocery store is kept 
in one part of it. This is all there is of the place. 

High Mills is in the northeast part of the town. 
It is a small place, containing a grist-mill and saw- 
mill, a blacksmith shop, wagon “shop, and a few 
other small shops. The town lately built at this 
se across the Aalplaat Creek, a fine iron bridge 

in place of the old wooden structure that formerly 
existed here. 

SCOTIA, 
The village of Scotia lies between the Mohawk 

and Sanders Lake, about half a mile from Sche- 
nectady. Reeseville was a suburb of Scotia of 
seven hundred and twenty-eight houses, and was 
named after a wealthy gentleman by the name of 
Reese who moved into “that neighl yorhood. The 

two places have since grown together, and are now 
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known only as Scotia. Scotia, the ancient name 
of Scotland, was the name given by its first settler. 
This tract commences at a point nearly opposite 
the eastern extremity of the city, and extends west- 
erly along the north side of the Mohawk about 
two miles. The first patent conveying it was 
granted November 3, 1665, by Governor Richard 
Niccols to Sanders Lendertse Glen (Anglice, Alex- 
ander Lindsay Glen). Mr. Glen was an immediate 
descendant of the Earl of Crawford and Lindsey, 
whose family had been on the peerage roll up to 
1399. Mr. Glen took to wife Catharine McDon- 
ald, the daughter of a Highland chieftain. He 
left Scotland in the year 1645, to avoid persecution 
in consequence of the stand he had taken in refer- 
ence to certain religious disputes which then 
agitated the country. He sided with the unfor- 
tunate Charles the. First, who vainly strove to intro- 
duce the English liturgy into Scotland. Mr. Glen 
first emigrated to Holland, and engaged in mercan- 
tile pursuits for a number of years. He finally 
came to New York, in company with a number of 
Dutch families. There and in Albany and in Sche- 
nectady he resided for several years. Some time 
previous to 1690 he moved to Scotia. The coun- 
try seat of Mr. Glen is still owned by his descend- 
ants, the Sanders family. Although it bears the 
advanced age of one hundred and sev enty-two 
years, it bids fair to outlive many of the flimsy 
structures which characterize the American archi- 
tecture of the present century. The iron figures 
showing the date of its erection (1713) are still to 
be seen. During the French wars it was rendered 
defensible. At the foot of a small hillock a few 
yards east of the mansion, tradition points to the 
spot where the Mohawks occasionally performed 
their sacrifices. 

As is elsewhere related, Captain Daniel Toll, 
during the French and Indian war, was the first 
victim of the Beukendaal massacre. 

Scotia contains about ninety dwellings, two 
stores, one hotel, without license, two blacksmith 
shops, shoe store, wagon-maker’s shop, and a few 
other places of business. It has a large district 
school-house, two churches, fire department, anda 
lodge of Good Templars. 

The Sanders House in this village is one of its 
principal attractions. Itis built a few feet to the 
north of where the first house stood, that was spared 
from destruction by the French and Indians in the 
terrible destruction.and massacre at Schenectady in 
1690, on account of favors shown previously by 
Mr. Glen to the French and Indians in a time of 
their suffering, The present stone house was 
bailt.in 1713, and is still owned and occupied by 
the Sanders family. The present occupant is 
Charles P. Sanders, of the seventh generation, with 
a large household of Sanderses. Their present farm 
consists of 1,000 acres, 1co acres of which is used 
for market garden. One hundred cows are kept 
on the farm, besides a large quantity of other stock. 
Thirty acres are used for berries. The yield of 
these rich alluvial flats, thoroughly worked as these 
are, is astonishing. Mr. Sanders has one acre that 
yielded this year 1,300 bushels of carrots, Mr. 

Sanders has three milk wagons and four vegetable 
wagons for delivery daily to Schenectady, and 

ships a large quantity of vegetables to New York. 
tn 1873 a fire department was organized by vol- 

untary subscriptions, two cisterns were built, one 
hand engine was purchased, with 400 feet of hose 
and cart. In 1877 this fire company was duly in- 
corporated by the Legisl ature of the State, and pro- 
visions made for its support, at an annual expense 
not to exceed $250, to be levied and collected 
upon the school district as usual school taxes are. 

The organization of this company was the out- 
come of a series of incendiary fires, which will long 
be remembered by those who were residents of 
the village during the winter of 1873-74. For all 
winter long, every resident in turn was fully armed 
and determined to mete out justice on the spot to 
the incendiary. From four to ten persons patrolled 
the streets each night from dark to daylight, at 
times through snow knee-deep and in_ blinding 
storms, around every house, barn and outbuilding 
inthe place. In two years’ time, within a radius 
of less than one mile, four dwellings in which fam- 
ilies were living, one vacant house, two stores, one 
broom shop, two blacksmith shops, one rope-walk 
about 400 feet Jong, one straw barn, one large 
broom-corn dry-house, three large barns, together 
with other small outbuildings—all of these, with 
their contents, furniture, horses, cows, hogs, fowls, 
etc., were entirely destroyed, excepting one store 
and dwelling, from which a portion of the contents 
were saved. Several other buildings were set on 
fire, and the fire was extinguished with small dam- 
age. The largest of these fires, and the most ex- 
citing, was on the night of November 1st and 
morning of the 2d, 1873, when the large rope-walk 
and fifteen other buildings were on fire at the same 
time. Since the organization of the fire company 
the loss by fire has been very small. 

The only bridges of note are across the Mohawk, 
of which two are toll road bridges, and four rail- 
road bridges, all built of iron, of the latest style and 

best construction. The road bridge from Scotia 
to Schenectady deserves special mention. At this 
crossing was the first ferry over the Mohawk from 
Schenectady to Scotia. The first bridge was built 
in about 1807, and was in two immense spans with 
but one pier, which was in the center of the river. 
(This pier still remains, and is the center pier of 
the present bridge.) This first bridge when about 
completed, before a team had crossed it, fell of its 
own weight into the river. 

A second structure was built in 180g, with two 
additional piers. Burr, the justly celebrated archi- 
tect, planned and superintended the construction 
of it. In 1821 this bridge was reconstructed, having 
passed into the hands of the President, Directors, 
etc., of the Mohawk Bridge Co., by an Act of 
the State Legislature; the cost was $49,000, divided 
into $5 shares. Four additional piers were added, 
and a cover was made over the entire length. By 
these additions the appearance was very irregular, 
and the new piers steadily settled and leaned, 
that the bridge became as zig-zag as a rail fenbe 
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THE TOWNSHIP OF GLENVILLE. 189 

and its crazy appearance to those who passed 
through it in its last days, will not soon be for- 
gotten. Yet so firmly was this wooden structure 
put together, that the process of taking it down 
was a task of great difficulty. 

Over this bridge the Saratoga Railroad to Albany 
first crossed in 1832, and continued until 1835, 
when the Albany and Utica Railroad was built, 
and united with the Saratoga and built a double- 
track bridge half a mile below. 

The Saratoga Railroad Company, when they 
first built their road across the Scotia bridge, in 
consideration of land furnished them by Mr, 
Sanders on the Scotia side for depot, freight- 
houses and repair shops, etc., bound themselves 
to stop trains there twice a day forever, and to do 
all their repairing there. The railroad company 
soon after, with more forethought, bought Mr. 
Sanders’ claim against them for the sum of $1,500, 
and, as before stated, united with the Utica Rail- 
road in 1835, and built a double-track bridge half 
a mile below this. 

By a special act of the State Legislature in 1874, 
the town of Glenville came into possession of the 
old covered bridge and took it down, and built 
the present superb structure, an iron bridge of nine 
spans, and now permits the inhabitants of Glen- 
ville to pass over it free, charging toll to all others. 
This bridge was constructed by the Remington 
Manufacturing Company, Ilion, N. Y., at a cost 
of $61,000. C. P. Sanders, President; I. H. 
Toll, T. C.; Committee: S. Hallenbeck, I. W. 
Pangburn, S. V. R. Ford, M..C. Dyer; and C. 
Hilton, engineer. 

The Utica and Albany Railroad, to obtain their 

charter, were required to build a dyke, for a high- 
way, from the Scotia bridge to the Sanders’ resi- 
dence, a distance of half a mile, across the low 
flats that overflow yearly, and to keep it in repair. 
This dyke is fifteen feet high above the flats. 
When the Utica Railroad became a part of the New 
York Central, to obtain their charter they were 
obliged to take this dyke and keep it in repair. 
The Central is now trying to throw its maintenance 
upon the town. Fifteen years ago, Rev. F. F. 
Wilson secured sufficient funds, by voluntary sub- 
scription, to build a plank walk along this dyke, 
and in 1874 it was replaced by a stone flag walk 
through money obtained in the same manner. 

There is an iron toll bridge three miles down 
the river, connecting Glenville with Niskayuna. 

The New York Central crosses from Schenectady 
over a four-track bridge into Glenville, and runs 
nine miles through the town along the Mohawk 
westward. 

The Boston and Hoosac Tunnel Railroad, built 
in 1883, runs three and one-half miles in this town, 
and crosses on an iron bridge into Rotterdam, 
there connecting with the West Shore road at Rot- 
terdam Junction. It is a single track, although 
its charter and bridges provide for a double track. 

The Delaware and Hudson Canal Company 
runs three and one-half miles in the town, passing 
out of Schenectady on a double-track iron bridge 
of their own, having left the Central’s bridge. 

The Delaware and Hudson Canal Company have 
also lately built another iron bridge across the 
Mohawk, one and a half miles below. the city, for 

aisidesrack, CHURCHES. 
The Second Reformed Protestant Dutch Church 

of Glenville, at Scotia, was organized November 21, 
1818. At its organization it was called the North 
Branch of the Reformed Protestant Dutch Church 
of Schenectady, from the fact that its first members 
who resided on this side of the Mohawk were for- 
merly connected with the Dutch Church in Sche- 
nectady. This name was retained tillthe year 1834 
when the present one was adopted. ‘The organ- 
ization of this church was largely due to the efforts 
of the Rev. Andrew Yates, D.D., a professor in 
Union College, who for several years did mission- 
ary work among the people then settled here. The 
names of the first consistory of this church were: 
Cornelius De Graff, John Haverly, John Van Pat- 
ten and Aaron Van Antwerp, elders; Alexander 
Van Epps, Cornelius Viele, Simon Van Patten and 
Aaron R. Schermerhorn, deacons. The church 
edifice, builtof brick, was completed and dedicated 
July 14, 1822. There was no settled pastor until 
the year 1826, it being supplied by Revs. Yates 
and Proudfit, of Union College. The following is 
the list of its pastors and the length of their pas- 
torates: Rev. James Murphy, eight years ; Rev. 
Hermon B. Stryker, three years; Rev. A. J. Stuits, 
four years; Rev. A. B. Crocker, six years; Rev. 
N. D. Williamson, four years; Rev. Elbert 
Slingerland, three years; Rev. Philip Berry, 
eichteen months ; Rey. F. F, Wilson, six years ; 

Rev. A. A. Bookstaver, about two years; Rey. A. 
Johnston, four years; Rev. H. Van Derwart, six 
years. The present pastor is Rev. D. K. Van 
Doren. He took charge of the church May 1, 
1883. The first parsonage for the use of the min- 
ister was purchased October, 1829, of Barent Cra- 
mer. It was located in the village of Scotia, and 
cost three hundred dollars. The present parsonage 
is situated upon the church lot, and occupies the 
most beautiful and sightly location in this region, 
It was built in the year 1870, and belongs to the 
Ladies’ Society connected with the church. This 
society was organized in the year 1850, and was 
incorporated in 1870. 

In the rear and on either side of the church is 
the cemetery, including about an acre of ground, 
which was laid out in lots and inclosed by a stone 
wall in the year 1849. This stone wall was the 
work of John Chamberlain and John Sanders. The 
burial place prior to the year 1849 was along 
the highway that leads from the church to Scotia. 
The interior of the church edifice has twice been 

repaired; the first during the pastorate of Rev. F. 
F. Wilson, when the high pulpit, that stood on pil- 
lars, and the old-fashioned square pews were re- 
moved; and again during the pastorate of Rev. H. 
Van Derwart, when a thorough internal renovation 

and remodeling took place at a cost of over $3,000. 
It is a gem in its present internal arrangement. The 
present consistory are: W. T. L. Sanders, William 
Rector, John Lansing and John Houck, Elders; 
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and Joseph Cornell, Peleg Thomas, Anthony | until 1726. He died at his home at Maalwyck on 
| Stalker, John McMichael, Deacons. ‘The present 

membership of the church is one hundred and 
sixty-one. The Superintendent of the Sabbath- 
school is Hon. W. T. L. Sanders, who has occu- 
pied that important position for twenty-five years. 

The Scotia Baptist Church of Glenville was 
organized July 1, 
sixty-seven, which has increased to one hundred. 
The value of church property is $9,co9. 

The pastors have been: 8. McCollum, 1840 
to 1842; H. J. Moshier, 1842 to 1843; Will- 
iam Bowen, 1849 to 1850; Almon_ Virgil, 
1851 to 1852; Rev. Mr. Green, 1853 to death; 

. H. Kent, ordained January, 1855, to May, 
1857; J. W. Jones,-1856 to, 1861; T. S.. Rud- 
gers, 1862 to 1864; Simeon Knapp, ordained 
February, 1865 to death, May 15, 1867; C. L. 
Van Allen, .1867 to 1871;. H. W. Webber, 1871 
to 1873; J: :Re; Merriman; 71373 “to. 1876:;. “I 
H. Judson, 1877 (six months); T. G. Lamb, 
1877 to 1878; Edward Conover, 1879 to 1883. 
The pastorate is now vacant. 

The church for about twenty years has had a 
burial ground of four acres. These facts are fur- 
nished by W. G. Caw, Esq., clerk. 

SCHOOLS. 

There are eighteen districts and school-houses, of | 
which fourteen are in the town and four are joint 
districts connecting with adjoining towns. School 
buildings are generally good. Scotia hasa fine two- 
story brick structure, with two departments, employ- 
ing two first-class teachers. Mr. Wemple is principal. 
It has 105 scholars. Whole number of scholars in 
the town between the ages of five and twenty-one 
years, 780. The pay of teachers is from one to 
two dollars per day. 

THE TOLL FAMILY: 

- Anterior to the arrival in America of Karel Haen- 
sen Toll, nothing definite of the direct lineage is 
recorded. The name, however, is not unknown 
in foreign history. 

In old records the name is variously written as 
Toll, Tol, Van Toll, Van Tholl, and Tollins. 

Henrich Voll. surnamed ‘* the Valiant,” com- 
manded the Dutch ship in which he bore the order 
for the surrender of the New Netherlands to the 
English, June 7, 1674. 

Karel Haensen Toll was born in Norway about 
1650. He was a mariner, and while on a cruise 

was captured off the coast of Central America and 
imprisoned in the fortress of Puerto Bello. He es- 
caped, swam to a vessel, and reached New York 
probably in 1680. He soon came to Albany, and 
there married Tyobert Binckhout. In 1684 they 
removed to Schenectady and bought part of the 
seventh flat. In 1694 he was a member of the 
Dutch Church. He bought many parcels of land. 
some of them quite extensive, and once owned 
what is now the Court House lot in Schenectady. 
In 1715 he was elected to the first Assembly con- 
vened after the accession of George I, and served 

1840, with a membership of | 

March, 1737. Much of the property of Karel Toll 
is still in the possession of his descendants. Maal- 
wyck is retained by the heirs of his son Simon, and 
those of his son Daniel occupy Beukendaal. 

Captain Daniel Toll, born July, 1691, married 
Grietje, daughter of Samuel Bratt, September 8, 
1717. Seven children were born, three of whom 
were living when he made his will in 1747. His 
wife died in 1743. He was the first victim of the 
Beukendaal massacre. [An account of this mas- 
sacre will be found in connection with the French 
and Indian Wars, } 

Johannes Toll, son of Daniel, was born August 
13, 1719, and married Eva Van Petten December 
23, 1742. He died December 21, 1746, leaving a 
wife and one child. 

Carel Haensen Toll, son of Johannes, born 
February 1745, married Elizabeth, daughter of 
Philip Ryley, January 10, 1767. He inherited the 
3eukendaal estate. He also purchased other lands. 
Tunis Vrooman, John Winne and others now own 
part of these lands. He died at the homestead 
August 26,1832, and Elizabeth also died there Octo- 

ber 25,1839. They had seven children, five daugh- 
ters, all of whom made desirable marriages, and two 
sons, Johannes and Philip Ryley. Philip R. Toll 
married the daughter of Judge Isaac De Graff, of 
Schenectady. He served in the war of 1812 under 
General Wade Hampton. In 1534 he removed to 
Michigan, where he subsequently died. 

Johannes Toll (John C.) was born September 
13, 1780. He graduated from Union College in 
1799, and subsequently entered the ministry of the 
Reformed Dutch Church. He lost his health in 
1821, andremoved to his farm,where he died Octo- 
ber 21, 1849. His wife survived him unul October 
9, 1859. ‘They had three sons and one daughter. 

Philip Ryley Toll was born February 9g, 1811, 
at Canajoharie, N. Y., and married Maria De Graff, 
of Amsterdam, N. Y., September 13, 1842. He 
died at the homestead April 7, 1883. He left a 
widow and one son and two daughters, the eldest 
being married to Mr. E. D. Hill, of Albany, N. 
Y., September 13, 1882. 

The Toll homestead, now called Locust Vale, is 

at present managed by Frank R. Toll. It is situ- 
ated on the New York Central and Hudson 
River Railroad, four miles northwest from 
Schenectady, and contains 180 acres. The 
residence, farm buildings and soil make it one 
of the finest homes in the section. The resi- 
dence is surrounded by thrifty orchards. Upon 
the premises are Tolls Vinegar Works, where 
during the last year 10,000 bushels of apples were 
made into cider. 

Miss Maria Antoinette Toll kindly furnished 
a detailed history of the Toll family. We regret 
that lack of space forbids our publishing it in full— 
only a part appears above. Miss Toll is a daughter 
of the late Philip R. Toll, Esq., Glenville, of the 
Beukendaal (Beech Valley) Farm. She is a fine 
artist, having studied under Mr. Palmer, of Albany, 
and has lately opened a studio in Schenectady 
that is attracting much attention, 
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oes 
Witttam Rector was born in Glenville (then 

the fourth ward of the city of Schenectady) Decem- 
ber 4, 1806, a son of Zachariah and Maria (Moore) 
Rector, natives of Schodac, Rensselaer County. 
His education was limited to the course of instruc- 
tion then afforded by the common schools of his 
native town. He was obliged to work to earna 
living for himself, and also to aid his father’s 
family, from the time he wasa mere lad. May 12, 
1834, he married Miss Susan Haverley, of Glen- 
ville. His mother died December 24, 1841, and 
his father November 15, 1845, when he inherited 
the latter’s farm. In December, 1847, he pur- 
chased his present homestead, and moved thereon 
in March, 1848, from the family homestead, a 
mile north, where he has since lived. Mr. and 
Mrs. Rector have been spared through a long 
period of married life. They have had three chil- 
dren, two of whom, Christian Rector and Mrs. i}. 
T. Wyatt, are living. 

Mr. Rector has been a life-long Democrat, and 
has taken a creditable interest in public affairs. 
The concerns of his town have commanded his at- 

| 

| 
| 

{ 

tention to a considerable degree, and he has served 
his townsmen as Assessor, Commissioner of High- 
ways, and for twenty-seven years as one of the 
Trustees ofthe Town Fund. He, as has his family, 
has long been connected with the Dutch Reformed 
Church of Scotia, to the interests of which he has 
ever been a willing and liberal contributor. 

BROOM CORN. 

The first broom corn planted in the Mohawk 
Valley was about fifty years ago. 

Isaac Toll, father of Charles B. Toll, present 
proprietor of the Maalwyck Farm, one and one- 
half miles west from Schenectady, was one of 
the first to engage in its production. George Can- 
field, of New Jersey, came to Glenville about 1840. 
He invented the hand-planter, the horse-planter, 
and greatly improved the broom-winder. 

Mr. Charles H. Toll was one of the largest 
cultivators and consumers of broom corn in the 
world. He planted roo acres, and converted 
into brooms the products of 1,000 acres yearly. 
Mr. Toll invented a machine for winding brooms 



ofl lets SoZ ab: =) tdiprob ie09 8 3 HOLA 
Sah Ha CPT OPEC : ae ee ahd 

aie? aevseywowt tol fame, Ppa 

en oF}. Averett aol ativig zoatenyt 
i sdt dipy bersaanos eged enol sed 

sient sdt ob pies! Iu doi 
jorudidnos igtsdii bases & tiged 109 . 

VWAOD Ae IAG. ; 

iol silt ai Hormaig moa rood sha odT 
loge giesr A mode aey velte7 

HoT a avlss ye iy Bisa tot oepeh 

ade inant Ey adentt ot) 1G. teteinyord 
“i bslosuatiod: growth tesa opel ion — Thea 

wits a Tce aha SRERHS Od deri: oii 

w32910 

seitis OE 

WIG ey 
"y St 1i a <3 

aie 108 od yarsieley- Sat. hy hotaavat: ait. 

ashirbe cord art’ Baise ubeore bik: 
1 Tt ested ah. ana HoT arnt 

~siid 
Uaiter nue hag. 2a! Oot Brine lr ae 

jg es Sond gimenrd. otal 

A SOO ehh. 

ui ia gllivaslO of sma Aeael we Io blsik 

iy atoa nicord W alonrscr obi POPS - 
adobe. 

SS aS Pa ee, aes Ps to? 

~iandd} alte wall. ni 
srg (ze out 8 ie 
(ricoh ahd 

me SHAUL) esis 
~urnes Yo sees 
wink to wre 

# MAKE, hp 



192 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

by steam, one for sewing them, and also one 
for inclosing bunches of brooms in manilla 
sacks. His sales here have been 47,0co dozen 
brooms annually, 20,000 dozen of which he 
manufactured. 

Since 1877 the broom-corn interest has declined 
in Glenville. The competition of western lands 
is the cause. Parties from Glenville have gone to 
different parts of the country and given instruc- 
tions in the business. Glenville farmers have 
lately engaged quite extensively in the milk busi- 
ness, supplying the people of Schenectady, and 

now only a few small broom factories remain in 
the town. [In connection with the history of the 
industries of Schenectady, a more general account 
of broom corn appears. | 

We take pleasure in making mention of the fol- 
lowing well-known citizens, who, by their guaran- 
teed support, have helped to insure the publication 
of this valuable work: J. G. Lansing, P. A. Liv- 
ingston, C. W. Marcellus, Joseph K. Passage, 
Wm. Rector, Charles P. Sanders, Jr., F. R. Toll, 
James Van Vorst and J. D. Van Epps. 

HISTORY OF THE . TOWNSHIP \OP°'NISKAYUNA, 

By Rev. E. 

INTRODUCTION. 

HE name of this town is said to be derived from 
the term Nis-ti-go-oo-ne, or Co-nis-ti-glo no, 

by which it is known on the old maps. The 
name signifies extensive corn flats. The term was 
also applied to portions of Watervliet and Half- 
moon, and the first ward of Schenectady. Upon 
the advent of the whites, this place was occupied 
by a tribe of Indians known as the Conistigione. 

Niskayuna was formed from Watervliet, Albany 
County, March 7, 1809, with a population of 681; 
and a part of Schenectady was annexed in 1853. 
Niskayuna contains 10,471 acres. It lies on the 
Mohawk in the east part of the County. Its sur- 
face is mostly upland, terminating in steep bluffs 
upon the river valley. The intervales are very rich 
and productive. A strip of land, about a mile wide, 
extending back from the summits of the bluffs, has a 
hard clay soil, and a considerable portion of it is 
swampy and unfit for cultivation; further south 
the soil is sandy. Population of the town in 1880 
was 9goO. 
The following are the names, which tradition has 

preserved, of a few of the chiefs of the Connesti- 
giune band, who inhabited this section of country : 
Ron-warrigh-wok-go-wa, signifying in English the 
great fault-finder or grumbler; Ka-na-da-rokh- 
go-wa, signifying a great eater; Ro-ya-na, a chief; 
As-sa ve-go, big knife; A-voon-ta-go-wa, big tree. 
Of these, the first made the greatest objections to 
alienating their lands to the whites, and in every 
deed was careful to have a covenant inserted, by 
which the rights of hunting and fishing were pre- 
served to them. It was a common saying of his 
that ‘‘after the whites have taken possession of 
our lands, they will make kaut-sore (literally 
‘spoon food’ or soup) of our bodies.” Yet he 
was on the most friendly terms with the whites, 
and was never backward in extending to them his 
powerful influence and personal aid during their 
expeditions against the Canadians during the 

BE. TAYLOR. 

French war. He took great delight in instructing 
the boys of the settlers in the arts of war. He was 
constantly complaining that the government did 
not prosecute the war against the French with suf- 
ficient vigor, The council fire of the Connesti- 
giune band was held about a mile south of the 
village. i 

Niskayuna was visited in 1687 by a spy from 
the Adirondacks, the allies of the French. Hunger 
drove him to the house of a Dutchman by the 
name of Van Brakle, where he devoured an enor- 
mous quantity of the food set before him, which 
happened to be pork and peas. Although his 
movements had been marked with more than 
usual caution, the eagle eye of ‘‘the Grumbler” 

detected him. He waylaid him on leaving the 
house of his entertainer, and after a short conflict 
made him bite the dust. Having severed the head 
of the corpse from the body, he repaired to the 
house of Van Brakle, and threw the head into the 
window, exclaiming to the owner, ‘‘behold the 
head of your pea-eater,” 

The first settlement of this town was made by an 
independent class of Hollanders—like the pioneers 
of Schenectady—who located outside the manor 
line to avoid the conflicting exactions of the Pa- 
troons, and the trading government of the New 
Netherlands. It was settled at an early date, about 
the same time that Schenectady was. 

EARLY SEITLERS. 

Among the early settlers were the Clutes, Ved- 
ders, Van Vrankens, Groots, ‘l'ymersons, Consauls, 
Pearses, Van Brookhovens, Claas Jansen, and 
Krygiers (now written Cregier). 

From an old document it appears that Harmon 
Vedder obtained a patent for some land here in 
1664. 

The mention of Captain Martin Krygier revives 
the memory of an old Holland soldier who is 
buried on this soil, and was one of Governor 

Stuyvesant’s most trusted friends, ambassadors and 
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officers: who had fought for him in many battles, 
| 

if 
into a first-class stock farm. Mr. Stanford owns 

and was iis strong right arm in the front rank in | several valuable farms, and is largely connected 

every hourof danger. His descendants still reside 
in Niskayuna and some of them probably on the 

old homestead farm. 
Niskavuna is fiotored in holding such a deposit 

of the old’ colonial dimes, and his descendants, who 

are numerous in the State, should revere his 
memory, 
Among others worthy of note are Johannes 

Clute, whe settled in Niskayuna in 1654 on lands 

he received by will from his rich uncle, Captain 
Johannes ¢ lute, of Albany, [Ie married Baata, 

daughter of Garret Van Shehtenhorst, and grand- 
daughter of Brant Arantse Van Slichtenhorst, who 
was director (head man) of the colony of Rensse- 
lacrwyck in 1646, and who proved to be a foeman 
worthy of Gosernor Stuyvesant most bitter ani- 
mosity. She was also the granddaughter of the in- 
domitable Colonel Philip  Pieterse Schyler. In 
162y, her husband, Johannes, being a prisoner in 
Canada, this remarkable woman, with great ability 
manaced all his business affairs. Johannes Clute 
dicd November 26, 1725, and was buried in Nis- 
kayuna, He left surviving him three sons and five 
daughters. 

Joux Duxeas, a voung Scotchman, with his 
wile, Martha March, came to Schenectady in 1755. 
Ile was possessed of a good capital, and opened 
an extensive mercantile establishment on an im- 
proved and extensive scale, and was very success- 
ful. Ele subscquently purchased all of the present 
town of Princetown and titles to lands; these are 

now held under grants from himselfand sons. He 
built acountry seat called the Hermitage (that after 
his decease burned down) on his farm of Soo 
acres in the town of Niskayuna, a part of which is 
at present owned and occupied by ex-Senator 
Charles Stanford. The place is on the Schenectady 
and Albany turnpike, about three miles from the 
City of Schene cctady. At the Hermitage, Mr. Dun- 

can died May 5, 1791, aged 69 years, much es- 
teemed for generous hospitality and unostentatious 
benevolence. 

Shortly after the Hermitage was burned down, 
the place came into the hands of the Schuylers, 
who built a house on arise of ground about one 
hundred yard snorth of the site where the Hermit- 
age stood—the site of the Hermitage is distinctly 
marked by its old well that stood by the door, 
which the writer was shown while visiting the 
place. The Schuylers, after living here a number 
of years, sold the place to Captain Hand, and 
after a few vears he sold the place to John I. 
Vrooman, and he sold it to Josiah Stanford in 
March, 1859. Josiah Stanford died 1561, and in 
1865 Senator Charles Stanford, son of Josiah, 

bought ihe plac ce of the heirs, rebuilt, enlarg red and 

modernized the dwelling, ana converted the place 

with many leading enterprises in the City of Sche- 
nectady. He is a large stockholder in and a Direet- 
or of the Water-works, and in the McQueen Loco- 
motive works. 

Spoor JAN SyMmonsE lived in Niskayuna in 1664. 
His daughter Antjo was killed ity the French and 
Indians at Schenectady in 1690. 

Criutre.—There were three individuals of this 
name who early became residents of Albany or 
Niskayuna—Captain Jan, his nephew Johannes, 
and Frederick Clute. 

Captain Jan CrutTe came to Beverwyck about 
1656, from Nuremburg,and became a trader and con- 
siderable land holder in Beverwyck, Loonenburgh 
(opposite Hudson), Niskayuna, etc. He was held 
in great esteem by the Indians, from whom he 
obtained large grants of land. It is not known 
that he had any other relative here than Johannes 
Clute, his nephew, who on his death in 1683 
became his heir. 

Jouannes Crure. —Through embarrassment, 
caused either by his own or his uncle’s debts, 
Johannes was obliged to part with a portion of his 
land soon after the death of his uncle. To add 
to his other troubles he was taken prisoner in 
1692 by the Indians and carried captive to Canada. 
While absent, his affairs were managed by his wife, 
Baata Van Slichtenhorst. On the 28th of June 
she cited Sanders Glen and Barent Wemp, Admin- 
istrators of Sweer Teunise Van Vechten’s estate, 
before the Court of Albany, demanding of them 
nine pounds six shillings and six- pence “ for y® re- 
maining pay‘ of a negro named Jacob, sold by old 
John Cloet to Sweer Teunise, and produce y” * book 
of s* John Cloet, Senior, kept by her husband, 
John Cloet, Junior.” The defendants asked time. 
By his wife Baata, daughter of Gerret Van Slich- 
tenhorst, he had eight children. He was buried 
in Niskayuna, November 26, 1725. 

FREDERICK CLUTE came from Kingston to Nis- 
kayuna in 1703, and bought one hundred and 
fifty acres of land from Johannes Clute. What 
relationship, if any, existed between them is not 
known. He married Francyntje Du Mond, or 
Dumont, probably in Kingston, before removing 
to Niskayuna with six children, and had four after- 
wards, 

All the Clutes in this region are believed to be 
descendants from either Johannes or Frederick. 

Rosert H. WenpELL, a son of Hendrick Wen- 
dell, Jr., of Albany, was born February 7, 1760. 
He was an attorney-at-law, and married ‘Agnes, 
daughter of Peter Fonda. He died at his country 
seat, on the Troy turnpike, within a short distance 
of Schenectady, July 7, 1848, aged eighty-eight 
years and five months. 
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194 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

HENRY R. WENDELL. 

The Wendell family, which is so creditably 
represented at Schenectady, Albany and elsewhere 
in this part of the county, is of Holland extraction, 

4A MEL Lee 

and during many generations has ranked as one of 
the leading families of Albany and vicinity. Three 
brothers of the name were among the early settlers 
in this county. In timea descendant of one of 
these married Helen Van Rensselaer, daughter of | 
Hendrick Van Rensselaer and Catrina Van 
Brough, his wife. Catrina Van Brough was the 
daughter of Johannes Van Brough and Catrina 
Jans, his wife. Catrina Jans was the daughter of 
Roeloff Jans and Anneke Jans, his wife, w ho. after 
his death, became the wife of Dominie Everhardus 
Bogardus. Thus it will be seen that all of the de- 
scendants of Jacob Wendell and his wife, Helen 
Van LRennselaer, are descendants from the cele- 
brated Anneke Jans, whose possessions, both in her 
own right and through her marriage with Dominie 
Bogardus, embraced much of what is now highly 
valuable property in and near New York City, 
including the ‘Trinity Church property, which has 

figured so prominently in the public prints for 
many years. The unique coat of arms of the Wen- 
dell family is in possession of Miss Agnes L. Wen- 
dell, of Schenectady. 

Henry Wendell was a son of Jacob Wendell 
above-mentioned, and was born in Albany. He 
married Mary Lansing, of the old Albany family of 
that name, and to them was born Robert H. Wen- 
dell, father of Henry R. Wendell. Henry Wen- 
dell held under the crown, and later, under the sov- 

ereignty of the State, the office of High Sheriff, with 
a jurisdiction quadruple the extension it has at 
present. At the breaking out of the revolutionary 
war, both he and his son, Robert H. Wendell (who 
was born in Albany, February 7, 1760), joined the 
cause of liberty, and engaged each year in the perils 
of the same. Robert served in the counties of 
Herkimer, Schoharie and Saratoga; was engaged 
in the principal battles and skirmishes on the Mo- 
hawk, and more particularly at West Canada 
Creek, where the British force from Canada, under 
the command of Colonel Butler, Major Ross and 
Brandt, was met and routed, and Butler killed. 
The war over, he was educated professionally, and 
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THE. TOWNSHIP OF NISKAIUNA: 195 

at the age of twenty-four removed to Schenectady 
and commenced practice as an attorney. He was 
the oldest attorney on the list, and during his career 
an active pleader as well as counselor. Schenec- 
tady then claimed Robert H. Wendell as her on- 
ward legal son, and at his decease an honored sire 
in the legal circle. Some years he spent, now as- 
serting, now defending rights, till disease came and 
he was forced to quit his profession. He removed 
to College Hill and built his house and improved 
his lands—changed pursuits, and brought to bear 
on agriculture a sound and philosophic judgment; 
and thus lived till he died (July 7, 1848), when in 
the memory of those who knew his virtues, he left 
a recollection sweet as pure, and a eulogy in their 
hearts for one who cherished for his fellow-men 
true benevolence, and for his country devoted pa- 
triotism. His wife, Agnes Fonda, was born in 
Schenectady March 26, 1760, and died on College 

Hill March 30, 1828. 

Henry R. WenpDELL, son of Robert H. Wendell 
and Agnes Fonda, his wife, was born at the cor- 
ner of State street and Mill lane, Schenectady 
(now the Y. M. C. A. property), where his father 
resided, September 18, 1784, and died on College 
Hill, at the Wendell homestead, March 13, 1863, 
aged eighty-three years. His youth was spent in 
the house of his father at Schenectady, and in the 
household of General Matthew Trotter, of Albany. 
He prepared for college at the best schools in Al- 
bany, and in due time was graduated from Union 
College. It is not strange that the son of one rev- 
olutionary patriot and the grandson of another 
should have inherited a martial spirit, nor that it 
should have been rendered active and intensified 
by the events which preceded the outbreak of the 
war of 1812-14. - He was one of the first to offer 
his services in defense of his country, and on the 3d 
of January, 1812, he was commissioned as ensign 
in the Sixth Regiment of Infantry. He was placed 
in charge of a recruiting rendezvous at Schenec- 
tady soon afterward, and met with much success 
in raising volunteers. In July following he re- 
ceived orders to close the recruiting station and 
join Captain Nelson’s company, then lying with 
other troops at Greenbush. Not long afterward the 
entire command was ordered to the Niagara fron- 
tier, and Mr, Wendell did gallant service and 
braved many dangers at Black Rock, Queenston, 
Lewiston and Fort Niagara, and later at Platts- 
burgh and Sackett’s Harbor. He was promoted to 
be a second lieutenant January 12, 1812, and to 
be a first lieutenant March 27, 1814. His several 
commissions are preserved by his daughter, Miss 
Agnes L. Wendell, and a record left by him shows 
that he did not terminate his military career until 
August, 1815, when he was constrained to resign 
by a probability of being brought into conflict with 
the civil authorities of Schenectady, near which 
place he was at that time stationed. Documents 
which are still in existence show that he merited 
and received the commendation of his command- 
ing officers. After the war he lived for a time at 
Niskayuna, at Alexander’s bridge (since the con- 
struction of the canal called the aqueduct), where 

he combined the duties incident to attending 
the bridge—store-keeping, farming and tavern- 
keeping. Later he removed to Schenectady and 
passed the balance of his life on College Hill. No- 
vember 22, 1817, he was married by the Rev. 
Charles Stebbins, of Schenectady, to Miss Parmela 

Perry, daughter of Benjamin and Love Perry, who 
was born in Salisbury, Conn., ils II, 1790, and 
died December 18, 1870, aged eighty years. 

Children were born to Mr. and. Mrs. Henry R. 
Wendell as follows: Anna Maria, who married 
Mr. James M. Moyston, and died February 4, 

1865; Margaret, who married Mr. F. eer 
Trotter, and died March 13, 1868; Agnes L., who 
is still living at the Wendell homestead; and ee 
who died Jamun 5, 1880. : 

Mr. Wendell is remembered by nearly all of the 
older residents of the city as one of the few who 
lived beyond the period of the old Schenectady 
into that of the busy, enterprising Schenectady of 
to-day. He was an interesting conversationalist, 
and was rich in historical reminiscences of this 
section. He was a man of good mental ability, 
high honor and genial social qualities, and it is to 
be regretted that he was the last male of his family 
in direct line. 

WARS AND FORTIFICATIONS. 

to 

In 1746 Governor Clinton recommended to build 

a line of block-houses for fortifications west from 

Fort Massachusetts to the Mohawk Castle at Fort 
Hunter, which was adopted. One of them was 
built at Canastagioone (Niskayuna). 

[See French and Indian Wars, and Forts and 
Garrisons for complete account. | 

PROVINCIAL INTERPRETER. 

Hilitie, the eldest daughter of Cornelis Antonisen, 
married Peter Danielse Van Olinda, of Niskayuna. 
She was for many years employed as provincial in- 
terpreter with the Indians by the government at 
$50 per annum. The Mohawk sachems in 1667 
gave her the Great Island in the Mohawk River at 
Niskayuna. She and her husband sold the island 
in 1669 to Captain Johannes Clute. The island is 
now owned and occupied by the Quaker Com.- 
munity of Watervliet. The sachems also gave 
land at the Willow Flats below Port Jackson, and 
at the Boght on the Mohawk in Watervliet. She 
died February 10, 1807, leaving three sons, Daniel, 
Jacob, and Matthew. The last died unmarried. 
Daniel, the oldest son, born June 11, 1696, mar- 
ried Lysbeth Kregear, a granddaughter of the old 
Burgomaster Martinus Gregier. Jacob, the second 
son, married Eva, daughter of Class De Graff, and 
left four sons, named ‘Peter, William, Martin, and 
Nicholas; also one daughter, Helena, who, on the 
16th of June, 1723, married Johannes Quackenbos. 

THE NISKAYUNA PATENT, 

This tract lay to the east and south of the Sche- 
nectady patent, and extended from the Ael-Plaats 
south to the north line of the Manor of Rensselaer- 
wyck. 

On the 5th of August, 1738, a patent was ob- 
tained for this land by Arent Bradt and Jacob Glen, 
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196 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

in trust for the Reformed Protestant Dutch Church 
of Schenectady. It was then estimated to contain 
2,500 acres, but owing to an error in measurement, 
rectified in 1788, fell considerably short of that 
amount. 

[See Church History for account of land grants. ] 

RIVER FLATS. 

It is two centuries and a quarter since this valley 
was settled. It lies in a beautiful intervale on the 
margin of the Mohawk River, the great highway 
to the West. 

These flats were tilled for generations before 1661 
by the Indians, and they still yield rich harvests, in 
many cases to the descendants of the original white 
settlers—indeed to some whose ancestors antedated 
the Dutch regime. 

The alluvial deposits of this valley are constantly 
enriched by the annual floods. This constitutes 
the widely known Mohawk Flats, which, though 
cultivated by the white man for more than two 
hundred years, have lost none of their unsurpassed 
fertility. 

In the early period of the settlement no other 
land was tilled, hence they were called the land, 
arable land or bouwland, all else being denominated 
woodland, and little valued. In addition to their 
fertility, these flats presented another advantage to 
the first settlers—they were mainly free from wood 
and ready for the plough and seed. For ages they 
had been the native’s corn land, whilst the adjacent 
forests and rivers furnished him with flesh and fish. 

The great sand belt which passes across the 
towns of Rotterdam, Niskayuna, and Glenville, 
from south to north, was once covered with a heavy 
growth of pines, while the highlands lying northand 
west of it produced the usual varieties of hard- 
wood. 

Arent Van Curler, in letters written at the time, 
mentioned the many natural advantages of this sec- 
tion. 

That a few fur-traders and bosloopers early roved 
among the Mohawks, married, and raised families of 
half-breeds, cannot be denied; indeed there are re- 
spectable families in the valley to this day whose 
pedigree may be traced back to these marriages. 

The Ballston Turnpike crosses the Mohawk at 
Alexander's bridge, built in 1805, four miles be- 
low Schenectady, where there is a succession of 
falls and a low rolling dam across the river. But 
the mills are things of the past. 

The Erie Canal is carried over the Mohawk here 
into Niskayuna upon a magnificent aqueduct, 748 
feet long and 25 feet above the stream, and falls 
immediately by three locks 21 feet, running 
through this town westward to Schenectady, a dis- 
tance of five miles. 

The Troy and Schenectady Railroad, built in 
1843, runs through this town a distance of ten 
miles. It is a single-track road, and at present 
runs four passenger trains a day each way. 

Union Street, Schenectady, leading to Niska- 
yuna, was formerly known as Niskayuna Street, 
and was so named in honor of the old Niskayuna 

settlement just outside of the manor of Rensselaer- 
wyck, whose inhabitants were very intimate with 
those of Schenectady, and many families were re- 
lated. 

College Hill was called Niskayuna Bergh. 
The Aqueduct is a railroad station on the Troy 

and Schenectady Railroad six miles from Schenec- 
tady. Across the Mohawk, on the opposite side is 
the village of Rexford Flats, where the people of 
this vicinity receive their mail. 

Niskayuna is a small hamlet in the southeast 
corner of the town. It contains the Reformed 
Church, of eventful memory, a store and post-of- 
fice, anda hotel kept by William H. Miller, and 
a few dwellings. ‘There is also a flourishing lodge 
of Good Templars of eighty members. The lodge 
holds its meetings in the vestry of the church. 

Shaker Island is a half mile east of the Niska- 
yuna post-office, containing eighty acres, owned and 
occupied by the Shaker families of Watervliet. It 
is used simply for farming purposes, 

Shortly alter the revolution, the Albany and 
Schenectady Turnpike Company built a stone 
tramway from Albany to Schenectady, to expedite 
the hauling of goods and fora stage road. This 
road is much of it still in good repair, and toll is 
still collected upon it. The road passes about 
three miles through Niskayuna. 

Lishakill Hamlet is situated near the eastern line 
of this town, so that the people of this part of the 
town get their mail and attend church at Lishakill. 
The Second Reformed Church here is in the town 
of Watervliet, but belongs to the Schenectady 
Classis. 

The following novel marriage is said to have oc- 
curred somewhere in this vicinity, and is well 
worth preservation. About 150 years ago, accord- 
‘ing to tradition, when clergymen were not as plenty 
as they now are, a young gentleman and his affi- 
anced were anxiously awaiting the happy day 
which was to see them united ‘n the silken bonds 
of matrimony. ‘They resided o:. the north side of 
the Tomhanneek Creek, and the clergyman who 
had been engaged to tie the knot lived on the south 
side of the same stream. As the fates would have 
it, heavy rain fell the night previous to the nuptial 
day, which rendered the creek impassable. Its 
waters were rising and its current becoming more 
rapid every hour. The clergyman arrived at the 
appointed time at a place where he had been in the 
habit of fording the creek, but it was as much as 
his life was worth to attempt to cross it then. He 
turned his horse’s head to return, when he was 
hailed by two voices on the opposite side of the 
stream. They were those of the groom and bride, 

who intreated him to stay. After some debate 
it was agreed that the ceremony should pro- 
ceed. In the meantime the friends of the be- 
trothed arrived from the bride’s house in the 
neighborhood. ‘Then was presented a singular 
spectacle; ‘‘the like thereof was never scen be- 
fore,” and probably will not be again. The dom- 
inie read the marriage service on the margin of the 
creek, while the parties stood and responded on 
the opposite side, After the ceremony was over 
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THE TOWNSHIP OF NISKAYUNA. 197 

the groom tossed a few guilders across the creck, 
which the dominie picked up and pocketed as his 
fee, mounted his horse and proceeded homeward, 
and the married couple did the same. 

Districr ScHoors.—There are in the town of 
Niskayuna four school districts and as many school- 
houses, with as many teachers employed. Average 
cost of school-houses $600. There are annually 
taught 298 scholars (besides many that attend the 
school in the City of Schenectady). The average 
price paid to teachers is $7.50 per week. C. W. 
Van Sanford is the School Commissioner. 

Yows Orricers.—Supervisor, Thomas W. 
Winne; Justice of the Peace, John H. Putnam; 
Assessor, C. W. Miller; Collector, Henry C. Ran- 
kin; Town Clerk, Thomas D. Tree. 

County OrricEers.—(Scee Officers. ) 

REFORMED CHURCH AT NISKAYUNA. 

I. ITS ORGANIZATION, 

The precise date of organization of the Reformed 
(Dutch) Church of Niskayuna cannot be deter- 
mined. It was probably organized by the Classis 
of Albany, to which it belonged until the organiza- 
tion of the Classis of Schenectady. The first book 
of minutes of the Classis of Albany being lost by 
fire, the facts and dates are for the most part lost 
with it. The regular records of this church begin 
with 1784. There is a list of baptisms dated 1783. 
Among loose papers in the archives of the consis- 
tory, is a subscription list dated 1773. ‘There must 
have been records even before this, but they cannot 
be found. [From the fact that the first church 
building was erected not later than 1760, and that 
before that there stood on the same spot a ‘‘ Galat 
House,” or prayer-house, which was used for wor- 
ship on the Sabbath, and as a school-house during 
the week, it seems safe enough to date the formal 
organization of the church at about 1750. In 1784 
a Dutch Church wes organized at the Boght, and 
from the relationsafterwards sustained with Niska- 
yuna, it was evidently a child of this church. In 
the year 1803 that part of the congregation lying 
upon the north side of the Mohawk was organized 
into the Reformed (Dutch) Church of Amity, it 

becoming thesecond child of Niskayuna Church. In 
1852 the southern part of the congregation was or- 
ganized into the Reformed (Dutch) Church of 
Lishas’ Kill, which was the third and Jast child of 
this church. Thus has this church become the 
mother of churches and brought forth a three-fold 
increase, sall remaining strong and healthy in her 
own home life. - 

ITS BUILDINGS. 

First of all we find the ‘‘Galat House,” or prayer- 
house, already mentioned. No record or tradition 
of the date of its erection can be found. It stood 
at the foot of the hill in Niskayuna Village, on the 
old road from ‘Troy to Schenectady. This building 
gave way to a church, built on tne same spot 
about 1760. ‘This church was a square building, 
with four-sided roof running up to a point in the 
middle. It had a gallery on the side opposite the 
pulpit, and below it had raised benches along the 

walls for the men, and benches on the floor in the 
middle for the women. It stood until 18258, when 
anew church was erected upon the present site. 
This new site and building was on the north 
side of the Troy and Schenectady turnpike, 
nearly half way between the two cities. The 
church building was 50 x 65 feet. It was 
dedicated March 6, 1829, and _ stood until 
July, 1852. The present edifice then took its place. 
It is a neat and substantial brick building, with 
white bell-tower, and was put up at a cost of a little 
over $4,000. There is a pleasant chapel and Sab- 
bath-school-room, the only one ever erected, stand- 
ing near the church, which was built in 1871. In 
1832 there was a parsonage built on the west side of 
the church, the present site, ata cost of $626.27. 
This house stood in constant use until 1873, when 
the present large and handsome house was _ erected 
ata cost of $2,725 and the material of the old 
house. 

ITS MINISTRY. 

During the early period up to 1790, according 
to an abstract of history deposited in the corner- 
stone of the present church building, the con- 
gregation enjoyed the labors of Rev. Sansom Oc- 
cum, a Mohican Indian, from Connecticut; ‘‘ Lo- 
renzo Dow,” the eccentric Methodist itinerant; 
Rev. D. Romeyn, Rev. Mr. Westerlo, Rev. Elias 
Van Benschoten, and others. This was the time 
of desolation and suffering and privation caused by 
the revolution. In 1790, in connection with the 
church at the Boght, the Rev. John Demarest was 
called. He served the two congregations until 
1803, when he resigned and went to a new charge 
in New Jersey. This same year the connection of 
this church and the Boght was dissolved, and the 
church of Niskayuna was vacant for three years. In 
the meantime the northern part of the congregation 
was organized into the Church of Amity; and in 1806 
the two congregations, Niskayuna and Amity, united 
in calling Rev. Thomas Romeyn. He was pastor 
of the joint charge for twenty-one years, from 1806 
to 1827. Up to the beginning of his ministry the 
service had all been in Dutch. He began preach- 
ing alternately in Dutch and English. In 1811 it 
was voted unanimously that the proportion should 
be three of English to one of Dutch. In 1816 it was 
again unanimously decided to have all English 
preaching. 

In the same year of Mr. Romeyn’s removal, 
1827, the two congregations of Niskayuna and 
Amity again united in calling Rev. John McKel- 
vey, a young graduate of the Theological Seminary 
at New Brunswick. He left after a three years’ 
pastorate. In the next year, 1831, the churches, 
still united, called Rev. John Van Wagnen.  Dur- 
ing his pastorate, in 1834, the partnership with the 
church of Amity was dissolved, and he remained 
for one year pastor of Niskayuna alone. In 1835 
he resigned, going to another charge in Linlithgo, 
N.Y. In 1836, the church of Niskayuna alone 
called Rev. Henry A. Raymond. He had 
a long, prosperous and acceptable ministry of 
nearly fifteen years. He resigned in 1850, and 
moved to the church of Owasco, N. Y. In 1851 
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the church called Rev. Goyn Talmage. His min- | 
istry was short, but full of lasting work. He 
peacefully divided the unwieldy congregation into | 
two, and instead of the one old wooden church, he | 
left two of brick, each in its appropriate place and fit | 

to serve succeeding generations, all paid for. In 
1855 he resigned, and went to Greenpoint, N. Y. 
The two churches, Niskayuna and Lishas’ Kill, then 
united in calling Rev. Cornelius L. Wells, who re- 
mained with them two and one-half years, when he 
was called to the Third Reformed Church of Jersey 
City. In October of the same year, 1858, the two 
churches called the Rev. John A. De Baun, D.D., 
who remained their faithful and honored and loved 
pastor for nearly twenty-five years, until April, 1883, 
when he was called to Fonda, N. Y., and resigned. 
In October, 1883, the partnership between the two 
churches was dissolved, and Niskayuna congrega- 
tion called the present pastor, Rev. C. P. Ditmars. 

ITS GROWTH AND PRESENT STATUS. 

During all these years the increase of the church 
and community must of course have been great, else 
from the mother church so many children could 
not have been separated. When Rev. John Dema- 
rest came in 1790 he found 74 members During 
all those years, from that date until now, there must 
have been received into the church here at least 
1,000 members. 
The present statistics are as follows: families, 120; 

members in full communion, 223; baptized non- | 
communicant members, 110. Raised this year for 
congregational purposes about $1,400; for benev- 
olence about $300. 

The present consistory is as follows: Rev. C. P. 
‘Ditmars, President; Cornelius Van  Vranken, 

Fletcher Onderdonk, Garret I. Van Vranken, | 
Abram: L.. Vedder,*Elders; “W. Ac soe Freleigh; | 
Wendall Milbanks, Benjamin H. Lansing, Wesley 
Miller, Deacons. 

There is a Sabbath-school connected with the 
church, of about fifteen teachers and one hundred 
and fifty scholars. Its Superintendent is Mr. G. | 
W. Freleigh; Assistant Superintendent, Mr. Jacob 
V. Pearse; Treasurer, Mr. John V. Green. 

There is also a cemetery adjoining the church 
property, and belonging to it. It consists of three 
acres, pleasantly situated upon the hillside and top, 
and is kept in good condition, being under the care | 
of the sexton of the church. It may be noted | 
there is a residence for the sexton in one corner of 
the church grounas, in which he lives, and there 
are large and commodious horse-sheds, giving 
shelter for more than fifty teams. 

SOME OF THE PROMINENT RESIDENTS AT THE PRESENT 

TIME. 

C. O. Hamlin, farmer, ex-Supervisor, four miles 
from Schenectady, on Albany turnpike ; Thomas 
W. Hinne, farmer and Supervisor, on tue Troy 

road, six miles from Schenectady; Thomas D. 
Tree, Town Clerk, four miles east of Schenectady ; 

G. G. Maxon & Son, Aqueduct road, three miles 
from Schenectady ; Cornelius & Aaron Van Vran- | 
ken and other Van Vrankens, farmers, east of the | 

Troy road, from five to seven miles from Sche- 
nectady. The Van Vrankens are numerous, fifteen 
of them in one part of this town, farmers. Their 
residences are known as the Van Vranken neighbor- 
hood. Among them are: J. D. Van Vranken, Fre- 
leigh Van Vranken, and Mrs. A. M. Van Vranken, 
all farmers. The Vedders are also a numerous 

family. There are eight families of them, farmers. 
Lewis Brewer. farmer and philanthropist, Troy road, 
two miles from Schenectady; Clark V. Warden, 
farmer and ex-Sheriff, near Senator Stanford's place: 
Charles W. Whitbeck, farmer, near Rexford Flats; 
Garret L, Whitbeck, on turnpike, four miles from 
city ; P. E. Whitbeck, on turnpike, four miles from 
city; C. Reynolds, farmer, Troy road, six miles 
from Schenectady ; George Reynolds, farmer, Troy 
road, six miles from Schenectady; John Van 
Antwerp, farmer, four miles northeast from city; 
William Craig, farmer, on the top of the bluff 

south of the Aqueduct on the old Craig Place ; 
Jeff. Thompson, farmer, on the old Vedder Place, 
one mile south of the Aqueduct ; Ezra, Casper and 
Martin Ham are farmers, three and a half miles 
east of Schenectady ; Conrad, Jacob, Thomas and 
Frank Mesick are farmers, about five miles east of 

Schenectady ; John McShea, Attorney of Niska- 
yuna Village, ex-County Clerk and Justice of the 
Peace ; Henry Lansing is an old and respected 
settler, and lives west of Lishas’ Kill; J. V. Clute, 
farmer, on Troy and Schenectady turnpike; 
Matthew Winne, Postmaster, Niskayuna Village. 

Ex-Senator CHARLES STANFoRD is a native of 
Watervliet, Albany County. His father, Josiah 
Stanford, was a native of New England; he was a 
man of sterling character and of unusual business 
ability, and gained a competency by his business 
successes. He died in 1862. His son inherited the 
ambition of his father, and after receiving a good 
practical education, he at once entered upon a life 
of enterprise. In 1850 he went to California, and 
there, with three others, opened the largest com- 
mercial house in California at that time. In 
1859, in connection with two of his brothers, he 
established a large commercial house in Melbourne, 
Australia, and soon after branches in Sydney and 
New Zealand. One of his brothers, the Hon. 
Leland Stanford, was elected Governor of the State 
of California in 1861. He is the President of the 
Central Pacific Railroad. 

In 1854 the interests of his firm required that 
one of its members should reside near New York 
City, and in 1861 he took up his residence in 
Schenectady County, purchased a large farm in the 
town of Niskayuna, where he has since resided. 
In 1863 he was elected member of Assembly, and 
re-elected in 1864; in 1865 was elected Senator of 
the Fourteenth District. During this campaign 
he established the Schenectady Daily Union. Mr. 
Stanford is now in feeble health and confined to 
his home. Much of the enterprise in Schenectady 
owes its existence to him, 

G. G. Maxon, President of the Mohawk National 
Bank has a fine summer residence on the Aqueduct 
road, about two and a half miles from the City of 
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THE TOWNSHIP OF NISKAYUNA. 

Te 

Y 

Schenectady. The house is surrounded with an 
attractive park, containing some beautiful statuary. 
There are two beautiful figures, one representing 
Spring and the other Summer. 

There is a farm connected with this residence of | 
127 acres, the whole costing S40,000. He has 
also another farm, a little to the south of this, of | 
150 acres, valued at $20,000. 

FRANCIS McCANN. 

Francis McCann was born in County Dublin, 
Ireland, January 15, 1813. In 1833 he came to 
America, and located in Niskayuna, where he has 
since lived. In 1837 he bought the old Vedder 
Farm on the Troy road, and he has since bought 
several other properties in Watervleit, Albany 
County, and in the city of Schenectady. His prop- 
erty comprises about 300 acres, and some valuable 
city lots and residences. 

Mr. McCann is a Democrat and has long been 
a staunch adherent to the leading principles of his 
party. Asa citizen he commands the respect of 
all who know him and the confidence of all his 

He has held the offices of Com- fellow-townsmen. 
missioner of Highways and Overseer of the Poor, 
and at this time is an Excise Commissioner. He 
is a member of St. John’s Catholic Church of 
Schenectady. 

In March, 1837, Mr. McCann married Maria 
Bradt, of Niskayuna, who died December 15, 1879. 
He has since made his home with his stepson, Will-. - 
iam VY. Bradt, who occupies his house on the 
Troy road. Now in his seventy-third year, hale 
and robust, he is quietly passing the closing years 
of his life, doing a little farm work now and then 
for exercise and as a reminder of his more active 
years. 

WILLIAM STEERS owns a fine farm of 150 acres, 
opposite Senator Charles Stanford’s place. Mr. 
Steers has lived here for the last twenty-five years, 
and has filled some of the principal town offices. 
He and his brother established the express between 
Albany and Schenectady. ‘They continued it for 
eighteen years, and then sold it to other parties. 
It has continued to the present, and is now owned 
by Pease & Waterman. 
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200 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF. SCHENECTADY, 

A. V. P. Lanstne (lately deceased), commonly 
known as ‘‘ Uncle Lansing,” was an old settler and 
the father of a large and respectable family, living 
near Lishas’ Kill. Rev. Dr. John Lansing, of 
Brooklyn (lately deceased), was a son of Uncle 
Lansing. 

We take pleasure in making mention of the fol- 
lowing well-known citizens,who, by their guaranteed 
support, have helped to insure the publication of 
this valuable work : I. V. Clute, Francis McCann, 
J. H. Putnam, J. D. Van Vranken, A. M. Van 
Vranken, Freleigh Van Vranken, William Vedder, 
Matthew Winne. 

HISTORY OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PRINCETOWN. 

By Rev. FE. 

RINCETOWN was formed March 20, 1798, 
from a portion of the patent of Schenectady, 

which had been ceded to the Reformed Dutch 
Church of that city, and from lands originally pat- 
ented to George Ingoldsby and Aaron Bradt in 
1737. This was subsequently sold to William Corry, 
who formed a settlement there which was long 
known as Corry’s bush, and Corry sold his interest 
to John Duncan. The town itself was named after 
John Prince, of Schenectady, who was then in the 
Assembly as a member from Albany County, and 
resided at Schenectady. 

Joun Duncan was a Scotchman, of Schenectady, 
and about 1760 purchased nearly all the present 
town of Princetown (then called Corry’s bush), and 

titles to lands there are now held under grants 
from himself or his sons. 

James Brapsuaw, the father of Samuel Brad- 
shaw, and the grandfather of Walter Bradshaw, 
was only one or two years old at this time, and at 
that age was brought by his father and mother to 
Princetown, where they settled upon the farm 
which has ever since been in the possession of the 
family. James Bradshaw died August 29, 1858, 
aged eighty-three years five months and _ thirteen 
days. James Bradshaw, Sr., and his wife, Eliza- 
beth Bullock, were married in England, and had 
two children before they sailed for this country. 
James Bradshaw, Jr., above referred to, was the 
third child. There were ten children in all, three 
daughters and seven sons. From these sons must 
come the other branches of the Bradshaw family 
settled throughout Princetown. These are nearly 
all the principal names connected with the early 
history of this town. About the time of the revo- 
lutionary war and previous thereto, is found in 
connection with the history of the New Scotland 
Church the following names, familiar now in 
Princetown, Allen, Hunter and Van V alkenburgh. 

The streams are Norman’s Kill, in the south, 
Platt’s Kill in the center, and Zantzee Kill in the 
northwest. Upon this stream, on the farm of 
Ebenezer Dougall, is a cascade sixty feet high, and 
from this point to the Mohawk are numerous falls 
or cascades. The soil is best adapted to grazing, 
and hay and grain are the principal products. 

KB. 

| 

TAYLOR. 

Its surface consists of a broken upland, gently 
descending toward the southeast, with a stiff argil- 
laceous mold resting on a compact of ponderous 
hard-pan, with ledges of limestone, calcareous and 
siliceous sandstone argillite. 

The town contains 15,450 acres; is mainly an 
oblong square, ten and a half miles long north and 
south, and two and a half miles wide. It is seven 

miles southwest of Schenectady, and sixteen miles 
from Albany by the Cherry Valley turnpike that 
runs through the town. It lies between the towns 
of Duanesburgh on the south and Rotterdam on 
the north. The town is a little west from the 
center of the county. 

Princetown Academy, a Presbyterian institution, 
was opened here on an extensive scale in 1853 
(an enterprise begun under the pastorate of the 
Rev. David Tully, D. D.) and was discontinued 
in 1856 on account of financial embarrassments 
and dissensions arising from the same. 

Princetown Hamlet is a small borough contain- 
ing a post-office, a store, a blacksmith shop, the 
First Presbyterian Church and burying ground, 
and a few scattered houses, 

Kelley’s Station isa small hamlet in the southeast 
corner of the town, eight miles south from Schenec- 
tady and three miles east from Duanesburgh Four 
Corners, consisting of a railroad station of the 
Schenectady and Quaker Street branch of the 
Delaware and Hudson road, a store and _ post- 
office kept by Andrew Kelley, a blacksmith shop, 
two or three dwellings, and a Union cheese factory 
in operation. 

Gifford’s is asmall hamlet, situate on the Cherry 
Valley turnpike about three miles northwest of 
Kelley’s Station, containing a hotel, kept by J. 
Gifford, a store, blacksmith shop, Reformed 
Church and parsonage, and a few dwellings. 

Rynex Corners is a small hamlet online of the 
town of Rotterdam and Princetown, eight miles 
west of Schenectady on the Fort Hunter road, 
consisting of a store and post-office kept by Will- 
iam H. Mudge, hotel by James W. Gregg, a 
Union cheese factory, not now in operation, a 
blacksmith shop and. six dwellings. — Religious 
services were held in the upper room of the cheese 
factory once in two weeks in 1884, where a large 
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congregation were gathered in the summer of 
1884 by Rev. E. E. Taylor, of the Methodist 
Episcopal Church. 

District ScHoors.—There are in the town of 
Princetown seven school districts and seven school- 
houses, and as many teachers employed. The 
average cost of school-houses is S600. ‘There are 
annually taught 273 scholars, besides many that 
attend the schools in the City of Schenectady. The 
average price paid to teachers is $6.50 per week. 
C. W. Van Sanford is the School Commissioner. 

Town Orricers.—Supervisor, James Weast; Jus- 
tices of the Peace, Lawrence Dougall, A. G. 
Davis, I. A. Rynex; Assessor, J. A. Laws; Col- 
lector, James J. W east; Town Clerk, G. P. Templer. 

County Orricers.—(See Officers.) 

FIRST REFORMED CHURCH. 

The history of this organization begins with the 
year 1818, in which year Dr. Nott, President of 
Union College, held occasional services in the school- 
house on the State road. At this time there were but 
two persons in the whole community who professed 
to be Christians—Joseph Phillips and his wife, who 
were members of the Presbyterian Church of Sche- 
nectady. 

Professor Macauley and Professor Yates, of 
Union College, also occasionally preached.  Ser- 
vices were held every two or three weeks, on the 
Sabbath afternoon or evening. ‘This continued 
until Jeremiah Searl came and labored as a mis- 
sionary. He remained for a few months, and was 
then called to the church at Rotterdam. Mr. 
Searl was succeeded by Rev. Whyting, who re- 
mained about six months. The school-house had 
now become too small to accommodate those who 
wished to hear the Word of God explained, and it 
was determined to build a church, and on July 8, 
1821, an association was formed and the following 
elders and deacons were chosen: Elders, George 
Passage, Philip G. Vought, George G. Passage and 
Henry R. Furbeck; Deacons, James Phillips and 
Henry Dutcher. 

In the spring of 1822 the church building was 
commenced, and completed the same year at a 
cost of about twelve hundred dollars. For two 
years after the completion of the church the pulpit 
was supplied by different ministers, of whom are 
mentioned in the records, Rev. Dr. Yates, of 
Schenectady, and Rev. Mr. Halliday, of Duanes- 
burgh, 

On the twenty-eighth day of December, 1824, 
James B. Hardenburgh was ordained to the pas- 
toral charge of the united congregations of Helder- 
burgh and Princetown, and served six months. 
Robert J. Blair was next called, November 1, 1825, 
to serve these churches, and was ordained and 
installed January 25, 1826. [le remained here 
until August, 1827, when, upon the 25th day of 
the same month, at a mecting of the consistory, it 
joined with him in an application to the Classis to 
dissolve the pastoral connection, and to apply to 
have the connection between the churches of Hel- 
derburgh and Princetown severed, both of which 
applications were granted. 

From 1827 to 1830 the church of Princetown 
did not have the regular services of a pastor. In 
1830 Rev. Peter Stryker preached three months, 
after which there is no record of any stated supply 
until 1833, when Lewis R. Lockwood was called, 
who continued as pastor about one year. During 
Mr. Lockwood’s ministry, steps were taken to 
secure a parsonage. One acre and three-quarters 
of land were purchased, without any restrictions, of 
Alex. Gifford, for the sum of one hundred dollars, 
one-half paid on the delivery of the deed and the 
balance the following spring. In 1834 Rev. John 
Nott took charge of the church as stated supply. 
This year the church was repaired and the society 
assumed the name of the First Reformed Protest- 
ant Dutch Church of Princetown. Mr. Nott 
preached most of the time from 1834 to 1838. In 
1838, Rev. Wilson Ingals, tutor in Union College, 
supplied the pulpit. During the years 1839 to 
1841, Rev. John Vandervogue, who resided within 
the bounds of the congregation, was stated supply. 
January, 1842, Rev. W. P. Davis was called, 
who remained until October, 1847. Mr. Davis 
was followed by Rev. Joseph Rosekrans, who re- 
mained until 1851, and was followed by Rev. N. 
Bogardus, who remained about eighteen months. 
After Mr. Bogardus left, until 1855, Rev. John 
Nott served them most of the time. In 1855 
Rev. D. D. Hall preached as stated supply until 
1863. Inthe spring of 1864 Rev. J. H. Rickett 
was engaged as pastor, and remained a little 
over a year. In October, 1865, Rev. I. B. Hall 
began his labors the second time, and continued 
as pastor until the spring of 1869. During the 
year of 1871 H. A. Raymond preached, and was 
the last who occupied the pulpit in the old church. 
The 1st of July, 1873, the present pastor, Rev. J. 
Kelley Rhinehart, began his labors, being the third 
settled pastor, although many others have served 
the church at different times. There have been 
three special revivals—the first during the ministry 
of the Rev. W. P. Davis; the second during the 
ministry of Rev. D. B. Hall, who was assisted by 
Rey. James B. Campbell; and the third under 
the labors of the present pastor in 1876. As the 
result of this last revival, seventy persons were 
added to the church; and again in 1880, when 
twenty-six more were added to the church. 

The present membership 1s 243. Henry Smith, 
Isaac Scrafford, William Blessing and William 
Young, Deacons; Adam M. Blessing, John Young, 
James T. Wemple and J. Quackenbush, Elders. 

In 1869 the people began to manifest greater 
activity and zeal, and sheds were built at a cost of 
$952.64. This is in excess of much done by 
the people. Next the parsonage was remodeled 
and repaired at an expense of $1,500, Then 
a new church was built at a cost of $8,114.12. 
Through the efforts of the ladies the church was 
furnished; the amount raised by them was $700. 
The church is now free from debt. ‘The present 
successful pastor, Rev. J. K. Rhinehart, has been 
with this people nearly twelve years, 

Previous to 1873, Sabbath-schools were held in 
the several school districts ; since then a congrega- 
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tional school has been held in the church, with 
most gratifying results. Number of scholars, 130; 
teachers, 20; total, 150. Superintendent, John 
T. Blessing. 

FIRST PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH. 
'.The First Presbyterian Church of Princetown, 
Schenectady Co., N. Y., was organized under the 
authority of the Presbytery of New York more 
than one hundred years ago; afterwards it came 
within the bounds of the Presbytery of Dutchess, 
which was formed from the New York Presbytery, 
and finally was one of the few churches w hich in 
1790 constituted the Presbytery of Albany. In 
1790 the Presbytery of Albany was established by 
order of the Synod of New York and New Jersey. 
The Presbytery of Albany held its first meeting at 
Albany on the gth of November, 1790. 

In a history of the Schenectady patents by Prof. 
Pearson, is the following paragraph: “The first 
minister who is known to have preached to the 
congregation (First Presbyterian Church, Schenec- 
tady) statedly, is the Rev. Alexander Miller.” Mr. 
Miller was a pupil of Rev. James Findley, a grad- 
uate of Princetown College in 1764 ; a student of 
theology under Dr. Rogers, of New York; was 
licensed 1767, and ordained by the Presbytery of 
New York, 1770, which is the date of his settle- 
ment here. Mr. Kelley (an elder at that time) 
states that Mr. Miller left in 1781, during the 
summer. Mr. Miller also preached at Currie’s 
Bush (Princetown) in connection with his charge 
here. 

The Currie’s Bush Church in which Mr. Miller 
preached, was the original First Presbyterian Log 
Church of Princetown. At that time the building 
was a log church located on what is known as the 
old Boyd farm, the ground on which the church 
stood being now owned by Jonathan Templer. It 
was a two-acre lot, not far from the old hickory 
tree which stands nearly on the line between Messrs, 
Bradshaw and Templer, and east of the present 
entrance to the Walter Bradshaw farm, the church 
lot joining Mr. Bradshaw's east line at this place. 
For a long time after the old log church had dis- 
appeared, the lot lay open to commons; it has 
since been fenced and become a part of the Tem- 
pler farm. So far as can be ascertained, this log 
church was built about 1770, the date of Mr. 
Miller’s settlement at Schenectady ; and the church 
took its name, Currie’s Bush Church, from the 
settlement in which it was located. In this log 
church Mr. Miller preached a stated supply, in 
connection with his Schenectady charge, between 
the years 1770 and 1781. 

Mr. Miller was followed at Schenectady by Rev. 
John Young inthe year 1787, who was ‘ordained 
June 14, 1788. The records of the Presbytery 
show that the Currie’s Bush Church united with 
the Schenectady Church in the call for the services 
of Mr. Young, and that he was duly installed over 
them both. Hegave one-third of his time to Cur- 
rie’s Bush (or Princetown) and was the second 
minister of the Princetown Church. Mr. Young 
requested a dissolution of the pastoral relation at 
the meeting of the Presbytery, November 10, 1790, 

on the ground of non-payment of salary (by the 
Schenectady Church) and of ill-health. The church 
had not yet settled its indebtedness to Mr. Miller, 
who was still seeking payment, and the church at 
Currie’s Bush applied to the Presbytery for two- 
thirds of Mr. Young's time, on the ground that the 
church in Schenectady was no longer able to sup- 
port him. 

Mr. Young’s pastoral relation was dissolved 
December 9, 1790, but the impression obtains, 
from the records of the Presbytery, that he contin- 
ued tosupply Currie’s Bush Church after that time, 
and a subsequent call was made by that and the 
New Scotland Church for his services, he to preach 
two-thirds of his time at Currie’s Bush and one- 
third at New Scotland, and the churches each to pay 
accordingly. But Mr. Young was dismissed from 
Albany Presbytery to the Presbytery of Montreal, 
Canada, June 25, 1793. 

In the resolution of the Synod of New York, con- 
stituting the Presbytery of Albany, in connection 
with the names of other ministers and churches, 

about halfa dozen in number, it is stated, ‘‘John 
Young, of Schenectady and Currie’s Bush, mem- 
bers of the Presbytery of New York, be set off as a 
distinct Presbytery, by the name and title of the 
Presbytery of Albany.” So that the Currie’s Bush 
Church was the first church set off to constitute 
the Presbytery of Albany. Mr. John Young was 
elected the first clerk of the Albany Presbytery. At 
a meeting of the Presbytery December 9, 1790, 
when Mr. Young requested the dissolution of the 
pastoral relation, it is recorded that the Commis- 
sioners appeared from both the churches—Sche- 
nectady and Currie’s Bush—and_ the dissolution 
being effected, Currie’s Bush requested of the 
Presbytery supplies, and Mr. Young was appointed 
as such supply until the next meeting of the Pres- 
bytery. 

Mr. John Crawford was the Elder from the Cur- 
rie’s Bush Church at the first meeting of the Albany 
Presbytery, November 9, 1790; Mr. Samuel Mc- 
Kee at the meeting of Presbytery December 8, 
1790, and Mr. Walter Maxwell, March 1, 1791. 

The following Elders represented the Currie’s 
Bush Church at the meeting of the Presbytery 
held on the dates set opposite their respective 
names : Samuel McKee, January 10, 1792; Walter 
Maxwell, March 6, 1792; John Crawford, Septem- 
ber 4, 1792. These, then, were the three Elders 
of the Currie’s Bush Church at that time, but their 
names do not appear on the records of the Albany 
Presbytery after that time. They evidently about 
that time united with the Presbytery of New York 
of the Associate Reformed Synod (or United Pres- 
byterian Church), and secured the services of the 
Rev. James Mairs for a part of his time. 

Previous to this arrangement with Mr. Mairs, 

and between July, 1792, and July, 1793, the Albany 
Presbytery furnished the following supplies to the 
Currie’s Bush Church : Rev. Methuselah Baldwin, 
Rev. Simeon Hosack, Rev. Messrs. McDonald, 
Schenck, Lindsey, Sturgis and Judd. 

Rev. James Mairs, who also preached at Gal- 
way, Charlton and Florida, continued from Feb- 
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ruary 19, 1794, to May 6, 1795, when the arrange- 
ment proving unsatisfactory to all concerned, 
was discontinued, 

Then ‘came Rev. James McKenney, who 
preached principally in the Curries Bush Church, 
and may have taken Galway as a part of his charge. 
Mr. McKenney’s object was the establishment of a 
reformed Presbyterian Church, and for this he 
worked. The result was a division, out of which 

came an offshoot of the Currie’s Bush Church, in 
the shape of the Duanesburgh Presbyterian Church, 

This division occurred in 1800, and the new 
Duanesburgh enterprise flourished for a time, while 
the Currie’s Bush (Princetown) Church declined 
and struggled hard for life. But on February 19, 
1805, the Duanesburgh Church applied to the 
Albany Presbytery and was taken under its care, 
and united with Princetown in securing the ser- 
vices of Rey. William Boardman, who was _ or- 
dained and installed over these churches February 
28, 1805, and continued in charge of the same 
until February 21, 1809. 

At the next meeting, held February 21, 1806, 
the pastoral relation between Mr. Boardman and 
the Princetown Church was dissolved. Mr. John 
Robinson was the Elder from the Church at this 
meeting of the Presbytery, and consented to the 
dissolution upon the ground that the membership 
was so small they could not continue to meet the 
necessary expenses. On March 29, 1809, the pastoral 
relation between Mr. Boardman and the Duanes- 
burgh Church was dissolved for the same reason. 
Rev. John J. Christie supplied the Princetown 
Church for a part of the year 1809, and also Rey. 
Kirby. Mr. James McMillan, of the Duanesburgh 
Church, appearing as the Elder from Princetown, 
at Presbytery, February 16, 1813, indicates the 
absorption of this church by that at Princetown. 

Rev. Thomas Holiday, pastor of New Scotland 
Church, supplied the Princetown Church from 
1813 to 1829, in connection with his New Scotland 
charge. 

After Mr. Holiday came Rev. Thomas Fraser, 
who supplied the church from June 10, 1829, to 
May 18, 1834; Rev. William Hamilton from 
October 10, 1835, to June 2, 1838; Rev. James 
Finley from January, 1339, to June, 1843; Rev. 
Jeremiah Boice Coney from the fall of 1843, to 
May 16, 1848, when he died. He is buried in the 
graveyard, on the north of the present church, 
and the congregation erected a nonument to his 
memory, upon which is inscribed: ‘‘In memory 

of the Rev. J. Boice Coney, pastor of the First 
Presbyterian Church of Princetown, who died May 
16, 1848, in the fifth year of his pastorate of this 
church and the seventh of his ministry, and the 
thirty-eighth of his age.” 

Rev. David Tully was the pastor from June, 
12, 1850, to September 20, 1855; Rev. George 
W. McMillen be November 17, 1857, to Janu- 
ary, 1863; Rev. George Harkness :rom September 
17, 1865, to June15, 1869. Under Mr. Harkness 
the tokens at communion seasons were abolished. 

Rev. Robert A. Hill from November 12, 1870, 
to June 14, 1882. During the pastorate of Mr, 

Hill the organ and the Presbyterian Hymnal took 
the place of the ‘‘ Old Version of the Psalms,” and 
the ‘‘rotary eldership” mode was introduced and 
other measures of reform instituted. Of course 
at the time there was some opposition to these in- 
novations, but in most cases time and familiarity 
with these new customs have made them unobjec- 
tionable, and the church has been strengthened 
and prospered thereby. 

After Mr. Hill came Rev. Clarence W. Backus 
as stated supply, from April 29, 1883, to July 14, 
1854, at which time he accepted a call to Victor, 
N. Y. During the different periods when the 
church has been vacant, besides those already 
named, the following ministers have acted as sup- 
plies: Rev. Dr. Eliphalet Nott, President of Union 
College; Rev. Dr. Robert Proudfit, Professor at 
Union College; Rev. Dr. J. Trumbull Backus, 
Pastor of the First Presbyterian Church, Schenec- 
tady, until recently; Rev. Mr. Newcomb, about 
one year, 1863; Rev. John Clancy, about one 
year, 1856; Rev. David Lyon, Rev. David G. Bul- 
lions, Rev. W illiam J. Blain, Rev. Jeremiah Wood, 
of Mayfield. 

During the last year the church has been mate- 
rially strengthened, as will be seen in the following 
report to the presbytery at its last meeting. 

‘A new record book and a new register have 
been purchased, the former being Vol. IV. The 
roll of church members has been revised, rules for 
the election of elders have been enacted, and a con- 
fession and covenant of this church adopted which 
is to be publicly assented to by persons joining the 
church on confession of their faith. A cornet has 
been introduced as aid to the musical part of the 
worship.” 

This church stands out by itself among the 
Princetown hills, without any village surroundings, 
Owing to its high elevation; the hil ly character 
of its roads and their liability to become impassable 
at certain seasons of the year owing to snow-drifts 
and mud; the distance from the church of many 
of their homes; and at times the inclemency of the 
weathe:, there is of necessity some irregularity in 
the attendance upon religious services—notwith- 
standing which, during the past year, the regular 
Sabbath morning service has been uninterruptedly 
observed. Twenty-six persons have been added 
to the church upon confession of faith, 

The Sabbath-school membership has increased 
during the past year from 80 to 230. The Cate- 
chism is taught in the school. 

The Elders who have served this clutch since 
1820 are: John Young from 1800 to 1822; James 
McMillan, 1812, to August 11,1836; Jas. een 

1820, to October 2,, 1O5 1s W. iIiam Gordon, Jr., 
1820 to 1858; John Robinson, 1820, to March 24, 
1833; Jonathan I. Clayton, 1812 to 1837; James 
Cantley, May 20, 1821, to October 2, 1824; 
James McMillan, October 16, 1836, to January 
26, 1884; William Gifford, Oetober 16, 1836, to 

August 3, 1863; Samuel McMillan, October 16, 
1836, to October, 1862; James McNee, October 
16, 1863, to January ap 1875; James Weast, Jan- 
uary 4, 1852, to February 4, 1873; William S. 
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Kelley, January 4, 1852, to September 20, 1855; 
John Conning, January 4, 1855, an January 20, 
1877; James Wingate, January 4, 1852, to Janu- 
ary 14, 1869; Samuel J. McMillan, ‘September 14 
1866, and took letter; Daniel M. Rogers, Septem- 
ber 14,1866, to February, 1874. 

The present Elders are: James Turnbull, elected 
September 14, 1866; Samuel A. Weast, elected 
September 14, 1866; Hugh H. McMlillan, elected 
June 8, 1876; Walter Bradshaw, elected June 5, 
1876. 
John A. Bradshaw, organist ; 

cornet. 
The stone church was built about 1790. The 

present church was built 1820. Since then it 
has been enlarged once. The parsonage and 
church are at the present time in good repair. 
There is a burying ground connected with and ad- 
joining the church. The present pastor is the Rev. 
John J. Henning, from Argyle, Washington 
County, N. Y., who was duly ordained and in- 
stalled January 20, 1885. The Rev. T. G. Dar- 
ling, D.D., of Schenectady, preached the opening 
discourse, the Rev. Mr. Henning, father of the 
new pastor, delivered the charge to the pastor, and 
the Rev. Mr. Johnson, of Mariaville, gave the 
charge to the congregation. All seems pleasant 
and promising now to this congregation. 

Frank Bradshaw, 

SOME OF THE PROMINENT RESIDENTS OF PRINCETOWN, 

Andrew Kelley, store and post-office, Kelley’s 
Station; Duncan Ferguson, one mile southwest of 
Kelley’s Station, farmer; Richard Hunter, near 
Kelley’s Station, farmer; Frederick Springer, one 
mile north of Kelley’s Station, farmer; John Mar- 
tin, one mile north of Kelley's Station, farmer; 
Thomas Wingate, one and a half miles north of | 
Kelley’s Station, farmer; Solomon Kelley, one 
mile north of Kelley’s Station, farmer; Alexander 
Gifford, hotel, Gifford’s Post-office; Thomas Pas- 

sage, two miles northwest of Gifford’s Post-office, 
farmer; William Scrafford, near Gifford’s Post- 
office, farmer; Archibald Cullings, one and a half 
miles north of Gifford’s Post-office, farmer; James 
Gregg, Rynex Corners, farmer; Andrew Gregg, 
near Rynex Corners, farmer; Calvin Robison, near 
Rynex Corners, farmer; Romaine Robison, near 
Rynex Corners, farmer and Supervisor; Thomas 
Ennis, near Rynex Corners, farmer; James Rynex, 
near Rynex Corners, farmer and Justice of the 
Peace; John W. Weast, one and a half miles west 
of Rynex Corners, farmer and Supervisor; David 
Houghton, two miles north of Rynex Corners, 
farmer; Walter Bradshaw, two miles west of Rynex 
Corners, farmer; Frederick Bradshaw, two miles 
west of Ry nex Corners, farmer; Jonathan Templer, 
one mile west of Rynex Corners, farmer; Andrew 
McMillin, two miles west of South Schenectady, 
farmer; Robert Van Valkenburgh, south of South 
Schenectady, farmer; Samuel A Ww. east, one mile 
west of South Schenectady, farmer; Alex. Don- 
nan, northwest part of town, farmer; Alex. Clog- 
ston, one mile west of Princetown Church; 
William Lauder, near Mariaville, farmer; John A. 
Marlette, west part of town, farmer; James Smealie, 

northwest part of town, farmer; William Staley, 
northwest part of town, farmer; Archibald Tin- 
ning, west part of town, farmer; John Walker, 
west part of town, farmer; Daniel Darron, south 
part of town, farmer; John C. Flansburgh, near 
Princetown Church, farmer; Charles Ostrander, 
near Rynex Corners, farmer. 

Duncan FERGuson represents one of the first 
families of his town. From old documents in his 
possession, it appears that his grandfather, John 
Ferguson, purchased the homestead in 1775. of 
Richard and George Duncan, once proprietors of 
the town. This property is located about half a 
mile southwest of Kelley’s Station. The price then 
paid was ten shillings per acre. He was a native 
Scotchman, came from Perthshire, and built his 
first log-cabin on the spot now occupied by the 
family cemetery. He emigrated about 1773 or 
1774. He brought with him his wife and c laughter, 
Jane. James, John, Alexander and Duncan were 
born in Princetown. John died when young; 
James located adjoining his father, and there lived 
until his death, when he was seventy-two years of 
age; Alexander succeeded to the ownership of the 
homestead, and died at seventy-five years of age; 
Duncan married Hannah, daughter of Thomas 
Gifford, one of the original settlers of South Prince- 
town, who located on the place of Duncan Fer- 
guson’s present home, and raised a family of eight 
children, of whom Duncan is the oldest. He 
was first married to Ann E., daughter of John 
Bryant, of Fultonville, N. Y. She died in 1874, 
and Minnie Turnbull, of Rotterdam, became his 
second wife, and she died in the spring of 1881, 
leaving one daughter, Leah. The family cemetery 
before mentioned was furnished by the ancestors, 
and is one of the best private cemeteries .in the 
country. 

James Frrcuson, of Duanesburgh, was son of 
Captain James Ferguson, who was a son of James, 
the son of the original Duncan Ferguson. The 
subject was born in Duanesburgh, June 26, 1848. 
Captain john Ferguson was twice married, first to 
Mrs. Eveline Curry, who died leaving three chil- 
dren, Mary, Helen and Martha, who are all mar- 
ried and living in the West. Fora second wife 
he married Arvilla Northrup, of the town of Berne, 
Albany County. Her children were nine in num- 
ber, James, the subject of this sketch, being the 
third. He married, December 24, 1874, Miss 
Helen E., daughter of Elisha Hungerford, of 
Colesville, N. Y., and they have two sons, Samuel 
and John. Charles, the first-born, died in 1883, 
at six years of age. 

ANDREW SMEALLIE is one of the representative 
farmers of Princetown. He was born in that town 
January 9, 1814. His father, James Smeallie, was 
a native of Scotland, born April 18, 1786; emi- 
erated to America 1811. His mother, two brothers, 
John and Andrew, anda sister, Agnes, followed in 
1816. He married Mary, daughter of John 
Smeallie, October 1, 1812. Andrew is the oldest 
of their children. Others are: John, born March 
3, 1816; William, May 1, 1818; James M., June 



a a 

‘ate: ‘aeetinity areca ane: is Haat. twine. au bindiink’ THB. rot Jo, sen dexetiton OORT Mitotane ay AH te ies eeu wonite.. age emtuokl LABEL sterettaal very lo Fug teow 5) ag | thdalhld w idol PRS, Mares Jip: ek ibaa) lied) asta! koaait) BaesHOOREE 
Re tiraes Mec ita taae ‘ier test hot ses tir s 

‘hwo ser & anes : ei ale Pessina) sae uyolt % + 2dmoigoe E emed berets meaabeyth- sate | ee a her 
swale Bal: j Shine ees vse Ad wa 

wei? Spe Ie sty pa Baste a! 
TEMES evor as atnts 1a peer 
fot Jodie - oak aay: | 

FO Bey tate fy 
1 AUYIGOUT 

Pees ey Tal 

Faokan, 2h 6 Det att 
en ap 

| 
es 
| 

i a Al aesepane: ett CME Oi : oe FT to sc5 wien ali ont: Mot? dhiad so, sod any ddowids snole or 
ft; 

ey <2 oo LG Bei ioe Ah rly Ei ne C3 fo myctbiele erat agit Dbece’ |. al tod signe nee jie. aay dota | ae 
a 

be aD Kg f vay. set i 
aantetioa Gi te Ssphnoaag aA? 2900 boyalas road sine DOCS ay ari iistexy od? 38 STR dorudo Shaw @essdosbosoy paberd g weidy Sy f be es fl HIDES TY od totals ont pai a Ba wh get” gatiagl LL aide | ‘Winks dee oefer M- M aug 

rank  3Rer os tsunal offste donag comosnetise 0G wail aiinslt wl’ wast oats Delis noob Vor snundaledd emo oleeg wea 
nif To nzandat ala ; ot : - HA ROLLS YET gHOS: ‘Sa3 oF ie 3 Sompedce Aish: OF woe Baleimorg bare: , a 

MAuMaOuTaS Fo, eTuNeRWA 5 j amnion SET AO, mieoe 
a ysiloe so ifg. Hoy bars Seeds eel ist worbaa Ye Jeovesinnos abies ants ome geL, ‘ae: THON — Taam, foragkh 4 

- 
do serial motte “eysilod ie — Ba raga Seth efi Said HE: fhjs -SonNahOTL <eenia) Rosie eyollon 5, 

an. UE es irda 1814 ado] ariyal ‘eon? aveliod lo dion Sim 7 a 
ss bate sai be laliens TUM 10% 7 2 let le. dog’ olism Sao sit - =e 
yp ET Shania i 4 

kein sott te Mined fe ae a6 esti epiodT 
3] : 

$40 welled. sownsios! yz: 
4 i + TO noe eer (deadeZAeeT Tis APG: ts ebansole. aerate 8 A Calg atGe 4 

iD Uvoanars WESUHEL La addins pee re 
is Ase L wir of 4 IES 

p J. Hat! R PEER AAG: mies A fimo ake) eee ne, eka ead ely ‘nk gait ike soidh mye] Tue aray DP ey tt ot” ie hon r 
ict aa antinet a fh eB Rte) waned 

iy ees y BTE AT AAG STH Hae P| TAL tre} 
un Ls Sip a ee Aalas Ts Me re 10h "7 a4: ‘Bat 7) | peas nosidgd: nih OW Dingess § wy A. tp oft yuh ‘RODS | 

tal sa $4 + Dae 4 oe ce A ae ») ; ThOUt moalda dt: SATE TO gy yy 907 -W f Wilt 2 hy & a ea t t 

SITSeh FU SAS WS Scr gy i) ae SH LEDS Loy XY svnoal fr oats os a “HUNT ALE OU Susyn, athe igh AsO I ned : : cg | eee eon. 
Sis} aire 3 wiabae ee toe F JO z Aas Potteal <, ed 1 t L ZaiTe PVOty: CES 15t eis Tuner a ‘prath..} sy vis > ecko bets ante eiZeLy te tae 1 noted 

od EEC) ene cues wrist eels ite ve ves ‘BH aloo 
it tisity moda Sti are ae ‘bas 

i ert Pane an 

narsados, Silt tg ab ab mites ie WaaG KA, chy 
Lh BW shee OH OIS Si ne! mh Oe mecay ie 

2 ee ca 

on .8e anu 
4% } poeta - Cs TA3G -De retry 

saunas Ber Uee 
dees 12 camer 

rag Ae] ie be 
Cost ef ieee. 

y 



THE TOWNSHIP. OF PRINCETOWN. 205 

12, 1820; Robert, April 21, 1822; Peter C., June 

5, 1824, and died August 21, 1827; Jane, born 

December 22, 1826. Andrew married Ann E., 

daughter of Abram Darn, one of the first settlers 
of the town, August 21, 1851, and they have had 

one son, Abram D., born January 1553, who 
died in Texas April 5, 1854. 

Jous Marretre is a prominent and successful 
farmer. Tfe was born in Schoharie, N. Y., Sep- 

tember 2, 1802. His father, Giles Marlette, a 
native of Montgomery County, was son of John 
Marlette, a Frenchman by birth anda major in the 

the revolutionary army under General La Fayette. 
Giles was the youngest but one of six children, and 
marricd Rachel, daughter of Garret Newkirk, of 
Montgomery County. Of their nine children, John 
Marlette is the oldest. He came to Rotterdam 
April. 21, 1821, and worked for one Pulman in a 
public house where now is the village of Patterson- 
ville. He was married in 1824 to Miss N vancy \Mc- 
Master and Jocated on his present home that same 
year. Rachael (Mrs. L. M. Clements, of Schenec- 
tady); John A. and William, farmers of Prince- 

town; and T. Luther, of the mercantile firm of 
Marlette & Clements, of Pattersonville, are his liv- 
ing children. Maria, William and Giles are de- 
ceased. ‘I. Luther, the popular merchant at Pat- 
tersonville, married Miss Eveline, daughter of 
Seely and Adeline (Montgomery) Patterson, August 
12, 1869, and have one son, Seely. 

Josern Trxxixc, who owns and occupies one of 
the first located and finest farms in Princetown, is 
a native of the town of Glen, Montgomery County, 
and isason of James and Hannah (Bradt) Tinning. 
He was born June 18, 1833. He married Ann, 
daughter of William A. Milmine, of Florida, 

Montgomery County. She died June 5, 1859, and 
he was again married to Miss Mary, daughter of 
Thomas Coulter, of Duanesburgh, by whom he 
has three sons and three daughters, Bertha, Archi- 
bald, Mary, Elizabeth, Louis, and William. His 
father, James Tinning, was a native of Scotland, 
and emigrated to America from Dumfries County 
in 1821. He married his wife in the town of Glen. 
He died March 27, 1868. 

GeorcE J. Horton is one of the enterprising 
young farmers of Princetown, and at present the only 
one of his family inthe town. He was born October 
27,1855. His father, George Holton, who died June 
5,1862, married Miss Margaret J., daughter of Nich- 
olas Peek, who was one of the first. Dutch settlers 
of the Mohawk Valley. George Holton had five 
children: George J., Sarah L., Hannah, Thomas 
S. (deceased), and William J. After Mr. Holton’s 
death, Mrs. Holton married Thomas Shipley, by 
whom she had one daughter, Cora, born March 2, 
1881. George J. Holton married Miss Emma i 
daughter of Winslow Sterling, of Princetown. She 
was born February 13, 1860. They havea daugh- 
ter, Florence, born July 5, 1882, and a son, Mel- 
vin, born May 20, 1884. 

Danrev Taws located in Princetown during the 
days of its very early settlement. He came from 
Scotland to America some years previous to the 

opening of the revolution, and was a soldier of that 
war. Of his six sons James was the oldest, and mar- 
ried Jane Mulroy, and settled on the homestead and 
had two sons, John (deceased) and David, who 
now occupies the homestead. ‘They had also two 
daughters, Janet (deceased) and Sarah. The estate 
now comprises 244 acres. 

Davin Exper lives in the neighborhood of the 
Scotch Church, and is a native of Scotland. His 
father, William Elder, came from Kinrosshire, 
Scotland, in 1827, bringing with him a family of 
five sons, leaving a married daughter in Scotland. 
He located in the town of Florida, Montgomery 
County. His sons in due course of time entered 
business life, John as a merchant in New York 
City and later went to California; Robert became 
a civil engineer and was employed by the United 
States Government in the Western States; David 
developed into a first-class school teacher, follow- 
ing the profession in Montgomery and Schenectady 
Counties. He served as School Commissioner of 
the latter county three years, 1883-85. He mar- 
ried March 15, 1848, Miss Janet, daughter of 
Thomas Dougall, by whom he had four children 
Margaret, now Mrs. W. W. Barlay, of Des hioines 
Iowa; John A.; Thomas D,; and William J. James 
Elder, the youngest brother of David, taught 
school about twenty years in Montgomery County, 
and is now a farmer in Minnesota. 

DanrEL Donnan was a Scotchman. He emi- 
grated to America in 1803. Was born in 1776. 
He married in Princetown, Mary, daughter of John 
McKerlie, also a Scotchman by birth, who emi- 
grated in 1774 and reached Princetown in 1775, 
and purchased of George Wasson the farm in the 
west part of the town now owned and occupied by 
William Donnan, a grandson. The estate then 
comprised one hundred and fifty acres; the im- 
provements consisted of a small log house and 
barn, and a small clearing. During the revolu- 

tionary war he was an active member of the Home 
Guards. He had six sons and four daughters: 
David married Mary McKerlie in 1805. They had 
seven sons and one daughter; John was born Octo- 
ber 15, 1806, and died 1882; James lives in Am- 
sterdam; Andrew is in Livingston County, N. Y.; 
Alexander, Samuel and William are in Princetown; 
and David is in Pennsylvania. William married 
Catherine, daughter of James Tinning, of Florida, 
Monigomery County, and has one daughter, Mary, 
living, and Martha and Owen are deceased. He 
lives on the old homestead. Alexander located 
adjoining the homestead; married June 7, 1844, 
to Miss Jane, daughter of William and Nancy 
(McKey) Conning, “Has had six children: David A, 
(deceased), William, George, Essit and Nathan 
W. David is at Independence, Iowa; John A. is a 
farmer in Princetown; and William, assistant cashier 
in a banking institution at Leroy, N. Y. Samuel's 
place also joins the old homestead. He was mar- 
ried November 7, 1884, to Miss Helen, daugh- 

ter of Thomas and Margaret Dougall (deceased). 
They were among the first settlers of Princetown. 
Their children are William J. a farmer of Duanes- 
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206 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

burgh, Margaret A., Edwin C., Rensselaer and Mary 
N. Mrs. Donnan died July 31, 1884. 

James Brapsuaw was the founder of the family 
in this county. He was a native of Derbyshire, 
England. Born September 25, 1743. Emigrated 
to America in 1775 with his wife, Elizabeth Bul- 
lock, who was born in the same county August 23, 
1743. They first located in Cherry Valley, Otsego 
County, N. Y., and in 1777 removed to Prince- 
town, at what was known as Curry’s Bush, and 
located five hundred acres of land, a part of which 
‘was in Princetown and a part in Duanesburgh. 
He erected a large stone house about half a mile 
west of the present house of Walter Bradshaw, of 

Princetown. Of their ten children, three were born 
in England: John, June 14, 1769; Helen, February 
2, 1771, who married Thomas Wasson and lo- 

cated in Princetown; Elizabeth, January 6, 1773, 
married John Barlow and located in Montgomery 
County. James was born on the voyage to Amer- 
ica, March 17, 1775. George was the fifth of the 
family, born in Princetown, November 10, 1776; 
Thomas, September 28, 1778; Robert, July 11, 
1780; Benjamin, March 11, 1782; Mary, March 
19, 1754, married Charles Tullock, of Duanes- 
burgh; Joseph, November 18, 1786. James, the 
fourth of this generation, married Delana Briggs, 
born in Rhode Island, June 20,1776 They had 
nine children: Charlotte, born March 12, 1804, 
and married Henry Pulver; Samuel, born October 
8, 1805; George, September 3, 1807; Martha M., 
December 31, 1809, married John M. Quick, of 
Rotterdam ; Ruth, February 27, 1812, and married 
James Mulach and located in Jackson County, 
Mich.; Walter B., August 20, 1814, and died at 
twelve years of age; Ann, born March 17, 1817, mar- 

ried Samuel Wingate and located in Duanesburgh; 

James W., July 22, 1820; Helen, October 22, 1822, 
and died at seven years of age. The venerable 
Samuel Bradshaw, formerly of Princetown, now 
living in Schoharie County, is in his seventy-ninth 
year; Mrs. Ann Wingate, of New York City; and 
Mrs. Elizabeth Mallench, are the only ones of this 
generation now living. Samuel B. Bradshaw mar- 
ried Sarah Kelley and they had three children, the 
first of whom died in infancy. Walter B. was the 
second, born January 8, 1837; he has been twice 
married, first to Maria, daughter of James Allen, 
of Rotterdam, March 5, 1857; she died December 
17, 1857, leaving a son niet daughter: Allen and 
Maria (twins) ; the latter died when two years old. 
In 1863, Allen married Miss Hannah F., daughter 
of James B. Bradshaw, who was born August 25, 
1842, by whom he has one daughter, Lorena. 
Alien, his oldest son, married Emma, daughter of 
Benjamin Wiltsie, June 26, 1879; their children 
are Edith, Walter B. and Clarence W. Solomon 
Kk. Bradshaw married Maria, daughter of James B. 

Bradshaw, and has one son, Samuel, who lives in 
the house of his birth in Rotterdam. 

We take pleasure in making mention of the fol- 
lowing well-known citizens, who by their guaran- 
teed support have helped to insure the publication 
of this valuable work: 

Walter Bradshaw, A. B. Cullings, Wm. Don- 
nan, Samuel Donnan, Alex. Donnan, Daniel 
Darrow, David Elder, Duncan Ferguson, George 
J. Holton, Andrew Kelly, John Marlette, Charles 
Ostrander, J. K. Rhinehart, Romaine Robin- 
son, Andrew Smeallie, Joseph Tinning, David 
Taws, 

HISTORY OF THE TOWNSHIP OF ROTTERDAM. 

By Rev. E. 

OTTERDAM was formed from Schenectady, 
April 14, 1820, and was formerly the third 

ward. Another part of the city was annexed in 
1853, and a part taken from the town and acgen 
to the city in 1865. The town contains 24,4224 
acres, Population in 1880, 2,326. It lies near the 
center of the county, upon the south bank of the 
Mohawk. The surface consists of a broken, hilly 
region in the northwest, a level intervale extending 
from the center towards the south, and a high plain 
in the east. <A part of the soil upon the west hills 
is a tough clay, underlaid by shale, which frequently 
crops out. ‘The central valley or plain, five miles 
in extent, was called by the Dutch the ‘‘ Bouw- 
lands,” or farm-iands, The soil is a deep alluvial. 
The east plateau is sandy and has formerly been 
regarded as barren, but of late years has shown its 
adaptation for orchards and especially for small 
fruits. 

EK. TAYLOR. 

Among the early settlers were Wilhelmus Van 
Otto, Van Curazoa (a native of the Island of 
Curacao), Ryer Schermerhorn and Simon Veeder. 
The house of Van Otto stood on the site of the one 
afterward occupied by Simon Veeder. At the 
time of the revolution there were families living 
by the names of Delamont, Van Pelton, and 
Braugham. 

SOME OF THE OLD LANDMARKS. 

Arent Bradt, born 1684, built the ancient brick 

house now standing southwest of the first lock 
above the city, about 1730. Arent was a full cousin 
of Captain Arent Andreas Bradt. He married 
Catrina, daughter of Jan Pieterse Mabee ; she died 
in 1773, aged eighty-two years two months and 
seventeen days. 

The Van Guysling farm, situated on the bouw- 
lands in Rotterdam, and occupied by the Van 
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Guyslings as early as 1664, remained in that family 
until 1865, when Cornelius Van Guysling died 
without issue. The Van Guysling house is a wood- 
en structure and is a remarkable specimen of early 
Dutch architecture. It is the oldest house in the 
valley, unless the Mabee House out-dates it. 

A part of one of the buildings at the Schermer- 
horn Mills, near Schenectady, dates about 1715 to 
1720. 
The Mabee House. 

this ancient building is given 
chapter. | 

Johannes Peek’s house, built in 1711, and now 
occupied by D. D. Schermerhorn, is situated a little 
south of the junction of the Boston and Hoosac 
Tunnel and West Shore Railroad. 

Harman Albertse Vedder is the ancestor of all 
the Vedders in this county. He settled in Sche- 
nectady in 1663. His farm covered what is now 
known as the homestead of Col. D. D. Campbell. 

[A description and cut of 
in a previous 

ROTTERDAM FLATS. 

In the summer of 1661, Arent Van Curler, or 
Corlear, leader of the first settlement, made formal 
application tv Governor Stuyvesant for permission 
to settle upon the Great Flats lying west of 
Schenectady. 

The bouwlands, the great tract of bottom land 
west of Schenectady, embracing several hundred 
acres of arable land, was anciently called the 
Groote Vlachte. It was mainly cleared land 
when the white man first occupied it in 1662, and 
had been the Mohawk’s maize land for, perhaps, 
centuries. This, and other parcels of like soil 
along the Mohawk, formed the main inducement 
for the Hollanders to settle here; in them they 
recognized the folders, or lowland of the Father- 
land. 

The bouwlands were originally divided into 
twenty-three separate parcels and assigned to fifteen 
individuals, 

Broom corn was first introduced into this town 
by the Shakers of Watervliet and Niskayuna, and 
has been extensively cultivated upon the alluvial 
flats and is still one of the most extensive products 
of the soil. 

Mr. Martin De Forrest, of Schenectady, now 
seventy-two years old, says he well remembers 
that, sixty years ago, the first piece of broom 
corn planted in Rotterdam was on a morgen of 
land, or 2.0076 acres, near the city of Schenectady, 
by the Shakers from Watervliet. Tt attracted much 
attention and its peculiar adaptation to this alluvial 
soil soon brought it into general cultivation. Mr. 
Sanders Van Eps, then an extensive farmer in 
Rotterdam, was one of the first to raise it in large 
quantities and to manufacture it into brooms. 

REMARKABLE FEAT, 

It is said that Ryer Schermerhorn, the father of 
Bartholomew and grandson of the first Ryer, was 
a man of remarkable perseverance, energy and 
determination. An illustration cannot be out of 
place at this point. It is handed down by well 

| established authority, that shortly after the termi- 
nation of the revolutionary war, when the long 
contested suit of Ryer Schermerhorn against the 
Trustees of the Schenectady Patent was pending in 

| Our Supreme Court, Ryer Schermerhorn, the plain- 
tiff, was unexpectedly informed, by his counsel, 
Judge James Duane, that certain documents then 
in the hands of one Apple, at New York, must be 
in court at Albany within eight days from that 

| time, or his cause would be greatly endangered. 
Bear in mind there were no telegraphs, no steam- 
boats, no stage routes; but miserable roads, only a 

weekly mail, and that the sloops took generally 
two weeks, sometimes three, to accomplish the 
distance between Albany and New York. Nothing — 

| daunted, Schermerhorn started, single-handed, in a 

canoe from Albany; went to New York, procured 
the necessary documents, and on the morning of 
the first session of court, much to the surprise and 
gratification of his counsel, delivered him the 

desired papers. This certainly would be called 
something of a feat for a young man of the present 
day.* 

THE ERIE CANAL. 

The Erie Canal by three locks runs eight miles 
through this town along the line of the Mohawk. 

The Erie Canal was first completed as far as 
Lockport, twenty-six miles from Lake Erie, and 
soon after to Lake Erie. Mr. Peter Christler (an 
ex-Canal Collector) in the Schenectady Cnvon, 
January 18, 1885, gives the following table as to 
the development of the canal: 

| YEARS, DEPTH OF WATER. BoaT TONNAGE. 

1824. 2 it. 6 in. to 3 ft. 16 to 40 
1836. 3 ft. to 3 ft. 6 in. 30°" "40 
1846. 5 ft. 40. £70 
1856. 6 ft. €o ‘* 120 
1862. 6 ft. to g ft. 150 ‘* 220 
1883. 7 ft. 250 

Time from Buffalo to Albany has with little vari- 
ation averaged about eight days. Average cargo at 
the present time is 160 tons, 

In 1884 there was carried over the canal 5, 66€,- 
057 tons. It was through this avenue, when other 
ways were closed during the late war, that the 
Government conveyed to the Western army a great 
amount of their supplies in addition to what the 
railroads could do, and in this service the canal 
was taxed to its utmost capacity. It is estimated 
that at this time there were from 8,000 to 10,000 
boats on the canal. 

RAILROADS. 

The New York Central, with a four-track road, 
runs about four miles in this town, coming in at 
the east and going out at the City of Schenectady, 
where it crosses over into Glenville and follows the 
Mohawk westerly. 

The Delaware and Hudson Canal Branch Rail- 
road, from Schenectady to Quaker Street, with a 

single track, runs seven miles in the town. 
The West Shore, with two tracks, runs twelve 

miles in the town and was built in 1833. 

\ * Sanders’ ‘' Early History of Schenectady.” 
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208 HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF SCHENECTADY. 

The Athens branch, from Schenectady to Athens, 
built in 1868, was sold to the West Shore. 

The Creeks of this town are the Zantzee, Plata, 
Poentics and the Normanskill. 

The Mohawk River runs along the northern 
boundary for ten miles. About one mile above 
the city is what has from the first been known as 
the Sixth Flat’s rift. 

The Schermerhorn Flouring Millis situated near 
the city on the Plank road. This mill seat has 
been occupied here for more than a century anda 
half. Garret Veeder, second son of Simon Val- 

kertse Veeder, the fourth named original pro- 
prietor of Schenectady, owned the lands about 
the mill seat, and obtained a lease from the church 
of Schenectady of this mill privilege about 1718, 
which afterward became the Schermerhorn Mill 
Farm. This mill is one of the best in the county, 
and is highly prized by the town of Rotterdam. 

Ryer Schermerhorn, during the revolution, built 
the stone house opposite the grist-mill about 1770, 
and the purpose was entertained at one time of 
taking it for a fort. 

There was a log house near the mill that was 
used for a place of retreat in times of peril, and the 
name of ‘‘Schuylenburgh” was given to the place, 
it signifying in Dutch the shelter or a place of 
safety. 

SOUTH SCHENECTADY. 

South Schenectady came into being by the 
building of the West Shore Railroad in 1883, 
which connected with and crossed the Delaware 
and Hudson River Railroad two miles southwest 
of Schenectady. South Schenectady has now a 
large hotel called the Thompson House, built 
and kept by William H. Fogerty. Its capacity for 
boarders is quite large and it is well filled. The 
West Shore Railroad has here a large round-house, 
freight-house and depot. ‘There are within half a 
mile twenty dwellings; a grocery; a store and 
post-office, kept by Andrew Kelley & Son; 
a blacksmith shop; the butcher’s shop of Allen 
Estes; H. Herrick’s watch-making and repairing 
shop; a large hay barn for storage of hay in 
transit, located beside the Delaware and Hudson 
Railroad, owned by Smith Close & Alfred Ford, 
who also have in connection with their business a 
coal yard. James Turnbull is also erecting a hay 
barn, and has also opened a coal yard near the 
track of the West Shore Railroad. 

Religious services were commenced in this place 
in the summer of 1884 by Rev. E. E. Taylor, of 

the Methodist Episcopal Church, who during that 
season preached in the open air, the congregation 
being gathered on the steps of the freight-house of 
the West Shore Railroad, and later in the fall Mr. 
Fogerty, of the Thompson House, built a hall in 
connection with the hotel, and at once tendered it 
to Mr. Taylor, and meetings have been held there 
for a time. 

The Delaware and Hudson Railroad have a large 
reservoir here for watering their engines. 

This place had a great opportunity in 1884, in 
the offer by the West Shore Railroad to locate 
their machine shops here, and the building 
of the round-house was its commencement, but 
the exorbitant price demanded, and a liberal 
offer about the time from Frankfort, led them to 
locate there, where they now employ several hun- 
dred men, and a large business is there being built 
up. 

PATTERSONVILLE. 

Pattersonville is a small village at Hoffman’s 
Ferry, at the west end of the county, containing 
fifteen dwellings, a hotel called the Patterson- 
ville Hotel, two stores, a wagon shop, blacksmith 
shop and shoe shop, a railroad depot and store- 
house. 

The Pattersonvilie Hotel, kept by W. H. Patter- 
son, is large and new, with ample accommoda- 
tions. W. H. Patterson is the proprietor of the 
store at the west end of the village, near the depot ; 
and ‘T. L. Marlette & J. M. Clement are the 
proprietors of the store at the Ferry. In connection 
with their store they have a large hay barn, and 
buy and export hay. They also have a coal yard, 
and are doing a thriving business. Dr. Alexander 
Ennis lives here, and is a practicing physician and 
surgeon. The West Shore Railroad have erected 
a fine depot and freight-house for themselves and 
the Boston and Hoosac Tunnel Railroad, which 

runs upon their track at this point. More than 
one-half of this place has been built up since these 
railroads reached here. ‘The new buildings are of 
a fine order, and the place bids fair for a more 
rapid growth. 

The Junction is two miles east of Pattersonville, 
and is formed by the Boston and Hoosac Tunnel 
and West Shore Railroads. The Boston and 
Hoosac ‘Tunnel crosses over the Mohawk from 
the town of Glenville at this point into Rotter- 
dam, and unites with the West Shore. The West 
Shore Railroad have built here a large round-house, 
a railroad station, and offices for the joint delivery 
and exchange of freight. These buildings are 
used in common by both roads, the Boston and 
Hoosac paying rent for the use of the same. 

Duck & Fish, of Decatur, Illinois, have just 
built extensive stock yards and barns here. The 
capacity of the present yards is eight hundred 
cattle ; these will no doubt be enlarged, and the 
business become one of great importance. 

The Mabee House is a fine new hotel, large 
and commodious for boarding purposes, etc., and 
a number of other fine buildings have been erected, 
and others will soon be built. Thus by the intro- 
duction of the railroads into this town, South 
Schenectady, the Junction and Pattersonville have 
sprung into being. 

MOHAWKVILLE. 

Mohawkville commences from the terminus of 
Centre street, Schenectady, and extends along the 
highway about a mile into Rotterdam. ‘There are 
fifty-four dwellings, a grocery store, a school-house 
and a Good Templars’ building. At the top of 
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the hill, rising from the city, is what has been long 

known as Engine Hill. It was here thatea 

stationary engine was placed in 1831, when the 

first railroad of this part of the country was built 

from Albany to Schenectady, and this engine drew 

the railroad cars, with ropes, irom Schenectady up 

the hill, as it was too steep for the engine of the 

train to draw them ; on this account it was called 

Engine Hiil. At the south end of Mohawk- 

ville was located Crane’s factories, and therefore 

that was called Cranesville. The Good Tem- 

plars’ building, for iodge purposes, is a neat struc- 

ture, erected Jast year at a cost of about $1,500. 

It owes its existence mainly to the influence and 

means of Mrs. Jolin H, Chambers, who has taken 

an unusually active part in organizing and main- 

taining a temperance society in this place, the 
effect-of which is there is not a drop of spirituous 
liquor sold in the place or near it. 

JonatHan Cranr, of whom honorable mention 
should be made, was born February 5, 1790, in 
North Mansfield, Conn., and in 1814 came to 
Schenectady. In 151g he purchased lands in 
Mohawkville. where he erected factories that to this 
day constitute the chief industry of the place. In 
connection with his factories an oil mill was erected, 
and its first superintendent was Mr. Dillon, and 
after him Peter Christler, now of Schenectady. A 
brake factory was also established, and a screw 
factory. Mr. Crane was the chief leader in trans- 
ferring the screw manufacturing from England to 
this country. The main factory was afterward 
turned into a flax and corn-husk factory, and then 
again into a twine factory, which has continued 
for the past thirty vears to the present. The factory 
was thoroughly repaired in 1582 by a company 
known as The Mohawk ‘Twine Company, and 
business was pushed to the utmost capacity until 
the latter part of 1584. when, on account of the 

depression in the market, work was suspended. 
There were thirty-five hands employed. The 
present prospects indicate an early resumption of 
business. Mr. Crane was a man of marked fidelity, 

and of decided moral principles. He was a prom- 
inent temperance leader, and with others organized 
the first temperance society in Schenectady. He 

readily engaged in every sood work. He formed 
the first Sunday-school in the county in his own 
house in Schenectady. He was emphatically a 
good man, both as a citizen and a Christian, and 
did much to advance the interests of mankind. 

In the year 1830 the first passenger railway in 

this country was building from Albany to Sche- 

nectady. Mr. Crane’s home was near his mills, 
and these were in the suburbs of the city, where 

the railway was to pass. so that he frequently saw 
the men at work. ‘The slow, ditticult process of 

excavating the sand was noticed by him, and _ his 

active mind immediately began seeking for a 

remedy. At last it was found in an invention 
which was named the circular receiver. Its 

patent is dated October 1, 1530, and is signed by 
the distinguished names of Andrew Jackson, Martin 
Van Buren, and J. W. McPherson Berrian. The 

principle of this machine is simple, and can be 
seen to-day, somewhat modified, in the ordinary 
turn-table used by all railroads. 

The rapid increase in the number of railways 
created a demand for this invention, and presented 
a broad field for contractors. ‘To put his invention 
into practice, Mr. Crane took a contract on the 
Albany road, and when this was finished he went to 
New England and assisted in the construction of 
many railways there, including the Hartford and 
New Haven, the Providence and Stonington, the 
Boston and Providence, the Boston and Albany 
and the Boston and Maine Railways. 

Joun R. Freeman & Brotuers’ oil mill is about 
two miles from Schenectady, a little west from the 
Duanesburgh road. Previous to 1855 the place 
was occupied by Mr. Peek asa cloth factory. In 
1855, Freeman & Bro. started an oil mill which ran 
until 1871, when it was converted into a flax and 
husk mill. The goods made are better known as 
green tow. The mill continues the same to the 
present time. Like most other industries at this 
present time, work is suspended to a great extent. 
The Freeman Bros. have a paint, etc., store on Wall 
street, in Schenectady. ‘They are among the most 
respected of our citizens. 

Tue McQueen Locomotive Worksare located on 
the Mohawk Flats, between the Jones Car Works 
and the Westinghouse Agricultural Works, near the 
City of Schenectady, on nine acres of land costing 
$5,000, with a branch railroad track to the Dela- 
ware and Hudson Railroad. ‘These works consist 
of two immense brick structures, one 125 feet x 306 
feet, the other 74 feet x 402 feet, and an annexed 
engine-house 30 x 50 feet, erected at a cost of 
$60,0co. It is a stock company, capital 
$300,000, 28 percent of which has been assessed. 
Over half the stock is held by New York parties. 
The principal stockholders of this company are 
Walter McQueen, Charles Stanford, N. I. Scher- 
merhorn, and George G. Maxon. President, Charles 
Stanford. Office is at 190 State street, Schenec- 
tady. Secretary, John De Remer; Treasurer, F. W. 
Jessop. Trustees: George G. Maxon, Walter M. 
McQueen, John McEncroe, Charles Stanford, N. I. 
Schermerhorn, T. W. Jessop, and John D. Remer. 

There is no machinery yet in the buildings, and 
the directors are waiting for sufficient encourage- 
ment in business demand, above the pressure of 
the present times, to expand and put in operation 
these works. 

SCHENECTADY CAR COMPANY. 

This company was organized in 1872, with a 
stock capital of $400,000. The company purchased 
the farm of N. I. Schermerhorn for §50,000, and 
erected buildings and purchased material at a cost 
of $84,000. The buildings after erection stood 
idle about four years, and then work was com- 
menced and carried on for about four months, 
In 1875 J. M. Jones andCo. purchased the works— 
including twelve acres of land, buildings, machin- 
ery and stock, valued at $90,00o—for $25,000. 
lhey at once resumed work making street cars, 
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with a force of 400 men up to about three years 
ago, when the street car work was transferred to 
the company’s works at Troy, and the company 
reorganized under the incorporated title of The 
Jones Car Manufacturing Company, and com- 
menced building railroad and Wagner palace cars. 
They put up five additional new buildings. The 
works went into the hands of a receiver, Mr. FE. 
Nott Schermerhorn, in the spring of 1884, and 
work was continued for the completion of orders 
on hand until the fall. An offer of sale by the 
receiver and creditors was made for $85,000, for 
buildings, machinery and stock. 

These works are situated on the Mohawk Flats, 
about half a mile from the City of Schenectady. 
They have a branch track, connecting with the 
Delaware and Hudson Railroad near by. 

January 30, 1885, these works were leased to 
Mr, Walter A. Jones, the legalized agent of the 
Jones Car Manufacturing Company, for eighteen 
months, with the privilege of purchase, within that 
time, for $60,coo. Work was at once resumed 
in the repairing and manufacture of Wagner's 
palace and sleeping cars for the New York Central 
Sleeping Car Company. 

February 4, 1535, the Jones Car Works Com- 
pany was reorganized and incorporated with a cap- 
ital of $50,0co ; Walter A. Jones, President. In 
June following, the New York Central Sleeping Car 
Company purchased the lease of the Jones Com- 
pany, and at the present time manage the works, 
under the direction of Dr. W. Seward Webb, 
President, and T. H. Munsell, Superintendent. 

SECOND REFORMED CHURCH OF ROT- 
TERDAM. 

This church was organized by the Classis in 1813. 
The first book of records cannot at present be 
found. March 15, 1824, the church was incor- 
porated under the State laws, the consistory 
acting as trustees. A meeting of church members, 
preliminary to incorporation, was held January 12th 
and March rsth, the consistory including the Min- 
ister, Rev. Jeremiah Searle; Elders Lawrence 
Schermerhorn, Peter Becker and Oliver Springer ; 
Deacons John J. Vischer, Philip De Forest and 
John Putnam. These went before Judge Henry 
Yates, of Schenectady, and procured the necessary 
papers, properly signed and attested, and the church 
was duly incorporated. ‘The articles of incorpora- 
tion are recorded in the County Clerk’s office in 
Church Book of Records, page 25. 

Fifteen years after the organization, in 1828, 
there were seventy-four members in full com- 
munion, and residing within the bounds of the 

congregation. May 21, 1843, it is noted that one 
hundred and twenty-five partook of the communion, 
which probably approximated the membership of 
the church at that time. After this date no account 
is given of the church membership until 1875, 
when there were fifty-two in communion and one 
hundred families inthe congregation. April, 1884, 
there were seventy-seven in communion and _ fifty 
families in the congregation. The church had one 
remarkable revival in May, 1832, when fifty mem- 
bers were added to the church—forty-eight on con- 
fession of faith and two by certificate; Rev. Joshua 
Boyd, pastor. 

The church was incorporated under the title of 
The Second Reformed Protestant Dutch Church 
of the Third Ward of the City of Schenectady. 
It is now known as The Second Reformed 
Church, Rotterdam. (Rotterdam was the Third 
Ward of Schenectady until 1820.) From 1823 to 
1836, this church and the First Reformed Church 
of Rotterdam were united and placed under the 
same pastorate. Rev. Jeremiah Searle, a licentiate, 
was called to the pastorate April, 1823, and con- 
tinued until 1827. After an interval of several 
months, the two churches united in calling Rev. 
Joshua Boyd. He began his labors February, 
1828, and continued joint pastor until May, 1836, 
when the relation of the two churches was dissolved 
by the Classis. This second church immediately 
called Rev. J. Boyd, who continued his labor from 
May, 1836, to May, 1840. From June, 1840, 
to May, 1841, the Rev. John Nott was stated sup- 
ply, and in May, 1841, he was called to the 
pastorate of the church, and continued to serve 
as such until May, 1854. The succeeding two 
years and a quarter the church was without a 
pastor, depending upon such supplies as it could 
obtain, and was at the same time rebuilding its 
church edifice. August, 1856, Rev. Cyril Spauld- 
ing was called to its pastorate, and continued 
therein until October, 1860. Shortly after the dis- 
missal of Rev. Cyril Spaulding, Rev. R. L. Schoon- 
maker began preaching there, and was finally 
employed as stated supply for one year, beginning 
March 1, 1861, but before the year closed he was 
called to its pastorate. He began his pastoral 
labors September, 1361, and continued therein 
until January, 1869. The church, after he left, 
made two ineffectual calls: one upon Rev. D. 
Vermilye, March, 1869, and the other on Rev. S. 
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F. Searle, May, 1869, and afterward succeeded 
in getting Rev. William P. Davis, who began his 
labors 1869, and ended them June, 1873. The 
next three years the church was without a pastor. 
August, 1873, an unsuccessful call was made upon 
Rev. W. P. Davis. During the year April, 1874, 
to 1875, a minister of the Evangelical Lutheran 
Church, the Rev. J. Slover, acted as stated 
supply. This pulpit was also supplied by different 
preachers from Sabbath to Sabbath until May, 
1876, when Rev. Ira Van Allen began his pastoral 
labors; his pastorate continued until May, 1883, 
when Rev. Lauren Vanderveer was called to the 
pastorate, and still continues its earnest and success- 
ful pastor; thus from 1823 to the present—sixty- 
three years—the church has had eight pastors, 
besides supplies. 

Consistory. —By charter the consistory was com- 
posed of seven members: the minister, three elders 
and three deacons. ‘This continued from 1824 to 
1837. In 1837, by act of Legislature the charter 
was amended, and the consistory enlarged to its 
present size of nine members: the minister, four 
elders and four deacons. In 1842, when Key. 
John Nott was pastor, two additional elders were 
chosen contrary to the charter, and in 1883 two 
additional deacons were chosen. This large and 
illegal consistory of thirteen members continued 
only two years. In 1845 they returned to the 
charter number, and it has not been deviated from 
since. 

CuurcH Property.—November 27, 1820, the 
Mayor, Aldermen and Commonalty of the City of 
Schenectady conveyed to the minister, elders and 
deacons of the Second Reformed Protestant Dutch 
Church, etc., for the consideration of one dollar to 
them paid, one acre two roods and five perches of 
land situated south of the Princetown road and 
the road now leading to South Schenectady, being 
the land on which the church and sheds stand, and 
including what is now known as the Old Ceme- 
tery. 

March 31, 1857, John Schermerhorn and 
Rebecca, his wife, for the consideration of two 
hundred dollars, conveyed to the church otticers 
two acres of ground situated north of Princetown 
road, on which the parsonage and barn now stands, 
known as the parsonage lot. 

April 2, 1880, John Phillips, for the considera- 
tion of six hundred and eleven dollars, conveyed 
to the church officers 6,15); acres of land adjoin- 
ing the old cemetery on the southeast, now known 
as the New Cemetery. 

February 5, 1881, the church officers secured 
from the trustees of the town of Rotterdam for 
one dollar, a commutation release of the rental of, 
and the virtual title to, thirty-seven rods of land 
lying northeast of the old cemetery and south of 
the public road, 

The church now owns the cemetery plot of land, 
containing about 7{ acres; and the parsonage lot, 
containing two acres. 

During 1822 the first church edifice was built. 
It was a wooden structure 38 x 32 feet, with a pro- 

i 

jection eight feet deep in front, on which a steeple 
was constructed. It fronted nearly northeast. It was 
a plain structure ‘The pulpit was high and boxed, 
and the center of the church had high box-pews. 
A gallery twelve feet wide ran along the sides. 
The cost of this edifice was $1,200. 

In 1855 the church edifice was remodeled. The 
steeple had been blown off in a storm, and it 
became necessary to make thorough repairs. The 
building was enlarged to 46 x 32 feet, and in 1861 
a bell costing $125 was placed in the belfry. The 
total cost was about $2, 200. 

In 1870 the church was again remodeled by an 
addition of eighteen feet, making the building now 
64 x 32 feet, with an alcove for the pulpit, and the 
whole neatly finished at a cost of about $2,000. 
The seating capacity is 300. There are also a fine 
lot of sheds 175 feet long, containing twenty-two 
stalls, costing, in addition to much work being 
done free, $400. 

ParsonaGE.—The parsonage was built in 1857,a 
two story anda half frame building, at a cost of 
$1,643.72, and atwo-story barn. The total ex- 
penses, $2,432.72. Total value of the entire 
church propery is about $7,000. 

Expowment.—The city of Schenectady sold cer- 
tain lands, the proceeds from which were devoted 
to the support of the Gospel in the local churches. 
This church received its share, $3,806.54, Febru- 
ary 5, 1820, which it solemnly covenanted to keep 
unimpaired and for the sole purpose of the sup- 
port of the Gospel. Of this sum $1,000 is now 
out at interest at six per cent. About $2,500 was 
used in building and completing the parsonage, 
and the balance has been lost. 

August 7, 1883, Dr. Andrew Truax, druggist, of 
Schenectady, presented the church with $5,000; 
the income to be used for the support of the minis- 
try. This is now in a mortgage bearing interest at 
five per cent. 

SABBATH-SCHOOL.—The Sunday-school was first 
commenced under the pastorate of Rev. Joshua 
Boyd. Since 1870 it has been especially prosper- 
ous. Its report for 1884 was six officers, six 
teachérs, seventy-eight adult scholars, and thirty- 
two primary; total,one hundred and eight. Average 
attendance, sixty-four. Superintendent, John K. 
Tullock; Assistant, John C. Perry; Secretary, Miss 
Minnie V. Schermerhorn; Treasurer, Miss Mary FE. 
Robinson; Librarian, Mr. John Schermerhorn; As- 
sistant, Mr. William Marlette. 

PRESENT OFFICERS OF THE CuHuRCH.—Rev. 
Lauren Vandeveer, Pastor; Robert Schermerhorn, 
John C. Perry, Simon J. Schermerhorn, and Peter 
W. Ham, Elders; J. Frank Sager, John Van Epps, 
Albert Miller, and Abram P. Van Dyke, Deacons. 

THE. BIRST. REFORMED... CHURCH . OF 
ROTTERDAM. 

This was organized in 1784 by the Classis of 
Albany under the title of Second Reformed Dutch 
in the Patent of Schenectady, with John Wemple, 
Martin Van Slyck, Harmanus Vedder, and Chris- 

topher Peek as the Elders, 
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It is impossible now to tell just who or how 
many the first original members were, or how many 
were received into the communion of the church 
during the period before the first pastorate. Sev- 
eral names of families, however, who were then 
prominent in the church are still represented in it. 
Such are the Wemples, Vedders, Peeks, Van Slyks, 
Bradts, and Veeders. 

Tradition says that the first place where worship 
was held was in the upper part of an old frame 
building, the basement of which was used as a par- 
sonage, or as a residence for the sexton when not 
occupied by the pastor. It was situated on the 
north side of the Mohawk River, a short distance 
back of the hotel at Hofiman’s Ferry, on the road 
leading to Glenville. The room was unfurnished, 
without walls or pews, rough boards or benches 
being placed around the sides of the building. In 
this room services were held probably every three 
or four weeks, as the same ministry supplied Mina- 
ville and a church in the town of Duanesburgh. 

After some years this building was sold and _re- 
moved to a farm now owned by Latin Johnson. 
After standing there fora short time it was taken 
down and some of the timbers are now in a shed 
belonging to Aaron B. Bradt, one of the Elders of 
the church at the present time, near Hoffman’s 
Ferry. 

The congregation began at once to build the 
present church edifice, which is a plain wooden 
structure with a tower, and located on the south 
side of the Mohawk, about a mile east of where 
the old building stood, on a fine lot donated by the 
Veeder family, some of whose descendants are 
still members of the congregation. The church 
was not, however, finished until about the middle 
of 1823, when a committee was appointed, con- 
sisting of Nicholas A. Bradt, Gavet (Quackenbush, 
Aaron Spitzer, and John W. Peek, to solicit funds 
to complete it. During seven years the congrega- 
tion worshipped in it in this unfinished condition. 
Like the former, this building had neither walls nor 
pews, and was supplied only with benches brought 
from the old place of worship. 

During 1845 this building underwent quite ex- 
tensive repairs. The galleries were lowered, the 
pulpit changed from the rear of the church to the 
front, the upper and lower windows being united 
and the building new roofed, and painted inside 
and out. And again in 1856, and also in 1864, 
some slight changes and improvements were 
made. 

The first settled pastor of whom there is any 
record, was the Rev. Thomas Romeyn. He was 
pastor of the church, in connection with that 
of Minaville and Duanesburgh, from 1800, to Janu- 
ary 1, 1806, when the pastoral relation was dis- 
solved, and ‘he took charge of the churches of Nis- 
kayuna and Amity, where he labored until 1827. 
After leaving Niskay una and Amity he retired to 
his farm in Glenville, where he lived until his de- 
cease, 1857. 

After the removal of Mr. Romeyn in 1806, the 
church was destitute of a settled pastor until 1818, 
when the Rev. Peter Van Zandt took charge as 

pastor or supply in connection with the First Church 
of the Fourth Ward of the City of Schenectady, now 
the First Reformed Church of Glenville. 

He continued his labors with this church until 
1822, when he took charge of a mission at Oak- 
hill, Green County, N. Y. The records show five 
persons received into the communion of the church 
on the confession of their faith, and seventy-one 
infants were baptized during his ministry of five 
years. Up to 1823 the church had borne the title 
of the Second Reformed Dutch Church of Sche- 
nectady, when it was changed to that of the First 
Reformed Dutch Church sd Rotterdam. 

During the year 1823 the Second Reformed 
Church of Rotterdam a8 organized, when that, 
together with the First Church, united in calling 
the Rev. Jeremiah Searl, w ho had just been 
licensed by the Classis of Albany to preach the 
Gospel. He held the pastorate of the two churches 
from April 26, 1823, to February 1, 1827. From 
these churches he was called to the First Church, 
Coxsackie, and continued there until 1851, being 
almost a quarter of a century. After an interval 
of a few months the two churches united in calling 
the Rev. Joshua Boyd, who had graduated from 
Union College in 1814; studied theology with the 
Rev. John McDow ell,, of .E lizabethtown, N, Nee 
and was licensed by the Presbytery of New Jersey 
in 1826. After staying for a short time at Herki- 
mer and Fallsburgh he was called to the pastorate 
of these churches, .and continued with them until 
May 3, 1836, when the two consistories applied to 
the Classis of Schenectady for a dissolution be- 
tween them, and immediately after this Mr. Boyd 
was recalled to the Second Church, where he con- 
tinued to labor until 1840. 

During the ministry of these devoted and faithful 
servants, for near half a century, there is no evi- 
dence of any marked revival of religion. There 
was, however, some ingathering under the labors 
of each. But the seed which they had sown was 
destined to spring up and yield a plentiful harvest 
during the period from 1837 to 1840, when the 
Rev. John Nott supplied the church, and eighty- 
two persons were received on confession of their 
faith, This was the most extensive revival of which 
there is any record in the history of this church. 
Now again the church was destitute of a pastor 
for about two years, but was supplied occasionally 
by Prof. Andrew Yates, of Union College, and a 
Rev. Mr. Callehan, of New York. On the last of 
October, 1842, the consistory resolved to employ 
the Rev. John Van Desolow, who continued to 
supply the church until 1844, when, in June of 
that year, Rev. Cornelius S. Mead, who had just 
graduated from the Auburn Theological Seminary, 
and was licensed by the Presbytery of Cayuga, was 
called to the pastorate of the church. He re- 
mained until December, 1849, when he received 

and accepted a call to the Reformed Church of 
Herkimer. In 1850 the Rev. Charles Jakes, of 
Stone-Arabia, was called, and on the 29th of Oc- 
tober of that year was installed by a committee of 
the Classis of Schenectady. His pastorate con- 
tinued until November 10, 1862, when the Master 
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called him to his rest and reward. Since May 1, 
1863, Rev. J. C. Lowe has been the pastor of the 
church. This church has been organized for 
nearly, if not quite fully, a century, and has had 
during that period seven pastors, the longest being 
that of the present and three stated supplies. It is 
impossible to tell the number of persons who have 
been received into the communion of the church 
during its existence, owing to the imperfect records 
which have been kept. At no time during the his- 
tory of the church has the membership been large. 
At the present time there are on the records one 
hundred and twenty-one. The oldest living mem- 
bers of the church at the present time are Jeremiah 
Schuyler, who is ninety years of age; Albert Ved- 
der, whois eighty-five; and Mrs. Eliza Bradt and 
Mrs. Seeley Patterson, who are both over seventy. 

While the Rev. John Nott was supplying the 
church in 1840,itis probable that the first Sabbath- 
school was organized, with John Marlette, a prom- 
inent and useful member of the church, as its 
superintendent. His successors were Alexander 
Dow, Winslow Steeling and John Wiltsie. The 
number of scholars in the school at the present 
time is about one hundred and thirty. The pres- 
ent church property, consisting of a comfortable 
church building, lot and parsonage, is worth about 
seven thousand dollars. 

ROTTERDAM METHODIST EPISCOPAL 
- CHURCH. 

The Methodist Episcopal Church of Rotterdam 
was organized in 1846 by Presiding Elder Lindsey, 
and consisted of sixty members. Rev. S. Coval 
and William R. Brown were the first pastors. A 
house of worship was erected about the same time. 
The church was rebuilt and enlarged in 1846 ata 
cost of about $4,c0o. James Fisher, Sr., pur- 
chased the site for the church and burying ground 
of Daniel D. Campbell in 1844, and presented it 
to the society. Mr. Fisher came from England in 
1818. He had a large and respectable family. He 
has now in the ministry one son-in-law, the Rey. 
William J. Sands, now stationed at Crescent, N. 
Y., and two grandsons, Rev. John C. Fisher and 
Rey. Martin L. Fisher. He was an honored 
citizen and an exemplary Christian. He died Feb- 
Tuary 11, 1871, aged eighty-seven years four 
months and twenty-seven days, and is buried in the 
cemetery adjoining the church. 

This society was up to 1867 connected with the 
church at Guilderland, and the Rev. E. E. Taylor 
served both churches, assisted by Rev. John N. 
Short. During this year, under the indefatigable 

labors of Mr. Taylor, not only was this church re- 
built, but a new church was built at the State road 
at a cost of about $4,000, known as the Parker 

Church, Mr. Charles Parker, of the Dey street 
eating-house, New York, having his residence near 
by, and contributing largely toward the enterprise. 
The church at Guilderland (near Sloan’s Hotel) was 
also rebuilt and enlarged at a cost of near $4,000, 
and a new church built, three miles east of Sloan’s 
Hotel on the Plank road near McGowan’s Hotel, 
at a cost of $3,500; the result was the erection of 
two separate pastorates, Rotterdam and State road, 
three miles apart, both having sustained themselves 
uninterruptedly to this present time, and doing a 
good work in these communities. The Rotterdam 
Church is two and a half miles south of Sche- 
nectady. 

The following are the names of the several pas- 
tors in the order they have served this church since 
1867. 1867-8, Rev. Stephen Palmer; 1869-70, 
Rev. Damos Brough; 1871-72, Rev. Manly 
Witheral; 1873-4, Rev. P. F. Youlen; 1875-6, 
Rev. F. G. Rainy; 1877-79, Rev. P. P. Har- 
rower ; 1880, Rev. A. Lawrence; 1881-83, Rev. 
E, E. Taylor ; and Rev. W. O. Tower, the present 
pastor, who is exerting himself in building for the 
society a beautiful parsonage on the corner near the 
church, which is nearly completed. There has al- 
ways been connected with this church a Sunday- 
school. The present membership of the church 
is 130; Sunday-school scholars, 100. 

Colonel Dante, D. Camppett occupies a fine 
residence in Rotterdam about two miles from 
Schenectady. Mrs. Campbell, widow of Judge 
Daniel Campbell, made her will May 27, 1811, 
leaving considerable sums to her various relatives, 
but made her great nephew, Daniel David Camp- 
bell Schermerhorn, her residuary devisee and legatee 
on condition of changing his name Schermerhorn 
to Campbell, which, after her decease, was accom- 
plished by legislative enactment; and that great- 
nephew, with many virtues, now resides among us, 
known and respected as Colonel Daniel D. Camp- 
bell. 

PLANK ROAD. 

The only remains of once extensive plank roads 
in various parts of this county, is a short piece of 
about one mile, starting from the city of Schenec- 
tady, running south to part of the former plank 
road to Duanesburgh. This road is now owned 
by the widow Pearson, and a toll of two cents each 
way is charged for one horse, and proportionately 
for more, 
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Stmon J. SCHERMERHORN was born in Rotterdam, 
N. Y., near the old Arant Bradt Place, Septem- 
ber 26, 1827, and is the seventh, and his children 
the eighth, generation who have lived in the place 
he now occupies. His ancestor, Jacob Janse Scher- 
merhorn, was one of the first settlers, who was born 
in 1662 in Waterland, Holland. He came to 
Beverwyck quite early in life, where he prospered 
as a brewer andtrader. In 1648 he was arrested 
at Fort Orange, by order of Governor Stuyvesant, 
on a charge of selling arms and ammunition to the 
Indians. His books and papers were seized, and 
himself removed a prisoner to Fort Amsterdam, 
where he was sentenced to banishment for five years, 
with the confiscation of all his property. By the 
interference of some leading citizens the first part 
of his sentence was struck out, but his property 
was never recovered. 

These severe proceedings against Schermerhorn 
formed subsequently a ground of complaint against 
Stuyvesant to the States General. Nothing daunt- 
ed by his misfortunes he began anew, and before 
his death, in 1689, acquired a large property for 

ppeeter Wi 4. 

the times. He made his will May 20, 1688, and 
the year following died at Schenectady, where he 
had resided for some years. 

The following is the pedigree to the present : 
Ryer, son of Jacob Janse ; married Ariaantje, 

daughter of Arant Arentse Brodt, in July, 1676. 
Jacobus, son of Ryer, born January 31, 1720; 

married Annatje P. Vrooman September 4, 1742. 

He died July 28, 1762; she died September 7, 
1770. He was the great grand-father of S. J. 
Schermerhorn. 

Annatje P. Vrooman was a daughter of Peter 
Vrooman, who was killed by the French and In- 
dians at the Beukendaal massacre in the town of 
Glenville in 1690. 

Johannes, son of Jacobus, married Catherine 
Bradt November 13, 1778, daughter of Jacobus 
Bradt, the owner and occupant of the old Bradt 
House. He died January 7, 1814, aged 48 years 

11 months and 8 days. 
Jacob I., son of Johannes and father of Simon J. 

Schermerhorn, married Maria Vedder. He died 
April 20, 1849 in his sixty-first year; she died 
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auzust 19, 1832, in her forty-fifth vear, leaving six 

child: en, two boys and four. girls: John J., Simon 

Catherine, Anna, Sarah, and Alida. 
Simon J. Schermerhorn was married February 4, 

1857, to Helen. daughter of Harmon Veeder, who 

died in Wostina, July V 31, 1850, aged fifty-two 
years and six months. Mrs. Schermerhorn is 
deserving of special mention as an eflicient worker 
in all the church interests coming within the range 
of her proper relations; and for her work’s sake, 
and the spirit in which it is performed, is entitled 
to.-rank. with ‘‘the honorable women.” ‘Their 

€children are: Jacob Edwin, born October 12, 1858, 
and died January 12, 1861; Mary Veeder, born 

January 6, 1860; Sarah, born March 19, 1862; 
John, born July 12, 1863 ; Alice Augusta, born Jan- 
uary 23, 1865 ; Andrew Truax, born December 7, 
1866; Jacob I., born June 7, 1870, died July 29, 
1870; Simon, born Apnil 3, 1874. 
The homestead originally purchased by Jacob 

Janse Schermerhorn has been occupied down to 
the present by his descendants for seven genera- 
tions; and other lands of late have been purchased 
(about 50 acres) a part of which is from the 
Old Arent Bradt Estate, on which. still 
in an excellent state of preservation, the oldest 
building of the county, the Arent Bradt House, 
described in a separate paragraph i in the history of 
this town. 

The present farm is in a high state of cultiva- 
tion. The barns and out-buil lings are. new, 
ample and well constructed. The dwelling, built 
in 1857, is of brick, of modern construction, and 
stands about 300 yards east of the Old Arent 
Bradt House, on a rise of ground near the bluff 
that rises about 100 feet above it to the Hizh- 
lands rising toward the south. From the house 
isan excellent view of the Mohawk Valley and the 
country beyond, while itself stands also in full view 
of the City of Schenectady. 

The family burying ground of four generations 
is about 200 yards east of the dwelling, but the 
fine cemetery adjoining the second Reformed 
Church of Rotterdam is now generally used. 

Mr. Schermerhorn has held’ several important 
positions in the gift of the people. He was a war 
Democrat of persistent loyalty. He was elected 
unanimously a member of the State Assembly, 
1862, and evinced a commendable zeal for the 
welfare of his country in that eventful time. He 
has been a member of the Board of Supervisors 
for three terms, and has served one term as School 
Commissioner. 
-So popular is Mr. Schermerhorn with his con- 

Stituency, that he never had any opposition when- 
ever he consented to be a candidate for office, and 
the people have sought and would have gladly 
given him many other positions of trust if he had 
consented, but his disinclination to office holding 
and love of home, has led him to decline many 
official honors. He has been an honored, and 
active and consistent member of the Second Re- 
formed Church of Rotterdam for tw enty-five years, 
and is one of its elders, a faithful Christian, arid 
an upright and highly respected citizen. 

stands, 

Ce, 

SumMeR RestpENXcE oF Dr. Backvus.—Revy. | 
Trumbull Backus, D. D., of 6 Union street, scis. 
nectady, has a beautiful summer residence in Kua. 
terdam, less than two miles southwest from tie 
city. Its commanding position excites admiration. 
It stands upon the top of the bluff and near in 

edge, surrounded by a thin forest. The blun tives 
about one hundred and fifty feet from the valley ot 

the Mohawk, and is about half a mile from the 

river. It affords one of the finest natural pres- 

pects in the whole country. It has a fine view «it 
the Mohawk Vailey each way for several mile 
and takes in the whole of the City of Schenectady, 
The view stretches out also acress the river over 

lenville and a part of Saratoga County; and, turn- 
ing the gaze southward, the vision sweeps over the 
plains ot Rotterdam and Guilderland beyond, and 
takes in the Grand Old Helderberghs and Cats- 
kill Mountains, while to the left loom up the 
Green Mountains of Vermont, and to the north a 
spur of the Adirondacks. 

Dr. Backus was installed Pastor of the First 
Presbyterian Church of Schenectady December 6, 
1832, and remained its popular and successful 
pasior until June 18, 1873; and now, like a shock 
of corn with go! ‘den ee in the grand 1 majesty of 
life’s success, he waits ‘‘The Harvest Home.” 

District Scuoors.—There are in the town of 

Rotterdam 14 school-houses, 14 districts, and as 
many teachers employed. 
school-houses is S6co. There are annuaily taught 

$22 scholars (beside many who attend the schools 

in Schenectady tt that have superior advantages). 
The average price paid to teachers is $7.50 per week. 

Yan Santvoord is School Commissioner: 

Town Orricers. —Supervisor, John C. Myers; 
Justice of the Peace, Peter McGee; Assessor, 
Anthony Wallard: Collector, John J. Van Patten; 

Town Clerk, Willis Burdick; Coroner, Dr. Alex. 
Ennis, Pattersonville. 

County Orricers.—(See Officers. ) 

THE BRADY FAMILY. 

Nicholas A. Bradt was born in the old Arant 
Bradt House, near the first lock of the Erie Canal 
west of Schenectady, August 18, 1773, and died 
July 8, 1850. He married Margaret Mabee and 
they had two children: Abraham N., born August 
16, 1793, who married Maria Vedder in 18tg9. 
They had six children: Margaret, Jemima, Nicho- 
las, Simon, Sarah, and Harmanus. 

Cornelius, the second son of Nicholas A., mar- 
ried Nancy Kerns in 1530, and they had six children: 
Margaret, Susan, Gazena, Nicholas, Rebecca, and 
Cornelius. 

Nicholas, son of Abraham N., was born Sep- 
tember 14, 1824, and married Hester Bradt in 
1857, and lives on the old Woe-Stina Place, seven 

miles west of the Citv of Schenectady, near the 
round-house of the West Shore Railroad. Farm 
consists of one hundred and ten acres. He has 
seven children, named Maria, Helen, Abram, 
Frank, Maggie, Lizzie, and A. Vedder. Abram, 

The average. cost of 
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the Jast named son, owns the old family homestead 
of one hundred and fourteen acres, formerly owned 
by his great-great-grandfather, which adjoins that 
of his father’s. 

Francis Bradt was born in Niskayuna January 3, 
1833, and was brought to Rotterdam by his 
parents and is a descendant of John A. Bradt, 
born March 9, 1770, and died July 14, 1846. He 
married Wilmot Mabee January 20, 1793, and she 
died in the eighty-seventh year of her age. They 
had six children: Cornelius, Abraham, Hester, 
Aaron, Sarah, Catherine and Frederick, the latter 
being the only one of the six now living. Aaron 
Bradt was born August 12, 1800, and died in the 
fifty-third year of his age. He married Eliza C. 
Vedder, February 15, 1832, Eliza C. Bradt is the 
sole survivor of a family of nine children and is in 
the scventy-ninth year of herage. Has had five chil- 
dren: Francis, Hester, Helen, John and Aaron. 

Francis Bradt was born January 3; 1832); > He 
married Maggie Veeder, November 18, 1874; had 
one chiid, Aaron J. Bradt, now in the seventh year of 
his age. Hester Bradt was born November 13, 
1834, and married Nicholas Bradt November 28, 
1857. Helen Bradt, born May 11, 1837, and 
died at the age of twenty-one years. John Bradt, 
born October 6, 1839, married M. Elenor Dorn 
December 28, 1871. Aaron B, Bradt, born May 
24, 1841, married Catherine E. Gregg, 1867; had 
one child, Cora Bradt, now in the seventeenth 
year of her age. 

Francis and John Bradt are now living on 
the farm purchased by their great-great-grand- 
father, Abraham Bradt, in 1765, of Peter Daniel 
Van Antwerp, containing about sixty acres, for 
$2,500. A few years after the purchase, prod- 
uce brought a high price, but had to be sent to 
New York for market. Wheat was from $3 to 
$4 per bushel; peas, $2; etc. - 

The barn built by Abraham Bradt is still standing 
and in use, and stands as firm and solid as ever; 
the timbers and siding are of yellow pine, the 
shingles of white pinc, three feet long and _three- 
quarters of an inch thick and are still of good ser- 
vice ; the nails were all made by hand, and are of 
wrought-iron. The barn is 40 x 60 and was built 
in 1775 and has cost the owners but a_ very 
small amount for jsepairs. “The place is seven 
miles west of the City of Schenectady, in the Valley 
of the Mohawk. 

THE DESFOREST FAMILY, 

Jacob De Forest was born in Greenbush, Rens- 
selaer County, N. Y., May 28, 1771, and died 
Rotterdam, June, 1854. 

He married Anna Lansing February 2, 1784, 
by whom he had five children: Cornelia, Jacob, 
Tennetta, Sarah, and Obadiah LL. 

He came to Rotterdam in 1807 and soon after 
his wife died. He married for his second wife 
Mary Wiley, July 30, 1808, by whom he had four 
children : Anna, reise Martin, and James. 

Jacob De Forest, Jr., was born October 23, 
1777, and married Ann Schermerhorn, They had 
nine children, four daughters and five sons. These 

five sons all enlisted in the Union army of the late 
civil war, and by their valor gained pied distinc- 
tion. ‘They are Colonel J Jacob J. De 
of Duanesburgh; S. De Forest, (uarter-master, 

now in Cleveland, Obio; John De Forest, Lieu- 
tenant, deceased; W iliam I’. De Forest, now of San 
I’rancisco, Cal.; and } Martin J. De Forest, now in 
the New York owas He lost a leg in the 
war, 

Martin De Forest, son of Jacob De Forest, of 
Rensselaer County, N. Y., whose residence is 
3t Church street, Schenectady, is the agent of 
Hon. D. D. Campbell, of Rotterdam. His wife 
was Elizabeth M. Schermerhorn, daughter of Hon. 
Bartholomew Schermerhorn (deceased), late of the 
town of Rotterdam. They have had five children, 
two sons and three daughters. But two survive, 
viz., Mary, wife of Chas. N. Yates, and Catherine 
A., wife of Robert Moir, who is regarded by the 
community where he resides as a respectable and 
honorable business man. 

Obadiah L. De Forest has been sheriff of Sche- 
nectady County, and his son Jacob has also held 
the same office. Another of his sons, Henry S., 

is at present Recorder of the City of Schenectady. 
The De Forests are a highly respected family. 

Forest, now 

Harstrp Crosr is a farmer and_ speculator 
known widely here and in the City of Schenectady. 
He was born in Clifton Park, Saratoga County. 
For five generations past the Close family have 
been prominent in the social and business inter- 
ests of that town. Mr. Close was born in the 
year 1817. His fathers name was Benjamin 
Close and his mother’s maiden name was Sarah 
Morehouse. He came to Schenectady County in 
1861, and engaged in mercantile pursuits. He 
established the present business of Stearns & Co., 
and sold to them in 1868. ‘He opened the pres- 
ent business of Losee B. Close in State street—a 
flour and feed store, with a steam power for grind- 
ing. In this business he was financially success- 
ful. He married Phebe, daughter of Abram G, 
Losee, of Clifton Park. They have had four chil- 
dren: Mary I., deceased, who married Abram 
Vedder, of Glenville, and after her death Mr. Ved- 
der married Mr, Close’s second daughter, Saman- 
tha; Losee B. Close, grain merchant in State 
street: and Sraith Close, Schenectady. Besides 
city property he owns farms in Rotterdam and 
in Saratoga County. Mr. Close’s farm, where he 
lives, is in South Schenectady, and he is now 
taking an active part in de veloping a village at this 
point. He has founded a large hay barn beside 
the track of the Delaware and Hudson Railroad for 
buying and transportation, and he also has a coal- 
yard at the same place, 

Wirtiam H. Focerty, of South Schenectady, 
is the proprietor of the ‘Thompson House, a large 
and commodious hotel. He erected the ‘Thomp- 
son House in the fall of 1883, and in the fall of 
1884 added a hall for public purposes. It is used 
for religious services once in two weeks. Mr. 
Fogerty isa native of Montgomery County, born 

at Port Jackson, and is a son of James Fogerty, 

na a le 
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deceased, and was for many years an employee 
of Colonel D. D. Campbell, He married Eliza, 
daughter of James Lockwood. His father, James 
Fogerty, married Maria, daughter of David J. Wil- 
liams (deceased), of Montgomery County. He 
served in the war of 1812 under General Scott. He 
was at the battle of Plattsburgh in 1813. He was 
captured by the Indians and carried into Canada, 
but eventually returned. Mr. and Mrs. Fogerty 
have one daughter, Bessie. 

Extas Van Wormer, farmer, inthe town of Rot- 
terdam., He was born in the town of Guilderland, 
and is a son of T’rederick Van Wormer and grand- 
son of Abram Van Wormer. Frederick Van 
Wormer came to Rotterdam in the year 1828, and 
located on what is now the H. Veeder Farm. He 
brought with him four children: Harriet, Llias, 
Elizabeth and Abraham, who were born in Guild- 
erland. Jacob, Frec derick, Sarah J., Alexander and 
Mary were born in Rotterdam. He died in 1376. 
His wife’s maiden name was Catharine Senith of 

Rotterdam. She diced in 1854. 

Joun MM. Vervrr, near Pattersonville, is a farmer 
and fruit culturist. His farm of 150 acres adjoins 
the property of the First Reformed Church, The 
place was formerly owned by Mr. Veeder’s father- 
in-law, Daniel Johnson, who for several years kept 
a hotel at this place. Mr. Veeder was four years 
Supervisor of his town. The West Shore Railroad 
and Erie Canal pass ehreugh his farm, which is 
bounded on the north by the Mohawk River. He 
is a aescendant from the old Dutch families, as is 
indicated by his name. 

Joun M. Quick was born in New Scotland, Al- 
bany County, November 20, 1809, and married 

March 24, 1836, to Martha M. Bradshaw, who 
was born in Duanesburgh December 29, 1809, He 
was a son of Gratus and Mary (McCoftry) Quick, 

natives of Rhinebeck, N. Y., who were of Scotch 
parents. He located and spent his hfe on the farm 
now owned and occupied by his son, George G., 
in Rotterdam, and died April rs, 1864. His wife 
died June 14, 1877. He had five children: George 
G., born December 25, 1843, who married Miss 
Sarah Thayer, of Seneca Falls, N. Y., June 7, 
1848. They had three children: Martha M., 
Jennie M., and Johu C. Mary married FE, Shu- 
felt; Samuel W., born 1849, married Miss Hattie 

Darrow, born June 10, 1852, daughter of H. B. 
Darrow, who died in 1875. He owns and occu- 
pies the old Darrow homestead in See Has 
one son, Andrew, born July 20, 1878. John M. 
had three children, now Meee een. Char- 
lotte and James. Ruth married J. W. Clark, of 
Jackson County, Michigan. 

SEBASTIAN PutTNAM is one of the thrifty farmers 
of Rotterdam, living on the road leading to Prince- 
town, on the corner where the Fort Hunter road 
crosses, three miles from Schenectady. It is one 
of the situations ever admired by the passer. by. 
He isa son of John and Magyvic (V rooman) Put- 
nam. John was born in the city of Schenectady 
August 31, 1780, and died May 1, 1881. His 
wife was born j in Niskay una March 17, 1787, and 

died December, ne ‘They had seven sons and 
three daughters, of whom Sebastian, Oliver and 
Clarissa are all who now survive. Sebastian Putnam 
married Margaret, daughter of David Waddell 
(deceased), of Duanesburgh, and they have five 
children living: Mary A.; Maggie A., now Mrs. 
ar Schermerhorn, of Rotterdam; Sarah A., 
who is Mrs. Schermerhorn; Philip; Fordelia 1. 
Other children—Erastus, David and Mary—are 
deceased. 

Mr. Putnam’s grandparents, Aaron and Eliz- 
abeth (Spinster) Putnam, were among the first set- 
tlers of Rotterdam; and his grandfather Vrooman, 
of Niskayuna. 

PROMINENT RESIDENTS. 

~ Pattersonville and vicinity, whose post-office is 
Paitersonville : 

Rev. J. C. Low, Dr. Alex. Ennis, physician and 
surgeon; Thomas L. Marlette, grocer, etc.; Jacob 
Swart, wagon-maker; Jonathan Staley, farmer; 
William Staley, farmer; J. W. Briggs, farmer and 
grocer; John M. Veeder, farmer and Supervisor; 
Simon Veeder, farmer; Oliver Puinam, farmer; 

‘Thomas H. ‘Trumbeil, farmer; Nicholas Brodt, 
farmer; Francis Brodt, farmer; John Brodt, farmer; 
D. Schemerhorn, farmer; Tilfair C. Rynex, farmer, 
Rynex Corners. 

Post-office in Schenectady: 

J. Crawford, hotel and grocer; H. M. Aken, 
farmer, Supervisor, Justice of the Peace twenty 
years, a School Commissioner six year, and Justice 
of Sessions two years; John J. A. Schermerhorn, 
farmer; Aaron Becker, farmer; John P. McCue, 
farmer; N. ML. F. Clute, farmer; A. J. Gregg, 
farmer; Harmon Van Slyck, farmer; Jno. S. Van 
Slyck, farmer; William Sa farmer; Edward 

S. Santer, farmer; ae V. Van Patten, farmer; N. 
H. Van Potten, farmer; § 5. J. Schermerhorn, farmer, 
has been School Commissioner and Member of 
Assembly; John J. Schermerhorn, farmer; J. S, 
Sree end farmer; Ebenezer Schermerhorn, 
farmer; Daniel D. €. schermerhorn, farmer; 
John A. Van Epps, farmer; William Phillips, 
farmer; Robert Schermerhorn, farmer; J. L. Coun- 
termine, farmer; John Putnam, farmer; John D, 
Ladd, clerk; John Valkenburgh, farmer; Samuel 
A. Brodt, farmer, has been School Commis- 
sioner and Supervisor; William A. Wasson, 
farmer, has been Commissioner of Highways three 
years; William Osborne, hotei-keeper, five miles 

west of Schenectady; Adam Masser, hotel-keeper, 
two miles west of Schenectady; Hon. John D. 
Campbell, two miles west of the city; L. S. Hutch- 
inson, hotel, two miles south of city; D, D.C. 
Van Pattan, hotel, two and one-half miles south 
of city; Cr oiee La Siesbee, hotel, three miles 

south of a Vy . Fag orly, hotel, South Sche- 

nectady; Spencer ‘Me Te (c 3. Westonhouse & Co. ), 
one and one-half miles south of city; Thomas 
Bullock, farmer, two miles south of city; William 
Chambers, commercial traveler, two miles south of 
city; Colonel D. D. Campbell, gentleman and 
landholder, two miles south of city; Henry M. 
Chrisler, two and one-half miles south of city; 



Lidia ' Wiehe of 
vit egal wont 
NM Sagal ie 

sit taka anid, ein etary 
ia Bap sie WOT. BLS pares a 

anthhaar? wadjalia ery uy in hee vat 
ae 

ures per Tsay cael eh aie 
eee oc wae | |) porigsies 

me 
: betigeert rye sis 

5M ie lates Sensat ATEN ay tin swt resent ‘J 

wl Livehcar toi oe seta” Jorughl.nahiids aged 
; j d Oty i. iBaa) iH tan! oyow ody frst i h LB REET eh Chea tate 3 t ; ry vee) ae ate vehwaxahh:;. I dcing dorset, 

cama’ aadeaeo acide Anse piel tsar oh Sh Fie ch alt __ soins: ar 

ata is at holt oft © 
Aoettyd reevatl aunclt } ii tufiaa'”’ “ouvanye,.| Tonia al Mivmomange®t ascii mart bentl “anhwisilt mina" Waders iY A neiat | enmabe renee dite “icin dahil 

ae fe ’ 7 wen. cprepsat hor geet yh it iontl ersitet. cep tepneh 43 

sg Lint Peas wernt covet tital oe 

i 

TRE ba? he } * sradtomend oy tf We ila : “igh ae] Pt =" 
: . HOI) ena k 4 prod ae Latiee iS tii hile mits ve 

Dette ke” POI OR at Boe he "slay atria E 
; pA he BS AL A I Pamerei day sont see ant: AOE mt tours 

Ae Hk al anv sais a lees A Ae al? Pea? -ewngy (ou) i Si Li j SL ail “ull - aoeiviog we ac) a ee suit cowie at vid’? ANou sitio bob 

moiean | Hiri phy Hie Moolah eI9e & ABIL at oe aalbintel estore dike, GAP ae lg hom ena | etal ene ow) enolate de arrinn nl : 

feat a oR ie NS Re a a a mid aol ath. ewhnia® or ni nied Aaw w 
Mi . : 7 ois : bafnidy Meer Petits OB. {os neon 

mek. cia iv | ‘ ath r da coed ys ‘ niles? t y pathy yh hy pee hs ih bist f j aly ‘ qs ie ey 

| : 3H a apse) (eet Teo) ny) fen dag 
Sith “ne ae es p |, Heacne, Yo 3 a a feo 

j ry) " Lea Tare Sah Afi ; EME 

ak stairnnl whnlroutivilee” 4 adap: oat : ee bokeode. ism fone 

nepal wesw | cad aiaglesugty oe sii Trg Haid ba vat uo igen | prod CMR : ) At fates at rasta agiond Hae ny Beal of es a 

UP LN cree et EE Dae oN IRL FAK bate eee OS dt ROUTE. cereal opiate ret Py ogee AL 1 
a 

ea ce te — 

4 +) ee . Meee é OT et sate br} te agen ag oe NN, habiy Me hat ea il baereto ehal, etree wall peed miro ° a: weal 
Ses cae y IN tad FATS the Ae thd 2 Bois le hint ma ¥ 

a ant } , an 4 7 be “be Aj +} oth 

hi ra le ea weet ot shinbh ae CH itekice A Vas ey intial! 5 es bts Sescita. “a i : 
DS SN APY Te TOR, ) Hes ato Tart i 7 7 J r tug aed eo ato: ma chgre: onal? anne senpay 

ey imate ss 2 5% madicky ate a peiel ae ‘hea Piney ne 

uot: « “Shits PATEL ies A iyo Tine” our 

i 
{ 

aC awel ie | 
aad 

tH tt all OR Eda wees agrinela Jesciquina j 
wo) KS ad isi 3, Hdile 2 diya Bey 2) ‘beiteal ite is 

HH: eh eee VWini lott xe} Rian’ awd Janeat ase 

aahir <nritt (load sees alt Sasa; tis Jo | 

clea Nesta) ial nga Le i t} id Bir hy ee Ls 

LO I% PHOT EAAT ON oy oly create anak f 
CTH P re i, 1 aioe a ony: “na wie: Deee 

eprshabiee ptiny ‘fs. he wii at Pe ae oy, 

‘hey OSuee aes aT: cers | rs Gh ag tp ‘ahogra8 Siete 
brim ey os Hn te est a ag 
Bip yiEyeh: ae Be et saul mil 

Les aa hong Sa) Tait a 
ikea 

F 
: 

1% i 



218 HISTORY OF THE COUN TY OF SCHENECTADY, 

Nicholas I. Clute, two miles south of city; James 
Countermine, two and one-half miles southwest of 
city; George Fisher, three miles south of city; 
James Fisher, three miles south of city; George s. 
Hunt, three and one-half miles south of city; Sol- 
omon R. Bradshaw, three and one-half miles 
southwest of city; William Phillips, three and one- 
half miles southwest of city; James A. Rynex, four 
miles west of city; William ‘J. Radcliffe, one mile 
south of city; George B. White, four miles south 
of city; William Scratford, two miles south of city; 

James ‘Turnbull, four miles west of city; William 
Vandyke, three miles south of city; H. C. Weast, 
five miles southwest of city; 5. W. Quick, farmer, 
Rynex Corners, 

df €y 
vf ri : 

We take peaures in making mention of the fol- 
lowing well-known citizens, who | by their guaran- 
teed support have helped to insure the publication 
of this valuable work: Nicholas Bradt, Francis 
Bradt, Abraham Bradt, Walter Bradshaw, D. 1. 

Campbell, J. L. Countermine, N. M. F. Clute. 
Win. H. Fogerty, Andrew Gregg, J. C. Low, John 

D; Ladd, T, L. Marlett, Sebastian Putman, W. LH, 
Patterson, S. W. Quick, Tilfair C. Rynex, Simon 

J. Schermerhorn, Daniel D. C. Schermerhorn, John 

Slyck, John M. Veeder, John A, aan 
‘pps, Elias Van Wormer. 

J. A. Schermerhorn, John J. Schermerhorn, Jolin 
S. Schermerhorn, Robert Schermerhorn, Edward 
S. Santer, Jonathan Staley, William Staley, J. S. 
Souk, Van : 
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